




DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JUNE 9, 2014 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

VI. Consent Agenda: 
A. Approval of minutes from May 12, 2014 DRB Panel A 

meeting 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Wilsonville City Hall 
29799 SW Town Center Loop East 
Wilsonville, Oregon 
 
Development Review Board – Panel A 
Minutes–May 12, 2014   6:30 PM 
 
I. Call to Order 
Chair Mary Fierros Bower called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

 
II. Chair’s Remarks 
The Conduct of Hearing and Statement of Public Notice were read into the record. 
 
III. Roll Call 
Present for roll call were:   Mary Fierros Bower, Lenka Keith and Kristin Akervall. Ken Ruud, Simon 

Springall and Councilor Liaison Julie Fitzgerald were absent. 
 
Staff present:  Blaise Edmonds, Chris Neamtzu, Barbara Jacobson, Steve Adams, and Daniel Pauly 
 
VI. Citizens’ Input This is an opportunity for visitors to address the Development Review Board on 
items not on the agenda.  There were no comments. 
 
V. City Council Liaison Report No liaison report was given due to Councilor Fitzgerald’s absence. 
 
VI. Consent Agenda: 

A. Approval of minutes of April 14, 2014 DRB Panel A meeting 
Lenka Keith moved to approve the April 14, 2014 DRB Panel A meeting minutes as presented. 
Kristin Akervall seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 
 
VII. Public Hearing: 

A. Resolution No. 277. Calais at Villebois (PDP-3 North):  Stacy Connery, AICP, Pacific 
Community Design, Inc. – representative for Fred Gast, Polygon NW Company- 
applicant. The applicant is requesting approval of an Annexation and Zone Map 
Amendment from Rural Residential Farm Forest 5-Acre (RRFF-5) to Village (V), an 
Amendment to SAP North, a Preliminary Development Plan for SAP-North PDP-3, 
Tentative Subdivision Plat, Type C Tree Plan, Final Development Plan for linear greens 
and parks and SRIR review for an 84-lot single family subdivision in Villebois and 
associated improvements. The subject site is located on Tax Lots 1200, 1202, 1205 and 
2995 of Section 15, Township 3 South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, City of 
Wilsonville, Clackamas County, Oregon.  Staff:  Daniel Pauly 
 
Case Files:   DB14-0009 – Annexation 
   DB14-0010 – Zone Map Amendment to Village (V) 

    DB14-0011 – PDP 3North - Preliminary Development Plan  
    DB14-0013 – SAP Amendment  
    DB14-0014 – Tentative Subdivision Plat 
    DB14-0015 – Final Development Plan for linear greens and parks 
    DB14-0016 – Type C Tree Plan 
    SI14-0003   – SRIR Review 
 

The DRB action on the Annexation and Zone Map Amendment is a recommendation to 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 1 of 11  



the City Council. 
 

Chair Fierros Bower called the public hearing to order at 6:35 p.m. and read the conduct of hearing 
format into the record. All Board members declared for the record that they had visited the site. No board 
member, however, declared a conflict of interest, bias, or conclusion from a site visit. 
 
Kristin Akervall stated that she lives in Villebois but would participate in the hearing. 
 
No board member participation was challenged by any member of the audience. 
 
Daniel Pauly, Associate Planner, announced that the criteria applicable to the application were stated on 
pages 2 and 3 of the Staff report, which was entered into the record. Copies of the report were made 
available to the side of the room.  
 
Mr. Pauly presented the Staff report via PowerPoint, reviewing the project location and the proposed 
applications with these key comments:  
• Annexation. The shaded area on Slide 5 was proposed for annexation into the city. The area was 

within the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) and already had a Comprehensive Plan designation 
similar to the rest of Villebois. The City had obtained signatures of all property owners and electors 
within the area necessary for the annexation, which allowed for a quasi-judicial process through the 
City without an election, as defined in the Development Code. 

• The Zone Map Amendment. The area had a Comprehensive Plan designation of Residential-Village, 
which was the Comprehensive Plan designation designed for Villebois with the only zoning option 
being the Village Zone.  

• Specific Area Plan (SAP) North Amendment. The proposal involved more than just Phase 3 North, 
but extended into changes involving SAP-North as well. He briefly reviewed the approval history of 
SAP-North, noting that in the initial 2007 approval of SAP-North, much was uncertain about what the 
remainder of the SAP would be, specifically, with regard to the property purchased to serve as a 
school site. To enable development of Phase 1, the 2007 approval divided the SAP into two areas 
with Area 1 being Phase 1, and the remainder being Area 2.  All the SAP elements were approved for 
Area 1, but only certain elements were clearly approved for the entire SAP including the Pattern Book 
and Community Elements Book. (Slide 11) 

• During the application for Phase 2 North (DB13-0022) last year, no rationale was found as to 
why all SAP elements were not approved for Phase 2 North, as it was not affected by any 
uncertainties surrounding the school. For the purpose of that 2007 approval, the area 
highlighted in yellow on Slide 12 was considered Area 1B, meaning all SAP elements were 
adopted leaving all other planning and details outside of the city to a future application, 
which was now being considered. In addition to addressing Phase 3 North tonight, the goal 
was to remove uncertainty in the record about the approval status of some of the other 
components across the entire SAP.  

• The Applicant had the option to purchase the subject properties contiguous to the western 
portion of Phase 2 North, which were labeled Phase 3 North in the Applicant’s proposal, and 
all the SAP elements were being requested for adoption for Phase 3 as well. The Applicant 
and City agreed to a broader SAP amendment to address any uncertainties that still existed 
for future phases. The amendment only involved formalizing the adoption of SAP elements, 
rather than changes to any land use decision, realizing that when these properties were 
brought forward for development in the future, a SAP refinement or amendment would be 
needed to address the last pieces; for example, no site access currently existed to perform a 
tree inventory or historic resource study. 

• A small triangular area on Slide 13 was shown as a future phase because Staff had been 
unable to identify the property owner to secure necessary consents and permissions to allow 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 2 of 11  



for its inclusion in the annexation. As explained in Exhibit C6 by Steve Adams, the 
Development Agreement, which would be adopted by Council in the draft, proposed that the 
City would pursue this property for required improvements to Grahams Ferry Rd. No homes 
were proposed for this area of the Master Plan, so the improvements would include fencing, 
roads and sidewalks as nothing else was expected under the current zoning.   

• As allowed by the Development Code, the SAP Amendment request also included a number of 
Master Plan refinements or changes, all of which met the threshold requirements described in the 
Development Code.  
• Street network refinements included removing the previously planned connection of SW 

Palermo St to Grahams Ferry Rd in order to retain a wetland. Instead, SW Oslo St to the 
north would be the connection to Grahams Ferry Rd. The internal streets were also realigned 
due to the layout of residential lots planned by the developer.  

• Parks and open space refinements included the addition of a pocket park on the northeast 
corner of the site, park amenities in Open Space 2 along the south side of the property, open 
space at the southwest portion of the property related to the preserved wetland, and a number 
of other small linear greens throughout the development.  

• Utilities and stormwater refinements included realigning the utilities to match the proposed 
street network, as well as stormwater facilities based on site conditions and more detailed 
engineering work.  

• Land use and density refinements involved increasing the number of Large lots, adding 
Medium lots, and decreasing the number of Standard and Small lots, resulting in an overall 
reduction of 17 units from the calculations of the blocks based on the densities in the Master 
Plan. The placement pattern had Larger or Standard lots along the edges with a mix of 
housing types in the interior, resulting in denser product as one moved towards the center 
away from the intersection of Grahams Ferry Rd and Tooze Rd, which was consistent with 
other areas of Villebois and shown in the Master Plan. 

• Preliminary Development Plan (PDP). Within the refinement to the Master Plan, a total of 84 units 
were proposed, including 23 Large, 3 Standard, 26 Medium and 32 Small lots. About two acres of the 
site were comprised of parks and open space, in addition to the large forest preserve to the south that 
would provide trail connections from the development. He noted that two regional parks were also 
located just to the south and east.  
• He displayed a number of preliminary front elevations proposed on the different lots. 
• With regard to traffic and circulation, required improvements for Tooze Rd and Grahams Ferry 

Rd were planned within the timeframe allowed by the Development Code. The Applicant was 
working with the City to determine cost sharing and other details.  

• In terms of circulation, providing internal road connections to the south prior to or concurrently 
with the development was required and involved Palermo St to the west and Ravenna Loop to the 
southeast. If Ravenna Loop was built as previously approved in Phase 2 North, a gap would still 
exist, so as part of the Development Agreement, the proposed off-site street improvements on 
property currently owned by the City planned to be sold for future development to provide the 
needed road connections. Having the road connections already completed would add value to the 
adjacent property.  

• The proposed Tentative Subdivision Plat was consistent with the proposed PDP with lot sizes 
consistent with the dimensions allowed in the Pattern Book. A Future Development Tract would be 
combined with land from a future phase to create a buildable lot.   

• Type C Tree Plan. A total of 41 trees were inventoried, and the majority of trees being retained on site 
were located on the one-acre Taber property. A number of trees not inventoried were being preserved 
in the wooded wetland located at the southwest corner of the development area. Overall, seven trees 
were being retained. A vast majority of the trees were being removed due to their condition rather 
than construction. 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 3 of 11  



• Only one sentinel Oregon White Oak had existed on site and was planned to be within the pocket 
park, but it had since failed and would be removed. The Applicant was required to plant a 
specimen shade tree in its place to become a focal point at that corner. 

• He identified the trees proposed for retention and removal, noting the persevered trees which 
included Douglas fir, Ponderosa Pine, Western Red Cedar and Ginkgo trees. His key additional 
comments included: 
• A condition required the sidewalk to meander around the three trees being retained along a 

future portion of SW Tooze Rd in front of the Taber property. 
• One notable tree designated for retention was a 25-inch Douglas Fir rated as Excellent that was 

located in the middle of a block. Given the tree's location and because the tree would be a focal point 
of the subdivision, a tree maintenance easement was required so the homeowners association (HOA) 
could access the tree to care and maintain it for the neighborhood. 
• A number of trees were likely to be removed and final decisions would be made as construction 

occurred. Staff encouraged that many of the trees located on the east side of the Taber’s property 
be retained unless no other option existed. In addition, Staff strongly encouraged trees that one of 
the two trees near the current Tabor home be retained. Due to the potential of a home being 
placed on the lot, both trees could not be retained. 

• A notable tree proposed for removal was a 61-inch diameter Giant Sequoia tree in Excellent 
condition that sat in the middle of a street that could not be sufficiently realigned to avoid the tree 
without significantly changing the layout of the subdivision. Staff had reviewed the Applicant’s 
ideas and did not see a clear design alternative to removing the tree without vastly changing the 
design of what would otherwise be a practical design for the subdivision.  

• Final Development Plan for Parks and Open Space. In addition to the preserved wooded wetland, the 
pocket park located at the northwest corner of the site would be a nice open space providing a view of 
the intersection, a play area and the large shade tree. When Phase 2 North was approved as part of the 
Final Development Plan, the design of the park amenities at the northern edge of the forested area 
was delayed until the current phase, so all the amenities could be coordinated with this phase. The 
impacts to the Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) were expected, given the inclusion of 
nature play, a bench and some amenities leading into the forested area.  

• The Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) Review identified the resources that would be 
impacted and the Applicant was providing the required mitigation so no issues existed.  

• He corrected the Location section on Page 1 of the Staff report by adding Tax Lot 2995, which was 
identified on the Public Hearing Notice but had been excluded on the Staff report.  

 
Ms. Akervall confirmed Phase 2 North was proposed with the same conditions and expectations as Phase 
1 North, and that Phase 3 North would also have the same conditions and expectations as those prior 
phases because all the phases would use the same Pattern Book and Community Elements Book with 
approval. She asked about the entrance from Grahams Ferry Rd onto Oslo St.  
 
Mr. Pauly replied the Oslo St entrance would have the same treatment as other similar entrances, such as 
Surrey St and Grenoble St further south and would follow the Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan as far 
as the fencing and signage at the entrance. 
 
Ms. Akervall asked about the fence around the pocket park area, for example. 
 
Mr. Pauly replied the fence material would follow the Pattern Book. Staff encouraged that it match the 
fencing currently along Grahams Ferry Rd, which provided a limited view with half brick along the 
bottom and half iron looking material. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower asked if garages entrances to the residences were from the rear of the lot.  
 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 4 of 11  



Mr. Pauly explained the garage entrances on the Medium and Small lots had alley-loaded access and the 
Standard and Large lots were front-loaded products. He noted Exhibit B6 was the revised Street Tree 
Plan, adding the Applicant was asked to ensure the street trees were placed in a manner that allowed for 
the curb cuts for the front-loaded products.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for the Applicant’s testimony. 
 
Alaina Robertson, Polygon Northwest, 109 E 13th St, Vancouver, WA, 98660, thanked Staff for the 
thorough presentation and the DRB for hearing the Applicant’s testimony tonight. She displayed a 
comparison of the Villebois Master Plan to the proposal and provided the following key comments:  
• Polygon was fortunate to be part of such a wonderful community and had been able to build its 

product mix in Villebois, beginning with some of its smaller product in 2011. This particular plat 
gave the Applicant an opportunity to provide the larger lots that the City, neighbors and residents of 
Villebois had been looking for as development expanded toward the outer boundaries of the Master 
Plan. 

• As mentioned, the Applicant did reduce the density in this area from what the original Master Plan 
showed for the SAP, which meant larger lots and homes and more pocket parks and open spaces, 
which were integral  to the overall Villebois Village Master Plan as well. She noted the home 
elevations were available for review to see how they fell in line with the Pattern Book. 
• The Applicant would continue making improvements to some of the trails in the open space to the 

south approved as part of Phase 2 North, while also continuing the cleanup that had  begun on the 
south side of the property with the Phase 2 North build out. 

• She displayed the overall site plan showing a mix of the different plan types, which would be a mix of 
alley and front-loaded products. Similar to the Applicant’s other products at Villebois, the 
development would consist of different floor plans. In the Small and Medium designation, a wider 
alley-loaded product would be built, resulting in an increase to the size of the homes.  
• The Applicant planned to keep the pocket park in the northwest corner to add more amenities to 

the area for Polygon's homeowners and the greater Villebois neighborhood. As recommended by 
Staff, the Applicant would pursue adding a large shade tree, which would be a bonus for their 
homeowners who appreciated such amenities. Falling in line with the preservation of other trees 
in the area made the decision an easy one.  

• She briefly reviewed the conceptual elevations, noting the alley-loaded styles had rear garage access 
in keeping with the Pattern Book. The Medium elevations were newer floor plans for Polygon, which 
meant increased stone and brickwork, as seen in some the larger product in Villebois, as well as the 
ability to introduce some wider home plans. This would also be an alley-loaded, Medium product.   
• The front-loaded product consisted more of the traditional style, larger, wider homes. The 

Applicant was now able to introduce different elevation types than in previous proposals because 
their lots had been smaller previously.  

• She added that many of the subject elevations were slightly reminiscent of the larger product on the 
Living Enrichment Center (LEC) property, as the Applicant planned to carry some of that product 
over to this project as well.  

 
Ms. Akervall asked what the boundary would be like between the pocket park on the northwest corner 
and the two lots that bordered it.  
 
Ms. Robertson answered a standard 6-ft cedar stained good neighbor fence would be used to provide 
privacy on the backyards for the homeowners. If other architectural requirements existed, the Applicant 
would be sure to comply to increase the viewpoint. She noted a pedestrian access ran through that portion 
of the pocket park, so in an effort to maintain privacy for the homeowners, the cedar stained fence would 
be installed unless Staff had any other recommendations.  
 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 5 of 11  



Mr. Pauly recalled discussions about wrapping the fence along Grahams Ferry Rd and Tooze Rd if it was 
still within the view shed. 
 
Jim Lange, Pacific Community Design, 12564 SW Main St, Tigard, OR 97223, clarified the 
Community Elements Book required a view fence around the perimeter, which was the half-height wall 
with wrought iron fence that currently existed. At either corner of the pocket park, the Applicant had 
planned to wrap the fence down the sideline of the lot to where the fences would normally end, and the 
same was planned for along Tooze Rd. 
 
Mr. Pauly understood a shorter fence would be along the corner with the right turn pocket.  
 
Mr. Lange responded the Applicant did not believe the entire park should be surrounded with a wrought 
iron fence, as that seemed contrary to the way the parks had been planned, but if that was required, then 
the Applicant would have to comply. He confirmed the plan was to wrap the fence around the edges of 
the homes and leave it open on the corner.  
 
Ms. Robertson recalled the original Master Plan pulled the brick with the wrought iron all the way 
around the corner, but that was when a home existed on the corner. This was a unique situation where the 
Applicant was trying to accommodate the Master Plan with that design piece. Visibility through the parks 
was key to much of what was done in Villebois, so it was definitely something the Applicant was open to.  
 
Mr. Lange did not believe any safety issue would exist because the open space tract with the trail was 
between the lots and the street. The trail was well separated from the road and the play facility was tucked 
in closer to the internal road rather than right on the corner of Grahams Ferry Rd. The Applicant did not 
believe the park needed to be fenced from Tooze Rd or Grahams Ferry Rd.  
 
Ms. Akervall stated it seemed like the design would be aesthetically pleasing while also providing a nice 
opening to the neighborhood from the outside, but her concern regarded small children on the playground 
near a busy intersection. Living in a different part of Villebois, one thing she loved was being able to see 
the park from some of the rooms in her house, similar to many of the houses on this street. She inquired 
about the visibility of the park with it tucked into the corner and how that would feel.  
 
Mr. Lange responded that park visibility was more constrained than typical due to the park’s corner 
location. In an effort to enhance visibility, a bulb-out was included on the knuckle to increase the 
frontage. The original impetus for including the bulb-out was the tree, which fell down subsequent to 
submittal. The Applicant still believed the bulb-out was a good amenity and in the right place. The only 
way to gain more frontage for the park would be small lot sizes and the Applicant did not believe that was 
warranted. 
 
Mr. Pauly suggested that if the Board wanted to make it clear in the record, a condition could be added 
specifying the type of fencing along those lots and where it would wrap around.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower believed that as long as the Applicant was following the Master Plan and Pattern 
Book, the fencing was okay unless any concern existed about some deviation.  
 
Ms. Akervall believed the fencing would look really nice when everything was said and done, but her 
primary concern was ensuring a safe boundary for the playground area. She asked if there was another 
chance for review or to consider the fencing once things were in motion.  
 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 6 of 11  



Blaise Edmonds, Manager, Current Planning, noted in the Pattern Book included a fencing option for 
backyards that faced open space that was not solid wrought iron, but was instead aluminum square tubing 
with the appearance of iron and was not half brick/half iron.  
 
Mr. Pauly clarified the Pattern Book called for an enhanced full view or partial view. He noted many 
corner parks were open to the street so safety still existed. 
 
Mr. Edmonds added the enhanced full view option would provide visibility into the park from Tooze Rd.  
 
Mr. Lange said he misspoke a bit and wanted to clarify what the application contained, so the DRB could 
determine if a change was needed. Sheet 7 of the Final Development Plan set indicated the enhanced 
partial view fence wrapping around the corner with a break where the sidewalk entered the park. Sheet 7 
indicated the baseline of what the application requested. He believed emails shared back and forth with 
Staff indicated that perhaps the best fencing would be the SROZ fencing type, which was a full height 
wrought iron fence without brick on the bottom to maximize visibility.  
 
Ms. Robertson added that the opening for the pedestrian bike access would wrap the whole length of the 
corner and contain the play structure while also maximizing visibility.  
 
Ms. Akervall stated that made her feel more comfortable. 
 
Ms. Robertson said there were many parks and a lot of cars driving around Villebois, and the Applicant 
did not want to jeopardize their homeowners’ children either.  
 
Ms. Akervall noted an email she sent to Mr. Pauly regarding improvements to the Tooze Rd/Grahams 
Ferry Rd intersection and asked if more specifics could be discussed, as well as any details regarding 
timeline.  
 
Mr. Pauly invited Steve Adams to respond, noting he had been working on the development agreements 
the most.  
 
Steve Adams, Engineering Development Manager, explained that Staff was working with Oregon 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) and federal funding to coordinate and gain approval for 
everything and the process was a bit slower than usual when state and federal agencies were involved. It 
appeared that the development at Villebois Calais would take place about six months to a year before the 
City’s project, so the City’s design team would work with the Applicant’s company to ensure the overall 
look was similar and the street level elevations and locations matched. The Applicant’s proposed 
improvements to Grahams Ferry Rd and the internal streets would likely be completed by late next 
summer and the City’s proposed Tooze Rd improvements would probably be completed by the spring or 
summer of 2016.  
• The proposed improvements included constructing a 3-lane width on Tooze Rd with a center turn lane 

or landscaped median, as well as sidewalks and a landscape strip on both sides. Staff tweaked the 
project slightly by adding a 2-ft bike buffer on Tooze Rd and Grahams Ferry Rd in an effort to make 
the area more bicycle-friendly. A bike buffers is a 2-ft painted stripe that separates bicyclists from 
cars and these would likely be the first bicycle buffers in the city.  

• The Applicant was asked to add another right turn lane on northbound Grahams Ferry Rd, so there 
would be as Grahams Ferry Road approached Tooze Rd from the south. Instead of three lanes on 
Grahams Ferry Rd, there would be a single southbound lane and three northbound lanes: a left turn 
lane, a through lane and a right turn lane. Staff asked the Applicant to add the right turn lane to 
encourage the use of Grahams Ferry Rd from communities further south in Villebois, so drivers 
heading north would not be stuck at the red light. Concerns had been heard from many citizens about 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 7 of 11  



people cutting through Villebois to get to the other side, so the idea was that Grahams Ferry Rd to 
Tooze Rd would be a quicker route because it was 45 mph instead of 25 mph. The Applicant had 
worked with the City and agreed to add another right turn lane on northbound Grahams Ferry Rd.  

• He confirmed the City would be building a signalized intersection with the Tooze Rd improvements. 
Both streets and the signalized intersection would be completed in the spring/summer of 2016. The 
current goal was that the signalized intersection would be part of that project. 

 
Ms. Akervall asked if a crunch time was expected for the summer of 2015 through the spring of 2016 
when there would be increased traffic, but the improvements would not yet be finished.  
 
Mr. Adams replied traffic was increasing on a fairly regular basis because of the incredible amount of 
homes being built. Several hundred lots had been approved, and while not totally ready to be built on, 
those lots were ready to be developed whenever the Applicant was ready to move forward. Consequently, 
the speed of the subdivisions moving forward and houses actually being built and occupied would affect 
the traffic flow there. 
 
Ms. Robertson added that completion of the street improvements in the development would actually 
precede construction; homeowners would not necessarily be moving in immediately following the street 
improvements. Although Polygon might complete the improvements in the summer of 2015, there would 
be a development timeframe with production that would push out the time when homeowners could 
actually move in.   
\ 
Mr. Adams added the City preferred having the road constructed prior to homes being built on the north 
side because homeowners typically do not like construction occurring behind or around them, and 
building the road while homes were under construction or lots were empty would make the job much 
easier. He was unsure what homes the Applicant planned to build first, but noted they usually had a 
specific approach of building homes out block-by-block. 
 
Ms. Robertson replied the approach would be contingent on the market and what the market allowed 
them to do. The Applicant was absolutely committed to working with the City to ensure that their 
production time flow aligned appropriately with what was best for the City, Polygon’s homeowners and 
Villebois as a whole. A lot of development was taking place and many new homeowners were moving in, 
so there would be an influx of new traffic and the Applicant was trying to be cognizant of that as they 
continued working to finish the Master Plan everyone has been waiting for.  
 
Mr. Adams noted traffic flow at Grahams Ferry Rd and Tooze Rd had reached a point where the City 
decided to install four stop signs. Currently, Tooze Rd was a through street and the intersection was 
becoming dangerous, so the four stop signs would probably be installed by the end of this week.  
 
Ms. Akervall believed the stop signs might slow things down and help with safety concerns as she had 
seen cars in accidents at the Grahams Ferry Rd/Tooze Rd intersection. She noted last month the DRB 
discussed another Polygon development that would also access Grahams Ferry Rd in that area, adding 
that many people used 110th Ave to exit the neighborhood and changes would be made to that road as 
well. She inquired about the timing of the other development and how the timing all of it would come 
together. 
 
Mr. Lange stated a big infrastructure push was on with a plan to tie into the Village Core and get the loop 
in place around it, get the parks system linked through as well as some important transportation 
connections that were missing today. Many of those final pieces would fall into place this year. The 
southbound leg of a roundabout on Boeckman Rd would eventually become Villebois Dr and be extended 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 8 of 11  



to 110th Ave and another missing roundabout would be installed. This linkage would complete the linkage 
around the Village Core and provide another exit point out to Boeckman Rd. 
• Another piece that would tie everything together better was the Applicant agreed to build the road on 

the school site located on the east side of the subject development. That road would connect south to 
another road that had already been built, providing a second access point and eventually, when the 
City’s property went forward, the road would connect to Tooze Rd.  

 
Ms. Akervall confirmed construction on those important but currently missing linkages was scheduled 
for this summer. She thanked the Applicant for the clarification and illustrating what the linkages would 
look like in the future.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for public testimony in favor of, opposed and neutral to the applications. 
 
Cyndi Satterlund Heider, 12041 SW Tooze Rd, Sherwood, OR 97140, said her home was located at 
the northwest corner of the intersection in question, noting that Ms. Akervall was able to get answers for 
some of her concerns. Safety was a huge concern as she had seen accidents at the intersection about twice 
a month and people often went through the fence. Having more traffic was very concerning and she 
believed the addition of stop signs, and eventually a traffic light, were good ideas as long as people 
stopped.  
• She asked about street improvements, such as the bike lane, and whether they would end at the 

intersection or continue down Tooze Rd. She also asked what side of the road the 6-ft bike lane would 
be on, as she wanted to determine whether it would impact her property beyond the additional traffic. 

 
Mr. Adams answered the bike lane was intended to end at or shortly after the intersection. Heading 
westbound, drivers would go through to Grahams Ferry Rd and the bike lane would phase out before 
reaching SW Westfall Rd. The same thing would happen northbound with the bike lane on Grahams 
Ferry Rd phasing out a few hundred feet north of Tooze Rd. The bike lane on Tooze Rd heading east 
would connect to the existing bike lanes built on Tooze Rd/Boeckman Rd, which would eventually allow 
for bike travel clear across town to Wilsonville Rd with the completion of Frog Pond. The plan was to 
have a bike lane on Boeckman Rd from Grahams Ferry Rd to Wilsonville Rd. Southbound, the bike lanes 
were hit and miss; he added it would have been nice if some had been included earlier in the Grahams 
Ferry Rd design. The City would install bike lanes from Tooze Rd down to the Barber St roundabout and 
bike lanes would also be added as part of the Grande Pointe development; however, there would be a 
short-term 1,500-ft gap in bike lane system between the Barber St roundabout and Grande Pointe.  
• In terms of construction affecting Ms. Heider’s property, the project was just entering the design 

phase, so the project was very preliminary. He added Ms. Heider had probably seen staking flags, 
which were part of the preliminary survey.  Mike Ward, the City’s civil engineer and the project lead, 
had more direct knowledge of what was going on and would be able to answer more of her questions. 
He noted Staff had just gotten the contract signed with OPEC  in the last two weeks.  

• He clarified that the traffic lanes would be 11-ft wide and became narrower going up. Further down, 
the lanes were 12 ft with a 6-ft bike lane. Staff decided to go with an 11-ft lane people were going too 
fast and national studies showed that the narrower the lane width the slower people tended to drive.  

 
Ms. Heider confirmed the stop sign would remain at SW Westfall Rd where the three roads intersected. 
She asked which side of the road the additional lane would come from. 
 
Mr. Adams replied the additional lane would be split on either side of the existing road. The Applicant 
was dedicating 17.5 feet of their parcel to the south and Staff already acquired the right-of-way from the 
neighbor directly to the east of Ms. Heider’s property when the neighbor remodeled. If the southern 
portion of Ms. Heider’s parcel had a standard 40-ft right-of-way, the City would need 17.5 ft of the south 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 9 of 11  



edge of her property. He reiterated the City was months away from acquiring that or approaching her with 
an offer.  
 
Dirk Anderson, 11797 SW Tooze Rd, Wilsonville, OR 97070, stated many of his questions were 
already answered. He strongly advised reconsidering the pocket park located at the intersection of 
Grahams Ferry Rd and Tooze Rd at the north side of the Calais development. Conservatively, there were 
at least two accidents per month at that intersection and it was not unusual for cars to go right into the 
corner where the oak tree was located. He noted that would probably be amended with the stoplight.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for the Applicant’s rebuttal. 
 
Ms. Robertson stated the Applicant had no rebuttal, but appreciated the public comments and thanked 
the Board members for their time.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower closed the public hearing at 7:40 pm. 
 
Lenka Keith moved to amend the Staff report by adding Tax Lot 2995 to the Location section on 
Page 1. Kristin Akervall seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 
 
Lenka Keith moved to approve Resolution No 277. The motion was seconded by Kristin Akervall. 
 
Ms. Akervall confirmed the fencing at the pocket park would be wrought iron. She asked if Staff would 
continue to work with the Applicant to ensure what was completed was a safe and good solution for the 
corner with regard to the boundaries.  
 
Mr. Pauly answered yes, adding Staff would review the final plans consistent with the DRB approval and 
could require minor administrative changes because of the additional right turn lane that was discussed. 
The fencing would be per the Pattern Book, which designated either brick with wrought iron on top or 
just wrought iron.  
 
Ms. Akervall said she had also seen cars go through the fence on the corner and believed wrought iron 
would be sturdier than a wood fence.  
 
Mr. Edmonds clarified the wrought iron was not traditional iron, but was usually a tubing and much 
lighter. The fence was a faux wrought iron.  
 
Mr. Pauly believed traffic would be a lot slower with the eventual build out. 
 
Mr. Edmonds noted Mr. Adam’s testimony that a four-way stop would be installed at the intersection 
very soon, which should help with run the through traffic that caused accidents and created problems for 
the neighbors.  
 
Ms. Akervall said it was good that was happening now so everyone could get used to the four-way stop 
sign before construction began.  
 
Mr. Edmonds added nothing could create safety in a park. He understood Ms. Akervall’s concern 
regarded the safety of children going out into traffic and keeping them confined to the neighborhood. He 
noted that even the fence would not stop a speeding car. The brick fence might, but he was unsure what 
her tolerance of safety was and what she was thinking. 
 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 10 of 11  



Ms. Akervall believed that the addition of the four-way stop, and later a stoplight, helped ease her 
concern. She added that for kids, the boundary did not have to be a full tall fence; a visual and tangible 
boundary would suffice in stopping kids from running out into the intersection.  
 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Mr. Edmonds clarified that the annexation and Zone Map Amendment were recommendations to the 
City Council.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower read the rules of appeal into the record. 
 
VIII. Board Member Communications 

A. Meeting notes from April 28, 2014 DRB Panel B Meeting 
 
Mr. Pauly noted new signs were approved for the World of Speed that were 32-ft poles with banners that 
kind of extended the lines of the building. Not many sign applications had been seen recently, and the 
application was brought to the DRB level because of the banner signs, which the DRB believed made 
good architectural sense.  
 
Mr. Edmonds added banner signs were typically seen at museums or venues where the displays changed. 
The World of Speed had a need to change the banners, which were very professionally done and not the 
cheap type of banners seen on SE 82nd Ave in Portland. The banner signs were museum-quality and 
would be located on the west entrance on 95th Ave, not facing the freeway because the Applicant did not 
want people to go through the wrong entrance.  
 
IX. Staff Communications 
 
Mr. Edmonds announced the work retreat with City Council and all City commissions and boards was 
scheduled for this Saturday, May 17th, between 9 am and 3 pm at City Hall. He was sure lunch would be 
served, but he had not seen the agenda yet. He did not believe anyone needed to bring anything other than 
questions and comments. 
 
Ms. Akervall thanked her fellow board members for being patient as she got caught up to speed.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower responded Ms. Akervall had good questions that triggered new discussion and new 
questions, which was very good. 
 
X. Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 7:50 pm. 
 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 

 
Paula Pinyerd, ABC Transcription Services, Inc. for  
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 

 

Development Review Board Panel A  May 12, 2014 
Minutes  Page 11 of 11  



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JUNE 9, 2014 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VI. Consent Agenda: 
B. Resolution No. 280 Charbonneau Village Center 

Condominium Replat:  SFA Design Group, LLC for 
Charbonneau Village Center Condominium – 
owner/applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a 
Tentative Condominium Replat for Charbonneau Village 
Center Condominium. The site is includes Tax Lots 8000-
80009, 8000B and 8000C, and 8010A-8010F in Section 
24CD, T3S-R1W, Clackamas County, Oregon.  Staff:  
Michael Wheeler 

 
Case Files:   DB13-0058 – Tentative Condominium Re-Plat 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
RESOLUTION NO. 280 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS APPROVING A TENTATIVE 
CONDOMINIUM REPLAT FOR CHARBONNEAU VILLAGE CENTER CONDOMINIUM. 
THE SITE INCLUDES TAX LOTS 8000-80009, 8000B AND 8000C, AND 8010A-8010F IN 
SECTION 24CD, T3S-R1W, CLACKAMAS COUNTY, OREGON. SFA DESIGN GROUP, LLC 
FOR CHARBONNEAU VILLAGE CENTER CONDOMINIUM – OWNER/APPLICANT.. 
 
 WHEREAS, an application, together with planning exhibits for the above-captioned 
development, has been submitted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008 of the 
Wilsonville Code, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Staff has prepared staff report on the above-captioned subject dated 
June 2, 2014, and 
 
 WHEREAS, said planning exhibits and staff report were duly considered by the Development 
Review Board Panel A at a scheduled meeting conducted on June 9, 2014, at which time exhibits, 
together with findings and public testimony were entered into the public record, and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Development Review Board considered the subject and the recommendations 
contained in the staff report, and 
 
 WHEREAS, interested parties, if any, have had an opportunity to be heard on the subject;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Development Review Board Panel A of the 
City of Wilsonville approves a Tentative Condominium Re-plat, and does hereby adopt the staff report 
attached hereto as Exhibit A1 with modified findings, recommendations and conditions placed on the 
record therein, and authorizes the Planning Director to issue approvals consistent with said 
recommendations for Case File(s): 

DB13-0058  Tentative Condominium Re-plat 
 

ADOPTED by the Development Review Board of the City of Wilsonville at a regular meeting 
thereof this 9th day of June 2014 and filed with the Planning Administrative Assistant 
on _______________. This resolution is final on the l5th calendar day after the postmarked date of the 
written notice of decision per WC Sec 4.022(.09) unless appealed per WC Sec 4.022(.02) or called up for 
review by the council in accordance with WC Sec 4.022(.03). 
 
 
 
       
           ,  
      Mary Fierros-Bower, Chair, Panel A 
      Wilsonville Development Review Board 
 
  

DRB Resolution No. 280  Page 1 of 2 
 



Attest: 
 
 
       
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 

DRB Resolution No. 280  Page 2 of 2 
 



 

Exhibit A1 
 

STAFF REPORT 
WILSONVILLE PLANNING DIVISION 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL A 
Quasi-Judicial Hearing  

 
Tentative Condominium Re-plat - Charbonneau Village Center Condominium 

 
 
Public Hearing Date: June 9, 2014 
Date of Report:   June 2, 2014 
 
Application Number: DB13-0058 
 
Owner: Charbonneau Village Center Condominium 
Applicant: Charbonneau Village Center Condominium 
Applicant’s Representative:  SFA Design Group, LLC 
 
Request: SFA Design Group, LLC, acting as agents for Charbonneau Village Center 
Condominium, is requesting that the City approve a re-plat (i.e., tentative condominium plat) for 
housekeeping revisions to the existing condominium plat, to reflect development modifications 
and approvals made previously. 
  
Recommended Action:  Approve the application with conditions of approval.  

Comprehensive Plan Designation: Commercial 
Zone Map Designation: Planned Development Commercial (PDC) 
 
Size:  8.59 acres 
 
Applicable Review Criteria: 
 
Planning and Land Development Ordinance:  
Sections 4.008-4.015; 4.031(.01)(C); 4.034; 4.035; 4.116; 4.118; 4.131; 4.140; 4.140(.09)(L); 4.202; 
4.210 – 4.270. 
 
Project Location: The existing development is located south of SW French Prairie Road, on SW 
Charbonneau Drive, at 31840, 31860, 31960, 32000, 32010, 32020, 32046, 32050, 32070, 
32074, 32078, 32082, 32086, 32090 SW Charbonneau Drive.  
 
Legal Description: Tax Lots 80000 – 80009, 8000B and 8000C, and 8010A – 8010F, in Section 
24CD (Supplement 2); T3S R1W; Clackamas County; Wilsonville, Oregon. 
 
Staff Reviewer: Michael R. Wheeler, Associate Planner.  
 
DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 1 of 13 
 



 
 
APPLICANT’S PROPOSED PLAT REVISIONS: 

 
 
 
  

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 2 of 13 
 



SUMMARY: Tentative Condominium Re-plat  
 
No physical development is proposed as part of this application.  The proposed application is 
a ‘housekeeping’ measure, intended to bring the plat into compliance with the City’s Code 
provisions and a recently imposed condition of approval. 
 
SFA Design Group, LLC, agent for the Applicant/Owner, Charbonneau Village Center 
Condominium, is proposing a tentative condominium re-plat of an existing 8.59 acre 
condominium project.  The existing plat was approved in 1990, and has been successively 
modified (with City approval) on two (2) subsequent occasions (i.e., 1994, 1997).  However, five 
(5) additional functional changes have been made to the site over time, which changes affect the 
plat, but do not yet appear on that plat.  While structural improvements received appropriate 
Building Division approvals, required changes to the condominium plat were not sought, until 
receipt of the current application. 
 
The following is an excerpt from the Applicant’s drawing entitled “Plat Amendment” (Exhibit 
B2.1), noting the changes that are proposed, followed by a chronology of the recorded 
amendments: 
 
 
APPLICANT’S GRAPHIC LISTING OF PROPOPOSED REVISIONS: 

 
 

  

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 3 of 13 
 



APPLICANT’S GRAPHIC LISTING OF APPROVED AND MISSING AMENDMENTS: 

 

  

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 4 of 13 
 



RECOMMENDED ACTION AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 
Based on the findings of fact, analysis and conclusionary findings 1 through 51, staff 
recommends that the Development Review Board approve the Tentative Condominium Re-plat. 
The application and supporting documents are hereby adopted for approval, together with the 
following conditions:  
 
Legend      
PD = Planning Division 
PF = Engineering Division (Public Facilities) 
 
Tentative Condominium Re-plat  (DB13-0058): 
 
PD 1. On the basis of findings 1 through 51, this action approves the Tentative Condominium 
Re-plat submitted with this application for adjustments as entered into the record on June 9, 
2014, approved by the Development Review Board, and stamped “Approved Planning Division.”  
Prior to approval of the Final Condominium Re-plat, the Applicant/Owner shall: 
 
a. Assure that the affected units shall not be sold or conveyed until such time as the final 

condominium re-plat is recorded with Clackamas County. 

b. Submit an application for Final Condominium Plat review and approval on the Planning 
Division Site Development Application and Permit form.  The Applicant/Owner shall also 
provide materials for review by the City’s Planning Division in accordance with Section 
4.220 of City’s Development Code.  Prepare the Final Condominium Re-plat in substantial 
accord with the Tentative Condominium Re-plat as approved by the Development Review 
Board, and as amended by these conditions, except as may be subsequently altered by 
Board approval, or by minor revisions approved by the Planning Director. 

c. Illustrate existing and proposed easements, on the Final Condominium Re-plat. 

 
  

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 5 of 13 
 



EXHIBIT LIST: 
 
A1.  Staff Report 
 
Applicant’s Written and Graphic Materials: 
 
B1. Applicant’s submittal notebook, including (by consecutive section): 

1. Response to Incomplete Application Letter 
2. Application 
3. Compliance Narrative 
4. Proposed Preliminary Plat Amendments 
5. Memorandum of Understanding 
6. Zone Change 72PC10 and 72RZ01 
7. 90AR06 Village Center Plat 
8. Recorded Plat 
9. 94AR14 Bitar Plat (Unit 9) 
10. Unit 10 A – F Stage 3 Plat 
11. Recorded Declaration & By-laws 
12. 90PC28 Parking Variance 
13. Tax Maps 
14. Title Report    

 
B2. Drawings (Reduced size and full size): 

1. Plat Amendment (annotated) 
2. Plat Amendment (no annotations) 

    
C1. Development Review Team Correspondence: 
 

None submitted. 
 
D1. Letters (neither For nor Against): 
 

None submitted 
 
D2. Letters (In Favor): 
 

None submitted 
 
D3. Letters (Opposed) 
 

None submitted 
  

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 6 of 13 
 



FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 
1. The statutory 120-day time limit applies to this application. The application was received 

on December 23, 2013. On January 22, 2014, staff conducted a completeness review within 
the statutorily allowed 30-day review period.  On February 3, and February 4, 2014, the 
Applicant submitted additional materials, and the application was deemed complete on 
April 28, 2014. The City must render a final decision for the request, including any appeals, 
by August 26, 2014.  

 
2. Prior land use actions affecting the site are described in detail by the applicant in Section 3 

of the Exhibit B1, and supported by included documentation (Sections B1.6 – B1.10). 
 
3. The Applicant has complied with Sections 4.013-4.031 of the Wilsonville Code, said 

sections pertaining to review procedures and submittal requirements. The required public 
notices have been sent and all proper notification procedures have been satisfied.  

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 7 of 13 
 



CONCLUSIONARY FINDINGS: 
 
4.008-4.015  Application Procedure – In General 
 
1. The Applicant’s submitted documents meet these code criteria. 
 
4.031(.01)(C) Authority of the Development Review Board  
 
2. This subsection specifies that condominium plats (or re-plats) must be reviewed by the 

Development Review Board.  The current application is appropriately being processed as 
a Class III review before Development Review Board Panel A. 

 
4.034(.05)  Application Requirements 
 
3. This subsection directs “condominium divisions” to be reviewed according to the 

provisions of Subsection 4.210, which review may be found later, below.  The current 
application intends to adjust the existing condominium plat by recording a plat 
amendment, or re-plat, in compliance with these requirements. 

 
4.116  Standards Applying to Commercial Development in Any Zone 
 
4. This subsection applies to physical development of sites within the PDC zone.  However, 

no actual development is proposed by the Applicant, only a housekeeping effort to revise 
the previously-approved condominium plat. 

 
4.118  Standards Applying to All Planned Development Zones 
 
5. This subsection guides development proposed within all planned development zones, 

including the PDC zone.  However, the Applicant does not propose any physical 
development, but instead proposes to revise the previously-approved condominium plat, 
revising it to reflect approved, incremental development that has occurred over a period 
of years. 

 
Section 4.131 Planned Development Commercial (PDC) Zone Requirements 
 
6. This subsection identifies the uses allowed in the PDC zone. The uses existing on site 

were approved in prior land use applications.  The Applicant is not proposing to modify 
those approved uses at this time. 

 
Section 4.140  Planned Development Regulations 
 
7. This subsection identifies the uses allowed in the PDC zone. The uses existing on site 

were approved in prior land use applications.  The Applicant is not proposing to modify 
those approved uses at this time. 

 

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 8 of 13 
 



Land Divisions 
 
Subsection 4.202  Land Divisions: General - Authorization 

 
14. This subsection does not allow parcel partitions or subdivisions to create parcels less than 

that allowed in the zone. There is no minimum parcel size for the Planned Development 
Commercial (PDC) Zone.  The changes to the condominium plat that are proposed are 
intended to reflect reallocations of use and ownership that have occurred over time, but 
have not been shown on the recorded plat.  This criterion is met.  

 
Subsection 4.210(.01) Pre-Application Meeting 

 
15. This subsection requires a pre-application meeting as part of the process. A pre-

application meeting was conducted on January 17, 2013, regarding this and other recent 
development in Charbonneau, meeting this criterion.  

 
Subsection 4.210(.01)(A): Preparation of Tentative Plat 
 
16. A Tentative Condominium Re-plat has been prepared by an Oregon licensed professional 

engineer, as required.  The proposed Tentative Condominium Re-plat can be seen on two 
submitted (2) drawings (Exhibits B2.1 and B2.2).  The Introductory Narrative (Exhibit 
B1) includes a listing of the services provided by each design team member.  This 
criterion is met. 

 
Subsection 4.210(.01)(B)(1-26): Tentative Plat Submission 
17. Staff finds that the informational elements required for submission with a proposed 

Tentative Condominium Re-plat have been submitted by the Applicant. 
 
Subsection 4.210(.01)(C)(1): Action on proposed Tentative Plat 
 
18. The proposed Tentative Condominium Re-plat, as seen on two (2) drawings (Exhibits 

B2.1 and B2.2) is included with this application for review by the Development Review 
Board.  

 
Section 4.210(.01)(C)(2): Consideration of Tentative Partition Plat  
19. There is no partition plat proposed with this application.  
 
Subsection 4.210(.01)(C)(3): Action on proposed Tentative Plat 
 
20. Any Conditions of Approval adopted by the Board shall be reflected on the final plat.  

The final plat will not be approved by the City until all the conditions of approval 
adopted by the DRB for the Tentative Condominium Re-plat have been satisfied. 

 

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 9 of 13 
 



Subsection 4.210(.01)(C)(4): Board may limit content of deed restrictions 
 
21. Deed restrictions and covenants currently exist for this site, and are not proposed to be 

changed as a part of this application.  
 
Subsection 4.210(.01)(C)(5): Effect of Approval  
 
22. After approval of the Tentative Condominium Re-plat, a Final Plat must be prepared and 

submitted to the Planning Division within two years, if an extension is not provided. 
 
Subsection 4.210(.01)(D): Land Division Phases To Be Shown 
  
23. The development already exists on the site.  No further changes to that existing 

development are proposed at this time.  As a result, there are no future phases to be 
considered. 

 
Subsection 4.210(.01)(E):  Remainder Tracts To Be Shown as Lots or Parcels 
 
24. The Tentative Condominium Re-plat does not include any remainder tracts.   
 
Section 4.236 General Requirements – Streets 
Subsection 4.236(.01) Conformity to the Transportation System Plan 
 
25. No changes to the street system are proposed as a part of this application.  

 
Subsection 4.236(.02)(A) Relation to Adjoining Street System 
 
26. This subsection requires land divisions to provide for the continuation of the principal 

streets existing in the adjoining area and proposed streets to be the width required 
elsewhere in the Wilsonville City Code. Because the proposed re-plat has been submitted 
only to bring the plat up to date, no impact to the adjoining street system is proposed.  

 
Subsection 4.236(.02)(B) Requirement to Submit Prospective Future Street System  
 
27. The proposed re-plat covers the existing property and no future streets are proposed.  
 
Subsection 4.236(.02)(C). Arrangement of Parcels/Lots to Allow Future Subdivision 
 
28. Other than to reflect previously-constructed improvements on the condominium plat, no 

future divisions of the affected properties are proposed.  
 

Subsection 4.236(.03) Conformity with Section 4.177 and Block Standards of Zone. 
 
29. The existing condominium plat was recorded prior to the implementation of this 

subsection.  The project is legally nonconforming with regard to its requirements.  
Despite this fact, no changes are proposed that would require conformance to the 
standard.  

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 10 of 13 
 



 
Subsection 4.236(.04) Creation of Easements 
 
30. No new easements are proposed or required as a part of the proposed re-plat.  This 

provision is satisfied.   
 

Subsection 4.236(.05) Topography  
  
31. No change in the topography of the site is proposed as part of the re-plat.   
 
Subsection 4.236(.06)(A-C):  Reserve Strips   
 
32. Reserve strips are not proposed as part of the re-plat.  
 
Subsection 4.236(.07): Future Expansion of Street  
 
33. No changes to the existing street system are proposed as part of the re-plat.  
 
Subsection 4.236(.08) Existing Streets 
 
34. No additional right-of-way is required as part of the proposed re-plat.  
 
Subsection 4.236(.09): Street Names  
 
35. No changes to the existing street names and address numbers are proposed as part of the 

re-plat. 
 
Section 4.237 General Requirements – Other 
Subsection 4.237(.01)(A-B) Block Standards 
 
36. No changes to existing blocks are proposed as part of the re-plat.   
 
Subsection 4.237(.02)(A-B) Easements 
 
37. No new easements are proposed as part of the proposed re-plat. 
 
Subsection 4.237(.03)(A-B) Pedestrian and Bicycle Pathway 
 
38. No changes to existing pedestrian circulation or pathways are proposed as part of the re-

plat.  
 
Subsection 4.237(.04) Street Tree Planting 
 
39. Street trees are existing in the project, and no changes to those trees are proposed as part 

of the re-plat.  
 

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 11 of 13 
 



Subsection 4.237(.05)(A-B) Lot Size, Shape, Width, and Orientation 
Subsection 4.237(.05)(C): Waivers 
 
40. The existing condominium project was approved in 1990.  Only minor changes to the 

boundaries of affected units, general common elements and limited common elements are 
currently proposed, in order to enable the condominium plat to reflect changes that have 
occurred over a period of time.  The proposed re-plat complies with this standard.  The 
proposed lot sizes, widths, shapes and orientations meet or exceed code.  

 
Subsection 4.237(.06) Access 
 
41. No changes are proposed to existing access within the condominium plat.  
 
Subsection 4.237(.07) Through Lots 
 
42. No through lots are found within the recorded condominium plat, and none are proposed 

as part of this re-plat.  
 
Subsection 4.237(.08): Lot side lines 
 
43. No changes to the side lot lines of units are proposed that would affect compliance in this 

regard. 
 
Subsection 4.237(.09): Large Lot Land Divisions 
 
44. No large lot subdivisions are proposed as part of the re-plat. 
 
Subsection 4.237(.10): Building line   
 
45. Building lines are not proposed by this application for a re-plat.  
 
Subsection 4.237(.11): Build-to line   
 
46. Build-to lines are not proposed by this application for a re-plat.  
 
Subsection 4.237(.12): Land for public purposes   
 
47. This proposed Tentative Condominium Re-plat does not involve land for public purposes.  
 
Subsection 4.237(.13): Corner lots  
 
48. All condominium units currently exist; none are corner lots. 
 

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 12 of 13 
 



Subsection 4.262:  Improvements – Requirements  
 
49. No new street, sanitary sewer, storm drainage, streetlights, or street signs, utilities, or 

waterline improvements are proposed as part of this application. 
 
Subsection 4.262(.09): Monuments   
 
50. Monuments shall be placed at all lot and block corners, angle points, points of curves in 

streets, at intermediate points and will be of such material, size, and length as required by 
State Law, or general requirements related to all monuments on the subject site or those 
that may be subject to disturbance.    

 
Section 4.270: Variance from Land Division Standards 
 
51. No variances from applicable standards are being sought as a part of this application.  
 
 

DB13-0058  Re-plat  Charbonneau Village Center Condominium Staff Report  Exhibit A1 
Development Review Board Panel A  June 9, 2014  Page 13 of 13 
 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Response to  
Incomplete Application 















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Compliance Narrative 























































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed Preliminary 
Plat Amendments 

































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Memorandum of 
Understanding 

























































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Zone Change 
72PC10 & 72RZ01 



















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

90AR06 
Village Center Plat 























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recorded Plat 
 

















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

94AR14 
BITAR Plat (Unit 9) 

 



















































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Unit 10 A-F 
Stage 3 Plat 

 









































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recorded Declaration 
& By-Laws 

 





















































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

90PC28 
Parking Variance 

 



















































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tax Maps 
 







 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Title Report 
 

































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JUNE 9, 2014 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VII.  Public Hearing:     
A. Resolution No. 281.   Artistic Auto Body Building 

Expansion: SFA Design Group, LLC- applicant for 
Terry Mostul – owner.  The applicant is requesting 
approval of an amendment to a Stage I Preliminary Plan, 
Stage II Final Plan, Waiver to reduce building setbacks and 
Site Design Review for approximately 4,995 square foot 
building expansion to the Artistic Auto Body building, 
including related site improvements.  The site is located at 
27975 SW Parkway Avenue on Tax Lots 701, 702 and 703 
of Section 11, T3S, R1W, Clackamas County, Oregon.  
Staff:  Blaise Edmonds 
 

Case Files:   DB14-0017 – Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
  DB14-0018 – Stage II Final Plan 
  DB14-0019 – Setback Waiver 
  DB14-0020 – Site Design Review 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
RESOLUTION NO. 281 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO A STAGE I PRELIMINARY PLAN, STAGE II 
FINAL PLAN, A WAIVER TO REDUCE BUILDING SETBACKS, AND SITE DESIGN 
REVIEW FOR APPROXIMATELY 4,995 SQUARE FOOT BUILDING ADDITION TO 
THE ARTISTIC AUTO BODY BUILDING INCLUDING RELATED SITE 
IMPROVEMENTS. THE SITE IS LOCATED AT 27975 SW PARKWAY AVENUE ON 
TAX LOTS 701, 702, AND 703 IN SECTION 11; T3S R1W; CLACKAMAS COUNTY, 
OREGON; TERRY MOSTUL, OWNER. 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, an application, together with planning exhibits for the above-captioned 
development, has been submitted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008 
of the Wilsonville Code, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Staff has prepared staff report on the above-captioned subject 
dated June 2, 2014, and 
 
 WHEREAS, said planning exhibits and staff report were duly considered by the 
Development Review Board Panel A at a scheduled meeting conducted on June 9, 2014, at 
which time exhibits, together with findings and public testimony were entered into the public 
record, and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Development Review Board considered the subject and the 
recommendations contained in the staff report, and 
 
 WHEREAS, interested parties, if any, have had an opportunity to be heard on the subject. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Development Review Board of the 
City of Wilsonville does hereby adopt the staff report June 2, 2014, as amended, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A1, with findings and recommendations contained therein, and authorizes the 
Planning Director to issue a site development permit consistent with said recommendations for:  

 
DB14-0017  Revised Stage I Preliminary  Plan 
DB14-0018  Stage II Final Plan 
DB14-0019  Setback Waiver 
DB14-0020  Site Design Review 
    
ADOPTED by the Development Review Board of the City of Wilsonville at a regular 

meeting thereof this 9th day of June, 2014 and filed with the Planning Project Coordinator on 
_______________.  This resolution is final on the l5th calendar day after the postmarked date of 
the written notice of decision per WC Sec 4.022(.09) unless appealed per WC Sec 4.022(.02) or 
called up for review by the council in accordance with WC Sec 4.022(.03). 

RESOLUTION NO.  281 PAGE 1 
 
 



 

 
       
          ______,  
      Mary Fierros Bower, Chair, Panel A 
      Wilsonville Development Review Board 
 
Attest: 

 
       
Shelley White 

 
 
 

   
 

RESOLUTION NO.  281 PAGE 2 
 
 



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 1 

Exhibit „A1‟ 

WILSONVILLE PLANNING DIVISION 

STAFF REPORT 

 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL „A‟ 

QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 

 

ARTISTIC AUTO BODY 

 

 

Public Hearing Date: June 9, 2014 

Date of Staff Report: June 2, 2014 

_____, 2013 

Property Owner: Terry Mostul, Owner-Artistic Auto Body 

Applicant‟s Representative: Mr. Ben Altman of SFA Design Group     

 

 

Request: Mr. Ben Altman of SFA Design Group, acting as applicant for Mr. Terry Mostul, 

proposes construction of approximately 4,995 square foot building expansion to the Artistic Auto 

Body building including related site improvements at 27975 SW Parkway Avenue.  

 

Request A: DB14-0017  Revised Stage I Preliminary  Plan 

Request B: DB14-0018  Stage II Final Plan 

Request C: DB14-0019  Setback Waiver 

Request D: DB14-0020  Site Design Review 

 

Proposal: The applicant is proposing review and approval of a modified Stage I Preliminary 

Plan (Master Plan), Stage II Final Plan, a waiver to a street side yard setback and Site Design 

Review for a building expansion for auto body repair and service uses. 

  

History: 
 

The subject site was developed for Layton Sales in 1973, and at the time was zoned Planned 

Development Commercial and Industrial (PC&I). Layton Sales was a construction equipment 

sales and service company, which also had a machine shop as part of their repair operations. Mr. 

Robert Jones owned the property and improvements since 1982. Concurrently, he leased the site 

to his company Portland Tractor Inc. (PTI) who later moved to Washougal Washington in late 

1993. PTI was similar in nature to Layton Sales, but used much more of the site for outdoor 

storage. Throughout 1994, and up through August 1995, all manufacturing and some 

warehousing was conducted by PTI on the subject property. So, it is evident that the site had 

been historically used for sales, manufacturing, repair and storage of heavy duty construction 

equipment, attachments and parts. Mr. Terry Mostul of Artistic Auto Body currently owns the 

property and performs a wide variety of automotive body repair and painting services. In 

Planning Case File 96AR28, Artistic Auto Body received approval to modify the exterior west 

elevation of the main building, as well as add a covered parking area and car washing facility, 

which are both located to the east of the main building. In Planning Case File 96AR41, Artistic 

was allowed to re-establish an approved monument sign. Case file 96SR17 was an administrative 

approval allowing a copy change to the freestanding 1-5 freeway sign. All of the other on-site 

Page 1 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 2 

improvements were either conditioned as part of the administrative approvals, or required no city 

review at all (e.g. paint and clean up). 

 

Site Description and Location: 

 

The subject property comprises Tax Lots 701, 702, and 703 of Section 11, Township 3 South, 

Range I West, Willamette Meridian, Clackamas County, City of Wilsonville, Oregon. The three 

tax lots total 2.96 acres in area. The site is currently developed with two buildings on Tax Lot 

703; a micro wave monopole tower on Tax Lot 701; and Tax Lot 702 is currently vacant with the 

exception of the freestanding freeway sign. To the north of the subject site is Wilsonville Garden 

Center, to the south is SW Boeckman Road and the Terrene Apartments. To the west is Interstate 

5, and to the east is the Mentor Graphics Campus. 

 
VICINITY MAP 

 

 
 

Staff Recommendation: Approve Requests A through D with conditions of approval 

beginning on page 6. 

 

Comprehensive Plan Designations: Industrial 

Zone Map Designations: Planned Development Industrial (PDI) 

 

 

 

 

 

Applicable Review Criteria: Planning and Land Development Ordinance:  

Page 2 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 3 

 
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 

Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 

Section 4.010 How to Apply 

Section 4.011 How Applications are Processed 

Section 4.014 Burden of Proof 

Subsection 4.035 (.04) Site Development Permit Application 

Subsection 4.035 (.05) Complete Submittal Requirement 

Section 4.117 Standards Applying to Industrial Development in All 

Zones 

Section 4.118 Standards Applying to Planned Development Zones 

Section 4.118(.03) Waivers 

Section 4.135 Planned Development Industrial Zone (PDI) 

Section 4.154 On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 

Section 4.140 Planned Development Regulations 

Section 4.155 Parking, Loading, and Bicycle Parking 

Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress 

Section 4.175 Public Safety and Crime Prevention 

Section 4.176 Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering 

Section 4.177(.03) Sidewalks 

Section 4.179 Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage 

Sections 4.199.20 through 4.199.60 Outdoor Lighting 

Sections 4.400 through 4.440 as 

applicable 

Site Design Review 

 

Other Planning Documents: Comprehensive Plan; Storm Water Master Plan 

 

Staff Reviewers:  Blaise Edmonds, Manager of Current Planning; Don Walters, Plans Examiner; 

Steve Adams and Development Engineering Manager. 

 

SUMMARY FINDINGS  

 

Request A – DB14-0017 Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan: As demonstrated in findings A1 

through A47, the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan meets all applicable requirements in 

Section 4.140.01 through .07.  

Request B – DB14-0018 Stage II Final Plan: As demonstrated in findings B1 through B26 the 

proposed Stage II Final Plan for the building expansion meets the City criteria in Subsections 

4.116, and 4.135 - Zoning. The proposed Stage II Final Plan meets the City criteria in Subsection 

4.140.09(J)(1) - Land Use.  

The proposed project meets the City criteria in Subsection 4.140.09(J)(2) – Traffic. The 

DKS Associates traffic impact study determined that the study intersections, or most probable 

used intersections, would not produce traffic congestion in excess of level service (LOS) D with 

the addition of the 10 PM peak hour traffic from the proposed project.  
 

Page 3 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 4 

Public Utilities: The proposed project with Engineering Division conditions of approval 

referenced therein, meets the City criteria in Subsection 4.140.09(J)(3) - Public Utilities for 

streets, water, sanitary sewer and storm drainage.  

 

Request C – DB14-0019 Waiver: As demonstrated in findings C1 through C12 the proposed 

waiver to reduce the 30 foot minimum setback to allow 5 feet at the southerly property line at 

SW Boeckman Road should be approved.   

 
 

Request D – DB14-0020 Site Design Review: As demonstrated in findings D1 through D25 the 

proposed building expansion (architecture and landscaping) meets the City criteria in Sections 

4.400 – 4.450.  

 
 

 

 

DISCUSSION TOPICS:  

 

Page 4 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 5 

Building Setback Waiver: Request C involves a waiver to encroach the 30 foot street side yard 

building setback along SW Boeckman Road. In Resolution 96DB36 the DRB approved a waiver 

to locate a car wash cover associated with a car wash operation 22‟ from the south property line. 

The proposed waiver request to allow the proposed building expansion at 5 feet from the south 

property line next to the right-of-way of SW Boeckman Road is necessary to accommodate 

internal body repair operations and it would be difficult if the building expansion was located 

elsewhere. Staff recommends that the proposed waiver be approved. 

 

Internal Circulation – Section 4.154, DKS Associates: “Access to Artistic Auto Body is 

provided by a driveway on the west side of SW Parkway Drive. The driveway has entrances to 

other neighboring establishments, and the southern side of the road contains approximately 20 

nose‐in parking spaces with additional parking available on west side of Artistic Auto Body. No 

pedestrian or bicycle facilities are present on the site. It is recommended that a sidewalk between 

Parkway Drive and Artistic Auto Body be installed, along with defined bike parking to meet 

existing City of Wilsonville standards. Due to significant grade difference between Artistic Auto 

Body and Boeckman Road, no vehicle or pedestrian connection south of the facility is expected 

at this time.” Staff: Regarding bicycle parking, the applicant has indicated to staff the bicycle 

parking is provided inside the Artistic Auto Body building which is acceptable.  

 

Sidewalks: Subsection 4.177(.03) Wilsonville Code stipulates: “Sidewalks shall be provided on 

the public streets of all development.” In 1996 the applicant installed a 5‟ wide, curb tight, 

concrete sidewalk along the entire frontage of the subject site along SW Parkway Ave. A half 

street improvement was also built along the unimproved northern most portion of SW Parkway 

Avenue fronting the site (10 -20‟ of the northern most frontage).  

 

SW Boeckman Road. DKS Associates: “The design of the expansion of Artistic Auto Body 

should be coordinated with the City of Wilsonville to ensure final design will accommodate the 

Boeckman Road widening project identified in the City‟s TSP.6.”  

 

The City Development Engineer states in proposed condition PFA15: “Current existing right-of-

way adjacent to the south property line varies from about 103 feet to 137 feet; the TSP specifies 

a right-of-way of 95 to 107 feet. Sufficient right-of-way presently exists to accommodate future 

roadway expansion as provided in the TSP and no additional right-of-way is needed.”   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 5 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 6 

PROPOSED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR REQUESTS „A - D‟:   

 
The applications and supporting documents are hereby adopted for approval with the 

following conditions:  
 

PD  

BD  

PF  

NR  

FD  

 

= 

= 

= 

= 

= 

= 

Planning Division Conditions 

Building Division Conditions 

Engineering Conditions 

Natural Resources Conditions 

Tualatin Valley Fire and 

Rescue Conditions  

 

Request A: DB14-0017  Revised Stage I Preliminary  Plan 

Request B: DB14-0018  Stage II Final Plan 

Request C: DB14-0019  Waivers 

Request D: DB14-0020   Site Design Review 

 

 

Request A: DB14-0017:  Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan  

On the basis of findings A1 through A47. This action approves the revised Stage I 

Preliminary Plan submitted with this application, approved by the Development Review 

Board, and stamped “Approved Planning Division”.  
 

Request B – DB14-0018: Stage II Final Plan  

PDB1. The Applicant/Owner shall provide the general contractor for the proposed project with 

a copy of the approved plans and conditions of approval adopted by the City.  

PDB2. All construction workers‟ vehicles and job shacks associated with this project shall be 

parked and located on site or on other private property with the permission of that 

property owner. 

 

Building Division Conditions: 

BD 1. CODE SUMMARY. A code summary will be required at the time of building permit 

submittal showing how the combined old and new buildings meet code. 

BD 2. FIRE CALCS. At the time of building permit submittal submit fire calcs. 

BD 3. ADVISORY. ACCESSIBLE PARKING cannot be fully reviewed at this time.  

Accessible parking will be fully reviewed as part of the plan review of the building 

permit. The additional information available at plan review may require changes to the 

number and location of accessible parking spaces shown on these preliminary plans. 

BD 4. ADVISORY. ACCESSIBLE PARKING/PLACEMENT. Accessible parking spaces 

shall be located on the shortest practical accessible route to an accessible building entry.  

(OSSC Section 1106.6) 

 

Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue Conditions: 

No conditions were provided  

 

Natural Resources Conditions: 

No conditions were provided  

Page 6 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 7 

Engineering Division Conditions of Approval: 

Standard Comments: 

Standard Comments: 

PFA 1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance 

to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards. 

PFA 2. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public 

utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, all fees 

have been paid, all necessary permits, right-of-way and easements have been 

obtained and Staff is notified a minimum of 24 hours in advance. 

PFA 3. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 

22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville 

Public Work‟s Standards. 

PFA 4. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control measures 

in conformance with the standards adopted by the City of Wilsonville Ordinance 

No. 482 during the construction of any public/private utility and building 

improvements until such time as approved permanent vegetative materials have 

been installed. 

PFA 5. Applicant shall work with City‟s Natural Resources office before disturbing any soil 

on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant shall 

obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.  If 

1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed a 1200-CN permit from the City of 

Wilsonville is required. 

PFA 6. Fire hydrants shall be located in compliance with TVF&R fire prevention ordinance 

and approval of TVF&R. 

PFA 7. The applicant shall contact the Oregon Water Resources Department and inform 

them of any existing wells located on the subject site. Any existing well shall be 

limited to irrigation purposes only. Proper separation, in conformance with 

applicable State standards, shall be maintained between irrigation systems, public 

water systems, and public sanitary systems. Should the project abandon any existing 

wells, they shall be properly abandoned in conformance with State standards. 

PFA 8. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to disturbance 

within the construction area, or the construction of any off-site improvements shall 

be adequately referenced and protected prior to commencement of any construction 

activity.  If the survey monuments are disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a 

result of any construction, the project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a 

registered professional land surveyor in the State of Oregon to restore the 

monument to its original condition and file the necessary surveys as required by 

Oregon State law.  A copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted to Staff. 

PFA 9. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in 

compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

PFA 10. No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed. 

PFA 11. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways by 

driveway placement or vegetation control. Specific designs to be submitted and 

Page 7 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 8 

approved by the City Engineer. Coordinate and align proposed driveways with 

driveways on the opposite side of the proposed project site. 

PFA 12. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access 

Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the 

storm system to be privately maintained. Stormwater or rainwater LID facilities 

may be located within the public right-of-way upon approval of the City Engineer.  

Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water components and private conventional 

storm water facilities; maintenance shall transfer to the respective homeowners 

association when it is formed.  

Specific Comments:  

PFA 13. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a Traffic Trip Generation memo 

dated April 25, 2014.  Based on existing traffic rates the project is hereby limited to 

no more than the following impacts. 
 

Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 10 

PFA 14. In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) Parkway Avenue is identified as a 

Minor Arterial. Sufficient right-of-way presently exists to accommodate the 

roadway and no additional improvements to Parkway Avenue are identified at this 

time. 

PFA 15. In the TSP Boeckman Road is identified as a Major Arterial.  Current existing right-

of-way adjacent to the south property line varies from about 103 feet to 137 feet; the 

TSP specifies a right-of-way of 95 to 107 feet. Sufficient right-of-way presently 

exists to accommodate future roadway expansion as provided in the TSP and no 

additional right-of-way is needed. 

PFA 16. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area 

by more than 5,000 square feet, storm water detention shall be required and shall be 

in conformance with the Public Works Standards. Development includes new 

development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment. 

PFA 17. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area 

by more than 5,000 square feet, water quality facilities shall be required and shall be 

in conformance with the Public Works Standards. Development includes new 

development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment. 

If a mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project 

the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer stating that the 

system was installed per specifications and is functioning as designed. 

PFA 18. Driveway access spacing along Parkway Avenue is not in compliance with the TSP, 

with a minimum spacing of 600 feet and a desired spacing of 1,000 feet. However, 

the existing driveway and use is grandfathered in and the continued use of the non-

conforming driveway is allowed at this time.  

 

Request C – DB14-0019: Building Setback Waiver 

The side yard setback waiver is approved along SW Boeckman Road. No Conditions of approval 

are proposed. 

 

Page 8 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 9 

Request D – DB14-0020: Site Design Review 

PDD1. The Applicant/Owner shall develop the project in substantial compliance with the Site 

Design Review Plans approved by the Development Review Board (DRB), unless 

altered with DRB approval, or minor revisions are approved by the Planning Director 

under a Class I administrative review process.  

PDD2.  All landscaping required and approved by the Board shall be installed prior to issuance 

of occupancy permits, unless security equal to one hundred and ten percent (110%) of 

the cost of the landscaping as determined by the Planning Director is filed with the City 

assuring such installation within six (6) months of occupancy. "Security" is cash, 

certified check, time certificates of deposit, assignment of a savings account or such 

other assurance of completion as shall meet with the approval of the City Attorney.  In 

such cases the developer shall also provide written authorization, to the satisfaction of 

the City Attorney, for the City or its designees to enter the property and complete the 

landscaping as approved. If the installation of the landscaping is not completed within 

the six-month period, or within an extension of time authorized by the Board, the 

security may be used by the City to complete the installation.  Upon completion of the 

installation, any portion of the remaining security deposited with the City will be 

returned to the applicant. 

PDD3. All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, weeding, 

pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as originally approved by the 

Board, unless altered as allowed by Wilsonville‟s Development Code. 

PDD4.   The following requirements for planting of shrubs and ground cover shall be met:   

 All shrubs shall be well branched and typical of their type as described in current 

AAN Standards and shall be equal to or better than 2-gallon containers and 10” to 

12” spread.  

 Shrubs shall reach their designed size for screening within three (3) years of 

planting. 

 Ground cover shall be equal to or better than the following depending on the type 

of plant materials used:  gallon containers  spaced at 4 feet on center minimum, 4" 

pot spaced 2 feet on center minimum, 2-1/4" pots spaced at 18 inch on center 

minimum. 

 No bare root planting shall be permitted. 

 Ground cover shall be sufficient to cover at least 80% of the bare soil in required 

landscape areas within three (3) years of planting.   

PDD5.   Plant materials shall be installed to current industry standards and be properly staked to 

ensure survival. Plants that die shall be replaced in kind, within one growing season, 

unless appropriate substitute species are approved by the City. 

PDD6.  The installation of an automatic in ground irrigation system shall be installed to ensure 

the longevity of all landscaping. Further, landscaping shall be maintained by weeding, 

pruning and replacing dead plant material as necessary. 
 

Page 9 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1 

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014 Page 10 

MASTER EXHIBITS LIST 

The following exhibits are hereby entered into the public record by the Development Review Board as 

confirmation of its consideration of the application as submitted. This is the master exhibits list that 

includes exhibits for Planning Case Files: 

Staff Report: 
A1.   Staff Report, Findings of Fact and Conclusionary Findings for Requests A – D, Dated March 7. 

2014.  

A2.   Staff - PowerPoint Presentation 

Applicant‟s Written and Graphic Materials: 

B1. Application, project narrative and Compliance Report, Tax Map, Colors and Materials, Reduced 

size plans, Staff Report 96DB36. (Under separate cover) 

B2 Plan Sheets (Full size drawings and on CD):   (Under separate cover) 

1/6   Cover Sheet 

2/6   Existing Conditions 

3/6   Site Photos 

4/6   PDI Stage I Master Plan 

5/6   Preliminary Grading + Utilities – Storm Drainage 

6/6   Landscape Plan 

A1   South, West Building Elevations 

A2   East, North Building Elevations 

Development Review Team 

C1.  Engineering Division Conditions, Dated May 20, 2014. Included in the proposed PF Conditions of 

Approval.  

C2.    Building Division Conditions, Dated March 21, 2014. Included in this staff report in the Conditions 

of Approval. 

Public Comment: None received. 

Page 10 of 44

.



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 11 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

1. Adjacent land uses: 

 

 

2. Comprehensive Plan and Zone Maps: The site has a Comprehensive Plan designation of 

Industrial and is zoned Planned Development Industrial (PDI).  

 

3. Natural Characteristics: The project site has fairly level terrain on existing asphalt surface 

but backs up to a steep slope that is within ODOT ROW next to SW Boeckman Road.  

 

4. Streets: The subject property fronts SW Parkway Avenue and SW Boeckman Road with 

single driveway access at SW Parkway Avenue.  

 

5. Review Procedures: The required public notices have been sent and all proper notification 

procedures have been satisfied.  

 

7. Previous public hearing land use approvals: See the „History‟ statement on page 1 of the 

report. 

 

8. Note: The statutory 120-day time limit applies to this application. The application was 

received on February 7, 2014. One letter of incompleteness was sent on February 17, 2014. 

New application materials were submitted on March 7, 2014. The application was deemed 

complete on April 28 2014 which is the date the DKS traffic report was deemed complete by 

the City Engineering Division. The City must render a final decision, including any appeals, 

for this application by August 25, 2014.  

  

Compass Direction Zone: Existing Use: 

North:  PDI      Garden Center 

East:  PDI  PGE Substation and Mentor Graphics Campus 

South:  PDI  Terrene Apartments 

West:    - Interstate - 5 

Page 11 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 12 

 

CONCLUSIONARY FINDINGS 

 

The Applicant‟s compliance findings to the applicable land development criteria and 

Comprehensive Plan goals, policies and implementation measures are found in Section II, 

Exhibit B1 and are hereby incorporated into this staff report as findings for approval. 

 

REQUEST A 

DB14-0017: REVISED STAGE 1 PRELIMINARY PLAN  

 

The applicant has provided compliance findings to the applicable criteria (See Section III in 

Exhibit B1). Staff concurs with these findings except where otherwise noted.  

 

A1. The applicant is requesting approval to revise the Stage I Preliminary Plan (Master Plan) 

depicted on Plan Sheet 1 of 6 of the application notebook (Exhibit B1). The overall 

master planned area of approximately 2.98 acres abuts SW Boeckman Road, SW 

Parkway Avenue and Interstate-5. (See the Vicinity Map in the introductory section of 

this staff report). The proposed 4,995 sq. ft. would be developed on the southwest area of 

the master plan. The proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan is being submitted 

concurrently with applications for a Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review and one 

waiver. In particular, see the Stage II compliance (Section IIIb), Site Design Review 

(Section IIIc) of Exhibit B1. The elements of the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary 

Plan can be made to meet all applicable development standards through required 

conditions of approval. 

 

A2. The consolidated applications include Preliminary Grading Plan + Utilities – Storm 

Drainage (Plan Sheet 5 of 6) meeting code. 

 

Proposed Revised Stage I Preliminary Development Plan:  

 

A3. The proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan includes the following: 

 

 Modify Stage I Master Plan (96DB36) to include 4,995 SQ. FT. addition for 

Artistic Auto Body shop. 

 

 The applicant has provided the following chart for the proposed revised Stage I 

Preliminary Plan: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 13 

Applicant‟s Tables 1 and 2 of Exhibit B1: 

 

“Existing Development” 

 

“The site is currently developed with two structures, a GTE cell tower, a wash rack and some 

open storage areas, see Table 1.” 

 

Table 1 

Existing Site Improvements 

96DB36 
 

Area Use Square Footage Percent of Site 
Artistic Auto Body Shop & 

Canopies 
Office 

15,319 
 

3,078 

11.9 
 

2.4 
Paving/Parking 37,675 29.2 
Outdoor Storage 45,595 35.3 
Commercial Display 16,720 13.0 
Landscaping 10,550  

(plus 18,200 City row) 
8.2 

(22.3 including row) 

Total 128,937  or 2.96 Ac 
excluding City row 

100* 

 

* Includes Tax Lot 701 Cell Tower, as part of Outdoor Storage 

 

“It is noted that some of the business operating on-site have changed since 1996, but the general 

use of the various areas is substantially the same as originally approved.” 

 

 

Page 13 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 14 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 15 

 

Applicant: Existing Access and Road Improvements 

 

“The subject site abuts the west right-of-way line of SW Parkway Avenue, and also the north 

side of Boeckman Road.  Access to the site is from Parkway Avenue, just north of the PGE 

substation.  Both Parkway Avenue and Boeckman Road are designated as Arterials.” 

 

“Currently, along the property frontage, Boeckman Road is improved with two travel lanes.  

There are no curbs and just west of the driveway cut into the PGE Substation, there is a painted 

bike lane that extends across the I-5 overpass.  There are also sidewalks on the I-5 Overpass, but 

there are no connected on either side of the Freeway.”   

 

“The City‟s Transportation System Plan anticipates widening of the overpass and connecting 

street segments to accommodate full arterial width and improvements, including curbs, 

sidewalks and bike lanes.”   

 

“The designated arterial right-of-way width is 110 feet (55 feet to centerline).  This is the 

standard applied to the Holland Group property on the south side of Boeckman Road.”   

 

“The right-of-way along this section of Boeckman Road varies from 80 feet in width at the 

southeast corner of the property to 140 feet (40-70 feet to centerline) at the southwest corner.  

Therefore there will need to be an additional dedication of right-of-way at the southeast corner of 

the property to meet the minimum 55 foot centerline standard.” 

 

“As described herein, the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the 

development at the most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without 

congestion in excess of Level of Service D, based on prior approval.  It is assumed that the new 

building will not substantially alter the existing traffic impacts. 

 

The proposed building addition will not substantially alter the traffic impacts of the current uses 

on the subject site, and no street improvements are anticipated to be required to maintain “D” 

LOS.”   

 

“The applicant is not anticipating any new employees, as the building addition will accommodate 

enhanced operational efficiencies rather than adding space for new employees.  This building 

will simply allow for redistribution of current operations, separating repair from paint and finish 

work, thereby allowing for a more productive and economically efficient operation.” 

 

Current employment for the three existing businesses are: 

 

                Artistic                                  15 

                RVs TO GO                            2 

                Enterprise Rental Car            3 

                                                Total      20 

 
 

 

Section 4.140. Planned Development Regulations. 

Page 15 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 16 

 

(.01) Purpose 

A. The provisions of Section 4.140 shall be known as the Planned Development 

Regulations. The purposes of these regulations are to encourage the development of 

tracts of land sufficiently large to allow for comprehensive master planning, and to 

provide flexibility in the application of certain regulations in a manner consistent with 

the intent of the Comprehensive Plan and general provisions of the zoning regulations 

and to encourage a harmonious variety of uses through mixed use design within 

specific developments thereby promoting the economy of shared public services and 

facilities and a variety of complimentary activities consistent with the land use 

designation on the Comprehensive Plan and the creation of an attractive, healthful, 

efficient and stable environment for living, shopping or working. 

 

A4. Staff finds the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan is consistent with the stated 

purpose in this section of the Planned Development Regulations. 

 
B.  It is the further purpose of the following Section: 

1.  To take advantage of advances in technology, architectural design, and 

functional land use design: 

 

A5. The applicant's compliance findings in Section III of the Compliance Report more than 

adequately addresses this criterion.  

 

2. To recognize the problems of population density, distribution and circulation 

and to allow a deviation from rigid established patterns of land uses, but 

controlled by defined policies and objectives detailed in the comprehensive plan; 

 

A6. The applicant's compliance finding in Section III of the Compliance Report more than 

adequately addresses this criterion.  

 
3. To produce a comprehensive development equal to or better than that resulting 

from traditional lot land use development. 

 

A9. The integrated design for the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Development Plan 

assures an overall cohesive character and will result in a comprehensive development that 

is equal to or better than that resulting from individual lot land use development. 

 
4.  To permit flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open 

spaces, circulation facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently 

utilize potentials of sites characterized by special features of geography, 

topography, size or shape or characterized by problems of flood hazard, severe 

soil limitations, or other hazards; 

 

A10. The proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan is responsive to site characteristics such 

as topography, access and visibility and natural resources. Problems of flood hazard, 

severe soil limitations, or other hazards are not characteristics of the property. 

 
5.  To permit flexibility in the height of buildings while maintaining a ratio of site 

area to dwelling units that is consistent with the densities established by the 

Page 16 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 17 

Comprehensive Plan and the intent of the Plan to provide open space, outdoor 

living area and buffering of low-density development. 

 

A11. See Request C for the detailed discussion of the proposed waiver to street side yard 

setback along SW Boeckman Road.  

 
6. To allow development only where necessary and adequate services and facilities 

are available or provisions have been made to provide these services and 

facilities. 

 

A12. The proposed development will not place unusual demands on public water, sanitary 

sewer, storm sewer facilities and streets. All public facilities and services are either 

available to the site or will be extended in compliance with City of Wilsonville standards. 

The City Engineering Division has reviewed the revised Stage I Preliminary Plan and has 

determined that adequate services and facilities are available or will become available 

with scheduled City facilities development projects. 

 
7. To permit mixed uses where it can clearly be demonstrated to be of benefit to 

the users and can be shown to be consistent with the intent of the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

 

A13. See findings A14 through A47. 

 
8. To allow flexibility and innovation in adapting to changes in the economic and 

technological climate. 

 

A14. The applicant's compliance findings in Section III adequately address this criterion. The 

proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan responds to the economic changes by creating 

automotive collision repair services in the City.  

 
(.02)  Lot Qualification. 

 
A.  Planned Development may be established on lots which are suitable for and of a size 

to be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and objectives 

of Section 4.140. 

B. Any site designated for development in the Comprehensive Plan may be developed as 

a Planned Development, provided that it is zoned “PD.” All sites which are greater 

than two (2) acres in size, and designated in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial, 

residential, or industrial use shall be developed as Planned Developments, unless 

approved for other uses permitted by the Development Code.  

 

A15. With proposed conditions of approval the project can be made consistent with the 

purposes and objectives of Section 4.140. The proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 

comprising 2.96 acres is at the same area of the current plan and is designated on the 

Comprehensive Plan Map as „Industrial‟ and is zoned PDI.   

 

 

 
(.03) Ownership. 

Page 17 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 18 

 

A.  The tract or tracts of land included in a proposed Planned Development must be in 

one (1) ownership or control or the subject of a joint application by the owners of all 

the property included. The holder of a written option to purchase, with written 

authorization by the owner to make applications, shall be deemed the owner of such 

land for the purposes of Section 4.140. 

B.  Unless otherwise provided as a condition for approval of a Planned Development 

permit, the permittee may divide and transfer units or parcels of any development. 

The transferee shall use and maintain each such unit or parcel in strict conformance 

with the approval permit and development plan. 

 

A16. The subject property is currently owned by Mr. Terry Mostul who has authority to make 

land use and development applications meeting code. 

 
(.04)  Professional Design. 

 

A.  The applicant for all proposed Planned Developments shall certify that the 

professional services of the appropriate professionals have been utilized in the 

planning process for development. 

B.  Appropriate professionals shall include, but not be limited to the following to provide 

the elements of the planning process set out in Section 4.139: 

1.  An architect licensed by the State of Oregon; 

2.  A landscape architect registered by the State of Oregon; 

3.  An urban planner holding full membership in the American Institute of 

Certified Planners, or a professional planner with prior experience representing 

clients before the Development Review Board, Planning Commission, or City 

Council; or 

4.  A registered engineer or a land surveyor licensed by the State of Oregon. 

C.  One of the professional consultants chosen by the applicant from either 1, 2, or 3, 

above, shall be designated to be responsible for conferring with the planning staff with 

respect to the concept and details of the plan. 

D.  The selection of the professional coordinator of the design team will not limit the 

owner or the developer in consulting with the planning staff. 

 

A17. All of the professional disciplines as required by (.04) above were used to prepare the 

plans and narrative for the consolidated land use applications. Individual firms are listed 

on the inside cover of the application and represent the following disciplines:  

 

 Licensed architect (SFA Design Group)  

 Registered landscape architect (SFA Design Group) 

 Land use planner (Mr. Ben Altman, SFA Design Group) 

 Registered engineers (SFA Design Group.) 

 

SFA Design Group has taken a lead role in conferring with staff with respect to the 

concept and details of the plans.   

 

 

 

 
(.05)  Planned Development Permit Process. 

Page 18 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 19 

 

A.  All parcels of land exceeding two (2) acres in size that are to be used for residential, 

commercial or industrial development, shall, prior to the issuance of any building 

permit: 

1.  Be zoned for planned development; 

2.  Obtain a planned development permit; and 

3.  Obtain Development Review Board, or, on appeal, City Council approval. 

 

A18. The site for the subject building addition encompasses 4,995 Sq. ft. less than 2 acres in 

area. The subject property within the Stage I and Stage II boundaries is designated 

'Industrial' on the Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan Map. Stage II Final Plan approval for 

the project as well as Site Design Review are also being sought in the applicant's 

consolidated application. 

 
D.  All planned developments require a planned development permit. The planned 

development permit review and approval process consists of the following multiple 

stages, the last two or three of which can be combined at the request of the applicant: 

1. Pre-application conference with Planning Department; 

2. Preliminary (Stage I) review by the Development Review Board. When a zone 

change is necessary, application for such change shall be made simultaneously 

with an application for preliminary approval to the Board; and 

3.  Final (Stage II) review by the Development Review Board 

4. In the case of a zone change and zone boundary amendment, City Council 

approval is required to authorize a Stage I preliminary plan. 

 

A19. A formal pre-application conference was held in August, 2013. The applicant has elected 

to combine numerous separate land use applications as allowed by the Wilsonville Code.  

   

A20. The Stage II Final Plan application outlines the improvements included in the more 

detailed Site Design plans addressed in Section III of the consolidated application.  

 
(.06)(B) The applicant may proceed to apply for Stage I – Preliminary Approval – upon 

determination by either staff or the Development Review Board that the use contemplated is 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

A21. The automotive body repair use contemplated with this request are consistent with the 

approved Stage I Preliminary Plan, zoning and with the Comprehensive Plan Map 

designation of Industrial.  

 
(.07) Preliminary Approval (Stage One): 

 

A.  Applications for preliminary approval for planned developments shall: 

1. Be made by the owner of all affected property or the owner‟s authorized agent; 

and 

 

A22. As described in the findings addressing (.03) Ownership, the Stage I application was 

authorized by the property owner. 

 
2. Be filed on a form prescribed by the City Planning Department and filed with 

said Department. 

Page 19 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 20 

 

A23. On February 7, 2014, the applicant submitted the required application forms and the 

required fees were received by the City. 

 
3. Set forth the professional coordinator and professional design team as provided 

in subsection (.04), above. 

 

A24. The professional design team is described in Finding A17 addressing (.04) above. 

 
4. State whether the development will include mixed land uses, and if so, what uses 

and in what proportions and locations. 

 

A25. The application introduction and the revised Stage I Preliminary Plan application 

describe and illustrate the land uses, the amount of land area devoted to the use, and its 

location. See Section I of the submittal notebook for the complete site analysis. 

 
B. The application shall include conceptual and quantitatively accurate representations 

of the entire development sufficient to judge the scope, size, and impact of the 

development on the community; and, in addition to the requirements set forth in 

Section 4.035, shall be accompanied by the following information: 

 

A26. A checklist that provides cross-references to the information required by Section 4.035 

(Site Development Permits) is included in Exhibit B1 and is included by reference herein. 

Staff has reviewed the application and has determined that it includes conceptual and 

quantitatively accurate representations of the entire Stage I Preliminary Plan sufficient to 

judge the scope, size, and impact of the development on the community.  

 
1.  A boundary survey or a certified boundary description by a registered engineer 

or licensed surveyor. 

 

A27. The applicant has provided a boundary survey representing Artistic Auto within the Stage 

I Preliminary Plan area. This requirement is met.  

 
2.  Topographic information as set forth in Section 4.035 

 

A28. Topographic information is shown on the Grading, Drainage, and Erosion Control Plans 

of Section III (Exhibit B1) of the consolidated application (Plan Sheet 5 of 6). This 

requirement is met. 

 
3.  A tabulation of the land area to be devoted to various uses, and a calculation of 

the average residential density per net acre. 

 

A29. Comprehensive Plan and Development Code work together to encourage flexibility in the 

application of regulations to planned Developments. For example, the Planned 

Development regulations permit the waiver of development standards such as minimum 

lot area, lot width, yard and street frontage.   

 
4.  A staged development schedule demonstrating that the developer intended 

receive Stage II approval within 2 years of receiving Stage I approval., and to 

Page 20 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 21 

commence construction within 2 years after the approval of the final 

development plan, and will proceed diligently to completion.   

 

A30. In Request B, the applicant is seeking approval of a Stage II Final Plan for the building 

addition concurrently with the request for proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan. The 

applicant intends to proceed diligently to completion of the improvements identified in 

the Stage II Final Plan and Site Design Review. 

 
5.  A commitment by the applicant to provide in the Final Approval (Stage II) a 

performance bond or other acceptable security for the capital improvements 

required by the project. 

 

A31. Capital improvements were initiated in the construction of SW Parkway Avenue.  
 

6.  If it is proposed that the final development plan will be executed in stages, a 

schedule thereof shall be provided. 

 

A32. Final development plans will be executed in one stage for proposed building addition 

meeting code.  

 
7.  Statement of anticipated waivers from any of the applicable site development 

standards. 

 

A33. One waiver to the side yard setback along SW Boeckman Road is proposed and is 

analyzed in Request C of this staff report.  
 

Section 4.135. Building Setbacks, building height.  

 

A34. (.06)C and D: The front, side and rear yard setback of the underlying PDI zones is 30 

feet, measured from property line. See proposed Request C for the proposed waiver to a 

street side yard to allow 5 foot building setback.  

 

A35. Special Setback: An examination of the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 

indicates that the site for the proposed building addition would not infringe upon the 55 

foot special setback from SW Boeckman Road.  

 
Section 4.118(.01) Height Guidelines: The Development Review Board may regulate heights as 

follows: 

A.  Restrict or regulate the height or building design consistent with adequate provision 

of fire protection and fire-fighting apparatus height limitations. 

B.  To provide buffering of low density developments by requiring the placement of 

buildings more than two (2) stories in height away from the property lines abutting 

a low density zone. 

C.  To regulate building height or design to protect scenic vistas of Mt. Hood or the 

Willamette River from greater encroachments than would occur if developed 

conventionally. 

 

A36. TVFR has reviewed the proposed plans and can provide fire protection and emergency 

services to the project. The project has been designed to comply with these criteria. The 

proposed building addition will not be in the scenic vistas of Mt. Hood.  

Page 21 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 22 

 

A37. Properties in the PDI zone are not subject to a maximum building height. 
 

Off Street Parking: Off-street parking shall be provided as specified in Section 4.155. 

 

A38. Parking for the building addition is provided at grade. (See Requests B and C for the 

detailed parking analysis)  

 
Corner Vision: Vision clearance shall be provided as specified in Section 4.177, or such additional 

requirements as specified by the City Engineer. 

 

A39. The proposed building expansion would be set back 5‟ from SW Boeckman Road ROW 

and the site is much lower in grade elevation of approximately 20 feet so it would not 

obstruct vision clearance. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.07)B.: The application shall include conceptual and quantitatively accurate 

representations of the entire development sufficient to judge the scope, size, and impact of the 

development on the community; and, in addition to the requirements set forth in Section 4.035, 

shall be accompanied by the following information:  

 

A40. The applicant has submitted a boundary survey including topographic information 

completed by a licensed surveyor meeting code.  

 

A41. The applicant has submitted a tabulation of the proposed land use (See Section III, 

Exhibit B1). A more detailed analysis of the proposed development will occur as a part of 

the Stage II Final Plan (Request B) application. The applicant is proposing auto body 

service use which is allowed in the current Stage I Preliminary Plan.  

A42. The applicant is seeking Stage II Final Plan approval for a building addition concurrent 

with the request for a Stage I Preliminary Plan meeting code meeting code.     

 
Section 4.118. Standards applying to all Planned Development Zones: 

 

(.01)  Height Guidelines:  In “S” overlay zones… 

The project site is not within an “S” overlay zone; therefore, this provision does not apply.     

 
(.02)  Underground Utilities shall be governed by Sections 4.300 to 4.320. All utilities above 

ground shall be located so as to minimize adverse impacts on the site and neighboring 

properties. 

 

A43. Public Utilities were installed as part of SW Parkway Avenue. Thus, the applicant 

proposes to utilize existing utilities within the street. None of the proposed utilities will 

be located above ground.  

 
(.03) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the Development 

Review Board, in order to implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140 and based on 

findings of fact supported by the record may: 

 

A. Waive the following typical development standards: 

3. Height and yard requirements;  

Page 22 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 23 

 

A44. See Finding A35.  
 

Section 4.167. General Regulations - Access, Ingress and Egress. 

 

A45. Approved for Artistic Auto Body is a single access drive at SW Parkway Avenue. This 

access is full turning movement meeting public works standards.  

 
Section 4.171. General Regulations – Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources. 

 

A46. All grading, filling and excavating on the project site will be done in accordance with the 

Uniform Building Code.  

 

A47.   No regulated trees are proposed for removal.   

 

Page 23 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 24 

 

REQUEST B 

DB14-0018: STAGE II FINAL PLAN  

 

B1.  The applicant has provided compliance findings to the applicable criteria (See Section III 

in Exhibit B1). Staff concurs with these findings except where otherwise noted. 

Applicant‟s Table 5: 

 

ZONING, Sections 4.100-4.141   

Subsection 4.140.09(J): A planned development permit may be granted by the Development Review 

Board only if it is found that the development conforms to all the following criteria, as well as to the 

planned development regulations in Section 4.140. 

 

Additionally, Subsection 4.140.09(J)(1) states: The location, design, size and uses, both separately 

and as a whole, are consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and with any other applicable plan, 

development map or Ordinance adopted by the City Council. 

 
Zoning and Comprehensive Plan Designations: Planned Development Industrial Zone 

B2.  The subject property is zoned Planned Development Industrial (PDI).The Comprehensive 

Plan designates the subject property as Industrial. The existing and proposed auto body 

service use is in compliance with the Stage I Preliminary Plan approved in 1996. This 

code criterion is met. 

 

B3. In reviewing and updating the City‟s Comprehensive Plan, eleven (11) Areas of Special 

Concern were identified. The subject site contains property that is identified in the 

Comprehensive Plan as an Area of Special Concern J. This is due to the possibility of a 

future SW Boeckman Road interchange. Areas of Special Concern of the Wilsonville 

Comprehensive Plan states: The land around the intersection of SW Boeckman Road and 

1-5 depicted as Area J has been planned with a transportation system which includes the 

Page 24 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 25 

interchange. However, in 2013, the Transportation Systems Plan was revised to delete a 

full SW Boeckman Interchange improvement with access to Interstate-5.  
 

Subsection 4.118.03(A): Waivers. 

  

 B4. Subsection 4.135.06(D) allowing 30 foot building setbacks at proposed property lines. 

See Request C for a detailed analysis of the applicant‟s request to modify the current 

approval for the waiver to allow five (5) feet. See Request C for the detailed discussion 

about the proposed waivers.  

 
Section 4.117: Standards applying to industrial developments in any zone 

 B5. The applicant is not proposing outdoor sales, display, or retailing. All business would be 

conducted wholly within the completely enclosed building except for off-street parking 

and off-street loading and other exemptions in Subsection 4.116.05(D).  

B6. Should the operation of the proposed project fail to meet any of the performance 

 standards of Subsection 4.135(.07) of the City‟s Development Code, the property owner 

 must seek a Class 2 Administrative Review and approval from the Planning Division for 

 the City of Wilsonville to mitigate the loss of performance.  

B7. The proposed building addition would be located outside the SW Boeckman Road right-

of-way meeting code.  

B8. See Finding B4. The project site is not next to a more restrictive residential zoning 

district because SW Boeckman Road separates the property from the Terrene Apartments 

at the south.  

 

Subsections 4.140.09(C-F): Stage II Final Plan 

B9. The subject property is zoned Planned Development Industrial and is therefore subject to 

the Planned Development Regulations including 4.140.09(J). Staff has reviewed the 

applicant‟s submitted plans to determine compliance with the Planned Development 

Regulations. The applicant‟s submittal documents provide sufficient detail to review the 

requirements of Section 4.140.09(C) & (D). These criteria are met. 

 
Subsection 4.171.02: General Terrain Preparation 

B10. Plan Sheet 5 of 6 is the preliminary grading plan meeting this code criterion.  

 
Subsection 4.171.04(B): Trees and Wooded Areas 

B11. There are no trees that will be impacted by this project, thus this criterion is not 

applicable.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 26 

PARKING: 

 
Section 4.155 of the Wilsonville Code sets forth the minimum parking standards for off-street 

parking.  

 
Subsection 4.155.03(B)(8) and Table 5: Parking Standards.  

 

B12.  In 1996 the change of use for Artistic Auto Body was approved for parking, allowing a 

reduction from 85 to 54 spaces.   

 

 Applicant‟s Tables 5 and 6, and findings: 

 

 
B13.  Per Table 5 of the Wilsonville Code the minimum parking requirements are as applicable 

to this request: 

 

 

 

 

 

The applicant contends and staff agrees with his response: 

Page 26 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 27 

 

Page 27 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 28 

 

B14.  Subsection 4.155(.02)(N): Up to 40% of the off-street spaces may be compact spaces.  

As identified in Section 4.001 - Definitions, and shall be appropriately identified. The 

applicant may provide compact parking spaces but are not required.  
 

Subsection 4.155.03(B)(4): ADA Parking: 

 

B15. The Building Division will determine the number and adequacy of the parking spaces 

proposed to be accessible under the American‟s with Disabilities Act (ADA). One ADA 

van parking space is proposed on the west side of the Artistic Auto Body building.  

 Subsection 4.155.03(A)(1-3, 5): Minimum off-street loading requirements. Shall provide off 

street loading berths.  

 This Subsection states that “every building that is erected or structurally altered to increase 

the floor area, and which require the receipt or distribution of materials or merchandise by 

truck or similar vehicle, shall provide off-street loading berths . . . .” 

 

B16. One (1) loading berth is required. There are no existing or proposed truck loading docks. 

The applicant indicates that “Trucks serving the site park either in front of the main office 

or on the east side of the property.”  

In 1996, The DRB had earlier determined that larger tractor-trailer trucks will not be 

required for the office users of the building. Rather, panel type vans used by primarily by 

parcel delivery companies will be used for deliveries. While a delivery area is not 

designated on the site plan, the turn-around in front of the entry rotunda and cover 

(approx. 16‟ clearance) provides could serve as the delivery area.  
 

B17. Section 4.155(.04): Bicycle parking: The applicant has indicated that there is bicycle 

parking provisions inside the building meeting code.  
 

Subsection 4.140.09(J)(2): Traffic Concurrency.  
 

“That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the development 

at the most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without 

congestion in excess of Level of Service D, as defined in the Highway Capacity manual 

Page 28 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 29 

published by the National Highway Research Board, on existing or immediately planned 

arterial or collector streets and will, in the case of commercial or industrial developments, 

avoid traversing local streets.  Immediately planned arterial and collector streets are those 

listed in the City‟s adopted Capital Improvement Program, for which funding has been 

approved or committed, and that are scheduled for completion within two years of 

occupancy of the development or four year if they are an associated crossing, interchange, 

or approach street improvement to Interstate 5.” 

 

a. In determining levels of Service D, the City shall hire a traffic engineer at the applicant‟s 

expense who shall prepare a written report containing the following minimum information 

for consideration by the Development Review Board:  

 

i. An estimate of the amount of traffic generated by the proposed development, the 

likely routes of travel of the estimated generated traffic, and the source(s) of 

information of the estimate of the traffic generated and the likely routes of travel;  

 

ii. What impact the estimate generated traffic will have on existing level of service 

including traffic generated by (1) the development itself, (2) all existing 

developments, (3) Stage II developments approved but not yet built, and (4) all 

developments that have vested traffic generation rights under section 4.140(.10), 

through the most probable used 

intersection(s), including state and county intersections, at the time of peak level of 

traffic. This analysis shall be conducted for each direction of travel if backup from 

other intersections will interfere with intersection operations.  

 

 b. The following are exempt from meeting the Level of Service D criteria standard: 

 

i. A planned development or expansion thereof which generates three (3) new p.m. 

peak hour traffic trips or less; 

 

ii. A planned development or expansion thereof which provides an essential 

governmental service. 

 

 c. Traffic generated by development exempted under this subsection on or after Ordinance 

No. 463 was enacted shall not be counted in determining levels of service for any future 

applicant.  

 

 d. Exemptions under „b‟ of this subsection shall not exempt the development or expansion 

from payment of system development charges or other applicable regulations.  

 

 e. In no case will development be permitted that creates an aggregate level of traffic at LOS 

“F”.  

 

(3). That the location, design, size and uses are such that the residents or establishments to 

be accommodated will be adequately served by existing or immediately planned facilities 

and services. 

B18. The DKS Associates Traffic Impact Analysis conducted for the proposed building 

addition estimated the following number of PM peak hour trips would be generated 

through the Wilsonville interchange with Interstate 5. (This is the designated study 

intersection and a most probable used intersection): 

DKS Traffic Report:  

 

Page 29 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 30 

Proposed Expansion Trip Generation: 

“Trip generation estimates for the proposed 4,997 square‐foot expansion were performed using 

both the existing p.m. peak hour trip rate and the trip rates provided by ITE and are shown below 

in Table 3. The results of this analysis indicate that the proposed expansion is expected to 

generate between 10 and 16 p.m. peak hour trips, depending on whether existing or ITE rates are 

used. Because this trip level is less than the City‟s 25 p.m. peak hour trip threshold, minimal 

impacts are expected to the City‟s transportation network and a full traffic impact study is not 

required.” 

 

The City operates under the system of concurrency. To be more specific, the City 

requires that the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the 

development can be accommodated safely and without congestion in excess of Level of 

Service (LOS) D, as defined in the Highway Capacity manual published by the National 

Highway Research Board.  The DKS traffic study did estimate that the study 

intersections, or most probable used intersections would not produce traffic congestion in 

excess of level service (LOS) D with the addition of the PM peak hour traffic from the 

proposed project.  

B19. The City‟s 2013 Transportation Systems Plan identifies SW Boeckman Road as minor 

arterial. Street improvements are not expected as part of this project. SW Parkway 

Avenue is a minor arterial.  

SW Boeckman Road Needs: The subject site‟s southerly frontage is along SW 

Boeckman Road, which is one of the City‟s primary east-west arterials. The City 

Development Engineer states in proposed condition PFA15: “Current existing right-of-

way adjacent to the south property line varies from about 103 feet to 137 feet; the TSP 

specifies a right-of-way of 95 to 107 feet. Sufficient right-of-way presently exists to 

accommodate future roadway expansion as provided in the TSP and no additional right-

of-way is needed.”   
 

Subsection 4.140.09(J)(3): Public Facilities stipulates, “That the location, design, size and uses are 

such that the residents or establishments to be accommodated will be adequately served by existing 

or immediately planned facilities and services.” 

B20. To assure orderly and efficient development of the subject property, each respective 

development must be provided with adequate public facilities. These facilities must be 

available prior to, or simultaneous with each phase of development. The proposed project 

will connect to existing public utilities and private infrastructure (power, water, sanitary, 

storm, natural gas, telephone, etc.) which serves the existing building. The applicant has 

provided sufficient information in the Utility Plan-Sheet 5 of 6, meeting code.  

B21.   The Development Engineering Manager is requiring that project run-off from the site shall 

be detained and limited to the difference between a developed 25-year storm and an 

undeveloped 25-year storm.  

Page 30 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 31 

 

Section 4.167: Access, Ingress, and Egress and 

Subsection 4.177.01(H): Access Drives and Lanes 

 

B22. The existing and proposed building expansion will utilize the single driveway at SW 

Parkway Avenue Road meeting code.  

 
Subsections 4.154 and  4.177.03: Sidewalk Requirements  
 

Section 4.154. On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation. 

(.01) On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 

A. The purpose of this section is to implement the pedestrian access and connectivity policies of 

the Transportation System Plan. It is intended to provide for safe, reasonably direct, and 

convenient pedestrian access and circulation. 

B. Standards. Development shall conform to all of the following standards: 

1. Continuous Pathway System. A pedestrian pathway system shall extend throughout the 

development site and connect to adjacent sidewalks, and to all future phases of the 

development, as applicable. 

2. Safe, Direct, and Convenient. Pathways within developments shall provide safe, reasonably 

direct, and convenient connections between primary building entrances and all adjacent 

parking areas, recreational areas/playgrounds, and public rights-of-way and crosswalks based 

on all of the following criteria: 

a. Pedestrian pathways are designed primarily for pedestrian safety and convenience, meaning 

they are free from hazards and provide a reasonably smooth and consistent surface. 

b. The pathway is reasonably direct. A pathway is reasonably direct when it follows a route 

between destinations that does not involve a significant amount of unnecessary out-of-direction 

travel. 

c. The pathway connects to all primary building entrances and is consistent with the Americans 

with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements. 

d. All parking lots larger than three acres in size shall provide an internal bicycle and 

pedestrian pathway pursuant to Section 4.155(.03)(B.)(3.)(d.). 

3. Vehicle/Pathway Separation. Except as required for crosswalks, per subsection 4, below, 

where a pathway abuts a driveway or street it shall be vertically or horizontally separated from 

the vehicular lane. For example, a pathway may be vertically raised six inches above the 

abutting travel lane, or horizontally separated by a row of bollards. 

4. Crosswalks. Where a pathway crosses a parking area or driveway, it shall be clearly marked 

with contrasting paint or paving materials (e.g., pavers, light color 

concrete inlay between asphalt, or similar contrast). 

5. Pathway Width and Surface. Primary pathways shall be constructed of concrete, asphalt, 

brick/masonry pavers, or other durable surface, and not less than five (5) feet wide. Secondary 

pathways and pedestrian trails may have an alternative surface except as otherwise required by 

the ADA. 

6. All pathways shall be clearly marked with appropriate standard signs. 

 

Section 4.177(.03) Sidewalks. Sidewalks shall be provided on the public street frontage of all 

development. Sidewalks shall generally be constructed within the dedicated public right-of-way, 

but may be located outside of the right-of-way within a public easement with the approval of 

the City Engineer. 

A. Sidewalk widths shall include a minimum through zone of at least five feet. The through zone 

may be reduced pursuant to variance procedures in Section 4.196, a waiver pursuant to Section 

4.118, or by authority of the City Engineer for reasons of traffic operations, efficiency, or safety. 

Page 31 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 32 

B. Within a Planned Development, the Development Review Board may approve a sidewalk on 

only one side. If the sidewalk is permitted on just one side of the street, the owners will be 

required to sign an agreement to an assessment in the future to construct the other sidewalk if 

the City Council decides it is necessary. 

 

B23. Internal Circulation – Section 4.154, DKS Associates: “Access to Artistic Auto Body 

is provided by a driveway on the west side of SW Parkway Drive. The driveway has 

entrances to other neighboring establishments, and the southern side of the road contains 

approximately 20 nose‐in parking spaces with additional parking available on west side 

of Artistic Auto Body. No pedestrian or bicycle facilities are present on the site. It is 

recommended that a sidewalk between Parkway Drive and Artistic Auto Body be 

installed, along with defined bike parking to meet existing City of Wilsonville standards. 

Due to significant grade difference between Artistic Auto Body and Boeckman Road, no 

vehicle or pedestrian connection south of the facility is expected at this time.” Staff: 

Regarding bicycle parking, the applicant has indicated to staff that bicycle parking is 

provided inside the Artistic Auto Body building, which is acceptable.  

 

SW Boeckman Road Sidewalk: Proposed PFA15 is not requiring sidewalk 

improvement at this time.  

 

 Sidewalks: Subsection 4.177(.03). In 1996 the applicant installed a 5‟ wide, curb tight, 

concrete sidewalk along the entire frontage of the subject site along SW Parkway Ave. A 

half street improvement was also built along the unimproved northern most portion of 

SW Parkway Avenue fronting the site (10 - 20‟ of the northern most frontage).  

B24. Architecture: The applicant‟s proposed building elevations are found on Sheets A1 and 

A2. See Request C for the detailed analysis of Site Design Review for the subject 

building expansion.  

 
Sections 4.300-4.320: Underground Utilities 

B25. All utilities will be placed underground meeting these code criteria. All subsequent utility 

service to the proposed project will need to meet the requirements of this code section.  
 

Section 4.800: Wireless communications facilities:  
 

B26. A conditional use permit is required for any wireless communications pursuant to  Section 

4.184 of the Wilsonville Code. No such facilities are currently proposed. 

Page 32 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 33 

 

REQUEST C 

DB14-0019: WAIVER  

 

Subsection 4.118.03: Waivers. 

 

Section 4.118.03 - The Development Review Board, in order to implement the purposes and 

objectives of Section 4.140, and based on findings of fact supported by the record may approve 

waivers. The code requires that all waivers be specified at the time of Stage 1 Master Plan and 

Preliminary Plat approval.  

 

Waivers - Subsection 4.118.03(B) as applicable to the proposed project: (.03) Notwithstanding the 

provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the Development Review Board, in order to implement 

the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140, and based on findings of fact supported by the record 

may: 

A. Waive the following typical development standards: 

1. minimum lot area; 

2. lot width and frontage; 

3. height and yard requirements; 

5. lot depth; 

8. height of buildings other than signs; 

 

Section 4.140. Planned Development Regulations. 

 

(.01) Purpose. 

A. The provisions of Section 4.140 shall be known as the Planned Development Regulations. The 

purposes of these regulations are to encourage the development of tracts of land sufficiently large to 

allow for comprehensive master planning, and to provide flexibility in the application of certain 

regulations in a manner consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan and general 

provisions of the zoning regulations and to encourage a harmonious variety of uses through mixed 

use design within specific developments thereby promoting the economy of shared public services 

and facilities and a variety of complimentary activities consistent with the land use designation on 

the Comprehensive Plan and the creation of an attractive, healthful, efficient and stable 

environment for living, shopping or working. 

 

B. It is the further purpose of the following Section: 

1. To take advantage of advances in technology, architectural design, and functional land use 

design: 

2. To recognize the problems of population density, distribution and circulation and to allow a 

deviation from rigid established patterns of land uses, but controlled by defined policies and 

objectives detailed in the comprehensive plan; 

3. To produce a comprehensive development equal to or better than that resulting from traditional 

lot land use development. 

4. To permit flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open spaces, circulation 

facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently utilize potentials of sites characterized 

by special features of geography, topography, size or shape or characterized by problems of flood 

hazard, severe soil limitations, or other hazards; 

5. To permit flexibility in the height of buildings while maintaining a ratio of site area to dwelling 

units that is consistent with the densities established by the Comprehensive Plan and the intent of 

the Plan to provide open space, outdoor living area and buffering of low-density development. 

 

 

Page 33 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 34 

Section 4.140. Planned Development Regulations. 

6. To allow development only where necessary and adequate services and facilities are available or 

provisions have been made to provide these services and facilities. 

7. To permit mixed uses where it can clearly be demonstrated to be of benefit to the users and can 

be shown to be consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan. 

8. To allow flexibility and innovation in adapting to changes in the economic and technological 

climate. 

 

Section 4.116.10(E). Standards Applying to Commercial Development, Commercial Developments 

Generally “Maximum Building Height: Thirty-five (35) feet, unless taller building are specifically 

allowed in the zone.”   

 

C1. This request involves one waiver to encroach the 30 foot street side yard setback along 

SW Boeckman Road for the proposed building addition to allow approximately a five (5) 

foot setback. The requested waiver is based on several factors not the least of which is 

site design. The applicant‟s compliance findings found on pages 14 through 18, Section 

III of Exhibit B1 provide the supportive evidence to approve the proposed waiver.  

 
Subsection 4.237(.05)(B): Lot Size and Shape 

 

C2. The table below compares the dimensional requirements of the PDI Zone (4.135.06) and 

the existing auto body repair building.  

 

PDI Zone: Dimensional 

Requirements 

Other standards:  

Minimum lot width at building line: No limit 

Minimum street frontage of lot: No limit 

Minimum lot depth: No limit 

Setbacks:  

Minimum front yard - East 30 feet 

Minimum side yard - South 30 feet 

Minimum rear yard - West 30 feet 

Maximum building or structure  

height: No limit. 

 
C3. The applicant has requested a waiver to the minimum 30‟ street side yard setback at SW 

Boeckman Road. Within the PDI zone, there is a minimum 30 foot side, front and rear 

yard setback, except when the yard abuts a more restrictive district. When the yard abuts 

a more restrictive district, setbacks shall be the same as the abutting district. In 

Resolution 96DB36 the DRB approved a waiver to locate a car wash cover associated 

with a car wash operation 22‟ from the south property line. Staff has looked at alternate 

locations for the building addition, and concurs with the applicant‟s findings. The 

Page 34 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 35 

proposed waiver request to allow the proposed building expansion at 5 feet from the 

south property line next to SW Boeckman Road is necessary to accommodate body repair 

operations and it would be difficult if the addition was located elsewhere. Granting of a 

waiver to reduce the setback to the south will be required as part of this approval. 

Moreover, without the proposed waivers, it is doubtful that the proposed building 

expansion of this size would work on this site. Below is the applicant‟s Table 4 found in 

Exhibit B1: 

 

 
 

Section 4.140.05(C) states: Development Review Board approval is governed by Sections 4.400 to 4.450. 

Particularly Section 4.400.02 (A through J).   

 

In this case it relates to the decision criteria for reviewing a waiver to the 30 foot minimum yard 

setback and parking space reduction. 

C5. Special Setback: Section 4.177.01(C)(3) requires a „special setback‟ of 55 feet from 

centerline. In this case a special setback is required at of SW Boeckman Road. As 

previously stated in Finding B9 the subject site‟s southerly frontage is along SW 

Boeckman Road, which is one of the City‟s primary east-west major arterials. This is also 

the side the applicant is requesting a waiver proposed at five (5) feet from that ROW. The 

applicant‟s findings on pages 13 and 14 of Section IIIa.ii in Exhibit B1 affirm that the 

proposed building expansion would meet the „special setback‟ of 55 feet from centerline 

of SW Boeckman Road.  
 

Section 4.140(.04) B. It is the further purpose of the following Section: 

 

1. To take advantage of advances in technology, architectural design, and functional land use 

design: 

 

C6. The scarcity of land for development has necessitated the intensification of the use of 

available land to accommodate the auto body service needs. While the applicant has 

sought to take advantage of advances in functional building design, the applicant must 

balance the requirements of the Development Code, e.g. yard setback requirements. In 

order to provide the proposed use that is functional, the applicant is seeking to reduce the 

yard setback from 30 feet to 5 feet for the proposed building expansion. The applicant has 

provided affirmative evidence on page pages 14 through 18 of Section III.a.ii of Section 

B1 for the DRB to approve the waiver.   

 

C7. The applicant concludes on pages 14 through 18 of Section III.a.ii of Exhibit B1: 

Page 35 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 36 

 
2. To recognize the problems of population density, distribution and circulation and to allow a 

deviation from rigid established patterns of land uses, but controlled by defined policies and 

objectives detailed in the comprehensive plan; 
 

 C8.    This criterion is not applicable to industrial development.  

 
3. To produce a comprehensive development equal to or better than that resulting from traditional 

lot land use development. 

 

C9. PDI zoning allows for non-traditional land use development. Planned developments also 

allows for traditional zoning rules to be waived in order to promote innovation and 

coordinated development. Rather than approaching development on a lot-by-lot basis, as 

typically occurs under traditional zoning, the entire parcel is planned in a comprehensive 

and integrated fashion. In this case it is being developed for an auto body repair building 

expansion.  

 
4. To permit flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open spaces, circulation 

facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently utilize potentials of sites characterized 

by special features of geography, topography, size or shape or characterized by problems of flood 

hazard, severe soil limitations, or other hazards; 

 

C10. The very purpose of the Planned Development Regulations is to permit flexibility of site 

design. Staff finds that the proposed waiver to allow the applicant the flexibility to utilize 

the site more efficiently meeting code.  

 
5. To permit flexibility in the height of buildings while maintaining a ratio of site area to dwelling 

units that is consistent with the densities established by the Comprehensive Plan and the intent of 

the Plan to provide open space, outdoor living area and buffering of low-density development. 

 

C11. This criterion is not applicable to industrial development.  

 
6. To allow development only where necessary and adequate services and facilities are available or 

provisions have been made to provide these services and facilities. 

 

C12. Adequate facilities exist or can be provided through the proposed PF conditions; 

therefore, this provision is satisfied regardless of building setbacks.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REQUEST D 

DB14-0020: SITE DESIGN REVIEW  

 

ARCHITECTURE  

 

Page 36 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 37 

D1. Proposed is steel building expansion to match the existing Artistic Auto steel building. 

Proposed exterior color(s); white and blue would match with the existing building. The 

proposed building expansion will have little or no fenestration but has extensive 

screening from Arborvitae hedge along SW Boeckman Road that was planted by the 

applicant in 1996 satisfying Subsections 4.400.02(A to J): Purposes and Objectives of 

Site Design Review and Sections 4.421.01(A-G): Criteria and Application of Design 

Standards.  

. 

LANDSCAPING  

Subsection 4.176.02(D): Low Screen Landscape Standard  

D2. The applicant is not proposing to add parking spaces that would require additional Low 

Screen Landscape.  

 
Section 4.176.03: Landscape Area. 

D3. The “Site Summary” information on Plan Sheet L1 (Planting Plan) indicates 19,389 sq. 

ft. plus 1,975 sq. ft. on ODOT ROW of the site (15%) has landscape coverage, which 

meets the 15% code minimum. 

 
Subsection 4.176.04(C&D): Buffering and Screening 

D4. The applicant indicates that there will be no HVAC system mounted on the roof. The 

City reserves the right to require further screening of the HVAC equipment should it 

becomes visible from off-site, ground level view meeting code.  

D5. See Findings D24 and D25 for detailed discussion about trash enclosures. 

 
Subsection 4.155.03(B)(1 and 2): Parking Area Landscaping 

  

D6.  The applicant is proposing to strip 31 new standard sized parking spaces on the existing 

paved lot on Tax Lot 702. Trees would be added along the southerly side of new parking 

for shading. In 1996, the approved site and planting plans indicated that at least 10% of 

the parking area is screened meeting the minimum 10% requirement. 

  with a total of 9,350 SF. A minimum of one tree  ·  provided in each of the area 
Subsection 4.176.06(A-E): Plant Materials. 

D7. Proposed is a landscape strip next to the east side of the proposed building expansion and 

a canopy. The applicant‟s planting plan (Plan Sheet 6 of 6) depicts, tree, shrub, and 

ground cover types of a size and spacing sufficient to meet the criteria of 4.176(.06)A(1-

2) and B.  

D8. The proposed specifications for secondary and accent trees meet code criterion for caliper 

size and/or height. This code criterion is met. 

D9. Existing street trees will be retained along SW Parkway Avenue meet code 

 
Subsection 4.176.07(A-D): Installation and Maintenance. 

D10. Plant materials, once approved by the DRB, shall be installed to current industry 

standards and shall be properly staked to assure survival. Support devices (guy wires, 

etc.) shall not be allowed to interfere with normal pedestrian or vehicular movement. 

Maintenance of landscaped areas is the on-going responsibility of the property owner. 

Page 37 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 38 

Any landscaping installed to meet the requirements of this Code, or any condition of 

approval established by City decision-making body acting on an application, shall be 

continuously maintained in a healthy, vital and acceptable manner. Plants that die are to 

be replaced in kind, within one growing season, unless the City approves appropriate 

substitute species. Failure to maintain landscaping as required in this subsection shall 

constitute a violation of the City Code for which appropriate legal remedies, including the 

revocation of any applicable land development permits, may result.  

 
Section 4.176.10: Completion of Landscaping. 

D11. The applicant‟s submittal documents do not specify whether a deferment of the 

installation of the proposed planting plan is requested. The applicant/owner will be 

required to post a bond or other security acceptable to the Community Development 

Director for the installation of the approved landscaping, should the approved 

landscaping not be installed at the time of final occupancy of the proposed building.  

 
Section 4.175: Public Safety and Crime Prevention 

D12. Current wall pack lighting is sufficient to discourage on-site criminal activity after dark.  

 

Section 4.199 Outdoor Lighting 

Section 4.199.20. Applicability. 

 
(.01) This Ordinance is applicable to: 

A. Installation of new exterior lighting systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and 

multi-family housing projects with common areas. 

B. Major additions or modifications (as defined in this Section) to existing exterior lighting 

systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and multi-family housing projects with 

common areas. 

 

D13.  The existing auto body building has wall mounted down lighting for safety purposes. In 

the DRB approval in 1996 the applicant had agreed to install hoods on all the wall 

mounted lights to reduce glare to 1-5 motorists while still providing the necessary 

security.  

 

D14. The applicant indicates on page 25 of Exhibit B1 that proposed building expansion will 

not add any new outdoor lights. Therefore, Section 4.199 is not applicable. 

           
Section 4.421. Criteria and Application of Design Standards.   

 

(.01)  The following standards shall be utilized by the Board in reviewing the plans, drawings, 

sketches and other documents required for Site Design Review. These standards are 

intended to provide a frame of reference for the applicant in the development of site and 

building plans as well as a method of review for the Board.  These standards shall not be 

regarded as inflexible requirements. They are not intended to discourage creativity, 

invention and innovation.  The specifications of one or more particular architectural 

styles is not included in these standards.  (Even in the Boones Ferry Overlay Zone, a 

range of architectural styles will be encouraged.) 

 

A. Preservation of Landscape.   

Page 38 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 39 

 

D15. Staff finds that the subject site is the location of the proposed building expansion is part 

of the approved Stage I Preliminary Plan. The project site has fairly level terrain in 

asphalt or gravel so no landscaping is being removed for the building expansion.  

 

B. Relation of Proposed Buildings to Environment.   

 

D16. The subject property is not within a Significant Resource Overlay Zone or next to any 

other natural feature. This criterion is not applicable.   

 

C. Drives, Parking and Circulation.   

 

D17. Drives and circulation exist and serve the site adequately.  

 

D. Surface Water Drainage.   

 

D18 All storm water and drainage systems are in place in SW Kinsman Road. Refer to the 

applicant‟s civil drawing storm water and drainage plans for the storm drainage system in 

Plan Sheet C2.0. Storm water drainage is currently released into the ODOT system at the 

southwest corner of the site. At permit review the City will require that the applicant 

provide storm water calculations to ensure the downstream capacity of the public storm 

drainage system and not adversely affect neighboring properties.    

 

E. Utility Service.   

 

D19. All utilities already exist in SW Parkway Avenue and on-site meeting code. Engineering 

review of construction documents will ensure compliance with this provision.    

F. Advertising Features.   

 

D20. In 1996 the DRB approved a Master Sign Plan. No new signs or changes are proposed to 

the Master Sign Plan.   

 

G. Special Features.   

 

D21. There will be no exposed machinery installations or utility buildings associated with the 

proposed building expansion. All garbage and recycling that will be generated at this 

proposed location will be dealt with and stored internal or external existing to the 

building.  

 
(.02)  The standards of review outlined in Sections (a) through (g) above shall also apply to all 

accessory buildings, structures, exterior signs and other site features, however related to 

the major buildings or structures. 

 

D22. The applicant is not proposing accessory building, structures or other site features. This 

provision is therefore not applicable.   

 

Section 4.430. Location, Design and Access Standards for mixed Solid Waste and Recycling 

Areas 

 

Page 39 of 44



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  

Development Review Board - Panel A June 9, 2014   Page 40 

D23. See Findings D24 and D25  

 
Section 4.17.  Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage in New Multi-Unit Residential and Non-

Residential Buildings. 

 
(.06) Specific Requirements for Storage Areas 

 

D24. Subsection 4.179(.06)(B) requires a minimum of ten (10) square feet of storage area plus 

ten square feet per 1,000 SF of gross floor area (GFA) for retail. The applicant is 

proposing a 4,995 square feet service commercial and small office use. Pursuant to this 

requirement, the applicant is required to provide 202 square feet of storage. On pages 23 

and 24 of the applicant‟s submittal notebook in Exhibit B1 the applicant indicates: 

 

 “In coordination with Republic Services the container storage area has been relocated to 

the northeast corner of the existing body shop building. Therefore, as approved by 

Republic Services, no increase or change in solid waste disposal service is proposed as 

part of this application.”  

 
Section 4.430 Design of Trash and Recycling Enclosures: The following locations, design and access 

standards for mixed solid waste and recycling storage areas shall be applicable to the requirements 

of Section 4.179 of the Wilsonville City Code. Listed (.02) A. through (.04) C. 

 

D25. Subsection .02 requires that solid waste areas be located convenient for users as well as for 

collection vehicles. The existing solid waste containers (2 – 4 yard boxes) is accessible at 

the northeast corner of the existing auto body shop, which provides convenient access and 

ensures that collection vehicles can approach them without blocking on-site or off-site 

traffic. Subsection .03 requires a six-foot high sight obscuring enclosure with a gate at least 

ten feet in width. The applicant contends and staff agrees that the existing 6 foot high 

slatted fence, the building and proposed landscaping will adequately screen the trash boxes 

meeting code.  

 

Page 40 of 44



EXHIBIT A 

PLANNING DIVISION 

STAFF REPORT 

ARTISTIC AUTOBODY 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL ‘___’ 

QUASI JUDICIAL HEARING 

Public Hearing Date:  

Date of Report:  

Application Numbers: Request B: DB14-0018  Stage II Final Plan 

Property 

Owners/Applicants: 

PD = Planning Division conditions 

BD – Building Division Conditions 

PF = Engineering Conditions. 

NR = Natural Resources Conditions 

TR = SMART/Transit Conditions 

FD = Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue Conditions 

May 20, 2014

Page 41 of 44

swhite
Stamp



Standard Comments: 

PFB 1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in 

conformance to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards. 

PFB 2. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public 

utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, 

all fees have been paid, all necessary permits, right-of-way and easements 

have been obtained and Staff is notified a minimum of 24 hours in advance. 

PFB 3. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based 

upon a 22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of 

Wilsonville Public Work’s Standards. 

PFB 4. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control 

measures in conformance with the standards adopted by the City of 

Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482 during the construction of any public/private 

utility and building improvements until such time as approved permanent 

vegetative materials have been installed. 

PFB 5. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing 

any soil on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed 

applicant shall obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of 

Environmental Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed 

a 1200-CN permit from the City of Wilsonville is required. 

PFB 6. Fire hydrants shall be located in compliance with TVF&R fire prevention 

ordinance and approval of TVF&R. 

PFB 7. The applicant shall contact the Oregon Water Resources Department and 

inform them of any existing wells located on the subject site. Any existing 

well shall be limited to irrigation purposes only.  Proper separation, in 

conformance with applicable State standards, shall be maintained between 

irrigation systems, public water systems, and public sanitary systems.  

Should the project abandon any existing wells, they shall be properly 

abandoned in conformance with State standards. 

PFB 8. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to 

disturbance within the construction area, or the construction of any off-site 

improvements shall be adequately referenced and protected prior to 

commencement of any construction activity.  If the survey monuments are 

disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a result of any construction, the 

project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a registered professional land 

surveyor in the State of Oregon to restore the monument to its original 

condition and file the necessary surveys as required by Oregon State law.  A 

copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted to Staff. 

PFB 9. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way 

shall be in compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

PFB 10. No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed. 

PFB 11. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways 

by driveway placement or vegetation control. Specific designs to be 

Page 42 of 44



submitted and approved by the City Engineer. Coordinate and align 

proposed driveways with driveways on the opposite side of the proposed 

project site. 

PFB 12. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and 

Access Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those 

portions of the storm system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or 

rainwater LID facilities may be located within the public right-of-way upon 

approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water 

components and private conventional storm water facilities; maintenance 

shall transfer to the respective homeowners association when it is formed.  

Specific Comments:  

PFB 13. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a traffic Trip Generation 

memo dated April 25, 2014.  Based on existing traffic rates the project is 

hereby limited to no more than the following impacts. 
 

Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 10 

PFB 14. In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) Parkway Avenue is 

identified as a Minor Arterial.  Sufficient right-of-way presently exists to 

accommodate the roadway and no additional improvements to Parkway 

Avenue are identified at this time. 

PFB 15. In the TSP Boeckman Road is identified as a Major Arterial.  Current 

existing right-of-way adjacent to the south property line varies from about 

103 feet to 137 feet; the TSP specifies a right-of-way of 95 to 107 feet.  

Sufficient right-of-way presently exists to accommodate future roadway 

expansion as provided in the TSP and no additional right-of-way is needed. 

PFB 16. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious 

surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, storm water detention shall be 

required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  

Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial 

redevelopment. 

PFB 17. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious 

surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, water quality facilities shall be 

required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  

Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial 

redevelopment. 

If a mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the 

project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer 

stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as 

designed. 

PFB 18. Driveway access spacing along Parkway Avenue is not in compliance with 

the TSP, with a minimum spacing of 600 feet and a desired spacing of 1,000 

feet.  However, the existing driveway and use is grandfathered in and the 

continued use of the non-conforming driveway is allowed at this time.  

 

Page 43 of 44



Development Review Template 
  

DATE: 3/21/14 

TO:  BLAISE EDMONDS, DIRECTOR OF CURRENT PLANNING 

FROM: DON WALTERS 

SUBJECT: DEVELOPMENT REVIEW # DB14-0017  -0020 ARTISTIC AUTO BODY 

EXPANSION. 

 

WORK DESCRIPTION: EXPANDING EXISTING AUTO BODY BUILDING BY 

4995SF. 

 

*************************************************************************** 

 

Building Division Conditions: 

BD 1. CODE SUMMARY.  A code summary will be required at the time of building permit 

submittal showing how the combined old and new buildings meet code. 

BD 2. FIRE CALCS.  At the time of building permit submittal submit fire calcs. 

BD 3. ADVISORY.  ACCESSIBLE PARKING cannot be fully reviewed at this time.  

Accessible parking will be fully reviewed as part of the plan review of the building 

permit.  The additional information available at plan review may require changes to the 

number and location of accessible parking spaces shown on these preliminary plans. 

BD 4. ADVISORY.  ACCESSIBLE PARKING/PLACEMENT.  Accessible parking spaces 

shall be located on the shortest practical accessible route to an accessible building entry. 

 (OSSC Section 1106.6) 

 

Page 44 of 44

swhite
Stamp



swhite
Stamp



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Incomplete Application 
 Response 

 























 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Compliance Report 













































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Materials & Color Board 









 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tax Map 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prior Approval 

































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reduced Plans 



















swhite
Stamp

















DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JUNE 9, 2014 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VII.  Public Hearing:     
A. Resolution No. 282.  Chrylser, Dodge, Jeep and Ram 

Dealership:  Findlay Automotive Group – applicant. The 
applicant is requesting approval of a Modified Stage I 
Preliminary Plan, Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review, 
Type C Tree Plan and Master Sign Plan Revision for a 
Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram Dealership within an existing 
building including related site improvements.  The site is 
located at 25600 SW Parkway Center Drive on Tax Lots 
1507 and 1508 of Section 1, T3S, R1W, Washington 
County, Oregon.  Staff:  Blaise Edmonds 

 
Case Files:  DB14-0036 – Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 

  DB14-0037 – Stage II Final Plan 
  DB14-0038 – Site Design Review 
  DB14-0039 – Master Sign Plan Revision 
  DB14-0040 – Type C Tree Plan  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
RESOLUTION NO. 282 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

APPROVING A MODIFIED STAGE I PRELIMINARY PLAN, STAGE II FINAL PLAN, 
SITE DESIGN REVIEW, TYPE ‘C’ TREE PLAN AND MASTER SIGN PLAN 
REVISION FOR A CHRYSLER DODGE JEEP RAM DEALERSHIP WITHIN AN 
EXISTING BUILDING INCLUDING RELATED SITE IMPROVEMENTS. THE SITE IS 
LOCATED AT 25600 SW PARKWAY CENTER DRIVE ON TAX LOTS 1507 AND 1508, 
SECTION 1; T3S R1W; WASHINGTON COUNTY, OREGON; FINDLAY 
AUTOMOTIVE GROUP, APPLICANT. 

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, an application, together with planning exhibits for the above-captioned 
development, has been submitted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008 
of the Wilsonville Code, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Staff has prepared staff report on the above-captioned subject 
dated June 2, 2014, and 
 
 WHEREAS, said planning exhibits and staff report were duly considered by the 
Development Review Board Panel A at a scheduled meeting conducted on June 9, 2014, at 
which time exhibits, together with findings and public testimony were entered into the public 
record, and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Development Review Board considered the subject and the 
recommendations contained in the staff report, and 
 
 WHEREAS, interested parties, if any, have had an opportunity to be heard on the subject. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Development Review Board of the 
City of Wilsonville does hereby adopt the amended staff report dated June 9, 2014, as amended, 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, with findings and recommendations contained therein, and 
authorizes the Planning Director to issue a site development permit consistent with said 
recommendations for:  
 

DB14-0036 Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
DB14-0037 Stage II Final Plan  
DB14-0038 Site Design Review 
DB14-0039 Master Sign Plan Revision  
DB14-0040 Type ‘C’ Tree Plan 

 
   
 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  282 PAGE 1 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
ADOPTED by the Development Review Board of the City of Wilsonville at a regular 

meeting thereof this 9th day of June, 2014 and filed with the Planning Project Coordinator on 
_______________.  This resolution is final on the l5th calendar day after the postmarked date of 
the written notice of decision per WC Sec 4.022(.09) unless appealed per WC Sec 4.022(.02) or 
called up for review by the council in accordance with WC Sec 4.022(.03). 
 
       
          ______,  
      Mary Fierros Bower, Chair, Panel A 
      Wilsonville Development Review Board 
 
Attest: 

 
       
Shelley White 

 
 
 

   
 

RESOLUTION NO.  282 PAGE 2 
 
 



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 1 

 
Exhibit ‘A1’ 

 
WILSONVILLE PLANNING DIVISION 

STAFF REPORT 
DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL ‘A’ 

QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 
 

 
Public Hearing Date:  June 9, 2014 
Date of Report:  June 2, 2014 

 
Request A: DB14-0036 Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
Request B: DB14-0037 Stage II Final Plan  
Request C: DB14-0038 Site Design Review 
Request D: DB14-0039 Master Sign Plan Revision  
Request E: DB14-0040 Type ‘C’ Tree Plan 
 

Property Owner:  
        
 
Applicant: 

Weston Investment Co., LLC 
PO Box 12127 
Portland, OR 97212 
Findlay Family Properties Limited Partnership 
310 N. Gibson Road 
Henderson, NV 89014 

Applicant’s 
Representative: 

Mr. Tyler Corder 

  
 
Request: Mr. Tyler Corder, acting as Applicant for Findlay Properties Limited Partnership, is 
seeking approval for a revised Stage I – Preliminary Plan, Stage II – Final  Plan, Site Design 
Review, Master Sign Plan revision, and Type ‘C’ Tree Plan.  
 
Applicant: “The first request is modify the Stage I – Preliminary Plan by retaining the use areas, 
but modifying their locations as well as revisions to the site. The building uses and area for the 
original Smith’s Furniture was for furniture store retail (22,032sf), office (22,032sf), and 
warehouse (70,200sf + 75,466sf expansion); then Hollywood Entertainment leased it for office 
and warehouse. It is proposed to retain these uses and areas as some are currently nonconforming 
under the current code. Retail will incorporate the showroom, retail repair shop, and service/parts 
waiting area. The office use will include administrative and financial offices. The remaining, 
warehouse use, will include the service reception staging, fleet vehicle repairs, detail, support for 
servicing, parts storage and inventory warehouse, which are allowed uses. In order to abide by 
with warehouse categorization, employees are allowed to enter the inventory warehouse and then 
shuttle specific inventory into an enclosed staging area adjacent the showroom for inspection. 
This will allow the customer to inspect the vehicle. No sales or transactions will take place in 
either of these two locations, and will take place in the showroom, finance & insurance offices, 
or service advisors room.” 
 

Page 1 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 2 

“Site plan modification include connection the two existing lots with a new pervious paving 
drive, widening the existing access drives at Elligsen and the southern SW Parkway Center Drive 
to bring them into conformance, and provide new showroom access via grass pavers.” 
 
“Tree C Plan is being requested to remove some trees to allow for the new connection drive and 
for the addition of the wall along SW Parkway Center Drive. This also provides a desired visual 
access to the signs on the building. This will alleviate the need for additional signs. A few 
directional signs and a small monument sign at the main access drive will be provided. There is 
an inventory on the existing trees along with an arborist report to illustrate the current condition 
of the trees. There will be additional new trees added to other areas of the site to mitigate the tree 
removals. There is also significant tree credits available based on the number of large trees than 
we are proposing to retain with those calculations being illustrated on the Landscape Plans.” 
 
“A new Stage II Final Site Plan Review and Site Design Review are proposed for the renovation 
of the site and building. Site impervious surface being disturbance will be kept to a minimum 
and under 5000sf. New pervious paving and other elements will be utilized to mitigate impacts. 
Non-conforming site upgrade are also being incorporated into this package, but requested to be 
exclude them from the 5000sf threshold. The existing North screening wall will be removed and 
replaced with three foot high landscaping, including required trees, for screening of required 
parking. The Building area will actually be reduced by removing some interior components. A 
parts racking mezzanine will be installed, but not included in area as it’s categorized as systems 
equipment. The North façade will remain the same with the exception of the dock overhead 
doors being replaced with storefront glazing, overhead glazed doors to the service reception 
staging area, painting and building signs. The West façade will be retained with the addition of 
new glazing, a new portal entry wall, side wall wings, and building signs. Additional parking 
spaces are being provided and a portion of the existing impervious pavement is being removed 
and replaced with new pervious pavement. Exterior service storage will be screened with a 
combination of 6’ high landscape, gate or fencing. A new exterior enclosed refuse and recycle 
area is being proposed on the east side of the building. Tenant B will retain its refuse and 
recycling on the interior of the building. Site lighting has been modified, with a new row of 
lighting along the SW Parkways Center Drive frontage, which complies with Wilsonville’s code, 
and shown on the lighting site plans. Cut sheets of the light products are included in the support 
documentation. A revision to the Master Sign plan is requested to maintain the allowable area 
approved along SW Parkway Center Drive in order to provide tenant flexibility. This previous 
approved amount will not be exceeded. The original case 84PC15 approved 439sf in area and 
height to be less than 10’ above roof line. The case 89PC08 had an area for the west façade sign 
at 271sf. The proposed signs, with dimensions and areas as shown architectural exterior 
elevation sheets, will not exceed these areas.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 3 

VICINITY MAP 

 
 
 
Staff Recommendation:  Approve Requests A through E with conditions of approval 

beginning on page 6. 
 
Project Location: The subject property is located at 25600 SW Parkway Center Drive which is 
more specifically described as Tax Lots 1507 and 1508, in Section 1; Township 3S, Range 1W; 
Washington County; Wilsonville, Oregon.  
 
Comprehensive Plan Designation: Industrial 
Zone Map Designation: Planned Development Industrial (PDI) 
 
Applicable Review Criteria: Planning and Land Development Ordinance:  
 
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 
Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 
Section 4.010 How to Apply 
Section 4.011 How Applications are Processed 
Section 4.014 Burden of Proof 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) Site Development Permit Application 
Subsection 4.035 (.05) Complete Submittal Requirement 

Page 3 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 4 

  
Section 4.117 Standards Applying to Industrial Development in All 

Zones 
Section 4.118 Standards Applying to Planned Development Zones 
Section 4.135 Planned Development Industrial Zone (PDI) 
  
Section 4.140 Planned Development Regulations 
Section 4.155 Parking, Loading, and Bicycle Parking 
Section 4.156 Sign Regulations 
Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress 
Section 4.175 Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
Section 4.176 Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering 
Section 4.178 Sidewalk and Pathway Standards 
Section 4.179 Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage 
Sections 4.199.20 through 4.199.60 Outdoor Lighting 
Sections 4.300 through 4.320 Underground Utilities 
Sections 4.400 through 4.440  Site Design Review 
Sections 4.610.10, 4.610.40, 4.620.0 - 
4.620.20 

Tree Protection and Removal 

 
Other Planning Documents: Comprehensive Plan; Storm Water Master Plan 
 
Staff Reviewers:  Keith Liden, Planning Consultant, Blaise Edmonds, Manager of Current 
Planning; Don Walters, Plans Examiner and Steve Adams, Development Engineering Manager. 
 
SUMMARY  
 
Request A – Revised Stage 1 Preliminary Plan:  As demonstrated in findings A1 through A46, 
the proposed Stage I Preliminary Plan meets the City criteria in Sections 4. 140(.07) 
 
Request B – Stage II Final Plan: As demonstrated in findings B1 through B29, the proposed 
Stage II Final Plan meets the City criteria the City criteria in Subsections 4.116, and 4.135 - 
Zoning. The proposed Stage II Final Plan meets the City criteria in Subsection 4.140.09(J)(1) - 
Land Use.  
The proposed project meets the City criteria in Subsection 4.140.09(J)(2) – Traffic. The City 
of Wilsonville operates under the system of concurrency. To be more specific, the City of 
Wilsonville requires that the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the 
development can be accommodated safely and without congestion in excess of Level of Service 
(LOS) D, as defined in the Highway Capacity manual published by the National Highway 
Research Board. Traffic generated from this development will be dispersed to the SW Stafford 
Road/Interstate 5 #286 interchange.  Staff is recommending that the site development permit for 
the project be issued. 
 

Public Utilities: The proposed revised project with Engineering Division conditions of approval 
referenced therein, meets the City criteria in Subsection 4.140.09(J)(3) - Public Utilities for 
streets, water, sanitary sewer and storm drainage.  

 

Page 4 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 5 

Request C – Site Design Review: As demonstrated in findings C1 through C32, the proposed 
revised Site Design Plans (architecture and landscaping) meets the City criteria in Sections 4.400 
– 4.450. 
 
Request D – Revised Master Sign Plan: As demonstrated in findings D1 through D28, the 
proposed  revised Master Sign  Plan meets the City criteria in Sections 4.156. 
 
Request E – Type C Tree Removal and Preservation Plan: As demonstrated in findings E1 
through E7, the proposed Type C Tree Removal and Preservation Plan meets the City criteria in 
Sections 4.160.40. 

Page 5 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 6 

 
PROPOSED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR REQUESTS ‘A - E’:   
  

 
The applications and supporting documents are hereby adopted for approval with the 
following conditions:  
 
PD  
BD  
PF  
NR  
FD  
 

= 
= 
= 
= 
= 
= 

Planning Division Conditions 
Building Division Conditions 
Engineering Conditions 
Natural Resources Conditions 
Tualatin Valley Fire and 
Rescue Conditions  

Request A: DB14-0036 Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
Request B: DB14-0037 Stage II Final Plan  
Request C: DB14-0038 Site Design Review 
Request D: DB14-0039 Master Sign Plan Revision  
Request E: DB14-0040 Type ‘C’ Tree Plan  

 

Request A – DB14-0036: Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 

PDA1. The Applicant/Owner shall provide the general contractor for the proposed project with 
a copy of the approved plans and conditions of approval adopted by the City.  

 

Request B– DB14-0037: Stage II Final Plan  

PDB1. The Applicant/Owner shall provide the general contractor for the proposed project with 
a copy of the approved plans and conditions of approval adopted by the City.  

PDB2. All construction workers’ vehicles and job shacks associated with this project shall be 
parked and located on site or on other private property with the permission of that 
property owner. 

PDB3. The Applicant/Owner shall waive the right of remonstrance against any local 
improvement district that may be formed to provide public improvements to serve the 
subject site. Before the start of construction, a waiver of right to remonstrance shall be 
submitted to the City Attorney. 

PDB4.  The Applicant/Owner shall submit an action plan to the Public Works Department on 
how the Applicant/Owner will plan to deal with detailing and washing of vehicles. 

PDB5.   Tenant B is not approved for retail, service or recreational commercial uses. Office use 
shall be supportive of an industrial tenant use. 

PDB6.   Exterior bicycle parking spaces shall meet the spacing, space size, and anchoring 
requirements in Subsection 4.155 (.04) B. which include: 
• Each space must be at least 2 feet by 6 feet in area and be accessible without 

moving another bicycle.  
• An aisle at least 5 feet wide shall be maintained behind all required bicycle 

parking to allow room for bicycle maneuvering. Where the bicycle parking is 
adjacent to a sidewalk, the maneuvering area may extend into the right-of-way. 

• When bicycle parking is provided in racks, there must be enough space between 
the rack and any obstructions to use the space properly. 

• Bicycle lockers or racks, when provided, shall be securely anchored.  
See Finding B12. 

PDB7.    At least seven (7) of the standard sized spaces near the west side of the building nearest 
the ADA spaces shall be reserved for carpool and vanpool parking. The spaces shall 
be clearly marked “Reserved-Carpool/Vanpool Only” See Finding B16. 

Page 6 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 7 

Building Division Conditions: 

BD 1. CODE SUMMARY.  A code summary will be required as part of the building permit 
submittal.  It is important to note that the definitions of certain terms, such as retail 
space, warehouse space, and so on, in the Building Code may differ substantially from 
the definitions in the Planning Code.  Plans submitted for a building permit shall use the 
terms as defined in the Building Code. 

BD 2. ACCESSIBLE PARKING cannot be fully reviewed at this time.  Accessible parking 
will be fully reviewed as part of the plan review of the building permit plans.  The 
additional information available at plan review may require changes to the number and 
location of accessible parking spaces shown on these preliminary plans.  Parking spaces 
used for vehicle inventory, repair shop staging, truck parking, fleet vehicles and similar 
uses shall be clearly shown on the plans.  Such spaces are not considered when 
calculating the required number of ADA parking spaces. 

BD 3. THE FIRE PUMP.  As part of the Tenant Improvement building permit submittal, and 
because of the proposed change of use, please provide an evaluation of the fire pump 
with respect to compliance with today’s code.  

BD 4. HYDRANT – CLEAR SPACE.  A 3’ clear space shall be maintained around the 
circumference of fire hydrants except as otherwise required or approved.  [Low growing 
ground covers that do not create a trip hazard are acceptable when approved by the fire 
marshal.] (OFC 508.5.5)  Please confirm that the proposed planting plan respects the 
required 3’ clearance. 

BD 5. FDC CLEAR SPACE.  A working space of not less than 36” in width, 36” in depth, and 
78” in height shall be provided and maintained in front of and to the sides of wall-
mounted fire department connections and around the circumference of free-standing fire 
department connections, except as otherwise required or approved by the fire chief.  
(912.3.2)  Please confirm that the proposed planting plan respects the required clear 
space. 

 
Natural Resources Conditions: No conditions of approval were proposed.  
 
 

Engineering Division Conditions of Approval: 

Standard Comments: 

PFA 1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance 
to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards. 

PFA 2. For issuance of the Public Works Permit the Applicant shall submit insurance 
requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the following amounts: 

Coverage (Aggregate, accept where noted)                            Limit 
Commercial General Liability 
            General Aggregate (per project)                             $ 2,000,000 
            Fire Damage (any one fire)                                     $      50,000 
            Medical Expense (any one person)                         $      10,000 
Business Automobile Liability Insurance 

Page 7 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 8 

            Each Occurrence                                                     $ 1,000,000 
            Aggregate                                                                $ 2,000,000 
Workers Compensation Insurance                                      $    500,000 

PFA 3. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public 
utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, all fees 
have been paid, all necessary permits, right-of-way and easements have been 
obtained and Staff is notified a minimum of 24 hours in advance. 

PFA 4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 
22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville 
Public Work’s Standards. 

PFA 5. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control measures 
in conformance with the standards adopted by the City of Wilsonville Ordinance 
No. 482 during the construction of any public/private utility and building 
improvements until such time as approved permanent vegetative materials have 
been installed. 

PFA 6. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing any soil 
on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant shall 
obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.  If 
1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed a 1200-CN permit from the City of 
Wilsonville is required. 

PFA 7. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to disturbance 
within the construction area, or the construction of any off-site improvements shall 
be adequately referenced and protected prior to commencement of any construction 
activity.  If the survey monuments are disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a 
result of any construction, the project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a 
registered professional land surveyor in the State of Oregon to restore the 
monument to its original condition and file the necessary surveys as required by 
Oregon State law.  A copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted to Staff. 

PFA 8. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in 
compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

PFA 9. All required pavement markings, in conformance with the Transportation Systems 
Plan and the Bike and Pedestrian Master Plan, shall be completed in conjunction 
with any conditioned street improvements. 

PFA 10. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways by 
driveway placement or vegetation control. Specific designs shall be submitted and 
approved by the City Engineer.  

PFA 11. Access requirements, including sight distance, shall conform to the City's 
Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) or as approved by the City Engineer. 
Landscaping plantings shall be low enough to provide adequate sight distance at all 
street intersections and alley/street intersections. 

PFA 12. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access 
Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the 
storm system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or rainwater LID facilities 
may be located within the public right-of-way upon approval of the City Engineer.  
Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water components and private conventional 

Page 8 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 9 

storm water facilities; maintenance shall transfer to the respective homeowners 
association when it is formed.  

PFA 13. Mylar Record Drawings:  
At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, and 
before a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a record 
survey. Said survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record drawings' which 
will serve as the physical record of those changes made to the plans and/or 
specifications, originally approved by Staff, that occurred during construction. 
Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate changes will be made to the 
construction plans and/or specifications and a complete revised 'set' shall be 
submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic copy 
in AutoCAD, current version, and a digitally signed PDF. 

Specific Comments:  

PFA 14. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a Trip Generation memo dated 
April 18, 2014.  The current proposed use was determined to generate fewer traffic 
trips and less impact to City streets than historical uses of the site generated.  The 
project is hereby limited to no more than the following impacts. 

 
Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 146 

Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 102 
Through Elligsen Road Interchange Area 
 
Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 0 
Through Wilsonville Road Interchange Area 

PFA 15. Driveway access spacing along Parkway Center Drive is not in compliance with the 
TSP, which specifies a minimum spacing of 1,000 feet and a desired spacing of 
1,320 feet for a Major Arterial.  However, roadway improvements to Parkway 
Center Drive were completed with the Argyle Square project and the length of 
property frontage does not allow the applicant to meet spacing requirements.  The 
southern existing driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway and be 
widened to allow an additional exit lane as shown in plans dated 04/25/14. 
For safety issues the northern driveway shall be limited to a right-in/right-out 
driveway by placement of signage and markings at the driveway exit.  In addition 
the applicant shall construct a Concrete Traffic Separator on Parkway Center Drive 
(minimum 100 feet long centered on the driveway) to prevent left turn movement 
when entering or exiting the site at this driveway. 

PFA 16. Driveway access spacing along Elligsen Road is not in compliance with the TSP, 
with a minimum spacing of 600 feet and a desired spacing of 1,000 feet for a Minor 
Arterial.  However, due to steep topography east of the existing driveway this non-
conforming driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway, at this time, 
and be widened as shown in plans dated 04/25/14.  Improvements to Elligsen Road 
are listed in the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan as an Additional Planned Project, 
however the project is not listed as a Higher Priority project due to estimated costs 
and funding limitations and it is not known when  improvements would occur. 

PFA 17. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area 

Page 9 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 10 

by more than 5,000 square feet, storm water detention shall be required and shall be 
in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new 
development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment. 

PFA 18. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area 
by more than 5,000 square feet, water quality facilities shall be required and shall be 
in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new 
development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment. 
If a mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project 
the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer stating that the 
system was installed per specifications and is functioning as designed. 

 

Request C – DB14-0038: Site Design Review-  

PDC1. The Applicant/Owner shall develop the project in substantial compliance with the Site 
Design Review Plans approved by the Development Review Board (DRB), unless 
altered with DRB approval, or minor revisions are approved by the Planning Director 
under a Class I administrative review process.  

PDC2. All roof mounted and ground mounted HVAC equipment shall be inconspicuous and 
designed to be screened from off-site view. This includes, to the greatest extent 
possible, private utilities such as natural gas and electricity. The City reserves the right 
to require further screening of the equipment and utilities if they should be visible from 
off-site after occupancy is granted. See finding C5. 

PDC3.  The non-masonry exterior walls of the entire building (Tenants A and B) shall be 
painted to appear as one unified facility with the primary color used on Tenant A.  See 
Finding C1. 

 

PDC3.  All landscaping required and approved by the Board shall be installed prior to issuance 
of occupancy permits, unless security equal to one hundred and ten percent (110%) of 
the cost of the landscaping as determined by the Planning Director is filed with the City 
assuring such installation within six (6) months of occupancy. "Security" is cash, 
certified check, time certificates of deposit, assignment of a savings account or such 
other assurance of completion as shall meet with the approval of the City Attorney.  In 
such cases the developer shall also provide written authorization, to the satisfaction of 
the City Attorney, for the City or its designees to enter the property and complete the 
landscaping as approved. If the installation of the landscaping is not completed within 
the six-month period, or within an extension of time authorized by the Board, the 
security may be used by the City to complete the installation.  Upon completion of the 
installation, any portion of the remaining security deposited with the City will be 
returned to the applicant. 

PDC4.  All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, weeding, 
pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as originally approved by the 
Board, unless altered as allowed by Wilsonville’s Development Code. 

Page 10 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 11 

PDC5.   The following requirements for planting of shrubs and ground cover shall be met:   
• All shrubs shall be well branched and typical of their type as described in current 

AAN Standards and shall be equal to or better than 2-gallon containers and 10” to 
12” spread.  

• Shrubs shall reach their designed size for screening within three (3) years of 
planting. 

• Ground cover shall be equal to or better than the following depending on the type 
of plant materials used:  gallon containers  spaced at 4 feet on center minimum, 4" 
pot spaced 2 feet on center minimum, 2-1/4" pots spaced at 18 inch on center 
minimum. 

• No bare root planting shall be permitted. 
• Ground cover shall be sufficient to cover at least 80% of the bare soil in required 

landscape areas within three (3) years of planting.   
• Appropriate native plant materials shall be installed beneath the canopies of trees 

and large shrubs to avoid the appearance of bare ground in those locations. 
PDC6.   Plant materials shall be installed to current industry standards and be properly staked to 

ensure survival. Plants that die shall be replaced in kind, within one growing season, 
unless appropriate substitute species are approved by the City. 

PDC7.  The Applicant/Owner shall install an automatic device to initiate outdoor lighting at 
dusk and extinguish the lighting one hour after close or 10 p.m.  

PDC8.  Prior to site development the Applicant/Owner shall submit an application for Class II 
Administrative review for a Type ‘C’ tree removal permit. The Applicant/Owner shall 
install 6 foot high chain link tree protection fencing at the drip line of the trees for the 
entire duration of the site development.  

Advisory: Electric vehicle charging stations are not  proposed. Being that the proposed 
dealership will market electric vehicles staff recommends that an electric vehicle 
charging station be installed for customer use. See Finding B27. 

 
 

Request D – DB14-0039: Revised Master Sign Plan 

 
This action approves the requested major adjustment to the approved revised Master Sign Plan 
for the Tenant A building space and approves a sign permit for the proposed signs. 
PDD1. The Applicant/Owner of the property shall ensure that the approved signs are installed in 

substantial compliance with the plans reviewed and approved by the Development 
Review Board found on Plan Sheet Az2.01. 

PDD2. The Applicant/Owner of the property shall obtain all necessary building and electrical 
permits for the approved and relocated signs, prior to their installation, and shall ensure 
that the signs are maintained in a commonly-accepted, professional manner. 

 
 

Request E – DB14-0040: Type ‘C’ Tree Plan 
 
This approval is for tree removal for twenty-four (24) trees listed on Plan Sheet L1.01.  

PDE1. Replacement trees shall be state Department of Agriculture Nursery Grade No. 1 or 

Page 11 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 12 

better. The permit grantee or the grantee’s successors-in-interest shall cause the 
replacement trees to be staked, fertilized and mulched, and shall guarantee the trees for 
two (2) years after the planting date. A “guaranteed” tree that dies or becomes diseased 
during the two (2) years after planting shall be replaced. 

PDE2. All trees to be planted shall consist of nursery stock that meets requirements of the 
American Association of Nurserymen (AAN) American Standards for Nursery Stock 
(ANSI Z60.1) for top grade. Tree shall be approximately two inch (2”) caliper. 

PDE3. All tree removal shall be done in a manner which prevents any negative impact within 
the drip line of remaining trees. This includes any action that could compact the soil or 
cause mechanical damage.  

Page 12 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 13 

 
MASTER EXHIBITS LIST 

 

The following exhibits are hereby entered into the public record by the Development Review 
Board as confirmation of its consideration of the application as submitted. This is the Master 
Exhibits List that includes exhibits in the  Planning Case Files: 
 
Staff Report: 
A1.   Staff Report, Findings of Fact and Conclusionary Findings for Requests A – E.  
A2.   Staff PowerPoint Presentation 
 
Applicant’s Written and Graphic Materials: 
B1. Application,  Stormwater Report, DKS Traffic Report, Tree Survey and Arborist Report, 

Landscape materials and Exterior Lighting Cut Sheets/Specifications. Dated April 10, 2014. 
(Under separate cover) 

 
B2. LRS Architects – Project Narrative and Response Findings to the City Land and 

Development Code. Dated April 22, 2014. (Under separate cover) 
 
Plan Sheets ( Full size drawings and on CD): 
B3.  Drawings (Full size and on CD) 

Sheet Title: 
CSO  Main Cover Sheet 
1 of 1  Topographic Survey 
CO Existing Conditions and Demo Plan 
C1 Grading Plan 
C1 Grading and Erosion Control Details 
C2 Utility Plan  
C3 Public Details  
L1.1 Proposed Landscape Plan 
L2.1 Tree Plan  
E100PH   Photometric Site Light (Vertical & horizontal burn) 
E100PH   Photometric Site Light (Fixture Types) 
Az1.02   Site Plan - Proposed 
Az1.03  Trash Enclosure Details 
Az1.06  Proposed Building Uses and Areas 
Az2.00  West Exterior Elevations 
Az2.01  North Exterior Elevations with Proposed Site and Building Signs. 

   
B4.  Exterior Colors and Materials Samples 
 
Development Review Team 
 
C1.  Engineering Division Conditions, Dated May 21, 2014.  Also included in this staff report in 

the Conditions of Approval.   
C2.    Building Division Conditions, Dated May 9, 2014. Also included in this staff report in the 

Conditions of Approval.  
 

Page 13 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 14 

Public Comments: 
 
In Favor: No comments. 
Neutral:   No comments. 
Opposed: No comments 

Page 14 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 15 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
1. Adjacent land uses: 
 

 

2. Comprehensive Plan and Zone Maps: The site has a Comprehensive Plan designation of 
Industrial and is zoned Planned Development Industrial (PDI).  
 

3. Natural Characteristics: The project site is developed with the existing retail/industrial 
building, surface parking, truck loading area, and landscaping.  
 

4. Streets: The subject property fronts SW Parkway Center Drive and SW Elligsen Road.  
 
5. Review Procedures: The required public notices have been sent and all proper notification 

procedures have been satisfied.  
 
6. Previous public hearing land use approvals: None. 
 
7. Note: The statutory 120-day time limit applies to this application. The application was 

received on April 14, 2014. One letter of incompleteness was sent on April 17, 2014. New 
application materials were submitted on April 25, 2014. The application was deemed 
complete on April 25, 2014. The City must render a final decision, including any appeals, for 
this application by August 23, 2014.  
  

 

Compass Direction Zone: Existing Use: 
North:  EFU      Agriculture/campground (Washington Co.) 
East:  PDI  Industrial  
South:  PDI  Industrial  
West:  PDC  Commercial 

Page 15 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 16 

 
REQUEST A 

REVISED STAGE 1 PRELIMINARY PLAN  
 
The applicant has provided compliance findings to the applicable criteria (See B1 in Exhibit B1). 
Staff concurs with these findings except where otherwise noted.  
 
A1. In 1984, the City Planning Commission approved the Stage I Preliminary Plan. The 

existing building and site improvements (formally known as the SMITH’S Home 
Furnishings and then the Hollywood Video warehouse and distribution building) occupy 
the site, located on the southeast corner of SW Elligsen Road and SW Parkway Center 
Drive.  The Smith’s Home Furnishings uses included retail for furniture sales (22,032 sq. 
ft.), office (22,032 sq. ft.), and warehouse 70,200 sq. ft. (plus 75,466 sq. ft. expansion).  
The applicant proposes to retain this basic mix of uses with a vehicle showroom, office, 
retail repair shop, and service/parts and waiting area.  The remaining area is proposed for 
warehouse uses including service reception staging, fleet vehicle repairs, detail, support 
for servicing, parts storage, and inventory warehouse.  

 
The applicant is requesting approval to revise the Stage I Preliminary Plan (Master Plan) 
depicted on Plan Sheets Az1.02 of the application notebook (Exhibit B3). The overall 
master planned area of approximately 10.37 acres SW Parkway Center Drive and SW 
Elligsen Road. (See the Vicinity Map in the introductory section of this staff report). The 
proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan is being submitted concurrently with 
applications for a Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review, Type ‘C’ Tree Plan and 
revised Master Sign Plan. The elements of the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
can be made to meet all applicable development standards through required conditions 
of approval. 

 
A2. The consolidated applications include Preliminary Grading Plan + Utilities – Storm 

Drainage (Plan Sheets C1 and C2) meeting code. 
 
Proposed Revised Stage I Preliminary Development Plan:  
 
A3. The proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan includes the following: 
 
 Modify Stage I Master Plan (89PC08) to retain the previous mix of commercial and 

industrial uses with a vehicle showroom, office, retail repair shop, and service/parts and 
waiting area.  The remaining area is proposed for warehouse uses including service 
reception staging, fleet vehicle repairs, detail, support for servicing, parts storage, and 
inventory warehouse. The applicant’s table found on Plan Sheet Az1.06 Proposed 
Building Uses and Areas best illustrates the current approval for building uses compared 
to the proposed building uses and areas. See below:  

Page 16 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 17 

 
 

Staff notes that the proposed 70,966 sq. ft. in vehicle inventory is industrial/warehouse 
storage. Prior Development Review Board approvals for the Chevrolet, Nissan, Audi, 
Toyota and Scion dealerships determined that storage of new vehicles is industrial 
storage.  On the basis of the above table the applicant has met the burden of proof to 
demonstrate that the proposed building and uses will not exceed the building and uses 
approved in 89PC08.  

 
Section 4.140. Planned Development Regulations. 

 
(.01) Purpose 

A. The provisions of Section 4.140 shall be known as the Planned Development 
Regulations. The purposes of these regulations are to encourage the development of 
tracts of land sufficiently large to allow for comprehensive master planning, and to 
provide flexibility in the application of certain regulations in a manner consistent with 
the intent of the Comprehensive Plan and general provisions of the zoning regulations 
and to encourage a harmonious variety of uses through mixed use design within 
specific developments thereby promoting the economy of shared public services and 
facilities and a variety of complimentary activities consistent with the land use 
designation on the Comprehensive Plan and the creation of an attractive, healthful, 
efficient and stable environment for living, shopping or working. 

 
A4. Staff finds the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan is consistent with the stated 

purpose in this section of the Planned Development Regulations. 
 

B.  It is the further purpose of the following Section: 
1.  To take advantage of advances in technology, architectural design, and 

functional land use design: 
 
A5. The proposed re-use of the property will retain the general appearance and function of the 

site as it was previously approved by the City.  In addition, amendments will be made 
that will bring the existing development of the site into compliance with the City’s 
current regulations.  

Page 17 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 18 

 
2. To recognize the problems of population density, distribution and circulation 

and to allow a deviation from rigid established patterns of land uses, but 
controlled by defined policies and objectives detailed in the comprehensive plan; 

 
A6. Historically the uses of the property included “Smith’s Home Furnishing” with a retail 

showroom, offices and warehouse, and “Hollywood Entertainment” with offices, 
warehouse and processing. The proposed use of the property includes a blend of vehicle 
retail and service commercial and industrial activity on the site, which is consistent with 
this criterion.   

 
3. To produce a comprehensive development equal to or better than that resulting 

from traditional lot land use development. 
 
A7. The integrated design for the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Development Plan, 

which includes minor adjustments and improvements to the previously approved site 
plan, assures an overall cohesive character and will result in a comprehensive 
development that is equal to or better than that resulting from individual lot land use 
development. 

 
4.  To permit flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open 

spaces, circulation facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently 
utilize potentials of sites characterized by special features of geography, 
topography, size or shape or characterized by problems of flood hazard, severe 
soil limitations, or other hazards; 

 
A8. The proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan is responsive to site characteristics such 

as topography, access and visibility and natural resources. As noted above, only minor 
site amendments and improvements are proposed.  These improvements will bring the 
site into conformity with the City’s current regulations.  Problems of flood hazard, 
severe soil limitations, or other hazards are not characteristics of the property. 

 
5.  To permit flexibility in the height of buildings while maintaining a ratio of site 

area to dwelling units that is consistent with the densities established by the 
Comprehensive Plan and the intent of the Plan to provide open space, outdoor 
living area and buffering of low-density development. 

 
A9. This criterion is not applicable.  

 
6. To allow development only where necessary and adequate services and facilities 

are available or provisions have been made to provide these services and 
facilities. 

 
A10. The proposed development will not place unusual demands on public water, sanitary 

sewer, storm sewer facilities and streets because the site modifications will be minimal 
because the proposed use of the property will be comparable to what was previously 
approved (Smith’s and Hollywood Video). All public facilities and services are available 
to the site in compliance with City of Wilsonville standards. The City Engineering 

Page 18 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 19 

Division has reviewed the revised Stage II Final Plan and has determined that adequate 
services and facilities are available. 

 
7. To permit mixed uses where it can clearly be demonstrated to be of benefit to 

the users and can be shown to be consistent with the intent of the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 
A11. See finding A3. 
 

8. To allow flexibility and innovation in adapting to changes in the economic and 
technological climate. 

 
A12. The proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan responds to the economic changes by 

creating a new commercial/industrial use within an existing building featuring auto sales 
and related warehousing and related industrial activities.  

 
(.02)  Lot Qualification. 

 
A.  Planned Development may be established on lots which are suitable for and of a size 

to be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and objectives 
of Section 4.140. 

B. Any site designated for development in the Comprehensive Plan may be developed as 
a Planned Development, provided that it is zoned “PD.” All sites which are greater 
than two (2) acres in size, and designated in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial, 
residential, or industrial use shall be developed as Planned Developments, unless 
approved for other uses permitted by the Development Code.  

 
A13. With proposed conditions of approval the project can be made consistent with the 

purposes and objectives of Section 4.140. The proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
comprising 10.37 acres is designated on the Comprehensive Plan Map as ‘Industrial’ and 
is zoned PDI.   

 
(.03) Ownership. 

 
A.  The tract or tracts of land included in a proposed Planned Development must be in 

one (1) ownership or control or the subject of a joint application by the owners of all 
the property included. The holder of a written option to purchase, with written 
authorization by the owner to make applications, shall be deemed the owner of such 
land for the purposes of Section 4.140. 

B.  Unless otherwise provided as a condition for approval of a Planned Development 
permit, the permittee may divide and transfer units or parcels of any development. 
The transferee shall use and maintain each such unit or parcel in strict conformance 
with the approval permit and development plan. 

 
A14. The subject property is currently owned by Weston Investment Co., LLC, which has 

authority to make land use and development applications meeting code. 
 
 
 

Page 19 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 20 

 
 

(.04)  Professional Design. 
 
A.  The applicant for all proposed Planned Developments shall certify that the 

professional services of the appropriate professionals have been utilized in the 
planning process for development. 

B.  Appropriate professionals shall include, but not be limited to the following to provide 
the elements of the planning process set out in Section 4.139: 
1.  An architect licensed by the State of Oregon; 
2.  A landscape architect registered by the State of Oregon; 
3.  An urban planner holding full membership in the American Institute of 

Certified Planners, or a professional planner with prior experience representing 
clients before the Development Review Board, Planning Commission, or City 
Council; or 

4.  A registered engineer or a land surveyor licensed by the State of Oregon. 
C.  One of the professional consultants chosen by the applicant from either 1, 2, or 3, 

above, shall be designated to be responsible for conferring with the planning staff with 
respect to the concept and details of the plan. 

D.  The selection of the professional coordinator of the design team will not limit the 
owner or the developer in consulting with the planning staff. 

 
A15. All of the professional disciplines as required by (.04) above were used to prepare the 

plans and narrative for the consolidated land use applications. Individual firms are listed 
on the inside cover of the application and represent the following disciplines:  

 
• Licensed architect (LRS Architects/Richard Youngblood) 
• Surveying (Northwest Surveying, Inc.) 
• Registered landscape architect (Michael O’Brien) 
• Land use planner (LRS Architects) 
• Registered engineers (AAI Engineering/Interface Engineering) 
• Arborist (Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc.) 

 
Mr. John Costello from Pinnell Bush has taken a lead role in conferring with staff with 
respect to the concept and details of the plans.   

 
(.05)  Planned Development Permit Process. 

 
A.  All parcels of land exceeding two (2) acres in size that are to be used for residential, 

commercial or industrial development, shall, prior to the issuance of any building 
permit: 
1.  Be zoned for planned development; 
2.  Obtain a planned development permit; and 
3.  Obtain Development Review Board, or, on appeal, City Council approval. 

 
A16. The subject property is designated 'Industrial' on the Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan 

Map. Stage II Final Plan approval for the project as well as Site Design Review are also 
being sought in the applicant's consolidated application. 

 
 

Page 20 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 21 

D.  All planned developments require a planned development permit. The planned 
development permit review and approval process consists of the following multiple 
stages, the last two or three of which can be combined at the request of the applicant: 
1. Pre-application conference with Planning Department; 
2. Preliminary (Stage I) review by the Development Review Board. When a 

zone change is necessary, application for such change shall be made 
simultaneously with an application for preliminary approval to the Board; and 

3.  Final (Stage II) review by the Development Review Board 
4. In the case of a zone change and zone boundary amendment, City Council 

approval is required to authorize a Stage I preliminary plan. 
 
A17. A formal pre-application conference was held for the proposed development. The 

applicant has elected to combine five separate land use applications as allowed by the 
Wilsonville Code.  

   
A18. The Stage II Final Plan application outlines the improvements included in the more 

detailed Site Design plans addressed in the narrative and plans sheets for the consolidated 
application.  

 
(.06)(B) The applicant may proceed to apply for Stage I – Preliminary Approval – upon 
determination by either staff or the Development Review Board that the use contemplated is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
A19. See Finding A3. The proposed commercial/industrial use contemplated with this request 

is consistent with the approved Stage I Preliminary Plan in Resolution 89PC08, which 
allowed a similar use mix, the PDI Zone, and the Comprehensive Plan Map designation 
of Industrial.  

 
(.07) Preliminary Approval (Stage One): 

 
A.  Applications for preliminary approval for planned developments shall: 

1. Be made by the owner of all affected property or the owner’s authorized agent; 
and 

 
A20. As described in the findings addressing (.03) Ownership, the Stage I application was 

authorized by the property owner. 
 
2. Be filed on a form prescribed by the City Planning Department and filed with 

said Department. 
 

A21. On April 14, 2014, the applicant submitted the required application forms and the 
required fees were received by the City. 

 
3. Set forth the professional coordinator and professional design team as provided 

in subsection (.04), above. 
 

A22. The professional design team is described in Finding A15 addressing (.04) above. 
 
4. State whether the development will include mixed land uses, and if so, what uses 

and in what proportions and locations. 

Page 21 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 22 

 
A23. The application narrative and the revised Stage I Preliminary Plan application describe 

and illustrate the land uses, the amount of land area devoted to the use, and its location. 
See Sheet Az1.02 of the application for the complete site analysis. 

 
B. The application shall include conceptual and quantitatively accurate representations 

of the entire development sufficient to judge the scope, size, and impact of the 
development on the community; and, in addition to the requirements set forth in 
Section 4.035, shall be accompanied by the following information: 

 
A24. Staff has reviewed the application and has determined that it includes conceptual and 

quantitatively accurate representations of the entire Stage I Preliminary Plan sufficient to 
judge the scope, size, and impact of the development on the community.  

 
1.  A boundary survey or a certified boundary description by a registered engineer 

or licensed surveyor. 
 

A25. The applicant has provided a boundary survey as an element of the Topographic Survey 
provided on Sheets 1 of 1 and C1.0 in the application. This requirement is met.  

 
2.  Topographic information as set forth in Section 4.035 
 

A26. Topographic information is shown on in the consolidated application (Sheet 1 of 1 
Topographic Survey). This requirement is met. 

 
3.  A tabulation of the land area to be devoted to various uses, and a calculation of 

the average residential density per net acre. 
 
A27. The proposed land uses on the site are presented in the application narrative and on Sheet 

Az1.06.  Residential development is not involved in this application. This requirement is 
met.  

 
4.  A staged development schedule demonstrating that the developer intended 

receive Stage II approval within 2 years of receiving Stage I approval., and to 
commence construction within 2 years after the approval of the final 
development plan, and will proceed diligently to completion.   

 
A28. In Request B, the applicant is seeking approval of a Stage II Final Plan for the parking 

and site improvements concurrently with the request for proposed revised Stage I 
Preliminary Plan. The applicant intends to proceed diligently to complete the 
improvements identified in the Stage II Final Plan and Site Design Review. 

 
5.  A commitment by the applicant to provide in the Final Approval (Stage II) a 

performance bond or other acceptable security for the capital improvements 
required by the project. 

 
A29.  Capital improvements were initiated in the construction of SW Parkway Center Drive 

including sidewalks. Proposed Engineering Division conditions PFA19 and PFA20 are 
requiring the following: 

Page 22 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 23 

 
PFA 19. Driveway access spacing along Parkway Center Drive is not in compliance with the 

TSP, which specifies a minimum spacing of 1,000 feet and a desired spacing of 
1,320 feet for a Major Arterial.  However, roadway improvements to Parkway 
Center Drive were completed with the Argyle Square project and the length of 
property frontage does not allow the applicant to meet spacing requirements.  The 
southern existing driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway and be 
widened to allow an additional exit lane as shown in plans dated 04/25/14. 
For safety issues the northern driveway shall be limited to a right-in/right-out 
driveway by placement of signage and markings at the driveway exit.  In addition 
the applicant shall construct a Concrete Traffic Separator on Parkway Center Drive 
(minimum 100 feet long centered on the driveway) to prevent left turn movement 
when entering or exiting the site at this driveway. 

PFA 20. Driveway access spacing along Elligsen Road is not in compliance with the TSP, 
with a minimum spacing of 600 feet and a desired spacing of 1,000 feet for a Minor 
Arterial.  However, due to steep topography east of the existing driveway this non-
conforming driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway, at this time, 
and be widened as shown in plans dated 04/25/14.  Improvements to Elligsen Road 
are listed in the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan as an Additional Planned Project, 
however the project is not listed as a Higher Priority project due to estimated costs 
and funding limitations and it is not known when  improvements would occur. 

 
 
6.  If it is proposed that the final development plan will be executed in stages, a 

schedule thereof shall be provided. 
 

A30. Final development plans will be executed in 1 stage for proposed tenant, parking lot and 
site improvements meeting code.  

 
7.  Statement of anticipated waivers from any of the applicable site development 

standards. 
 

A31. Waivers are not proposed.  
 
Section 4.135. Building Setbacks, building height.  
 
A32. (.06)C and D: The front, side and rear yard setback of the underlying PDI zones is 30 

feet, measured from property line. The existing building meets minimum setbacks. 
 
A33. Special Setback: An examination of the proposed revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 

indicates that the current site should not infringe upon the 55 foot special setback from 
SW Elligsen Road.  50’7” is provided.  

 
Section 4.118(.01) Height Guidelines: The Development Review Board may regulate heights as 
follows: 

A.  Restrict or regulate the height or building design consistent with adequate provision 
of fire protection and fire-fighting apparatus height limitations. 

Page 23 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 24 

B.  To provide buffering of low density developments by requiring the placement of 
buildings more than two (2) stories in height away from the property lines abutting 
a low density zone. 

C.  To regulate building height or design to protect scenic vistas of Mt. Hood or the 
Willamette River from greater encroachments than would occur if developed 
conventionally. 

 
A34. TVFR has reviewed the proposed plans and can provide fire protection and emergency 

services to the project. The project has been designed to comply with these criteria. The 
proposed building addition will not interfere with scenic vistas of Mt. Hood.  

 
A35. Properties in the PDI zone are not subject to a maximum building height due to adjacent 

residential uses because the abutting properties to the east and south are also zoned PDI. 
 
Off Street Parking: Off-street parking shall be provided as specified in Section 4.155. 
 
A36. Parking is provided at grade. See Requests B and C for the detailed parking analysis. 
 
Corner Vision: Vision clearance shall be provided as specified in Section 4.177, or such additional 
requirements as specified by the City Engineer. 
 
A37. The existing building and site improvements appear to comply with vision clearance 

standards and confirmation shall be required by the City Engineer. 
 
Subsection 4.140 (.07)B.: The application shall include conceptual and quantitatively accurate 
representations of the entire development sufficient to judge the scope, size, and impact of the 
development on the community; and, in addition to the requirements set forth in Section 4.035, 
shall be accompanied by the following information:  
 
A38. The applicant has submitted a boundary survey including topographic information 

completed by a licensed surveyor meeting code requirements.  
 
A39. The applicant has submitted a tabulation of the proposed land use (See Sheet Az1.02). A 

more detailed analysis of the proposed development is a part of the Stage II Final Plan 
(Request B) application. The applicant is proposing a Chrysler, Jeep, Dodge and Ram 
dealership, which is allowed in the current Stage I Preliminary Plan. Also see Finding 
A3.  

A40. The applicant is seeking Stage II Final Plan approval for parking and site improvements 
concurrent with the request for a Stage I Preliminary Plan meeting code requirements.     

 
Section 4.118. Standards applying to all Planned Development Zones: 
 

(.01)  Height Guidelines:  In “S” overlay zones… 

A41. The project site is not within an “S” overlay zone; therefore, this provision does not apply.     
 
 
 

Page 24 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 25 

(.02)  Underground Utilities shall be governed by Sections 4.300 to 4.320. All utilities above 
ground shall be located so as to minimize adverse impacts on the site and neighboring 
properties. 

 
A42. Public Utilities were installed as part of SW Parkway Center Drive. Thus, the applicant 

proposes to utilize existing utilities within the street. No utilities will be located above 
ground.  

 
(.03) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the Development 
Review Board, in order to implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140 and based on 
findings of fact supported by the record may: 
 

A. Waive the following typical development standards: 
3. Height and yard requirements;  

 
A43. See Finding A33.  
 
Section 4.167. General Regulations - Access, Ingress and Egress. 
 
A44. See Finding A29 for driveway access control. . Approved for the site is a single access 

drive at SW Parkway Center Drive and one at SW Elligsen Road.  
 

Section 4.171. General Regulations – Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources. 
 
A45. All grading, filling and excavating on the project site will be done in accordance with the 

Uniform Building Code.  
 
A46.    114 regulated trees will be retained on the property. 24 regulated trees are proposed for 

removal. See Request E for the detailed analysis of the proposed Type ‘C’ Tree Removal 
and Preservation Plan.  

Page 25 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 26 

 
REQUEST B 

STAGE II FINAL PLAN  
 
B1. The applicant proposes the following development of the site.  As noted above, the 

amounts of building floor area, paved areas, and landscaping are proposed to remain 
fundamentally the same as the existing condition.  

 
Proposed Site Development - Stage II Final Plan  

Area Size % of Total Site 
Building area footprint   169,909 SF 37.6 
Parking, drive lanes, walkways   Existing  
Landscape area   Existing   
  451,717 SF  
Total site area:  10.37 acres  

 
Proposed Uses - Stage II Final Plan  

Building Uses Floor Area % of Total  
Warehouse 70,966 SF 39.6 
Office 10,854 SF 6.1 
Retail 21,773 SF 12.1 
Warehouse/Support (future) 75,718 SF 42.2 
    
Total building floor area   179,311 SF 100% 

 
ZONING, Sections 4.100-4.141   
Subsection 4.140.09(J): A planned development permit may be granted by the Development Review 
Board only if it is found that the development conforms to all the following criteria, as well as to the 
planned development regulations in Section 4.140. 

 
Additionally, Subsection 4.140.09(J)(1) states: The location, design, size and uses, both separately 
and as a whole, are consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and with any other applicable plan, 
development map or Ordinance adopted by the City Council. 
 
Zoning and Comprehensive Plan Designations: Planned Development Industrial Zone 

B2.  See Finding A3. The subject property is zoned Planned Development Industrial (PDI) 
with a corresponding Industrial Comprehensive Plan designation. The proposed auto 
dealership is in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan because it represents a blend of 
retail and industrial uses that are allowed in the PDI Zone.  Proposed commercial and 
office complexes are allowed but are limited by Subsection 4.135(.03) O (1,2 and 3). This 
code criterion is met.   

 
 
 

Page 26 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 27 

Subsection 4.118.03(A): Waivers. 
  
B3. Waivers are not proposed.  
 
Section 4.117: Standards applying to industrial developments in any zone 

B4.  Some staging of vehicles for customers previewing vehicles may occur outside but 
overall the applicant is not proposing outdoor sales, display, or retailing. All business 
would be conducted wholly within the completely enclosed building except for off-street 
parking and off-street loading and other exemptions in Subsection 4.116.05(D).  In 
addition, the dealership is not expected to generate any vibration, emissions, evening 
operation impacts, heat or glare, noise, electrical disturbances, discharge of pollutants.  
Dangerous substances will not be present on the site.  

B5. The property owner is responsible to seek approval from the Planning Division for the 
City of Wilsonville to mitigate the loss of performance of the project.  

B6. The existing building is located outside of the right-of-way of SW Parkway Center Drive 
and SW Elligsen Road consistent with code requirements.  

B7. The existing building meets the minimum thirty (30) foot setbacks in the PDI Zone. The 
project site does not abut a more restrictive residential zoning district.  

Subsection 4.135.03(A): Uses that are typically permitted 
 
B8. See Finding A3. Per subsections 4.135(.03)(A and D), “warehouses” and 

“manufacturing” are identified as typical permitted uses in the PDI Zone. Per 
subsections 4.135(.01)O(1, 2 and 3) the proposed Office Complex and commercial uses 
are also permitted but have square footage limitations.   

 
Subsections 4.140.09(C-F): Stage II Final Plan 

B9. The subject property is in the PDI Zone and is therefore subject to the Planned 
Development Regulations including 4.140.09(J). Staff has reviewed the applicant’s 
submitted plans to determine compliance with the Planned Development Regulations. 
The applicant’s submittal documents provide sufficient detail to review the requirements 
of Section 4.140.09(C) & (D). These criteria are met. 

 
Subsection 4.171.02: General Terrain Preparation 

B10. Plan Sheet C1.0 is the preliminary grading plan meeting this code criterion.  
 

Page 27 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 28 

Subsection 4.171.04(B): Trees and Wooded Areas 

B11. There are 24 trees with a DBH of 6 inches or greater, which are proposed for removal.  
The majority is located in the northwestern portion of the site, and they were planted as 
part of the original landscaping.  They need to be removed for a new driveway 
connection between the parking lot facing SW Parkway Center Drive and the 
parking/loading area facing SW Elligsen Road.  Other trees will be removed along what 
will be the car showroom. The majority of the existing landscaping (and remaining trees) 
are proposed to be protected during construction and retained as noted in the landscape 
plan (Sheets L1.01 and L2.01) and the arborist’s report  The criteria of this section will be 
satisfied.  

 
PARKING: 
 
Section 4.155 of the Wilsonville Code sets forth the minimum parking standards for off-street 
parking.  
 
Subsection 4.155.03(B)(8) and Table 5: Parking Standards.  
 
B12.  The applicant proposes to provide a total of 129 parking spaces to serving the proposed 

dealership. Sheet Az1.02 shows parking for customers (36 spaces), employees (41 
spaces), ADA (6 spaces), and storage (46 spaces).  The southern portion of the building is 
intended for a future industrial uses (Tenant B), and 180 spaces are available. 

 
Per table 5, Minimum Parking Requirement (building at 103,593 sq. ft. for Tenant A)):  
Office: 2.7/1,000 SF x 10,854 SF = 29.3 spaces or 30 spaces. 
Retail: 4.1/1,000 x 21,773 SF= 89.3 spaces or 90 spaces.  
Warehouse:  0.3/1,000 x 70,966 SF =21.3 spaces or 22 spaces.  
Total minimum parking space requirement is 142 spaces 
 
 
The applicant is proposing a total of 129 standard parking spaces including 6 parking spaces for 
the disabled persons to support the car dealership (Tenant A).  An additional 180 standard spaces 
(including 2 ADA spaces) are proposed to be retained for the southern portion of the building 
(Tenant B).  Because the commercial and office “allotment” allowed in the PDI Zone is used for 
this application, the remaining 75,718 square feet of building area for Tenant B is expected to be 
either warehousing or manufacturing (1.6/1,000).  This would yield a range in required parking 
of 23 to 122 parking spaces.  Therefore, with a total of 309 parking spaces and a total minimum 
requirement between 165 (proposed dealership + warehousing) and 251 (dealership + 
manufacturing), the City’s parking standards will be met.   
 
For bicycle parking, the following requirements apply: 
 
Per table 5, Minimum Parking Requirement (building at 103,593 sq. ft. for Tenant A)):  
Office: 1/5,000 SF x 10,854 SF = 2.3 spaces or 3 spaces. 
Retail: 1/4,000 x 21,773 SF= 5.4 spaces or 6 spaces.  
Warehouse:  1 /20,000 x 70,966 SF =3.5 spaces or 4 spaces.  
Total minimum parking space requirement is 13 spaces 
 

Page 28 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 29 

A total of 18 bicycle parking spaces, 9 short-term and 9 long-term (located in the building) are 
proposed, meeting the standards. 

B13. Plan Sheet Az1.02indicates that compact parking is not proposed. Compact parking is 
optional and it is not required by the parking code 

Subsection 4.155.03(B)(4): Parking for ADA 
 
B14. The Building Division will determine the number and adequacy of the parking spaces 

proposed to be accessible under the American’s with Disabilities Act (ADA). Six ADA 
spaces (including 1 for a van) are proposed, with 4 located near the front building 
entrance and 2 located at the rear building entrance. 

Subsection 4.155.03(A)(1-3, 5): Minimum off-street loading requirements. Shall provide off street 
loading berths on the basis of minimum requirements as follows:  

 This Subsection states that “every building that is erected or structurally altered to increase 
the floor area, and which require the receipt or distribution of materials or merchandise by 
truck or similar vehicle, shall provide off-street loading berths . . . .”. Larger tractor-trailer 
trucks will not be required for the office users of the building. Rather, panel type vans used 
by primarily by parcel delivery companies will be used for deliveries. While a delivery area 
is not designated on the site plan, the turn-around in front of the entry rotunda and cover 
(approx. 16’ clearance) provides could serve as the delivery area.  

 
 Commercial, industrial, and public utility uses which have a gross floor area of 5,000 square 

feet or more, shall provide truck loading or unloading berths in accordance with the 
following tables: 

 
B15.  The existing building the dealership is 103,593 sq. ft. Therefore, it requires 3 loading 

berths. There are 2 loading areas proposed in the northeastern portion of the site, and 
building portion occupied by the dealership and existing numerous loading berths to 
serve Tenant B meeting code.  

 
Subsection 4.155 (.06) Carpool and Vanpool Parking Requirements 
 
B16.     The proposed development does not involve 142 or more parking spaces, therefore 

carpool or vanpool parking is required pursuant to this subsection. Five percent (5%) of 
the 142 parking spaces is 7.1. A condition of approval therefore requires at least seven (7) 
parking stalls be marked for exclusive use for vanpool/carpool and meet the location 
standard of this subsection. This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 
7. 

 
Subsection 4.140.09(J)(2): Traffic Concurrency.  
 

“That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the development 
at the most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without 
congestion in excess of Level of Service D, as defined in the Highway Capacity manual 
published by the National Highway Research Board, on existing or immediately planned 
arterial or collector streets and will, in the case of commercial or industrial developments, 
avoid traversing local streets.  Immediately planned arterial and collector streets are those 
listed in the City’s adopted Capital Improvement Program, for which funding has been 
approved or committed, and that are scheduled for completion within two years of 

Page 29 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 30 

occupancy of the development or four year if they are an associated crossing, interchange, 
or approach street improvement to Interstate 5.” 

 
a. In determining levels of Service D, the City shall hire a traffic engineer at the applicant’s 
expense who shall prepare a written report containing the following minimum information 
for consideration by the Development Review Board:  

 
i. An estimate of the amount of traffic generated by the proposed development, the 
likely routes of travel of the estimated generated traffic, and the source(s) of 
information of the estimate of the traffic generated and the likely routes of travel;  

 
ii. What impact the estimate generated traffic will have on existing level of service 
including traffic generated by (1) the development itself, (2) all existing 
developments, (3) Stage II developments approved but not yet built, and (4) all 
developments that have vested traffic generation rights under section 4.140(.10), 
through the most probable used 
intersection(s), including state and county intersections, at the time of peak level of 
traffic. This analysis shall be conducted for each direction of travel if backup from 
other intersections will interfere with intersection operations.  

 
 b. The following are exempt from meeting the Level of Service D criteria standard: 
 

i. A planned development or expansion thereof which generates three (3) new p.m. 
peak hour traffic trips or less; 

 
ii. A planned development or expansion thereof which provides an essential 
governmental service. 

 
 c. Traffic generated by development exempted under this subsection on or after Ordinance 

No. 463 was enacted shall not be counted in determining levels of service for any future 
applicant.  

 
 d. Exemptions under ‘b’ of this subsection shall not exempt the development or expansion 

from payment of system development charges or other applicable regulations.  
 
 e. In no case will development be permitted that creates an aggregate level of traffic at LOS 

“F”.  
 

(3). That the location, design, size and uses are such that the residents or establishments to 
be accommodated will be adequately served by existing or immediately planned facilities 
and services. 

 

B17. Street improvements are not expected as part of this project. However, the City 
Engineering Division in PFA15 states for SW Parkway Center Drive: “For safety issues 
the northern driveway shall be limited to a right-in/right-out driveway by placement of 
signage and markings at the driveway exit.  In addition the applicant shall construct a 
Concrete Traffic Separator on Parkway Center Drive (minimum 100 feet long centered 
on the driveway) to prevent left turn movement when entering or exiting the site at this 
driveway.” 

B18. The DKS Associates Traffic Impact Analysis estimated that70% of the 102 estimated PM 

Page 30 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 31 

peak hour trips would be pass through the Stafford/Interstate 5 interchange.  

Furthermore, the City operates under the system of concurrency.  To be more specific, 
the City requires that the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by 
the development can be accommodated safely and without congestion in excess of Level 
of Service (LOS) D, as defined in the Highway Capacity manual published by the 
National Highway Research Board. The greater portion of the traffic generated from this 
development will be dispersed to the Stafford interchange. The traffic study did estimate 
that the prosed use would generate slightly fewer trips than the previous uses on the site.  

 
Subsection 4.140.09(J)(3): Public Facilities stipulates, “That the location, design, size and uses are 
such that the residents or establishments to be accommodated will be adequately served by existing 
or immediately planned facilities and services.” 

B19. The applicant has provided sufficient information in the Utility Plan-Sheets (C series 
sheets), meeting code requirements.  

B20. The City Engineering Division has reviewed the applicant’s plans but has proposed that 
no construction of such utility improvements occur until all plans are approved by the 
Engineering Division. This initial review of design drawings by the City’s Engineering 
Division, and assurance that a permit will not be issued until staff approves all plans, is 
sufficient to insure that adequate public facilities are available to serve this project. 

B21. The Development Engineering Manager is requiring detention. See conditions PFA21 
and PFA22listed below:  

 
PFA 21. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area 

by more than 5,000 square feet, storm water detention shall be required and shall be 
in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new 
development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment. 

PFA 22. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area 
by more than 5,000 square feet, water quality facilities shall be required and shall be 
in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new 
development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment. 
If a mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project 
the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer stating that the 
system was installed per specifications and is functioning as designed. 

B22. The project can connect to the existing  water main at the west side of the property at SW 
Parkway Center Drive.  

B23. The Development Engineering Manager is requiring the project to connect to the existing 
sanitary sewer line stubbed in the Phase 1 site.  

 
Section 4.167: Access, Ingress, and Egress and 
Subsection 4.177.01(H): Access Drives and Lanes 
 
B24. The location of the existing building will have separate driveways at SW Parkway Center 

Drive and SW Elligsen Road. Service parking and loading is provided primarily at the 
north side of the building.  

 

Page 31 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 32 

Subsection 4.177.01(B): Sidewalk Requirements  
 
B25.  There is existing 5’ wide concrete sidewalk in SW Parkway Center Drive and SW 

Elligsen Road. An ADA walkway is proposed to connect the sidewalk in SW Parkway 
Center Drive with the main building entrance meeting code. Pedestrian sidewalks are 
provided at the proposed building, with a striped walkway connecting the two. Concrete 
walkways and asphalt driveways delineate separate circulation paths and patterns.  

 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 2. Safe, Direct, and Convenient Pathways 
 

“Pathways within developments shall provide safe, reasonably direct, and convenient 
connections between primary building entrances and all adjacent parking areas, recreational 
areas/playgrounds, and public rights-of-way and crosswalks based on all of the following 
criteria: 

a. Pedestrian pathways are designed primarily for pedestrian safety and 
convenience, meaning they are free from hazards and provide a reasonably 
smooth and consistent surface.  

b.  The pathway is reasonably direct. A pathway is reasonably direct when it 
follows a route between destinations that does not involve a significant 
amount of unnecessary out-of-direction travel. 

c. The pathway connects to all primary building entrances and is consistent 
with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements. 

 d. All parking lots larger than three acres in size shall provide an internal 
bicycle and pedestrian pathway pursuant to Section 4.155(.03)(B.)(3.)(d.).” 

B26. 
• All proposed pathways are of smooth and consistent concrete and no hazards are 

evident on the site plan.  
• The proposed ADA path at the southwest corner of the proposed Tenant A space is 

a considerable distance from the main building entrance to Parkway Center Drive. 
• The north side of the subject Tenant A space does not have sidewalk connection to 

the sidewalk at SW Elligsen Road.  
• Where required, pathways meet ADA requirements or will be required to by the 

building code. 
• The parking lot improvement area is not larger than 3 acres in size. 
• There is existing painted crosswalk from the Tenant A and B building midway at 

SW Parkway Center Drive. Staff observed higher speed driving is an issue.  More 
important, the painted crosswalk isn’t visible to northbound motorists until drivers 
are very close because of the street grade.  So drivers see a pedestrian crossing as 
they approach in a car, they may have a first impression that the person is 
jaywalking, rather than being in a marked crosswalk.  There’s a sign marking the 
crosswalk. 
 

With proposed condition PDB8 it will ensure better pedestrian connectivity.  
 

Subsection 4.155 (.03) H. Electric Vehicle Charging: 
 

 “Electrical Vehicle Charging Stations: 

Page 32 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 33 

1.  Parking spaces designed to accommodate and provide one or more electric 
vehicle charging stations on site may be counted towards meeting the minimum 
off-street parking standards.  

2.  Modification of existing parking spaces to accommodate electric vehicle 
charging stations on site is allowed outright.” 

 
B27.  No electric vehicle charging stations are proposed. Being that the proposed dealership will 

market electric vehicles staff recommends that an electric vehicle charging station be 
installed for customer use. 

 
Sections 4.300-4.320: Underground Utilities 

B28. The applicant’s Utility Plan – Plan Sheet _ indicates all utilities will be placed 
underground meeting these code criteria. All subsequent utility service to the proposed 
project will need to meet the requirements of this code section.  

 
Section 4.800: Wireless communications facilities:  

B29. A conditional use permit is required for any wireless communications pursuant to  Section 
4.184 of the Wilsonville Code.  No such facilities are currently proposed.  

 

Page 33 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 34 

 
REQUEST C 

SITE DESIGN REVIEW 
 
ARCHITECTURE  
 
C1. The existing building is 2-stories of approximately 30’-0” high. Proposed is a major 

exterior remodel of the west building elevation and partially the north building elevation 
of the Tenant A space to reflect the corporate architecture of a Chrysler, Jeep, Dodge and 
Ram dealership.  The modern architecture will have larger storefront windows combined 
with gray tone exterior finish materials. It will have a 21st century appearance of what 
otherwise is a 1980’s architectural vernacular.  The proposed building remodel for Tenant 
A will have strong visual appeal. However, the non-masonry exterior walls of the entire 
building  (Tenants A and B) should be painted to appear as one unified facility to satisfy 
Subsections 4.400.02(A to J): Purposes and Objectives of Site Design Review and 
Sections 4.421.01(A-G): Criteria and Application of Design Standards.  

 
C2. The final surface water drainage plan will be reviewed by the Engineering Division and 

the Natural Resources Manager through a Public Works permit. Proposed is a water 
quality swale along the west side of the project site which would be connected to the 
water quality swale in Phase 1. See conditions PF20 and PF21.  

 
LANDSCAPING  
Subsection 4.176.02(D): Low Screen Landscape Standard  

C3. The proposed revised parking areas are required to be screened to the Low Screen 
Landscape Standard. See Plan Sheet L1.0 (Planting Plan). The proposal includes a 
combination of a low to middle height shrubs and trees. At maturity, the combination of 
plantings, trees and the narrow buffers are sufficient to screen the parking areas. The 
planting plan elsewhere on the site (which does not require the Low Screen Landscape 
Standard) provides good combination trees and shrubs to screen/soften the perimeter of 
the site and add visual interest to the project. The proposed landscape plan meets this 
criterion. 

 
Section 4.176.03: Landscape Area. 

C4. The “Site Summary” information on Plan Sheet L1.0 exceeds the 15% code minimum. 
 
Subsection 4.176.04(C&D): Buffering and Screening 

C5. Parapet walls currently screen HVAC. However, the City reserves the right to require 
further screening of the new HVAC equipment should it becomes visible from off-site, 
ground level view meeting code. With proposed condition PDC2 this can be 
accomplished. 

C6. The applicant is not proposing any outdoor storage other than screening solid waste and 
recyclables. The trash container is proposed at the northeast corner of the project site and 
will be screened with 6’ high concrete wall panels with fence/gates. The applicant is 
providing a covered waste and recycling enclosure meets code. See Plan Sheets Az1.03 
and  L1.1. 

Page 34 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 35 

Subsection 4.155.03(B)(1 and 2): Parking Area Landscaping 
  
C7.  The site and planting plans indicates that existing and proposed parking lots exceed 10% 

of the parking area. 

C8. Subsection 4.155.03(B)(2) requires that  landscape tree planting areas “be a minimum of 
eight (8) feet in width and length and spaced every eight (8) parking spaces or an 
equivalent aggregated amount”. The planting plan (Sheet L1.1) shows the equivalent 
aggregated amount option for the existing parking lot landscaping.  
  

Subsection 4.155.03(B)(3)(d): View of Parking Areas Screened from Public Right of Way, 12‘ 
buffer. And; 

Subsection 4.155(.02)(O) requires “Where off-street parking areas are designed for motor vehicles 
to overhang beyond curbs, planting areas adjacent to said curbs shall be increased to a minimum of 
seven (7) feet in depth. This standard shall apply to a double row of parking, the net effect of which 
shall be to create a planted area that is a minimum of seven (7) feet in depth.   

C9. The applicant proposes additional landscape  screening next to the parking areas along 
SW Parkway Drive and SW Elligsen Road with low and medium height shrubs. (See 
Plan Sheet L1.1). The proposed shrubs will be sufficient, at maturity, to screen the 
parking area from off-site views from adjacent right of ways meeting code.  

 
Subsection 4.176.06(A-E): Plant Materials. 

C10. The applicant’s planting plan (Sheet L1.1) depicts, tree, shrub, and ground cover types of 
a size and spacing sufficient to meet the criteria of 4.176(.06)A(1-2). and B. All proposed 
shrubs are 2 to 3 gallon size meeting code.  

C11. The proposed specifications for secondary and accent trees meet code criterion for caliper 
size and/or height. This code criterion is met. 

C12. The existing street trees will be retained along SW Parkway Center Drive and SW 
Elligsen Road Road fronting the project site will remain. This code criterion is met. 

 
Subsection 4.176.07(A-D): Installation and Maintenance. 

C13. Plant materials, once approved by the DRB, shall be installed to current industry 
standards and shall be properly staked to assure survival. Support devices (guy wires, 
etc.) shall not be allowed to interfere with normal pedestrian or vehicular movement. 
Maintenance of landscaped areas is the on-going responsibility of the property owner. 
Any landscaping installed to meet the requirements of this Code, or any condition of 
approval established by City decision-making body acting on an application, shall be 
continuously maintained in a healthy, vital and acceptable manner. Plants that die are to 
be replaced in kind, within one growing season, unless the City approves appropriate 
substitute species. Failure to maintain landscaping as required in this subsection shall 
constitute a violation of the City Code for which appropriate legal remedies, including the 
revocation of any applicable land development permits, may result.  

 
Section 4.176.08: Landscaping on Corners 

C14. The Public Works Standards requires that the applicant/owner provide adequate sight 
distance at all project driveways. Should the review of the proposed planting plan at the 

Page 35 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 36 

time of the public works permit require modifications to the proposed planting plan to 
meet sight distance requirements, the Planning Director will determine if the changes 
would require DRB approval or can be processed through an administrative review 
process. 

 
Section 4.176.10: Completion of Landscaping. 

C15. The applicant’s submittal documents do not specify whether a deferment of the 
installation of the proposed planting plan is requested. The applicant/owner will be 
required to post a bond or other security acceptable to the Community Development 
Director for the installation of the approved landscaping, should the approved 
landscaping not be installed at the time of final occupancy of the proposed building.  

 
Section 4.175: Public Safety and Crime Prevention 

C16. The proposed lighting plan is sufficient to discourage on-site criminal activity after dark.  

 
Section 4.199 Outdoor Lighting 
Section 4.199.20. Applicability. 
 
(.01) This Ordinance is applicable to: 

A. Installation of new exterior lighting systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and 
multi-family housing projects with common areas. 
B. Major additions or modifications (as defined in this Section) to existing exterior lighting 
systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and multi-family housing projects with 
common areas. 

C17. The exterior lighting photometric plan is shown on Plan Sheets E100 and E100PH. These 
plans includes any lighting sources attached to the proposed building (wall-packs, etc.) 
and parking lot lighting.  

 
Section 4.199.30 Outdoor Lighting Zones: The designated Lighting Zone as indicated on the 
Lighting Overlay Zone Map for a commercial, industrial, multi-family or public facility parcel or 
project shall determine the limitations for lighting systems and fixtures as specified in this 
Ordinance. 
 
C18.   The project site is within LZ2 and the proposed outdoor lighting systems are being 

reviewed under the standards of this lighting zone. The applicant has submitted lighting 
cut sheets to demonstrate proposed lighting (See Exhibit B1). This criterion is satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.199.50 Submittal Requirements: Applicants shall submit the following information as 
part of DRB review or administrative review of new commercial, industrial, multi-family or public 
facility projects: 
 

A. A statement regarding which of the lighting methods will be utilized, prescriptive or 
performance, and a map depicting the lighting zone(s) for the property. 
B. A site lighting plan that clearly indicates intended lighting by type and location. For 
adjustable luminaires, the aiming angles or coordinates shall be shown. 
C. For each luminaire type, D drawings, cut sheets or other documents containing 
specifications for the intended lighting including but not limited to, luminaire description, 
mounting, mounting height, lamp type and manufacturer, lamp watts, ballast, optical 
system/distribution, and accessories such as shields. 

Page 36 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 37 

D. Calculations demonstrating compliance with Oregon Energy Efficiency Specialty Code, 
Exterior Lighting, as modified by Section 4.199.40(.01)(B.)(2.) [Amended by Ord. 688, 
11/15/10] 
E. Lighting plans shall be coordinated with landscaping plans so that pole lights and trees 
are not placed in conflict with one another. The location of lights shall be shown on the 
landscape plan. Generally, pole lights should not be placed within one pole length of 
landscape and parking lot trees. 
F. Applicants shall identify the hours of lighting curfew. 

 
C19. The applicant has submitted the information necessary to review the proposed exterior 

lighting design found on pages 18 through 20. These criteria are satisfied. The project 
proposes new building lighting while the existing site lighting to remain. This exterior 
lighting code is therefore applicable. 

 
Subsection 4.199.40 (.01) A. Alternative Methods of Outdoor Lighting Compliance: All outdoor 
lighting shall comply with either the Prescriptive Option or the Performance Option.   

 
C20.  The applicant has submitted information to comply with the Performance Option. This 

criterion is satisfied. 
 
Section 4.421. Criteria and Application of Design Standards.   
 

(.01)  The following standards shall be utilized by the Board in reviewing the plans, drawings, 
sketches and other documents required for Site Design Review.  These standards are 
intended to provide a frame of reference for the applicant in the development of site and 
building plans as well as a method of review for the Board.  These standards shall not be 
regarded as inflexible requirements.  They are not intended to discourage creativity, 
invention and innovation.  The specifications of one or more particular architectural 
styles is not included in these standards.  (Even in the Boones Ferry Overlay Zone, a 
range of architectural styles will be encouraged.) 

 
A. Preservation of Landscape.   

 
C21. Staff finds that the subject site is part of the approved Stage I Preliminary Plan. The 

existing site extensively landscaped, most of it will be preserved and enhanced with new 
planting materials as shown on Plan Sheet L1.1. 

 
B. Relation of Proposed Buildings to Environment.   
 

C22. The subject building and property is not within a Significant Resource Overlay Zone 
(SROZ). From a pedestrian perspective the building elevations of the existing and 
proposed remodel will have an inviting storefront.  

 
C. Drives, Parking and Circulation.   
 

C23. Section 4.155, starting on  Plan  Sheet Az1.02, provides a detailed information regarding 
drives, parking and circulation meeting code.  

 
 
 

Page 37 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 38 

D. Surface Water Drainage.   
 

C24. See Finding B21.  
 

E. Utility Service.   
 

C25. All utilities already exist in SW Parkway Drive and SW Elligsen Road and the proposed 
project will be connecting into the existing utilities. Engineering review of construction 
documents will ensure compliance with this provision.    

 
F. Advertising Features.   

 
C26. See Request D for a detailed review of the proposed revised master sign plan.  
 

G. Special Features.   
 
C27. There will be no exposed machinery installations or utility buildings associated with the 

project. All surface areas and truck loading areas will meet setback and screening 
requirements. All garbage and recycling that will be generated at this proposed location 
will be dealt with and stored internal or external to the building.  

 
(.02)  The standards of review outlined in Sections (a) through (g) above shall also apply to all 

accessory buildings, structures, exterior signs and other site features, however related to 
the major buildings or structures. 

 
C28. The applicant is not proposing accessory building, structures or other site features. This 

provision is therefore not applicable.   
 
Section 4.430. Location, Design and Access Standards for mixed Solid Waste and Recycling Areas 
 
C29. See Findings C30 through C32 and the applicant’s finding on page 22 of Exhibit B1.  
 
Section 4.17.  Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage in New Multi-Unit Residential and Non- 
Residential Buildings. 
 
(.06) Specific Requirements for Storage Areas 
 
C30. Subsection 4.179(.06)(B) requires a minimum of ten (10) square feet of storage area plus 

ten square feet per 1,000 SF of gross floor area (GFA) for retail. The applicant is 
proposing 1,141 sq. ft. meeting code. 

 
Section 4.430 Design of Trash and Recycling Enclosures: The following locations, design and access 
standards for mixed solid waste and recycling storage areas shall be applicable to the requirements 
of Section 4.179 of the Wilsonville City Code. Listed (.02) A. through (.04) C. 

 
C31. Subsection .02 requires that solid waste areas be located convenient for users as well as for 

collection vehicles. The proposed solid waste enclosure is accessible at the northeast 
corner of the site, which provides convenient access and ensures that collection vehicles 
can approach them without blocking on-site or off-site traffic. Subsection .03 requires a 
six-foot high sight obscuring enclosure with a gate at least ten feet in width. The proposed 

Page 38 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 39 

enclosures are constructed of  6’ high concrete panels with a gate opening of over ten feet 
in width. Staff adds that Republic Services has approved the enclosures. These criteria are 
satisfied. 
 

Subsections 4.179(.03): Pursuant to Section 4.179(.03) the storage area requirement shall be based 
on the predominant use(s) of the building.  If a building has more than one of the uses listed herein 
and that use occupies more than 20 percent of the floor area of the building, then the storage area 
requirement for the whole building shall be the sum of the requirement for the areas of each use.  
 
Subsections 4.179(.06-.07) and 4.430(.01-.04): Location, Design and Access Standards for mixed 
Solid Waste and Recycling Areas.  
 
C32. The applicant is providing a covered waste and recycling enclosure meeting code. See 

Plan Sheets Az1.02 and Az1.03. The applicant estimates the following which meets code: 

         

 
 
 
 

Page 39 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 40 

 
REQUEST D 

REVISED MASTER SIGN PLAN 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
D1.    The subject property was developed in the 1980s.  The applicant proposes to modify the 

Master Sign Plan for the dealership use. A discussion of each of these signs and the type 
of review required and applicable criteria are below. The location of signs can be seen on 
Sheets Az2.00/2.01. 

 
Subsection 4.156.01(.01)  Sign Regulations Purpose and Objectives 
Subsection 4.156.01(.01)  Objective of the Sign Regulations - Generally 
 
Purpose. The general purpose of the sign regulations are to provide one of the principal means of 
implementing the Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan by fostering an aesthetically pleasing, functional, and 
economically vital community, as well as promoting public health, safety, and well-being. The sign regulations 
strive to accomplish the above general purpose by meeting the needs of sign owners while maintaining 
consistency with the development and design standards elsewhere in Chapter 4. This code regulates the 
design, variety, number, size, location, and type of signs, as well as the processes required to permit various 
types of signs. Sign regulations have one or more of the following specific objectives: 
 
D2.    This subsection states that the purpose of provisions regarding signs is intended to 

“…foster…an aesthetically pleasing, functional, and economically vital community…”, 
among other objectives. The applicant’s proposed adjustment to the approved Master 
Sign Plan is intended to enable recognition of the new tenant of the subject property in a 
manner that differs from the approved Master Sign Plan. The applicant’s submitted 
findings and materials will be examined below, to determine whether this purpose is 
achieved by the application. 

 
Subsection 4.031 (.01) M. and Subsection 4.156.02 (.03) Review Process 
 
D3.     These subsections establish that Master Sign Plans are reviewed by the Development 

Review Board. The application modifies a Master Sign Plan beyond what is considered a 
Class II major adjustment it is therefore being reviewed by the Development Review 
Board. Portions of the request would qualify for a Class II major adjustment, but the 
applicant has chosen to have all modifications of the Master Sign Plan reviewed 
concurrently by the DRB. These criteria are satisfied.   

 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) Master Sign Plans Generally 
 

 “A Master Sign Plan is required for non-residential developments with three (3) or more 
tenants. In creating a Master Sign Plan thought should be given to needs of initial tenants as 
well as the potential needs of future tenants.” 
 

D4.     The property is part of a large master plan area, the Parkway Center Master Plan, which 
includes a number of properties, buildings, and tenants. These criteria are satisfied.  

 

Page 40 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 41 

 
 
 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) A. Master Sign Plan Submission Requirements 
 
D5.      This subsection identifies submission requirements for Master Sign Plans, which includes 

the submission requirements for Class II and Class III sign permits plus additional 
requirements specific to Master Sign Plans. As indicated in the table below the Applicant 
has either satisfied the submission requirements, or has been granted a waiver under 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.10). These criteria are satisfied 

 
Requirement 

Su
bm

itt
ed

 

W
ai

ve
r 

G
ra

nt
ed

 

C
on

di
tio

n 
of

 
A

pp
ro

va
l 

N
ot

 
A

pp
lic

ab
le

 

A
dd

iti
on

al
 

fin
di

ng
s/

no
te

s 

  
In

fo
 

A
lr

ea
dy

 
A

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 C

ity
 

In
fo

 N
ot

 N
ec

es
sa

ry
 

fo
r 

R
ev

ie
w

 

   

Completed Application 
Form        

Sign Drawings or 
Descriptions       

Documentation of 
Building/Tenant Space 
Lengths 

     
 

Drawings of Sign 
Placement of Building 
Facades 

     
 

Project Narrative       
Information on Any 
Requested Waivers or 
Variances 

     
 

Written Explanation of 
the Flexibility of the 
Master Sign Plan for 
Different Potential 
Tenant Space 
Configurations 

     

 

Written Explanation of 
the Extent to which 
Different Sign Designs 
are Allowed 

     

 

Written Explanation of 
How Sign Plan 
Provides for Consistent 
and Compatible Sign 
Design Throughout the 
Development 

     

 

Page 41 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 42 

 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) B. Master Sign Plan Review Criteria 
 
Subsections 4.156.02 (.07) B. and (.05) E.- Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria also Applicable to 
Master Sign Plans 
 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) E. Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria: Generally and Site Design 
Review “Class II Sign Permits shall satisfy the sign regulations for the applicable zoning district and 
the Site Design Review Criteria in Sections 4.400 through 4.421,” 

 
D6.    As indicated in Findings D7 through D28 these criteria are met.  

 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) E. 1. Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria: Compatibility with Zone “The 
proposed signage is compatible with developments or uses permitted in the zone in terms of design, 
materials used, color schemes, proportionality, and location, so that it does not interfere with or 
detract from the visual appearance of surrounding development;” 
 
D7.    The subject property has a use that is unique in the PDI zone and Wilsonville. With this 

uniqueness in mind a balance needs to be achieved between signs typical of the PDI zone 
and signs that reflect the architecture and use of the subject building. The building signs 
are backlight channel signs typical of commercial uses in the PDI zone including other 
automobile dealerships and monument signs are typical of the type of sign permitted in 
the PDI Zone. These criteria are satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) E. 2. Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria: Nuisance and Impact on 
Surrounding Properties. “The proposed signage will not create a nuisance or result in a significant 
reduction in the value or usefulness of surrounding development;” 

 
D8.     There is no evidence and no testimony has been received that the subject signs would 

create a nuisance or negatively impact the value of surrounding properties. These criteria 
are satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) E. 3. Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria: Items for Special Attention. 
“Special attention is paid to the interface between signs and other site elements including building 
architecture and landscaping, including trees.” 
 
D9.   The proposed building signs are placed appropriately on the architecture creating 

identifiable sign band. Monument signs are appropriately placed within landscape areas. 
No sign-tree conflicts have been noted. These criteria are satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) B. 1. Consistent and Compatible Design.  “The Master Sign Plan provides 
for consistent and compatible design of signs throughout the development;” 

 
D10.     For the subject site the proposed signs will create consistent branding throughout the site 

and reflect the architecture and auto dealership use. These criteria are satisfied. 
 
Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) B. 2. Future Needs. “The Master Sign Plan considers future needs, 
including potential different configurations of tenant spaces and different sign designs, if allowed.” 

 
D11.   It is understood the signs shown for the dealership would allow for different future signs 

at the same location within a rectangle drawn around each individual sign. Monument 
signs could be replaced with signs of the same size of a different design and/or copy. No 

Page 42 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 43 

signage is shown for the unused southern industrial portion of the building. A future 
review will need to address signage for this tenant space. 

 
Section 4.156.03 Sign Measurement 
 
Subsection 4.156.03 (.01) C. Measurement of Round and Three Dimensional Signs. “ The area of a 
round or three-dimensional sign shall be the maximum surface area visible from any one location 
on the ground measured the same as A. above except if the maximum surface area is an irregular 
shape the signs perimeter shall be measured the same as an individual element sign under B. 
above.” B. reads, “The area for signs constructed of individual elements (letters, figures, etc.)  
attached to a building wall or similar surface or structure  shall be the summed area of up to three 
squares, rectangles , circles, or triangles drawn around all sign elements.” 

 
D12.   No round or three-dimensional signs are proposed.  The signs were measured consistent 

with this subsection. These criteria are satisfied. 
 
Subsection 4.156.03 (.02) A. Measurement of Sign Height Above Ground. “The height above 
ground of a freestanding or ground-mounted sign is measured from the average grade directly 
below the sign to the highest point of the sign or sign structure except as follows:” Listed 1.-2. 
 
D13.    The proposed signs have been measured consistent with this subsection. These criteria are 

satisfied. 
 
Subsection 4.156.03 (.03) A.-B. Measurement of Sign Height and Length. “Height of a sign is the 
vertical distance between the lowest and highest points of the sign.  Length of a sign is the 
horizontal distance between the furthest left and right points of the sign.” 
 
D14.    The proposed signs have been measured consistent with this subsection. These criteria are 

satisfied. 
 
Subsection 4.156.08 Sign Allowances in the PDC, PDI, and PF Zones 
 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.01) A. Freestanding and Ground Mounted Signs in the PDC, PDI, and PF 
Zone. This subsection establishes the standards for freestanding and ground mounted signs in 
various zones, including the PDI Zone. 

 
D15.   The dealership is allowed to have monuments signs on both the Parkway Center Drive and 

SW Elligsen Road not to exceed 64 sf in sign area or 8 feet in height. On SW Elligsen 
Road a 12 square foot sign standing four (4) feet tall is proposed. On SW Parkway Center 
Drive a 33.9 square foot sign standing eight (8) feet tall is proposed. Both signs are well 
within the allowance for the dealership. 

 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) A. Building Sign Eligible Facades 
 

“Building signs are allowed on a facade of a tenant space or single tenant building when one 
or more of the following criteria are met: 
1. The facade has one or more entrances open to the general public; 
2. The facade faces a lot line with frontage on a street or private drive with a cross 

section similar to a public street, and no other buildings on the same lot obstruct the 
view of the building facade from the street or private drive; or 

3. The facade is adjacent to the primary parking area for the building or tenant.” 
 

Page 43 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 44 

Pursuant to this subsection the north and west facades are sign eligible. Signs are proposed 
on the north and west facades. These criteria are satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) B. Building Sign Area Allowed 
 

This subsection includes a table identifying the sign area allowed for facades based on the 
linear length of the façade. Exception are listed 2. through 5. Exception 2 reads “The sign 
area allowed for facades with a primary public entrance or with a frontage along a public 
street dominated by windows or glazing may be increased by transferring to the façade up to 
one half (1/2) the sign area allowed for adjacent facades up to fifty (50) square feet. In no case 
shall the allowed sign area exceed an area equal to the linear length of the façade.” 
 

D16. North façade: Linear Length 340 feet 
 
Base allowance for facades greater than 72 linear feet: 36 sf 
+ 12 sf for each 24 linear feet of portion thereof greater than 72 sf 
(340-72=268/24=11.16 rounded up to 12)12*12=144 
Total Sign Area Allowed on North Façade=180 square feet 
 
Proposed sign area on North Façade=141.4 square feet 
 
Unused North Façade allowance=38.6 square feet  
 
West Façade: Linear Length 208 feet 
Base allowance for facades greater than 72 linear feet: 36 sf 
+ 12 sf for each 24 linear feet of portion thereof greater than 72 sf 
(208-72=136/24=5.66 rounded up to 6) 6*12=72: 72 sf 
Sign Area Allowed on West Façade without transfers=108 square feet 
+Allowed transfer of up to 50 square feet unused on adjacent façade (transfer of unused 
North Façade allowance=38.6 square feet 
Total Sign Area Allowed on West Façade=146.6 square feet 
 
Sign area proposed on West Façade=136.4 square feet, which is less than the allowed 
amount. The proposed signs are within the allowed building sign area. 

 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) B. 6. Calculating Linear Length to Determine Sign Area Allowed. “For 
facades of a single tenant building the length the facade measured at the building line, except as 
noted in a. and b. below. For multi-tenant buildings the width of the façade of the tenant space shall 
be measured from the centerline of the party walls or the outer extent of the exterior wall at the 
building line, as applicable, except as noted in a. and b. below. Applicants shall provide the 
dimensions needed to calculate the length. Each tenant space or single occupant building shall not 
be considered to have more than five (5) total facades.” 
 
D17.    The applicant has supplied the required measurements used to determine linear lengths 

according to this subsection. These criteria are satisfied. 
 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) C. Building Sign Length Allowed. “The length of individual tenant signs 
shall not exceed seventy-five (75) percent of the length of the facade of the tenant space.” 

 

Page 44 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 45 

D18.   The proposed building sign revisions to the Master Sign Plan do not allow proposed 
building signs exceeding 75% of the length of the building or tenant space. This criterion 
is satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) D. Building Sign Height Allowed. “The height of building signs shall be 
within a definable sign band, fascia, or architectural feature and allow a definable space between 
the sign and the top and bottom of the sign band, fascia, or architectural feature.” 

 
D19.     The proposed Master Sign Plan modification for the north and west façade will allow for 

signs within a definable architectural feature and a recognizable space above and below 
the sign area, creating a definable sign band. These criteria are satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) E. Building Sign Types Allowed. “Types of signs permitted on buildings 
include wall flat, fascia, projecting, blade, marquee and awning signs.  Roof-top signs are 
prohibited.” 
 
D20.    All the proposed buildings signs are wall flat, which is an allowable type. This criterion is 

satisfied. 
 
Subsection 4.156.08 (.03) A. Additional Signs: Directional Signs. “Notwithstanding the signs 
allowed based on the site in (.01) and (.02) above, the following signs may be permitted, subject to 
standards and conditions in this Code:” “In addition to exempt directional signs allowed under 
Subsection 4.156.05 (.02) C. freestanding or ground mounted directional signs six (6) square feet or 
less in area and four (4) feet or less in height: 

1. The signs shall be designed to match or complement the architectural design of buildings on 
the site; 
2. The signs shall only be placed at the intersection of internal circulation drives; and 
3. No more than one (1) sign shall be placed per intersection corner with no more than two (2) 
signs per intersection.” 
 

D21.  No additional signs are proposed pursuant to this subsection. 
 

 
Site Design Review 
 
Subsections 4.400 (.01) and 4.421 (.03) Excessive Uniformity, Inappropriateness of Design, Etc. 
 

“The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such objectives shall 
serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Excessive uniformity, inappropriateness or poor 
design of the exterior appearance of structures and signs and the lack of proper attention to 
site development and landscaping in the business, commercial, industrial and certain 
residential areas of the City hinders the harmonious development of the City, impairs the 
desirability of residence, investment or occupation in the City, limits the opportunity to attain 
the optimum use in value and improvements, adversely affects the stability and value of 
property, produces degeneration of property in such areas and with attendant deterioration 
of conditions affecting the peace, health and welfare, and destroys a proper relationship 
between the taxable value of property and the cost of municipal services therefor.”  
 

D22.  Excessive Uniformity: A variety of unique signs are proposed which prevent excessive 
uniformity within the development or surrounding area. 

Page 45 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 46 

Inappropriate or Poor Design of Signs: Signs have been professionally designed specific to 
this project and reflect the high quality and level of design being incorporated into the 
project as a whole.  
Lack of Proper Attention to Site Development: The appropriate professional services have 
been used to design the signs and their interaction with the site. Much thought has been 
given to sign placement. 
Lack of Proper Attention to Landscaping: A professional landscape plan has been 
developed for the project, which acknowledges the placement of the sculpture monument 
sign within the planting bed at the same location a monument sign current stands. No sign-
tree conflicts have been identified.  These criteria are satisfied. 

 
Subsections 4.400 (.02) and 4.421 (.03) Purposes of Objectives of Site Design Review 
 

“The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such objectives shall 
serve as additional criteria and standards.” “The City Council declares that the purposes and 
objectives of site development requirements and the site design review procedure are to:” 
Listed A through J. including D. which reads “Conserve the City's natural beauty and visual 
character and charm by assuring that structures, signs and other improvements are properly 
related to their sites, and to surrounding sites and structures, with due regard to the aesthetic 
qualities of the natural terrain and landscaping, and that proper attention is given to exterior 
appearances of structures, signs and other improvements;”  
 

D23.     It is staff’s professional opinion that the signs comply with the purposes and objectives 
of site design review, especially objective D. which specifically mentions signs. The 
proposed signs are of a scale and design appropriately related to the subject site and the 
appropriate amount of attention has been given to visual appearance. These criteria are 
satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) Site Design Review-Design Standards. This subsection lists the design 
standards for Site Design Review. Listed A through G. Only F. is applicable to this application, 
which reads, “Advertising Features.  In addition to the requirements of the City's sign regulations, 
the following criteria should be included:  the size, location, design, color, texture, lighting and 
materials of all exterior signs and outdoor advertising structures or features shall not detract from 
the design of proposed buildings and structures and the surrounding properties.”  

 
D24.    There is no indication that the size, location, design, color, texture, lighting or material of 

the proposed signs would detract from the design of the building and the surrounding 
properties. These criteria are satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.421 (.02) Applicability of Design Standards to Signs. “The standards of review 
outlined in Sections (a) through (g) above shall also apply to all accessory buildings, structures, 
exterior signs and other site features, however related to the major buildings or structures.”  

 
D25.    Design standards have been applied to exterior signs, as applicable, see Finding D24 

above. These criteria are satisfied. 
 
Subsection 4.421 (.05) Site Design Review-Conditions of Approval. “The Board may attach certain 
development or use conditions in granting an approval that are determined necessary to insure the 
proper and efficient functioning of the development, consistent with the intent of the 
Comprehensive Plan, allowed densities and the requirements of this Code.”  

 

Page 46 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 47 

D26.    No additional conditions of approval are recommended to ensure the proper and efficient 
functioning of the development. This criterion is satisfied. 

 
Subsection 4.421 (.06) Color or Materials Requirements. “The Board or Planning Director may 
require that certain paints or colors of materials be used in approving applications.  Such 
requirements shall only be applied when site development or other land use applications are being 
reviewed by the City.”   
 
D27.   Staff does not recommend any additional requirements for materials or colors for the 

proposed signs. This criterion is satisfied. 
 
Section 4.440 Site Design Review-Procedures. “A prospective applicant for a building or other 
permit who is subject to site design review shall submit to the Planning Department, in addition to 
the requirements of Section 4.035, the following:” Listed A through F.  

 
D28.  The applicant has submitted a sign plan as required by this section. These criteria are 

satisfied. 
 

Page 47 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 48 

 
 

REQUEST E 
TYPE ‘C’ TREE PLAN 

 
Subsection 4.610.40 (.02) and Subsection 4.610.30 (.02) Submittal Requirements  
 
E1.      The Arborist Report was prepared by Mr. Don Richards, ISA PN-5536A.  As indicated in 

the table below the applicant has either submitted the required documentation under 
Subsection 4.610.40 (02). The requirements of these subsections are thus satisfied. 

 
Requirement 

Su
bm

itt
ed

 

W
ai

ve
r 

G
ra

nt
ed

 

C
on

di
tio

n 
of

 
A

pp
ro

va
l 

N
ot

 
A

pp
lic

ab
le

 

A
dd

iti
on

al
 

fin
di

ng
s/

no
te

s 

  
In

fo
 

A
lr

ea
dy

 
A

va
ila

bl
e 

to
 C

ity
 

In
fo

 N
ot

 N
ec

es
sa

ry
 

fo
r 

R
ev

ie
w

 

   

Statement why removal 
is necessary       

 

Description of trees 
(common name, d.b.h.)      

 

Name of person 
removing (if known)      

 

Time of removal (if 
known)      

 

Map showing location 
of tree(s)      

 

Arborist’s Report 
(health and condition, 
species, common name, 
d.b.h.) 

     

 

Tree protection 
information      

 

Replacement tree 
description (species, 
size, number, cost) 

     
 

 
 

This application has been reviewed according the standards and processes referenced in this 
subsection. This provision is satisfied.  

 
Section 4.620.00 Tree Relocation, Mitigation, or Replacement 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.01) Tree Replacement Required within One Year 
 

Page 48 of 54



Staff Report – Exhibit A1  
Development Review Board - Panel  A   June 9, 2014  Page 49 

This subsection requires a Type C Tree Removal Permit grantee to replace or relocate each 
removed tree having six inches (6”) or greater d.b.h. within one year of removal.  Twenty-
four (24) regulated trees are proposed for removal. See Plan Sheet L1.01 of the Arborist 
Report 
 

Subsection 4.620.00 (.02) Basis for Determining Replacement  
 
E2.     This subsection requires that removed trees be replaced on a basis of one (1) tree replanted 

for each tree removed. It also requires all replacement trees measure two inches (2”) 
caliper. One (1) tree is being replaced for each tree removed, all of which will be two 
inch (2”) caliper. The provisions of this subsection will be satisfied through PDD2. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.03) A. Replacement Tree Requirements-Comparable Characteristics 
 
E3. This subsection identifies the requirements for replacement trees including: having 

characteristics similar to removed trees; being appropriately chosen for the site from an 
approved tree species list provided by the City, and being of state Department of 
Agriculture Nursery Grade No. 1 or better. The applicant proposes mitigating with trees 
that will be more appropriate for the site, featuring shorter mature heights and reduced 
areas for roots.  

 
Subsections 4.620.00 (.03) B. and C. Replacement Tree Requirements-Tree Care and Guarantee 
 
E4.     These subsections require replacement trees be staked, fertilized and mulched, and be 

guaranteed by the permit grantee or the grantee’s successors-in-interest for two (2) years 
after the planting date. A “guaranteed” tree that dies or becomes diseased during the two 
(2) year period is required to be replaced. A condition of approval ensures the 
requirements of these subsections are met. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.3) D. Replacement Tree Requirements- Encouragement of Diversity of 
Species 
 
E5.      This subsection encourages a diversity of tree species to be planted. A variety of trees are 

being removed and a variety is being planted, maintaining substantially similar diversity 
of species on the property. See condition PDE1. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.04) Additional Requirements for Replacement Trees 
 
E6.   This subsection requires replacement trees consist of nursery stock that meets 

requirements of the American Association of Nurserymen (AAN) American Standards 
for Nursery Stock (ANSI Z60.1) for top grade. Condition PDE2 ensures the requirements 
of these subsections are met. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.05) Replacement Tree Location- Review Required 
 
E7.       See Finding E2.  

 
 

Page 49 of 54



EXHIBIT A 
PLANNING DIVISION  

STAFF REPORT 
 

WILSONVILLE CHRYSLER 
 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL ‘___’ 
QUASI JUDICIAL HEARING 

 
 

Public Hearing Date:   
Date of Report:   
Application Numbers:  Request B: DB14-0037  

 
Property 
Owners/Applicants:  
 

 

 
PD = Planning Division conditions 
BD – Building Division Conditions 
PF = Engineering Conditions. 
NR = Natural Resources Conditions 
TR = SMART/Transit Conditions 
FD = Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue Conditions  
 
 

Page 50 of 54

swhite
Stamp

swhite
Typewritten Text
May 21, 2014

swhite
Typewritten Text



Standard Comments: 

PFA 1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in 
conformance to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards. 

PFA 2. For issuance of the Public Works Permit the Applicant shall submit 
insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the following amounts: 

Coverage (Aggregate, accept where noted)                            Limit 
Commercial General Liability 
            General Aggregate (per project)                             $ 2,000,000 
            Fire Damage (any one fire)                                     $      50,000 
            Medical Expense (any one person)                         $      10,000 
Business Automobile Liability Insurance 
            Each Occurrence                                                     $ 1,000,000 
            Aggregate                                                                $ 2,000,000 
Workers Compensation Insurance                                      $    500,000 

PFA 3. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public 
utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, 
all fees have been paid, all necessary permits, right-of-way and easements 
have been obtained and Staff is notified a minimum of 24 hours in advance. 

PFA 4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based 
upon a 22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of 
Wilsonville Public Work’s Standards. 

PFA 5. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control 
measures in conformance with the standards adopted by the City of 
Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482 during the construction of any public/private 
utility and building improvements until such time as approved permanent 
vegetative materials have been installed. 

PFA 6. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing 
any soil on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed 
applicant shall obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed 
a 1200-CN permit from the City of Wilsonville is required. 

PFA 7. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to 
disturbance within the construction area, or the construction of any off-site 
improvements shall be adequately referenced and protected prior to 
commencement of any construction activity.  If the survey monuments are 
disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a result of any construction, the 
project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a registered professional land 
surveyor in the State of Oregon to restore the monument to its original 
condition and file the necessary surveys as required by Oregon State law.  A 
copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted to Staff. 

PFA 8. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way 
shall be in compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

PFA 9. All required pavement markings, in conformance with the Transportation 

Page 51 of 54



Systems Plan and the Bike and Pedestrian Master Plan, shall be completed in 
conjunction with any conditioned street improvements. 

PFA 10. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways 
by driveway placement or vegetation control. Specific designs shall be 
submitted and approved by the City Engineer.  

PFA 11. Access requirements, including sight distance, shall conform to the City's 
Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) or as approved by the City Engineer. 
Landscaping plantings shall be low enough to provide adequate sight 
distance at all street intersections and alley/street intersections. 

PFA 12. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and 
Access Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those 
portions of the storm system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or 
rainwater LID facilities may be located within the public right-of-way upon 
approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water 
components and private conventional storm water facilities; maintenance 
shall transfer to the respective homeowners association when it is formed.  

PFA 13. Mylar Record Drawings:  
At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, 
and before a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a 
record survey. Said survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record 
drawings' which will serve as the physical record of those changes made to 
the plans and/or specifications, originally approved by Staff, that occurred 
during construction. Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate 
changes will be made to the construction plans and/or specifications and a 
complete revised 'set' shall be submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings 
on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic copy in AutoCAD, current version, and a 
digitally signed PDF. 

Specific Comments:  

PFA 14. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a Trip Generation memo 
dated April 18, 2014.  The current proposed use was determined to generate 
fewer traffic trips and less impact to City streets than historical uses of the 
site generated.  The project is hereby limited to no more than the following 
impacts. 

 
Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 146 

Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 102 
Through Elligsen Road Interchange Area 
 
Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 0 
Through Wilsonville Road Interchange Area 

 
PFA 15. Driveway access spacing along Parkway Center Drive is not in compliance 

with the TSP, which specifies a minimum spacing of 1,000 feet and a 

Page 52 of 54



desired spacing of 1,320 feet for a Major Arterial.  However, roadway 
improvements to Parkway Center Drive were completed with the Argyle 
Square project and the length of property frontage does not allow the 
applicant to meet spacing requirements.  The southern existing driveway is 
allowed to remain as a full access driveway and be widened to allow an 
additional exit lane as shown in plans dated 04/25/14. 
For safety issues the northern driveway shall be limited to a right-in/right-
out driveway by placement of signage and markings at the driveway exit.  In 
addition the applicant shall construct a Concrete Traffic Separator on 
Parkway Center Drive (minimum 100 feet long centered on the driveway) to 
prevent left turn movement when entering or exiting the site at this 
driveway. 

PFA 16. Driveway access spacing along Elligsen Road is not in compliance with the 
TSP, with a minimum spacing of 600 feet and a desired spacing of 1,000 feet 
for a Minor Arterial.  However, due to steep topography east of the existing 
driveway this non-conforming driveway is allowed to remain as a full access 
driveway, at this time, and be widened as shown in plans dated 04/25/14.  
Improvements to Elligsen Road are listed in the 2013 Transportation 
Systems Plan as an Additional Planned Project, however the project is not 
listed as a Higher Priority project due to estimated costs and funding 
limitations and it is not known when  improvements would occur. 

PFA 17. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious 
surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, storm water detention shall be 
required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  
Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial 
redevelopment. 

PFA 18. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious 
surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, water quality facilities shall be 
required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  
Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial 
redevelopment. 
If a mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the 
project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer 
stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as 
designed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53 of 54



Development Review Template 
  

DATE: 5/9/14 

TO:  BLAISE EDMONDS, MANAGER OF CURRENT PLANNING 

FROM: DON WALTERS 

SUBJECT: DEVELOPMENT REVIEW # DB14-0036 THROUGH -39 WILSONVILLE 

CHRYSLER DODGE JEEP RAM 

 

WORK DESCRIPTION: CHANGING OLD SMITHS FURNITURE / HOLLYWOOD 

VIDEO STORE INTO AUTOMOTIVE DEALERSHIP. 

 

*************************************************************************** 

 

Building Division Conditions: 

BD 1. CODE SUMMARY.  A code summary will be required as part of the building permit 

submittal.  It is important to note that the definitions of certain terms, such as retail 

space, warehouse space, and so on, in the Building Code may differ substantially from 

the definitions in the Planning Code.  Plans submitted for a building permit shall use the 

terms as defined in the Building Code. 

BD 2. ACCESSIBLE PARKING cannot be fully reviewed at this time.  Accessible parking 

will be fully reviewed as part of the plan review of the building permit plans.  The 

additional information available at plan review may require changes to the number and 

location of accessible parking spaces shown on these preliminary plans.  Parking spaces 

used for vehicle inventory, repair shop staging, truck parking, fleet vehicles and similar 

uses shall be clearly shown on the plans.  Such spaces are not considered when 

calculating the required number of ADA parking spaces. 

BD 3. THE FIRE PUMP.  As part of the Tenant Improvement building permit submittal, and 

because of the proposed change of use, please provide an evaluation of the fire pump 

with respect to compliance with today’s code.  

BD 4. HYDRANT – CLEAR SPACE.  A 3’ clear space shall be maintained around the 

circumference of fire hydrants except as otherwise required or approved.  [Low growing 

ground covers that do not create a trip hazard are acceptable when approved by the fire 

marshal.] (OFC 508.5.5)  Please confirm that the proposed planting plan respects the 

required 3’ clearance. 

BD 5. FDC CLEAR SPACE.  A working space of not less than 36” in width, 36” in depth, and 

78” in height shall be provided and maintained in front of and to the sides of wall-

mounted fire department connections and around the circumference of free-standing fire 

department connections, except as otherwise required or approved by the fire chief.  

(912.3.2)  Please confirm that the proposed planting plan respects the required clear 

space. 

 

Page 54 of 54

swhite
Stamp



 

 

    4875 SW Griffith Drive | Suite 300 | Beaverton, OR | 97005      

503.620.3030 | tel      503.620.5539 | fax                                                   w w w . a a i e n g . c o m  

 MEMORANDUM 
 
 
DATE:   April 10, 2014 
 
BY:   Craig Harris, PE 
 
SUBJECT:  Stormwater Memo 
 
PROJECT:  Wilsonville Chrysler – Wilsonville, OR 
 

PROJECT NO.:  A14030.11 
 
 

This memorandum is to outline the Stormwater requirements for the proposed Wilsonville 
Chrysler project at 25600 SW Parkway Center Dr. in Wilsonville OR.  The total site area is 
10.37 acres which has an existing building with a foot print of 169,909SF.  The site is fully 
developed with paved vehicle maneuvering and parking areas, pedestrian access, and all 
utilities.  This project will have minimal impact on the site as we are proposing to 
upgrade/relocate ADA parking stalls (along with pedestrian connections and ADA ramps), 
widen and improve 2 driveways and construct a new facade along the northern portion of 
the west side of the building.  We are also proposing to construct a porous concrete 
pavement section at the northwest corner of the site that would link the existing parking lots 
at the north and west of the building (4,975SF).  Once we have infiltration rates for this area 
we will calculate a drain rock section adequate to retain the runoff as it percolates into the 
native soils.  This project will improve/add less than 4,500SF of impervious areas thus it 
does not trigger an upgrade to the existing WQ facilities.  With the minimal (approximately 
1%) disturbance of the site, the existing storm conveyance system should not imposed with 
any adverse effects from the proposed site upgrades.  Prior to construction, maintenance on 
the existing storm system should be preformed, and it should be verified that the storm 
system is functioning properly 
 
   
 
  

cc: File 
 
 

swhite
Stamp





 

 

   

 

Chrysler Dealership Conversion Trip Generation 

April 18, 2014 

Page 2 of 3 

New Trip Generation (Auto Dealership) 
A portion of the existing building is currently being proposed as a new auto dealership that would include a 

significant amount of indoor vehicle storage. The total building area used would be 108,257 total square feet, of 

which 52,544 square feet would be for indoor vehicle warehousing and 55,714 square feet would be used for 

vehicle display, offices, the service garage, and other related dealership uses. This differs from the typical 

automobile dealership that showcases its vehicles outside in a parking lot. Typically the trip generation is 

calculated using the square footage of the building, and vehicle storage space (which would be outside) would 

not be included in the calculation. Therefore, the indoor vehicle storage space for the proposed Chrysler 

dealership was not included in the trip generation calculation to gain a more accurate estimate of the traffic the 

new dealership is expected to generate. 

Table 2 lists the p.m. peak hour trip generation estimates for a 55,714 square‐foot auto dealership based on 

automobile sales trip rate provided by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE). As shown, the proposed 

Chrysler Dealership is expected to generate approximately 146 (58 in, 88 out) p.m. peak hour trips. This is 50 

trips less than the previous historical use of the site; therefore, the proposed uses do not require any additional 

transportation impact analysis and the future growth area can accommodate land uses that generate 50 or 

fewer p.m. peak hour trips while still remaining within estimated historical trip levels. 

Table 2: Estimated Trip Generation for Proposed Chrysler Dealership 

Land Use (ITE Code) 
Square 
Footage 

P.M. Peak Hour Trip 
Rate (Trips/KSF) 

P.M. Peak Hour Trips 

In Out Total 

Automobile Sales (841) 55.7 KSF* 2.62 58 88 146 

*KSF = Thousand Square Feet 

 

Site Plan Review 
The updated site plan (dated March 20, 2014) was reviewed to evaluate site access and multimodal 

connectivity. A copy of the site plan is provided in the appendix. 

Site Access 

Access to the site is provided by three driveways, two on the west side of the complex onto Parkway Center 

Drive and one on the north side onto Elligsen Road. None of the driveways meet City of Wilsonville minimum 

access spacing standards, which are 1,000 feet for Major Arterials and 600 feet for Minor Arterials.2 Therefore, it 

is recommended that the northern driveway onto Parkway Center Drive be converted to right‐in/right‐out 

operation via the installation of a center median on Parkway Center Drive. As the southern of the two driveways 

is aligned with existing access on the west side of the road, it is the preferred location to provide full access to 

the site and will need a variance. While the driveway on Elligsen Road also does not meet access spacing 

standards, the topography and nearby grove of trees make it difficult to relocate farther to the east. Therefore, 

a variance is also needed for this driveway.  

                                                            
2 See Table 3‐2 of Wilsonville Transportation System Plan, Adopted by Council (Ordinance 718), June 17, 2013. 



 

 

   

 

Chrysler Dealership Conversion Trip Generation 

April 18, 2014 

Page 3 of 3 

Multimodal Connectivity 

The site features sidewalks along the entire Elligsen Road and Parkway Center Avenue frontages. However, no 

defined pedestrian access to the site exists. It is recommended that designated walkways be created between 

the front door, customer parking areas, and the sidewalks along site frontage. This improvement will 

accommodate the safe travel of employees and patrons within the site as well as to/from the site via walking, 

biking, or transit. It will also reduce conflicts between pedestrians, bikes, and vehicle traffic. There is also an 

existing bus pullout on Parkway Center Avenue, which is an important transit feature that will benefit the entire 

site. Three bus routes operate from this stop.  

Project Trips through City of Wilsonville Interchange Areas 
Project trips were estimated through the two City of Wilsonville I‐5 interchange areas (i.e., at Wilsonville Road3 

and Elligsen Road) to gain a better understanding of the site’s contribution to traffic at the interchange areas. It 

is expected that 70% of the project traffic would travel through the I‐5/ Elligsen Road interchange area. This 

results in 102 p.m. peak hour trips (out of the 146 total trips). This estimate was based on previous traffic counts 

and a previous transportation impact study completed in the project area.4 It is not expected that any trips will 

pass through the I‐5/Wilsonville Road interchange area. 

Summary 
Key trip generation findings for the proposed active adult apartment complex are as follows: 

 The conversion of the existing warehouse space into the new Chrysler dealership is expected to 

generate 146 (58 in, 88 out) p.m. peak hour trips. This is less than the 196 (25 in, 171 out) p.m. peak 

hour trips the site’s historical uses are expected to have generated. Therefore, the proposed uses do not 

require any additional transportation impact analysis. 

 The existing driveways on the site do not meet City of Wilsonville access standards. It is recommended 

that the northern driveway on Parkway Center Drive be converted to right‐in/right‐out operation via the 

installation of a center median on Parkway Center Drive, while retaining full access at the southern 

driveway due to the fact it is line with existing access on the western side.  

 It is recommended that a defined walkway be added to the facility between the sidewalk and front door 

of the facility.  

Please let us know if you have any questions. 

                                                            
3 The I‐5/Wilsonville Road interchange area includes the Wilsonville Road/Boones Ferry Road and Wilsonville Road/Town 

Center Loop West intersections. 
4 Sysco Transportation Impact Analysis, DKS Associates, June 2007 



     Chrysler Dealership Conversion Trip Generation 
 

 
 

Appendix 
 

 



AL
L 

DR
AW

IN
GS

 A
ND

 S
PE

CI
FI

CA
TI

ON
S 

IS
SU

ED
 A

S 
 P

AR
T 

OF
 T

HE
 S

ER
VI

CE
S

RE
ND

ER
ED

 
BY

 
TH

E 
AR

CH
IT

EC
T 

FO
R 

TH
IS

 
PR

OJ
EC

T 
SH

AL
L 

RE
MA

IN
 

TH
E

PR
OP

ER
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

AR
CH

IT
EC

T. 
AN

Y 
DU

PL
IC

AT
IO

N 
OF

 T
HE

 D
RA

W
IN

GS
 A

ND
/O

R
SP

EC
IF

IC
AT

IO
NS

 IN
 W

HO
LE

 O
R 

IN
 P

AR
T 

FO
R 

US
E 

ON
 A

NY
 O

TH
ER

 P
RO

JE
CT

 O
R

FO
R 

CO
MP

LE
TI

ON
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

RO
JE

CT
 B

Y 
OT

HE
RS

, 
IS

 S
TR

IC
TL

Y 
PR

OH
IB

IT
ED

W
IT

HO
UT

 T
HE

 W
RI

TT
EN

 C
ON

SE
NT

 O
F 

RI
CH

AR
D 

J. 
YO

UN
GB

LO
OD

, A
RC

HI
TE

CT

IS
SU

E 
DA

TE
:

PR
OJ

EC
T 

NO
:

IS
SU

ED
 F

OR
:

Pr
op

os
ed

 S
ite

 P
lan

W
ils

on
vil

le 
Ch

ry
sle

r •
Do

dg
e •

 Je
ep

 • 
Ra

m 3/2
0/1

4

08
-0

20
-1

4

RE
VI

EW

Az
1.0

1

25
60

0 S
W

 P
ar

kw
ay

 C
en

ter
Dr

ive
W

ils
on

vil
le,

Or
eg

on
 97

07
0

No
.   

Da
te 

    
    

    
 R

ev
isi

on

No
tes

:

Ri
ch

a
rd

 J
. Y

ou
ng

b
lo

od

A
rc

hi
te

ct
61

0 
W

. H
ub

b
a

rd
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 1

19

C
oe

ur
 d

'A
le

ne
, I

d
a

ho
 8

38
14

p
. 2

08
-2

15
-7

22
2

c.
 2

08
-6

91
-9

67
9

e.
 ri

ch
a

rd
@

rjy
ou

ng
b

lo
od

.c
om

-

-

10
0'

-7
"

130'-9"

14
0'

-7
"

16
4'

-5
"

108'-2" Existing Minimum

94'-0" Proposed Minimum

50
'-7

"

36'-0"

36
'-0

"

26
4.

63
 s

q 
ft

47
7.

38
 s

q 
ft

3,
51

4.
96

 s
q 

ft23
5.

52
 s

q 
ft

1,
15

7.
36

 s
q 

ft

27
2.

68
 s

q 
ft

24
4.

99
 s

q 
ft

60
.9

5 
sq

 ft
71

.3
9 

sq
 ft

25
5.

68
 s

q 
ft

N
E

W
 IL

LU
M

IN
AT

E
D

 "D
E

A
LE

R
S

H
IP

"
M

O
N

U
M

E
N

T 
S

IG
N

, S
E

E
 D

E
TA

IL
 #

2 
TH

IS
S

H
E

E
T.

  S
IG

N
 H

A
S

 3
3.

9 
S

F.

N
E

W
 C

O
N

C
R

E
TE

 D
E

A
LE

R
S

H
IP

E
N

TR
Y

R
E

M
O

V
E

 T
H

E
 E

X
IS

TI
N

G
 S

TA
IR

 &
 T

H
E

 B
R

ID
G

E
TO

 T
H

E
 E

X
IS

TI
N

G
 E

X
TE

R
IO

R
 D

E
C

K
.  

N
O

TE
:

A
LS

O
 R

E
M

O
V

E
 T

H
E

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
O

F
C

O
N

C
R

E
TE

 B
E

LO
W

 T
H

E
 S

TA
IR

 A
N

D
 A

T 
TH

E
N

E
W

 D
R

IV
E

-T
H

R
U

R
E

M
O

V
E

 T
H

E
E

X
IS

TI
N

G
 C

O
N

C
W

A
LL

.

B
E

LO
W

 G
R

A
D

E
 W

AT
E

R
 R

E
C

LA
IM

TA
N

K
S

 F
O

R
 T

H
E

 C
A

R
 W

A
S

H
 &

 D
E

TA
IL

 B
AY

S
.

 IN
D

O
O

R
 B

U
LK

 O
IL

 S
TO

R
A

G
E

&
 C

O
M

P
R

E
S

S
O

R
 R

O
O

M

R
E

LO
C

AT
E

 T
H

IS
 T

R
E

E
.

R
E

M
O

V
E

 A
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

P
O

R
TI

O
N

 O
F

LA
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

 F
O

R
 A

 N
E

W
 C

O
N

C
R

E
TE

 D
R

IV
E

W
AY

TO
 D

O
O

R
S

.

S
H

A
D

E
D

 A
R

E
A 

IN
D

IC
AT

E
S

 6
 N

E
W

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

 S
TA

LL
S

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
TE

D
 W

IT
H

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  O

F 
P

E
R

V
IO

U
S

PA
V

E
M

E
N

T

S
H

A
D

E
D

 A
R

E
A 

IN
D

IC
AT

E
S

 A
 N

E
W

 S
ID

E
W

A
LK

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
TE

D
 W

IT
H

   
   

   
   

   
   

  O
F 

C
O

N
C

R
E

TE

S
H

A
D

E
D

 A
R

E
A 

IN
D

IC
AT

E
S

 A
 N

E
W

 D
R

IV
E

W
AY

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
TE

D
 W

IT
H

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  O

F 
A

S
P

H
A

LT
.

N
E

W
 N

O
N

-IL
LU

M
IN

AT
E

D
 "S

E
R

V
IC

E
"

M
O

N
U

M
E

N
T 

S
IG

N
, S

E
E

 D
E

TA
IL

 #
3 

TH
IS

S
H

E
E

T.
  S

IG
N

 H
A

S
 1

2.
0 

S
F 

P
E

R
 S

ID
E

 x
 2

S
ID

E
S

 =
 2

4 
S

F 
TO

TA
L.

SW
 P

AR
KW

AY
 C

EN
TE

R
 D

R
IV

E

SW ELLINGSEN ROAD

N
E

W
D

R
IV

E
-

TH
R

U

N
E

W
 R

A
M

P 
TO

V
E

H
IC

LE
 E

N
TR

YN
E

W
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
8 

S
TA

LL
S

N
E

W
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
12

 S
TA

LL
S

N
E

W
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
14

 S
TA

LL
S

N
E

W
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
17

 S
TA

LL
S

N
E

W
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
6 

S
TA

LL
S

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 2
5'

-0
"

W
ID

E
 D

R
IV

E
W

AY
TO

 B
E

 W
ID

E
N

E
D

 T
O

36
'-0

" W
ID

E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

D
R

IV
E

W
AY

 T
O

R
E

M
A

IN

N
E

W
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
E

N
TR

Y 
D

O
O

R
S

(3
 L

A
N

E
S

 W
ID

E
)

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 2
8'

-6
"

W
ID

E
 D

R
IV

E
W

AY
TO

 B
E

 W
ID

E
N

E
D

 T
O

36
'-0

" W
ID

E

N
E

W
C

A
R

W
A

S
H

C
A

R
 W

A
S

H
E

Q
U

IP

D
E

TA
IL

B
AY

S
 (2

)

N
E

W
S

E
R

V
IC

E
D

O
O

R

S
IT

E
 D

IS
TU

R
B

A
N

C
E

 A
T 

W
ID

E
N

E
D

 D
R

IV
E

W
AY

 - 
N

O
R

TH
- 

R
E

M
O

V
E

D
 L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

 S
O

U
TH

 O
F 

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

- 
R

E
M

O
V

E
D

 L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
 N

O
R

TH
 O

F 
S

ID
E

W
A

LK
- 

A
D

D
E

D
 L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

 S
O

U
TH

 O
F 

S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 
 

N
E

T 
S

IT
E

 D
IS

TU
R

B
A

N
C

E
23

4.
55

 s
q 

ft

S
IT

E
 D

IS
TU

R
B

A
N

C
E

 A
T 

W
ID

E
N

E
D

 D
R

IV
E

W
AY

 - 
S

O
U

TH
TH

E
 N

E
T 

A
R

E
A 

O
F 

LA
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

 R
E

M
O

V
E

D
 A

S
 A

 R
E

S
U

LT
 O

F
TH

E
 E

X
PA

N
D

E
D

 D
R

IV
E

W
AY

 W
ID

TH
 IS

- P
AI

NT
ED

 A
LU

M
IN

UM
 SI

GN
 EX

TE
RI

OR
 CO

NS
TR

UC
TI

ON
   A

CM
 SI

DE
 TU

BE
 W

IT
H 

 M
IR

RO
R 

FI
NI

SH

- 3
M

 B
LA

CK
 R

EF
LE

CT
IV

E V
IN

YL
 CO

PY

- N
ON

-IL
LU

M
IN

AT
ED

- 1
2 f

t2

D
-5

 M
op

ar
 D

ir
ec

ti
on

al
M

ON
OL

IT
H

M
AN

UF
AC

TU
RI

NG
 D

ET
AI

LS

EL
EC

TR
IC

AL
 R

EQ
UI

RE
M

EN
TS

SQ
UA

RE
 FO

OT
AG

E

S
id

e 
A

S
id

e 
B

3'
-0

"
91

4.
24

 m
m

4'
-0

"
1,

21
8.

99
 m

m

9 
1/

2"
24

1.
57

 m
m

3 
1/

4"
83

.7
4 

m
m

FA
ST

 O
IL

 C
H

A
N

G
ES

OT
HE

R 
AV

AI
LA

BL
E M

ES
SA

GE
S

N
S

C
A

LE
:  

1"
   

= 
30

'
1

S
IT

E
 P

LA
N

 - 
P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
S

C
A

LE
:  

1:
1.

21
2

M
on

um
en

t S
ig

n 
- D

ea
le

rs
hi

p

S
C

A
LE

:  
1:

0.
77

3
M

on
um

en
t S

ig
n 

- S
er

vi
ce

S
IG

N
 D

IM
E

N
S

IO
N

S
D

im
 A

 =
 

8'
-0

"
D

im
 B

 =
 

1'
-2

"
D

im
 C

 =
 

5'
-4

 1
/8

"
D

im
 D

 =
 

6'
-4

 1
/8

"
S

ig
n 

A
re

a 
= 

33
.9

 S
qu

ar
e 

Fe
et

S
IG

N
 IN

FO
R

M
AT

IO
N

- 
Th

e 
si

gn
 is

 s
in

gl
e 

si
de

d.
- 

Th
e 

si
gn

 is
 in

te
rn

al
ly

  
 

ill
um

in
at

ed
. 

PA
R

K
IN

G
 D

AT
A

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 P
A

R
K

IN
G

  
 

 
27

6 
S

pa
ce

s
P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 P

A
R

K
IN

G
 

 
 

  5
7 

S
pa

ce
s

 
TO

TA
L 

PA
R

K
IN

G
 

 
33

3 
S

pa
ce

s

49
90

.7
7

S
F

of
ne

tn
ew

im
pe

rv
io

us
su

rfa
ce



AL
L 

DR
AW

IN
GS

 A
ND

 S
PE

CI
FI

CA
TI

ON
S 

IS
SU

ED
 A

S 
 P

AR
T 

OF
 T

HE
 S

ER
VI

CE
S

RE
ND

ER
ED

 
BY

 
TH

E 
AR

CH
IT

EC
T 

FO
R 

TH
IS

 
PR

OJ
EC

T 
SH

AL
L 

RE
MA

IN
 

TH
E

PR
OP

ER
TY

 O
F 

TH
E 

AR
CH

IT
EC

T. 
AN

Y 
DU

PL
IC

AT
IO

N 
OF

 T
HE

 D
RA

W
IN

GS
 A

ND
/O

R
SP

EC
IF

IC
AT

IO
NS

 IN
 W

HO
LE

 O
R 

IN
 P

AR
T 

FO
R 

US
E 

ON
 A

NY
 O

TH
ER

 P
RO

JE
CT

 O
R

FO
R 

CO
MP

LE
TI

ON
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

RO
JE

CT
 B

Y 
OT

HE
RS

, 
IS

 S
TR

IC
TL

Y 
PR

OH
IB

IT
ED

W
IT

HO
UT

 T
HE

 W
RI

TT
EN

 C
ON

SE
NT

 O
F 

RI
CH

AR
D 

J. 
YO

UN
GB

LO
OD

, A
RC

HI
TE

CT

IS
SU

E 
DA

TE
:

PR
OJ

EC
T 

NO
:

IS
SU

ED
 F

OR
:

Pr
op

os
ed

 F
loo

r
Pl

an
s

W
ils

on
vil

le 
Ch

ry
sle

r •
Do

dg
e •

 Je
ep

 • 
Ra

m 3/2
0/1

4

08
-0

20
-1

4

RE
VI

EW

Az
1.0

3

25
60

0 S
W

 P
ar

kw
ay

 C
en

ter
Dr

ive
W

ils
on

vil
le,

Or
eg

on
 97

07
0

No
.   

Da
te 

    
    

    
 R

ev
isi

on

No
tes

:

Ri
ch

a
rd

 J
. Y

ou
ng

b
lo

od

A
rc

hi
te

ct
61

0 
W

. H
ub

b
a

rd
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 1

19

C
oe

ur
 d

'A
le

ne
, I

d
a

ho
 8

38
14

p
. 2

08
-2

15
-7

22
2

c.
 2

08
-6

91
-9

67
9

e.
 ri

ch
a

rd
@

rjy
ou

ng
b

lo
od

.c
om

-

-

1
A

z2
.0

0

4
A

z2
.0

0

3,
48

3.
40

 s
q 

ft
26

7.
36

 s
q 

ft

1,
73

6.
83

 s
q 

ft

15
,7

33
.3

2 
sq

 ft

3,
66

1.
16

 s
q 

ft

72
,9

34
.9

7 
sq

 ft

4,
91

0.
61

 s
q 

ft

52
,5

43
.6

5 
sq

 ft

27
4.

72
 s

q 
ft

1,
89

9.
00

 s
q 

ft

72
,9

34
.9

7 
sq

 ft

3,
91

0.
87

 s
q 

ft

28
3.

42
 s

q 
ft

18
9.

31
 s

q 
ft

82
3.

89
 s

q 
ft

3,
71

4.
08

 s
q 

ft

PA
R

TS
 S

TO
R

A
G

E
- 2

 L
E

V
E

LS

S
TA

IR
S

 U
P

N
E

W
 F

A
S

C
IA

 A
B

O
V

E

N
E

W
 E

N
TR

Y 
A

R
C

H

N
E

W
 F

A
S

C
IA

 A
B

O
V

E

 IN
D

O
O

R
 B

U
LK

 O
IL

 S
TO

R
A

G
E

&
 C

O
M

P
R

E
S

S
O

R
 R

O
O

M

N
E

W
 E

LE
VA

TO
R

 W
/ A

C
C

E
S

S
 T

O
:

1s
t L

ev
el

, W
ar

eh
ou

se
 &

 2
nd

 L
ev

el
.

N
E

W
 E

LE
VA

TO
R

 L
O

B
B

Y 
AT

 T
H

E
1s

t &
 2

nd
 L

E
V

E
LS

 N
E

W
 D

E
LI

V
E

R
Y 

D
O

O
R

N
E

W
 E

LE
VA

TO
R

 L
O

B
B

Y 
AT

 T
H

E
W

A
R

E
H

O
U

S
E

IN
C

LU
D

E
S

:
TE

C
H

 L
O

C
K

E
R

S
, R

E
S

TR
O

O
M

S
,

B
R

E
A

K
 R

O
O

M
 &

 S
P

E
C

IA
L

TO
O

LS
 R

O
O

M

N
EW C
A

R
W

A
SH

D
E

TA
IL

B
AY

S
 (2

)

N
E

W
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
E

N
TR

Y 
D

O
O

R

NEW SERVICE ENTRY DOORS (3)

N
E

W
 C

A
R

 W
A

S
H

E
N

TR
Y 

D
O

O
R

C
A

R
 W

A
SH

EQ
U

IP

←  INFILL THE EXISTING ROLL-UP DOORS WITH NEW ALUM. FRAMED CLEAR LOW-E INSULATED GLASS WINDOWS - TYP FOR 22 LOCATIONS ALONG THIS WALL  →

R
EM

O
D

EL
ED

M
EN

'S
R

EM
O

D
EL

ED
W

O
M

EN
'S

N
EW

 M
EN

'S
R

R
(E

m
pl

oy
ee

)

N
EW

W
O

M
EN

'S
 R

R
(E

m
pl

oy
ee

)

NEW VEHICLE
ENTRY DOOR

IN
D

O
O

R
 V

EH
IC

LE
W

A
R

EH
O

U
SI

N
G

16
5 

Pa
rk

in
g

Sp
ac

es

C
U

ST
O

M
ER

 L
O

U
N

G
E

SE
R

VI
C

E 
G

A
R

A
G

E
(In

c.
 D

ET
A

IL
 B

AY
S)

32
 S

TA
LL

S

SE
R

VI
C

E 
D

R
IV

ES
 (3

)

PA
R

TS

PA
R

TS
C

O
U

N
TE

R

PA
R

TS
O

FF
IC

ES

PA
R

TS
R

EC
.

SE
R

VI
C

E 
A

D
VI

SO
R

S
SE

R
VI

C
E

M
G

R
O

FF
IC

E

IN
D

O
O

R
 V

EH
IC

LE
 D

IS
PL

AY

SE
R

VI
C

E 
R

EL
AT

ED
SU

PP
O

R
T 

A
R

EA

FU
TU

R
E 

G
R

O
W

TH
 A

R
EA

O
FF

IC
ES

O
FF

IC
ES

FL
EE

T 
VE

H
IC

LE
 R

EP
A

IR
3 

ST
A

LL
S

O
IL

 S
TO

R
A

G
E

1
A

z2
.0

0

6,
28

0.
97

 s
q 

ft

- 5
47

.3
0 

sq
 ft

28
.7

7 
sq

 ft

- 5
4.

85
 s

q 
ft

- 6
5.

27
 s

q 
ft

N
E

W
 F

A
S

C
IA

 B
E

LO
W

N
E

W
 E

N
TR

Y 
A

R
C

H
 B

E
LO

W

N
E

W
 F

A
S

C
IA

 B
E

LO
W

N
E

W
 E

LE
VA

TO
R

N
E

W
 E

LE
VA

TO
R

 L
O

B
B

Y

D
E

M
O

LI
S

H
 T

H
E

 E
X

IS
TI

N
G

S
TA

IR
W

AY
 A

S
 R

E
Q

U
IR

E
D

 F
O

R
N

E
W

 D
R

IV
E

W
AY

D
E

M
O

LI
S

H
 T

H
E

 E
X

IS
TI

N
G

2N
D

 L
E

V
E

L 
B

R
ID

G
E

 A
S

R
E

Q
U

IR
E

D
 F

O
R

 N
E

W
D

R
IV

E
W

AY

N
E

W
 E

LE
VA

TO
R

O
PE

N
TO

B
EL

O
W

EX
TE

R
IO

R
PA

TI
O

 T
O

R
EM

A
IN

O
PE

N
 T

O
W

A
R

EH
O

U
SE

B
EL

O
W

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 O

FF
IC

ES
 &

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y 

R
O

O
M

S

W
ils

o
n

vi
lle

 C
h

ry
sl

er
  -

 P
ro

je
ct

 D
at

a

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 D

A
TA

 (
B

E
F

O
R

E
 R

em
od

el
)

W
ar

eh
ou

se
 L

ev
el

15
1,

34
8.

78

1s
t L

ev
el

 (
N

or
th

)
7,

87
2.

51

1s
t L

ev
el

 (
S

ou
th

)
11

,0
88

.8

2n
d 

Le
ve

l (
N

or
th

)
6,

94
8.

39

2n
d 

Le
ve

l (
S

ou
th

)
N

on
e

TO
TA

L 
C

U
R

R
E

N
T

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 A
R

E
A

 
(“

B
ui

ld
in

g 
A

re
a”

 d
oe

s 
no

t i
nc

lu
de

 
M

ez
za

ni
ne

s 
in

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 IB
C

 
S

ec
tio

n 
50

5)
 

17
7,

25
8.

48

M
ez

za
ni

ne
 S

to
ra

ge
 in

 th
e 

W
ar

eh
ou

se
4,

57
2.

22

To
ta

l C
u

rr
en

t 
“F

ir
e 

A
re

a”
 (

In
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
M

ez
za

ni
ne

 a
s 

de
fin

ed
 in

 IB
C

 S
ec

tio
n 

50
5)

18
1,

83
0.

7

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 D
A

TA
 (

A
F

T
E

R
 R

em
od

el
)

To
ta

l C
ur

re
nt

 B
ui

ld
in

g
17

7,
25

8.
48

A
dd

 a
n 

E
le

va
to

r 
Lo

bb
y 

to
 th

e 
2n

d 
Le

ve
l

28
.7

7

D
em

ol
is

h 
a 

po
rt

io
n 

of
 th

e 
2n

d 
F

lo
or

-5
47

.3

D
em

ol
is

h 
S

ta
ir 

@
 N

or
th

 e
nd

 o
f B

ui
ld

in
g

-5
4.

85

D
em

ol
is

h 
B

rid
ge

 @
 N

or
th

 e
nd

 o
f B

ui
ld

in
g

-6
5.

27

TO
TA

L 
P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 A

R
E

A
 

(“
B

ui
ld

in
g 

A
re

a”
 d

oe
s 

no
t i

nc
lu

de
 

M
ez

za
ni

ne
s 

in
 c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 IB

C
 

S
ec

tio
n 

50
5)

 

17
6,

61
9.

83

M
ez

za
ni

ne
 S

to
ra

ge
 in

 th
e 

W
ar

eh
ou

se
4,

57
2.

22

To
ta

l P
ro

p
o

se
d

 “
F

ir
e 

A
re

a”
 (

In
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
M

ez
za

ni
ne

 a
s 

de
fin

ed
 in

 IB
C

 S
ec

tio
n 

50
5)

18
1,

19
2.

05

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 U
S

E
S

A
re

a 
U

se
B

ui
ld

in
g 

A
re

a 
(S

qu
ar

e 
F

ee
t)

O
F

F
IC

E
 A

R
E

A
S

O
ffi

ce
s 

- 
W

ar
eh

ou
se

 L
ev

el
1,

73
6.

83

O
ffi

ce
s 

- 
1s

t L
ev

el
4,

45
2.

95

O
ffi

ce
s 

- 
2n

d 
Le

ve
l

6,
30

9.
74

T
O

TA
L 

O
F

F
IC

E
 A

R
E

A
12

,4
99

.5
2

S
E

R
V

IC
E

 R
E

L
A

T
E

D
 A

R
E

A
S

S
er

vi
ce

 G
ar

ag
e 

- 
32

 S
ta

lls
 (

co
ns

id
er

ed
 

as
 “

R
et

ai
l U

se
” 

 S
ee

 R
et

ai
l A

re
as

 b
el

ow
)

15
,7

33
.3

2

S
er

vi
ce

 D
riv

es
3,

66
1.

16

S
er

vi
ce

 R
el

at
ed

 S
up

po
rt

 A
re

a
4,

91
0.

61

F
le

et
 V

eh
ic

le
 R

ep
ai

r 
- 

3 
S

ta
lls

3,
71

4.
08

C
ar

 W
as

h
82

3.
89

C
ar

 W
as

h 
E

qu
ip

m
en

t
18

9.
31

O
il 

S
to

ra
ge

 &
 C

om
pr

es
so

r
28

3.
42

T
O

TA
L 

S
E

R
V

IC
E

 R
E

LA
T

E
D

 A
R

E
A

29
,3

15
.7

9

V
E

H
IC

L
E

 D
IS

P
L

A
Y

 &
 W

A
R

E
H

O
U

S
IN

G

In
do

or
 V

eh
ic

le
 D

is
pl

ay
 (

co
ns

id
er

ed
 a

s 
“R

et
ai

l U
se

” 
 S

ee
 R

et
ai

l A
re

as
 b

el
ow

)
3,

48
3.

4

In
do

or
 V

eh
ic

le
 W

ar
eh

ou
si

ng
 -

 1
64

 
P

ar
ki

ng
 S

ta
lls

 
52

,5
43

.6
5

T
O

TA
L 

V
E

H
IC

LE
 D

IS
P

LA
Y

 &
 

W
A

R
E

H
O

U
S

IN
G

56
,0

27
.0

5

M
IS

C
. A

R
E

A
S

P
ar

ts
 S

to
ra

ge
 -

 W
ar

eh
ou

se
 L

ev
el

3,
94

3.
5

P
ar

ts
 S

to
ra

ge
 -

 M
ez

za
ni

ne
 L

ev
el

4,
57

2.
22

C
us

to
m

er
 L

ou
ng

e
1,

89
9

T
O

TA
L 

M
IS

C
. A

R
E

A
S

10
,4

14
.7

2

TO
TA

L 
B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 A

R
E

A
 U

S
E

D
 

(I
nc

lu
di

ng
 M

ez
za

ni
ne

)
10

8,
25

7.
08

F
U

T
U

R
E

 G
R

O
W

T
H

 A
R

E
A

72
,9

34
.9

7

R
E

TA
IL

 A
R

E
A

S

R
et

ai
l A

re
as

 fr
om

 A
bo

ve
B

ui
ld

in
g 

A
re

a 
(I

nc
lu

de
d 

in
 th

e 
A

re
as

 
ab

ov
e)

In
do

or
 V

eh
ic

le
 D

is
pl

ay
3,

48
3.

4

S
er

vi
ce

 G
ar

ag
e

15
,7

33
.3

2

TO
TA

L 
R

E
TA

IL
 U

S
E

19
,2

16
.7

2

S
IT

E
 D

IS
T

U
R

B
A

N
C

E
 A

R
E

A
S

R
em

ov
e 

th
e 

ex
is

tin
g 

co
nc

re
te

 b
el

ow
 a

nd
 

ad
ja

ce
nt

 to
 th

e 
S

ta
irw

ay
 a

t t
he

 N
or

th
w

es
t 

C
or

ne
r 

of
 th

e 
B

ui
ld

in
g

-2
35

.5
2

N
ew

 A
sp

ha
lt 

D
riv

ew
ay

 a
t t

he
 N

or
th

w
es

t 
C

or
ne

r 
of

 th
e 

S
ite

3,
51

4.
96

N
ew

 C
on

cr
et

e 
S

id
ew

al
k 

at
 th

e 
N

or
th

w
es

t 
C

or
ne

r 
of

 th
e 

S
ite

27
2.

68

N
ew

 C
on

cr
et

e 
D

ea
le

rs
hi

p 
E

nt
ry

 W
al

kw
ay

 
on

 th
e 

W
es

t S
id

e 
of

 th
e 

B
ui

ld
in

g
47

7.
38

N
ew

 C
on

cr
et

e 
D

riv
ew

ay
 to

 th
e 

S
er

vi
ce

 &
 

C
ar

 W
as

h 
D

oo
rs

 o
n 

th
e 

E
as

t S
id

e 
of

 th
e 

B
ui

ld
in

g
26

4.
63

D
riv

ew
ay

 W
id

en
in

g 
at

 th
e 

N
or

th
 D

riv
ew

ay
 

on
 S

W
 E

lli
ng

se
n 

R
oa

d
23

4.
55

D
riv

ew
ay

 W
id

en
in

g 
at

 th
e 

S
ou

th
 

D
riv

ew
ay

 o
n 

S
W

 P
ar

kw
ay

 C
en

te
r 

D
riv

e
25

5.
68

TO
TA

L 
S

IT
E

 D
IS

T
U

R
B

A
N

C
E

  
(N

ew
 N

on
-P

er
vi

ou
s 

P
av

ed
 A

re
a)

4,
78

4.
36

N

N

S
C

A
LE

:  
1"

   
= 

20
'

1
P

ro
po

se
d 

Fl
oo

r p
la

n 
- 1

st
 L

ev
el

S
C

A
LE

:  
1"

   
= 

20
'

2
P

ro
po

se
d 

Fl
oo

r P
la

n 
- 2

nd
 L

ev
el



 
Applied	Horticultural	Consulting,	Inc.	

 
 
 
 
   TREE SURVEY AND REPORT                      _       _                        
   Wilsonville Chrysler 
   25600 SW Parkway Center Drive  
   Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 
  
   PREPARED FOR________________                     __ 
    Findlay Auto 
   Mr. Tyler Corder 
   310 North Gibson 
   Henderson, Nevada 89014  
      
   PREPARED BY _________________                       _  
   Don Richards, President 
   Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 
   P.O. Box 2355      

Lake Oswego, Oregon 97035 
      

   EVALUATION DATES___                ____________                     
  On-Site Evaluation Dates: April 16 and 17, 2014  
 
   REPORT DATE_______________                           _ 
  April 18, 2014  
  
 
                                      
 
 

                   Copyright Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

     P.O. Box 2355, Lake Oswego, OR 97035 
Ph.: 503-756-5198                                     E-mail: don@appliedhort.com                                  Fx.: 503-699-9366 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
ASSIGNMENT AND EXISTING CONDITIONS     Page 
 
1.0 Scope and Limitation of Work 
 1.1 General 1 
   
2.0 Qualifications, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 
 2.1 Qualifications  1                           
 2.2 Assumptions 2 
 2.3 Limiting Conditions 2 
 
3.0 Standards 
 3.1 General 3 

3.2 Reference Standards and Guidelines 4 
3.3 Specifications 4  

 
4.0 Existing Tree Inventory 

4.1 Identification of Existing Trees – Tree Retention 5 
4.2 Identification of Existing Trees – Tree Removal 6 

 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
5.0 Recommendations for Tree Retention and Protection 

5.1 “Critical Root Zone” Protection 7 
5.2 Compaction Protection 8  
5.3 On Site and Post-Construction Care and Maintenance 8 

 
6.0 Mitigation 

6.1 Replacement of Trees to be Removed 9 
 
Certification of Report 11 
 
Exhibits 
 
 Photographic Exhibits   1-10 
  
Appendix  
 
 Appendix A – Tree Survey and Totals 1-4  
 
 
 
 



 
Applied	Horticultural	Consulting,	Inc.	

 
 

ARBORIST’S REPORT  
 

Existing Conditions Survey and Recommendations and Specifications  
for Pre-Construction Protection, Post-Construction Maintenance,  

Retention and Removal of Trees Related to Construction  
and Soil Excavation 

 
 For 

 
Wilsonville Chrysler in the City of Wilsonville, Oregon 

 
By 

 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

P.O. Box 2355 
Lake Oswego, Oregon 97035 

Don Richards, President 
ISA Certified Arborist Number PN-5536A 

ASHS Certified Professional Horticulturist Number  
 

Date 
 

April 18, 2014 
 
 
 

  Copyright Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P.O. Box 2355, Lake Oswego, OR 97035 
Ph.: 503-756-5198                                             E-mail: don@appliedhort.com                                               Fx.: 503-699-9366  



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       1 

 
ASSIGNMENT AND EXISTING CONDITIONS 

 
1.0 Scope and Limitation of Work 
 
 1.1 General 
 
  1.1.1 A request was made by Mr. Tyler Corder, on behalf of Findlay Auto, for 

a consulting arborist’s report containing a tree survey of existing tree 
species, an opinion on specifications for existing tree protection and 
post-construction care on this site in Wilsonville, Oregon. Fidelity Auto 
plans to develop this site in to Wilsonville Chrysler. This scope of work 
shall include all applicable tree-related requirements for the site as 
outlined by the City of Wilsonville’s Tree Preservation and Protection 
Code Sections 4.6000-4.640.20.   

  
  1.1.2 A pre-construction tree inventory was conducted on April 16 and 17, 

2014 and includes the location of each 6 inch DBH1 or greater tree on 
the site, the genus and species of each tree, the current height and 
spread of each tree, the relative health and condition of each tree, and 
all other pertinent, special tree information associated with this project. 

 
  1.1.3 It has been determined that trees must be removed as a function of land 

clearing associated with activities necessary for development. 
Therefore, a Type C tree removal permit application must be filed with 
the City of Wilsonville before any tree removal is to occur. 

 
  1.1.4 It has been determined that no Significant Resource Overlay Zone 

(SROZ) or any Heritage trees exist on this property.  
 
2.0 Qualifications, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 
 
 2.1 Qualifications 
 
  2.1.1 Mr. Richards is a consulting arborist under certification with ASCA, 

American Society of Consulting Arborists and the ISA, International 
Society of Arboriculture with certification number PN5536-A, and a 
Certified Professional Horticulturist under certification with the 
American Society for Horticultural Science with License number 25543, 
he is licensed by the State of Oregon as a contractor under license 
number 143325 and by METRO under license number 6409. Mr. 
Richards is a member in good standing with all of these organizations 
and is therefore qualified to perform this consultation.   

 
  
 
 
 
                                                 
1 DBH is diameter at breast height measured approximately 4.5 feet above mean ground level. 



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       2 

 
2.0 Qualifications, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions (continued) 
 
 2.2 Assumptions  
   
  2.2.1 Any legal descriptions provided to the consultant are assumed to be 

correct. Any titles and/or ownerships to any property or services are 
assumed to be true and accurate. No responsibility is assumed for 
matters legal in character.  

 
  2.2.2 It is assumed that the property is not in violation of any applicable 

codes, ordinances, statutes, or other governmental regulations. 
  
  2.2.3 Care has been taken to obtain all information from reliable and up to 

date sources. All data has been verified insofar as possible; however, 
as the consultant, Mr. Richards can neither guarantee nor be 
responsible for the accuracy of information provided by others. 
Information provided by the client in association with this consultation 
is assumed to be correct and accurate to the best of their knowledge. 

 
 2.3 Limiting Conditions 
 
  2.3.1 The limited use of this report is to offer an existing conditions analysis 

in regards to the trees on the site and best management practices for 
existing tree protection and post construction maintenance by the 
client in performing their tasks in relation to development of this 
property. 

 
  2.3.2 As the consultant, Mr. Richards has not been asked to render any 

opinions legal in character. 
 
  2.3.3 Mr. Richards is not an attorney. This report is not intended as, and does 

not represent legal advice and should not be relied upon to take the 
place of such advice. Although every effort has been made to assure 
the accuracy of the information included in this report as of the date 
which it was issued, laws, court, and arbitration decisions and 
governmental regulations in the United States and Oregon are all 
subject to frequent change. Current information is to be included in all 
the standards and duties of evaluation, investigations, interpretations, 
methodology and contradictions in determining the failure for claims 
and litigation. 

   
  2.3.4 As the consultant, Mr. Richards may be asked to give testimony or to 

attend meetings with the City’s Development Review or Planning 
Commission by reason of this report for an additional fee.   

 
  2.3.5 Loss or alteration of any part of this report or its attachments may 

invalidate the entire report. 
 
   



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       3 

 
2.0 Qualifications, Assumptions and Limiting Conditions (continued) 
 
 2.3 Limiting Conditions (continued) 
 
  2.3.6 Possession of this report or a copy thereof does not imply right of 

publication or use for any purpose by any other than the person to 
whom it is addressed without prior written or verbal consent from the 
consultant. 

 
  2.3.7 Neither all nor part of the contents of this report, nor copy thereof, shall 

be conveyed by anyone, including the client, to the public through 
advertising, public relations, news, sales or other media, without the 
prior, expressed, written or verbal consent of the consultant - 
particularly as to conclusions, identity of the consultant, or any 
reference to a professional society or institute or to any initialed 
designation conferred upon the consultant as stated in the qualifications 
listed. 

 
  2.3.8 This report and any information expressed herein represents the 

opinion of the consultant, and is in no way contingent upon a stipulated 
result, the occurrence of a subsequent event, nor upon any finding to 
be reported. 

   
3.0 Standards 
 
 3.1 General 
 

3.1.1 Documentation for this report and the attachments consists of: 
  

1) A measurement of trees 6 inch DBH or greater identified on the site;  
 
2) A measurement of trees less than 6 inch DBH, but greater than 2 inch 

DBH identified on the site; 
  

3) An identification of trees 6 inch DBH or greater on the site by both 
     common and botanical names; 
  
   4)  A visual inspection of all trees for quality and general health prior  
         to construction; 
 

5) A review of applicable tree protection specifications, all sections  
and subsections from the City of Wilsonville’s Tree Preservation and 

         Protection Codes 4.6000-4.640.20; 
 
   6)  Recommendations for pre-construction tree preservation; and 
 
   7)  Recommendations for post-construction tree care. 
  
 



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       4 

 
3.0 Standards (continued) 
 
 3.2 Reference Standards and Guidelines 
 
  3.2.1 Measurements for this report are based on the American Standard for 

Nursery Stock, revision ANSI Z60.1-2004 and the National Arborist 
Association Standards for Tree Measurements, ninth edition. 

  
  3.2.2 Common and Botanical names referred to in this report are based on 

vernacular currently used to describe similar goods or products in the 
national nursery industry and correspond to plant names and listings 
found in Hortus III, Fourth Edition, 2004. 

 
  3.2.3 Plant protection criteria used in this report are based on best 

management practices adopted for use by the American Society of 
Consulting Arborists and the International Society of Arboriculture as 
found in Trees and Development, A Technical Guide To Preservation Of 
Trees During Land Development, 1998. 

 
  3.2.4 The reporting format used to present the findings in this document 

follows the current guidelines found in Guide To Report Writing For 
Consulting Arborists, 1995. 

 
 3.3 Specifications  
 
  3.3.1 Specifications for existing tree protection and retention are based on 

information gathered during the site evaluation conducted on April 16 
and 17, 2014.  

  
  3.3.2 Additional specifications used for tree protection will be developed 

from information contained in the reference Trees and Building Sites, 
1995. 

  
3.3.3 Tree Retention: Observations of quality were made during the site 

inspection and most of the trees on the site are of sufficient quality to 
warrant protection, although many trees would benefit from adequate 
pruning and removal of invasive, competitive plants species such as 
English ivy and Himalayan blackberries. A total of (114) 6 inch DBH or 
larger trees are scheduled for retention on-site and (11) trees less than 
6 inch DBH are scheduled for retention on-site.  

 
  3.3.4 Tree Removal: The recommendations for tree removal and tree 

retention are based on the development plan drawings submitted as 
part of the permit application. A total of (24) 6 inch DBH or larger trees 
are scheduled for removal on-site based on the current construction 
design.  

 
  
 



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       5 

 
3.0 Standards (continued) 
 
 3.3 Specifications (continued) 
  
  3.3.5 The consulting arborist should be contacted 48 hours in advance of any 

excavation in this area. The consulting arborist should be on site/on call 
during any major excavation (more than 6 inches in depth) planned for 
construction or remodeling of the structures and any excavation for the 
utilities and should direct the construction crew on root saving 
techniques, including but not limited to, root sleeving, alternative root 
avoidance supports or minor root cutting based on actual events. 

   
4.0 Existing Tree Inventory 
 
 4.1 Identification of existing trees - Tree Retention: Observations of quality were 

made during the site inspections and many of the trees on the site are of 
sufficient quality to warrant protection, although many trees would benefit 
from adequate pruning and removal of invasive, competitive plants species 
such as Himalayan blackberries.    

 
  4.1.1   The existing tree inventory with sizes identified for retention is as 

follows… 
 

1) Each tree is identified using aluminum tree tags with numbers that 
correspond to the tree survey or have been lettered and identified 
on the Tree ID (Appendix A). Each tree recommended for retention 
in Appendix A is marked with a YES indicating they are to be 
retained. 

 
 4.2 Identification of existing trees - Tree Removal: Observations were made 

during the site inspections and some of the trees on the site are in the 
proposed development area in locations where vision clearance or 
remodeling activities will necessitate their removal.  

 
  The existing (114) individual 6 inch DBH or larger tree inventory is as 

follows… 
 
  4.2.1 Each tree is identified using aluminum tree tags with numbers that 

correspond to the tree survey and each tree recommended for removal 
in Appendix A is marked with a NO indicating they are to be removed. 

 
  4.2.2 Ten street trees along SW Parkway Center Drive should be limbed 

higher to accommodate the current construction design, vision 
clearance and traffic clearance.  

 
  4.2.3 One hundred and fourteen nursery-grown, native and federally 

protected endangered species trees may be retained based on the 
current construction design.  

     



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       6 

   
CONCLUSIONS 

 
5.0 Recommendations for Tree Retention and Protection  
  
 5.1 “Critical Root Zone” Protection 
 
  5.1.1 Delineation of the “Critical Root Zone” shall be established as a 

minimum distance equal to the same area affected by existing 
development or up to 15-feet or less from each tree as defined by the 
drip line determined during initial observations made on April 16 and 
17, 2014 and identified in this report dated April 18, 2012. This “Critical 
Root Zone” shall be marked using a minimum 6-foot high, chain link 
fence secured by steel posts on 8-foot centers or other, adequate tree 
protection fencing approved by the City of Wilsonville, around all trees 
to remain within 15-feet of the proposed development area, and shall 
be installed prior to commencement of construction and shall remain in 
place until completion. A note that clearly informs all site contractors 
about the necessity of preventing damage to the trees, including the 
bark, the branches and the roots shall be affixed to the fence and 
incorporated on all final construction plan drawings.  Other notations 
may include, but not be limited to items 4.1.1 through 5.2.1 inclusive.  

 
  5.1.2 The “Critical Root Zone” shall be protected at all times from chemicals 

and contaminants, which may be injurious to the root systems of trees. 
 
  5.1.3 The “Critical Root Zone” shall be protected at all times from excess 

water, mud or debris as a result of construction and soil excavation. 
 
  5.1.4 The “Critical Root Zone” shall be protected at all times from erosion or 

sediment depositing as a result of construction and soil excavation. 
 
  5.1.5 The “Critical Root Zone” shall be protected at all times from 

compaction and mechanical tamping as a result of construction and soil 
excavation. 

 
  5.1.6 Based on the growth habit of the existing tree species, it may be 

common to encounter large surface roots outside the “Critical Root 
Zone” defined under this section. It will be important to avoid 
damaging any large surface roots (in excess of 3-inch diameter) during 
excavation as well as those defined within the “Critical Root Zone”. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       7 

 
5.0 Recommendations for Tree Retention and Protection (continued)  
 
 5.2 Compaction Protection 
 
  5.2.1 No machinery will be allowed in the “Critical Root Zone” of the trees to 

be retained during excavation, unless approved by the consulting 
arborist.  Soil excavation outside the “Critical Root Zone” is expected to 
be accomplished mechanically. Any roots that may be exposed outside 
the “Critical Root Zone” should be uncovered by hand and removed 
using a saw with a clean cut at an angle perpendicular with the growth 
of the root by a qualified tree care company or under direct supervision 
by the consulting arborist. No roots within 10-feet of the “Critical Root 
Zone” shall be removed using excavation or general construction 
equipment. 

 
  5.2.2 If machinery is required to enter the “Critical Root Zone” during 

construction or excavation, a protective pad must be established over 
the soil surface prior to entry for purposes of weight distribution and 
compaction prevention. The options for soil surface covers are…  

 
   1) Installation of steel plating over the soil surface adequate for weight 

distribution of the equipment to be used; or  
 
   2) Installation of steel grating over the soil surface adequate for weight 

distribution of the equipment to be used. 
   
   3) Machinery operating within 10-feet of the “Critical Root Zone” shall 

proceed back and forth at a radius to the tree trunk – no abrupt 
wheel or track turns shall occur within the drip line of the trees. 

 
 5.3 On Site and Post-Construction Care and Maintenance 
 
  5.3.1 The consulting arborist is required to be on site/on call with 48-hours 

notice during the excavation and construction phase of the project to 
insure compliance with the specifications outlined in this report. The 
project consulting arborist shall retain a log of all visits to the site. 

  
  5.3.2 Post-excavation and construction care of the trees to be retained shall 

include; but not be limited to; pruning of limbs and branches that 
appear to have been impacted as a result of excavation or construction 
activities for a period of 2-years after completion of the project and 
occupancy of the buildings. Fertilization and irrigation adequate for the 
proper health and maintenance of the trees equal to or greater than 
that, which existed prior to excavation and construction shall be 
maintained for 2-years after completion of the project and; pest 
management if trees show serious pest infestation resulting from 
excavation or construction activities for a period of 2-years after 
completion of the project.  

 



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       8 

 
5.0 Recommendations for Tree Retention and Protection (continued)   
 
 5.3 On Site and Post-Construction Care and Maintenance (continued) 
 
  5.3.3 Pre-construction and/or post-construction general pruning on many of 

the indigenous tree species is recommended. Removal of dead tree 
parts, hanging branches in the canopy and broken lateral branches 
may be required. 

 
  5.3.4 The client may be required to provide a surety bond or irrevocable 

letter of credit in an amount determined necessary by the City to 
ensure compliance with tree removal permit conditions.   

 
  5.3.5 No topping of any tree to be retained shall be permitted.  
 
  5.3.6 The 10 London Planetrees (Platanus acerifolia) located along the right-

of- way by Parkway Center Drive should be limbed to the next highest 
set of scaffold branches allowing for improved vision clearance and 
traffic clearance. These very large-stature trees lend themselves to 
limbing higher than their existing limb height since they attain a mature 
height in excess of 90 feet.  

  
6.0 Mitigation 
 
 6.1 Replacement of trees to be removed 
 
  6.1.1 Replacement of the trees scheduled for removal based on the current 

construction design due to development, remodeling, vision clearance 
and/or other reasons should be planted with appropriate tree species 
and quantities to offset the environmental and visual impact caused by 
removal of the existing trees and in accordance with all code 
requirements from the City of Wilsonville, OR. Refer to the landscape 
plan submitted as part of the permit application. 

 
  6.1.2 Replacement of trees removed must measure 2 inch caliper or more in 

size if deciduous and 6-8 foot in height if coniferous. They should be #1 
grade as defined by the American Standard for Nursery Stock, revision 
ANSI Z60.1-2004 and they should offer shade potential or characteristics 
comparable to the removed trees. The replacement trees should be 
appropriately chosen for the site from an approved tree species list 
supplied by the City of Wilsonville, OR. 

  
  6.1.3 Replacement trees should be staked and irrigated as required for 

survival during the 2-year post construction guarantee period. All 
invasive species that might hinder their growth during establishment 
should be eliminated and maintained. Stakes and guying should be 
removed at the completion of the 2-year post construction guarantee 
period to promote healthy trunk development and to avoid damaging 
the trees as they grow. 



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       9 

 
6.0 Mitigation (continued) 
 
 6.1 Replacement of trees to be removed (continued) 
 
  6.1.4 Replacement trees should be fertilized approximately 1 year from the 

date of planting using a balanced fertilizer blend such as 16-16-16 or 
similar per labeled instructions. Additional fertilization should be part 
of an integrated management plan as required. 

 
  6.1.5 Replacement trees should be treated for injurious abiotic symptoms 

and insect and disease pests only as needed. Pesticide treatments 
should be applied as part of an integrated management plan and only 
as required. All labeled instructions must be followed for any pesticide. 

   
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc. 

Wilsonville Chrysler                                                                       10 

 
CERTIFICATION OF ARBORIST’S REPORT 

 
CERTIFICATION OF REPORT 
 
We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief: 
 
 The statements of facts contained in this report are true and correct. 
 
  The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 
 assumptions and limiting conditions, and are impartial, and unbiased professional 
 analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 
 
 We have no bias with respect to the parties involved with this assignment. 
 
 Our engagement in this assignment is not contingent upon delivering or reporting 

predetermined results. 
 
 The compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the 

development or reporting of a predetermined direction that favors the cause of the 
client, the attainment of a stipulated result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event 
directly related to the intended use of this report. 

 
 The analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 

prepared, in conformity with the requirements of the International Society of 
Arboriculture’s Guidelines for Tree Protection and all applicable tree codes outlined 
by The City of Wilsonville, Oregon in the Planning and Land Development section 
Chapter 4 – sections 4.6000-4.640.20 inclusive.   

 
 The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the International Society of 

Arboriculture and the American Society of Consulting Arborists and subject to 
review by their respective, duly authorized representatives. 

 
   Don Richards, President, AHC, Inc.           Don Richards   PN-5536A____  
      Arborist’s Name and Title     Arborist’s Signature & ISA Cert. No. 
 
  
   April 16 and 17, 2014____________          April 18, 2014________________                       
      Date of Site Observations Date of Final Report 
 

      



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 1 

 
April 2014 – Wilsonville Chrysler Site – Tree Types Surveyed  

  

 
Trees less than 2” caliper not assigned a number – White Ash 

 

 
Trees less than 2” up to 5.75” caliper assigned a number,  

but not accountable to municipal code – Amur Maple 



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 2 

 
 

 
Endangered and federally protected species – Pacific Madrone 

 
 

 
Endangered and federally protected species – Oregon White Oak 

 



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 3 

 
 

 
Native species – Western Red Cedar 

 
 

 
Native species – Douglas Fir 

 



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 4 

 
 

 
Native species – Scouler’s Willow 

 
 

 
Native species – Red Alder 

 



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 5 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – Sweetgum 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – Austrian Pine 

 



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 6 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – White Ash 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species (street tree) – Red Oak 

 



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 7 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – Flowering Crabapple 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – Flowering Pear 

 



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 8 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – European Mt. Ash 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – Jacquemontii Birch 

 



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 9 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – Hinoki Cypress 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – Honeylocust 

 



Photographic Exhibits 

  Exhibit 10 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species – Norway Maple 

 
 

 
Nursery-grown species (street tree) – London Planetree 



A
p

ri
l 1

7,
 2

01
4

W
ils

o
n

vi
lle

 C
h

ry
sl

er
 T

re
e 

ID
 W

o
rk

sh
ee

t
A

H
C

, I
n

c.

T
R

E
E

 
N

U
M

B
E

R
(K

E
Y

)

T
R

E
E

 T
Y

P
E

(G
E

N
U

S
, S

P
E

C
IE

S
, V

A
R

IE
T

Y
A

N
D

 C
O

M
M

O
N

 N
A

M
E

)

T
R

E
E

S
IZ

E
("

 D
B

H
)

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 H

E
IG

H
T

, S
P

R
E

A
D

, C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
, L

O
C

A
T

IO
N

A
N

D
 O

T
H

E
R

 O
B

S
E

R
V

A
T

IO
N

S
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

 
R

A
T

IN
G

(0
-3

)

P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N
 

R
A

T
IN

G
(0

-3
)

N
A

T
IV

E
 (

N
)

E
N

D
A

N
G

E
R

E
D

 (
E

) 
N

U
R

S
E

R
Y

 G
R

O
W

N
 (

N
G

)

H
E

R
IT

A
G

E
T

R
E

E
(Y

E
S

/N
O

)

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 F
O

R
 

P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N
(Y

E
S

/N
O

)

1
G

el
d

it
si

a 
tr

ia
ca

n
th

o
s 

in
er

m
is

 -
 H

o
n

ey
lo

cu
st

9"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
t 

W
es

t 
en

tr
an

ce
 t

o
 b

ld
g

. -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

0'
 x

 2
0'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
2

G
el

d
it

si
a 

tr
ia

ca
n

th
o

s 
in

er
m

is
 -

 H
o

n
ey

lo
cu

st
9"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
W

es
t 

en
tr

an
ce

 t
o

 b
ld

g
. -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
0'

 x
 2

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

3
C

h
ae

m
ac

yp
ar

is
 o

b
tu

sa
 -

 H
in

o
ki

 C
yp

re
ss

8.
5"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
W

es
t 

b
ld

g
. f

aç
ad

e 
- 

F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 1

0'
2

2
N

G
N

O
N

O
4

C
h

ae
m

ac
yp

ar
is

 o
b

tu
sa

 -
 H

in
o

ki
 C

yp
re

ss
8.

5"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
t 

W
es

t 
b

ld
g

. f
aç

ad
e 

- 
F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

0'
 x

 1
0'

2
2

N
G

N
O

N
O

5
M

al
u

s 
sp

p
. -

 F
lo

w
er

in
g

 C
ra

b
ap

p
le

14
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
W

es
t 

b
ld

g
. f

aç
ad

e 
- 

F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
5'

 x
 2

0'
2

2
N

G
N

O
N

O
6

B
et

u
la

 u
ti

lis
 -

 J
ac

q
u

em
o

n
ti

i B
ir

ch
13

"+
17

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
t 

W
es

t 
b

ld
g

. f
aç

ad
e 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

-S
te

m
 4

5'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

N
O

7
B

et
u

la
 u

ti
lis

 -
 J

ac
q

u
em

o
n

ti
i B

ir
ch

7"
+

12
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
W

es
t 

b
ld

g
. f

aç
ad

e 
- 

G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
-S

te
m

 4
5'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
N

O
8

B
et

u
la

 u
ti

lis
 -

 J
ac

q
u

em
o

n
ti

i B
ir

ch
15

"+
15

"+
13

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
t 

W
es

t 
b

ld
g

. f
aç

ad
e 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

-S
te

m
 4

5'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

N
O

9
M

al
u

s 
sp

p
. -

 F
lo

w
er

in
g

 C
ra

b
ap

p
le

13
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
W

es
t 

b
ld

g
. f

aç
ad

e 
- 

F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
5'

 x
 2

0'
2

2
N

G
N

O
N

O
10

M
al

u
s 

sp
p

. -
 F

lo
w

er
in

g
 C

ra
b

ap
p

le
9"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
W

es
t 

b
ld

g
. f

aç
ad

e 
- 

F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

5'
2

2
N

G
N

O
N

O
11

M
al

u
s 

sp
p

. -
 F

lo
w

er
in

g
 C

ra
b

ap
p

le
10

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
t 

W
es

t 
b

ld
g

. f
aç

ad
e 

- 
F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

5'
 x

 1
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

N
O

12
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
16

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
t 

N
W

 c
o

rn
er

 o
f 

p
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
5'

 x
 2

0'
2

2
N

G
N

O
N

O
13

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

11
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 1

0'
1

1
N

G
N

O
N

O
14

P
yr

u
s 

ca
lle

ry
an

a 
- 

F
lo

w
er

in
g

 P
ea

r
7"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 8

'
1

1
N

G
N

O
N

O
14

A
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
8"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 1

0'
1

1
N

G
N

O
N

O
15

P
yr

u
s 

ca
lle

ry
an

a 
- 

F
lo

w
er

in
g

 P
ea

r
7"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 8

'
1

1
N

G
N

O
N

O
16

P
yr

u
s 

ca
lle

ry
an

a 
- 

F
lo

w
er

in
g

 P
ea

r
4"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 1
5'

 x
 4

'
1

1
N

G
N

O
N

O
17

P
yr

u
s 

ca
lle

ry
an

a 
- 

F
lo

w
er

in
g

 P
ea

r
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
t 

N
W

 c
o

rn
er

 o
f 

p
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 1

8'
2

2
N

G
N

O
N

O
18

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

11
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
5'

 x
 1

2'
1

1
N

G
N

O
N

O
19

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

11
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
5'

 x
 1

2'
1

1
N

G
N

O
N

O
20

P
yr

u
s 

ca
lle

ry
an

a 
- 

F
lo

w
er

in
g

 P
ea

r
5"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 4

'
1

1
N

G
N

O
N

O
21

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

13
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
5'

 x
 2

0'
1

1
N

G
N

O
N

O
22

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

13
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ty

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 5

0'
 x

 2
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

N
O

23
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
13

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
t 

N
W

 c
o

rn
er

 o
f 

p
ro

p
er

ty
 -

 F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 5
0'

 x
 2

5'
2

2
N

G
N

O
N

O
24

S
o

rb
u

s 
au

cu
p

ar
ia

 -
 E

u
ro

p
ea

n
 M

t.
 A

sh
14

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 W
es

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

5'
 x

 1
8'

2
2

N
G

N
O

N
O

25
B

et
u

la
 u

ti
lis

 -
 J

ac
q

u
em

o
n

ti
i B

ir
ch

11
"+

11
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 W

es
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
-S

te
m

 4
5'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

26
M

al
u

s 
sp

p
. -

 F
lo

w
er

in
g

 C
ra

b
ap

p
le

9"
L

o
ca

te
d

 W
es

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 1

5'
 x

 1
2'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
27

B
et

u
la

 u
ti

lis
 -

 J
ac

q
u

em
o

n
ti

i B
ir

ch
10

"+
8"

+
12

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 W
es

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

-S
te

m
 4

5'
 x

 2
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
28

B
et

u
la

 u
ti

lis
 -

 J
ac

q
u

em
o

n
ti

i B
ir

ch
7"

+
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 W
es

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

-S
te

m
 3

0'
 x

 1
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
29

B
et

u
la

 u
ti

lis
 -

 J
ac

q
u

em
o

n
ti

i B
ir

ch
14

"+
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 W
es

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

-S
te

m
 4

0'
 x

 3
0'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
30

M
al

u
s 

sp
p

. -
 F

lo
w

er
in

g
 C

ra
b

ap
p

le
13

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 W
es

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

0'
 x

 1
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
31

M
al

u
s 

sp
p

. -
 F

lo
w

er
in

g
 C

ra
b

ap
p

le
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 W
es

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

0'
 x

 1
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
32

M
al

u
s 

sp
p

. -
 F

lo
w

er
in

g
 C

ra
b

ap
p

le
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 W
es

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

0'
 x

 1
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
33

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

14
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
th

e 
S

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
th

e 
b

ld
g

. f
aç

ad
e 

- 
F

ai
r 

co
n

d
. -

 1
5°

 le
an

 -
 4

0'
 x

 3
0'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
34

B
et

u
la

 u
ti

lis
 -

 J
ac

q
u

em
o

n
ti

i B
ir

ch
13

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
t 

th
e 

S
W

 c
o

rn
er

 o
f 

th
e 

b
ld

g
. f

ac
ad

e 
- 

F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 1

5'
2

2
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

35
S

o
rb

u
s 

au
cu

p
ar

ia
 -

 E
u

ro
p

ea
n

 M
t.

 A
sh

9"
L

o
ca

te
d

 W
es

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

0'
 x

 1
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
36

A
ce

r 
p

la
ta

n
o

id
es

 -
 N

o
rw

ay
 M

ap
le

17
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 W

es
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
0'

 x
 3

0'
2

2
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

37
S

o
rb

u
s 

au
cu

p
ar

ia
 -

 E
u

ro
p

ea
n

 M
t.

 A
sh

11
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

W
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 1

8'
 x

 1
2'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
38

S
o

rb
u

s 
au

cu
p

ar
ia

 -
 E

u
ro

p
ea

n
 M

t.
 A

sh
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
W

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 1
8'

 x
 1

2'
2

2
N

G
N

O
N

O
39

A
ce

r 
g

in
n

al
a 

- 
A

m
u

r 
M

ap
le

2"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 1
0'

 x
 3

'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

40
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
14

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

41
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
13

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

42
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
13

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

43
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
14

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

44
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
17

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
  G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 4

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

45
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
16

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
  G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 4

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

46
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
15

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
  G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 4
0'

 x
 3

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

1



A
p

ri
l 1

7,
 2

01
4

W
ils

o
n

vi
lle

 C
h

ry
sl

er
 T

re
e 

ID
 W

o
rk

sh
ee

t
A

H
C

, I
n

c.

T
R

E
E

 
N

U
M

B
E

R
(K

E
Y

)

T
R

E
E

 T
Y

P
E

(G
E

N
U

S
, S

P
E

C
IE

S
, V

A
R

IE
T

Y
A

N
D

 C
O

M
M

O
N

 N
A

M
E

)

T
R

E
E

S
IZ

E
("

 D
B

H
)

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 H

E
IG

H
T

, S
P

R
E

A
D

, C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
, L

O
C

A
T

IO
N

A
N

D
 O

T
H

E
R

 O
B

S
E

R
V

A
T

IO
N

S
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

 
R

A
T

IN
G

(0
-3

)

P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N
 

R
A

T
IN

G
(0

-3
)

N
A

T
IV

E
 (

N
)

E
N

D
A

N
G

E
R

E
D

 (
E

) 
N

U
R

S
E

R
Y

 G
R

O
W

N
 (

N
G

)

H
E

R
IT

A
G

E
T

R
E

E
(Y

E
S

/N
O

)

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 F
O

R
 

P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N
(Y

E
S

/N
O

)

47
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
17

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
  G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

48
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
20

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
  G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 4

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

49
P

la
ta

n
u

s 
ac

er
if

o
lia

 -
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 P

la
n

et
re

e
21

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. -
  G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 4

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

50
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

22
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
th

e 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
th

e 
b

ld
g

. f
ac

ad
e 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 8

5'
 x

 4
5'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

51
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

22
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
th

e 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
th

e 
b

ld
g

. f
ac

ad
e 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 8

5'
 x

 4
5'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

52
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

22
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

t 
th

e 
N

W
 c

o
rn

er
 o

f 
th

e 
b

ld
g

. f
ac

ad
e 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 8

5'
 x

 4
5'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

53
Q

u
er

cu
s 

ru
b

ra
 -

 R
ed

 O
ak

17
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

s 
a 

st
re

et
 t

re
e 

al
o

n
g

 B
o

o
n

es
 F

er
ry

. G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

. -
 5

5'
 x

 4
0'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
54

Q
u

er
cu

s 
ru

b
ra

 -
 R

ed
 O

ak
18

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 B

o
o

n
es

 F
er

ry
. G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
5'

 x
 4

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

55
Q

u
er

cu
s 

ru
b

ra
 -

 R
ed

 O
ak

24
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

s 
a 

st
re

et
 t

re
e 

al
o

n
g

 B
o

o
n

es
 F

er
ry

. G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

. -
 6

0'
 x

 5
0'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
56

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

13
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 N
o

rt
h

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

0'
 x

 3
0'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
57

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

12
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 N
o

rt
h

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

0°
 le

an
 -

 3
5'

 x
 1

8'
2

2
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

58
Q

u
er

cu
s 

ru
b

ra
 -

 R
ed

 O
ak

21
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

s 
a 

st
re

et
 t

re
e 

al
o

n
g

 B
o

o
n

es
 F

er
ry

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 5
0'

 x
 4

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

59
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 N
o

rt
h

 o
f 

lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

5'
 x

 1
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
60

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

10
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 N

o
rt

h
 o

f 
lo

ad
in

g
 d

o
ck

 a
re

a 
- 

F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

5'
2

2
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

61
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
13

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 N
o

rt
h

 o
f 

lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

5'
 x

 1
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
62

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

11
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 N

o
rt

h
 o

f 
lo

ad
in

g
 d

o
ck

 a
re

a 
- 

F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

5'
2

2
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

63
Q

u
er

cu
s 

ru
b

ra
 -

 R
ed

 O
ak

13
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

s 
a 

st
re

et
 t

re
e 

al
o

n
g

 B
o

o
n

es
 F

er
ry

. G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

. -
 4

0'
 x

 3
0'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
64

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

10
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 N

o
rt

h
 o

f 
lo

ad
in

g
 d

o
ck

 a
re

a 
- 

F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

5'
2

2
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

65
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
10

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 N
o

rt
h

 o
f 

lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

5'
 x

 1
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
66

Q
u

er
cu

s 
ru

b
ra

 -
 R

ed
 O

ak
10

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
s 

a 
st

re
et

 t
re

e 
al

o
n

g
 B

o
o

n
es

 F
er

ry
. G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
. -

 3
0'

 x
 2

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

67
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
9"

L
o

ca
te

d
 N

o
rt

h
 o

f 
lo

ad
in

g
 d

o
ck

 a
re

a 
- 

F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

5'
2

2
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

68
Q

u
er

cu
s 

ru
b

ra
 -

 R
ed

 O
ak

9"
L

o
ca

te
d

 N
o

rt
h

 o
f 

lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

5'
 x

 1
5 '

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
69

Q
u

er
cu

s 
g

ar
ry

an
a 

- 
O

re
g

o
n

 W
h

it
e 

O
ak

30
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

lo
n

g
 B

o
o

n
es

 F
er

ry
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

. -
 8

5'
 x

 5
0 '

3
3

E
N

O
Y

E
S

70
P

ru
n

u
s 

ce
ra

si
fe

ra
 -

 P
u

rp
le

-L
ea

f 
F

lo
w

er
in

g
 P

lu
m

6"
+

1"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
lo

n
g

 B
o

o
n

es
 F

er
ry

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

. -
 2

-S
te

m
 1

5'
 x

 5
'

1
1

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
71

P
se

u
d

o
ts

u
g

a 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 D

o
u

g
la

s 
F

i r
20

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 E
as

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 N

o
 t

o
p

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 6

0'
 x

 3
5'

2
2

N
N

O
Y

E
S

72
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

21
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 E

as
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 N
o

 t
o

p
 -

 F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 6
0'

 x
 3

5'
2

2
N

N
O

Y
E

S
73

C
ra

ta
eg

u
s 

m
o

n
o

g
yn

a 
- 

E
n

g
lis

h
 H

aw
th

o
rn

9"
L

o
ca

te
d

 E
as

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

8'
1

1
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

74
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

34
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 E

as
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 N
o

 t
o

p
/L

ar
g

e 
ca

vi
ty

 -
 P

o
o

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 6
0'

 x
 3

5'
1

1
N

N
O

Y
E

S
75

P
se

u
d

o
ts

u
g

a 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 D

o
u

g
la

s 
F

ir
34

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 E
as

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 N

o
 t

o
p

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 6

0'
 x

 3
5'

2
2

N
N

O
Y

E
S

76
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

34
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 E

as
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 N
o

 t
o

p
 -

 F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 6
0'

 x
 3

5'
2

2
N

N
O

Y
E

S
77

P
se

u
d

o
ts

u
g

a 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 D

o
u

g
la

s 
F

ir
15

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 E
as

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 6

0'
 x

 3
5'

2
2

N
N

O
Y

E
S

78
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

16
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 E

as
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 N
o

 t
o

p
 -

 F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
0'

 x
 2

5'
2

2
N

N
O

Y
E

S
79

P
se

u
d

o
ts

u
g

a 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 D

o
u

g
la

s 
F

ir
18

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 E
as

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

5'
 x

 2
5'

2
2

N
N

O
Y

E
S

80
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

13
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 E

as
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 F
ai

r 
co

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 1

5'
2

2
N

N
O

Y
E

S
81

P
se

u
d

o
ts

u
g

a 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 D

o
u

g
la

s 
F

ir
16

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 E
as

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

0'
 x

 1
5'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

82
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

21
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 E

as
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
83

P
se

u
d

o
ts

u
g

a 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 D

o
u

g
la

s 
F

ir
17

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 E
as

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

5'
 x

 3
0'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

84
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

21
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 E

as
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
85

P
se

u
d

o
ts

u
g

a 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 D

o
u

g
la

s 
F

ir
22

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 E
as

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

5'
 x

 3
0'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

86
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

21
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 E

as
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
87

P
se

u
d

o
ts

u
g

a 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 D

o
u

g
la

s 
F

ir
24

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 E
as

t 
o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

5'
 x

 3
0'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

88
A

ce
r 

g
in

n
al

a 
- 

A
m

u
r 

M
ap

le
4"

L
o

ca
te

d
 E

as
t 

o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 8
' x

 4
'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
89

S
al

ix
 s

co
u

le
ri

an
a 

- 
S

co
u

le
r'

s 
W

ill
o

w
3"

+
4"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 E
as

t 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 m
er

id
ia

n
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
-S

te
m

 1
8'

 x
 1

0'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
90

A
ln

u
s 

ru
b

ra
 -

 R
ed

 A
ld

er
 

5"
L

o
ca

te
d

 in
 E

as
t 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 m

er
id

ia
n

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 1

2'
 x

 7
'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

91
A

ln
u

s 
ru

b
ra

 -
 R

ed
 A

ld
er

 
8"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 E
as

t 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 m
er

id
ia

n
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

5'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
92

Q
u

er
cu

s 
g

ar
ry

an
a 

- 
O

re
g

o
n

 W
h

it
e 

O
ak

4"
L

o
ca

te
d

 in
 E

as
t 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 m

er
id

ia
n

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 8

' x
 2

'
3

3
E

N
O

Y
E

S
93

Q
u

er
cu

s 
g

ar
ry

an
a 

- 
O

re
g

o
n

 W
h

it
e 

O
ak

3"
L

o
ca

te
d

 in
 E

as
t 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 m

er
id

ia
n

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 8

' x
 3

'
3

3
E

N
O

Y
E

S
94

F
ra

xi
n

u
s 

am
er

ic
an

a 
- 

W
h

it
e 

A
sh

4"
L

o
ca

te
d

 in
 E

as
t 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 m

er
id

ia
n

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 1

5'
 x

 8
'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
95

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

16
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

lo
n

g
 E

as
t 

b
ld

g
. f

aç
ad

e 
- 

G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 5
0'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

96
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
16

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
lo

n
g

 E
as

t 
b

ld
g

. f
aç

ad
e 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 5

0'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
97

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

12
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

lo
n

g
 E

as
t 

b
ld

g
. f

aç
ad

e 
- 

G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
0'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

2



A
p

ri
l 1

7,
 2

01
4

W
ils

o
n

vi
lle

 C
h

ry
sl

er
 T

re
e 

ID
 W

o
rk

sh
ee

t
A

H
C

, I
n

c.

T
R

E
E

 
N

U
M

B
E

R
(K

E
Y

)

T
R

E
E

 T
Y

P
E

(G
E

N
U

S
, S

P
E

C
IE

S
, V

A
R

IE
T

Y
A

N
D

 C
O

M
M

O
N

 N
A

M
E

)

T
R

E
E

S
IZ

E
("

 D
B

H
)

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 H

E
IG

H
T

, S
P

R
E

A
D

, C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
, L

O
C

A
T

IO
N

A
N

D
 O

T
H

E
R

 O
B

S
E

R
V

A
T

IO
N

S
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

 
R

A
T

IN
G

(0
-3

)

P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N
 

R
A

T
IN

G
(0

-3
)

N
A

T
IV

E
 (

N
)

E
N

D
A

N
G

E
R

E
D

 (
E

) 
N

U
R

S
E

R
Y

 G
R

O
W

N
 (

N
G

)

H
E

R
IT

A
G

E
T

R
E

E
(Y

E
S

/N
O

)

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 F
O

R
 

P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N
(Y

E
S

/N
O

)

98
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
16

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
lo

n
g

 E
as

t 
b

ld
g

. f
aç

ad
e 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

0'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
99

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

16
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 a

lo
n

g
 E

as
t 

b
ld

g
. f

aç
ad

e 
- 

G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
0'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
N

O
10

0
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
14

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 a
lo

n
g

 E
as

t 
b

ld
g

. f
aç

ad
e 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

0'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

N
O

10
1

T
h

u
ja

 p
lic

at
a 

- 
W

es
te

rn
 R

ed
 C

ed
ar

20
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

E
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

5'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

10
2

T
h

u
ja

 p
lic

at
a 

- 
W

es
te

rn
 R

ed
 C

ed
ar

14
"+

9"
+

12
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

E
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

-S
te

m
 3

0'
 x

 3
0'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

10
3

L
iq

u
id

am
b

er
 s

ty
ra

ci
fl

u
a 

- 
S

w
ee

tg
u

m
9"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

0'
 x

 1
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
10

4
T

h
u

ja
 p

lic
at

a 
- 

W
es

te
rn

 R
ed

 C
ed

ar
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

8'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
10

5
T

h
u

ja
 p

lic
at

a 
- 

W
es

te
rn

 R
ed

 C
ed

ar
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

8'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
10

6
T

h
u

ja
 p

lic
at

a 
- 

W
es

te
rn

 R
ed

 C
ed

ar
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

8'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
10

7
T

h
u

ja
 p

lic
at

a 
- 

W
es

te
rn

 R
ed

 C
ed

ar
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

8'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
10

8
T

h
u

ja
 p

lic
at

a 
- 

W
es

te
rn

 R
ed

 C
ed

ar
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

8'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
10

9
T

h
u

ja
 p

lic
at

a 
- 

W
es

te
rn

 R
ed

 C
ed

ar
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

8'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
11

0
L

iq
u

id
am

b
er

 s
ty

ra
ci

fl
u

a 
- 

S
w

ee
tg

u
m

9"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

2'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

11
1

P
se

u
d

o
ts

u
g

a 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 D

o
u

g
la

s 
F

ir
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
0'

 x
 1

4'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
11

2
P

se
u

d
o

ts
u

g
a 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 D
o

u
g

la
s 

F
ir

11
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 2

0'
 x

 1
4'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

11
3

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

14
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

5'
 x

 4
0'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
11

4
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
15

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
5'

 x
 4

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

11
5

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

2"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 1
0'

 x
 2

'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

11
6

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

6"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 1
2'

 x
 3

'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

11
7

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

28
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 F

ai
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 C

o
ve

re
d

 w
/Iv

y 
- 

35
' x

 3
5'

2
2

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
11

8
S

o
rb

u
s 

au
cu

p
ar

ia
 -

 E
u

ro
p

ea
n

 M
t.

 A
sh

9"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 P
o

o
r 

co
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 D

ea
d

 t
o

p
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

2'
1

1
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

11
9

S
o

rb
u

s 
au

cu
p

ar
ia

 -
 E

u
ro

p
ea

n
 M

t.
 A

sh
11

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 2
5'

 x
 1

2'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

12
0

S
al

ix
 s

co
u

le
ri

an
a 

- 
S

co
u

le
r'

s 
W

ill
o

w
10

"+
9"

+
11

"+
12

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
-S

te
m

 3
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

N
O

Y
E

S
12

1
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
21

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

12
2

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

16
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

0'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
12

3
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
14

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
0'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

12
4

A
rb

u
tu

s 
m

en
ze

is
ei

i -
 P

ac
if

ic
 M

ad
ro

n
e

4"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 8
' x

 3
'

3
3

E
N

O
Y

E
S

12
5

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

2"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 6
' x

 3
'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
12

6
A

rb
u

tu
s 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 P
ac

if
ic

 M
ad

ro
n

e
4"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 8

' x
 3

'
3

3
E

N
O

Y
E

S
12

7
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
21

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
5'

 x
 3

0'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

12
8

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

13
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

5'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
12

9
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
13

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
5'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

13
0

S
al

ix
 s

co
u

le
ri

an
a 

- 
S

co
u

le
r'

s 
W

ill
o

w
12

"+
13

"+
9"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

-S
te

m
 2

5'
 x

 1
2'

3
3

N
N

O
Y

E
S

13
1

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

20
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

0'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
13

2
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
20

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

13
3

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

20
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

0'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
13

4
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
20

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

13
5

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

20
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

0'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
13

6
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
20

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 S
o

u
th

 o
f 

p
ar

ki
n

g
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
0'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

13
7

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

22
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

0'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
13

8
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
8"

L
o

ca
te

d
 S

o
u

th
 o

f 
p

ar
ki

n
g

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 1

2'
 x

 6
'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
13

9
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
15

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 in
 S

o
u

th
 lo

ad
in

g
 d

o
ck

 a
re

a 
- 

G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
5'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

14
0

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

17
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 S
o

u
th

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

5'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
14

1
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
19

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 in
 S

o
u

th
 lo

ad
in

g
 d

o
ck

 a
re

a 
- 

G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
5'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

14
2

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

22
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 S
o

u
th

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 3

5'
 x

 2
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
14

3
A

rb
u

tu
s 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 P
ac

if
ic

 M
ad

ro
n

e
6"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 S
o

u
th

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
2

0°
le

an
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 1
5'

 x
 4

'
3

3
E

N
O

Y
E

S
14

4
A

rb
u

tu
s 

m
en

ze
is

ei
i -

 P
ac

if
ic

 M
ad

ro
n

e
6"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 S
o

u
th

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 1

5'
 x

 5
'

3
3

E
N

O
Y

E
S

14
5

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

19
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 S
o

u
th

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
10
° 
le

an
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 3
5'

 x
 2

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

14
6

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

24
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 S
o

u
th

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 5

0'
 x

 3
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
14

7
P

in
u

s 
n

ig
ra

 -
 A

u
st

ri
an

 P
in

e
19

"
L

o
ca

te
d

 in
 S

o
u

th
 lo

ad
in

g
 d

o
ck

 a
re

a 
- 

G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
0'

 x
 3

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

14
8

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

17
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 S
o

u
th

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
10

° 
le

an
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 4
0'

 x
 3

5'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

14
9

P
in

u
s 

n
ig

ra
 -

 A
u

st
ri

an
 P

in
e

21
"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 S
o

u
th

 lo
ad

in
g

 d
o

ck
 a

re
a 

- 
G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 4

0'
 x

 3
5'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S
N

o 
#

F
ra

xi
n

u
s 

am
er

ic
an

a 
- 

W
h

it
e 

A
sh

1"
L

o
ca

te
d

 in
 S

o
u

th
 p

ar
ki

n
g

 is
la

n
d

 -
 G

o
o

d
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

 -
 N

o
t 

n
u

m
b

er
ed

 -
 8

' x
 2

'
3

3
N

G
N

O
Y

E
S

N
o 

#
F

ra
xi

n
u

s 
am

er
ic

an
a 

- 
W

h
it

e 
A

sh
1"

L
o

ca
te

d
 in

 S
o

u
th

 p
ar

ki
n

g
 is

la
n

d
 -

 G
o

o
d

 c
o

n
d

it
io

n
 -

 N
o

t 
n

u
m

b
er

ed
- 

8'
 x

 2
'

3
3

N
G

N
O

Y
E

S

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

3



A
p

ri
l 1

7,
 2

01
4

W
ils

o
n

vi
lle

 C
h

ry
sl

er
 T

re
e 

ID
 W

o
rk

sh
ee

t
A

H
C

, I
n

c.

T
R

E
E

 
N

U
M

B
E

R
(K

E
Y

)

T
R

E
E

 T
Y

P
E

(G
E

N
U

S
, S

P
E

C
IE

S
, V

A
R

IE
T

Y
A

N
D

 C
O

M
M

O
N

 N
A

M
E

)

T
R

E
E

S
IZ

E
("

 D
B

H
)

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 H

E
IG

H
T

, S
P

R
E

A
D

, C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
, L

O
C

A
T

IO
N

A
N

D
 O

T
H

E
R

 O
B

S
E

R
V

A
T

IO
N

S
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

 
R

A
T

IN
G

(0
-3

)

P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N
 

R
A

T
IN

G
(0

-3
)

N
A

T
IV

E
 (

N
)

E
N

D
A

N
G

E
R

E
D

 (
E

) 
N

U
R

S
E

R
Y

 G
R

O
W

N
 (

N
G

)

H
E

R
IT

A
G

E
T

R
E

E
(Y

E
S

/N
O

)

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 F
O

R
 

P
R

E
S

E
R

V
A

T
IO

N
(Y

E
S

/N
O

)

 
   

   
 

 

 

S
U

B
T

O
T

A
L

S
:

 1
51

 t
o

ta
l t

re
es

 s
u

rv
ey

ed
 (

13
o

f 
th

es
e 

ar
e 

le
ss

 t
h

an
 6

" 
D

B
H

 a
n

d
 2

 a
re

 le
ss

 t
h

an
 2

" 
ca

lip
er

 a
n

d
 n

o
t 

n
u

m
b

er
ed

)
 

 1
25

 t
re

es
 a

re
 s

ch
ed

u
le

d
 f

o
r 

p
re

se
rv

at
io

n
 (

11
 o

f 
th

es
e 

ar
e 

le
ss

 t
h

an
 6

" 
D

B
H

, 
7

ar
e 

en
d

an
g

er
ed

 a
n

d
 f

ed
er

al
ly

 p
ro

te
ct

ed
 s

p
ec

ie
s,

 3
4

ar
e 

n
at

iv
e 

sp
ec

ie
s,

 a
n

d
 7

3 
ar

e 
n

u
rs

er
y-

g
ro

w
n

 s
p

ec
ie

s 
g

re
at

er
 t

h
an

 6
" 

D
B

H
) 

 

10
 t

re
es

 a
re

 s
tr

ee
t 

tr
ee

s 
lo

ca
te

d
 a

lo
n

g
 S

W
 P

kw
y.

 C
tr

. t
h

at
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e 

lim
b

ed
 h

ig
h

er
 f

o
r 

im
p

ro
ve

d
 v

is
io

n
 a

n
d

 t
ra

ff
ic

 c
le

ar
an

ce
 2

6 
tr

ee
s 

ar
e 

sc
h

ed
u

le
d

 f
o

r 
re

m
o

va
l (

2
o

f 
th

es
e 

ar
e 

le
ss

 t
h

an
 6

" 
D

B
H

)

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 A
 

4





Acer Circinatum ‘Pacific Fire’ - 
Vine Maple

Acer rubrum ‘Bowhall’ -
Bowhall Maple

t r e e s 

Cercidiphyllum Japonicum -
 Katsura Tree

WILSONVILLE CHRYSLER 
Landscape Materials 1



Tsuga heterophylla - 
Western Hemlock

t r e e s 
Cercis Canadensis‘Forest Pansy’- 

Eastern Redbud

WILSONVILLE CHRYSLER 
Landscape Materials 2



Abelia x grandiflora ‘Sunrise’ -
Sunrise Abelia

s h r u b s 

Cornus Sericea ‘Kelseyi’ -
Dwarf Redtwig Dogwood

Berberis darwinii -
Darwin Barberry

WILSONVILLE CHRYSLER 
Landscape Materials 3



Ribes sanguineum ‘King Edward VII’ - 
Flowering Red Currant

Myrica californica - 
Pacific Waxmyrtle

s h r u b s 

WILSONVILLE CHRYSLER 
Landscape Materials

Miscanthus sinensis ‘Purpurascens’ - 
Flame Grass

Cotoneaster horizontalis ‘Variegatus’ - 
Rock Cotonesater

4



Ribes sanguineum ‘King Edward VII’ - 
Flowering Red Currant

Prunus laurocerasus ‘Zabelliana’ - 
Zabel Laurel

Rosa ‘Meikrotal’ - 
Scarlett Meidiland Rose

s h r u b s 

WILSONVILLE CHRYSLER 
Landscape Materials 5



g r o u n d c o v e r s

Erica carnea ‘Vivelli’ - 
Vivelli Winter Heath

Hemerocallis ‘Stella d’Oro’ - 
Stella d’Oro Daylily

Lir iope spicata - 
Creeping Lilyturf

WILSONVILLE CHRYSLER 
Landscape Materials 6



Sedum spurium ‘Dragon’s Blood’ - 
Dragon’s Blood Stonecrop

g r o u n d c o v e r s

Sedum x ‘Autumn Joy’ - 
Autumn Joy Stonecrop

WILSONVILLE CHRYSLER 
Landscape Materials

Rubus Pentalobus - 
Taiwan Bramble

7



GE
Lighting

Scalable Area Light (EASA)

Evolve™ LED Area Light

imagination at work



The next evolution of the GE Evolve™ LED Area Light continues to deliver outstanding features, while adding greater 
flexibility, style and scalability. This latest design offers higher lumen outputs and provides even more photometric 
combinations in two ANSI color temperatures, providing the ability to meet even a wider range of area lighting needs.

Using reflective optic technology, GE offers superior vertical illuminance and uniformity, while minimizing glare as fixture 
lumens increase. This system delivers unusually low perceived glare when viewed from beneath the fixture near nadir.  
The Evolve™ LED Scalable Area Light provides reduced energy consumption, combined with a long rated life that virtually 
eliminates ongoing maintenance expenses, enabling significant operating cost benefits over the life of each fixture.

Product Features

Applications
 
•  Site, area, and general lighting applications   
 utilizing advanced LED optical system providing  
 high uniformity, excellent vertical light distribution,  
 reduced offsite visibility, reduced on-site glare and  
 effective security light levels.
•  Design makes this product ideal for small to large  
 retailers, commercial to medical properties, and big  
 box retailers.

Housing 

• Die-cast aluminum housing.
•  Slim architectural design incorporates a heat
    sink light engine directly into the unit ensuring
    maximum heat transfer, long LED life, and a reduced
    Effective Projected Area (EPA).
•  Meets 2G vibration standards per ANSI C136.31-2010. 
 For 3G rating contact manufacturer.

LED & Optical Assembly 

• Structured LED arrays for optimized area light
    photometric distribution.
•  Evolve light engine with directional reflectors designed  
 to optimize application efficiency and minimize glare.
•  Utilizes high brightness LEDs, 70 CRI at 4000K  
 and 5700K typical.
•  LM-79 tests and reports are performed in  
 accordance with IESNA standards.
 

Lumen Maintenance 

• System rating is L85 at 50,000 hours. Contact   
 manufacturer for Lxx rating (Lumen Depreciation)
 beyond 50,000 hours.

 For Lumen Maintenance and TM-21 L70 Projections,  
 see table published in OLP-3053.

Ratings 

•   listed, suitable for wet locations.
•  IP65 rated optical enclosure per ANSI C136.25-2009.
•  Temperature rated at –40° to 50°C (–40° to 35°C for  
 433W fixtures).
•  Upward Light Output Ratio (ULOR) = 0.
•  Compliant with the material restriction  
 requirements of RoHS. 

Mounting

Option A 
•  10-inch (254mm) mounting arm for square pole   
 prewired with 24-inch (610mm) leads.

Option B 
•  10-inch (254mm) mounting arm for round pole 
    prewired with 24-inch (610mm) leads.

Option C 
• Slipfitter mounting for 2 3/8-inch (60mm) O.D. pipe  
 prewired with 24-inch (610mm) leads.

Finish 

• Corrosion resistant polyester powder painted, 
 minimum 2.0 mil. thickness. 
• Standard colors: Black & Dark Bronze. 
• RAL & custom colors available. 

Electrical 

• 120-277 volt and 347-480 volt available.
•  System power factor is >90% and THD <20%.*
•  Class “A” sound rating.
•  Photo electric sensors (PE) available for all voltages.
•  GE dimmable PE socket is available for all fixtures,  
 making the unit “adaptive controls ready.”
•  Integral surge protection:
  – For 120-277 VAC and 347-480 VAC per  
   IEEE/ANSI C62.41.2-2002, 6kV/3kA Location   
   Category C-Low (120 Events)
 
 * System power factor and THD is tested and specified at  
   120V input and maximum load conditions.

Warranty

• 5-year limited system warranty standard.

 /



E  A   S   A                                                                   _  _  _  _   -     _    -   _  _  -       _          -      _        -     _ _     -        _            -            _           -    _  _  _  _    -        _ _

Ordering Number Logic
Evolve™ LED Scalable Area Light (EASA)

PROD. ID VOLTAGE OPTICAL
CODE 

0 = 120 - 277
1 = 120*
2 = 208*
3 = 240*
4 = 277*
5 = 480*
D = 347*
H = 347-480

* Specify single 
 voltage if fuse 
 option is selected.

OPTIONSCOLORPE FUNCTION MOUNTING 
ARM

D2 = Dimmable 
  (0-10 Volt Input)
F = Fusing 
T = Extra Surge  
  Protection*
XXX  =  Special Options

*  Contact manufacturer  
 for T option availability

BLCK = Black
DKBZ = Dark Bronze

Contact manufacturer  
for other colors

1 = None
2 = PE Rec.
4 = PE Rec. with  
  Shorting Cap
5 = PE Rec. with   
  Control #
7 =  Dimming PE  
  Receptacle *†
  (UL only)
9 =  Dimming PE  
  Receptacle  
  with Shorting  
  Cap *† 
  (UL only)

#  PE control not  
 available for  
 347-480V. Must be  
 a discrete voltage  
 (347V or 480V).

†  When ordering PE  
 function socket 7 or 9,  
 a dimming driver must  
 also be ordered under  
 the “OPTIONS” column

*  Order dimming control  
 PE as a separate item

A = 10” Arm for Square Pole  
  supplied with leads
B  =  10” Arm for Round Pole 
  supplied with leads
C =  EXT Slip-fitter 2” Pipe 
  (2.378 in. OD) supplied 
  with leads

LED COLOR  
TEMP

40 = 4000K
57 = 5700K

DRIVE
CURRENT

5 = 525MA
 (<433W only)
7 = 700MA
 (433W only)

E = Evolve

A = Area

S = Scalable

A = Photometric
  Series A

DISTRIBUTION
ORIENTATION

F = Front
L = Left
R = Right
N = Not 
 Applicable

D5 Symmetric Medium  9,400   10,200  120 120 N  3 0 2 3 0 2 455198 455129
E5 Symmetric Medium  12,400   13,400  162 162 N 4 0 2  4 0 2  455197 455128
F5 Symmetric Medium  15,300   16,500  199 199 N 4 0 2 4 0 2 455196 455127
G5 Symmetric Medium  18,100   19,600  236 236 N 4 0 2 4 0 2 455195 455126
H5 Symmetric Medium  21,800   23,600  285 285 N 5 0 3 5 0 3 455194 455163
J5 Symmetric Medium 30,300 31,800  433 433 N 5 0 3 5 0 3 456214 456215
N5 Symmetric Short 10,200   11,000  120 120 N 3 0 1 3 0 1  455211 455142
P5 Symmetric Short  13,300   14,400  162 162 N 3 0 2 3 0 2  455210 455141
Q5 Symmetric Short  16,500   17,800  199 199 N 4 0 2 4 0 2  455209 455140
R5 Symmetric Short  19,500   21,100  236 236 N 4 0 2 4 0 2  455208 455139
S5 Symmetric Short  23,600   25,500  285 285 N 4 0 2 4 0 2  455207 455138
T5 Symmetric Short 32,600   35,300 433 433 N 5 0 2 5 0 2 456216 456217
A4 Asymmetric Forward  4,800   5,200  62 67 F, L, R 1 0 2 1 0 2  455206 455137
B4 Asymmetric Forward  6,300   6,800  82 82 F, L, R 1 0 2 1 0 2  455205 455136
C4 Asymmetric Forward  7,800   8,400  101 101 F, L, R 1 0 2  1 0 2  455204 455135
D4 Asymmetric Forward  9,300   10,000  120 120 F, L, R 2 0 2 2 0 2  455203 455134
E4 Asymmetric Forward  11,200   12,100  145 145 F, L, R 2 0 2  2 0 3 455202 455133
F4 Asymmetric Forward  15,300   16,500  199 199 F, L, R 2 0 3  2 0 3  455201 455132
G4 Asymmetric Forward  18,100   19,600  236 236 F, L, R 3 0 4 3 0 4  455200 455131
H4 Asymmetric Forward  21,800   23,600  285 285 F, L, R 3 0 4  3 0 4  455232 455130
J4 Asymmetric Forward 30,300  32,800 433 433 F, L, R 3 0 5 3 0 5 456218 456219
A3 Asymmetric Wide  5,100   5,500  62 67 F, L, R 1 0 1 1 0 1 455219 455150
B3 Asymmetric Wide  6,800   7,300  82 82 F, L, R 1 0 1 1 0 1 455218 455149
C3 Asymmetric Wide  8,300  9,000  101 101 F, L, R 2 0 2 2 0 2 455217 455148
D3 Asymmetric Wide  9,900   10,700  120 120 F, L, R 2 0 2 2 0 2 455216 455147
E3 Asymmetric Wide  11,900   12,900  145 145 F, L, R 2 0 2 2 0 2 455215 455146
F3 Asymmetric Wide  16,500   17,800  199 199 F, L, R 2 0 2 2 0 2 455214 455145
G3 Asymmetric Wide  19,500   21,100  236 236 F, L, R 2 0 2 3 0 3 455213 455144
H3 Asymmetric Wide  23,600   25,500  285 285 F, L, R 3 0 3 3 0 3 455212 455143
J3 Asymmetric Wide 32,600  35,300 433 433 F, L, R 3 0 4 3 0 4 456220 456221
A2 Asymmetric Narrow  5,100   5,500  62 67 F, L, R 1 0 1 1 0 1 455227 455158
B2 Asymmetric Narrow  6,700   7,200  82 82 F, L, R 2 0 2 2 0 2 455226 455157
C2 Asymmetric Narrow  8,200   8,900  101 101 F, L, R 2 0 2 2 0 2 455225 455156
D2 Asymmetric Narrow  9,700   10,500  120 120 F, L, R 2 0 2 2 0 2  455224 455155
E2 Asymmetric Narrow  11,700   12,700  145 145 F, L, R 2 0 2 2 0 2  455223 455154
F2 Asymmetric Narrow  16,100   17,400  199 199 F, L, R 3 0 3 3 0 3  455222 455153
G2 Asymmetric Narrow  19,100   20,600  236 236 F, L, R 3 0 3 3 0 3  455221 455152
H2 Asymmetric Narrow  22,900   24,800  285 285 F, L, R 3 0 3 3 0 3  455220 455151
J2 Asymmetric Narrow 32,400  35,100  433 433 F, L, R 3 0 4 3 0 4 456222 456223

OPTICAL 
CODE 

Ty
PE

 V
Ty

PE
 IV

Ty
PE

 II
I

Ty
PE

 II

TyPE
4000K 120-277V

TyPICAL INITIAL 
LUMENS

5700K
4000K 5700K

BUG RATINGS*

347-480V B U G B U G

TyPICAL SySTEM 
WATTAGE

DISTRIBUTION 
ORIENTATION 

AVAILABLE

Light pattern thrown in direction  
specified in relation to Pole and Fixture.

Not Applicable 
(N)

Pole

Right (R)

Pole

Left (L)

Pole

Front (F)

Pole

4000K 5700K

IES FILE NUMBER

*Rating values for B and G are based on rated lumens and may vary due to flux tolerances.

michaell
Rectangle



Photometrics

Grid Distance in Units of 
Mounting Height at 40’ Initial  
Footcandle Values at Grade

Vertical plane through horizontal angle  
of maximum candlepower at 60°

 Vertical plane through horizontal angle of 60°

Grid Distance in Units  
of Mounting Height at 40’ Initial  

Footcandle Values at Grade

Vertical plane through horizontal angle  
of maximum candlepower at 50°

 Vertical plane through horizontal angle of 71°

EASA Type V - Symmetric Medium (J5)
31,800 Lumens, 5700K (GE456215.ies)

EASA Type II - Asymmetric Narrow (J2)
35,100 Lumens, 5700K (GE456223.ies)

3131

6261

9392

12523

1
2.1 .2 .5

5676

11351

17027

22703

1

2

Grid Distance in Units of 
Mounting Height at 40’ Initial  
Footcandle Values at Grade

EASA Type IV - Asymmetric Forward (J4)
32,800 Lumens, 5700K (GE456219.ies)

Vertical plane through horizontal angle  
of maximum candlepower at 40°

 Vertical plane through horizontal angle of 70°

5973

11946

17919

23893

1
2

.1
.2

.5

Grid Distance in Units of 
Mounting Height at 30’ Initial  
Footcandle Values at Grade

EASA Type III - Asymmetric Wide (J3)
35,300 Lumens, 5700K (GE456221.ies)

Vertical plane through horizontal angle  
of maximum candlepower at 20°

 Vertical plane through horizontal angle of 50°

6187

12374

18561

24748

1 2

.1.2.5

.1
.2

.5

Grid Distance in Units of 
Mounting Height at 40’ Initial  
Footcandle Values at Grade

EASA Type V - Symmetric Short (T5)
35,300 Lumens, 5700K (GE456217.ies)

Vertical plane through horizontal angle  
of maximum candlepower at 25°

 Vertical plane through horizontal angle of 52°

3263

6527

9790

13054

1 2

.1

.2

.5

Grid Distance in Units of 
Mounting Height at 30’ Initial  
Footcandle Values at Grade

Grid Distance in Units of 
Mounting Height at 30’ Initial  
Footcandle Values at Grade

Grid Distance in Units of 
Mounting Height at 30’ Initial  
Footcandle Values at Grade

Vertical plane through horizontal angle  
of maximum candlepower at 45°

 Vertical plane through horizontal angle of 72°

Vertical plane through horizontal angle  
of maximum candlepower at 20°

 Vertical plane through horizontal angle of 52°

Vertical plane through horizontal angle  
of maximum candlepower at 65°

 Vertical plane through horizontal angle of 62°

2395

4790

7186

9581

1

2

.1.2

.5

2235

4469

6704

8938

1

2

.1.2
.5

1788

3576

5364

7152

1

2

.1
.2
.5

EASA Type IV - Asymmetric Forward (E4)
12,100 Lumens, 5700K (GE455133.ies)

EASA Type III - Asymmetric Wide (E3)
12,900 Lumens, 5700K (GE455146.ies)

EASA Type II - Asymmetric Narrow (E2)
12,700 Lumens, 5700K (GE455154.ies)



Product Dimensions 

10” Arm For Square Pole Mount (Option A)

•  Approximate net weight: 43-47 lbs (19.50 - 21.32 kgs) 
 Contact manufacturer for specific configuration weight. 

•  Effective Projected Area (EPA) with 10” Mounting Arm: 0.97 sq ft max (0.09 sq m)D
A

TA

34.5 in.
[872 mm]

SQUARE POLE ADAPTOR
FITS ROUND POLE ONLY
3.5 in. - 4.5 in. OD POLE

(89 mm OD - 115 mm OD)

16.0 in.
[406 mm]

16.9 in.
[430 mm]

10.9 in.
[277 mm]

8.5 in.
[217 mm]

4.4 in.
[111 mm] 2.5 in.

[63 mm]

4.7 in.
[119 mm]

R8.680 in.
[R220 mm]

0.438 in. DIA.
[11 mm DIA.]

1.312 in.
[33 mm]

2 in.
[51 mm]

1.711 in.
[43 mm] 4.392 in.

[112 mm]

TOP VIEW

FRONT VIEWSIDE VIEWBACK VIEW



 |   1   |

TN – Teneo™  

ARCHITECTURAL AREA LIGHTING
16555 East Gale Ave.  |  City of Industry  |  CA 91745
P 626.968.5666  |  F 626.369.2695  |  www.aal.net   
Copyright © 2012  |  REV 6.12 

TYPE

•	 Clean,	contemporary	styling	that	stands	the	test	of	time	

•	 Ideal	for	way	finding	or	general	illumination

•	 Angled	lens	transition	available

•	 Wall	mount	version	available

•	 Base	made	of	cast	aluminum	for	corrosion	resistance	

•	 Acrylic	lens	will	not	yellow	over	time

•	 Features	energy	efficient	fluorescent	sources

•	 Available	in	two	and	four	lamp	arrangements

•	 Powder	coat	finish	in	13	standard	colors	with	a	 
	 polymer	primer	sealer

1. LuminairE 2. LamP/BaLLasT 3. LamP arrangEmEnT 4. CoLor 5. oPTions

1.  lumiNaire    
sTraighT aCrYLiC whiTE LEns 
 TN8 (8')  TN10 (10') 
 TN12 (12')  TN14 (14')

sTraighT PoLYCarBonaTE whiTE LEns 
 TN8-P (8')  TN10-P (10') 
 TN12-P (12')  TN14-P (14')

waLL mounT wiTh sTraighT aCrYLiC whiTE 
LEns 
 TN	WM	(Height determined by lamp selection)

waLL mounT wiTh sTraighT PoLYCarBonaTE 
whiTE LEns 
 TN	WM-P	(Height determined by lamp selection)

 
     

2.  lamp/ballasT

fLuorEsCEnT  (120 thru 277 volt ballast)

T8 fluorescent  
 T8-32 (32 watts, 46" lens)  

T5 fluorescent  
 T5-28 (28 watts, 46" lens)        
 T5-21 (21 watts, 34" lens)   T5-14 (32 watts, 22" lens)   

3. lamp arraNGemeNT

 2X (2 lamps at 180 degrees) 
 4X (4 lamps at 90 degrees)

4.  COlOr
 AWT	(Arctic White) 
 BLK	(Black) 
 MTB	(Matte Black) 
 DGN (Dark Green) 
 DBZ	(Dark Bronze) 
 WRZ	(Wheathered Bronse) 
 BRM	(Metallic Bronze) 
 VBL	(Verde Blue) 

 CRT (Corten) 
 MAL	(Matte Aluminum) 
 MDG	(Medium Grey) 
 ATG (Antique Green) 
 LGY (Light Grey) 
 RAL/PREMIUM	 
 COLOR (Provide RAL)  
 CUSTOM	COLOR			 
       (Provide color chip for matching) 

speCifiCaTiONs 

housing 
Teneo	top,	intermediate	and	base	shall	be	cast	
aluminum.	All	cast	aluminum	components	shall	be	
certified	as	pure	#356	alloy,	free	of	any	porosity,	
foreign	materials,	or	cosmetic	fillers.		Teneo	body	
shall	be	made	from	¼"	thick,	5"	O.D.	thick	extruded	
aluminum.		All	extruded	aluminum	components	
shall	be	alloy	6061-T6,	6063-T5	or	equal.		The	cap	
shall	be	removable	without	tools	and	shall	provide	
easy	access	to	the	optical	chamber.	The	lens	shall	
be	one-piece	acrylic	or	polycarbonate	cylinder

ELECTriCaL 
The	electrical	assembly	shall	be	comprised	of	a	
high	power	factor	electronic	fluorescent	ballast	
designed	to	run	up	to	four	lamps.	Twist-lock	rotary	
locking	sockets	are	utilized,	however,	spring	
(plunger)	style	sockets	are	available	for	high-
vibration	application	(consult	factory).	Ballasts	are	
wired	at	the	factory	for	277	volts,	unless	specified

mounTing 
Ground	Mount	-	Teneo	shall	use	5/8"	x	24"	x	3"	
anchor	bolts,	double	hex	nuts	and	flat	washers	
hot	dipped	galvanized	steel.	A	bolt	circle	template	
shall	be	provided.

Wall	Mount	-	The	wall	plate	features	four	11/32"	
holes	for	5/16"	bolts.	Mounting	hardware	not	
included.

finish 
Fixture	finish	shall	consist	of	a	five	stage	
pretreatment	regimen	with	a	polymer	primer	
sealer,	oven	dry	off,	and	top	coated	with	a	
thermoset	super	TGIC	polyester	powder	coat	
finish.	The	finish	shall	meet	the	AAMA	605.2	
performance	specification	which	includes	
passing	a	3000	hour	salt	spray	test	for	corrosion	
resistance.

5. OpTiONs

 ANG (Angled lens) 
 PHC (Button-type photo cell)

See next page

JoB

TYPE

noTEs

TN

distributed



 |   2   |

TN – Teneo™  

ARCHITECTURAL AREA LIGHTING
16555 East Gale Ave.  |  City of Industry  |  CA 91745
P 626.968.5666  |  F 626.369.2695  |  www.aal.net   
Copyright © 2012  |  REV 6.12 

TYPE

CErTifiCaTion 
The	fixture	is	listed	with	ETL	for	outdoor,	wet	location	use.	
Conforms	to	UL1598	and	Canadian	CSA	Std.,	C22.2	no.9.	

warranTY 
Fixture	is	warranted	for	three	years.	Ballast	components	
carry	the	ballast	manufacturer’s	limited	warranty.	Any	
unauthorized	return,	repair,	replacement	or	modification	
of	the	Product(s)	shall	void	this	warranty.	This	warranty	
applies	only	to	the	use	of	the	Product(s)	as	intended	by	
AAL	and	does	not	cover	any	misapplication	or	misuse	of	
said	Product(s),	or	installation	in	hazardous	or	corrosive	
environments.	Contact	AAL	for	complete	warranty	
language,	exceptions,	and	limitations.

AAL reserves the right to change product specifications without notice.

TN T8     WATTAGE:	104	 LUMEN	OUTPUT:	8253	 EFFICACy:	28.8

10' mounting height

uplight 49.5%
Downlight 50.5%

B2 u5 g2 
FORWARD	LIGhT	 					LUMEN
 FL 30o 1.1%  128
  FM 60o 7.4% 888
 FH 80o 6.4%  764
    FVH 90o 2.5% 304 
BACK	LIGhT	
	 BL 30o 1.1%  128
  BM 60o 7.4% 888
 Bh 80o 6.4%  764
    BVh 90o 2.5% 304 
UPLIGHT 
 UL 100o 5.7%  688
  UH 180o 28.3% 3396 

IES files can be found at www.aal.net

DimeNsiONs

10'

9'

8'

7'

6'

5'

4'

3'

2'

1'

  TN         ANG option 		Wall	mount

20"

25.5"	(T514)
35.0"	(T521)
48.375"	(T832/T528)

Isoilluminance Diagram

CATALOG NUMBER:  505-12-4T8

FILENAME: 505-4T8.IES

0.01
0.02

0.05

0.1

0.2

0.5
1.

2.

Mounting Height =  10 '.  Each box is one mounting height.

Mounting
   Height         Multiplier
   -----------       --------------
      10              1.000
      15              0.444
      20              0.250
      25              0.160
      30              0.111
      35              0.082
      40              0.063
      45              0.049
      50              0.040

Reported data calculated from manufacturer's data file, based on IESNA recommended methods.

Photometric Viewer v3.4

10.625"/266mm



TENANT “A” AREAS & OCCUPANCIES

USE AREA OCCUPANCY TYPE
OCCUPANCY LOAD 

FACTOR - TABLE  
1004.1.1

OCCUPANCY 
COUNT

Warehouses + Shop Accessory Use + 
Reception Lanes 66,162 S-1 500 132

Office - 1st Level 4,573 B 100 46

Office - 2nd Level 6,281 B 100 63

Office - Shop Advisors in Warehouse 614 B 100 6

Shop Lounge 1,942 B 100 19

Retail Showroom 3,483 B 100 35

Repair Shop + Fleet Shop + Detail 20,538 S-1 500 41

TOTAL TENANT “A” BUILDING AREA 
(“Building Area” does not include 

Mezzanines in compliance with Section 
505 - The Mezzanine is 4,572 sf) 

103,593 342

TENANT “B” AREAS & OCCUPANCIES
Warehouse 58,369 S-1 500 117

Office 17,349 B 100 173

TOTAL TENANT “B” BUILDING AREA 75,718 290

TOTAL AREAS & OCCUPANCIES

WHOLE BUILDING TOTALS 179,311 633

ORIGINAL 1998 OCCUPANCIES - 89PC8

USE AREA OCCUPANCY TYPE
OCCUPANCY LOAD 

FACTOR - TABLE  
1004.1.1

OCCUPANCY 
COUNT

Warehouses 145,666 S-1 500 291

Office 11,613 B 100 116

Retail 22,032 M 30 734

TOTAL FOR ORIGINAL1998 PROJECT 179,311 1,142

�1



ANALYSIS ITEMS PROJECT COMPLIANCE

1 CODE YEAR / TYPE

2010 Oregon Structural Specialty Code 
2010 Oregon Mechanical Code      
2010 Oregon Fire Code                   
2011 Oregon Plumbing Code      
Oregon Energy Specialty Code

2010 American w/ Disabilities Act (ADA) 
2009 ANSI 117.1 Accessibility Standard

2 OCCUPANCY 
CLASSIFICATION

GROUP ‘B’ -  OFFICE + RETAIL SHOWROOM + SHOP LOUNGE + SHOP 
ADVISORS

GROUP “S2” - STAGING + REPAIR SHOP + SHOP ACCESSORY USES + 
RECEPTION LANES + PARTS WAREHOUSE + PRODUCT WAREHOUSE

3 TYPE OF CONSTRUCTION TYPE III-B

4 FIRE SPRINKLERS YES - EXISTING TO BE MODIFIED AS REQUIRED BY A LICENSED FIRE 
SPRINKLER SUBCONTRACTOR

5 FIRE ALARM YES - EXISTING TO BE MODIFIED AS REQUIRED BY A LICENSED FIRE 
ALARM SUBCONTRACTOR

6 BUILDING HEIGHT
ALLOWABLE 55’-0”

ACTUAL 37’-4” (ORIGINAL WITH NO CHANGE)

7 STORIES / BUILDING 
LEVELS

ALLOWABLE TWO LEVELS (LIMITED BY THE S-1 OCCUPANCY)

ACTUAL TWO LEVELS (ORIGINAL WITH NO CHANGE)

8 BUILDING AREA

ALLOWABLE 
BY TABLE 503

B’ OCCUPANCY = 19,000sf

S-1 OCCUPANCY = 17,500sf

UNLIMITED AREA - PROJECT MEETS REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 507.4 
FOR “UNLIMITED AREA BUILDINGS”

ACTUAL
OFFICE = 5,932sf

WAREHOUSE = 14,700sf

9 OCCUPANCY LOAD 633 TOTAL - SEE AREA TABULATION

10
FIRE RESISTANCE RATING 
REQUIREMENTS FOR 
BUILDING ELEMENTS

Primary Structural Frame 0 Hours

Bearing Walls Exterior 2 Hours

Bearing Walls Interior 0 Hours

Non-Bearing Walls Exterior 0 Hours

Non-Bearing Walls Interior 0 Hours

Floor Const & Secondary Members 0 Hours

Roof Const & Secondary Members 0 Hours

11

REQUIRED FIRE 
RESISTANCE OF EXTERIOR 
WALLS DUE TO LOCATION 
ON PROPERTY

Side of Building Separation Fire-Resistance Rating

NORTH 100’-8” 0 HOURS

SOUTH 143’-4” 0 HOURS

EAST 134’-4” 0 HOURS

WEST 94’-8” 0 HOURS

12

PROTECTION OF 
OPENINGS DUE TO 
LOCATION ON PROPERTY 
AND MAXIMUM AREA OF 
EXTERIOR 

Side of Building Separation Protection Allowable Area

NORTH 100’-8” UP, NS No Limit

SOUTH 143’-4” UP, S 45%

EAST 134’-4” UP, NS No Limit

WEST 94’-8” - NOT PERMITTED

13
SPACES REQUIRING FIRE-
RESISTANCE-RATED 
SEPARATION

None

14
NON-SEPARATED OR 
SEPARATED USES WITH 
REQUIRED CALCULATIONS

None





swhite
Stamp







Applicant/Project: Wilsonville Chrysler Parkway Center Drive

Pre-Application File Number:

Location (Map/TL/Address):

Type of Application:

Date of Pre-Application

X Applicable Criteria Likely Requiring Narrative Response or Submission Material (Checked)

4.000 Administration – Purpose and Title

4.001 Definitions

4.002 Scope, Interpretation and Compliance

4.003 Consistency with Plan and Laws

4.004 Development Permit Required

4.005 Exclusions from Development Requirement

4.006 Use of a Development

4.007 Lawfully Existing Development

4.008 Application Procedures – In General

4.009 Who May Initiate Applications

4.010 How to Apply

4.011 How Applications are Processed

4.012 Public Hearing Notices

4.013 Hearing Procedures

X 4.014 Burden of Proof

4.015 Findings and Conditions

4.016 Notification of Action on Applications

4.017 Withdrawal of Application

4.018 Participation by Interested Officers or Employees

4.019 Hearing Body – Conflicts of Interest

4.020 Ex Parte Contacts

4.021 Record of Proceedings

SITE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT
PRE-APPLICATION CHECKLIST

Administration - Sections 4.000 – 4.035

N:\planning\Dan Pauly\Pre App Checklist 1 of 8



4.022 Appeal and Call-Up Procedures

4.023 Expiration of Development Approvals  (See Also Section 4.140)

4.024 Prohibition of Resubmittal after Application Denial

4.025 Enforcement and Administration

4.026 Enforcement Procedures and Penalties

4.027 Saving Clause (Severability)

4.028 Fees

4.029 Zoning to be Consistent with Comprehensive Plan

4.030 Jurisdiction and Powers of Planning Director & Community Development Director

4.031 Authority of the Development Review Board

4.032 Authority of the Planning Commission

4.033 Authority of the City Council

4.034 Application Requirements

X 4.035 Site Development Permits

4.100. Zoning – Purpose 

4.101 Zoning – Interpretation 

4.102 Zoning – Official Zoning Map 

4.110. Zoning – Zones 

4.111 Zoning – Zone Boundary Lines 

4.113 Standards Applying to Residential Developments in Any Zone 

4.115 Standards Applying to Manufactured Housing in All Zones Where Manufactured 
Housing is Permitted 

X 4.116 Standards Applying to Commercial Development in Any Zone 

X 4.117 Standards Applying to Industrial Developments in any Zone 

X 4.118 Standards Applying to All Planned Development Zones 

4.120. Zones.  RA-H Residential Agricultural – Holding Zone 

4.122 Residential Zone 

4.124 Standards Applying to All Planned Development Residential Zones

4.124.1 PDR-1 

4.124.2 PDR-2 

4.124.3 PDR-3 

4.124.4 PDR-4 

4.124.5 PDR-5 

4.124.6 PDR-6 

Zoning - Sections 4.100 – 4.141

N:\planning\Dan Pauly\Pre App Checklist 2 of 8



4.124.7 PDR-7 

4.125 V –Village Zone 

4.131 PDC – Planned Development Commercial Zone .

4.131.05 PDC – TC (Town Center Commercial) Zone 

4.133.00 Wilsonville Road Interchange Area Management Plan (IAMP) Overlay Zone

4.133.01 Purpose

4.133.02 Where These Regulations Apply

4.133.03 Permitted Land Uses

4.133.04 Access Management

4.133.05. Administration

4.133.06 Comprehensive Plan And Zoning Map Amendments

4.134 Day Road Design Overlay District 

X 4.135 PDI – Planned Development Industrial Zone 

4.135.5 Planned Development Industrial – Regionally Significant Industrial Area 

4.136 PF – Public Facility Zone 

4.136.5 PF-C – Public Facility – Corrections Zone 

4.137 Solar Access for new Residential Development 

4.137.2 Solar Balance Point Standards 

4.137.3 Solar Access Permit Standards 

4.137.5 Screening and Buffering (SB) Overlay Zone 

4.138 Old Town (O)Overlay Zone 

4.139.00 Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) 

4.139.01 SROZ - Purpose 

4.139.02 Where These Regulations Apply 

4.139.03 Administration 

4.139.04 Uses and Activities Exempt From These Regulations 

4.139.05 Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map Verification

4.139.06 Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) and Review Criteria .

4.139.07 Mitigation Standards 

4.139.08 Activities Requiring a Class I Administrative Review Process 

4.139.09 Activities Requiring a Class II Administrative Review Process .

4.139.10 Development Review Board (DRB) Process 

4.139.11 Special Provisions 

X 4.140. Planned Development Regulations 

X 4.141 Special Regulations – Changes of Use 

N:\planning\Dan Pauly\Pre App Checklist 3 of 8



General Development Regulations - Sections 4.154 – 4.198

X 4.154 Bicycle, Pedestrian and Transit Facilities 

X 4.155 General Regulations – Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking 

Sign Regulations 

4.156.01 Sign Regulations Purpose and Objectives

X 4.156.02 Sign Review Processes and General Requirements

X 4.156.03 Sign Measurement

4.156.04 Non-Conforming Signs

X 4.156.05 Signs Exempt from Sign Permit Requirements

X 4.156.06 Prohibited Signs

4.156.07 Sign Regulations in Residential Zones

X 4.156.08 Sign Regulations in the PDC, PDI, and PF Zones

4.156.09 Temporary Signs in All Zones

4.156.10 Signs on City and ODOT Right-of-Way

4.156.11 Sign Enforcement

4.162 General Regulations – Livestock and Farm Animals 

4.163 General Regulations – Temporary Structures and Uses 

4.164 General Regulations – Uses Not Listed 

4.166 General Regulations – Unsafe Buildings 

X 4.167 General Regulations – Access, Ingress, and Egress 

4.169 General Regulations – Double-Frontage Lots 

X 4.171 General Regulations – Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources

4.172 Flood Plain Regulations 

X 4.175 Public Safety and Crime Prevention 

X 4.176 Landscaping, Screening and Buffering 

X 4.177 Street Improvement Standards (Including internal drives)

X 4.178 Sidewalk and Pathway Standards 

X 4.179 Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage in New Multi-Unit Residential
 and Non-Residential Buildings 

4.180. Exceptions and Modifications – Projections into Required Yards 

4.181 Exceptions & Modifications- Height Limits 

4.182 Exceptions and Modifications – Setback Modifications 

4.184 Conditional User Permits –Authorization 

4.189 Non-Conforming Uses 

4.190. Non-Conforming Structures 

N:\planning\Dan Pauly\Pre App Checklist 4 of 8



4.191 Non-Conforming Site Conditions 

4.192 Non-Conforming Lots 

4.196 Variances 

4.197 Zone Changes and Amendments to this Code – Procedures 

4.198 Comprehensive Plan Changes – Adoption by the City Council 

X 4.199 Outdoor Lighting 

X 4.199.10 Outdoor Lighting in General 

X 4.199.20 Applicability 

X 4.199.30 Lighting Overlay Zones 

X 4.199.40 Lighting Systems Standards for Approval 

X 4.199.50 Submittal Requirements 

X 4.199.60 Major Additions or Modifications 

Land Divisions - Sections 4.200 – 4.290

4.200. General –Purpose 

4.202 General – Authorization 

4.210. Application Procedure 

4.220. Final Plat Review 

4.232 Expedited Land Divisions 

4.233 Lot Line Adjustments 

4.236 General Requirements – Streets 

4.237 General Requirements – Other 

4.250. Lots of Record 

4.260. Improvements – Procedures 

4.262 Improvements – Requirements 

4.264 Improvements – Assurance 

4.270. Variance from Land Division Standards 

4.280. Appeals 

4.290. Penalties 

Underground Utilities - Sections 4.300 – 4.320

4.300. General 

4.310. Exceptions 

4.320. Requirements 

Site Design Review - Sections 4.400 – 4.450

N:\planning\Dan Pauly\Pre App Checklist 5 of 8



X 4.400. Purpose 

4.420. Jurisdiction and Powers of the Board 

X 4.421 Criteria and Application of Design Standards 

X 4.430. Location, Design and Access Standards for Mixed Solid Waste and Recycling Areas

4.440. Procedure 

4.441 Effective Date of Decisions 

4.442 Time Limit on Approval 

4.443 Preliminary Consideration 

X 4.450. Installation of Landscaping 

N:\planning\Dan Pauly\Pre App Checklist 6 of 8



 Willamette River Greenway – Sections 4.500 – 4.515

4.500. General Purpose 

4.504 General Greenway Boundaries 

4.506 General Uses Permitted Outright 

4.508 Conditional Use Permit – Uses Permitted Conditionally 

4.510. Conditional use permit – Findings in Support of Granting 

4.512 Conditional Use Permit – Application Procedures 

4.514 Conditional Use Permit  – Use Management Standards 

Tree Preservation and Protection – Sections 4.600 – 4.640.20

X 4.600. Purpose and Declaration 

X 4.600.20 Applicability of Subchapter 

X 4.600.30 Tree Removal Permit Required 

4.600.40 Exceptions 

X 4.600.50 Application for Tree Removal Permit 

X 4.610.00 Application Review Procedure 

X 4.610.10 Standards for Tree Removal, Relocation or Replacement 

4.610.20 Type A Permit 

4.610.30 Type B Permit 

X 4.610.40 Type C Permit 

4.610.50 Type D Permit 

X 4.620.00 Tree Location, Mitigation, or Replacement 

X 4.620.10 Tree Protection During Construction 

X 4.620.20 Maintenance and Protection Standards 

4.630.00 Appeal 

4.630.10 Display of Permit; Inspection .

4.630.20 Variance for Hardship 

4.630.30 Severability 

4.640.00 Violation; Enforcement 

4.640.10 Alternative Enforcement 

4.640.20 Responsibility for Enforcement 

Annexations and Urban Growth Boundary Amendments – Section 4.700

4.700. Procedures Relating to the Processing of Requests for Annexation and  
Urban Growth Boundary amendments

N:\planning\Dan Pauly\Pre App Checklist 7 of 8



Wireless Communications Facilities – Sections 4.800 – 4.804

4.800. Wireless Communications Facilities, Permitted, Conditionally  
Permitted and Prohibited Uses 

4.801 Application Requirements 

4.802 Collocation 

4.803 Development Standards 

4.804 Abandoned Facilities 

N:\planning\Dan Pauly\Pre App Checklist 8 of 8







 

 

April 22, 2013 
 
Daniel Pauly, AICP 
Associate Planner, Planning Division 
City of Wilsonville 
29799 SW Town Center Loop East 
Wilsonville, OR 97070 
 
Re:    Proposal for Development Application 

P3860 Pre-Application Checksheet Request 
DB14-0036 Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
DB14-0037 Stage II Final Plan 
 DB14-0038 Site Design Review 
DB14-0039 Master Sign Plan Revision 
DB14-0040 Type ‘C’ Tree Plan 

 
Project Name: Wilsonville Chrysler Dodge Jeep Ram Renovation 
LRS Project Number:  214084 
 
Dear Mr. Pauly, 
 
The Applicant, Findlay Automotive Group, was founded in 1961 in Las Vegas and we now operate 27 franchised 
automobile dealerships in four western states. Their existing dealerships are located in Nevada, Utah, Idaho and 
Arizona. The group is pleased to be proposing this new automotive sales and service dealership at the vacant 
building located at 25600 SW Parkway Center Drive, previously Smiths Furniture Store (Stage I & II case files 
84PC15, and 89PC08 for its expansion) and Hollywood Entertainment (sign 96DB11). 
 
Below is the project application proposal, narrative with the burden of proof to the applicable criteria provided by 
The City of Wilsonville’s Development Code 
 
Proposal Narrative 
The applicant is requesting approval for a revised Stage I – Preliminary Plan, Stage II – Final Site Plan, Site Design 
Review, Master Sign Plan revisions, and Type ‘C’ Tree Plan. 
 
The first request is modify the Stage I – Preliminary Plan by retaining the use areas, but modifying their locations as 
well as revisions to the site. The building uses and area for the original Smith’s Furniture was for furniture store 
retail (22,032sf), office (22,032sf), and warehouse (70,200sf + 75,466sf expansion); then Hollywood Entertainment 
leased it for office and warehouse.  It is proposed to retain these uses and areas as some are currently non-
conforming under the current code.  Retail will incorporate the showroom, retail repair shop, and service/parts 
waiting area.  The office use will include administrative and financial offices.   The remaining, warehouse use, will 
include the service reception staging, fleet vehicle repairs, detail, support for servicing, parts storage and inventory 
warehouse, which are allowed uses.  In order to abide by with warehouse categorization, employees are allowed to 
enter the inventory warehouse and then shuttle specific inventory into an enclosed staging area adjacent the 
showroom for inspection.  This will allow the customer to inspect the vehicle.  No sales or transactions will take 



 

 - 2 - 

place in either of these two locations, and will take place in the showroom, finance & insurance offices, or service 
advisors room. 
 
Site plan modification include connection the two existing lots with a new pervious paving drive, widening the 
existing access drives at Elligsen and the southern SW Parkway Center Drive to bring them into conformance, and 
provide new showroom access via grass pavers. 
 
Tree C Plan is being requested to remove some trees to allow for the new connection drive and for the addition of 
the wall along SW Parkway Center Drive.  This also provides a desired visual access to the signs on the building.  
This will alleviate the need for additional signs.  A few directional signs and a small monument sign at the main 
access drive will be provided. There is an inventory on the existing trees along with an arborist report to illustrate 
the current condition of the trees.  There will be additional new trees added to other areas of the site to mitigate the 
tree removals. There is also significant tree credits available based on the number of large trees than we are 
proposing to retain with those calculations being illustrated on the Landscape Plans. 
 
A new Stage II Final Site Plan Review and Site Design Review are proposed for the renovation of the site and 
building.  Site impervious surface being disturbance will be kept to a minimum and under 5000sf.  New pervious 
paving and other elements will be utilized to mitigate impacts.  Non-conforming site upgrade are also being 
incorporated into this package, but requested to be exclude them from the 5000sf threshold.  The existing North 
screening wall will be removed and replaced with three foot high landscaping, including required trees, for 
screening of required parking.  The Building area will actually be reduced by removing some interior components.  
A parts racking mezzanine will be installed, but not included in area as it’s categorized as systems equipment. The 
North façade will remain the same with the exception of the dock overhead doors being replaced with storefront 
glazing, overhead glazed doors to the service reception staging area, painting and building signs.  The West façade 
will be retained with the addition of new glazing, a new portal entry wall, side wall wings, and building signs.   
Additional parking spaces are being provided and a portion of the existing impervious pavement is being removed 
and replaced with new pervious pavement.  Exterior service storage will be screened with a combination of 6’ high 
landscape, gate or fencing.  A new exterior enclosed refuse and recycle area is being proposed on the east side of 
the building.  Tenant B will retain its refuse and recycling on the interior of the building.  Site lighting has been 
modified, with a new row of lighting along the SW Parkways Center Drive frontage, which complies with 
Wilsonville’s code, and shown on the lighting site plans.  Cut sheets of the light products are included in the support 
documentation. 
 
A revision to the Master Sign plan is requested to maintain the allowable area approved along SW Parkway Center 
Drive in order to provide tenant flexibility.  This previous approved amount will not be exceeded.  The original case 
84PC15 approved 439sf in area and height to be less than 10’ above roof line. The case 89PC08 had an area for 
the west façade sign at 271sf.   The proposed signs, with dimensions and areas as shown architectural exterior 
elevation sheets, will not exceed these areas. 
 
Burden of Proof Narrative 
The narrative contains only the sections applicable to this proposed development and as indicated in the Pre-
Application Checklist provided by the planner at the pre-application meeting.  Sections that are deemed not 
applicable are not included.  
 
 



 

 - 3 - 

4.000 ADMINISTRATION 
4.014 Burden of Proof 

RESPONSE:  The provided narrative, drawings and other support documents are the necessary findings for 
administration to review. 

 
4.035 Site Development Permits 

RESPONSE:  Provided with this application and includes a revised Stage I – Preliminary Plan, Stage II – Final Site 
Plan, Site Design Review, Revised Master Sign Plan, and Tree C Plan. 

  
4.116. Standards Applying To Commercial Developments In Any Zone. 
Any commercial use shall be subject to the applicable provisions of this Code and to the following: 
 (.01) Commercial developments shall be planned in the form of centers or complexes as provided in the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan. As noted in the Comprehensive Plan, Wilsonville’s focus on centers or complexes is 
intended to limit strip commercial development. 

RESPONSE: The proposed project is the renovation of an warehouse, office and retail space building and will be 
redeveloped into two tenants with one retaining the existing uses, which will be modified to allow for a vehicle sales 
and service tenant, the other will be retained for warehouse purposes.  It is an approved existing single building 
development and not a part of a complex. 

 (.05) All businesses, service or processing, shall be conducted wholly within a completely enclosed building; 
except for: 
E.  Temporary staging of inventory, as shall be authorized through a site development permit, complying 

with the following additional minimum development and performance standards: 
RESPONSE:  Required service parking will be utilized as temporary staging of inventory from the vehicle truck 
carrier to the building.  A three vehicle staging area is also being requested for the northern side of the site opposite 
of the vehicle delivery doors for inspection of the vehicles.  All transactions shall be within the wholly enclosed 
building. 

1.  The staging area shall be screened by a fully sight obscuring fence or planting, high wall, high 
berm or high screen landscape standard as specified in Section 4.176 - Landscaping Screening 
and Buffering; 

2.  All parts of the staged inventory shall be completely concealed on all sides from public view at the 
right-of-way line; and 

3.  The staged inventory shall be relocated into a completely enclosed structure of the primary retail 
operation within 48 hours of placement. 

RESPONSE:  If the inventory staging area is granted and implemented then it will be screened with the required 
landscape buffering. All parts of delivery loading, though service storage parking is to be screened from view with 
high landscaping screening or fence standards and illustrated on the architectural site plan and landscape plans. 
The staged inventory will be brought into the building at night for secure storage. 

F.  Exterior sales that are specifically authorized through temporary use permit approval, subject to 
conditions of approval. Exterior sales that may be permitted are those that are limited in time 
duration, such as sidewalk sales, grand openings, or farmers’ markets.  

RESPONSE:  There may be occasion (special events and sales) that will need added display of cars in other 
locations.  In these instances, the owner will apply for a temporary display permit. 

G.  Exterior sales areas, complying with the following minimum development and performance 
standards: 
1.  The sales area shall be accessory to, and shall not exceed 5% of the floor area of the primary 

retail operation. 
2.  The sales area shall be completely covered by a permanent structure of a design construction 

and architecture compatible with that of the structure of the primary retail operation. 
3.  All required ADA and pedestrian access ways and circulation aisles shall remain clear at all 

times. 
4.  For new development, the Development Review Board may grant a waiver to allow exterior 

sales area of up to 10% of the floor area of the primary retail operation, provided that findings 
can be made that: 



 

 - 4 - 

RESPONSE:  No exterior sales are being proposed for the existing development and therefore will not impact 
required ADA and pedestrian access and circulation throughout the building. 

 (.10) Commercial developments generally. 
RESPONSE: The PDI zone dictates general development.  See responses to 4.135. 

(.12) Off-Street Parking is to be as specified in Section 4.155. 
RESPONSE: The proposed development meets off-street parking requirements as spelled out in Section 4.155. 
See our response to that section later in this narrative and refer the architectural site plans. 

 (.13) Signs are subject to the standards of Sections 4.156.01 through 4.156.11. 
RESPONSE: See our response to Sections 4.156.01-4.156.11. and refer to the architectural site plan and exterior 
elevations (have building & site sign proposed types and sizes). 

 
4.117 Standards Applying to Industrial Developments in any Zone 
(.01) All industrial developments, uses, or activities are subject to performance standards.  If not otherwise 

specified in the Planning and Development Code, industrial developments, uses, and activities shall be 
subject to the performance standards specified in Section 4. 135 (.05) (PDI Zone).   

RESPONSE: See our response to Sections 4.135, 4.131, and 4.116. 
 
4.118. Standards applying to all Planned Development Zones: 
 (.02) Underground Utilities shall be governed by Sections 4.300 to 4.320. All utilities above ground shall be 

located so as to minimize adverse impacts on the site and neighboring properties. 
RESPONSE: See responses to sections 4.300-4.320 later in this narrative. The development is existing and 
currently have all utilities underground. 

 
4.131. PDC - Planned Development Commercial Zone. 
The requirements of a PDC Zone shall be governed by Section 4.140, Planned Development 
Regulations, and as otherwise set forth in this Code. 
(.01) The following shall apply to any PDC zone: 

A. Uses that are typically permitted: 
9.  Those uses that are listed as typically permitted in Section 4.131.05(.03), as well as the following 

additional uses when conducted entirely within enclosed buildings: 
RESPONSE: Per Section 4.131.05(.03).B – Retail sales and service of New Automobiles and Trucks, if not more 
than one and one-half (1 ½) tons capacity, and in a fully enclosed building. Though these uses are non-conforming, 
the use areas are allowed under case numbers 84PC15, 84DR15, and 89PC15, which are noted as part of the 
package 4.  Non-conforming uses are allowed to continue under 4.189. 

 
4.135 PDI Planned Development Industrial Zone 
(.01) Purpose:  The purpose of the PDI zone is to provide opportunities for a variety of industrial operations and 

associated uses.  
RESPONSE: Previous case numbers 84PC15, 84DR15, and 89PC15, which are part of the package 4, allowed the 
specific uses at time of master site approval.  These uses are to continue us 4.189. 

 (.02) The PDI Zone shall be governed by Section 4.140, Planned Development Regulations, and as otherwise 
set forth in this Code.  

(.03) Uses that are typically permitted:  
A.  Warehouses and other buildings for storage of wholesale goods, including cold storage plants.  
B.  Storage and wholesale distribution of agricultural and other bulk products, provided that dust and odors 

are effectively contained within the site.  
C.  Assembly and packing of products for wholesale shipment   
D.  Manufacturing and processing  
E.  Motor vehicle services, or other services complementary or incidental to primary uses, and which 

support the primary uses by allowing more efficient or cost effective operations  
F.  Manufacturing and processing of electronics, technical instrumentation components and health care 

equipment.  
G.  Fabrication  
H.  Office complexes - Technology  
I.  Corporate headquarters  



 

 - 5 - 

J.  Call centers  
K.  Research and development  
L.  Laboratories  
M.  Repair, finishing and testing of product types manufactured or fabricated within the zone.  
N.  Industrial services  
O. Any use allowed in a PDC Zone, subject to the following limitations:  

1.  Service Commercial uses (defined as professional services that cater to daily customers such as 
financial, insurance, real estate, legal, medical or dental offices) not to exceed 5000 square feet of 
floor area in a single building, or 20,000 square feet of combined floor area within a multi-building 
development.  

2.  Office Complex Use (as defined in Section 4.001) shall not exceed 30% of total floor area within a 
project site.  

3.  Retail uses, not to exceed 5000 square feet of indoor and outdoor sales, service or inventory 
storage area for a single building and 20,000 square feet of indoor and outdoor sales, service or 
inventory storage area for multiple buildings.  

4.  Combined uses under Subsections 4.135(.03)(O.)(1.) and (3.) shall not exceed a total of 5000 
square feet of floor area in a single building or 20,000 square feet of combined floor area within a 
multi-building development.  

RESPONSE: Zoning use areas are non-conforming but will retain the use areas allowed under case numbers 
84PC15, 84DR15, and 89PC15, which are part of the package 4. 

P.  Training facilities whose primary purpose is to provide training to meet industrial needs.   
Q.  Public facilities.  
R.  Accessory uses, buildings and structures customarily incidental to any permitted uses.  
S.  Temporary buildings or structures for uses incidental to construction work.  Such structures to be 

removed within 30 days of completion or abandonment of the construction work.   
T.   Other similar uses, which in the judgment of the Planning Director, are consistent with the purpose of 

the PDI Zone.   
(.04) Block and access standards:  

The PDI zone shall be subject to the same block and access standards as the PDC zone, Section 
4.131(.02) and (.03).  

(.05) Performance Standards.  The following performance standards apply to all industrial properties and sites 
within the PDI Zone, and are intended to minimize the potential adverse impacts of industrial activities on 
the general public and on other land uses or activities.  They are not intended to prevent conflicts between 
different uses or activities that may occur on the same property.  
A.  All uses and operations except storage, off-street parking, loading and unloading shall be confined, 

contained, and conducted wholly within completely enclosed buildings, unless outdoor activities have 
been approved as part of Stage II, Site Design or Administrative Review.  

RESPONSE: All uses shall be within the wholly enclosed building, except those mentioned above.  Staging, for the 
inspections of vehicles only with no transactions, are located in 3 locations.  Two are located on the interior are not 
included in the area uses and the last one is a request for revision to the master site plan to allow a location on the 
north side of the property, opposite of the delivery door.  This will contain 3 vehicles for inspection where the 
employee will shuttle the vehicle into position for the customer to view.   These will be required to be relocated back 
into inventory storage no later than 10pm of the day shown. 

B.  Vibration:  Every use shall be so operated that the ground vibration inherently and recurrently 
generated from equipment other than vehicles is not perceptible without instruments at any boundary 
line of the property on which the use is located.  

RESPONSE: N/A 
C.  Emission of odorous gases or other odorous matter in quantities as detectable at any point on any 

boundary line of the property on which the use is located shall be prohibited.  
RESPONSE: None are anticipated. 

D.  Any open storage shall comply with the provisions of Section 4.176, and this Section.  
RESPONSE: Service storage is located on the east side of the building as illustrated in the architectural site plan.  
This also illustrates high screening in both fence and landscaping as required by 4.176. 

E.  No building customarily used for night operation, such as a baker or bottling and distribution station, 
shall have any opening, other than stationary windows or required fire exits, within one hundred (100) 



 

 - 6 - 

feet of any residential district and any space used for loading or unloading commercial vehicles in 
connection with such an operation shall not be within one hundred (100) feet of any residential district.  

RESPONSE: N/A 
F. Heat and Glare:  

1.  Operations producing heat or glare shall be conducted entirely within an enclosed building.  
2.  Exterior lighting on private property shall be screened, baffled, or directed away from adjacent 

residential properties.  This is not intended to apply to street lighting.  
RESPONSE: Exterior lighting is LED with integrated glare control.  This is illustrated in the Lighting Site Plan along 
with the light fixture cut sheets. 

G.  Dangerous Substances:  Any use which involves the presence, storage or handling of any explosive, 
nuclear waste product, or any other substance in a manner which would cause a health or safety 
hazard for any adjacent land use or site shall be prohibited.  

RESPONSE: Fluid storage, both new and used, shall be in self contain storage tanks as required by DEQ and 
provided by the Owner’s shop equipment vendor. Location is provided on the interior of the building.  See 
architectural floor plans. 

H.  Liquid and Solid Wastes:  
1.  Any storage of wastes which would attract insects or rodents or otherwise create a health hazard 

shall be prohibited.  
2.  Waste products which are stored outside shall be concealed from view from any property line by a 

sight-obscuring fence or planting as required in Section 4.176.  
3.  No connection with any public sewer shall be made or maintained in violation of applicable City or 

State standards.  
4.  No wastes conveyed shall be allowed to or permitted, caused to enter, or allowed to flow into any 

public sewer in violation of applicable City or State standards.  
5.  All drainage permitted to discharge into a street gutter, caused to enter or allowed to flow into any 

pond, lake, stream, or other natural water course shall be limited to surface waters or waters 
having similar characteristics as determined by the City, County, and State Department of 
Environmental Quality.  

6.  All operations shall be conducted in conformance with the City’s standards and ordinances 
applying to sanitary and storm sewer discharges.   

RESPONSE: See the statement above for waste fluids.  Solid waste and recycling is being proposed for this tenant 
on the exterior of the building in the east lot.  This will be a solid enclosure with screen gates as illustrated on the 
architectural site plans.  There is no new storm water run-off anticipated.  The use of pervious paving will infiltrate 
the water having a net decrease on the public facilities. 

I.  Noise:  Noise generated by the use, with the exception of traffic noises from automobiles, trucks, and 
trains, shall not violate any applicable standards adopted by the Oregon Department of Environmental 
Quality and W.C. 6.204 governing noise control in the same or similar locations.  [Amended by Ord. 
631, 7/16/07]  

RESPONSE: Repair service will be wholly enclosed to mitigate noise generation. 
J.  Electrical Disturbances.  Except for electrical facilities wherein the City is preempted by other 

governmental entities, electrical disturbances generated by uses within the PDI zone which interfere 
with the normal operation of equipment or instruments within the PDI Zone are prohibited.  Electrical 
disturbances which routinely cause interference with normal activity in abutting residential use areas 
are also prohibited.  

RESPONSE: None anticipated. 
K.  Discharge Standards: There shall be no emission of smoke, fallout, fly ash, dust, vapor, gases, or other 

forms of air pollution that may cause a nuisance or injury to human, plant, or animal life, or to property.  
Plans of construction and operation shall be subject to the recommendations and regulations of the 
State Department of Environmental Quality.  All measurements of air pollution shall be by the 
procedures and with equipment approved by the State Department of Environmental Quality or 
equivalent and acceptable methods of measurement approved by the City.  Persons responsible for a 
suspected source of air pollution upon the request of the City shall provide quantitative and qualitative 
information regarding the discharge that will adequately and accurately describe operation conditions.  

RESPONSE: As required by DEQ, all service vehicle will be connected to exhaust gas connection when the 
vehicles are being serviced and if running. 



 

 - 7 - 

L.  Open burning is prohibited.  
RESPONSE: None anticipated. 

M.  Storage:  
1.  Outdoor storage must be maintained in an orderly manner at all times.  
2.  Outdoor storage area shall be gravel surface or better and shall be suitable for the materials being 

handled and stored.  If a gravel surface is not sufficient to meet the performance standards for the 
use, the area shall be suitably paved.  

3.  Any open storage that would otherwise be visible at the property line shall be concealed from view 
at the abutting property line by a sight-obscuring fence or planting not less than six (6) feet in 
height.  

RESPONSE: Exterior service storage will be maintained in an orderly fashion on an existing a.c. paved lot.  Six foot 
high landscape and fence screening will be installed as illustrate on the architectural and landscape site plans. 

N.  Landscaping:  
1.  Unused property, or property designated for expansion or other future use, shall be landscaped 

and maintained as approved by the Development Review Board.  Landscaping for unused property 
disturbed during construction shall include such things as plantings of ornamental shrubs, lawns, 
native plants, and mowed, seeded field grass.  

2.  Contiguous unused areas of undisturbed field grass may be maintained in their existing state.  
Large stands of invasive weeds such as Himalayan blackberries, English ivy, cherry Laurel, reed 
canary grass or other identified invasive plants shall be removed and/or mowed at least annually to 
reduce fire hazard.  These unused areas, located within a phased development project or a future 
expansion cannot be included in the area calculated to meet the landscape requirements for the 
initial phase(s) of the development.  

3.  Unused property shall not be left with disturbed soils that are subject to siltation and erosion.  Any 
disturbed soil shall be seeded for complete erosion cover germination and shall be subject to 
applicable erosion control standards.  

RESPONSE: Site is fully built out with no used land.  All landscape is to be maintained. 
 (.06) Other Standards:  

A.  Minimum Individual Lot Size:  No limit save and except as shall be consistent with the other provisions 
of this Code (e.g., landscaping, parking, etc.).  

B.  Maximum Lot Coverage:  No limit save and except as shall be consistent with the other provisions of 
this Code (e.g., landscaping, parking, etc.).  

C.  Front Yard Setback:  Thirty (30) feet.  Structures on corner or through lots shall observe the minimum 
front yard setback on both streets.  Setbacks shall also be maintained from the planned rights-of-way 
shown on any adopted City street plan.  

D.  Rear and Side Yard Setback:  Thirty (30) feet.  Structures on corner or through lots shall observe the 
minimum rear and side yard setbacks on both streets. Setbacks shall also be maintained from the 
planned rights-of-way shown on any adopted City street plan.  

E.  No setback is required when side or rear yards abut on a railroad siding.  
F.  Corner Vision:  Corner lots shall have no sight obstruction to exceed the vision clearance standards of 

Section 4.177.  
G.  Off-Street Parking and Loading:  As provided in Section 4.155.  
H.  Signs:  As provided in Sections 4.156.01 through 4.156.11.  [Amended by Ord. No. 704, 6/18/12] 

[Section 4.135 amended by Ordinance No. 574, 11/1/04.] 
RESPONSE: Site is fully built-out and complies with all the standards. Off-street parking and loading are being 
modified with additional parking being added along the proposed drive and the north loading berths being vacated 
for this tenant, which is illustrated on the architectural site plan. 

 
4.140. Planned Development Regulations. 
(.09) Final Approval (Stage Two): 

C.  The final plan shall conform in all major respects with the approved preliminary development plan, and 
shall include all information included in the preliminary plan plus the following: 
1.  The location of water, sewerage and drainage facilities; 
2.  Preliminary building and landscaping plans and elevations, sufficient to indicate the general 

character of the development; 



 

 - 8 - 

3.  The general type and location of signs; 
4.  Topographic information as set forth in Section 4.035; 
5.  A map indicating the types and locations of all proposed uses; and 
6.  A grading plan. 

RESPONSE: The final plan is revising the existing development plan to include an added internal drive connection, 
widening of the Elligsen and south SW Parkway Center drive access’ to bring them into conformance.  The existing 
water and sewer will be reused.  Due to size of pervious paving being disturbed, pervious paving is proposed as not 
to create impacts on the City’s storm facilities.  Non-conforming site upgrades are also being incorporated such as 
pedestrian connection to the main entrance from the public/transportation ROW. See civil drawings and 
architectural site plan 

D.  The final plan shall be sufficiently detailed to indicate fully the ultimate operation and appearance of the 
development or phase of development. However, Site Design Review is a separate and more detailed 
review of proposed design features, subject to the standards of Section 4.400. 

RESPONSE: See the drawing set included with the application. 
J.  A planned development permit may be granted by the Development Review Board only if it is found 

that the development conforms to all the following criteria, as well as to the Planned Development 
Regulations in Section 4.140: 
1.  The location, design, size and uses, both separately and as a whole, are consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan, and with any other applicable plan, development map or Ordinance adopted 
by the City Council. 

RESPONSE: The development areas, including existing and proposed, are illustrated on the architectural floor 
plans. 

2.  That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the development at the 
most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without congestion in excess 
of Level of Service D, as defined in the Highway Capacity Manual published by the National 
Highway Research Board, on existing or immediately planned arterial or collector streets and will, 
in the case of commercial or industrial developments, avoid traversing local streets. Immediately 
planned arterial and collector streets are those listed in the City’s adopted Capital Improvement 
Program, for which funding has been approved or committed, and that are scheduled for 
completion within two years of occupancy of the development or four year if they are an associated 
crossing, interchange, or approach street improvement to Interstate 5. 
a.  In determining levels of Service D, the City shall hire a traffic engineer at the applicant’s 

expense who shall prepare a written report containing the following minimum information for 
consideration by the Development Review Board: 

RESPONSE: As the proposed development is will be a net decrease on trip generations. DKS has provide a memo 
illustrating no need for a traffic study, therefore the applicant is requesting the requirement for a traffic study to be 
waived.   

3.  That the location, design, size and uses are such that the residents or establishments to be 
accommodated will be adequately served by existing or immediately planned facilities and 
services. 

RESPONSE: The proposed development is serviced by a combination of existing facilities that were installed with 
the original development.  The applicant shall work with staff to identify any additional facilities required for this 
specific tenant. See survey and civil drawings.  

 
4.141 Special Regulations Changes of Use 

RESPONSE: No conversion of Change in Use is being requested at this time as the use areas are being retained 
as allowed under case numbers 84PC15, 84DR15, and 89PC15, which are part of the package 4. If staff see that 
the proposal needs to be addressed differently, the applicant will work with staff to adjust the narrative accordingly. 

 
4.154 Bicycle, Pedestrian and Transit Facilities 
(.01) On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation  

A.  The purpose of this section is to implement the pedestrian access and connectivity policies of the 
Transportation System Plan. It is intended to provide for safe, reasonably direct, and convenient 
pedestrian access and circulation.   

B. Standards.  Development shall conform to all of the following standards:  



 

 - 9 - 

1.  Continuous Pathway System.  A pedestrian pathway system shall extend throughout the 
development site and connect to adjacent sidewalks, and to all future phases of the development, 
as applicable.  

2.  Safe, Direct, and Convenient.  Pathways within developments shall provide safe, reasonably direct, 
and convenient connections between primary building entrances and all adjacent parking areas, 
recreational areas/playgrounds, and public rights-of-way and crosswalks based on all of the 
following criteria:  
a.  Pedestrian pathways are designed primarily for pedestrian safety and convenience, meaning 

they are free from hazards and provide a reasonably smooth and consistent surface.   
b.   The pathway is reasonably direct. A pathway is reasonably direct when it follows a route 

between destinations that does not involve a significant amount of unnecessary out-of-direction 
travel.  

c.  The pathway connects to all primary building entrances and is consistent with the Americans 
with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements.  

d.  All parking lots larger than three acres in size shall provide an internal bicycle and pedestrian 
pathway pursuant to Section 4.155(.03)(B.)(3.)(d.).  

3.  Vehicle/Pathway Separation.  Except as required for crosswalks, per subsection 4, below, where a 
pathway abuts a driveway or street it shall be vertically or horizontally separated from the vehicular 
lane. For example, a pathway may be vertically raised six inches above the abutting travel lane, or 
horizontally separated by a row of bollards.   

4.  Crosswalks.  Where a pathway crosses a parking area or driveway, it shall be clearly marked with 
contrasting paint or paving materials (e.g., pavers, light color concrete inlay between asphalt, or 
similar contrast).   

5.  Pathway Width and Surface. Primary pathways shall be constructed of concrete, asphalt, 
brick/masonry pavers, or other durable surface, and not less than five (5) feet wide. Secondary 
pathways and pedestrian trails may have an alternative surface except as otherwise required by 
the ADA.  

6.   All pathways shall be clearly marked with appropriate standard signs.  
RESPONSE: The site is served with an existing pedestrian pathway that connects all primary building entrances, 
adjacent parking areas. A new connecting pedestrian connection to the ROW, closest to the bus stop is proposed 
as part of the non-conforming site upgrades.  It will consist of crosswalks across the parking area, that has 
contrasting material from the adjacent vehicle drive aisles, then leads to the 6” high raised to the ROW.  The 
primary pathway(s) shall be a minimum of 5’-0” and be consistent with ADA requirements and shown on the 
architectural and civil site plans. 

 
4.155. General Regulations - Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking. 
Please see sheets A101 Site Plan and Landscape Plan L.1. 
 (.02) General Provisions: 

B. No area shall be considered a parking space unless it can be shown that the area is accessible and 
usable for that purpose, and has maneuvering area for the vehicles, as determined by the Planning 
Director. 

REPONSE:  Dedicated parking spaces are designed to be accessible and usable for only required parking.  The 
architectural site plan calls out for the number of parking spaces. 

C.  In cases of enlargement of a building or a change of use from that existing on the effective date of this 
Code, the number of parking spaces required shall be based on the additional floor area of the 
enlarged or additional building, or changed use, as set forth in this Section. Current development 
standards, including parking area landscaping and screening, shall apply only to the additional 
approved parking area. 

RESPONSE: The number of parking spaces within the development are not restricted per the warehouse 
allowance.. Internal landscaping and screening meets the requirements within the code.  Please see the 
architectural site plan and landscape plans that illustrate the required low and high landscape screening areas.  
Also refer to the planting material cut sheets.  



 

 - 10 - 

F.  Off-street parking spaces existing prior to the effective date of this Code may be included in the amount 
necessary to meet the requirements in case of subsequent enlargement of the building or use to which 
such spaces are necessary. 

RESPONSE: The building will have a new decrease in area.  This existing development has approximately 300 off-
street parking spaces (63 new spaces).  According to ‘Table 5: Parking Standards’ (use: commercial – retail outlets 
selling automobiles) the minimum required number of parking spaces is 253, and the maximum required number of 
parking spaces is 672.  See the architectural site plan and floor plan for area calculations. 

J.  Parking spaces along the boundaries of a parking lot shall be provided with a sturdy bumper guard or 
curb at least six (6) inches high and located far enough within the boundary to prevent any portion of a 
car within the lot from extending over the property line or interfering with required screening or 
sidewalks. 

RESPONSE:  All parking is provided with a 6” curb and the standard size does not require landscape modifications 
for overhang.  Compact spaces also contain standard depth to avoid landscape modifications.  In no case will 
vehicle hang over the property line or interfere with landscape screening or sidewalk.  Please refer to the 
architectural site plan. 

K.  All areas used for parking and maneuvering of cars shall be surfaced with asphalt, concrete, or other 
surface, such as pervious materials (i. e. pavers, concrete, asphalt) that is found by the City’s 
authorized representative to be suitable for the purpose. In all cases, suitable drainage, meeting 
standards set by the City’s authorized representative, shall be provided.  

RESPONSE: The majority of the existing parking and drive aisle areas that will remain is asphalt.  New areas being 
added for parking and maneuvering will be a pervious asphalt pavement to provide adequate storm drainage and 
infiltration.  See Civil drawings. 

L.  Artificial lighting which may be provided shall be so limited or deflected as not to shine into adjoining 
structures or into the eyes of passers-by. 

RESPONSE:  Lighting is designed not to shine into adjoining properties or the eyes of passers-by through the use 
of light shields at the property lines.  Please see the lighting plans, photometric plan, luminaire cut sheets and 
narrative in the forthcoming 4.199 response. 

N.  Up to forty percent (40%) of the off-street spaces may be compact car spaces as identified in Section 
4.001 - “Definitions,” and shall be appropriately identified. 

RESPONSE: Compact spaces are proposed in the development, though retain standard depths, and are less than 
40% of total parking. See the architectural site plans. 

O.  Where off-street parking areas are designed for motor vehicles to overhang beyond curbs, planting 
areas adjacent to said curbs shall be increased to a minimum of seven (7) feet in depth. This standard 
shall apply to a double row of parking, the net effect of which shall be to create a planted area that is a 
minimum of seven (7) feet in depth. 

RESPONSE: Most parking spaces are standard size (9’ x 18’) and compact spaces are (7’-6” x 18”) and are 
designed so that no overhang is required.   

 (.03) Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements: 
A.  Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be designed with access and maneuvering area adequate 

to serve the functional needs of the site and shall: 
1.  Separate loading and delivery areas and circulation from customer and/or employee parking and 

pedestrian areas. Circulation patterns shall be clearly marked. 
RESPONSE: The existing development has a high quantity of loading berths.  Approximately half of these will be 
abandoned and replaced with storefront glazing.  A new loading zone is provided is provided on the east side of the 
building for vehicle carrier trucks to load/unload inventory.  The location of the zone allows for ingress and egress 
from the space to occur in a forward motion.  

2.  To the greatest extent possible, separate vehicle and pedestrian traffic. 
RESPONSE:  The parking for the facility is broken down into four zones; customer parking, service parking, 
employee parking, and future tenant parking/loading.  Parking for customers is located in the zone directly adjacent 
to the entry that they will be accessing; new sales customers park near the main retail entry to the building, service 
customers pull directly into the service bays keeping them out of the vehicle traffic lane, and employees park in the 
zone accessed by the Elligsen driveway entry to the site. 

B.  Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be landscaped to minimize the visual dominance of the 
parking or loading area, as follows: 



 

 - 11 - 

1.  Landscaping of at least ten percent (10%) of the parking area designed to be screened from view 
from the public right-of-way and adjacent properties. This landscaping shall be considered to be 
part of the fifteen percent (15%) total landscaping required in Section 4.176.03 for the site 
development. 

RESPONSE:   The parking lot is a combination of existing spaces and new spaces.  All new parking areas are 
broken up with landscape islands, end islands, and frontage.   Parking adjacent to adjacent Elligsen will receive low 
screening standards to complement the existing landscape screening.  The interior landscape is above 10% and is 
included in the overall landscape, which is over greater than 15%.  Please see the calculation tables on the 
architectural site and floor plan, as well as the landscape plans.  

2.  Landscape tree planting areas shall be a minimum of eight (8) feet in width and length and spaced 
every eight (8) parking spaces or an equivalent aggregated amount. 

RESPONSE:  All new landscape tree planting areas are a minimum of 8’ wide and long.  In new parking space 
areas these are spaced five parking spaces apart maximum.  See landscape drawings, Sheet L.1 included with the 
application. 

a.  Trees shall be planted in a ratio of one (1) tree per eight (8) parking spaces or fraction thereof, 
except in parking areas of more than two hundred (200) spaces where a ratio of one (1) tree 
per six (six) spaces shall be applied as noted in subsection (.03)(B.)(3.). A landscape design 
that includes trees planted in areas based on an aggregated number of parking spaces must 
provide all area calculations. 

RESPONSE:  Trees are located within the new parking area so that the minimum of 1 tree per every 8 spaces ratio 
is met.  See landscape plans included with the application. 

b.  Except for trees planted for screening, all deciduous interior parking lot trees must be suitably 
sized, located, and maintained to provide a branching minimum of seven (7) feet clearance at 
maturity. 

RESPONSE:  Trees proposed are suitably sized as required with notes of branching to a minimum of 7’ high at 
maturity.  This will need to be the responsibility of the Owner once the trees reach the age.  See arborist report, 
landscape plans, and landscape material sheets. 

d.  All parking lots viewed from the public right of way shall have a minimum twelve (12) foot 
landscaped buffer extending from the edge of the property line at the right of way to the edge 
of the parking area. Buffer landscaping shall meet the low screen standard of 4.176(.02)(D) 
except that trees, groundcovers and shrubs shall be grouped to provide visual interest and to 
create view openings no more than ten (10) feet in length and provided every forty (40) feet. 
Notwithstanding this requirement, view of parking area that is unscreened from the right of way 
due to slope or topography shall require an increased landscaping standard under 4.176(.02) 
in order to buffer and soften the view of vehicles as much as possible. For purposes of this 
section, "view from the public right of way" is intended to mean the view from the sidewalk 
directly across the street from the site, or if no sidewalk, from the opposite side of the adjacent 
street or road. 

RESPONSE: The majority of the existing parking lot sits way back from the ROW.  A landscape screen buffer 
meets the low screen standard and has a combination of ground cover, lawn, shrubs, and trees along Elligsen.  
The rear parking will have high landscape screening as illustrated on architectural site and landscape plans. 

e.  Where topography and slope condition permit, the landscape buffer shall integrate parking lot 
storm water treatment in bio swales and related plantings. Use of berms or drainage swales 
are allowed provided that planting areas with lower grade are constructed so that they are 
protected from vehicle maneuvers. Drainage swales shall be constructed to Public Works 
Standards. 

RESPONSE: The existing site is developed.  The new internal drive will be pervious paving to allow for stormwater 
filtration since it sits lower than the adjacent grade. See civil plans. 

f.  In addition to the application requirements of section 4.035(.04)(6)(d), where view of signs is 
pertinent to landscape design, any approved or planned sign plan shall accompany the 
application for landscape design approval. 



 

 - 12 - 

RESPONSE:  In addition to the signage mounted on the building, the project includes a monument sign located in 
the west planting area.  Signage details are included in this application, as well as a modified master sign plan, and 
illustrated on the architectural site plan and exterior elevations (sign quantity and sizes). 

4.  Be designed for safe and convenient access that meets ADA and ODOT standards. All parking 
areas which contain ten (10) or more parking spaces, shall for every fifty (50) standard spaces., 
provide one ADA-accessible parking space that is constructed to building code standards, 
Wilsonville Code 9.000. 

RESPONSE:  The proposed quantity of accessible stalls meets the required count and illustrated on the 
architectural site plan and area calculations on the floor plan. 

8.  Tables 5, below, shall be used to determine the minimum and maximum parking standards for 
various land uses.  

RESPONSE: Parking for the proposed development provided the specified quantity of parking spaces and 
illustrated on the architectural site plan and areas from the floor plan.. 

 (.04) Minimum Off-Street Loading Requirements: 
A.  Every building that is erected or structurally altered to increase the floor area, and which will require the 

receipt or distribution of materials or merchandise by truck or similar vehicle, shall provide off-street 
loading berths on the basis of minimum requirements as follows: 

RESPONSE: The existing building has a large quantity of loading berths.  Approximately half will be abandoned.   
One additional off-street loading space is included within the development sized 12’ wide by 35’ long.  This space is 
dedicated and is located so as to not impair the flow of traffic in and out of the parking lot, which is receiving high 
landscape/fence screening.  This will be the location of the vehicle carrier truck. 
RESPOSNE: (.04) According to ‘Table 5: Parking Standards,’ the minimum number of bike parking spaces is (18).  
(9) spaces shall be located on the exterior of the building within 30’-0” of the main entrance.  (9) long-term spaces 
shall be located inside the building.  All bike parking spaces shall meet minimum maneuvering dimensions as set 
forth in this section.  See Az1.01 for minimum requirement calculations. 
RESPONSE: (.06) No carpool or vanpool parking is provided or required for this project. 

 
4.156.02. Sign Review Process and General Requirements.  
 (.02) Sign Permits and Master Sign Plans. Many properties in the City have signs preapproved through a 

Master Sign Plan. For the majority of applications where a Master Sign Plan has been approved the 
applicant need not consult the sign requirements for the zone, but rather the Master Sign Plan, copies of 
which are available from the Planning Division. Signs conforming to a Master Sign Plan require only a 
Class I Sign Permit. 

RESPONSE: The property has an existing approved Master Sign Plan 84DR15 and modified 89PC15 that the 
applicant is requesting a modification to the MSP.  The request is to keep the maximum total area allowed as well 
as the maximum area allowed along SW Parkway Center.  This requires a revision to the master sign plan. 

 (.04) Class I Sign Permit. Sign permit requests shall be processed as a Class I Sign Permit when the 
requested sign or signs conform to a Master Sign Plan or other previous sign approval. In addition, a Minor 
Adjustment to a Master Sign Plan or other previous sign approval may be approved in connection with a 
Class I Sign Permit. 

RESPONSE: Per discussions with the City, a revision to the MSP is being applied for in lieu of what was submitted.  
B.  Class I Sign Permit Review Criteria: The sign or signs conform with the applicable master sign plan or 

other previous sign approvals, and applicable code requirements. 
RESPONSE: Project is requesting to retain the allowed sign area for the original sign plan case 84PC15 and 
89PC15 for flexibility.  See architectural exterior elevation for sign dimensions, area and tables and package 4 for 
the historically approved case files for the master sign plans. 

 
4.156.03. Sign Measurement 
(.01) Sign Area: 

A. Cabinet Signs and Similar: 
B. Individual Element Signs: 
C. Round or Three-Dimensional Signs: 
D. Awning or Marquee Signs: 



 

 - 13 - 

E. Painted Wall Signs: 
(.02) Sign Height above Ground. 
(.03) Sign Height and Length. 

RESPONSE: See architectural exterior elevation for sign dimensions, area and tables that meet these standards. 
 
4.156.05 Signs Exempt from Sign Permit Requirements 

RESPONSE: There are no proposed signs that meet the exemption requirements. 
 
4.156.06 Prohibited Signs 

RESPONSE: No prohibited signs are being proposed. 
 
4.156.08 Sign Regulations in the PDC, PDI, and PF Zones 

RESPONSE:  Although section 4.156.08 limits the total area of signage the applicant is requesting to maintain the 
approved sign area for case file 84PC15 at 439sf along SW Parkway Center Drive.  Hollywood Entertainment is 
also mentioned with that same frontage allowed 271sf in case file 89PC08.  See architectural exterior elevations for 
signs, dimensions, and area calculations. 

 
4.167 General Regulations – Access, Ingress and Egress. 
(.01) Each access onto streets or private drives shall be at defined points as approved by the City and shall be 

consistent with the public’s health, safety and general welfare. Such defined points of access shall be 
approved at the time of issuance of a building permit if not previously determined in the development 
permit. 

RESPONSE:  There are currently three existing access points to the project, no new access is proposed. One 
access drive is located on SW Elligsen Road along the north side of the site. This is a 24-foot driveway which will 
be widened to 36-feet no meet City standards. There are two driveways off of SW Parkway Center Drive. The 
driveway closest to the SW Elligsen/SW Parkway Center intersection will remain as-is but will become a designated 
right-in/right-out access with a center median. The second driveway from SW Parkway Center Road, located at the 
SW corner of the site will also be widen from 24-feet to 36-feet and will be a full access driveway to meet City 
standards. This southern access will also incorporate a new pedestrian walk that will connect the front door to 
public transportation, located adjacent the access point. As designed these access points provide safe and 
adequate access to the site. 

 
4.171 General Regulations – Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources. 
(.01) Purpose. It is the purpose of this section to prescribe standards and procedures for the use and 

development of land to assure that protection of valued natural features and cultural resources. The 
requirements of this Section are intended to be used in conjunction with those of the comprehensive Plan 
and other zoning standards. It is further the purpose of this Section: 
A. To protect the natural environment and scenic features of the City of Wilsonville. 
B. To encourage site planning and development practices which protect and enhance natural features 

such as riparian corridors, streams, wetlands, swales, ridges, rock outcroppings, views, large trees and 
wooded areas. 

C. To provide ample open space and to create a constructed environment capable and harmonious with 
the natural environment.  

(.02) General Terrain Preparation. 
C.   In addition to any permits required under the Uniform Building Code, all developments shall be 

planned, designed, constructed and maintained so as to:  
1. Limit the extent of disturbance of soils and site grading, excavation and other land alterations. 
2. Avoid substantial probabilities of: (1) accelerated erosion; (3) damage to vegetation. 

RESPONSE:  The proposed site is currently fully developed, and will be renovated to accommodate the 
Chrysler/Jeep/Dodge/Ram dealership. Therefore, this project will have very little impact on any existing land forms, 
or natural resources. Very minimal grading is proposed and a great deal of existing vegetation, including a large 
grouping of trees (NE corner of the site) will be preserved and noted on the landscape plans. 

(.03) Hillsides: All developments proposed on slopes greater than 25% shall be limited to the extent that:   
RESPONSE:  There are no slopes; proposed or existing that exceeds 25%. 



 

 - 14 - 

(.04)   Tress and Wooded Areas.  
A. All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so that: 

1. Existing Vegetation is not disturbed, injured or removed prior to site development and prior to an 
approved plan for circulation, parking and structure location.  

2. Existing wooded areas, significant clumps/groves of trees and vegetation, and all trees with a 
diameter at the breast of six inches or greater shall be incorporated into the development plan and 
protected wherever feasible. 

3. Existing trees are preserved within any right-of-way when such trees are suitably located, healthy, 
and when approved grading allows. 

RESPONSE:  The proposed site is currently fully developed. However, a large grouping of trees (NE corner of the 
site) will be preserved. All street tress will also be preserved. Additional existing trees will be incorporated into the 
landscape plan as described in the Arborists Report, included in this submittal package.  

B. Trees and woodland areas to be retained shall be protected during site preparation and construction 
according to City Public Works design specifications, by:  

RESPONSE:  Existing plant materials, to be retained in the landscape shall be protected as recommended by the 
Arborist.  

(.05) High Voltage Power line Easement and Rights of Way. 
RESPONSE:  There is an existing overhead power line easement running east/west along the Southside of the 
property. There is also a B.P.A. tower midway, within this easement. For the most part existing plant materials will 
be retained in this area and no new trees are proposed.  

(.06) Hazards to Safety: Purpose. 
A. To protect lives and property from natural or human-induced geological hydrological hazards and 

disasters. 
B. To protect lives and property from damage due to soil hazards. 
C. To protect lives and property from forest and brush fires. 
D. To avoid financial loss resulting from development in hazard areas.  

RESPONSE:  The proposed site is currently fully developed, and will be renovated to accommodate the 
Chrysler/Jeep/Dodge/Ram dealership. Therefore, this project will not create any hazards to public safety. 

(.07) Standards for Earth Movement Hazard Areas: 
(.08) Standards for Soil Hazard Areas: 
(.09) Historic Protection: Purpose: 
(.10) Alteration and Development Criteria 
(.11) Cultural Resource Designation Criteria: 

RESPONSE:  The proposed site is not within an Earth Movement Hazard Area, or of Historic or Cultural 
significance. 

 
4.175 Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
(.01) All developments shall be designed to deter crime and insure public safety. 
(.02) Addressing and directional signing shall be designed to assure identification of all buildings and structures 

by emergency response personnel, as well as the general public. 
(.03) Areas vulnerable to crime shall be designed to allow surveillance. Parking and loading areas shall be 

designed for access by police in the course of routine patrol duties. 
(.04) Exterior lighting shall be designed and oriented to discourage crime. 

RESPONSE: Building safety signage (including address and directional) is designed to assure identification by 
emergency response personnel, as well as the general public.  Parking and loading areas are designed for access 
by police and emergency personnel, and lighting is designed and oriented to discourage crime in accordance to 
4.199. Please see architectural site plan and lighting site plans. 

 
4.176 Landscape, Screening and Buffering. 
(.01) Purpose. This Section consists of landscaping and screening standards and regulation for use throughout 

the City. The regulations address materials, placement, layout and timing of installation. The City 
recognizes the ecological and economic value of landscaping and requires the use of landscaping and 
other screening and buffering to: 
A. Promote and re-establishment of vegetation for aesthetic, health, erosion control, flood control and 

wildlife habitat reasons; 



 

 - 15 - 

B. Restore native plant communities and conserve irrigation water through establishment or re-
establishment of native, drought tolerant plants; 

C. Mitigate for loss of native vegetation; 
D. Establish and enhance a pleasant visual character which recognizes aesthetics and safety issues; 
E. Promote compatibility between land uses by reducing the visual, noise and lighting impacts of specific 

development on users of the site and abutting sites and uses; 
F. Unify development and enhance and define public and private spaces. 
G. Promote the retention and use of existing topsoil and vegetation. Amended soils benefit storm water 

retention and filtration; 
H. Aide in energy conservation by providing shade from the sun and shelter from the wind; 
I. Screen from public view the storage of materials that would otherwise be considered unsightly; 
J. Support crime prevention, create proper site distance clearance, and establish other safety factors by 

effective landscaping and screening; 
K. Provide landscape materials that minimize the excessive use of fertilizers, herbicides, and pesticides, 

irrigation, pruning and mowing to conserve and protect natural resources, wildlife habitats and water 
sheds. 

(.02) Landscaping and Screening Standards. 
RESPONSE:  The proposed landscape plan submitted with this application strives to comply with each of the 
applicable goals as discussed in this section. As stated much of the existing landscape will be retained. The intent 
of the proposed landscape plan is to replace dead or dying plant materials, highlight entry areas and specific 
building features, improve visual access into the site from the streets, and screen parking and storage areas. 
Combinations of Landscape Standards have been implied to meet this intent and comply with the Purpose of the 
landscape as indicated by City code. The northern property line has received a high screen treatment, while the 
other property boundaries have received a Low Screen treatment. There are no walls, berms or site obscuring 
fences proposed at this time. However, it is anticipated that a sight obscuring wall or fence will be proposed in 
relation to the refuse and recycling area.  

(.03) Landscape Area. Not less that fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped with 
vegetative plant materials. The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping is included in the fifteen 
percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement. Landscaping shall be located in at least three separate 
and distinct area of the lot, one of which must be in the contiguous frontage area. Planting areas shall be 
encouraged adjacent to structures. Landscaping shall be used to define, soften or screen the appearance 
of buildings and off-street parking areas. Materials to be installed shall achieve a balance between various 
plant forms, textures, and heights. The installation of native plant materials shall be used whenever 
practicable. 

RESPONSE:  The proposed, the site plan provides 91,953 sf (20%) of landscape area. Approximately 11% of the 
20% is parking area landscape. The primary areas of landscape are the perimeter landscape, the parking area 
landscape and the building façade landscape. Native and drought tolerant plant materials have been used where 
appropriate. 

(.04) Buffering and Screening.  
A. All intensive or higher density developments shall be screened and buffered from less intensive or 

lower density developments. 
B. Activity areas on commercial and industrial sites shall be buffered and screened from adjacent 

residential areas. 
C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be screened from ground 

level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties.  
D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has been approved 

for the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting on a development Permit. 
E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, landscaping shall be designed to screen 

loading areas and docks and truck parking. 
F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil surface at the outside of fence line 

shall require Development Review Board approval. 
RESPONSE:  Screening is proposed along the northern property line as this is the only area of the site which will 
have storage (merchandise parking), and the trash/recycling area. The site is surrounded by like zoning and uses, 
(industrial), therefore the amount and type of screening and buffering proposed is appropriate.  



 

 - 16 - 

(.05) Sight-Obscuring Fence or Planting. The use for which a sight-obscuring fence of planting is required shall 
not begin operation until the fence or planting is erected or in place and approved by the City. 

RESPONSE:  The sight obscuring wall at the North property will be removed and replaced with an opaque 
landscape screening.  The service storage will be screened with a higher level of screening.  The be proposed 
refuse and recycling area to be located to the east of the building within the high screening area. The screening will 
be in place before the dealership opens for business and landscape criteria will be met within in the required 
timeframe. 

(.06) Plant  Materials. 
A. Shrubs and Ground Cover.  

1. Shrubs. All shrubs shall be well branched and typical of their type as described in current AAN 
Standards and shall be equal to or better than 2-gallon containers and 10” to 12” spread. 

2. Ground Cover. Shall be equal to or better that the following depending on the type of plant material 
used: gallon containers spaced at 4-feet on center minimum, 4” pots spaced 2 feet on center 
minimum, 2-1/4” pots spaced at 18” on center minimum. No bare root planting shall be permitted. 
Ground cover shall be sufficient to cover at least 80% of the bare soil in required landscape areas 
within (3) years of planting. 

3. Turf or lawn in Non-residential development. Shall not be used to cover more than ten (10%) of the 
landscaped area, 

4. Plant Materials under Trees or Large Shrubs. Appropriate plant materials shall be installed beneath 
the canopies of trees and large shrubs to avoid the appearance of bare ground in those locations.  

5. Integrate compost-amended topsoil in all areas to be landscaped, including lawns, to help detain 
runoff, reduce irrigation and fertilizer needs, and create a sustainable, low-maintenance landscape. 

B. Trees. All trees shall be well branched and typical of their type as described in current American 
Association of Nurserymen (AAN) Standards and shall be balled and burlapped.  

C. Where a proposed development includes buildings larger than twenty-four (24) feet in height or greater 
than 50,000 square feet in footprint area, the Development Board may require larger or more mature 
plant materials. 

RESPONSE:  All plant materials will be specified to comply with sizing and quality standards. The existing turf 
areas will be retained and do not exceed 10% of the proposed landscape area. Shrubs and ground covers will be 
placed as needed beneath trees. Amended topsoil will be used throughout all landscaped areas. Because the 
landscape plan incorporated a great deal of existing mature plant materials, it is not anticipated that more of such 
will be required. 

D. Street Trees.  
RESPONSE:  The existing street trees on both SW Ellingsen Road and SW Parkway Center Drive will be retained. 

E. Types of Plant Species. 
1. Existing landscape or native vegetation may be used to meet these standards if protected and 

maintained during the construction phase of the development and if the plant species do not 
include any that have been listed by the City as prohibited. The existing native and non-native 
vegetation to be incorporated into the landscape shall be identified.  

2. Selection of plant materials. Landscape materials shall be selected and sited to produce hardy and 
drought tolerant landscaping. Selection shall be based on soil characteristics, maintenance 
requirements, exposure to sun and wind, slope and contours of the site, and compatibility with 
other vegetation what will remain on the site. Suggested species lists for street trees, shrubs and 
groundcovers shall be provided by the City of Wilsonville.  

3. Prohibited plant materials.  
RESPONSE:  A great deal of the existing landscape will remain. Every effort has been made to use native and 
drought tolerate plant materials as appropriate. 

F. Tree Credit. 
RESPONSE:  Please refer to the Arborist Report included with this submittal package. 

(.07) Installation and Maintenance.  
A. Installation. 
B. Maintenance 

RESPONSE:  As specified, all plant materials meet the current industry standards. Furthermore, all plant materials 
shall be installed and maintained to provide the opportunities for plant growth and survival. Dead or dying plant 
materials will be replaced in a timely manner. 



 

 - 17 - 

C. Irrigation. The intent of this standard is to assure that plants will survive the critical establishment period 
when they are most vulnerable due to a lack of watering and also a=to assure that water is not wasted 
through unnecessary or inefficient irrigation.  

RESPONSE:  An in ground design build irrigation system is proposed for all new plant materials. Where possible, 
established plant materials will be irrigated using the existing in ground system on an as needed basis. 

D. Protection. All required landscape areas, including all trees and shrubs, shall be protected from 
potential damage by conflicting uses or activities including vehicle parking and storage of materials. 

RESPONSE:  Curbing and bollards will be used to protect the existing and proposed plant materials.   
(.08) Landscape on Corner Lots. All landscaping on corner lots shall meet the vision clearance standards of 

Section 4.177.   
RESPONSE:  Special attention has been paid to assure compliance with the vision clearance requirements at the 
intersection of SW Ellingsen/SW Parkway Center.  

(.09) Landscape Plans. Landscape plans shall be submitted showing all existing and proposed landscape 
areas. Plans must be drawn to scale and show the type. Installation size, number, and placement of 
materials. Plans shall include a plant material list. Plants are to be identified by both their scientific and 
common names. The condition of any existing plants and the proposed method of irrigation are also to be 
indicated. Landscape plans shall divide all landscape areas into the following categories based on 
projected water consumption for irrigation: 
A. High water usage areas 
B. Moderate water usage areas 
C. Low water usage areas 
D. Interim or unique water usage areas 

RESPONSE:  Because the project will be using a split irrigation system (essentially the old system and a new 
system), and will have both established plants, as well as newly installed plant materials, the water usage for the 
project will be extremely efficient. Everything being watered by the old system would be considered ‘Interim or 
unique water areas’. The new plant materials will require ‘Moderate to Low’ water usages, with the intent to water 
on an ‘Interim’ schedule after plant materials are established (1 to 3 years). 

 
4.177 Street Improvement Standards.  
This section contains the City’s requirements and standards for pedestrian, bicycle and transit facility 
improvements to public streets, or within public easements. The purpose of this section is to ensure that 
development, including redevelopment, provides transportation facilities that are safe, convenient and adequate 
in rough proportion to their impacts.  
(.08) Access Drive and Driveway Approach Development Standards. 

A. An access drive to any proposed development shall be designed to provide a clear travel lane free from 
any obstructions. 

E.   Minimum access requirements shall be adjusted commiserate with the intended function of the site 
based on vehicle types and traffic generation. 

I.   Driveways shall accommodate all projected vehicular traffic on-site without vehicle stacking or backing 
up onto a street. 

J.   Driveways shall be designed so that vehicle areas, including but not limited to drive up and drive 
through facilities and vehicle storage and service areas, do not obstruct any public right-of-way. 

RESPONSE:  No new streets or access drives are proposed with this project. There are currently three existing 
access points to the project. One access drive is located on SW Ellingsen Road along the north side of the site. 
This is a 24-foot driveway which will be widened to 36-feet. There are two driveways off of SW Parkway Center 
Drive. The driveway closest to the SW Ellingsen/SW Parkway Center intersection will remain as is but will become 
a designated right-in/right-out access. The second driveway from SW Parkway Center Road, located at the SW 
corner of the site will also be widen from 24-feet to 36-feet and will be a full access driveway. As designed these 
access points provide safe and adequate access to the site and comply with the suggestions of City staff as 
presented at the pre-application conference. 

B. Access drive travel lanes shall be constructed with a hard surface capable of carrying a 23-ton load. 
C. Where emergency vehicle access is required, approaches and driveways shall be designed and 

constructed to accommodate emergency vehicle apparatus and shall conform to applicable fire 
protection standards.  



 

 - 18 - 

RESPONSE:  All access driveways and internal maneuvering lanes will be constructed to the City of Wilsonville 
Construction Standards. Additionally, vehicular ramps into the building display area, service bays and detailing 
facilities are proposed, to be constructed to all applicable standards. 

K.   Approaches and driveways shall not be wider than necessary to safely accommodate projected peak 
hour trips and turning movements, and shall be designed to minimize crossing distances for 
pedestrians.  

RESPONSE: Additional sidewalk sections are proposed at the access driveway at the SW corner of the site. 
Additional ramps and striping is also proposed throughout the site to better facilitate pedestrian movement and 
safety. ADA parking spaces and ramps have been added to meet existing code.Two parking areas have been 
connected at the NW corner of the site to provide better vehicular connectivity.   

 
4.178 Sidewalk and Path Standards. (Deleted by Ord. #719, 6/17/13, see Section 4.177) 

RESPONSE: A new pedestrian sidewalks will connect the front entry to the public right-of-way and transit stop with 
a minimum of five feet wide and a differentiating material at the vehicle drive. 

 
4.179 Mixed Solid Waste ad Recyclables Storage in New Multi-Unit Residential and Non-Residential 
Buildings 
(.03) The storage area requirement shall be based on the predominant use(s) of the building. If a building has 

more than one of the uses listed herein and that use occupies 20 percent or less of the floor area of the 
building, the floor area occupied by that use shall be counted toward the floor area of the predominant 
use(s). If a building has more than one of the uses listed herein and that use occupies more than 20 
percent of the floor area of the building, then the storage area requirement for the whole building shall be 
the sum of the requirement for the area of each use. 

RESPONSE: The storage area is calculated on four (4) uses in the building.  This includes commercial service 
(other), automotive sales (other), offices and industrial storage (other). See architectural site plan and floor plan for 
areas in tabulating for mixed solid waste & recycling storage. The size is also mentioned below. 

(.05) The specific requirements are based on an assumed storage height of four feet for solid 
waste/recyclables. Vertical storage higher than four feet but no higher than seven feet may be used to 
accommodate the same volume of storage in a reduced floor space. Where vertical or stacked storage is 
proposed, the site plan shall include drawings to illustrate the layout of the storage area and dimensions for 
the containers. 

RESPONSE:  Storage wall height will be 6’-0”, higher than the 4’-0” minimum requirements and less than 7’-0” 
maximum 

 (.06) The specific requirements for storage area are as follows: 
B. Non-residential buildings shall provide a minimum storage area of ten square feet, plus: 

1. Office: Four square feet per 1,000 square feet gross floor area (GFA); 
2. Retail: Ten square feet per 1,000 square feet GFA; 
4. Other: Four square feet per 1,000 square feet GFA. 

RESPONSE: The storage area will be 204 square feet which exceeds the required 187 square foot. Refer to exhibit 
D in the attached appendix for mixed solid waste & recycling storage tabulation. 

(.07) The applicant shall work with the City’s franchised garbage hauler to ensure that site plans provide 
adequate access for the hauler’s equipment and that storage area is adequate for the anticipated volumes, 
level of service and any other special circumstances which may result in the storage area exceeding its 
capacity. The hauler shall notify the City by letter of their review of site plans and make recommendations 
for changes in those plans pursuant to the other provisions of this section. 

RESPONSE:  Refuse and recycling for the new Tenant A has been proposed on the East side of the building in the 
service storage lot and sized per the specific area types.  This will be screened to current standards and illustrated 
on the architectural site plan.  Since Tenant B is unknown at this time, the propose area will be retained on the 
inside of the building. 

 
4.199 OUTDOOR LIGHTING 

4.199.50 Submittal Requirements 
(.01)Applicants shall submit the following information as part of DRB review or administrative review of new 

commercial, industrial, multi-family or public facility projects: 



 

 - 19 - 

A. A statement regarding which of the lighting methods will be utilized, prescriptive or performance, 
and a map depicting the lighting zone(s) for the property. 

B. A site lighting plan that clearly indicates intended lighting by type and location.  For adjustable 
luminaires, the aiming angles or coordinates shall be shown. 

C. For each luminaire type, drawings, cut sheets or other documents containing specifications for the 
intended lighting including but not limited to, luminaire description, mounting, mounting height, 
lamp type and manufacturer, lamp watts, ballast, optical system/distribution, and accessories such 
as shields. 

D. Calculations demonstrating compliance with Oregon Energy Efficiency Specialty Code, Exterior 
Lighting, as modified by Section 4.199.40(.01)(B.)(2.) [Amended by Ord. 688, 11/15/10] 

E. Lighting plans shall be coordinated with landscaping plans so that pole lights and trees are not 
placed in conflict with one another. The location of lights shall be shown on the landscape plan. 
Generally, pole lights should not be placed within one pole length of landscape and parking lot 
trees. 

F. Applicants shall identify the hours of lighting curfew. 
 (.02) In addition to the above submittal requirements, Applicants using the Prescriptive Method shall submit 

the following information as part of the permit set plan review: 
A.   A site lighting plan (items 1 A - F, above) which indicates for each luminaire the 3 mounting height 

line to demonstrate compliance with the setback requirements. For luminaires mounted within 3 
mounting heights of the property line the compliance exception or special shielding requirements 
shall be clearly indicated. 

 (.03)In addition to the above submittal requirements, Applicants using the Performance Method shall 
submit the following information as part of the permit set plan review: 
A. Site plan showing horizontal isocandle lines, or the output of a point-by-point computer calculation 

of the horizontal illumination of the site, showing property lines and light levels immediately off of 
the subject property. 

B. For each side of the property, the output of a point-by-point vertical footcandle calculation showing 
illumination in the vertical plane at the property line from grade to at least 10 feet higher than the 
height of the tallest pole. 

C. Lighting plans shall be prepared by a qualified licensed engineer. 
 (.04)In addition to the above applicable submittal requirements, Applicants for Special Permits shall 

submit the following to the DRB for review: 
A.   Tabulation of International Engineering Society of North America (IESNA) lighting 

recommendations for each task including area illuminated, recommended illumination level, 
actual maintained illumination level, and luminaires used specifically to achieve the indicated 
criteria. 

B.   Lighting plans shall be prepared by a qualified licensed engineer. 
 (.05)For all calculations, the following light loss factors shall be used unless an alternative is specifically 

approved by the City: 
Metal halide 0.6 
High pressure 

sodium 
0.8 

Compact fluorescent 0.7 
Full size fluorescent 0.75 
Incandescent 0.9 
Halogen 0.95 
Other As 

approv
ed 

4.199.60. Major Additions or Modifications to Pre-Existing Sites. 



 

 - 20 - 

 (01.)Major Additions.  If a major addition occurs on a property, all of the luminaires on the site shall comply 
with the requirements of this Section. For purposes of this sub- section, the following are considered to 
be major additions: 
A. Additions of 50 percent or more in terms of additional dwelling units, gross floor area, seating 

capacity, or parking spaces, either with a single addition or with cumulative additions after July 2, 
2008. 

B. Modification or replacement of 50 percent or more of the outdoor lighting luminaries’ within 
a 5-year timeframe existing as of July 2, 2008. 

RESPONSE: 
(.01)  Lighting Compliance Method – Performance Option 
Lighting Zone – LZ2: maximum luminaire wattage 100w fully shielded, maximum mounting height 40 feet, 
maximum light level at property line 0.2fc horizontal 0.4fc vertical. 
Site lighting plan attached as part of submitted package.  Lighting plan has luminaire mounting height noted for the 
proposed new luminaire types.  New luminaires will be installed in the same location as existing pole mounted 
luminaires along SW Parkway Center Dr. using existing pole bases and electrical circuiting. 
Lighting Power Density: From Table 505.6.2(2) OEESC the site is classified as Parking areas and drives and is 
permitted 0.06w per sq. ft.  The paved area for the lighting improvements is 24,247 square feet giving a total of 
1,545.82 watts allowed by code in LZ2.  Lighting power for the modified area is 988 watts [(11) type S1 at 68 watts 
each, (2) type S2 at 120 watts each]. 
Due to the BPA right of way that runs through the property the maximum height of pole mounted luminaires has 
been limited to 20 feet. 
The curfew for this site is 10pm.  The luminaires will be controlled by time clock and will reduce by 50% during 
curfew hours.  The owner will make the necessary changes to the existing lighting to reduce the light levels by 50% 
during curfew hours. 
 (.03) 
Submitted lighting plans include photometric data for horizontal compliance and vertical compliance at the property 
line within the area of modification.  The vertical calculations show compliance with Table 9.  The property line 
along the area of modification is the curb line and as shown in the calculations meet the LZ2 requirements.  The 
remaining light levels shown on the photometric plan indicates the existing conditions, the owner has no plans to 
make changes these areas at this time. 
None of the surrounding properties were required to meet Section 4.199 and most have significant light trespass 
and degradation of the nighttime environment.  The parcel to the West side of SW Parkway Center Drive is a large 
retail parcel that is classified as a LZ3 and is allowed double the light trespass. 
(.05) 
Listed light loss factors were used for new luminaires using the sources listed.  A light loss factor of 0.83 was used 
for the new LED luminaires. 
(.06) 
Less than 50% of the luminaires are being replaced or added for this project 

 
SECTIONS 4.300 – 4.320 UNDERGROUND UTILITIES 

4.400 Purpose 
 

SECTIONS 4.400 – 4.450 SITE DESIGN REVIEW 
4.400 Purpose 
 
4.421. Criteria and Application of Design Standards. 

A.  Preservation of Landscape. The landscape shall be preserved in its natural state, in so far as 
practicable, by minimizing tree and soils removal, and any grade changes shall be in keeping with the 
general appearance of neighboring developed areas. 

RESPONSE: The existing development is heavily landscaped.  There will be tree removal, requiring the Tree ‘C’ 
permit, in order to accommodate the new tenant.  Supplemental landscape will be installed to providing screening 
requirements for some additional parking areas.  See arborist report, landscape plans, and plant material cut 
sheets. 

B.  Relation of Proposed Buildings to Environment. Proposed structures shall be located and designed to 
assure harmony with the natural environment, including protection of steep slopes, vegetation and 



 

 - 21 - 

other naturally sensitive areas for wildlife habitat and shall provide proper buffering from less intensive 
uses in accordance with Sections 4.171 and 4.139 and 4.139.5. The achievement of such relationship 
may include the enclosure of space in conjunction with other existing buildings or other proposed 
buildings and the creation of focal points with respect to avenues of approach, street access or 
relationships to natural features such as vegetation or topography. 

RESPONSE:  The front wall addition is relatively minor and doesn’t impact the site.  It provides a portal entry to 
better define the entrance of the building from the approach.  Drive access locations are unchanged.  Parking and 
drive alterations improve circulation for on-site access by connecting the west and north lots, reducing the load on 
the public right-of-way.  Parking screened with landscape buffer areas will enhance the frontage.  See architectural 
site plan, civil plans and landscape plans. 

C.  Drives, Parking and Circulation. With respect to vehicular and pedestrian circulation, including 
walkways, interior drives and parking, special attention shall be given to location and number of access 
points, general interior circulation, separation of pedestrian and vehicular traffic, and arrangement of 
parking areas that are safe and convenient and, insofar as practicable, do not detract from the design 
of proposed buildings and structures and the neighboring properties. 

RESPONSE:  As previously mentioned, access drives for the project are not being altered from what currently 
exists.  Drive aisle widths have been increased to bring them into conformance, except the north access on SW 
Parkway.  The new interior drive lane allows access for separate customer, service, employee parking, and storage 
lots.  Reconfiguration of the parking also allows for a loading space with easy access to the new trash enclosure on 
the east side of the building.  See the architectural site plans and trash enclosure. 

D.  Surface Water Drainage. Special attention shall be given to proper site surface drainage so that 
removal of surface waters will not adversely affect neighboring properties of the public storm drainage 
system. 

RESPONSE:  Impervious surface disturbance will be kept to a minimum.  The new area being added will be 
pervious a.c. paving to allow storm water to infiltrate and slow surface water shedding in order to not impact the 
public system.  See civil plans.  

E.  Utility Service. Any utility installations above ground shall be located so as to have a harmonious 
relation to neighboring properties and site. The proposed method of sanitary and storm sewage 
disposal from all buildings shall be indicated. 

RESPONSE:  Existing utility services will be retained.  See survey and civil plans.  
F.  Advertising Features. In addition to the requirements of the City's sign regulations, the following criteria 

should be included: the size, location, design, color, texture, lighting and materials of all exterior signs 
and outdoor advertising structures or features shall not detract from the design of proposed buildings 
and structures and the surrounding properties. 

RESPONSE:  The building has an approved Master Sign Plan and modified Plan 84PC15 and 89PC15 for 
allowable area. This area is requested to be the same to allow the site and building signs to be installed for this 
Tenant and allow for flexibility for the other future tenant.  The architectural site plan illustrates (1) monument sign 
on SW Parkway and (1) directional sign on Elligsen.  The architectural exterior elevations illustrate the building 
signs with (2) on the north face for service and (5) of the west face for the dealer nameplate and for each brand.  
This sheet include information on size, location design, color, texture, lighting, and materials.  Signage is consistent 
with typical signage for this type of use and enhances the overall aesthetic of the building while not detracting from 
surrounding properties. 

G.  Special Features. Exposed storage areas, exposed machinery installations, surface areas, truck 
loading areas, utility buildings and structures and similar accessory areas and structures shall be 
subject to such setbacks, screen plantings or other screening methods as shall be required to prevent 
their being incongruous with the existing or contemplated environment and its surrounding properties. 
Standards for screening and buffering are contained in Section 4.176. 

RESPONSE:  Exterior service storage will receive high landscape and fence screening as required and illustrated 
on the architectural site plan and landscape plans.  This area receives a new screened trash enclosure and new 
vehicle carrier truck loading zone.  Existing loading berths are to be abandoned for this tenant and overhead doors 
replaced with storefront.  Due to action the high screen wall is to be removed from the Elligsen street side and 
replace with low landscape screening for required parking.  The new renovation will have a positive impact on the 
surrounding properties. 

 



 

 - 22 - 

4.430. Location, Design and Access Standards for mixed Solid Waste and 
Recycling Areas 
(.02) Location Standards: 

A.  To encourage its use, the storage area for source separated recyclables shall be collocated with the 
storage area for residual mixed solid waste. 

RESPONSE:  A new trash enclosure located at the east side of the site, directly across from the loading space will 
house both recyclables as well as solid waste. 

B.  Indoor and outdoor storage areas shall comply with Uniform Building and Fire Code requirements. 
RESPONSE:  Storage areas proposed are in compliance with current applicable building and fire codes. 

C.  Storage area space requirements can be satisfied with a single location or multiple locations and can 
combine with both interior and exterior locations. 

RESPONSE:  The primary storage area for waste and recycling for this tenant is the new trash enclosure located at 
the east side of the building.  The future tenant will retain internal trash storage as typical with this area. 

D.  Exterior storage areas can be located within interior side yard or rear yard areas. Minimum setback 
shall be three (3) feet. Exterior storage areas shall not be located within a required front yard setback, 
including double frontage lots. 

RESPONSE:  The trash enclosure is located at the back of the site and is aligned with the existing back building 
wall away from the property line or frontage.  See architectural site plan. 

E.  Exterior storage areas shall be located in central and visible locations on a site to enhance security for 
users. 

RESPONSE:  The trash enclosure is centrally located along the back side of the building and easily visible within 
the screen exterior storage area.  No security concerns exist due to the location.   

F.  Exterior storage areas can be located in a parking area if the proposed use provides at least the 
minimum number of parking spaces required for the use after deducting the area used for storage. 
Storage areas shall be appropriately screened according to the provisions of Section 4.430 (.03), 
below. 

RESPONSE:  The trash enclosure is located within the parking lot zones so as to not impact parking or 
maneuvering around the site.  It’s location provides screening from the street 

G.  The storage area shall be accessible for collection vehicles and located so that the storage area will not 
obstruct pedestrian or vehicle traffic movement on the site or on public streets adjacent to the site. 

RESPONSE:  The trash enclosure is located so the hauler can easily access and exit the site with a forward 
motion.  As it sits deep into the site, the street will not be affected.  It is located along a 2-way drive aisle and is out 
of the way of parking and maneuvering as well as pedestrian traffic. 

 (.03) Design Standards. 
A.  The dimensions of the storage area shall accommodate containers consistent with current methods of 

local collection. 
RESPONSE:  Dimensions are as indicated on architectural trash enclosure sheet.  Inside walls include wooded 
bumpers. 

B.  Storage containers shall meet Uniform Fire Code standards and be made of or covered with waterproof 
materials or situated in a covered area. 

RESPONSE:  Allied Waste will provide covered storage containers. 
C.  Exterior storage areas shall be enclosed by a sight obscuring fence, wall or hedge at least six (6) feet 

in height. Gate openings for haulers shall be a minimum of ten (10) feet wide and shall be capable of 
being secured in a closed or open position. In no case shall exterior storage areas be located in conflict 
with the vision clearance requirements of Section 4.177. 

RESPONSE:  Exterior Storage area has 6’ high site obscuring wall to match the building and has two sets of gates. 
Bolts will be designed to hold the gates in both the open and closed positions 

D.  Storage area(s) and containers shall be clearly labeled to indicate the type of materials accepted.  
RESPONSE:  Allied Waste will provide labels on storage containers. 

 (.04) Access Standards. 



 

 - 23 - 

A.  Access to storage areas can be limited for security reasons. However, the storage area shall be 
accessible to users at convenient times of the day and to collect service personnel on the day and 
approximate time they are scheduled to provide collection service. 

RESPONSE:  Storage area is located adjacent to the service area of the building and is limited to the dealership’s 
use yet provides access to collection vehicles. 

B.  Storage areas shall be designed to be easily accessible to collection trucks and equipment, considering 
paving, grade and vehicle access. A minimum of ten (10) feet horizontal clearance and eight feet of 
vertical clearance is required if the storage area is covered. 

RESPONSE:  Storage area is design for easy access for the collection vehicles with 10’-0” horizontal clearance 
and 8’-0” vertical clearance. 

C.  Storage areas shall be accessible to collection vehicles without requiring backing out of a driveway 
onto a public street. If only a single access point is available to the storage area, adequate turning 
radius shall be provided to allow collection vehicles to safely exit the site in a forward motion.  

RESPONSE:  Storage areas are accessible to collection vehicles without requiring backing out of driveway onto a 
public street. 

 
4.450 Installation of Landscaping. 
(.01) All landscape required by this section and approved by the Board shall be installed prior to issuance of 

occupancy permits, unless security equal to one hundred and ten percent of the cost of the landscaping as 
determined by the Planning Director is filed with the City assuring such installation within six months of 
occupancy. 

(.02) Action by the City approving a proposed landscape plan shall be binding upon the applicant. Substitution 
of plant materials, irrigation systems, or other aspects of an approved landscape plans shall not be made 
without official action of the Planning Director or Development Review Board as specified in this code. 

(.03) All landscape shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, weeding, pruning and 
replacing in a substantially similar manner as originally approved by the Board, unless altered with Board 
approval. 

RESPONSE:  All landscape will be installed as approved by the City of Wilsonville, prior to application for 
Occupancy Permit. The landscape design shall be maintained as approved. 

 
4.600 TREE PRESERVATION AND PROTECTION 

4.600. Purpose and Declaration 
 
4.600.20 Applicability of Subchapter 

RESPONSE:  This project recognizes and conforms to the purpose, applicability and all standards related to the 
existing trees, in a manner outlined within the Arborist’s Report.  

 
4.600.30 Tree Removal Permit Required 
(.01) Requirement Established. No person shall remove any tree without first obtaining a Tree Removal Permit 

(TRP) as required by this subchapter. 
RESPONSE:  A Tree Removal Permit has been submitted. 

 
4.600.50 Application for Tree Removal Permit 
(.01) Application for Permit. A person seeking to remove one or more trees shall apply to the Director for a Tree 

Removal Permit for a Type A, B, C, or D permit, depending on the applicable standards as provided in this 
subchapter.  
D. An application for a tree removal permit that does not meet the requirements of Type A may be 

submitted as a Type B application. 
(.02) Time of Application. 
(.03) Fees. 

Application for the Tree Removal Permit will be made as required by this code. 
 
4.610.00 Application Review Procedure 



 

 - 24 - 

 (.03) Reviewing Authority 
E. Type C. where the site is proposed for development necessitating site plan review or plat approval by 

the Development Review Board, the Development Review Board shall be responsible for granting or 
denying the application for a Tree Removal Permit, and that decision may be subject to affirmance, 
reversal or modification by the City Council, if subsequently reviewed by the council. 

RESPONSE:  This project will require a Type C review procedure. 
 

4.610.10 Standards for Tree Removal, Relocation or Replacement 
(.01) Except where an application is exempt, or where otherwise noted, the following standards shall govern the 

review of an application for a Type A, B, C, or D Tree Removal Permit.  
B. Preservation and Conservation. No development application shall be denied solely because trees grow 

on the site. Nevertheless, tree preservation and conservation as a design principal shall be equal in 
concern and importance to other design principles.  

C. Developmental Alternatives. Preservation and conservation of wooded areas and trees shall be given 
careful consideration when there are feasible and reasonable location alternatives and design options 
on-site for proposed buildings, structures or other site improvements. 

D. Land Clearing. Where the proposed activity requires land clearing, the clearing shall be limited to 
designated street rights of way and areas necessary for the construction of buildings, structures or 
other site improvements. 

F. Compliance With Statutes and Ordinances. The proposed activity shall comply with all applicable 
statues and ordinances.  

G. Relocation and Replacement. The proposed activity shall include necessary provisions for tree 
relocation or replacement, in accordance with WC 4.620.00, and the protection of those tress that are 
not to be removed, in accordance with WC 4.620.10. 

RESPONSE:  This project complies with all applicable standards related to the removal and preservation of existing 
trees, as outlined within the Arborist’s Report included in this Design Review Application package.  

H.  Limitation. Tree removal or transplanting shall be limited to instances where the applicant has provided 
complete information as required by this Chapter and the reviewing authority determines that removal 
or transplanting in necessary based on the criteria of this subsection. 
1.  Necessary for Construction. Where the applicant has shown to the satisfaction of the reviewing 

authority that removal or transplanting is necessary for the construction of a building, structure of 
other site improvement, and that there is no feasible and reasonable location alternative or design 
option on-site for a proposed building, structure or other site improvement; or a tree is located too 
close to existing or proposed buildings or structures, or creates unsafe vision clearance.  

2.  Disease, Damage, or Nuisance, or Hazard. Where the tree is diseased, damaged, or in danger of 
falling, or presents a hazard as defined in WC 6.208, or is a nuisance as defined in WC 6.200 et 
seq., or creates unsafe vision clearance as defined in this code. Avoid substantial probabilities of: 
(1) accelerated erosion; (3) damage to vegetation. 
(a)  As a condition of approval of Stage II development, filbert trees must be removed if they are no 

longer commercially grown or maintained.  
3.  Interference. Where the tree interferes with the healthy growth of other trees, existing utility service 

or drainage, or utility work in a previously dedicated right-of-way, and it is not feasible to preserve 
the tree on site. 

4.  Other. Where the applicant shows that tree removal or transplanting is reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

RESPONSE:  The Arborist Report for this project details how each tree that will be removed meets the above 
criteria. 

I. Additional Standards for Type C Permits. 
1.  Tree Survey. For all site development applications reviewed under the provisions of Chapter 4 

Planning and Zoning, the developer shall provide a Tree Survey before site development as 
required by WC 4.610.40, and provide a Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan, unless specifically 
exempted by the Planning Director of DRB, prior to initiating site development.  

3.   Utilities. The City Engineer shall cause utilities to be located and placed wherever reasonably 
possible to avoid adverse environmental consequences given the circumstances of existing 
locations, costs of placement and extensions, the public welfare, terrain, and preservation of 



 

 - 25 - 

natural resources. Mitigation and/or replacement of any removed trees shall be in accordance with 
the standards of this subchapter. 

RESPONSE:  A Tree Survey is included in the Application package. Also included in the package are Utility Plans 
which have been prepared with consideration to existing trees, to provide minimal impact and removal.  

 
4.610.40 Type C Permit 
(.02) The applicant must provide ten copies of a Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan completed by an 

arborist that contains the following information: 
A. A Plan, including topographical survey bearing the stamp and signature of a qualified, registered 

professional containing all the following information: 
1. Property Dimensions. 
2. Tree Survey. 
3. Tree Protection 
4. Easements and Setbacks 
5. Grade Changes. 
6. Cost of Replacement. 
7. Tree Identification. 

RESPONSE:  This project complies with all applicable standards related to the removal, protection and 
preservation of existing trees, as outlined within the Arborist’s Report included in this Design Review Application 
package. A Tree Survey which identifies all existing trees on-site is included in the Application package. 

 
4.620.00 Tree Location, Mitigation, or Replacement 

RESPONSE:  This project complies with all applicable standards related to the removal, protection and 
preservation of existing trees, as outlined within the Arborist’s Report included in this Design Review Application 
package. A Tree Survey which identifies all existing trees on-site is included in the Application package. 

 
4.620.10 Tree Protection During Construction 

RESPONSE:  Tree protection procedures during construction are outlined in the Arborist’s Report included in this 
application submittal package. 

 
4.6920.20 Maintenance and Protection Standards 

RESPONSE:  Tree protection and maintenance procedures are outlined in the Arborist’s Report included in this 
application submittal package.  
 
LRS hopes that this narrative helps in defining the burden of proof of finding the facts to the requested applicable 
criteria from The City of Wilsonville’s Planning and Land Development Ordinance. 

 
 

Sincerely, 
LRS Architects, Inc. 
 
 
 
Daniel Drake 
Associate 
 

 



WILSONVILLE CHRYSLER DODGE JEEP RAM  
WILSONVILLE, OREGON 

25600 SW Parkway Center Drive 
PLANNING SET 

DB14-0036 Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 
DB14-0037 Stage II Final Plan 
DB14-0038 Site Design Review 

DB14-0039 Master Sign Plan Revision 
DB14-0040 Type 'C' Tree Plan 

 
April 25, 2014

503.221.1121  

503.221.2077  

www.lrsarchitects.com

720 NW Davis 

Suite 300 

Portland OR 97209

PROJECT DIRECTORY DRAWING INDEX

SHEET TITLE

CS0
CS0

Planning Coversheet
Engineering Coversheet

ARCHITECT:  
Richard J Youngblood Architect 
610 W Hubbard Street, Ste 119 
Coeur d'Alene, ID 83814 
Telephone: (208) 215-7222 
Representative: Richard Youngblood 
Email: richard@rjyoungblood.com 
 
STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:  
TBD 
 
LIGHTING DESIGNER:  
Interface Engineering  
708 SW 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 
Portland, OR 97204 
Telephone: (503) 382-2266 
Facsimile: (503) 382-22620 
Representative:  Michael Larsen - Senior Lighting Designer 
Email: MichaelL@interfaceeng.com 
 
CIVIL ENGINE & LANDSCAPE:  
AAI Engineering Inc  
4875 SW Griffith Drive, Ste 300 
Beaverton, OR 97005 
Telephone: (503) 620-3030 
Representative:  Michael O'Brien 
Email: michael@aaieng.com 
 
CIVIL ENGINEER & LANDSCAPE:  
AAI Engineering Inc  
4875 SW Griffith Drive, Ste 300 
Beaverton, OR 97005 
Telephone: (503) 620-3030 
Representative:  Michael O'Brien 
Email: michael@aaieng.com 
 
ARBORIST:  
Applied Horticultural Consulting, Inc.  
P.O. Box 2355 
Lake Oswego, OR 97035-1420 
Telephone: (503) 756-5198 
Representative:  Don Richards, President 
Email: don@appliedhort.com 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
AP

PL
IC

AT
IO

N
 0

4.
25

.1
4 

(E
ng

in
ee

rin
g)

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
AP

PL
IC

AT
IO

N
 0

4.
25

.1
4 

(P
la

nn
in

g)

ALTA Survey & Notes1 of 1

Existing Conditions & Demo PlanC0

C1
C1

C2
Site DetailsC3

Planting PlanL1.01
L2.01 Tree Plan

OWNER & OWNER REPRESTATIVES:  
 
DEVELOPMENT COMPANY: 
Findlay Family Properties Limited 
Partnership  
310 N Gibson Road 
Henderson, NV 89014 
Telephone: (702) 558-8822 
Facsimile: (702) 558-5414 
Representative: Tyler Corder 
Email: tcorder@findlayauto.com 
 
PROJECT MANAGEMENT: 
Pinnell Busch, Inc  
6420 SW Macadam Avenue, Ste 330 
Portland, OR 97239 
Telephone: (503) 293-6280 
Facsimile: (503) 293-6284 
Representative: John Costello 
Email: john@pinnellbusch.com 
 
SURVEY:  
Northwest Sureying Inc  
P.O. Box 7177 
Beaverton, OR 97007 
Telephone: (503) 848-2127 
Representative:  Clint Stubs 
Email: nwsurveying@nwsrvy.com 
 
TRAFFIC ENGINEER:  
DKS Associates 
117 Commercial Streee NE, Suite 310 
Salem, OR 97301 
Telephone: (503) 391-8773 
Representative:  Brad Coy, P.E. & Joseph Reid, E.I.T. 
 
 

E100
Photometric Site Light (vertical & horizontal burn)

CIVIL (supplied by AAI Engineering Inc)

Grading & Erosion Control Details
Grading Plan

Utility Plan

Existing Conditions & Demo PlanC0.0

C1.1
C1.0

C2.0

Public DetailsC3.1
C3.0

Grading & Erosion Control Details
Grading Plan

Utility Plan

Existing Site PlanAz1.00

Az1.02
Az1.01

Az1.03
Existing Floor Plans

Proposed Building Uses and Areas
Demolitian Floor Plan

West Exterior Elevations
North Exterior Elevations with Proposed Site and Building Signs

Az1.04

Az1.06
Az1.05

Az2.00
Az2.01

Proposed Site Plan
Demolitian Site Plan

Trash Enclosure Details

E100PH
Photometric Site Light (Fixture Types)

PROJECT CONSULTANTS:  
 
PLANNING:  
LRS Architects, Inc.  
720 NW Davis Street, Suite 300 
Portland, OR.  97209 
Telephone: (503) 221-1121 
Facsimile: (503) 221-2077 
Representative: Steve Mileham - President 
Danny Drake - Project Manager 
Email: ddrake@lrsarchitects.com

REVISED DRAWING (RE)ISSUED UNCHANGED DELETED ISSUED FOR REFERENCE ONLYR

SURVEY (supplied by Northwest Survey)

LANDSCAPE (supplied by AAI Engineering Inc)

LIGHTING (supplied by Interface Engineering Inc)

CIVIL (supplied by AAI Engineering Inc)

ARCHITECTURAL (supplied by Richard J Youngblood Architecture)

swhite
Stamp





ALL DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS ISSUED AS  PART OF THE SERVICES
RENDERED BY THE ARCHITECT FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL REMAIN THE
PROPERTY OF THE ARCHITECT. ANY DUPLICATION OF THE DRAWINGS AND/OR
SPECIFICATIONS IN WHOLE OR IN PART FOR USE ON ANY OTHER PROJECT OR
FOR COMPLETION OF THIS PROJECT BY OTHERS, IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED
WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF RICHARD J. YOUNGBLOOD, ARCHITECT

ISSUE DATE:

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED FOR:

Proposed Site Plan

Wilsonville Chrysler •
Dodge • Jeep • Ram

4/25/14

08-020-14

REVIEW

Az1.02

25600 SW Parkway Center
Drive

Wilsonville,Oregon 97070

No.   Date              Revision

Notes:

Richard J. Youngblood

Architect
610 W. Hubbard Street, Suite 119

Coeur d'Alene, Idaho 83814

p. 208-215-7222

c. 208-691-9679

e. richard@rjyoungblood.com

-

-

SITE DISTURBANCE AT WIDENED DRIVEWAY - SOUTH
THE NET AREA OF LANDSCAPE REMOVED AS A RESULT
OF THE EXPANDED DRIVEWAY WIDTH AND NEW
ACCESSIBLE PEDESTRIAN ROUTE (ADA) IS

280

1,143.62 sq ft

REMOVE THE EXISTING STAIR & THE BRIDGE
TO THE EXISTING EXTERIOR DECK.  NOTE:

THE HATCHED AREA REPRESENTS THE
REMOVAL OF EXISTING CONCRETE

BELOW THE STAIR AT THE NEW DRIVE-THRU

SHADED AREA INDICATES 5 NEW PARKING STALLS
CONSTRUCTED WITH                       OF PERVIOUS

PAVEMENT

SHADED AREA INDICATES A NEW SIDEWALK
CONSTRUCTED WITH                    OF CONCRETE

SHADED AREA INDICATES A NEW DRIVEWAY
CONSTRUCTED WITH                       OF PERVIOUS

PAVEMENT

VISION CLEARANCE PER A-1771 (.02)
-   LIGHT / UTILITY POLES  TO BE < 12'-0" TALL
-   TREES <6" DBH UPON STAGE II APPROVAL
-   TREES TRIMMED TO 12'-0" CLEAR ABOVE
  PAVING CLEAR OF ROAD SIGNS.

5'-0" x 10'-0" VISION CLEARANCE

5'-0" x 10'-0" VISION CLEARANCE

SITE DISTURBANCE AT WIDENED DRIVEWAY - NORTH
- REMOVED LANDSCAPE SOUTH OF SIDEWALK
- REMOVED LANDSCAPE NORTH OF SIDEWALK
  NET SITE DISTURBANCE

164'-5"

50'-7"

36'-0"

36
'-0

"

13
4'

-4
49

/6
4"

143'-415/32"

100'-825/64"

94
'-8

31
/3

2"
 P

ro
po

se
d 

M
in

im
um

98
'-5

23
/6

4"
 E

xi
st

in
g 

M
in

im
um

5'

30'-0"

30'-0"

5'

10
'-0

"

10'-0"

5'

294.51 sq ft

474.13 sq ft

3,135.63 sq ft

1,094.20 sq ft

239.89 sq ft

28.90 sq ft
485.60 sq ft

88.11 sq ft

NEW ILLUMINATED "DEALERSHIP"
MONUMENT SIGN, SEE DETAIL #3 /
Az2.01.SIGN TO BE LOCATED 3'-0"
FROM THE PROPERTY LINE.

NEW CONCRETE DEALERSHIP
ENTRY SIDEWALK

BELOW GRADE WATER RECLAIM
TANKS FOR THE CAR WASH & DETAIL BAYS.

 INDOOR BULK OIL STORAGE
& COMPRESSOR ROOM

RELOCATE TREE AS
SHOWN.

REMOVE A                     PORTION OF
LANDSCAPE FOR A NEW CONCRETE DRIVEWAY
TO DOORS.

NEW NON-ILLUMINATED "SERVICE"
MONUMENT SIGN, SEE DETAIL 4 / Az2.01.

SIGN TO BE LOCATED 6'-0" FROM THE
PROPERTY LINE.

EXISTING 28'-6"
WIDE DRIVEWAY TO
BE WIDENED TO
36'-0" WIDE

LINE OF ORIGINAL
DRIVEWAY - (SHADED
AREA REPRESENTS
LANDSCAPE
REMOVED)

NEW ADA CROSSWALK

NEW SIDEWALK FOR
ADA ACCESS

MODIFY THIS AREA FOR 4
NEW ADA PARKING STALLS

MODIFY THIS AREA FOR 4
NEW ADA PARKING STALLS

REMOVE A 204 sq ft AREA OF THE
PLANTER FOR ADA ACCESS PATH.

(9) BIKE PARKING SPACES
(9) LONG-TERM LOCATED IN
BLDG.

EXISTING BUS STOP

PER 4.135(.05) D
OPEN STORAGE ALLOWED & COMPLIES W/
95% OPAQUE 6'-0" HIGH LANDSCAPE SCREENING
IN 4.176 AS ILLUSTRATED ON LANDSCAPE PLANS

NEW 6'-0" TALL STORAGE SCREEN
WALL.  CONC TO MATCH BUILDING.

NEW 6'-0" TALL SWINGING GATE WITH
100% OBSCURED FACE PER 4.176 (.02) I

NEW 8'-6" WIDE PERVIOUS PAVING
PRODUCT ACCESS PATH

NEW SHOWROOM PRODUCT ACCESS DOOR

LOW LANDSCAPE SCREENING STANDARD
ALONG SW ELLINGSEN ROAD TO MEET

4.176 (.02) D
PROVIDE NEW  LANDSCAPING AS

ILLUSTRATED IN THE LANDSCAPE PLANS.

LOW LANDSCAPE SCREENING STANDARD
ALONG SW PARKWAY CENTER DRIVE TO

MEET 4.176 (.02) D
PROVIDE NEW  LANDSCAPING AS

ILLUSTRATED IN THE LANDSCAPE PLANS.

STORAGE SCREENED BY 6'-0" HIGH, 95%
OPACITY LANDSCAPE STANDARDS PER

4.176 (.02) I

TRASH ENCLOSURE - See Az1.03
6'-0" TALL CONC WALL TYP WITH
TWO 6'-0" TALL GATES

NEW
DRIVE-
THRU

NEW RAMP TO
ENTRY

EXISTING 25'-0"
WIDE DRIVEWAY
TO BE WIDENED
TO 36'-0" WIDE

EXISTING
DRIVEWAY TO

REMAIN

RECEPTION
ENTRY DOORS
(3 LANES WIDE)

DETAIL

EQUIP.

DETAIL
BAYS (2)

NEW DOOR

514.50 sq ft

EXIST. CONC. RET WALL

EXIST. 6' CONC. WALL

EXIST. 6' HIGH CONC. WALL

EXIST. KEYSTONE RET. WALL

EXIST. K
EYSTONE RETAINING WALL

EXIST. 6' CYCLONE FENCE

SG
B

SGB

SGB

EX
IS

T. 
B.

P.A
. T

OW
ER

TFR

VE
RT

IC
AL

 C
ON

DU
IT

DC

DC

GM

DC
DC

DC

W
AT

SC SC

SC

D

SC

SC

DC

S

EB

W
AT

W
AT

DC

DC

DC

W
M

SC

SC

S

P P

EB

W
AT

TF
R

SW
 E

LL
IG

SE
N 

RO
AD

44
.50

'
31

.00
'

31
.00

'
VA

RI
ES

30.00'

W
V

T

T

P

EM

W
M

WM

EX
IS

T. 
MU

LT
IP

LE
 O

VE
RH

EA
D 

W
IR

ES
HB

GV

WAT

WAT

D

W
AT

GV
D

W
AT

W
ATW

AT
W

AT

W
AT

D

D

P

T

273

273

274

27
4

274

27
4

27
5

275

275

275

275

275

276
276

276

276

276

277

277

277

277

27
7

278

278

278

278

278

279

279

279

279

279

279

279

280

280 280 280

280280

28
1

28
1

281

28
1 281

281

281

28
2

28
2

28
2

282

28
3

28
3

28
3

284

28
4

28
4

284

28
5

285

28
5

285

28
5

28
5

290

290

295

300

305

281

284

SW PARKWAY CENTER DRIVE

EXISTING SIDEWALKEXISTING SIDEWALK

EXISTING
SIDEWALK

VAN

VAN

TENANT "B"
(NO NEW WORK)

EXISTING PARKING
TO REMAIN

EXISTING PARKING TO REMAIN

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 L
O

A
D

IN
G

B
E

R
TH

S
 (9

)

EXISTING LOADING
BERTHS (4)

EXISTING PARKING
TO REMAIN

TENANT "A"

PER  4.135(.05) A
ALL USES EXCEPT STORAGE AND UNLOADING

SHALL BE CONFINED, CONTAINED, AND
CONDUCTED WHOLLY WITHIN THE COMPLETELY

ENCLOSED BUILDING.

TENANT
"A"

SITEWORK

TENANT
"B"

SITEWORK

STORAGE

RESTRIPE (16)
STANDARD
CUSTOMER

(17 EXIST STALLS)

NEW (5)
STANDARD
CUSTOMER

TENANT
"A"

SITEWORK

TENANT
"B"

SITEWORK

EXISTING PARKING
TO REMAIN

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 (8
)

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
E

M
P

LO
Y

E
E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 (1
3)

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
C

U
S

TO
M

E
R

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 (5
)

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
E

M
P

LO
Y

E
E

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 (8
)

S
TA

N
D

A
R

D
E

M
P

LO
Y

E
E

EXISTING (23)
STANDARD
STORAGE

EXISTING (8)
STANDARD
STORAGE

EXISTING (8)
STANDARD
STORAGE

EXISTING (7)
STANDARD
STORAGE EXISTING (8)

STANDARD
STORAGE

RESTRIPE (7)
STANDARD
EMPLOYEE

(8 STALLS EXIST)

PER  4.135(.05) D
OPEN STORAGE ALLOWED.  COMPLIES WITH

95% OPAQUE 6'-0" TALL LANDSCAPE
SCREENING STANDARDS IN 4.176 AS

ILLUSTRATED ON LANDSCAPE PLANS.

TRASH
12' x 24'

TRASH
ENCLOSURE

NEW "STAGING"
STALLS (3)

12' x 20'

PARTS LOADING ZONE
12' x 35' x 17'H

TRUCK C
ARRIER

LO
ADIN

G ZONE

12
' x 

60
' x 

17
'H

Area Use Building Area (sf) Calculation Allowed Proposed Loading 
Tenant A (CDJR)
Office 10,854 Cars = 2.7:1000sf  

min. / 4.1:1000sf 
max.        Bikes = 
1:5000sf or 2min.

Cars = 29 min. /  
45max.             
Bikes = 2min.

none (less than 
30,000sf)

Retail (automotive) 21,773 Cars = 1.67:1000sf 
min. / 6.2:1000sf 
max.        Bikes = 
1:8000sf or 2min.

Cars = 36 min. / 135 
max.          Bikes = 
3 min.

none (less than 
30,000sf)

Warehouse 70,966 Cars = 0.3:1000sf  
min. / 0.5:1000sf 
max.        Bikes = 
1:20,000sf or 2min.

Cars = 21 min. / 35 
max.            Bikes = 
4 min.

2 (30,000-
100,000sf)

Total Tenant A Cars = 86 min./   
215max.             
Bikes = 9 min.

Cars =   215 
(compact 24% max. 
allowed), includes 5 
ADA, Bikes = 9

2 (12'x35'x17'High) 
Parts + Vehicle 
Carrier

Tenant B (Future)
Warehouse 75,718 Cars = 0.3:1000sf  

min. / 0.5:1000sf 
max.        Bikes = 
1:20,000sf or 2min.

Cars = 23 min. /  38 
max.            Bikes = 
4 min.

Cars =   Retain 
existing, including 
1:50 ADA, Bikes = 4

9 Existing Berths to 
remain

PROPOSED PARKING (4.155 Table 5)

N
SCALE:  1"   = 40'1 SITE PLAN - PROPOSED

- THE LANDSCAPE SHOWN ON THIS
PLAN IS FROM THE ORIGINAL
SURVEY.  PLEASE SEE THE
LANDSCAPE DRAWINGS FOR
PROPOSED LANDSCAPE DESIGN
AND DATA. 

GENERAL NOTES



ALL DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS ISSUED AS  PART OF THE SERVICES
RENDERED BY THE ARCHITECT FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL REMAIN THE
PROPERTY OF THE ARCHITECT. ANY DUPLICATION OF THE DRAWINGS AND/OR
SPECIFICATIONS IN WHOLE OR IN PART FOR USE ON ANY OTHER PROJECT OR
FOR COMPLETION OF THIS PROJECT BY OTHERS, IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED
WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF RICHARD J. YOUNGBLOOD, ARCHITECT

ISSUE DATE:

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED FOR:

Trash Enclosure
Details

Wilsonville Chrysler •
Dodge • Jeep • Ram

4/25/14

08-020-14

REVIEW

Az1.03

25600 SW Parkway Center
Drive

Wilsonville,Oregon 97070

No.   Date              Revision

Notes:

Richard J. Youngblood

Architect
610 W. Hubbard Street, Suite 119

Coeur d'Alene, Idaho 83814

p. 208-215-7222

c. 208-691-9679

e. richard@rjyoungblood.com

-

-

3
Az2.03

4'-0" 11'-0" 4'-0" 11'-0" 4'-0"

34'-0"

10
'-8

"

2
Az1.03

CONCRETE PROTECTIVE
CURB - TYP.

PROTECTIVE RAIL AT 3'-0" ABOVE
CONCRETE SLAB  - TYP.

TRASH BIN WITH
LID. N.I.C. - TYP.

S
LO

P
E

 D
O

W
N

A
.C

. P
AV

IN
G

C
O

N
C

R
E

TE

4
Az2.03

4
Az2.03

6'
-0

"

3'
-4

"

TILT UP CONCRETE - TYP.

T. S. POST - TYP.

GATE REINFORCEMENT
BEHIND - TYP.
20 GA. GALVANIZED METAL
DECKING WELDED TO STEEL
ANGLE FRAME - TYP.

CL
REVEAL

A B

6"

TILT UP CONCRETE PANEL

3 X 3 X 3/16 STEEL ANGLE; MITRE FRAME;
WELD CORNERS; GROUND SMOOTH

20 GA. 3" METAL RIBBED PANELS TO BE WELDED TO
CHANNELS

4"L X 2 1/2"W X 1/2" H.D. BUTT HINGES WELDED TO
STEEL ANGLE AND TO STEEL POST (4EA. LEAF)

 4" X 4 1/2" T.S. POST WITH CAP EMBEDDED 3'-0"
INTO 12" SQ. CONCRETE FOOTING (GROUT FILLED)

 WELD STOP PLATE TO CLOSE  SIDE OF
GATE CHANNEL, ONE LEAF

1/4" STL SHIM PLATE TO RECEIVE PIPE
SLEEVE

7/8" I.D. PIPE SLEEVES, WELD TO SHIM
PLATE AND FOR FULL LENGHT OF PIPE

3/4" O.D. STL. ROD

PROVIDE BOLT LOCK HOLE

DETAIL A

DETAIL B

ENCLOSURE SIDE

2" 2" 5" 2" 1" 3" 1"

61/2" 61/2"

7/8" I.D. PIPE SLEEVES, WELD TO SHIM
PLATE AND FOR FULL LENGHT OF PIPE

3/4" O.D. STL. ROD
1/4" STL SHIM PLATE TO RECEIVE PIPE
SLEEVE

PROVIDE BOLT LOCK HOLE

STL GATE FRAMES

3/
4"

3/
4"

3/
4"

3/4"

6'
-0

" +3'-0"

3'
-4

"

6"

3/4" CHAMPHER

TILT UP CONCRETE PANEL

2 X 6 P.T. RAIL ATTACHED TO CONCRETE
WALL WITH 5/8" DIA. EXP. BOLTS
COUNTERSUNK @ 32" O.C. WITH  5 1/2" X
5 1/2" 2 X 6 P.T. BLOCKING @ BOLT
LOCATIONS
FIELD TREAT ALL CUT ENDS OF P.T.
WOOD

CONCRETE SLAB AND
FOOTING

CONCRETE PROTECTIVE
CURB

CL
REVEAL

ABOVE CONC.
SLAB

Area Use Building Area (sf) Calculation Required (sf) Proposed (sf)
Minimum Storage 
Area

10

Tenant A (CDJR)
Office 10,854  4sf:1000sf GFA 43
Retail 21,773 10sf:1000sf GFA 218
Warehouse 70,966 6sf: 1000sf GFA 426
Other TBD 4sf:1000sf GFA TBD
Total Tenant A 687 362 exterior / 325 

Interior

Tenant B (Future)
Warehouse 75,718 6sf: 1000sf GFA 454 Internal to building

Total Building 
Area

179,311 1,141

MIXED SOLID WASTE PROPOSED (4.179(.06))

SCALE:  1/4"   =    1'-0"1 Floor Plan Trash Enclosure

SCALE:  1/4"   =    1'-0"2 Exterior Elevation Trash Enclosure

SCALE:  1 1/2"=    1'-0"4 Trash Enclosure - Jamb & Closure

SCALE:  3"       =    1'-0"5 Trash Enclosure - Gate Bolts

SCALE:  6"       =    1'-0"6 Trash Enclosure - Concrete Reveal
SCALE:  3/4"   =    1'-0"3 Trash Enclosure - Wall Section



ALL DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS ISSUED AS  PART OF THE SERVICES
RENDERED BY THE ARCHITECT FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL REMAIN THE
PROPERTY OF THE ARCHITECT. ANY DUPLICATION OF THE DRAWINGS AND/OR
SPECIFICATIONS IN WHOLE OR IN PART FOR USE ON ANY OTHER PROJECT OR
FOR COMPLETION OF THIS PROJECT BY OTHERS, IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED
WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF RICHARD J. YOUNGBLOOD, ARCHITECT

ISSUE DATE:

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED FOR:

Proposed Building
Uses & Areas

Wilsonville Chrysler •
Dodge • Jeep • Ram

4/25/14

08-020-14

REVIEW

Az1.06

25600 SW Parkway Center
Drive

Wilsonville,Oregon 97070

No.   Date              Revision

Notes:

Richard J. Youngblood

Architect
610 W. Hubbard Street, Suite 119

Coeur d'Alene, Idaho 83814

p. 208-215-7222

c. 208-691-9679

e. richard@rjyoungblood.com

-

-

1
Az2.00

1
Az2.01

3,483 sq ft

15,733 sq. ft.

70,966 sq ft

75,718 sq ft

PARTS WAREHOUSE
2 LEVELS W/ PARTS
RACKING SYSTEM

(2ND LEVEL
MEZZANINE NOT

COUNTED TOWARDS
AREA, EXCEPT FOR

FIRE)

STAIRS UP

NEW FASCIA ABOVE

NEW ENTRY ARCH

NEW FASCIA ABOVE

 INDOOR BULK OIL STORAGE
& COMPRESSOR ROOM

NEW ELEVATOR W/ ACCESS TO:
1st Level, Warehouse & 2nd Level.

NEW ELEVATOR LOBBY AT THE
1st & 2nd LEVELS

 NEW DELIVERY DOOR

NEW ELEVATOR LOBBY AT THE
WAREHOUSE

INCLUDES:
TECH LOCKERS, RESTROOMS,

BREAK ROOM & SPECIAL
TOOLS ROOM

DETAIL

DETAIL
BAYS (2)

NEW ENTRY
DOOR

N
E

W
 E

N
TR

Y 
D

O
O

R
S

 (3
)

NEW ENTRY
DOOR

SHOP DETAIL
EQUIPMENT
INCIDENTAL

←
  I

N
FI

LL
 T

H
E

 E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 R
O

LL
-U

P 
D

O
O

R
S

 W
IT

H
 N

E
W

 A
LU

M
. F

R
A

M
E

D
 C

LE
A

R
 L

O
W

-E
 IN

S
U

LA
TE

D
 G

LA
S

S
 W

IN
D

O
W

S
 - 

TY
P 

FO
R

 2
2 

LO
C

AT
IO

N
S

 A
LO

N
G

 T
H

IS
 W

A
LL

  →

REMODELED
MEN'S

REMODELED
WOMEN'S

NEW MEN'S
RR

(Employee)

NEW
WOMEN'S RR

(Employee)N
E

W
 E

N
TR

Y
D

O
O

R

NO NEW WORK

OPEN OFFICE

OFFICE

STAGING

4,573 sq ft

2,557 sq ft

TRASH
12' x 24'

TENANT "A"
PRODUCT

WAREHOUSE

SHOP LOUNGE

REPAIR SHOP
32 STALLS

RECEPTION LANES (3)

PARTS
WAREHOUSE

PARTS
COUNTER

PARTS
OFFICES

PARTS
REC.SHOP ADVISORS SHOP

MGR.
OFFICE

RETAIL SHOWROOM

SHOP ACCESSORY
USE TECH.

TENANT "B"

OFFICES

OFFICE

FLEET SHOP
3 STALLS

OIL STORAGE

1
Az2.00

6,281 sq ft

- 547.30 sq ft

28.77 sq ft

- 54.85 sq ft

- 65.27 sq ft

NEW FASCIA BELOW

NEW ENTRY ARCH BELOW

NEW FASCIA BELOW

NEW ELEVATOR

NEW ELEVATOR LOBBY

DEMOLISH THE EXISTING
STAIRWAY AS REQUIRED FOR
NEW DRIVEWAY

DEMOLISH THE EXISTING
2ND LEVEL BRIDGE AS
REQUIRED FOR NEW
DRIVEWAY

NEW ELEVATOR

OPEN
TO

BELOW

EXTERIOR
PATIO TO
REMAIN

OPEN TO
WAREHOUSE

BELOW

EXISTING OFFICES &
COMMUNITY ROOMS

N

N

SCALE:  1"   = 30'1 Proposed Floor plan - 1st Level

SCALE:  1"   = 30'2 Proposed Floor Plan - 2nd Level

LEGEND

WAREHOUSE
OFFICE
RETAIL
 TOTAL

145,666 sf
11,613 sf
22,032 sf

179,311 sf

1998 USE AREAS - 89PC8
BUILDING USE AREAS

WAREHOUSE & SUPPORT
OFFICE
RETAIL
 TOTAL

70,966 sf
10,854 sf
21,773 sf

103,593 sf

TENANT "A" CURRENT APPLICATION

WAREHOUSE & SUPPORT 75,718 sf
TENANT "B" - FUTURE (No Work)

RETAIL

OFFICE

FUTURE

WAREHOUSE

TOTAL BUILDING 179,311 sf



ALL DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS ISSUED AS  PART OF THE SERVICES
RENDERED BY THE ARCHITECT FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL REMAIN THE
PROPERTY OF THE ARCHITECT. ANY DUPLICATION OF THE DRAWINGS AND/OR
SPECIFICATIONS IN WHOLE OR IN PART FOR USE ON ANY OTHER PROJECT OR
FOR COMPLETION OF THIS PROJECT BY OTHERS, IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED
WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF RICHARD J. YOUNGBLOOD, ARCHITECT

ISSUE DATE:

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED FOR:

West Exterior
Elevations

Wilsonville Chrysler •
Dodge • Jeep • Ram

4/25/14

08-020-14

REVIEW

Az2.00

25600 SW Parkway Center
Drive

Wilsonville,Oregon 97070

No.   Date              Revision

Notes:

Richard J. Youngblood

Architect
610 W. Hubbard Street, Suite 119

Coeur d'Alene, Idaho 83814

p. 208-215-7222

c. 208-691-9679

e. richard@rjyoungblood.com

-

-

257'-6" = LENGTH OF FACADE FOR SIGNAGE - SEE SHEET Az2.01 FOR SIGN DETAILS AND CALCULATIONS

SEE ENLARGED ELEVATIONS #3 AND #4 THIS SHEET

THIS PORTION OF THE BUILDING WITH BRICK TO
REMAIN UNCHANGED.

THIS PORTION OF THE BUILDING, THE EAST SIDE OF
THE BUILDING AND THE SOUTH SIDE OF THE BUILDING
(PAINTED CONCRETE) TO REMAIN AS IS WITH NEW
PAINT.

257'-6" = LENGTH OF FACADE FOR SIGNAGE - SEE SHEET Az2.01 FOR SIGN DETAILS AND CALCULATIONS

SEE ENLARGED ELEVATIONS #3 AND #4 THIS SHEET

THIS PORTION OF THE BUILDING WITH BRICK TO
REMAIN UNCHANGED.

THIS PORTION OF THE BUILDING, THE EAST SIDE OF
THE BUILDING AND THE SOUTH SIDE OF THE BUILDING
(PAINTED CONCRETE) TO REMAIN AS IS WITH NEW
PAINT.

21'-8" EXISTING

30'-4" EXISTING

37'-4" EXISTING

12'-8" EXISTING

EXISTING STAIRWAY TO BE DEMOLISHED

BRIDGE TO THE STAIRWAY TO BE
DEMOLISHED.

EXISTING CONCRETE WALL BEYOND

EXISTING BRICK TO REMAIN AS IS.

0"

12'-8" EXISTING

22' PROPOSED

37'-4" EXISTING

30'-4" EXISTING30' PROPOSED ENTRY ARCH

257'-6" = LENGTH OF FACADE FOR SIGNAGE - SEE SHEET Az2.01 FOR SIGN DETAILS AND CALCULATIONS

DEMOLISH THE EXISTING STAIRWAY.

DEMOLISH THE BRIDGE TO THE
STAIRWAY.

NEW BUILDING FACADE - SILVER ACM

NEW ENTRY ARCH - SILVER ACM.

PAINT ALL EXISTING CONCRETE WALLS

ALL EXISTING BRICK TO REMAIN AS IS.

12 SERIES DODGE SIGN - ILLUMINATED
W/ 15.0 SQ. FT. OF SIGN AREA
SEE DETAIL 5 ON SHEET Az2.01.

12 SERIES RAM SIGN - ILLUMINATED
W/ 20.5 SQ. FT. OF SIGN AREA
SEE DETAIL 5 ON SHEET Az2.01.

12 SERIES JEEP SIGN - ILLUMINATED
W/ 28.8 SQ. FT. OF SIGN AREA
SEE DETAIL 5 ON SHEET Az2.01.

12 SERIES CHRYSLER SIGN - ILLUMINATED
W/ 28.1 SQ. FT. OF SIGN AREA
SEE DETAIL 5 ON SHEET Az2.01.

"WILSONVILLE" DEALER SIGN -
ILLUMINATED W/ 44.0 SQ. FT. OF SIGN
AREA.

SCALE:  1/16" =    1'-0"1 Overall West Existing Elevation

SCALE:  1/16" =    1'-0"2 Overall West Proposed Elevation

SCALE:  3/32" =    1'-0"3 Enlarged West Existing Elevation

SCALE:  3/32" =    1'-0"4 Enlarged West Proposed Elevation



ALL DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS ISSUED AS  PART OF THE SERVICES
RENDERED BY THE ARCHITECT FOR THIS PROJECT SHALL REMAIN THE
PROPERTY OF THE ARCHITECT. ANY DUPLICATION OF THE DRAWINGS AND/OR
SPECIFICATIONS IN WHOLE OR IN PART FOR USE ON ANY OTHER PROJECT OR
FOR COMPLETION OF THIS PROJECT BY OTHERS, IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED
WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF RICHARD J. YOUNGBLOOD, ARCHITECT

ISSUE DATE:

PROJECT NO:

ISSUED FOR:

North Exterior
Elevations

Wilsonville Chrysler •
Dodge • Jeep • Ram

4/25/14

08-020-14

REVIEW

Az2.01

25600 SW Parkway Center
Drive

Wilsonville,Oregon 97070

No.   Date              Revision

Notes:

Richard J. Youngblood

Architect
610 W. Hubbard Street, Suite 119

Coeur d'Alene, Idaho 83814

p. 208-215-7222

c. 208-691-9679

e. richard@rjyoungblood.com

-

-

30'-4" EXISTING

37'-4" EXISTING

14'-6"

22'

30'

0"

EXISTING STAIRWAY.

EXISTING BRICK TO REMAIN AS IS.

EXISTING ROLL-UP DOORS TYPICAL
FOR 26 LOCATIONS.

SP CONFIGURATION

PANEL

SQUARE
SERVICE
SQUARE

PARTS
SQUARE

PSP CONFIGURATION

Service
B

A

Parts

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

PANEL without Penzoil decal

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

A

B

Service

A

B

Parts

A

B

ServiceA

B

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE

B

A

FAST OIL CHANGES & MOREServiceA

B

35 1/4” 35 1/4” 8.6SM SQUARE
27 1/2” 9’-2 1/4” 21SM Panel

42” 35 1/4” 10.3SM Service Square
35 1/4” 11’-11 1/2” 35SM SP Config.

A B SQ. FT.
46” 46” 14.7
36” 12’-0” 36
55” 46” 17.6

LG SQUARE
LG PANEL

LG SERVICE SQUARE
46” 15’-8” 60
46” 27’-6” 105.4

LG SP CONFIG.
LG PSP CONFIG.

MOPAR SYSTEM

35 1/4” 20’-11 3/4” 61.6SM PSP Config.

 

 

COPYRIGHT © 2013
The details shown on this drawing are

confidential and are the exclusive property
of Principle Group of Companies. No

use, copy or disclosure of this drawing
may be made without written permission

and it is to be returned to Principle
Group of Companies upon request.

All fixings to be determined 
on site by site basis

Final connections to be made by
Certified Electrical contractor on site

R. Keck

05 FEB 2013

Drawing Number:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

Date:

Scale:

Revision:

n/a Page: 4 of 17

Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program GuideProject:

Title: Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program Guide

www.principleglobal.com

2035 Lakeside Centre Way, Suite 250
Knoxville, TN 37922
USA

SP CONFIGURATION

PANEL

SQUARE
SERVICE
SQUARE

PARTS
SQUARE

PSP CONFIGURATION

Service
B

A

Parts

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

PANEL without Penzoil decal

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

A

B

Service

A

B

Parts

A

B

ServiceA

B

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE

B

A

FAST OIL CHANGES & MOREServiceA

B

35 1/4” 35 1/4” 8.6SM SQUARE
27 1/2” 9’-2 1/4” 21SM Panel

42” 35 1/4” 10.3SM Service Square
35 1/4” 11’-11 1/2” 35SM SP Config.

A B SQ. FT.
46” 46” 14.7
36” 12’-0” 36
55” 46” 17.6

LG SQUARE
LG PANEL

LG SERVICE SQUARE
46” 15’-8” 60
46” 27’-6” 105.4

LG SP CONFIG.
LG PSP CONFIG.

MOPAR SYSTEM

35 1/4” 20’-11 3/4” 61.6SM PSP Config.

 

 

COPYRIGHT © 2013
The details shown on this drawing are

confidential and are the exclusive property
of Principle Group of Companies. No

use, copy or disclosure of this drawing
may be made without written permission

and it is to be returned to Principle
Group of Companies upon request.

All fixings to be determined 
on site by site basis

Final connections to be made by
Certified Electrical contractor on site

R. Keck

05 FEB 2013

Drawing Number:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

Date:

Scale:

Revision:

n/a Page: 4 of 17

Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program GuideProject:

Title: Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program Guide

www.principleglobal.com

2035 Lakeside Centre Way, Suite 250
Knoxville, TN 37922
USA

SP CONFIGURATION

PANEL

SQUARE
SERVICE
SQUARE

PARTS
SQUARE

PSP CONFIGURATION

Service
B

A

Parts

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

PANEL without Penzoil decal

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

A

B

Service

A

B

Parts

A

B

ServiceA

B

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE

B

A

FAST OIL CHANGES & MOREServiceA

B

35 1/4” 35 1/4” 8.6SM SQUARE
27 1/2” 9’-2 1/4” 21SM Panel

42” 35 1/4” 10.3SM Service Square
35 1/4” 11’-11 1/2” 35SM SP Config.

A B SQ. FT.
46” 46” 14.7
36” 12’-0” 36
55” 46” 17.6

LG SQUARE
LG PANEL

LG SERVICE SQUARE
46” 15’-8” 60
46” 27’-6” 105.4

LG SP CONFIG.
LG PSP CONFIG.

MOPAR SYSTEM

35 1/4” 20’-11 3/4” 61.6SM PSP Config.

 

 

COPYRIGHT © 2013
The details shown on this drawing are

confidential and are the exclusive property
of Principle Group of Companies. No

use, copy or disclosure of this drawing
may be made without written permission

and it is to be returned to Principle
Group of Companies upon request.

All fixings to be determined 
on site by site basis

Final connections to be made by
Certified Electrical contractor on site

R. Keck

05 FEB 2013

Drawing Number:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

Date:

Scale:

Revision:

n/a Page: 4 of 17

Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program GuideProject:

Title: Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program Guide

www.principleglobal.com

2035 Lakeside Centre Way, Suite 250
Knoxville, TN 37922
USA

30'-4" EXISTING

37'-4" EXISTING

14'-6"

22'

30'

0"

455'-10" = LENGTH OF FACADE FOR SIGNAGE - SEE SHEET Az2.01 FOR SIGN DETAILS AND CALCULATIONS

NEW ROLL-UP DOORS X 3
LOCATIONS.

REMOVE THE EXISTING ROLL-UP DOORS AND REPLACE
WITH LOW-E GLAZING TYPICAL FOR 22 LOCATIONS.

EXISTING STAIRWAY.

NEW BUILDING FACADE - SILVER ACM

NEW ENTRY ARCH BEYOND - SILVER
ACM.

PAINT ALL EXISTING CONCRETE WALLS

EXISTING BRICK TO REMAIN AS IS.

NEW RAMP TO NEW ENTRY DOOR.

VEHICLE ENTRY DOOR - REPLACE
EXISTING DOOR WITH NEW ROLL-UP.

LG. PANEL EXPRESSLANE SIGN - ILLUMINATED
W/ 36 SQ. FT. OF SIGN AREA.

SEE DETAIL 4 ON SHEET Az1.01

LG. PSP CONFIGURATION SERVICE SIGN - ILLUMINATED
W/ 105.4 SQ. FT. OF SIGN AREA
SEE DETAIL 4 ON SHEET Az1.01

DEMOLISH THE EXISTING STAIRWAY.

DEMOLISH THE BRIDGE TO THE
STAIRWAY.

 

- PAINTED ALUMINUM SIGN EXTERIOR CONSTRUCTION
   ACM SIDE TUBE WITH  MIRROR FINISH
- 3M BLACK REFLECTIVE VINYL COPY

- NON-ILLUMINATED
 

- 12 ft2

D-5 Mopar Directional
MONOLITH

MANUFACTURING DETAILS

ELECTRICAL REQUIREMENTS

SQUARE FOOTAGE

COLORS

BLACK                           PROCESS BLACK 
BLUE                              PMS 2945
WHITE    
SILVER 

Side A Side B

3'-0"
914.24 mm

4'-0"
1,218.99 mm

9 1/2"
241.57 mm

3 1/4"
83.74 mm

Non-Illuminated Service Directional
NOTE: All copy is first surface applied vinyl. Dealer option for exterior illumination via ground installed fixture.

 

 

COPYRIGHT © 2013
The details shown on this drawing are

confidential and are the exclusive property
of Principle Group of Companies. No

use, copy or disclosure of this drawing
may be made without written permission

and it is to be returned to Principle
Group of Companies upon request.

All fixings to be determined 
on site by site basis

Final connections to be made by
Certified Electrical contractor on site

R. Keck

05 FEB 2013

Drawing Number:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

Date:

Scale:

Revision:

n/a Page: 6 of 17

Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program GuideProject:

Title: Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program Guide

www.principleglobal.com

2035 Lakeside Centre Way, Suite 250
Knoxville, TN 37922
USA

FAST OIL CHANGES

FAST OIL CHANGES

OTHER AVAILABLE MESSAGES

A B C SQ. FT.
16 7/16” 7’-0” 9.58

8 3/4” 7’-0” 5.1
23 1/2” 4’-10 3/4” 19 1/2” 9.6

22” 7’-0” 9” 7.0

Chrysler
Dodge

Jeep
Ram

7 SERIES

A B C SQ. FT.
21 1/16” 8’-10 1/2” 15.5
11 1/8” 8’- 10 1/2” 8.2
28 5/8” 5’-11 1/2” 23 1/2” 14.2

27” 8’-10 1/2” 11 1/8” 10.1

Chrysler
Dodge

Jeep
Ram

9 SERIES

A B C SQ. FT.
28 3/16” 12’-0” 28.1

15 “ 12’-0 15.0
40 7/8” 8’-5 3/8” 34 1/4” 28.8

38” 12’-0” 15” 20.5

Chrysler
Dodge

Jeep
Ram

12 SERIES

A B C SQ. FT.
39 11/16” 17’-0” 56.2

21 3/8” 17’-0” 30.3
58” 12’-1” 47 5/8” 58.4

52 3/4” 17’-0” 21 3/8” 40.7

Chrysler
Dodge

Jeep
Ram

17 SERIES

A

B

A

B

C

B

A

B

A C

WALL BADGES

The Facility must meet or adhere to Chrysler 
Facility Requirements outlined within the 
Millennium Branding System. 

Facility Color must be Benjamin Moore, 
Pelican Gray 1612 or Eifs Color - Oyster 21612

 

 

COPYRIGHT © 2013
The details shown on this drawing are

confidential and are the exclusive property
of Principle Group of Companies. No

use, copy or disclosure of this drawing
may be made without written permission

and it is to be returned to Principle
Group of Companies upon request.

All fixings to be determined 
on site by site basis

Final connections to be made by
Certified Electrical contractor on site

R. Keck

05 FEB 2013

Drawing Number:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

Date:

Scale:

Revision:

n/a Page: 3 of 17

Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program GuideProject:

Title: Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program Guide

www.principleglobal.com

2035 Lakeside Centre Way, Suite 250
Knoxville, TN 37922
USA

SP CONFIGURATION

PANEL

SQUARE
SERVICE
SQUARE

PARTS
SQUARE

PSP CONFIGURATION

Service
B

A

Parts

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

PANEL without Penzoil decal

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

A

B

Service

A

B

Parts

A

B

ServiceA

B

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE

B

A

FAST OIL CHANGES & MOREServiceA

B

35 1/4” 35 1/4” 8.6SM SQUARE
27 1/2” 9’-2 1/4” 21SM Panel

42” 35 1/4” 10.3SM Service Square
35 1/4” 11’-11 1/2” 35SM SP Config.

A B SQ. FT.
46” 46” 14.7
36” 12’-0” 36
55” 46” 17.6

LG SQUARE
LG PANEL

LG SERVICE SQUARE
46” 15’-8” 60
46” 27’-6” 105.4

LG SP CONFIG.
LG PSP CONFIG.

MOPAR SYSTEM

35 1/4” 20’-11 3/4” 61.6SM PSP Config.

 

 

COPYRIGHT © 2013
The details shown on this drawing are

confidential and are the exclusive property
of Principle Group of Companies. No

use, copy or disclosure of this drawing
may be made without written permission

and it is to be returned to Principle
Group of Companies upon request.

All fixings to be determined 
on site by site basis

Final connections to be made by
Certified Electrical contractor on site

R. Keck

05 FEB 2013

Drawing Number:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

Date:

Scale:

Revision:

n/a Page: 4 of 17

Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program GuideProject:

Title: Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program Guide

www.principleglobal.com

2035 Lakeside Centre Way, Suite 250
Knoxville, TN 37922
USA

SP CONFIGURATION

PANEL

SQUARE
SERVICE
SQUARE

PARTS
SQUARE

PSP CONFIGURATION

Service
B

A

Parts

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

PANEL without Penzoil decal

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE
A

B

A

B

Service

A

B

Parts

A

B

ServiceA

B

FAST OIL CHANGES & MORE

B

A

FAST OIL CHANGES & MOREServiceA

B

35 1/4” 35 1/4” 8.6SM SQUARE
27 1/2” 9’-2 1/4” 21SM Panel

42” 35 1/4” 10.3SM Service Square
35 1/4” 11’-11 1/2” 35SM SP Config.

A B SQ. FT.
46” 46” 14.7
36” 12’-0” 36
55” 46” 17.6

LG SQUARE
LG PANEL

LG SERVICE SQUARE
46” 15’-8” 60
46” 27’-6” 105.4

LG SP CONFIG.
LG PSP CONFIG.

MOPAR SYSTEM

35 1/4” 20’-11 3/4” 61.6SM PSP Config.

 

 

COPYRIGHT © 2013
The details shown on this drawing are

confidential and are the exclusive property
of Principle Group of Companies. No

use, copy or disclosure of this drawing
may be made without written permission

and it is to be returned to Principle
Group of Companies upon request.

All fixings to be determined 
on site by site basis

Final connections to be made by
Certified Electrical contractor on site

R. Keck

05 FEB 2013

Drawing Number:

Drawn By:

Checked By:

Date:

Scale:

Revision:

n/a Page: 4 of 17

Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program GuideProject:

Title: Chrysler Millennium Dealer Program Guide

www.principleglobal.com

2035 Lakeside Centre Way, Suite 250
Knoxville, TN 37922
USA

SIGN DATA & CALCULATIONS

Site signs PDI (Per 4.156.08 (.01)

AREA USE EXISTING AREA ALLOWED AREA HEIGHT ACTUAL 
(HEIGHT ALLOWED) PROPOSED AREA

SW Parkway Center Drive None
80 sf for a single 

building with a multi-
tenant configuration

8’-0” (8’-0”) 33.9

SW Ellingsen Road None 64 sf 4’-0” (8’-0”) 12.0

TOTAL SITE SIGNS 45.9

Building Mounted Signs on SW Parkway Center Drive

FRONTAGE LENGTH EXISTING AREA AREA CALCULATION ALLOWED AREA PROPOSED AREA

257’-6”
271 sf for the existing 

“Hollywood 
Entertainment”

36sf + 12sf for each 
24lf >72lf to 200sf max **128.5 **136.4

** WE WISH TO MODIFY THE SIGN PLAN FOR THE ORIGINAL HOLLYWOOD ENTERTAINMENT, CASE #96DB11 TO RETAIN THE 
MAXIMUM AREA ALONG SW PARKWAY CENTER DRIVE.

The total length of signs on this face of the building = 44’-5 3/8” - Allowable sign length = 257’-6” x 0.75 = 193’-0”

Building Mounted Signs on SW Ellingsen Road

455’-10” None 36sf + 12sf for each 
24lf >72lf to 200sf max 191.5 141.4

The total length of signs on this face of the building = 39’-6” - Allowable sign length = 455’-10” x 0.75 = 341’-0”

TOTAL BUILDING MOUNTED SIGNS 277.8

�1

SCALE:  1"   = 20'1 Overall North Existing Elevation

SCALE:  1"   = 20'2 Overall North Proposed Elevation

SCALE:  1:1.213 Monument Sign - Dealership
SCALE:  1:0.774 Monument Sign - Service

SCALE:  1:0.775 Building Mounted Sign Details and Dimensions

SIGN DIMENSIONS & AREA
Dim A = 8'-0"
Dim B = 1'-2"
Dim C = 5'-4 1/8"
Dim D = 6'-4 1/8"
Sign Area = 33.9 Square Feet /
  Side

SIGN INFORMATION
- Directional signs under 35 sf
 are allowed to not be a part
 of the sign calculations.
- The sign is two sided.
- Sign Area = 12 Square Feet /
 Side = 24 sf Total
- The sign is internally  
 illuminated. 

BUILDING MOUNTED SIGN DIMENSIONS

Sign Type:  Dim A:   Dim B:  Sign Area: (Sq. Ft.
PANEL (Above) 36"   12'-0"   36.0

PSP CONFIG.  (Above) 46"   27'-6"   105.4

CHRYSLER (Right) 28 3/16"  12'-0"   28.1

DODGE (Right) 15"   12'-0"   15.0

JEEP (Right)  40 7/8"  8'-5 3/8"  28.8

RAM (Right)  38"   12'-0"   20.5

SIGN INFORMATION
- The  building mounted signs
 are single sided.
- The building mounted signs
 are internally illuminated.
 

SIGN INFORMATION
- Directional signs under 35 sf
 are allowed to not be a part
 of the sign calculations.
- The sign is two sided.
- The sign is internally  
 illuminated. 



4
8

7
5

 
S

W
 
G

r
i
f
f
i
t
h

 
D

r
i
v
e

 
|
 
S

u
i
t
e

 
3

0
0

 
|
 
B

e
a

v
e

r
t
o

n
,
 
O

R
 
|
 
9

7
0

0
5

5
0

3
.
6

2
0

.
3

0
3

0
 
t
e

l
 
|
 
5

0
3

.
6

2
0

.
5

5
3

9
 
 
f
a

x
 
|
 
w

w
w

.
a

a
i
e

n
g

.
c
o

m



4
8

7
5

 
S

W
 
G

r
i
f
f
i
t
h

 
D

r
i
v
e

 
|
 
S

u
i
t
e

 
3

0
0

 
|
 
B

e
a

v
e

r
t
o

n
,
 
O

R
 
|
 
9

7
0

0
5

5
0

3
.
6

2
0

.
3

0
3

0
 
t
e

l
 
|
 
5

0
3

.
6

2
0

.
5

5
3

9
 
 
f
a

x
 
|
 
w

w
w

.
a

a
i
e

n
g

.
c
o

m



4
8

7
5

 
S

W
 
G

r
i
f
f
i
t
h

 
D

r
i
v
e

 
|
 
S

u
i
t
e

 
3

0
0

 
|
 
B

e
a

v
e

r
t
o

n
,
 
O

R
 
|
 
9

7
0

0
5

5
0

3
.
6

2
0

.
3

0
3

0
 
t
e

l
 
|
 
5

0
3

.
6

2
0

.
5

5
3

9
 
 
f
a

x
 
|
 
w

w
w

.
a

a
i
e

n
g

.
c
o

m



4
8

7
5

 
S

W
 
G

r
i
f
f
i
t
h

 
D

r
i
v
e

 
|
 
S

u
i
t
e

 
3

0
0

 
|
 
B

e
a

v
e

r
t
o

n
,
 
O

R
 
|
 
9

7
0

0
5

5
0

3
.
6

2
0

.
3

0
3

0
 
t
e

l
 
|
 
5

0
3

.
6

2
0

.
5

5
3

9
 
 
f
a

x
 
|
 
w

w
w

.
a

a
i
e

n
g

.
c
o

m



NEW HIGH SCREEN PER 4.176.02-E

NE
W

 L
OW

 S
CR

EE
N 

PE
R 

4.1
76

.02
-D

NEW LOW SCREEN PER 4.176.02-D

EXISTING REMNANT FOREST

NE
W

 L
OW

 S
CR

EE
N 

PE
R 

4.1
76

.02
-D

50' BPA EASEMENT

SW PARKWAY CENTER DR

SW
 E

LL
IG

SE
N 

RD

ACER CIRCINATUM 'PACIFIC FIRE" - VINE MAPLE
10' B&B, WELL BRANCHED, 3 STEM MIN. AT BASE

SHRUBS AND GROUNDCOVER

PLANTING LEGEND

CERCIDIPHYLLUM JAPONICUM - KATSURA TREE
2" CAL. B&B, WELL BRANCHED, LIMBED TO 6'

CERCIS CANADENSIS 'FOREST PANSY' - REDBUD
3" CAL. B&B, WELL BRANCHED, LIMBED TO 5'

TREES

TSUGA HETEROPHYLLA - WESTERN HEMLOCK
6' B&B, FULL TREES, BRANCHED TO GROUND

MYRICA CALIFORNICA - PACIFIC WAXMYRTLE
3 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, SPACE AS SHOWN

5 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, SPACE AS SHOWN
RIBES SANGUINEUM 'KING EDWARD VII' - RED CURRANT

BERBERIS DARWINII - DARWIN'S BARBERRY
3 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, SPACE AS SHOWN

MISCANTHUS SINENSIS 'PURPURASCENS' - FLAME GRASS
2 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, 30" O.C.

PRUNUS LAUROCERASUS 'ZABELLIANA' - ENGLISH LAUREL
3 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, SPACE AS SHOWN

ABELIA X GRANDIFLORA 'SUNRISE' - ABELIA
3 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, SPACE AS SHOWN

ACER RUBRUM 'BOWHALL' - BOWHALL MAPLE
2" CAL. B&B, WELL BRANCHED, LIMBED TO 6'

EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN
SEE ARBORISTS REPORT

EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED
SEE ARBORISTS REPORT

5

20

12

1

10

90

5

77

94

275

17

1. ALL PLANTS SHALL BE IRRIGATED BY A FULLY AUTOMATIC, PERMANENT,
UNDERGROUND IRRIGATION SYSTEM UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

NOTES

SEEDED FIELDGRASS (NON-IRRIGATED)
SEE SPECIFICATIONS

ERICA CARNEA 'VIVELLII' - WINTER HEATH
1 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, 18" O.C.

ROSA 'MEIKROTAL' - SCARLETT MEIDILAND ROSE
2 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, 30" O.C.

COTONEASTER HORIZ. 'VARIEGATUS' - ROCK COTONEASTER
2 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, 30" O.C.

SEDUM SPURIUM 'DRAGON'S BLOOD' - STONECROP
4" POTS, FULL PLANTS, 12" O.C.

LIRIOPE SPICATA - CREEPING LILYTURF
1 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, 12" O.C.

EXISTING LANDSCAPE TO REMAIN
PROTECT DURING CONSTRUCTION

EXISTING STORMWATER FACILITY TO REMAIN
PROTECT DURING CONSTRUCTION

RUBUS PENTALOBUS - TAIWAN BRAMBLE
4" POTS, FULL PLANTS, 24" O.C.

HEMEROCALLIS 'STELLA d'ORO' - DAYLILY
4" POTS, FULL PLANTS, 12" O.C.

SEDUM X 'AUTUMN JOY' - STONECROP
4" POTS, FULL PLANTS, 12" O.C.

CORNUS SERICEA 'KELSEYI' - REDTWIG DOGWOOD
2 GAL. CONT., FULL PLANTS, 24" O.C.

SEEDED FINE LAWN
SEE SPECIFICATIONS

501

136

662

118

406

325

3,272

215

202

GROUNDCOVER

503 sf

3,740 sf

4
8

7
5

 
S

W
 
G

r
i
f
f
i
t
h

 
D

r
i
v
e

 
|
 
S

u
i
t
e

 
3

0
0

 
|
 
B

e
a

v
e

r
t
o

n
,
 
O

R
 
|
 
9

7
0

0
5

5
0

3
.
6

2
0

.
3

0
3

0
 
t
e

l
 
|
 
5

0
3

.
6

2
0

.
5

5
3

9
 
 
f
a

x
 
|
 
w

w
w

.
a

a
i
e

n
g

.
c
o

m

MICHAEL O'BRIEN

OREGON

11/31/98

410

PR
ELIM

IN
A

R
Y



ACER CIRCINATUM 'PACIFIC FIRE" - VINE MAPLE
10' B&B, WELL BRANCHED, 3 STEM MIN. AT BASE

LEGEND

CERCIDIPHYLLUM JAPONICUM - KATSURA TREE
2" CAL. B&B, WELL BRANCHED, LIMBED TO 6'

CERCIS CANADENSIS 'FOREST PANSY' - REDBUD
3" CAL. B&B, WELL BRANCHED, LIMBED TO 5'

TREES

TSUGA HETEROPHYLLA - WESTERN HEMLOCK
6' B&B, FULL TREES, BRANCHED TO GROUND

ACER RUBRUM 'BOWHALL' - BOWHALL MAPLE
2" CAL. B&B, WELL BRANCHED, LIMBED TO 6'

5

20

12

1

10

EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN
SEE ARBORISTS REPORT

EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED
SEE ARBORISTS REPORT

4
8

7
5

 
S

W
 
G

r
i
f
f
i
t
h

 
D

r
i
v
e

 
|
 
S

u
i
t
e

 
3

0
0

 
|
 
B

e
a

v
e

r
t
o

n
,
 
O

R
 
|
 
9

7
0

0
5

5
0

3
.
6

2
0

.
3

0
3

0
 
t
e

l
 
|
 
5

0
3

.
6

2
0

.
5

5
3

9
 
 
f
a

x
 
|
 
w

w
w

.
a

a
i
e

n
g

.
c
o

m

MICHAEL O'BRIEN

OREGON

11/31/98

410

PR
ELIM

IN
A

R
Y







DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JUNE 9, 2014 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VII.  Public Hearing:     
B. Resolution No. 283.   Building W3 at I-5 Corporate 

Park: VLMK Consulting Engineers - representative for 
Jack Martin, Martin Real Estate Development – 
owner/applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a 
Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan, Stage II Final Plan, 
Waiver and Site Design Review for development of a 2-
story 34,500 square foot industrial manufacturing/office 
building.  The subject property is located on Tax Lot 1200 
of Section 11D, T3S, R1W, Clackamas County, Oregon.  
Staff:  Daniel Pauly 

 
Case Files:   DB14-0041 – Revised Stage I Preliminary Plan 

  DB14-0042 – Stage II Final Plan 
  DB14-0044 – Waiver 
  DB14-0043 – Site Design Review  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO.  283 PAGE 1 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
RESOLUTION NO. 283 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS APPROVING A REVISED STAGE I 
PRELIMINARY PLAN, STAGE II FINAL PLAN, WAIVER AND SITE DESIGN REVIEW FOR 
DEVELOPMENT OF A  2-STORY APPROXIMATELY 34,414 SQUARE FOOT INDUSTRIAL 
MANUFACTURING/OFFICE BUILDING. THE SUBJECT PROPERTY IS LOCATED ON TAX LOT 1200 
OF SECTION 11D, T3S, R1W, CLACKAMAS COUNTY, OREGON. VLMK CONSULTING ENGINEERS 
- REPRESENTATIVE FOR JACK MARTIN, MARTIN REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT – 
OWNER/APPLICANT. 
 
 WHEREAS, an application, together with planning exhibits for the above-captioned 
development, has been submitted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008 of the 
Wilsonville Code, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Planning Staff has prepared staff report on the above-captioned subject dated 
June 2, 2014, and 
 
 WHEREAS, said planning exhibits and staff report were duly considered by the Development 
Review Board Panel A at a scheduled meeting conducted on June 9, 2014, at which time exhibits, 
together with findings and public testimony were entered into the public record, and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Development Review Board considered the subject and the recommendations 
contained in the staff report, and 
 
 WHEREAS, interested parties, if any, have had an opportunity to be heard on the subject. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Development Review Board of the City of 
Wilsonville does hereby adopt the staff report dated June 2, 2014, attached hereto as Exhibit A1, with 
findings and recommendations contained therein, and authorizes the Planning Director to issue permits 
consistent with said recommendations for:  
 
DB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Class 3 Stage I Preliminary Plan Revision, Stage II Final Plan, Class 3 
Waivers, and Site Design Review to add Building W3 to I-5 Corporate Park along with associated 
improvements. 

 
ADOPTED by the Development Review Board of the City of Wilsonville at a regular meeting 

thereof this 9th day of June, 2014 and filed with the Planning Administrative Assistant 
on _______________.  This resolution is final on the l5th calendar day after the postmarked date of the 
written notice of decision per WC Sec 4.022(.09) unless appealed per WC Sec 4.022(.02) or called up for 
review by the council in accordance with WC Sec 4.022(.03). 
 
       
          ______,  
      Mary Fierros Bower Chair, Panel A 
      Wilsonville Development Review Board 
 
Attest: 
 
       
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 1 of 55 
 
 

Exhibit A1 
STAFF REPORT 

WILSONVILLE PLANNING DIVISION 
 

Building W3 I-5 Corporate Park 
 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL ‘A’ 
QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 

STAFF REPORT 
HEARING DATE June 9, 2014 
DATE OF REPORT: June 2, 2014 
APPLICATION NOS.: DB14-0041 Stage I Preliminary Plan Revision 
 DB14-0042 Stage II Final Plan 
 DB14-0044 Waiver 
 DB14-0043 Site Design Review 
 
REQUEST/SUMMARY: The Development Review Board is being asked to review a Class 3 
Stage I Preliminary Plan Revision, Stage II Final Plan, Class 3 Waivers, and Site Design Review 
to add Building W3 to I-5 Corporate Park along with associated improvements 
 
LOCATION: East side of SW Parkway Avenue midway between SW Ellingsen Road and SW 
Boeckman Road The property is specifically known as Tax Lot 1200, Section 11D, Township 3 
South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, City of Wilsonville, Clackamas County, Oregon 
 
OWNER: Jack Martin 
 Martin Real Estate Development 
 
APPLICANT/OWNER’S 
REPRESENTATIVE: Jennifer Kimura 

VLMK Consulting Engineers 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP DESIGNATION: Industrial 
 
ZONE MAP CLASSIFICATION:  PDI (Planned Development Industrial) 
 
STAFF REVIEWERS: Daniel Pauly AICP, Associate Planner 
                                        Steve Adams PE, Civil Engineer 
                                        Kerry Rappold, Natural Resource Program Manager 
                                        Don Walters, Building Plans Examiner 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approve with conditions the requested revised Stage I 
Master Plan, State II Final Plan, Waivers and Site Design Review request. 
  

Page 1 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 2 of 55 
 
 

APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA 
 
Development Code:  
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 
Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 
Section 4.010 How to Apply 
Section 4.011 How Applications are Processed 
Section 4.014 Burden of Proof 
Section 4.031 Authority of the Development Review Board 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) Site Development Permit Application 
Subsection 4.035 (.05) Complete Submittal Requirement 
Section 4.110 Zones 
Section 4.117 Standards Applying to Industrial Development in 

All Zones 
Section 4.118 Standards Applying to Planned Development 

Zones 
Section 4.135 Planned Development Industrial Zone (PDI) 
Sections 4.139.00 through 4.139.11 
as applicable 

Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) 

Section 4.140 Planned Development Regulations 
Section 4.154 On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
Section 4.155 Parking, Loading, and Bicycle Parking 
Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress 
Section 4.171 Protection of Natural Features and Other 

Resources 
Section 4.175 Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
Section 4.176 Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
Section 4.179 Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage 
Sections 4.199.20 through 4.199.60 Outdoor Lighting 
Sections 4.300 through 4.320 Underground Utilities 
Sections 4.400 through 4.440 as 
applicable 

Site Design Review 

Other Planning Documents:  
Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan  

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 2 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 3 of 55 
 
 

 
Vicinity Map 

 

 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In 2006 the DRB approved a revised Stage I Preliminary Plan and Stage II Final Plan to 
complete Phases 2 and 3 for 300,000 square feet office space and 100,000 square feet of 
manufacturing space complex which are now occupied by Rockwell Collins and DWFritz 
(Buildings W1 and W2). Oregon Institute of Technology (OIT) occupies the former In Focus 
building (Phase 1).   
 
  

Page 3 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 4 of 55 
 
 

SUMMARY: 
 
Stage I Master Plan Revision (DB14-0041) 
 
The request adds an additional building within the previously approved master plan area. 
 
Stage II Final Plan (DB14-0042) 
A 34,414 square foot 2-story building known as Building W3 of the I-5 Corporate Campsu is 
proposed with retained forested wetlands to the east, a truck delivery area to the north, and 
parking to the west and south.  
 

 
 
 

Page 4 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 5 of 55 
 
 

 

 
 
Waivers (DB14-0044) 
 
A waiver to the 30 foot setback requirement is requested on the north of the property for 
allowance of the placement of a loading dock. The requested waiver meets the criteria for 
approval. 
 

 
 
  

Page 5 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 6 of 55 
 
 

Site Design Review (DB14-0043) 
 
Architectural Design 
 
Building W3 has similar massing, construction, and coloring as neighboring Buildings W1 and 
W2, but many architectural details are different, including the architectural treatments above the 
upper windows and the design of the main entry area to create a building that is complimentary 
to architectural of nearby buildings while not creating excessive uniformity. 
 
Proposed Building W3 
 
West Elevation Facing Parking Area/SW Parkway Avenue 

 
 
South Elevation Facing Parking Area/Oregon Institute of Technology 

 
 
East Elevation Facing Preserved Forested Wetland 

 
 
  

Page 6 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 7 of 55 
 
 

North Elevation Facing Xerox Property 

 
Landscape Design 
 
As shown on the applicant’s planting plan (sheet L1.0 of Exhibit B3) landscaping including 
variety of trees, shrubs, and ground cover with a professionally designed layout that in the 
opinion of staff is appropriate for the site. 
 
  

Page 7 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 8 of 55 
 
 

DISCUSSION POINTS: 
 
Vanpool/Carpool Parking 
 
With the recent development code updates related to the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan 
vanpool and carpool parking is required to be at least five percent (5%) of parking for parking 
areas greater than 75 spaces. The submitted plans don’t show any of these spaces. With 94 
parking spaces 5 vanpool/carpool spaces are required. Condition of Approval PDB 5 ensures the 
required vanpool/carpool spaces are provided and appropriately marked. 
 

 
 
  

5 Spaces 
to be 
Reserved 
for 
Vanpool/C
arpool 

Page 8 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 9 of 55 
 
 

Outdoor Lighting Review 
 
On sheet SL.1 of Exhibit B3 the applicant provides some information on outdoor lighting, but 
not the level of detail needed to review compliance with the outdoor lighting standards. The 
subject standards are clear and objective and are able to be reviewed through the Class I 
administrative review process. Condition of Approval PDD 7 requires review of outdoor lighting 
through the Class I process meeting either the performance or prescriptive option prior to 
issuance of the Building Permit.  
 
Parking Lot Tree Identification 
 
The landscape plan on sheet L1.0 of Exhibit B3 identifies the latin name of 12 trees planted 
around the parking lot as Carpinus Bet. ‘Frans Fontaine’. The common name is listed as Vine 
Maple, which does not match the latin name. As confirmed by the applicant in email 
correspondence on May 30, 2014 (Exhibit B10) the 12 trees are Carpinus Bet. ‘Frans Fontaine’ 
which has a common name of Frans Fontaine Hornbeam. 
 
CONCLUSION AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 
Staff has reviewed the Applicant’s analysis of compliance with the applicable criteria.  The Staff 
report adopts the applicant’s responses as Findings of Fact except as noted in the Findings. Based 
on the Findings of Fact and information included in this Staff Report, and information received 
from a duly advertised public hearing, Staff recommends that the Development Review Board 
approve the proposed application (DB14-0041 through DB14-0044) with the following 
conditions: 
 
Planning Division Conditions: 
 
REQUEST A: DB14-0041 Stage I Preliminary Plan Revision 

No conditions for this request 

REQUEST B: DB14-0042 Stage II Final Plan 
PDB 1. The approved final plan and stage development schedule shall control the issuance 

of all building permits and shall restrict the nature, location and design of all uses.  
Minor changes in an approved preliminary or final development plan may be 
approved by the Planning Director through the Class I Administrative Review 
Process if such changes are consistent with the purposes and general character of 
the development plan. All other modifications, including extension or revision of 
the stage development schedule, shall be processed in the same manner as the 
original application and shall be subject to the same procedural requirements.” See 
Finding B16. 

PDB 2. All crosswalks hall be clearly marked with contrasting paint or paving materials 
(e.g., pavers, light-color concrete inlay between asphalt, or similar contrast). See 
Finding B35. 

PDB 3. Parking spaces along the boundaries of the parking lot shall be provided with a 
sturdy bumper guard or curb at least six inches (6”) high and located far enough 

Page 9 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 10 of 55 
 
 

within the boundary to prevent any portion of a car within the lot from extending 
over the property line or interfering with the required screening or sidewalks. See 
Finding B38. 

PDB 4. Exterior bicycle parking spaces shall meet the spacing, space size, and anchoring 
requirements in Subsection 4.155 (.04) B. which include: 
• Each space must be at least 2 feet by 6 feet in area and be accessible without 

moving another bicycle.  
• An aisle at least 5 feet wide shall be maintained behind all required bicycle 

parking to allow room for bicycle maneuvering. Where the bicycle parking is 
adjacent to a sidewalk, the maneuvering area may extend into the right-of-way. 

• When bicycle parking is provided in racks, there must be enough space between 
the rack and any obstructions to use the space properly. 

• Bicycle lockers or racks, when provided, shall be securely anchored.  
See Finding B48. 

PDB 5. At least five (5) of the standard sized spaces along the west side of the building 
nearest the ADA spaces shall be reserved for carpool and vanpool parking. The 
spaces shall be clearly marked “Reserved-Carpool/Vanpool Only” See Finding B51. 

PDB 6. Building addressing meeting building and fire code shall be provided. See Finding 
B56. 

PDB 7. All travel lanes shall be constructed to be capable of carrying a twenty-three (23) 
ton load. See Finding B70. 

REQUEST C: DB14-0044 Setback Waiver 
No conditions for this request 
REQUEST D: DB14-0043 Site Design Review 
PDD 1. Construction, site development, and landscaping shall be carried out in substantial 

accord with the Development Review Board approved plans, drawings, sketches, 
and other documents. Minor revisions may be approved by the Planning Director 
through administrative review pursuant to Section 4.030. 

PDD 2. All landscaping required and approved by the Board shall be installed prior to 
issuance of occupancy permits, unless security equal to one hundred and ten percent 
(110%) of the cost of the landscaping as determined by the Planning Director is 
filed with the City assuring such installation within six (6) months of occupancy.  
"Security" is cash, certified check, time certificates of deposit, assignment of a 
savings account or such other assurance of completion as shall meet with the 
approval of the City Attorney.  In such cases the developer shall also provide 
written authorization, to the satisfaction of the City Attorney, for the City or its 
designees to enter the property and complete the landscaping as approved.  If the 
installation of the landscaping is not completed within the six-month period, or 
within an extension of time authorized by the Board, the security may be used by 
the City to complete the installation.  Upon completion of the installation, any 
portion of the remaining security deposited with the City will be returned to the 
applicant. 

PDD 3. The approved landscape plan is binding upon the applicant/owner.  Substitution of 
plant materials, irrigation systems, or other aspects of an approved landscape plan 

Page 10 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 11 of 55 
 
 

shall not be made without official action of the Planning Director or Development 
Review Board, pursuant to the applicable sections of Wilsonville’s Development 
Code. 

PDD 4. All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, 
weeding, pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as originally 
approved by the Board, unless altered as allowed by Wilsonville’s Development 
Code. 

PDD 5. The following requirements for planting of shrubs and ground cover shall be met: 
• Non-horticultural plastic sheeting or other impermeable surface shall not be 

placed under landscaping mulch. 
• Native topsoil shall be preserved and reused to the extent feasible. 
• Surface mulch or bark dust shall be fully raked into soil of appropriate depth, 

sufficient to control erosion, and shall be confined to areas around plantings.   
• All shrubs shall be well branched and typical of their type as described in current 

AAN Standards and shall be equal to or better than 2-gallon containers and 10” 
to 12” spread.  

• Shrubs shall reach their designed size for screening within three (3) years of 
planting. 

• Ground cover shall be equal to or better than the following depending on the 
type of plant materials used:  gallon containers  spaced at 4 feet on center 
minimum, 4" pot spaced 2 feet on center minimum, 2-1/4" pots spaced at 18 inch 
on center minimum. 

• No bare root planting shall be permitted. 
• Ground cover shall be sufficient to cover at least 80% of the bare soil in required 

landscape areas within three (3) years of planting.   
• Appropriate plant materials shall be installed beneath the canopies of trees and 

large shrubs to avoid the appearance of bare ground in those locations. 
• Compost-amended topsoil shall be integrated in all areas to be landscaped, 

including lawns. 
PDD 6. Plant materials shall be installed to current industry standards and be properly 

staked to ensure survival. Plants that die shall be replaced in kind, within one 
growing season, unless appropriate substitute species are approved by the City. 

PDD 7. Prior to Planning Division approval of the Building Permit for the proposed 
building the applicant/owner shall receive approval of the final outdoor lighting 
design through the Class I administrative review process. Materials shall be 
submitted demonstrating compliance with either the performance or prescriptive 
option identified in Section 4.199.40. Required submission material listed in 
Section 4.199.50 shall be submitted for review. See Findings D39. 

 
The following Conditions of Approval are provided by the Engineering, Natural Resources, or 
Building Divisions of the City’s Community Development Department or Tualatin Valley Fire 
and Rescue, all of which have authority over development approval. A number of these 
Conditions of Approval are not related to land use regulations under the authority of the 
Development Review Board or Planning Director. Only those Conditions of Approval related to 

Page 11 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 12 of 55 
 
 

criteria in Chapter 4 of Wilsonville Code and the Comprehensive Plan, including but not limited 
to those related to traffic level of service, site vision clearance, recording of plats, and 
concurrency, are subject to the Land Use review and appeal process defined in Wilsonville Code 
and Oregon Revised Statutes and Administrative Rules. Other Conditions of Approval are based 
on City Code chapters other than Chapter 4, state law, federal law, or other agency rules and 
regulations. Questions or requests about the applicability, appeal, exemption or non-compliance 
related to these other Conditions of Approval should be directed to the City Department, 
Division, or non-City agency with authority over the relevant portion of the development 
approval.  
 
Engineering Division Conditions: 
 
REQUEST B: DB14-0042 Stage II Final Plan 
 
Standard Comments: 
PFB 1. Engineering PF conditions previously issued for the In Focus Corporate Complex 

project (00DB10) and the Jack Martin / In-Focus project (DB07-0035, as modified 
by DB08-0032)) are still in effect with this application, except as modified as 
follows. 

PFB 2. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance 
to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards. 

PFB 3. Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the 
following amounts: 

 
Coverage (Aggregate, accept where noted)                            Limit 
Commercial General Liability 
            General Aggregate (per project)                             $ 2,000,000 
            Fire Damage (any one fire)                                     $      50,000 
            Medical Expense (any one person)                         $      10,000 
Business Automobile Liability Insurance 
            Each Occurrence                                                     $ 1,000,000 
            Aggregate                                                                $ 2,000,000 
Workers Compensation Insurance                                      $    500,000 

PFB 4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 
22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville 
Public Work’s Standards. 

PFB 5. Plans submitted for review shall meet the following general criteria: 
 

a. Utility improvements that shall be maintained by the public and are not 
contained within a public right-of-way shall be provided a maintenance access 
acceptable to the City. The public utility improvements shall be centered in a 
minimum 15-ft. wide public easement for single utilities and a minimum 20-ft 
wide public easement for two parallel utilities and shall be conveyed to the City 
on its dedication forms. 

b. Design of any public utility improvements shall be approved at the time of the 

Page 12 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 13 of 55 
 
 

issuance of a Public Works Permit.  Private utility improvements are subject to 
review and approval by the City Building Department. 

c. In the plan set for the PW Permit, existing utilities and features, and proposed 
new private utilities shall be shown in a lighter, grey print.  Proposed public 
improvements shall be shown in bolder, black print. 

d. All elevations on design plans and record drawings shall be based on NAVD 88 
Datum.   

e. All proposed on and off-site public/private utility improvements shall comply 
with the State of Oregon and the City of Wilsonville requirements and any other 
applicable codes. 

f. Design plans shall identify locations for street lighting, gas service, power lines, 
telephone poles, cable television, mailboxes and any other public or private 
utility within the general construction area. 

g. As per City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 615, all new gas, telephone, cable, 
fiber-optic and electric improvements etc. shall be installed underground.  
Existing overhead utilities shall be undergrounded wherever reasonably 
possible. 

h. Any final site landscaping and signing shall not impede any proposed or 
existing driveway or interior maneuvering sight distance. 

i. Erosion Control Plan that conforms to City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482. 
j. Existing/proposed right-of-way, easements and adjacent driveways shall be 

identified. 
k. All engineering plans shall be printed to PDF, combined to a single file, 

stamped and digitally signed by a Professional Engineer registered in the State 
of Oregon.  

l. All plans submitted for review shall be in sets of a digitally signed PDF and 
three printed sets.   

PFB 6. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing any 
soil on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant 
shall obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental 
Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed a 1200-CN permit 
from the City of Wilsonville is required. 

PFB 7. The applicant shall be in conformance with all water quality requirements for the 
proposed development per the Public Works Standards.  If a mechanical water 
quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project the applicant shall 
provide a letter from the system manufacturer stating that the system was installed 
per specifications and is functioning as designed. 

PFB 8. Fire hydrants shall be located in compliance with TVF&R fire prevention ordinance 
and approval of TVF&R. 

PFB 9. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in 
compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

PFB 10. No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed. 
PFB 11. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access 

Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the 
storm system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or rainwater LID facilities 

Page 13 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 14 of 55 
 
 

may be located within the public right-of-way upon approval of the City Engineer.  
Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water components and private conventional 
storm water facilities; maintenance shall transfer to the respective homeowners 
association when it is formed.  

PFB 12. Mylar Record Drawings:  
At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, and 
before a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a record 
survey. Said survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record drawings' 
which will serve as the physical record of those changes made to the plans and/or 
specifications, originally approved by Staff, that occurred during construction. 
Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate changes will be made to the 
construction plans and/or specifications and a complete revised 'set' shall be 
submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic 
copy in AutoCAD, current version, and a digitally signed PDF. 

Specific Comments:  
PFB 13. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a traffic Trip Generation Memo 

dated May 5, 2014.  The project is hereby limited to no more than the following 
impacts. 

 
Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 35 

Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 21 
Through Elligsen Road Interchange Area 
 
Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 5 
Through Wilsonville Road Interchange Area 

 
PFB 14. In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) Parkway Avenue is identified as a 

Minor Arterial.  Sufficient right-of-way presently exists, and the street is fully 
constructed; no additional right-of-way or improvements to Parkway Avenue are 
identified. 

PFB 15. Access to the site shall be from the existing driveways located on Parkway Avenue. 
PFB 16. Existing storm facilities are sized for current impervious surfaces.  Should the 

addition of Building 3 have a net increase in impervious surface, the applicant shall 
be required to provide storm water detention and water quality facilities for the net 
increase in impervious surface.  A memo providing the total area of impervious 
surfaces to be removed and the total area of impervious surfaces being added with 
the project shall be prepared by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of 
Oregon shall be submitted for review and approval by the City. 

PFB 17. Should a net increase in impervious surface occur, a storm water analysis prepared 
by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon shall be submitted for 
review and approval by the City to address appropriate pipe and detention facility 
sizing and water quality treatment. 

 
Building Division Conditions: 

Page 14 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 15 of 55 
 
 

 
REQUEST B: DB14-0042 Stage II Final Plan & REQUEST D: Site Design Review 
 
BD 1. SITE CONDITIONS.  It is the responsibility of the applicant to insure that all 

existing underground utilities, piping, drain systems and easements of any kind are 
shown correctly on the site plan. 

BD 2. ACCESSIBLE PARKING cannot be fully reviewed at this time.  Accessible 
parking will be fully reviewed as part of the plan review of the building permit 
plans.  The additional information available at plan review may require changes to 
the number and location of accessible parking spaces shown on these preliminary 
plans.  (107.2.1) 

BD 3. FIRE CALCS.  Fire calcs shall be submitted with the building permit application.  
These calc sheets and instructions are available from the TVF&R web site.  (2010 
OFC 507.3)  The fire calcs will define how many hydrants are required, and if a 
building fire alarm or fire sprinkler system may be necessary.  Neither hydrant 
location, number of required hydrants, nor building plan review can proceed 
without the completed fire calcs. 

BD 4. FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION.  With respect to hydrants, driveways, 
buildings and landscaping, fire department connections shall be so located that fire 
apparatus and hose connected to supply the system will not obstruct access to the 
buildings for other fire apparatus.  The location of the fire department connections 
shall be approved by the fire chief.  Fire department connections shall be located on 
the street side of buildings, fully visible and recognizable from the street or nearest 
point of fire department vehicle access or as otherwise approved by the chief.  (OFC 
912.2, 912.2.1) 

BD 5. FDC CLEAR SPACE.  A working space of not less than 36” in width, 36” in depth, 
and 78” in height shall be provided and maintained in front of and to the sides of 
wall-mounted fire department connections and around the circumference of free-
standing fire department connections, except as otherwise required or approved by 
the fire chief.  (912.3.2)  Please confirm that the proposed planting plan respects the 
required clear space. 

BD 6. HYDRANT – CLEAR SPACE.  A 3’ clear space shall be maintained around the 
circumference of fire hydrants except as otherwise required or approved.  [Low 
growing ground covers that do not create a trip hazard are acceptable when 
approved by the fire marshal.] (OFC 508.5.5)  Please confirm that the proposed 
planting plan respects the required 3’ clearance. 

BD 7. RED CURBS and No Parking signs shall be installed when so required by the fire 
marshal.  (OFC 503.3)  It is recommended that you supply 2 copies of the site plan 
to the Fire Marshal at or before submittal of the building permit package to the 
Building Division for review of any possible no parking areas. 

BD 8. ADVISORY.  VAULT.  It is recommended - not required - that backflow devices 
for fire lines be placed inside the buildings and not in underground vaults.  This 
eliminates the continuing maintenance problems with sump pumps and valve 
monitoring, and saves the project the cost of a vault installation, about $10000.  
Where the backflow device is placed in a vault a public utility waterline easement 

Page 15 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 16 of 55 
 
 

will be required that extends to the upstream edge of the vault.  Without a vault the 
waterline easement will extend to the exterior wall of the building. 

 
Natural Resources Division Conditions: 
 
REQUEST B: DB14-0042 Stage II Final Plan & REQUEST D: Site Design Review 
 
SROZ: 
NR 1. Provide documentation the proposed temporary impacts have been reviewed and 

approved by the Oregon Department of State Lands. 
NR 2. All landscaping, including herbicides used to eradicate invasive plant species and 

existing vegetation, in the Significant Resource Overlay Zone 
(SROZ)/Conservation Easement and the Impact Area shall be reviewed and 
approved by the Natural Resources Program Manager. 

NR 3. Prior to any site grading or ground disturbance, the applicant is required to delineate 
the boundary of the SROZ/Conservation Easement.  Six-foot (6’) tall cyclone 
fences with metal posts pounded into the ground at 6’-8’ centers shall be used to 
protect the significant natural resource area where development encroaches into the 
Impact Area. 

NR 4. Pursuant to Section 4.139.03 (.05) of the Wilsonville Code, the applicant is required 
to use habitat-friendly development practices (Table NR-2) to the extent practicable 
for any encroachment into the SROZ and the Impact Area.  

NR 5. The applicant shall minimize the impact to the SROZ and the Impact Area during 
construction of the proposed building. 

Other: 
NR 6. The applicant shall comply with all applicable state and federal requirements for the 

proposed construction activities (e.g. DEQ NPDES #1200–CN permit). 
 
  

Page 16 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 17 of 55 
 
 

MASTER EXHIBIT LIST: 
 
The following exhibits are hereby entered into the public record by the Development Review 
Board as confirmation of its consideration of the application as submitted. This is the exhibit list 
that includes exhibits for Planning Case File DB14-0041 through DB14-0044. 
 
PLANNING STAFF MATERIALS 
A1. Staff report and findings (this document) 
A2. Staff’s Presentation Slides for Public Hearing (to be presented at Public Hearing) 
MATERIALS FROM APPLICANT 
B1.  Application Form Signed by Applicant’s Authorized Representative 
B2.  Applicant’s Narrative 
B3.  Drawings and Plans (reduced and full size under separate cover) 
 P1 Site Plan Comparison 
 P2 Floor Plan 
 P3 Exterior Elevations 
 P4 Second Floor Plan 
 SL1 Isofootcandle Horizontal Illuminance Lighting Site Plan 
 C1.0 Site Grading Plan 
 C2.0 Site Utility Plan 
 C3.0 Erosion & Sediment Control Plan 
 L1.0 Landscape Plan 
B4.  Photo of Building W2 to show materials example (Applicant’s Exhibit 1.0) 
B5.  Exterior Materials and Finishes Drawing (Applicant’s Exhibit 2.0) 
B6.  Geotechnical Engineering Report (Applicant’s Exhibit 3.0) 
B7.  Traffic Report (Applicant’s Exhibit 4.0) 
B8.  Preliminary Title Report (Applicant’s Exhibit 5.0) 
B9.  Letter from Republic Services approving Refuse Enclosure Dated March 28, 2014 
B10.  Email dated May 30, 2014 clarifying the variety of 12 trees planted on the site. 
DEVELOPMENT REVIEW TEAM CORRESPONDENCE 
C1. Engineering Conditions from Steve Adam PE, Development Engineering Manager 
C2. Building Conditions from Don Walters, Plans Examiner 
C3. Natural Resource Conditions from Kerry Rappold, Natural Resources Program Manager 
C4. Comments from Public Works 
C5. Comments from NW Natural Gas 
OTHER CORRESPONDENCE 
 Correspondence in favor (none received) 
 Correspondence opposed (none received) 
 Correspondence neutral (none received) 
  

Page 17 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 18 of 55 
 
 

FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 
1. The statutory 120-day time limit applies to this application. The application was received on 

April 16, 2014.  On April 23, 2014, staff conducted a completeness review within the 
statutorily allowed 30-day review period, and, on May 5, 2014, the Applicant submitted new 
materials.  On May 8, 2014 the application was deemed complete. The City must render a 
final decision for the request, including any appeals, by September 5, 2014. 

. 
2. Surrounding land uses are as follows: 

 

Compass Direction Zone: Existing Use: 
North:  PDI Xerox 

East:  PDI Preserved natural area 

South:  PDI OIT 

West:  -- Parkway Ave./Interstate 5 

 
1. Previous Planning Approvals: Buildings W1 (office building in the application) and W2 

(Rockwell Collins – tenant) were approved in case-file DB07-0035. The project site was 
originally located within the Mentor Graphics Master Plan that was approved in 1988 
(Resolution 89PC05). The Stage I Preliminary Plan that approved the In Focus Systems Inc., 
campus at build-out included three major buildings; offices, research and development, 
manufacturing and distribution uses. (Resolution 00DB10). In Resolution 138, Mr. Jack 
Martin/I-5 Corporate Park revised the In Focus master Plan and Buildings W1 and W2 were 
built. Case File DB08-0032 Site Design Review for Building W1. 

 
3. The applicant has complied with Sections 4.013-4.031 of the Wilsonville Code, said sections 

pertaining to review procedures and submittal requirements. The required public notices have 
been sent and all proper notification procedures have been satisfied. 

 
CONCLUSIONARY FINDINGS:  
 
NOTE: Pursuant to Section 4.014 the burden of proving that the necessary findings of fact can be 
made for approval of any land use or development application rests with the applicant in the 
case. 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 
 
Review Criteria: This section lists general application procedures applicable to a number of 
types of land use applications and also lists unique features of Wilsonville’s development review 
process. 
Finding: These criteria are met.  
Details of Finding: The application is being processed in accordance with the applicable general 
procedures of this Section. 

Page 18 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 19 of 55 
 
 

 
Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 
 
Review Criterion: “Except for a Specific Area Plan (SAP), applications involving specific sites 
may be filed only by the owner of the subject property, by a unit of government that is in the 
process of acquiring the property, or by an agent who has been authorized by the owner, in 
writing, to apply.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The application has been submitted on behalf of the property owner, 
Wilsonville 2006 NW LLC. The application form is signed by Jack Martin as the property 
owner.  
 
Subsection 4.010 (.02) Pre-Application Conference 
 
Review Criteria: This section lists the pre-application process 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Pre-application conferences were held on January 30, 2014 (PA14-0002) in 
accordance with this subsection. 
 
Subsection 4.011 (.02) B. Lien Payment before Application Approval 
 
Review Criterion: “City Council Resolution No. 796 precludes the approval of any 
development application without the prior payment of all applicable City liens for the subject 
property. Applicants shall be encouraged to contact the City Finance Department to verify that 
there are no outstanding liens. If the Planning Director is advised of outstanding liens while an 
application is under consideration, the Director shall advise the applicant that payments must be 
made current or the existence of liens will necessitate denial of the application.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No applicable liens exist for the subject property. The application can thus 
move forward. 
 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) A. General Site Development Permit Submission Requirements 
 
Review Criteria: “An application for a Site Development Permit shall consist of the materials 
specified as follows, plus any other materials required by this Code.” Listed 1. through 6. j. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided all of the applicable general submission 
requirements contained in this subsection. 
 
Section 4.110 Zoning-Generally 
 
Review Criteria: “The use of any building or premises or the construction of any development 
shall be in conformity with the regulations set forth in this Code for each Zoning District in 
which it is located, except as provided in Sections 4.189 through 4.192.” “The General 
Regulations listed in Sections 4.150 through 4.199 shall apply to all zones unless the text 
indicates otherwise.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 19 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 20 of 55 
 
 

Details of Finding: This proposed development is in conformity with the applicable zoning 
district and general development regulations listed in Sections 4.150 through 4.199 have been 
applied in accordance with this Section. 
 

REQUEST A: DB14-0041 STAGE I PRELIMINARY PLAN REVISION  
 
Planned Development Regulations 
 
Subsection 4.140 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Regulations 
 
A1. Review Criterion: The proposed revised Stage I Master Plan shall be consistent with the Planned 

Development Regulations purpose statement. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed building is an extension of multi-building, multi-tenant, 
industrial campus that has been master planned pursuant to the stated purpose of the 
Planned Development Regulations including a harmonious combination of multiple 
buildings including compatible uses and architecture creating an attractive and efficient 
industrial campus. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.02) Lot Qualifications for Planned Developments 
 
A2. Review Criterion: “Planned Development may be established on lots which are suitable for and of 

a size to be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and objectives of 
Section 4.140.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The I-5 Corporate Park is of sufficient size to be developed in a 
manner consistent the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140. 

 
A3. Review Criteria: “Any site designated for development in the Comprehensive Plan may be 

developed as a Planned Development, provided that it is zoned “PD.”  All sites which are greater 
than two (2) acres in size, and designated in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial, residential, 
or industrial use shall be developed as Planned Developments, unless approved for other uses 
permitted by the Development Code.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial 
development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. 
The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned development in 
accordance with this subsection.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.03) Ownership Requirements for Submitting Planned Development 
Application 
 
A4. Review Criterion: “The tract or tracts of land included in a proposed Planned Development must 

be in one (1) ownership or control or the subject of a joint application by the owners of all the 
property included.”  
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All the land subject to change under the proposal is under one 

Page 20 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 21 of 55 
 
 

ownership.  
 
Subsection 4.140 (.04) Professional Design Team Required for Planned Developments 
 
A5. Review Criteria: “The applicant for all proposed Planned Developments shall certify that the 

professional services of the appropriate professionals have been utilized in the planning process for 
development. One of the professional consultants chosen by the applicant shall be designated to be 
responsible for conferring with the planning staff with respect to the concept and details of the 
plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As can be found in the applicant’s submitted materials, appropriate 
professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process. Jennifer Kimura 
of VLMK Consulting Engineers has been designated the coordinator for the planning 
portion of the project.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.05) Planned Development Permit Process 
 
A6. Review Criteria: “All parcels of land exceeding two (2) acres in size that are to be used for 

residential, commercial or industrial development, shall, prior to the issuance of any building 
permit: 
1. Be zoned for planned development; 
2. Obtain a planned development permit; and 
3. Obtain Development Review Board, or, on appeal, City Council approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial 
development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. 
The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned development in 
accordance with this subsection.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.06) Stage I Master Plan Consistent with Comprehensive Plan 
 
A7. Review Criteria: “The planning staff shall prepare a report of its findings and conclusions as to 

whether the use contemplated is consistent with the land use designated on the Comprehensive 
Plan.” “The applicant may proceed to apply for Stage I - Preliminary Approval - upon 
determination by either staff or the Development Review Board that the use contemplated is 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.”  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed project, as found elsewhere in this report, complies with 
the Planned Development Industrial zoning designation, which implements the 
Comprehensive Plan designation of ‘Industrial’ for this property. All other applicable 
Development Code criteria that implement the Comprehensive Plan are being met, or will 
be met as conditions of approval. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.07) Stage I Master Plan Application Requirements and Hearing Process 
 
A8. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes that the Development Review Board shall consider a 

Stage I Master Plan after completion or submission of a variety of application requirements. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 21 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 22 of 55 
 
 

Details of Finding: Review of the proposed revised Stage I Master Plan has been 
scheduled for a public hearing before the Development Review Board in accordance with 
this subsection and the applicant has met all the applicable submission requirements as 
follows: 
• The property affected by the revised Stage I Master Plan is under the sole ownership of 

Wilsonville 2006 NW LLC. The application has been signed by Jack Martin as an 
authorized Our Associates representative.  

• The application for a revised Stage I Master Plan has been submitted on a form 
prescribed by the City.  

• The professional design team and coordinator has been identified. See Finding A5. 
• The applicant has stated the various uses involved in the Master Plan and their 

locations. 
• In terms of a boundary survey, no change to the current Stage I Master Plan area is 

proposed, therefore no boundary survey is necessary.  
• Sufficient topographic information has been submitted.  
• A tabulation of the land area to be devoted to various uses has been provided.  
• Most of the Stage I Area has already been constructed. The proposed changes will be 

constructed in a single phase. 
• Any necessary performance bonds will be required. 
• A setback waiver is anticipated, and will be reviewed with the Stage II Final Plan 

which is concurrent with this application. See Request C. 
 
Section 4.023 Expiration of Development Approvals 
 
A9. Review Criterion: “Except for Specific Area Plans (SAP), land use and development permits and 

approvals, including both Stage I and Stage II Planned Development approvals, shall be valid for a 
maximum of two years, unless extended as provided in this Section.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: It is understood the requested approval with expire after two (2) years 
unless extended. 

 
Planned Development Industrial (PDI) Zone 
 
Subsection 4.135 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Industrial Zone 
 
A10. Review Criterion: “The purpose of the PDI zone is to provide opportunities for a variety of 

industrial operations and associated uses.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed flex-space building will allow industrial uses consistent 
with the purpose of the PDI zone. No commercial uses are proposed. 

 
Subsection 4.135 (.02) PDI Zone Governed by Planned Development Regulations 
 
A11. Review Criterion: “The PDI Zone shall be governed by Section 4.140, Planned Development 

Regulations, and as otherwise set forth in this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 

Page 22 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 23 of 55 
 
 

Details of Finding: As seen in the findings for this request and the associated Stage II and 
Site Design Review requests, the proposal is being reviewed in accordance with Section 
4.140. 

 
Subsection 4.135 (.03) Allowed Uses in PDI Zone 
 
A12. Review Criteria: Uses that are typically permitted: Listed A. through T. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed flex-space building will allow industrial uses listed as 
permitted in the PDI zone. No commercial uses are proposed. 

 
Subsection 4.135 (.04) Block and Access Standards in PDI Zone 
 
A13. Review Criterion: “The PDI zone shall be subject to the same block and access standards as the 

PDC zone, Section 4.131(.02) and (.03).” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The previously approved block spacing and access is not being 
changed. The Stage I Master Plan area will continue to be in compliance with these 
standards including adequate connectivity.  

 

REQUEST B: DB14-0042 STAGE II FINAL PLAN  
 
Planned Development Regulations 
 
Subsection 4.140 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Regulations 
 
B1. Review Criterion: The proposed Stage II Final Plan shall be consistent with the Planned 

Development Regulations purpose statement. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Based on the information provided by the applicant in their narrative, 
staff is of the professional opinion that the purpose of the planned development regulations 
is met by the proposed Stage II Final Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.02) Lot Qualifications for Planned Developments 
 
B2. Review Criterion: “Planned Development may be established on lots which are suitable for and of 

a size to be planned and developed in a manner consistent with the purposes and objectives of 
Section 4.140.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The lot of the subject development site is of sufficient size to be 
developed in a manner consistent the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140. 

 
B3. Review Criteria: “Any site designated for development in the Comprehensive Plan may be 

developed as a Planned Development, provided that it is zoned ‘PD.’  All sites which are greater 
than two (2) acres in size, and designated in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial, residential, 
or industrial use shall be developed as Planned Developments, unless approved for other uses 
permitted by the Development Code.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 23 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 24 of 55 
 
 

Details of Finding: The development site is greater than 2 acres, is designated for 
industrial development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development 
Industrial. The property will be developed as a component of a planned development in 
accordance with this subsection.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.03) Ownership Requirements for Submitting Planned Development 
Application 
 
B4. Review Criterion: “The tract or tracts of land included in a proposed Planned Development must 

be in one (1) ownership or control or the subject of a joint application by the owners of all the 
property included.“ 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The land included in the proposed Stage II Final Plan is under the 
single ownership of Wilsonville 2006 NW LLC and an authorized representative, Jack 
Martin, has signed the application.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.04) Professional Design Team Required for Planned Developments 
 
B5. Review Criteria: “The applicant for all proposed Planned Developments shall certify that the 

professional services of the appropriate professionals have been utilized in the planning process for 
development. One of the professional consultants chosen by the applicant shall be designated to be 
responsible for conferring with the planning staff with respect to the concept and details of the 
plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As can be found in the applicant’s submitted materials, appropriate 
professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process. Jennifer Kimura 
of VLMK Consulting Engineers has been designated the coordinator for the planning 
portion of the project 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.05) Planned Development Permit Process 
 
B6. Review Criteria: “All parcels of land exceeding two (2) acres in size that are to be used for 

residential, commercial or industrial development, shall, prior to the issuance of any building 
permit: 
1. Be zoned for planned development; 
2. Obtain a planned development permit; and 
3. Obtain Development Review Board, or, on appeal, City Council approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial 
development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. 
The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned development in 
accordance with this subsection.  

 
  

Page 24 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 25 of 55 
 
 

Stage II Final Plan Submission Requirements and Process 
 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) A. Timing of Submission 

 
B7. Review Criterion: “Unless an extension has been granted by the Development Review Board, 

within two (2) years after the approval or modified approval of a preliminary development plan 
(Stage I), the applicant shall file with the City Planning Department a final plan for the entire 
development or when submission in stages has been authorized pursuant to Section 4.035 for the 
first unit of the development” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant is submitting a Stage II Master Plan concurrently with a 
revised Stage I Master Plan.  

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) B. Determination by Development Review Board 
 
B8. Review Criterion: “the Development Review Board shall determine whether the proposal 

conforms to the permit criteria set forth in this Code, and shall approve, conditionally approve, or 
disapprove the application”. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Development Review Board is considering all applicable permit 
criteria set forth in the Planning and Land Development Code and staff is recommending 
the Development Review Board approve the application with conditions of approval. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) C. Conformance with Stage I and Additional Submission Requirements 
 
B9. Review Criteria: “The final plan shall conform in all major respects with the approved 

preliminary development plan, and shall include all information included in the preliminary plan 
plus the following:” listed 1. through 6. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant states, and staff concurs, that the Stage II plans 
substantially conforms to the proposed revised Stage I Master plan. The applicant has 
provided the required drawings and other documents showing all the additional 
information required by this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) D. Stage II Final Plan Detail 
 
B10. Review Criterion: “The final plan shall be sufficiently detailed to indicate fully the ultimate 

operation and appearance of the development or phase of development.”   
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficiently detailed information to 
indicate fully the ultimate operation and appearance of the development, including a 
detailed site plan, landscape plans, elevation drawings, and material information. 

 
  

Page 25 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 26 of 55 
 
 

Subsection 4.140 (.09) E. Submission of Legal Documents 
 
B11. Review Criterion: “Copies of legal documents required by the Development Review Board for 

dedication or reservation of public facilities, or for the creation of a non-profit homeowner’s 
association, shall also be submitted.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional legal documentation is required for dedication or 
reservation of public facilities. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) I. and Section 4.023 Expiration of Stage II Approval 
 
B12. Review Criterion: This subsection and section identify the period for which Stage II approvals are 

valid. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Stage II Approval, along other associated applications, will expire 
two (2) years after approval, unless an extension is approved in accordance with these 
subsections. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 1. Planned Development Permit Requirements: Conformance with 
Comprehensive Plan and other Applicable Plans and Ordinances 
 
B13. Review Criteria: “The location, design, size and uses, both separately and as a whole, are 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and with any other applicable plan, development map or 
Ordinance adopted by the City Council.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The subject property has previously been zoned Planned Development 
Industrial consistent with the Industrial designation in the Comprehensive Plan. To staff’s 
knowledge, the location, design, size, and uses are consistent with other applicable plans, 
maps, and ordinances, or will be by specific conditions of approval. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 2. Planned Development Permit Requirements: Traffic Concurrency 
 
B14. Review Criteria: “That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the 

development at the most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without 
congestion in excess of Level of Service D, as defined in the  Highway Capacity Manual published 
by the National Highway Research Board, on existing or immediately planned arterial or collector 
streets and will, in the case of commercial or industrial developments, avoid traversing local 
streets.  Immediately planned arterial and collector streets are those listed in the City’s adopted 
Capital Improvement Program, for which funding has been approved or committed, and that are 
scheduled for completion within two years of occupancy of the development or four year if they 
are an associated crossing, interchange, or approach street  improvement to  Interstate 5.” 
Additional qualifiers and criteria listed a. through e. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As explained on page 4 of 8 of the memo from DKS Associates dated 
May 5, 2014 (Exhibit B7) the new building is anticipated to general 35 (8 in, 27 out) p.m. 
peak hour trips. Existing counts suggest that 264 p.m. peak hour trips are still available 

Page 26 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 27 of 55 
 
 

from what was previously approved for the master plan providing ample capacity for the 
new building and not leading to any congestion in excess of Level of Service D. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 3. Planned Development Permit Requirements: Facilities and 
Services Concurrency 
 
B15. Review Criteria: “That the location, design, size and uses are such that the residents or 

establishments to be accommodated will be adequately served by existing or immediately planned 
facilities and services.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Facilities and services, including utilities, are available and sufficient 
to serve the proposed development. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) L. Adherence to Approved Plan and Modification Thereof 
 
B16. Review Criteria: “The applicant shall agree in writing to be bound, for her/himself and her/his 

successors in interest, by the conditions prescribed for approval of a development.  The approved 
final plan and stage development schedule shall control the issuance of all building permits and 
shall restrict the nature, location and design of all uses.  Minor changes in an approved preliminary 
or final development plan may be approved by the Director of Planning if such changes are 
consistent with the purposes and general character of the development plan.   All other 
modifications, including extension or revision of the stage development schedule, shall be 
processed in the same manner as the original application and shall be subject to the same 
procedural requirements.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 1. 
Details of Finding: Condition of Approval PDB 1 ensures adherence to approved plans 
except for minor revisions by the Planning Director. 

 
Industrial Development in Any Zone 
 
Subsection 4.117 (.01) Standards Applying to Industrial Development in Any Zone 
 
B17. Review Criteria: “All industrial developments, uses, or activities are subject to performance 

standards.  If not otherwise specified in the Planning and Development Code, industrial 
developments, uses, and activities shall be subject to the performance standards specified in 
Section 4. 135 (.05) (PDI Zone).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All applicable performance standards are being or will be met. See 
Finding B29. 

 
Standards Applying in All Planned Development Zones 
 
Subsection 4.118 (.01) Additional Height Guidelines 
 
B18. Review Criterion: “In cases that are subject to review by the Development Review Board, the 

Board may further regulate heights as follows:  

Page 27 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 28 of 55 
 
 

A. Restrict or regulate the height or building design consistent with adequate provision of 
fire protection and fire-fighting apparatus height limitations. 
B. To provide buffering of low density developments by requiring the placement of three or 
more story buildings away from the property lines abutting a low density zone. 
C. To regulate building height or design to protect scenic vistas of Mt. Hood or the 
Willamette River.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Staff does not recommend the Development Review Board require a 
height less than the applicant proposes as the proposed height provides for fire protection 
access, does not abut a low density zone, and does not impact scenic views of Mt. Hood or 
the Willamette River. 

 
Subsection 4.118 (.02) Underground Utilities 
 
B19. Review Criteria: “Underground Utilities shall be governed by Sections 4.300 to 4.320.  All 

utilities above ground shall be located so as to minimize adverse impacts on the site and 
neighboring properties.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All additional utilities on the property are required to be underground. 
See also Finding B74. 

 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) Waivers 
 
B20. Review Criteria: “Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the 

Development Review Board, in order to implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140, 
and based on findings of fact supported by the record may” waive a number of standards as listed 
in A. through E.  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: A waiver to the thirty foot (30’) setback from the north property line 
has been requested with findings supporting the requirements of this subsection. See 
Request C. 

 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) E. Other Requirements or Restrictions 
 
B21. Review Criteria: “Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 to the contrary, the 

Development Review Board, in order to implement the purposes and objectives of Section 4.140, 
and based on findings of fact supported by the record may adopt other requirements or restrictions, 
inclusive of, but not limited to, the following:” Listed 1. through 12. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional requirements or restrictions are recommended pursuant 
to this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.118 (.04) Effect of Determination of Compliance and Conditions of Approval on 
Development Cost 
 
B22. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director and Development Review Board shall, in making their 

determination of compliance in attaching conditions, consider the effects of this action on 

Page 28 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 29 of 55 
 
 

availability and cost.  The provisions of this section shall not be used in such a manner that 
additional conditions, either singularly or cumulatively, have the effect of unnecessarily increasing 
the cost of development.  However, consideration of these factors shall not prevent the Board from 
imposing conditions of approval necessary to meet the minimum requirements of the 
Comprehensive Plan and Code.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: It is staff’s professional opinion that the determination of compliance 
or attached conditions do not unnecessarily increase the cost of development, and no 
evidence has been submitted to the contrary. 

 
Subsection 4.118 (.05) Requirements to Set Aside Tracts for Certain Purposes 
 
B23. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director, Development Review Board, or on appeal, the City 

Council, may as a condition of approval for any development for which an application is submitted, 
require that portions of the tract or tracts under consideration be set aside, improved, conveyed or 
dedicated for the following uses:” Recreational Facilities, Open Space Area, Easements.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional tracts are being required for the purposes given. 

 
Subsection 4.118 (.09) Habitat Friendly Development Practices 
 
B24. Review Criteria: “To the extent practicable, development and construction activities of any lot 

shall consider the use of habitat-friendly development practices, which include:  
A. Minimizing grading, removal of native vegetation, disturbance and removal of native 
soils, and impervious area; 
B. Minimizing adverse hydrological impacts on water resources, such as using the practices 
described in Part (a) of Table NR-2 in Section 4.139.03, unless their use is prohibited by an 
applicable and required state or federal permit, such as a permit required under the federal Clean 
Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq., or the federal Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. §§300f et 
seq., and including conditions or plans required by such permit; 
C. Minimizing impacts on wildlife corridors and fish passage, such as by using the practices 
described in Part (b) of Table NR-2 in Section 4.139.03; and  
D. Using the practices described in Part (c) of Table NR-2 in Section 4.139.03.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed development replaces an existing parking lot, and 
surrounding landscape areas. The adjacent preserved natural area is not being impacted. 

 
Planned Development Industrial Zone 
 
Subsection 4.135 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Industrial Zone 
 
B25. Review Criterion: “The purpose of the PDI zone is to provide opportunities for a variety of 

industrial operations and associated uses.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed flex-space building will allow industrial uses consistent 
with the purpose of the PDI zone. No commercial uses are proposed. 
 

  

Page 29 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 30 of 55 
 
 

Subsection 4.135 (.02) PDI Zone Governed by Planned Development Regulations 
 
B26. Review Criterion: “The PDI Zone shall be governed by Section 4.140, Planned Development 

Regulations, and as otherwise set forth in this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: As seen in the findings for this request and associated Stage I and Site 
Design Review requests, the proposal is being reviewed in accordance with Section 4.140. 

 
Subsection 4.135 (.03) Allowed Uses in PDI Zone 
 
B27. Review Criteria: “Uses that are typically permitted:” Listed A. through T. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed flex-space building will allow industrial uses listed as 
permitted in the PDI zone. No commercial uses are proposed. 

 
Subsection 4.135 (.04) Block and Access Standards in PDI Zone 
 
B28. Review Criteria: “The PDI zone shall be subject to the same block and access standards as the 

PDC zone, Section 4.131(.02) and (.03).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The previously approved block spacing and access is not being 
changed. The Stage II Master Plan area will continue to be in compliance with these 
standards including adequate connectivity.  

 
Subsection 4.135 (.05) Industrial Performance Standards 
 
B29. Review Criteria: “The following performance standards apply to all industrial properties and sites 

within the PDI Zone, and are intended to minimize the potential adverse impacts of industrial 
activities on the general public and on other land uses or activities.  They are not intended to 
prevent conflicts between different uses or activities that may occur on the same property.” 
Standards listed A. through N. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed project meets the performance standards of this 
subsection as follows: 
• Pursuant to standard A (enclosure of uses and activities), all non-parking/loading 

activities and uses will be completely enclosed. 
• Pursuant to standard B (vibrations), there is no indication that the proposed 

development will produce vibrations detectable off site without instruments.  
• Pursuant to standard C (emissions), there is no indication the odorous gas or other 

odorous matter would be produced by the proposed use. 
• Pursuant to standard D (open storage), no outdoor storage is proposed. 
• Pursuant to standard E (night operations and residential areas), the proposed use is 

not in the vicinity of any residential areas. 
• Pursuant to standard F (heat and glare), no exterior operations are proposed creating 

heat and glare. 

Page 30 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 31 of 55 
 
 

• Pursuant to standard G (dangerous substances), there are no prohibited dangerous 
substances expected on the development site. 

• Pursuant to standard H (liquid and solid wastes), staff has no evidence that the 
standards defined for liquid and solid waste in this subsection would be violated. 

• Pursuant to standard I (noise), staff has no evidence that noise generated from the 
proposed operations would violate the City’s Noise Ordinance and noises produced 
in violation of the Noise Ordinance would be subject to the enforcement procedures 
established in WC Chapter 6 for such violations. 

• Pursuant to standard J (electrical disturbances), staff has no evidence that any 
prohibited electrical disturbances would be produced by the proposed project’s 
operations. 

• Pursuant to standard K (discharge of air pollutants), staff has no evidence that any 
prohibited discharge would be produced by the proposed project. 

• Pursuant to standard L (open burning), no open burning is proposed on the 
development site. 

• Pursuant to standard M (outdoor storage), no outdoor storage is proposed 
• Pursuant to standard N (unused area landscaping), no unused areas will be left on the 

subject property. 
 
Subsection 4.135 (.06) Other PDI Standards 
 
B30. Review Criteria: This section lists other standards of the PDI zone including: minimum individual 

lot size, maximum lot coverage, front yard setback, rear and side yard setback, corner vision, off 
street parking and loading, and signs. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed development meets these standards, as applicable, as 
follows: 
• The lots are of sufficient size to allow for the required amount of landscaping, parking, 

and other applicable site requirements along with lot coverage of the proposed 
development. 

• The required thirty foot (30’) front and side yard are met except on the north for which 
a waiver is being requested. See Request C. 

• Nothing affecting vision clearance is affected by the application. 
• Off-street parking and loading requirements are met. See Findings B38-B44. 
• No signs subject to the sign regulations are proposed. 

 
Section 4.139.02 Applicability of SROZ Regulations 
 
B31. Review Criteria: This section identifies where the Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) 

regulations apply. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: While adjacent to the SROZ and a previously recorded conservation 
easement, no work or changes are proposed in the SROZ 

 
  

Page 31 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 32 of 55 
 
 

On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 1. Continuous Pathway System 
 
B32. Review Criterion: “A pedestrian pathway system shall extend throughout the development site 

and connect to adjacent sidewalks, and to all future phases of the development, as applicable.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant has proposed a network of pathways along the 
building, from the main entrance to Parkway Avenue, and from the main entrance to 
parking areas. See sheet L1.0 in Exhibit B3. 

 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 2. Safe, Direct, and Convenient Pathways 
 
B33. Review Criteria: “Pathways within developments shall provide safe, reasonably direct, and 

convenient connections between primary building entrances and all adjacent parking areas, 
recreational areas/playgrounds, and public rights-of-way and crosswalks based on all of the 
following criteria: 

a. Pedestrian pathways are designed primarily for pedestrian safety and 
convenience, meaning they are free from hazards and provide a reasonably 
smooth and consistent surface.  

b.  The pathway is reasonably direct. A pathway is reasonably direct when it 
follows a route between destinations that does not involve a significant amount of 
unnecessary out-of-direction travel. 

c. The pathway connects to all primary building entrances and is consistent with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements. 

 d. All parking lots larger than three acres in size shall provide an internal bicycle 
and pedestrian pathway pursuant to Section 4.155(.03)(B.)(3.)(d.).” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding:  

• All proposed pathways are of smooth and consistent concrete and no hazards are 
evident on the site plan.  

• All proposed pathways are reasonably direct. The path from the main entrance to 
Parkway Avenue is nearly a straight line as is the path from the main entrance to 
the parking area to the south. 

• The pathways around the building connects to all primary building entrances. 
• Where required, pathways meet ADA requirements or will be required to by the 

building code. 
• The parking lot is not larger than 3 acres in size. 

 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 3. Vehicle/Pathway Separation 
 
B34. Review Criterion: “Except as required for crosswalks, per subsection 4, below, where a pathway 

abuts a driveway or street it shall be vertically or horizontally separated from the vehicular lane. 
For example, a pathway may be vertically raised six inches above the abutting travel lane, or 
horizontally separated by a row of bollards.”  
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All pathways affected by this review are separated consistent 

Page 32 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 33 of 55 
 
 

with this subsection.  
 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 4. Crosswalks 
 
B35. Review Criterion: “Where a pathway crosses a parking area or driveway, it shall be clearly 

marked with contrasting paint or paving materials (e.g., pavers, light-color concrete inlay between 
asphalt, or similar contrast).”  
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 2. 
Explanation of Finding: The method of marking the crosswalks is not clear from the 
plans. The condition of approval requires the crosswalks to be clearly marked with 
contrasting paint or paving materials (e.g., pavers, light-color concrete inlay between 
asphalt, or similar contrast).” 

 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 5. Pathway Width and Surface 
 
B36. Review Criteria: “Primary pathways shall be constructed of concrete, asphalt, brick/masonry 

pavers, or other durable surface, and not less than five (5) feet wide. Secondary pathways and 
pedestrian trails may have an alternative surface except as otherwise required by the ADA.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Primary pathways are the required width and will be constructed 
of concrete or asphalt. 

 
Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 6. Signs for Pathways 
 
B37. Review Criteria: “All pathways shall be clearly marked with appropriate standard signs.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No pathways requiring signs are proposed. 

 
Parking and Loading 
 
Subsection 4.155 (.02) General Parking Provisions 
 
B38. Review Criteria: This subsection lists a number of general provisions for parking. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Conditions of Approval PDB 3. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficient information demonstrating 
compliance with the provisions in this subsection applicable to Stage II Final Plan review. 
Among the information provided is sheet P1. Staff specifically points out the following: 
• In relation to provision A. no waivers to parking standards have been requested 
• In relation to provision B. all parking areas are accessible and usable for parking.  
• In relation to provision C. current parking development standards are only being 

applied to new parking areas. 
• In relation to provisions D. and F. parking is being calculated summing the 

requirements of different uses and considering existing parking. 
• In relation to provision J. Condition of Approval PDB 3 ensures parking spaces along 

the boundaries of the parking lot shall be provided with a sturdy bumper guard or curb 
at least six inches (6”) high and located far enough within the boundary to prevent any 

Page 33 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 34 of 55 
 
 

portion of a car within the lot from extending over the property line or interfering with 
the required screening or sidewalks.  

• In relation to provision K. the parking area is paved and provided with adequate 
drainage.  

• In relation to provision L. compliance with the outdoor lighting ordinance and 
vegetative screening will prevent artificial lighting from shining into adjoining 
structures or affecting passersby 

• In relation to provision M. all the proposes uses are listed in the Code 
• In relation to provision N. 40% of the parking is proposed as compact. 
• In relation to provision O. all planting areas that vehicles may overhang are seven feet 

(7’) or greater in depth. 
 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) A. Functional Design of Parking, Loading, and Delivery Areas  
 
B39. Review Criteria: “Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be designed with access and 

maneuvering area adequate to serve the functional needs of the site and shall: 
1. Separate loading and delivery areas and circulation from customer and/or employee 
parking and pedestrian areas.  Circulation patterns shall be clearly marked. 
2. To the greatest extent possible, separate vehicle and pedestrian traffic.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The functional needs of the site for vehicles include employee and 
visitor parking of standard passenger vehicles during work hours and truck access of 
shipping and delivery. The required amount of parking is required, with drive aisles of 
widths 24’ to 26’ adequate to accommodate two-way truck and passenger vehicle traffic. 
All turning radii are adequate as shown on sheet P1 of Exhibit B3. The existing access 
points from Parkway Avenue are being maintained which provide adequate access to 
prevent choke points or excessive queuing. Loading berths meeting number of size 
requirements of the development code are provided and is considered adequate to serve the 
expected amount of delivery and shipping from the site. The needs for Solid Waste and 
Recycling pick up vehicles and fire apparatus are being reviewed separately and have been 
approved by Republic Services and TVF&R. 
 
The required loading and delivery berths are located at the extreme northeast and southeast 
of the proposed building, as well as the northern end of the west facade maximizing 
separation from customer/employee parking and pedestrian areas. No parking is shown 
around the main loading and delivery berth on the north side of the building. The other 
loading berths are at the end of pedestrian paths to remove interruptions to the pedestrian 
network. The access drives are shared, but separate access drives are not required or 
practical with the site design.  
 
Circulation patterns are clearly evident by the standard width of the drive aisles which are 
equivalent to a local street without pavement markings, and the clear delineation of the 
edge of the drive aisles by painted parking stalls, landscape planters, and the building. The 
only places where vehicle and pedestrian traffic is not separated are marked crosswalks 

Page 34 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 35 of 55 
 
 

across drive aisles. Otherwise the pedestrian circulation system is on raised sidewalks 
meeting the separation standards of Section 4.154. 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 1.-3. Parking Area Landscaping 
 
B40. Review Criteria: “Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be landscaped to minimize the 

visual dominance of the parking or loading area, as follows:” Listed 1. through 3. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: While the applicant has not provided summary findings specific to 
parking landscape area, Sheet P1 indicates 20% of the site area will be landscaped. Nearly 
all of the landscaping is adjacent to parking areas. Subtracting the building footprint of 
17,343 square feet leaves 49,480 square feet of site area in landscaping and parking and 
circulation. Of the remaining area 13,760 square feet or 27.8% is landscaping.     
 
The proposed landscape includes perimeter landscaping as well as interior landscape 
islands which would be identified as parking area landscaping. The proposed landscaping 
strips/areas provide screening from the public right-of-way.   

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) C. Parking and Loading Areas-Safe and Convenient Access 
 
B41. Review Criterion: “Be designed for safe and convenient access that meets ADA and ODOT 

standards.  All parking areas which contain ten (10) or more parking spaces, shall for every fifty 
(50) standard spaces., provide one ADA-accessible parking space that is constructed to building 
code standards, Wilsonville Code 9.000.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: 90 standard and compact parking stalls are provided and 4 ADA stalls, 
meeting the standard established in this subsection. ADA parking will also be reviewed as 
part of the review of the Building Code requirements for the Building Permit. 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) D. Parking Connectivity and Efficient On-site Circulation  
 
B42. Review Criteria: “Where possible, parking areas shall be designed to connect with parking areas 

on adjacent sites so as to eliminate the necessity of utilizing the public street for multiple accesses 
or cross movements.  In addition, on-site parking shall be designed for efficient on-site circulation 
and parking.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The parking areas are connected to parking areas for adjoining 
buildings within the same master plan and share a main entrance from Parkway Avenue. 
Drive aisles create direct connectivity through the site for efficient on-site circulation. 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) F. On-Street Parking 
 
B43. Review Criteria: “On-street parking spaces, directly adjoining the frontage of and on the same 

side of the street as the subject property, may be counted towards meeting the minimum off-street 
parking standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No on-street parking is available or proposed. 

Page 35 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 36 of 55 
 
 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) G. Parking Minimum and Maximum 
 
B44. Review Criteria: “Tables 5, below, shall be used to determine the minimum and maximum 

parking standards for various land uses.  The minimum number of required parking spaces shown 
on Tables 5 shall be determined by rounding to the nearest whole parking space.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: On applicant’s sheet P1 of Exhibit B3 provides parking calculations 
which staff has reviewed and found to be accurate. The applicant’s tables are as follows: 
 

 
 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) H. Electric Vehicle Charging 
 
B45. Review Criteria: “Electrical Vehicle Charging Stations: 

1.  Parking spaces designed to accommodate and provide one or more electric vehicle 
charging stations on site may be counted towards meeting the minimum off-street parking 
standards.  
2.  Modification of existing parking spaces to accommodate electric vehicle charging 
stations on site is allowed outright.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No electric vehicle charging stations are proposed. 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) I. Motorcycle Parking 
 
B46. Review Criteria: “Motorcycle parking:  

1.  Motorcycle parking may substitute for up to 5 spaces or 5 percent of required automobile 
parking, whichever is less. For every 4 motorcycle parking spaces provided, the automobile 
parking requirement is reduced by one space.  
2.  Each motorcycle space must be at least 4 feet wide and 8 feet deep. Existing parking may 
be converted to take advantage of this provision. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No motorcycle parking is proposed. 

 

Page 36 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 37 of 55 
 
 

Subsection 4.155 (.04) Bicycle Parking 
 
Subsection 4.155 (.04) A. Bicycle Parking-General Provisions 
 
B47. Review Criteria: “Required Bicycle Parking - General Provisions. 

1.  The required minimum number of bicycle parking spaces for each use category is shown 
in Table 5, Parking Standards.  
2. Bicycle parking spaces are not required for accessory buildings. If a primary use is listed 
in Table 5, bicycle parking is not required for the accessory use. 
3. When there are two or more primary uses on a site, the required bicycle parking for the 
site is the sum of the required bicycle parking for the individual primary uses. 
4. Bicycle parking space requirements may be waived by the Development Review Board 
per Section 4.118(.03)(A.)(9.) and (10.). 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No motorcycle parking is proposed. 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.04) B. Bicycle Parking-Standards 
 
B48. Review Criteria: “Standards for Required Bicycle Parking  

1. Each space must be at least 2 feet by 6 feet in area and be accessible without moving 
another bicycle.  
2.  An aisle at least 5 feet wide shall be maintained behind all required bicycle parking to 
allow room for bicycle maneuvering. Where the bicycle parking is adjacent to a sidewalk, the 
maneuvering area may extend into the right-of-way. 
3. When bicycle parking is provided in racks, there must be enough space between the rack 
and any obstructions to use the space properly. 
4. Bicycle lockers or racks, when provided, shall be securely anchored. 
5. Bicycle parking shall be located within 30 feet of the main entrance to the building or 
inside a building, in a location that is easily accessible for bicycles. For multi-tenant developments, 
with multiple business entrances, bicycle parking may be distributed on-site among more than one 
main entrance.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be met by Condition of Approval PDB 4. 
Details of Finding: The minimum of seven (7) bicycle parking spaces are provided. Four 
(4) are in a covered area near the main entrance. A Condition of Approval ensures the 
prescriptive requirements for spacing, space size, and anchoring are met, which will be 
inspected before final occupancy. 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.04) C. 2. Long-term Bicycle Parking Requirements and Standards 
 
B49. Review Criteria: “For a proposed multi-family residential, retail, office, or institutional 

development, or for a park and ride or transit center, where six (6) or more bicycle parking spaces 
are required pursuant to Table 5, 50% of the bicycle parking shall be developed as long-term, 
secure spaces. Required long-term bicycle parking shall meet the following standards:  
a.  All required spaces shall meet the standards in subsection (B.) above, and must be 
covered in one of the following ways: inside buildings, under roof overhangs or permanent 
awnings, in bicycle lockers, or within or under other structures. 
b. All spaces must be located in areas that are secure or monitored (e.g., visible to 
employees, monitored by security guards, or in public view). 

Page 37 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 38 of 55 
 
 

c. Spaces are not subject to the locational criterion of (B.)(5.).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All seven (7) bicycle parking spaces meet the standard for long-term 
bicycle parking. They are either inside the building or in an easily monitored covered area 
near the main entrance of the building.  

 
Subsection 4.155 (.05) Required Number of Loading Berths 
 
B50. Review Criteria: “Every building that is erected or structurally altered to increase the floor area, 

and which will require the receipt or distribution of materials or merchandise by truck or similar 
vehicle, shall provide off-street loading berths on the basis of minimum requirements as follows:” 
listed 1. through 2. “A loading berth shall contain space twelve (12) feet wide, thirty-five (35) feet 
long, and have a height clearance of fourteen (14) feet.  Where the vehicles generally used for 
loading and unloading exceed these dimensions, the required length of these berths shall be 
increased to accommodate the larger vehicles.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: A minimum of two (2) loading berths are required. Three (3) are 
provided meeting the standards of this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.06) Carpool and Vanpool Parking Requirements 
 
B51. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the requirements for carpool and vanpool parking. 

Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 5. 
Details of Finding: The proposed development does involve 75 or more parking spaces, 
therefore carpool or vanpool parking is required pursuant to this subsection. Five percent 
(5%) of the 94 parking spaces is 4.7. A condition of approval therefore requires at least 
five (5) parking stalls be marked for exclusive use for vanpool/carpool and meet the 
location standard of this subsection. 

 
Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress 
 
B52. Review Criterion: “Each access onto streets or private drives shall be at defined points as 

approved by the City and shall be consistent with the public's health, safety and general welfare.  
Such defined points of access shall be approved at the time of issuance of a building permit if not 
previously determined in the development permit.”   
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No changes in access points are proposed. No changes to access are 
recommended by DKS in their traffic study. 

 
Section 4.169 Double-Frontage Lots 
 
B53. Review Criterion: “Buildings on double frontage lots (i.e., through lots) and corner lots must meet 

the front yard setback for principal buildings on both streets or tracts with a private drive.” 
Finding: This criterion does not apply. 
Details of Finding: No double frontage or corner lots are part of the subject application 

 
  

Page 38 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 39 of 55 
 
 

Natural Features 
 
Section 4.171 Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources 

 
B54. Review Criteria: This section provides for the protection of a number of natural features and other 

resources including: general terrain preparation, hillsides, trees and wooded areas, high voltage 
powerline easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements, earth movement hazard 
areas, soil hazard areas, historic resources, and cultural resources. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed improvements are within the previously constructed 
parking area and the surrounding landscape area. No natural features or resources listed in 
this section are being impacted. Specifically, no impacts or changes are proposed to the 
SROZ area which was previously put into a conservation easement. 

 
Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
 
Subsection 4.175 (.01) Design to Deter Crime and Ensure Public Safety 
 
B55. Review Criteria: “All developments shall be designed to deter crime and insure public safety.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has not provided any summary findings in response to 
these criteria. Staff finds no evidence and has not received any testimony that the design of 
the site and buildings would lead to crime or negatively impact public safety. The design is 
similar to other nearby development in the zone. 

 
Subsection 4.175 (.02) Addressing and Directional Signing 
 
B56. Review Criteria: “Addressing and directional signing shall be designed to assure identification of 

all buildings and structures by emergency response personnel, as well as the general public.” 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 6. 
Details of Finding: The address is not shown on submitted building elevations. The 
condition of approval requires addressing to meet building and fire code requirements. 

 
Subsection 4.175 (.03) Surveillance and Police Access 
 
B57. Review Criterion: “Areas vulnerable to crime shall be designed to allow surveillance.  Parking 

and loading areas shall be designed for access by police in the course of routine patrol duties.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The parking and loading areas are easily assessable and no areas of 
particular vulnerability to crime have been identified warranting additional surveillance.  

 
Subsection 4.175 (.04) Lighting to Discourage Crime 
 
B58. Review Criterion: “Exterior lighting shall be designed and oriented to discourage crime.” 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Lighting has been designed in accordance with the City’s outdoor 
lighting standards, which will provide sufficient lighting to discourage crime. 

Page 39 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 40 of 55 
 
 

 
Landscaping Standards 
 
Subsection 4.176 (.01) Purpose of Landscape, Screening, and Buffering 
 
B59. Review Criteria: “This Section consists of landscaping and screening standards and regulations 

for use throughout the City.  The regulations address materials, placement, layout, and timing of 
installation.  The City recognizes the ecological and economic value of landscaping and requires 
the use of landscaping and other screening or buffering to:” Listed A. through K. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: In complying with the various landscape standards in Section 4.176 
the applicant has demonstrated the Stage II Final Plan is in compliance with the landscape 
purpose statement. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) B. Landscaping Standards and Code Compliance 
 
B60. Review Criteria: “All landscaping and screening required by this Code must comply with all of 

the provisions of this Section, unless specifically waived or granted a Variance as otherwise 
provided in the Code.  The landscaping standards are minimum requirements; higher standards can 
be substituted as long as fence and vegetation-height limitations are met.  Where the standards set a 
minimum based on square footage or linear footage, they shall be interpreted as applying to each 
complete or partial increment of area or length” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No waivers or variances to landscape standards have been requested. 
Thus all landscaping and screening must comply with standards of this section.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 1. General Landscape Standards-Intent 
 
B61. Review Criteria: “The General Landscaping Standard is a landscape treatment for areas that are 

generally open.  It is intended to be applied in situations where distance is used as the principal 
means of separating uses or developments and landscaping is required to enhance the intervening 
space. Landscaping may include a mixture of ground cover, evergreen and deciduous shrubs, and 
coniferous and deciduous trees.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant’s submitted landscape plans (applicant’s sheet L1.1) 
shows a variety of plant materials and placement consistent with the general landscape 
standard. The general landscape standard is being followed where the low screen standard 
is not being followed. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 2. General Landscape Standards-Required Materials 
 
B62. Review Criteria: “Shrubs and trees, other than street trees, may be grouped.  Ground cover plants 

must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area (see Figure 21:  General Landscaping).  The 
General Landscaping Standard has two different requirements for trees and shrubs: 
a. Where the landscaped area is less than 30 feet deep, one tree is required for every 30 
linear feet. 
b. Where the landscaped area is 30 feet deep or greater, one tree is required for every 800 
square feet and two high shrubs or three low shrubs are required for every 400 square feet.” 

Page 40 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 41 of 55 
 
 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant’s submitted landscape plans (sheet L1.0) shows 
landscaping meeting the functional requirements of this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) D. 1. Low Screen Landscape Standard-Intent 
 
B63. Review Criteria: “The Low Screen Landscaping Standard is a landscape treatment that uses a 

combination of distance and low screening to separate uses or developments.  It is intended to be 
applied in situations where low screening is adequate to soften the impact of one use or 
development on another, or where visibility between areas is more important than a total visual 
screen.  The Low Screen Landscaping Standard is usually applied along street lot lines or in the 
area separating parking lots from street rights-of-way. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Landscaping meeting the low screen standard is provided in the 
landscape area between the parking areas and the public streets adjacent to the site.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) D. 2. Low Screen Landscape Standard-Required Materials 
 
B64. Review Criteria: “The Low Screen Landscaping Standard requires sufficient low shrubs to form a 

continuous screen three (3) feet high and 95% opaque, year-round.  In addition, one tree is required 
for every 30 linear feet of landscaped area, or as otherwise required to provide a tree canopy over 
the landscaped area.  Ground cover plants must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area.  
A three (3) foot high masonry wall or a berm may be substituted for the shrubs, but the trees and 
ground cover plants are still required.  When applied along street lot lines, the screen or wall is to 
be placed along the interior side of the landscaped area.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant’s submitted landscape plans (sheet L1.0) shows 
landscaping meeting or exceeding the functional requirements of this subsection. They are 
going to relocate the existing hedge along Parkway Avenue but maintain the same level of 
screening as previously approved for the parking area at this location. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) Landscape Area and Locations 
 
B65. Review Criteria: “Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped 

with vegetative plant materials.  The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping required by 
section 4.155.03(B)(1) is included in the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement.  
Landscaping shall be located in at least three separate and distinct areas of the lot, one of which 
must be in the contiguous frontage area.  Planting areas shall be encouraged adjacent to structures.  
Landscaping shall be used to define, soften or screen the appearance of buildings and off-street 
parking areas.  Materials to be installed shall achieve a balance between various plant forms, 
textures, and heights. The installation of native plant materials shall be used whenever practicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Applicant’s sheet A0.1 indicates landscaping will cover 20 percent of 
the site associated with the new Building W3. 48.4 percent of the overall I-5 Corporate 
Park property will be in landscaping . Landscaping is proposed in more than three distinct 
areas of the development, including the frontage areas along Parkway Avenue. Planting 
areas are provided around many of the buildings, including those portions of the buildings 

Page 41 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 42 of 55 
 
 

visible from streets. A wide variety of plants have been proposed to achieve a professional 
design. The design includes consideration of using native plants. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.04) Buffering and Screening 
 
B66. Review Criteria: “Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the Section 

4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be applied, where applicable. 
C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be 
screened from ground level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties. 
D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has 
been approved for the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting on a 
development permit. 
E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, landscaping shall be 
designed to screen loading areas and docks, and truck parking. 
F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil surface at the outside of 
fenceline shall require Development Review Board approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All required areas and equipment will be screened including roof top 
equipment and the small truck loading area.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.09) Landscape Plans 
 
B67. Review Criteria: “Landscape plans shall be submitted showing all existing and proposed 

landscape areas.  Plans must be drawn to scale and show the type, installation size, number and 
placement of materials.  Plans shall include a plant material list. Plants are to be identified by both 
their scientific and common names. The condition of any existing plants and the proposed method 
of irrigation are also to be indicated.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Applicant’s sheet L1.0 provides the required information. 

 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) General Conformance with Public Works Standards and TSP 
 
B68. Review Criteria: “Except as specifically approved by the Development Review Board, all street 

and access improvements shall conform to the Transportation Systems Plan and the Public Works 
Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No changes to public streets or street access points are proposed and 
none are no changes are recommended by the City or DKS Associates.  

 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) B. Curbs, Utility Strips, and Sidewalks Required 
 
B69. Review Criteria: “All streets shall be developed with curbs, utility strips and sidewalks on both 

sides; or a sidewalk on one side and a bike path on the other side.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: All the adjoining street sections are developed with the appropriate 
curbs, utility strips, sidewalks, etc. according to the Public Works Standards. 

Page 42 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 43 of 55 
 
 

 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) E. Access Drives and Travel Lanes 
 
B70. Review Criteria: This subsection sets standards for access drives and travel lanes. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDB 7.  
Details of Finding:  

• All access drives are designed to provide a clear travel lane, free from obstructions.  
• All travel lanes will be asphalt. Condition of Approval PDB 7 will ensure they are 

capable of carrying a 23-ton load. 
• Emergency access lanes are improved to a minimum of 12 feet and the 

development has been reviewed and approved by the Fire District. 
 
Subsection 4.177 (.01) F. Corner or Clear Visions Area 
 
B71. Review Criteria: “A clear vision area which meets the Public Works Standards shall be 

maintained on each corner of property at the intersection of any two streets, a street and a railroad 
or a street and a driveway.  However, the following items shall be exempt from meeting this 
requirement:” Listed a. through e. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No changes are proposed affecting clear vision. 

 
Section 4.179 Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage 
 
B72. Review Criteria: This section establishes standards for mixed solid waste and recyclables storage 

in new multi-family residential and non-residential buildings. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Adequate storage meeting City dimensional standards and approved 
by Republic Services is proposed. A letter from Republic Services is included as Exhibit 
B9. A storage area of 233 square feet is provided. This exceeds the amount required for 
office, wholesale/warehouse/manufacturing, or other and any combination of these uses. 

 
Sections 4.199.20 through 4.199.60 Outdoor Lighting 
 
B73. Review Criterion: This section states that the outdoor lighting ordinance is applicable to 

“Installation of new exterior lighting systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and multi-
family housing projects with common areas” and “Major additions or modifications (as defined in 
this Section) to existing exterior lighting systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and 
multi-family housing projects with common areas.” In addition the exempt luminaires and lighting 
systems are listed. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposal is not a major addition, however all new luminaires must 
comply with the Outdoor Lighting Standards. See Request D Finding D37 through D39 
and Condition of Approval PDD 7. 

 
  

Page 43 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 44 of 55 
 
 

Sections 4.300-4.320 Underground Installation of Utilities 
 
B74. Review Criteria: These sections list requirements regarding the underground installation of 

utilities. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: There are no existing overhead facilities that require undergrounding 
as part of this development. All new utilities associated with the development are proposed 
to be installed underground. 

 

REQUEST C: DB14-0044 WAIVER 
 
Waiver Request: Reduced Setback from North Property Line 
 
Subsection 4.118 (.03) A. Waiver of Typical Development Standards 
 
C1. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes that “notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4.140 

to the contrary, the Development Review Board, in order to implement the purpose and objectives 
of Section 4.140, and based on findings of fact supported by the record” may waive a number of 
typical development standards including height and yard requirements. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The waiver is proposed to reduce the setback for from the north 
property line from from 30 feet to 20 feet. A refuse enclosure and a one story portion of the 
building serving as a loading dock and service area will be near the reduced setback line. 
This setback is among the typical development standards the Development Review Board 
can waive, the applicant has provided reasonable rational for the reduced setback See 
Finding C2 for information on how the proposed waiver better implements the purpose and 
objectives of Section 4.140. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.01) B. Purpose and Objectives of Planned Development Regulations 
 
C2. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes the purpose of the Planned Development Regulations 

which are as follows: 

• To take advantage of advances in technology, architectural design, and functional land use 
design: 

• To recognize the problems of population density, distribution and circulation and to allow 
a deviation from rigid established patterns of land uses, but controlled by defined policies 
and objectives detailed in the comprehensive plan; 

• To produce a comprehensive development equal to or better than that resulting from 
traditional lot land use development. 

• To permit flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open spaces, 
circulation facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently utilize potentials 
of sites characterized by special features of geography, topography, size or shape or 
characterized by problems of flood hazard, severe soil limitations, or other hazards; 

• To permit flexibility in the height of buildings while maintaining a ratio of site area to 
dwelling units that is consistent with the densities established by the Comprehensive Plan 

Page 44 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 45 of 55 
 
 

and the intent of the Plan to provide open space, outdoor living area and buffering of low-
density development. 

• To allow development only where necessary and adequate services and facilities are 
available or provisions have been made to provide these services and facilities. 

• To permit mixed uses where it can clearly be demonstrated to be of benefit to the users and 
can be shown to be consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan. 

• To allow flexibility and innovation in adapting to changes in the economic and 
technological climate. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The purpose statement relative to the requested waiver is “to permit 
flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open spaces, circulation 
facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently utilize potentials of sites 
characterized by special features of geography, topography, size or shape or characterized 
by problems of flood hazard, severe soil limitations, or other hazards;” The proposed 
building is being set primarily within an existing parking area. The building location 
maximizes preservation of existing parking as circulation. The portion of the building 
needing the reduced setback is a loading area on the north side. Allowing this projection of 
the building to have a reduced setback better allows for separation of the truck loading area 
from pedestrian and auto parking areas. 
 

REQUEST D: DB14-0043 SITE DESIGN REVIEW 
 
Site Design Review 
 
Subsection 4.400 (.01) and Subsection 4.421 (.03) Excessive Uniformity, Inappropriateness of 
Design, Etc. 
 
D1. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 

objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “Excessive uniformity, 
inappropriateness or poor design of the exterior appearance of structures and signs and the lack of 
proper attention to site development and landscaping in the business, commercial, industrial and 
certain residential areas of the City hinders the harmonious development of the City, impairs the 
desirability of residence, investment or occupation in the City, limits the opportunity to attain the 
optimum use in value and improvements, adversely affects the stability and value of property, 
produces degeneration of property in such areas and with attendant deterioration of conditions 
affecting the peace, health and welfare, and destroys a proper relationship between the taxable 
value of property and the cost of municipal services therefor.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Staff summarizes the compliance with this subjection as follows: 
Excessive Uniformity: The building has similar massing, construction, and coloring as 
Buildings W1 and W2, but many architectural details are different, including the 
architectural treatments above the upper windows and the design of the main entry area to 
create a building that is complimentary to architectural of nearby buildings while not 
creating excessive uniformity. 
Inappropriate or Poor Design of the Exterior Appearance of Structures: The proposed 
building in professionally designed with attention given to treatment around windows, 

Page 45 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 46 of 55 
 
 

entry areas, and the top of the parapet. The concrete will be stained similar to Buildings 
W1 and W2.  
Inappropriate or Poor Design of Signs: No signs are proposed with this application. 
Lack of Proper Attention to Site Development: The appropriate professional services have 
been used to design the site incorporating unique features of the site including site size and 
shape and available access, demonstrating appropriate attention being given to site 
development. 
Lack of Proper Attention to Landscaping: Landscaping is provided exceeding the area 
requirements, has been professionally designed by a landscape architect, and includes a 
variety of plant materials, all demonstrating appropriate attention being given to 
landscaping.  

 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) and Subsection 4.421 (.03) Purposes of Objectives of Site Design 
Review 
 
D2. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 

objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” “The City Council declares that the 
purposes and objectives of site development requirements and the site design review procedure are 
to:” Listed A through J. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant has demonstrated compliance with the listed 
purposes and objectives. In short, the proposal provides a high quality design appropriate 
for the site and its location in Wilsonville. 

 
Section 4.420 Site Design Review-Jurisdiction and Power of the Board 
 
D3. Review Criteria: The section states the jurisdiction and power of the Development Review Board 

in relation to site design review including the application of the section, that development is 
required in accord with plans, and variance information. 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 1. 
Details of Finding: A condition of approval has been included to ensure construction, site 
development, and landscaping are carried out in substantial accord with the Development 
Review Board approved plans, drawings, sketches, and other documents. No building 
permits will be granted prior to development review board approval. No variances are 
requested from site development requirements. 

 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) Site Design Review-Design Standards 
 
D4. Review Criteria: “The following standards shall be utilized by the Board in reviewing the plans, 

drawings, sketches and other documents required for Site Design Review.  These standards are 
intended to provide a frame of reference for the applicant in the development of site and building 
plans as well as a method of review for the Board.  These standards shall not be regarded as 
inflexible requirements.  They are not intended to discourage creativity, invention and innovation.  
The specifications of one or more particular architectural styles is not included in these standards.” 
Listed A through G.   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 46 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 47 of 55 
 
 

Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficient information demonstrating 
compliance with the standards of this subsection. Among the information provided is a 
written response to these standards on pages 13 and 14 of their compliance narrative, 
Exhibit B2.  

 
Subsection 4.421 (.02) Applicability of Design Standards to Various Site Features 
 
D5. Review Criteria: “The standards of review outlined in Sections (a) through (g) above shall also 

apply to all accessory buildings, structures, exterior signs and other site features, however related to 
the major buildings or structures.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Design standards have been applied to all buildings, structures, and 
other site features.  

 
Subsection 4.421 (.03) Objectives of Section 4.400 Serve as Additional Criteria and Standards 
 
D6. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 

objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The purposes and objectives in Section 4.400 are being used as 
additional criteria and standards. See Finding D2 above. 

 
Subsection 4.421 (.05) Site Design Review-Conditions of Approval 
 
D7. Review Criterion: “The Board may attach certain development or use conditions in granting an 

approval that are determined necessary to insure the proper and efficient functioning of the 
development, consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan, allowed densities and the 
requirements of this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No additional conditions of approval are recommended to ensure the 
proper and efficient functioning of the development. 

 
Subsection 4.421 (.06) Color or Materials Requirements 
 
D8. Review Criterion: “The Board or Planning Director may require that certain paints or colors of 

materials be used in approving applications.  Such requirements shall only be applied when site 
development or other land use applications are being reviewed by the City.”   
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: It is the professional opinion of staff that the proposed coloring is 
appropriate for the proposed development and no additional requirements are necessary. 
See Exhibits B4 and B5. 

 
Section 4.430 Design of Trash and Recycling Enclosures 
 
D9. Review Criteria: “The following locations, design and access standards for mixed solid waste and 

recycling storage areas shall be applicable to the requirements of Section 4.179 of the Wilsonville 
City Code.” Listed (.02) A. through (.04) C. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 47 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 48 of 55 
 
 

Details of Finding: Sheet P1 of Exhibit B3 shows an enclosure meeting all the standards 
listed in this Section. The enclosure has also been approved by the franchise solid waste 
hauler. 

 
Section 4.440 Site Design Review-Procedures 
 
D10. Review Criteria: “A prospective applicant for a building or other permit who is subject to site 

design review shall submit to the Planning Department, in addition to the requirements of Section 
4.035, the following:” Listed A through F. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has submitted the required additional materials, as 
applicable. 

 
Section 4.442 Time Limit on Approval 
 
D11. Review Criterion: “Site design review approval shall be void after two (2) years unless a building 

permit has been issued and substantial development pursuant thereto has taken place; or an 
extension is granted by motion of the Board. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The Applicant has indicated that they will pursue development within 
two (2) years and it is understood that the approval will expire after 2 years if a building 
permit hasn’t been issued unless an extension has been granted by the board. 

 
Subsection 4.450 (.01) Landscape Installation or Bonding 
 
D12. Review Criterion: “All landscaping required by this section and approved by the Board shall be 

installed prior to issuance of occupancy permits, unless security equal to one hundred and ten 
percent (110%) of the cost of the landscaping as determined by the Planning Director is filed with 
the City assuring such installation within six (6) months of occupancy.  "Security" is cash, certified 
check, time certificates of deposit, assignment of a savings account or such other assurance of 
completion as shall meet with the approval of the City Attorney.  In such cases the developer shall 
also provide written authorization, to the satisfaction of the City Attorney, for the City or its 
designees to enter the property and complete the landscaping as approved.  If the installation of the 
landscaping is not completed within the six-month period, or within an extension of time 
authorized by the Board, the security may be used by the City to complete the installation.  Upon 
completion of the installation, any portion of the remaining security deposited with the City shall 
be returned to the applicant.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 2. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval will assure installation or appropriate 
security at the time occupancy is requested. 

 
Subsection 4.450 (.02) Approved Landscape Plan Binding 
 
D13. Review Criterion: “Action by the City approving a proposed landscape plan shall be binding upon 

the applicant.  Substitution of plant materials, irrigation systems, or other aspects of an approved 
landscape plan shall not be made without official action of the Planning Director or Development 
Review Board, as specified in this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 3. 

Page 48 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 49 of 55 
 
 

Details of Finding: The condition of approval shall provide ongoing assurance this 
criterion is met. 

 
Subsection 4.450 (.03) Landscape Maintenance and Watering 
 
D14. Review Criterion: “All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, 

weeding, pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as originally approved by the 
Board, unless altered with Board approval.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 4. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval will ensure landscaping is continually 
maintained in accordance with this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.450 (.04) Addition and Modifications of Landscaping 
 
D15. Review Criterion: “If a property owner wishes to add landscaping for an existing development, in 

an effort to beautify the property, the Landscape Standards set forth in Section 4.176 shall not 
apply and no Plan approval or permit shall be required.  If the owner wishes to modify or remove 
landscaping that has been accepted or approved through the City’s development review process, 
that removal or modification must first be approved through the procedures of Section 4.010.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 4. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval shall provide ongoing assurance that this 
criterion is met by preventing modification or removal without the appropriate City review. 

 
Parking 
 
Subsection 4.155 (.02) Provision and Maintenance of Off-Street Parking 
 
D16. Review Criteria: This subsection lists general provisions for parking, A. through O. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The design of the parking described and illustrated in the applicant’s 
submitted narrative and plans in relation to these provisions are consistent with the purpose 
of site design review and the proposed Stage II Final Plan for the proposed project, or will 
be made so by conditions of approval. See Finding B38 under Request B. 

 
Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 1.-3. Landscaping of Parking Areas 
 
D17. Review Criteria: “Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be landscaped to minimize the 

visual dominance of the parking or loading area, as follows:” Listed 1. through 3. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The landscaping of parking areas is consistent with the purpose of site 
design review and the proposed Stage II Final Plan for the proposed project. See Finding 
B40 under Request B. 

 
Section 4.171 Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources 

 
D18. Review Criterion: This section provides for the protection of a number of natural features and 

other resources including: general terrain preparation, hillsides, trees and wooded areas, high 

Page 49 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 50 of 55 
 
 

voltage powerline easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements, earth movement 
hazard areas, soil hazard areas, historic resources, and cultural resources. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposed design of the site provides for protection of natural 
features and other resources consistent with the proposed Stage II Final Plan for the site as 
well as the purpose and objectives of site design review. See Finding B54 under Request 
B. 

 
Landscaping 
 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) B. Landscape Standards and Compliance with Code 
 
D19. Review Criterion: “All landscaping and screening required by this Code must comply with all of 

the provisions of this Section, unless specifically waived or granted a Variance as otherwise 
provided in the Code.  The landscaping standards are minimum requirements; higher standards can 
be substituted as long as fence and vegetation-height limitations are met.  Where the standards set a 
minimum based on square footage or linear footage, they shall be interpreted as applying to each 
complete or partial increment of area or length” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No waivers or variances to landscape standards have been requested. 
Thus all landscaping and screening must comply with standards of this section. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 2. General Landscape Standards-Required Materials 
 
D20. Review Criteria: “Shrubs and trees, other than street trees, may be grouped.  Ground cover plants 

must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area (see Figure 21:  General Landscaping).  The 
General Landscaping Standard has two different requirements for trees and shrubs: 
a. Where the landscaped area is less than 30 feet deep, one tree is required for every 30 
linear feet. 
b. Where the landscaped area is 30 feet deep or greater, one tree is required for every 800 
square feet and two high shrubs or three low shrubs are required for every 400 square feet.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant’s submitted landscape plans (sheet L1.0 of Exhibit B3) 
shows landscaping meeting the plant material and spacing requirements of this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) D. 1. Low Screen Standard-Intent 
 
D21. Review Criteria: “The Low Screen Landscaping Standard is a landscape treatment that uses a 

combination of distance and low screening to separate uses or developments.  It is intended to be 
applied in situations where low screening is adequate to soften the impact of one use or 
development on another, or where visibility between areas is more important than a total visual 
screen.  The Low Screen Landscaping Standard is usually applied along street lot lines or in the 
area separating parking lots from street rights-of-way.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Landscaping meeting the low screen standard is provided in the 
landscape area between the parking areas and the public streets adjacent to the site like 
exists on the site today.  

 

Page 50 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 51 of 55 
 
 

Subsection 4.176 (.02) D. 2. Low Screen Standard-Required Materials 
 
D22. Review Criteria: “The Low Screen Landscaping Standard requires sufficient low shrubs to form a 

continuous screen three (3) feet high and 95% opaque, year-round.  In addition, one tree is required 
for every 30 linear feet of landscaped area, or as otherwise required to provide a tree canopy over 
the landscaped area.  Ground cover plants must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area.  
A three (3) foot high masonry wall or a berm may be substituted for the shrubs, but the trees and 
ground cover plants are still required.  When applied along street lot lines, the screen or wall is to 
be placed along the interior side of the landscaped area.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant’s submitted landscape plans (sheet L1.0 of Exhibit B3) 
shows landscaping meeting or exceeding the material and spacing requirements of this 
subsection. The existing hedge along Parkway Avenue will be relocated, but retained. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) Landscape Area and Locations 
 
D23. Review Criteria: “Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped 

with vegetative plant materials.  The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping required by 
section 4.155.03(B)(1) is included in the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement.  
Landscaping shall be located in at least three separate and distinct areas of the lot, one of which 
must be in the contiguous frontage area.  Planting areas shall be encouraged adjacent to structures.  
Landscaping shall be used to define, soften or screen the appearance of buildings and off-street 
parking areas.  Materials to be installed shall achieve a balance between various plant forms, 
textures, and heights. The installation of native plant materials shall be used whenever practicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Consistent with the proposed Stage II Final Plan for the site, 
applicant’s sheet A0.1 indicates landscaping will cover 20 percent of the site associated 
with the new Building W3. 48.4 percent of the overall I-5 Corporate Park property will be 
in landscaping. Landscaping is proposed in more than three distinct areas of the 
development, including the frontage areas along Parkway Avenue. Planting areas are 
provided around many of the buildings, including those portions of the buildings visible 
from streets. A wide variety of plants have been proposed to achieve a professional design. 
The design includes consideration of using native plants. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.04) Buffering and Screening 
 
D24. Review Criteria: “Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the Section 

4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be applied, where applicable. 
C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be 
screened from ground level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties. 
D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has 
been approved for the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting on a 
development permit.  
E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, landscaping shall be 
designed to screen loading areas and docks, and truck parking. 
F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil surface at the outside of 
fenceline shall require Development Review Board approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 51 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 52 of 55 
 
 

Details of Finding: Consistent with the proposed Stage II Final Plan, adequate screening 
is proposed. See Finding B66 under Request B. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) A. Plant Materials-Shrubs and Groundcover 
 
D25. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material and planting requirements for shrubs 

and ground cover. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 5. 
Details of Finding: The condition of approval requires that the detailed requirements of 
this subsection are met.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) B. Plant Materials-Trees 
 
D26. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material requirements for trees. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The plants material requirements for trees will be met as follows: 
• The applicant’s planting plan (sheet L1.0) shows all trees as B&B (Balled and 

Burlapped) 
• A note on sheet L1.0 states “plant materials installed shall conform in size and grade to 

“American Standard for Nursery Stock” current edition.” 
• The applicant’s planting plan lists tree sizes meeting requirements. 
 

Subsection 4.176 (.06) C. Plant Materials-Large Buildings 
 
D27. Review Criteria: “Where a proposed development includes buildings larger than twenty-four (24) 

feet in height or greater than 50,000 square feet in footprint area, the Development Review Board 
may require larger or more mature plant materials:” Listed 1.-3. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Appropriate plant materials are provided for the development. 
 

Subsection 4.176 (.06) D. Plant Materials-Street Trees 
 
D28. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material requirements for street trees. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The existing street trees along Parkway Avenue are being retained. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) E. Types of Plant Species 
 
D29. Review Criteria: This subsection discusses use of existing landscaping or native vegetation, 

selection of plant materials, and prohibited plant materials. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has provided sufficient information in their landscape 
plan (sheet L1.0) showing the proposed landscape design meets the standards of this 
subsection.  

 
  

Page 52 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 53 of 55 
 
 

Subsection 4.176 (.06) F. Tree Credit 
 
D30. Review Criteria: “Existing trees that are in good health as certified by an arborist and are not 

disturbed during construction may count for landscaping tree credit as follows: Existing trunk 
diameter   Number of Tree Credits 
18 to 24  inches in diameter    3 tree credits  
25 to 31 inches in diameter   4 tree credits 
32 inches or greater    5 tree credits:” 
Maintenance requirements listed 1. through 2. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant is not requesting any of preserved trees be counted as 
tree credits pursuant to this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) G. Exceeding Plant Material Standards 
 
D31. Review Criterion: “Landscape materials that exceed the minimum standards of this Section are 

encouraged, provided that height and vision clearance requirements are met.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The selected landscape materials do not violate any height or visions 
clearance requirements. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.07) Installation and Maintenance of Landscaping 
 
D32. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes installation and maintenance standards for 

landscaping. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 6. 
Details of Finding: The installation and maintenance standards are or will be met as 
follows: 
• Plant materials are required to be installed to current industry standards and be properly 

staked to ensure survival 
• Plants that die are required to be replaced in kind, within one growing season, unless 

appropriate substitute species are approved by the City. 
• Note 3 on the applicant’s sheet L1.0 states “project is to be irrigated by an automatic, 

underground system, which will provide full coverage for all plant material.” 
 
Subsection 4.176 (.09) Landscape Plans 
 
D33. Review Criterion: “Landscape plans shall be submitted showing all existing and proposed 

landscape areas.  Plans must be drawn to scale and show the type, installation size, number and 
placement of materials.  Plans shall include a plant material list. Plants are to be identified by both 
their scientific and common names.  The condition of any existing plants and the proposed method 
of irrigation are also to be indicated.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: Applicant’s sheets L1.0 of Exhibit B3 provides the required 
information. 

 
  

Page 53 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 54 of 55 
 
 

Subsection 4.176 (.10) Completion of Landscaping 
 
D34. Review Criterion: “The installation of plant materials may be deferred for a period of time 

specified by the Board or Planning Director acting on an application, in order to avoid hot summer 
or cold winter periods, or in response to water shortages.  In these cases, a temporary permit shall 
be issued, following the same procedures specified in subsection (.07)(C)(3), above, regarding 
temporary irrigation systems.  No final Certificate of Occupancy shall be granted until an adequate 
bond or other security is posted for the completion of the landscaping, and the City is given written 
authorization to enter the property and install the required landscaping, in the event that the 
required landscaping has not been installed. The form of such written authorization shall be 
submitted to the City Attorney for review.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The applicant has not requested to defer installation of plant materials.  

 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
 
D35. Review Criteria: This section establishes standards for sidewalks and pathways. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Details of Finding: No changes to streets or street access is proposed.  

 
Section 4.179 Mixed Solid Waste and Recyclables Storage 
 
D36. Review Criterion: This section establishes standards for mixed solid waste and recyclables storage 

in new multi-family residential and non-residential buildings. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The design of the proposed trash enclosure area is consistent with the 
proposed Stage II Final Plan in relation to this section and the location, design, and access 
standards for mixed solid waste and recycling areas. See Findings B72 and D9.  

 
Outdoor Lighting 
 
Sections 4.199.20 and 4.199.60 Applicability of Outdoor Lighting Standards and Major 
Additions 
 
D37. Review Criterion: Section 4.199.20 states that the outdoor lighting ordinance is applicable to 

“Installation of new exterior lighting systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and multi-
family housing projects with common areas” and “Major additions or modifications (as defined in 
this Section) to existing exterior lighting systems in public facility, commercial, industrial and 
multi-family housing projects with common areas.” In addition the exempt luminaires and lighting 
systems are listed. Section 4.199.60 identifies the threshold for major additions. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The proposal would not be a major addition, so the outdoor lighting 
standards would only apply to new luminaires.  

 
  

Page 54 of 94



Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report June 2, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Building W3 I-5 Corporate ParkDB14-0041 through DB14-0044 Page 55 of 55 
 
 

Section 4.199.30 Outdoor Lighting Zones 
 
D38. Review Criterion: “The designated Lighting Zone as indicated on the Lighting Overlay Zone Map 

for a commercial, industrial, multi-family or public facility parcel or project shall determine the 
limitations for lighting systems and fixtures as specified in this Ordinance.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Details of Finding: The project site is within LZ 2 and the proposed outdoor lighting 
systems will be reviewed under the standards of this lighting zone. 

 
Sections 4.199.40 and 4.199.50 
 
D39. Review Criteria: These sections identify the Outdoor Lighting Standards for Approval and 

Submittal Requirements.   
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 7. 
Details of Finding: On sheet SL.1 the applicant provides some information on outdoor 
lighting, but not the level of detail needed to review compliance with the outdoor lighting 
standards. The subject standards are clear and objective and are able to be reviewed 
through the Class I administrative review process. A condition of approval requires review 
of outdoor lighting through the Class I process meeting either the performance or 
prescriptive option prior to issuance of the Building Permit. 

 

Page 55 of 94



Page 56 of 94

swhite
Stamp



Page 57 of 94

jenniferk
Typewritten Text
Exhibit #4

swhite
Stamp



 

   

   

 

I‐5 Corporate Park – Jack Martin Building W‐3 Trip Generation Memo 

May 5, 2014 

Page 2 of 8 

scenarios include the original approval, revisions for the Oregon Institute of Technology (OIT), currently 

observed trip generation, revised trip generation for the total site based on existing counts, and proposed flex‐

use building trip generation. 

Original Approval 

In 2000, InFocus envisioned construction of a three‐building campus at this site. The trip generation estimates 

used for the initial approval for the InFocus Development were prepared in March 20003 and are reproduced 

below in Table 1. The original p.m. peak hour trip rates used to estimate the project trips were provided by a 

prior version of the ITE Trip Generation Manual.4 The original InFocus development was approved with an 

estimate of 481 (94 in, 387 out) PM peak hour trips.  

Table 1: Original Site Approved Trip Generation (March 2000) 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Size 
P.M. Peak Hour 

Trip Rate 

P.M. Peak Hour Trips 

In  Out  Total 

Office (Land Use 710) 300.0 KSFa 1.39 trips/KSFa 71 345 416 

Manufacturing (Land Use 140) 100.0 KSFa 0.65 trips/KSFa 23 42 65 

TOTAL 400.0 KSFa 94 387 481
a KSF = 1,000 square feet 

 

Revisions for the Oregon Institute of Technology 

When InFocus chose not to expand beyond the single building it constructed (W‐0), the site was renamed the I‐5 

Corporate Park and two additional office/flex buildings were constructed. Since the original construction, the 

most significant land use revision was due to OIT purchasing the InFocus building (W‐0) in 2011 and 

subsequently occupying three of its four floors (Rockwell Collins occupies the remaining floor). This changed the 

land use of these three floors from the approved use (office or manufacturing) to that of a College or University, 

a land use type with a much higher trip generation rate. This considerably altered the trip generation rates of 

the site. Because of this significant change, a new OIT Traffic Impact Study5 was prepared. 

Table 2 lists the p.m. peak hour vehicle trip generation estimate assumed for the OIT Wilsonville Campus at full 

capacity (i.e., 1,000 students and 80 faculty and staff) as part of the prior traffic study. As shown, the campus is 

expected to generate 351 (167 in, 184 out) p.m. peak hour trips. In addition, Table 2 lists the trip generation 

estimates for the remaining buildings on the site, which includes the remaining story in the In‐Focus building (W‐

0), the Rockwell Collins building (referred to as Building W‐2), and the building that had been recently 

constructed but was still vacant (referred to as Building W‐1). As shown, these additional buildings are expected 

to generate 318 (54 in, 264 out) p.m. peak hour trips. When combined with the OIT trips, the site is expected to 

generate a total of 669 (221 in, 448 out) p.m. peak hour trips. Because this was a net increase of 188 (127 in, 61 

out) p.m. peak hour trips for the site as compared with the original approval (669 trips minus 481 trips from 

                                                            
3 In‐Focus Transportation Impact Study, DKS Associates, March 2000. 
4 Trip Generation, 6th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, 1997. 
5 Oregon Institute of Technology Traffic Impact Study, DKS Associates, December 2011. 

Page 58 of 94



 

   

   

 

I‐5 Corporate Park – Jack Martin Building W‐3 Trip Generation Memo 

May 5, 2014 

Page 3 of 8 

Table 1), additional traffic analysis was performed as part of the OIT Traffic Impact Study to account for the 

impacts from the additional 188 p.m. peak hour trips. 

Table 2: Trip Generation with Addition of OIT (December 2011) 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Size 
P.M. Peak Hour 

Trip Rate 

P.M. Peak Hour Trips 

In Out Total 

New College Campus      

OIT – Building W-0 (3 of 4 floors) 1,000 students, 
80 faculty/staff 

0.35 trips/studenta 167 184 351 

Remaining Buildings      

Office (710) – Building W-0 (1 of 4 floors) 34.8 KSFb 1.39 trips/KSFb 8 40 48 

Office (710) – Building W-2 (Rockwell Collins) 124.5 KSFb 1.39 trips/KSFb 29 144 173 

Office (710) – Building W-1 (Vacant in 2011) 70.0 KSFb 1.39 trips/KSFb 17 80 97 

Total Remaining Buildings 229.3 KSFb 54 264 318

TOTAL SITE 221 448 669
a Trip generation estimates were based on assumptions regarding the number of students, faculty, and staff that arrive at 

and leave campus using the various travel modes during the p.m. peak hour on a high use day. 
b KSF = 1,000 square feet 

 

Currently Observed Trip Generation 

Since the OIT Traffic Impact Study was prepared, DW Fritz Automation has now occupied Building W‐1. To 

understand the current traffic levels actually generated by the site, driveway traffic counts were performed 

during the p.m. peak period (4:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m.) on Tuesday, April 8, 2014. Table 3 lists the results of counts, 

which indicate the site currently generates 291 (161 in, 130 out) p.m. peak hour trips. This is 378 p.m. peak hour 

trips lower than the 669 p.m. peak hour trips expected for the site at full occupancy. However, OIT enrollment is 

at approximately two‐thirds of its capacity (675 current students out of an approximate occupancy level of 1,000 

students). Therefore, the observed trips do not account for full capacity of the existing buildings but they do 

indicate generally lower actual trip generation levels than expected based on prior trip generation assumptions. 

Table 3: Observed I‐5 Corporate Park Trip Generation 

Driveway 
P.M. Peak Hour Trips 

In Out Total 

North Driveway on Parkway Avenue (All Traffic) 1 26 27 

Center Driveway on Parkway Avenue (All Traffic) 42 112 154 

South Driveway on Parkway Avenue (Only Traffic from I-5 Corporate Park)a 23 87 110 

TOTAL 66 225 291
a The south driveway provides access to both the I-5 Corporate Park and the adjacent FLIR Systems building to the south. 

There are two locations where the parking lots have cross access. Traffic from the I-5 Corporate Park was determined by 
counting these two internal connections between the two parking areas. 

 

Page 59 of 94



 

   

   

 

I‐5 Corporate Park – Jack Martin Building W‐3 Trip Generation Memo 

May 5, 2014 

Page 4 of 8 

Revised Trip Generation for Total Site Based on Existing Counts 

Table 4 lists the total expected trips for the site when it reaches full capacity based on the existing counts. Based 

on prior trip generation assumptions for OIT (0.35 trips/student), the additional 325 students that can be served 

by the campus are expected to generate 114 (54 in, 60 out) p.m. peak hour trips. When combined with the 

existing counts, the total expected trips at full capacity is 405 (120 in, 285 out) p.m. peak hour trips. As shown in 

Table 5, this means the site can accommodate 264 (101 in, 285 out) additional p.m. peak hour trips before 

exceeding the trip levels assumed and analyzed as part of the OIT Traffic Impact Study.6 

Table 4: Total Expected Trips at Full Capacity Based on Existing Counts 

Trip Generation Scenario 
P.M. Peak Hour Trips 

In Out Total 

Total Existing Trips Counted April 8, 2014 (See Table 3) 66 225 291 

Additional Trips for Remaining OIT Capacity (325 students) 54 60 114 

TOTAL 120 285 405

 
Table 5: Remaining Trip Generation Available Based on Existing Counts 

Trip Generation Scenario 
P.M. Peak Hour Trips 

In Out Total 

Total Trips Analyzed for Site (See Table 2) 221 448 669 

Total Expected Trips at Full Capacity Based on Existing Counts (See Table 4) -120 -285 -405 

REMAINING TRIPS AVAILABLE 101 163 264
 

Proposed Flex‐Use Building Trip Generation 

Currently, the applicant proposes to construct a new two‐story 34,500 square‐foot flex‐use building located on 

the northwest corner of the campus (Building W‐3). The new structure is anticipated to be an even split 

between office and manufacturing uses. Table 6 lists the trip generation estimates for the building, which were 

based on the original trip rates used for the site. The new building is anticipated to generate 35 (8 in, 27 out) 

p.m. peak hour trips. Because the OIT Traffic Impact Study7 already accounted for all other site changes, a new 

traffic impact analysis would typically be needed to determine any impacts associated with these 35 p.m. peak 

hour trips. However, existing counts suggest that 264 p.m. peak hour trips are still available on the site, which 

provides ample capacity for the new building. Therefore, no additional traffic impact analysis is needed at this 

time. 

 

                                                            
6 Oregon Institute of Technology Traffic Impact Study, DKS Associates, December 2011. 
7 Oregon Institute of Technology Traffic Impact Study, DKS Associates, December 2011. 

Page 60 of 94



 

   

   

 

I‐5 Corporate Park – Jack Martin Building W‐3 Trip Generation Memo 

May 5, 2014 

Page 5 of 8 

Table 6: Proposed 2‐Story Office Building W‐3 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Size 
P.M. Peak Hour 

Trip Rate 

P.M. Peak Hour Trips 

In  Out  Total 

Office (Land Use 710) 17.25 KSFa 1.39 trips/KSFa 4 20 24 

Manufacturing (Land Use 140) 17.25 KSFa 0.65 trips/KSFa 4 7 11 

TOTAL 34.5 KSFa 8 27 35
a KSF = 1,000 square feet 

 

Project Trips through City of Wilsonville Interchange Areas 
An estimation was made of how many of the 35 p.m. peak hour project trips are expected to travel through the 

two City of Wilsonville I‐5 interchange areas (i.e., at Wilsonville Road8 and Elligsen Road). This estimate was 

based on trip distribution assumptions used for previous studies completed at the I‐5 Corporate Park.9,10 The 

proposed expansion to the I‐5 Corporate Park would generate 21 p.m. peak hour trips through the I‐5/Elligsen 

Road interchange area (60 percent of project traffic) and 5 p.m. peak hour trips through the I‐5/Wilsonville Road 

interchange area (15 percent of project traffic). 

Site Plan Review 
A preliminary site plan (dated January 16, 2014) was reviewed to evaluate internal circulation for vehicles and 

pedestrians. This site plan review focused on the new building planned for the northwest corner of the site. A 

copy of the site plan is provided in the appendix. 

Internal Circulation 

Access to the I‐5 Corporate Park is provided by three accesses onto Parkway Avenue, one of which is shared with 

the neighboring FLIR Systems building. The main entrance is at the midpoint of the campus, which feeds into 

parking directly between OIT, Rockwell Collins, and DWFritz Automation. The southern entrance leads to parking 

south of OIT and parking south and east of Rockwell Collins. The northern driveway enters into overflow parking 

as well as the location of the planned development. Additionally, the northern driveway is limited to right‐in, 

right‐out operations due to proximity of the neighboring Tektronix Drive intersection as recommended by 

previous traffic studies.11 Therefore, trips heading south from the new building will be required to use one of the 

two southern driveways. 

Sidewalks exist along Parkway drive for the entirety of the site; however, the planned development does not 

include a pedestrian access way to the existing sidewalk. Additionally, no connection to current pedestrian 

facilities that serve existing buildings is identified on the site plan. It is recommended that pedestrian 

                                                            
8 The I‐5/Wilsonville Road interchange area includes the Wilsonville Road/Boones Ferry Road and Wilsonville Road/Town 

Center Loop West intersections. 
9 Oregon Institute of Technology Traffic Impact Study, DKS Associates, December 2011. 
10 Updated In Focus/Jack Martin Trip Generation Memorandum, DKS Associates, July 2008. 
11 Updated In Focus/Jack Martin Trip Generation Memorandum, DKS Associates, July 2008. 

Page 61 of 94



 

   

   

 

I‐5 Corporate Park – Jack Martin Building W‐3 Trip Generation Memo 

May 5, 2014 

Page 6 of 8 

connections be provided to the external sidewalk and existing facilities that serve the existing campus.  All 

sidewalks within the site should conform to ADA requirements.12 

Parking 
Because the proposed building will reduce the available parking on the site by 65 stalls, a parking analysis was 

performed to determine whether this would adversely impact the site. First, a parking survey was performed for 

the entire site to determine percent utilization. City Code requirements were then evaluated. 

Existing Parking Survey 

To determine the impact of the parking loss, a parking utilization survey was conducted on Thursday, April 10, 

2014, during the peak parking period associated with office use, which is 10:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m.13 To perform 

this survey, the site was divided into five separate areas, as shown in the aerial image included in the appendix. 

Table 7 lists the number of stalls, estimated peak demand, and percent utilization for each of these areas. Based 

on site plan and aerial imagery, it is estimated that approximately 1,220 parking spaces currently exist on the 

entire site. As shown, approximately 58 percent of all parking stalls on the site are currently filled during peak 

usage (705 of 1,220 stalls, which leaves 515 remaining stalls). However, only 25 percent utilization was observed 

for the parking in the northwest parking lot near the proposed location of the new building (88 of 352 stalls, 

which leaves 264 stalls). This is expected because this area is farthest from the existing buildings. 

Table 7: Parking Demand Survey Results 

Parking Area (See Diagram in Appendix) 
Available 
Stalls 

Estimated Peak 
Demanda 

Percent 
Utilization

A – Southwest of W-0 (OIT) 177 stalls 100 vehicles 56% 

B – South of W-2 (Rockwell Collins) 268 stalls 205 vehicles 76% 

C – North and East of W-2 (Rockwell Collins) 198 stalls 163 vehicles 82% 

D – Between W-0 (OIT), W-1 (DWFritz), and W-2 (Rockwell Collins) 225 stalls 149 vehicles 66% 

E – Northwest area of site 352 stalls 88 vehicles 25% 

Total 1,220 stalls 705 vehicles 58%

a Estimated demand based on parking survey performed during peak parking period on April 10, 2014. 

 

City Code Requirements 

The proposed 34,500 square‐foot flex‐use building is required to comply with the City of Wilsonville Planning 

and Land Development code for the number of vehicular parking stalls and bicycle parking spaces that are 

provided on site.14 Table 8 lists the vehicular and bicycle parking requirements for both the proposed building 

and the entire site, which are based on the types and square footage of the various building uses. The table also 

                                                            
12 ADA Accessibility Guidelines for Buildings and Facilities, Department of Justice, January 2004. 
13 Parking Generation, 4th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, 2010; Land Use 701. 
14 City of Wilsonville, Planning and Land Development Ordinance, Sections 4.154‐4.198, Updated Feb. 2004. 

Page 62 of 94



 

   

   

 

I‐5 Corporate Park – Jack Martin Building W‐3 Trip Generation Memo 

May 5, 2014 

Page 7 of 8 

lists the peak parking demand, which is estimated based on parking data published by the Institute of 

Transportation Engineers (ITE).15 

As shown in Table 8, 75 vehicular stalls are needed to meet the minimum City Code requirements for the new 

building and 91 stalls are needed to satisfy the estimated peak parking demand. For the entire site, 819 

vehicular stalls are needed to meet the minimum City Code requirements and 1,122 stalls are needed to satisfy 

the estimated peak parking demand. Because the site is expected to have 1,155 available stalls (1,220 existing 

stalls as identified in Table 7 minus the 65 stalls being removed), the site is expected to have sufficient available 

parking. Table 8 also indicates that 10 bicycle parking spaces are needed at the new building needs to meet the 

minimum City Code requirements. The bicycle parking spaces should be located near building entrances in order 

to provide convenient access. 

Table 8: Proposed Building Vehicular and Bicycle Parking Summary 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Size 
Estimated 

Peak Demandb

Spaces Required by City Codec 

Vehicle 
Minimum 

Vehicle 
Maximum 

Bicycle 
Minimum 

New Building      

Office (Land Use 710) 17.25 KSFa 60 47 71 4 

Manufacturing (Land Use 140) 17.25 KSFa 31 28 N/A 6 

Total New Building 34.5 KSFa 91 75 N/A 10

Existing Site      

Office (Land Use 710) 229.3 KSFa 651 619 940 46 

University/College (Land Use 550) 39 Classes 380 200 300 39 

Total Existing Site 1,031 819 1,240 85

TOTAL SITE 34.5 KSFa 1,122 894 N/A 95

a KSF = 1,000 square feet 
b Estimated demand based on 85th percentile identified in the Parking Generation, 4th Edition, Institute of Transportation 

Engineers, 2010. 
c City of Wilsonville, Planning and Land Development Ordinance, Section 4.155, Updated Feb. 2004. 

 

Summary 
Key trip generation findings for the proposed expansion of the I‐5 Corporate Park are as follows: 

 The new two‐story 34,500 square‐foot flex‐use building is anticipated to generate 35 (8 in, 27 out) p.m. 

peak hour trips. Because the OIT Traffic Impact Study16 already accounted for all other site changes, a 

new traffic impact analysis would typically be needed to determine any impacts associated with these 

additional trips. However, existing counts suggest that 264 p.m. peak hour trips are still available on the 

                                                            
15 Parking Generation, 4rd Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, 2010. 
16 Oregon Institute of Technology Traffic Impact Study, DKS Associates, December 2011. 

Page 63 of 94



 

   

   

 

I‐5 Corporate Park – Jack Martin Building W‐3 Trip Generation Memo 

May 5, 2014 

Page 8 of 8 

site, which provides ample capacity for the new building. Therefore, no additional traffic impact analysis 

is needed at this time. 

 Pedestrian facilities in the site plan are limited to the immediate surroundings of the planned building. It 

is recommended pedestrian connections between sidewalk on Parkway Avenue and the existing 

buildings be incorporated into the project. All sidewalks within the site should conform to ADA 

requirements.17 

 The site is expected to have sufficient available parking available for the new building even with the 

proposed reduction of 65 stalls.  

 City code requires a minimum of 10 bicycle parking spaces be provided at the new building to 

accommodate the proposed uses. These spaces should be located near building entrances in order to 

provide convenient access. 

Please let us know if you have any questions. 

                                                            
17 ADA Accessibility Guidelines for Buildings and Facilities, Department of Justice, January 2004. 

Page 64 of 94



     I‐5Corporate Park – Jack Martin Building W‐3 Trip Generation Memo 

 
 

Appendix 
 

 

Page 65 of 94



City of Wilsonville  29799 SW Town Center Loop E 
Community Development Department  Wilsonville, OR 97070 
Engineering and Planning Divisions  Phone: 503 682-4960; Fax 503 682-7025 
  adams@ci.wilsonville.or.us  
   
This form must be completed and returned to Steve Adams, Deputy City Engineer, to initiate a 
traffic Scope of Services, a request for a traffic study waiver, a determination of de minimus 
traffic impact, or other traffic-related issues. 
 

Process:  A Request, along with a site plan and project description must be submitted to the Engineering 
Division.  The request is forwarded to the City’s traffic consultant who will prepare a Scope of Services, 
which will include the necessary fee.   The prepared Scope will be reviewed by the Engineering Division, 
and once approved, will be forwarded to the authorized representative listed above.  When the applicant 
reviews and submits the fee indicated in the Scope of Services, the scope will be authorized by Staff and 
forwarded to the traffic consultant.  When the traffic study has been received and approved by the City’s 
Engineering Division, it will be forwarded to the applicant and the Planning Division. 
 
A request for a Waiver from a traffic study will be reviewed by the Community Development Director 
and the Engineering Division and the requestor will be notified by mail.   
 
Note:  If the project description and/or site plan change from what was originally submitted, additional 
traffic analysis and fees may be required.   
 

REQUEST FOR TRAFFIC STUDY – PLEASE READ COMPLETELY 
 
  Traffic Study Scope of Services             Waiver from Traffic Study requirement 
 
Other Traffic Related Request         
   
 
Requested by:        Date:     
 
Property address:           
 
Legal description:  Tax lot(s)     Section     
 
Project name:            
  
Property owner:            

Name:  
Address:           
  
 

Applicant:            
Name: 
Address:            

 
Authorized representative:   
(Contact person)* 

Name:            
 
Company:            
 
Address:           

  
Phone:       Email:      

  
*Note:  This person will receive all correspondence regarding traffic analysis.  

Page 66 of 94

swhite
Typewritten Text

swhite
Typewritten Text

swhite
Typewritten Text

swhite
Typewritten Text

swhite
Typewritten Text

briand
Typewritten Text
X

briand
Typewritten Text
Brian Dubal                                              January 31, 201427200 SW Parkway Avenue            1200 & 1202            11D

briand
Typewritten Text
W3 Tech Building : I-5 Corporate Park 

briand
Typewritten Text
Jack Martin

briand
Typewritten Text
3955 South Trail Drive, Jackson WY 83001

briand
Typewritten Text
Brian Dubal, VLMK Consulting Engineers3933 SW Kelly Avenue

briand
Typewritten Text
Brian DubalVLMK Consulting Engineers3933 SW Kelly Avenue

briand
Typewritten Text
503.222.4453                               briand@vlmk.com



  

W3 Tech Building 
 

 

S t r u c t u r a l  E n g i n e e r i n g • C i v i l  E n g i n e e r i n g • I n d u s t r i a l  E n g i n e e r i n g • P l a n n i n g • S t u d i e s / E v a l u a t i o n s • E n t i t l e m e n t  

File: G:\Acad2013\20130663\Permits\02 Traffic Study request form\Project Description.docx Page 1 of 1 
Printed: January 30, 2014 

Project Description 

 

Proposed construction of a 34,500 sf 2 story - speculative building, associated site work, 

and partition to create new lot for building. 

 

Building use will be similar as uses in W1 and W2 buildings.  We anticipate 50% office and 

50% manufacturing uses. 

 

Page 67 of 94



Page 68 of 94

briand
Image

briand
Typewritten Text
NOT TO SCALE

briand
Line

swhite
Typewritten Text

swhite
Typewritten Text
Page 68 of 94

swhite
Typewritten Text

swhite
Typewritten Text



Total Vehicle Summary

SW Parkway Ave & North Driveway

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave North Driveway North Driveway Interval Crosswalk
Time T R Bikes L T Bikes Bikes L R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 42 0 0 0 21 0 0 0 1 0 64 0 0 0 0
4:05 PM 31 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 3 0 74 0 0 0 0
4:10 PM 44 0 0 0 21 0 0 0 1 0 66 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 32 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0 65 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 26 0 0 0 32 0 0 0 0 0 58 0 0 0 0
4:25 PM 29 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 0 0 51 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 30 0 0 0 40 0 0 0 1 0 71 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 39 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 1 0 65 0 0 0 0
4:40 PM 38 0 0 0 37 0 0 0 2 0 77 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 30 0 0 0 35 1 0 0 3 0 68 0 0 0 0
4:50 PM 39 0 0 0 30 0 0 0 0 0 69 0 0 0 0
4:55 PM 35 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 1 0 58 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 31 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 2 0 57 0 0 0 0
5:05 PM 52 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 3 0 88 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 52 0 0 0 38 0 0 0 6 0 96 0 0 1 0
5:15 PM 44 0 0 0 37 0 0 0 2 0 83 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 36 0 0 0 37 0 0 0 3 0 76 0 0 0 0
5:25 PM 34 0 0 0 23 0 0 0 0 0 57 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 44 1 0 0 38 0 0 0 2 0 85 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 36 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 2 0 77 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 37 0 0 0 34 0 0 0 1 0 72 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 25 0 0 0 26 0 0 0 3 0 54 0 0 1 0
5:50 PM 31 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 3 0 58 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 38 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 1 0 63 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

875 1 0 0 735 1 0 0 41 0 1,652 0 0 2 0

Tuesday, April 08, 2014

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

26

0

1

393 0

0

0

0 1

471

472393
InOut

497393
OutIn

0In 

0Out

Out1

In26

0.
80

P
H

F
 

1.
1%

H
V

0.59PHF 
0.0%HV

0.00PHF 
0.0%HV

0.
88

P
H

F
 

2.
0%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:40 PM   to   5:40 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave North Driveway North Driveway Interval Crosswalk
Time T R Bikes L T Bikes Bikes L R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 117 0 0 0 82 0 0 0 5 0 204 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 87 0 0 0 87 0 0 0 0 0 174 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 107 0 0 0 102 0 0 0 4 0 213 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 104 0 0 0 87 1 0 0 4 0 195 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 135 0 0 0 95 0 0 0 11 0 241 0 0 1 0
5:15 PM 114 0 0 0 97 0 0 0 5 0 216 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 117 1 0 0 111 0 0 0 5 0 234 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 94 0 0 0 74 0 0 0 7 0 175 0 0 1 0

Total 
Survey

875 1 0 0 735 1 0 0 41 0 1,652 0 0 2 0

Peak Hour Summary
4:40 PM   to   5:40 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave North Driveway North Driveway Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 472 393 865 0 393 497 890 1 0 0 0 0 26 1 27 0 891 0 0 1 0

%HV 1.1% 2.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.5%
PHF 0.80 0.88 0.00 0.59 0.83

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave North Driveway North Driveway Total

T R L T L R
Volume 471 1 0 393 0 26 891

%HV NA 1.1% 0.0% 0.0% 2.0% NA NA NA NA 0.0% NA 0.0% 1.5%
PHF 0.80 0.25 0.00 0.88 0.00 0.59 0.83

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave North Driveway North Driveway Interval Crosswalk
Time T R Bikes L T Bikes Bikes L R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 415 0 0 0 358 1 0 0 13 0 786 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 433 0 0 0 371 1 0 0 19 0 823 0 0 1 0
4:30 PM 460 0 0 0 381 1 0 0 24 0 865 0 0 1 0
4:45 PM 470 1 0 0 390 1 0 0 25 0 886 0 0 1 0
5:00 PM 460 1 0 0 377 0 0 0 28 0 866 0 0 2 0

472

0.80 0.59

26

0.00

0

0.88

393
0.0%0.0%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

2.0%1.1%

Page 69 of 94



Total Vehicle Summary

SW Parkway Ave & South Driveway

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave South Driveway South Driveway Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 32 2 0 2 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 1 65 0 0 0 0
4:05 PM 0 25 0 0 1 38 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 6 0 73 0 0 0 0
4:10 PM 0 38 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 61 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 28 0 0 2 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 5 0 68 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 0 22 0 0 1 31 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 5 0 61 0 0 0 0
4:25 PM 0 25 3 0 1 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 54 1 0 1 0
4:30 PM 0 27 1 0 1 38 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 2 0 73 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 33 0 0 1 25 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 6 0 68 0 0 0 0
4:40 PM 0 34 2 0 5 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 3 0 79 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 25 1 0 4 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 5 0 68 0 0 2 0
4:50 PM 0 35 1 0 3 29 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 6 0 78 0 0 1 0
4:55 PM 0 28 0 1 3 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 56 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 24 0 0 1 22 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 6 0 56 0 0 0 0
5:05 PM 0 47 0 0 3 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 7 0 91 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 0 45 1 0 4 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 6 0 95 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 38 0 0 4 32 1 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 8 0 86 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 0 23 0 0 3 34 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 10 0 73 0 0 0 0
5:25 PM 0 28 0 0 1 22 0 0 1 0 0 0 5 0 6 0 63 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 35 0 0 0 37 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 9 0 82 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 0 30 1 0 5 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 7 0 80 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 0 25 1 0 1 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 11 0 73 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 1 18 2 0 4 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 10 0 58 0 0 1 0
5:50 PM 0 17 0 0 4 21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 52 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 0 34 0 0 5 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 5 0 65 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

1 716 15 1 59 674 3 0 4 0 0 0 49 0 157 1 1,678 1 0 5 0

Tuesday, April 08, 2014

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

3

0

0

79

0

33

60

357 361

0

0

0 3

392

398390
InOut

474394
OutIn

3In 

1Out

Out42

In112

0.
76

P
H

F
 

0.
5%

H
V

0.82PHF 
2.7%HV

0.38PHF 
0.0%HV

0.
88

P
H

F
 

1.
8%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:40 PM   to   5:40 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave South Driveway South Driveway Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 95 2 0 3 76 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 20 1 199 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 75 3 0 4 84 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 14 0 183 1 0 1 0
4:30 PM 0 94 3 0 7 95 1 0 1 0 0 0 8 0 11 0 220 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 88 2 1 10 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 17 0 202 0 0 3 0
5:00 PM 0 116 1 0 8 86 0 0 1 0 0 0 11 0 19 0 242 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 89 0 0 8 88 1 0 2 0 0 0 10 0 24 0 222 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 90 2 0 6 104 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 27 0 235 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 1 69 2 0 13 61 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 25 0 175 0 0 1 0

Total 
Survey

1 716 15 1 59 674 3 0 4 0 0 0 49 0 157 1 1,678 1 0 5 0

Peak Hour Summary
4:40 PM   to   5:40 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave South Driveway South Driveway Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 398 390 788 1 394 474 868 0 3 1 4 0 112 42 154 0 907 0 0 3 0

%HV 0.5% 1.8% 0.0% 2.7% 1.3%
PHF 0.76 0.88 0.38 0.82 0.83

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave South Driveway South Driveway Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 0 392 6 36 357 1 3 0 0 33 0 79 907

%HV 0.0% 0.5% 0.0% 11.1% 0.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.8% 1.3%
PHF 0.00 0.75 0.38 0.75 0.89 0.25 0.38 0.00 0.00 0.69 0.00 0.79 0.83

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start SW Parkway Ave SW Parkway Ave South Driveway South Driveway Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 352 10 1 24 335 2 0 1 0 0 0 18 0 62 1 804 1 0 4 0
4:15 PM 0 373 9 1 29 345 1 0 2 0 0 0 27 0 61 0 847 1 0 4 0
4:30 PM 0 387 6 1 33 349 2 0 4 0 0 0 34 0 71 0 886 0 0 3 0
4:45 PM 0 383 5 1 32 358 1 0 3 0 0 0 32 0 87 0 901 0 0 3 0
5:00 PM 1 364 5 0 35 339 1 0 3 0 0 0 31 0 95 0 874 0 0 1 0

398

0.76 0.82

112

0.38

3

0.88

394
2.7%0.0%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

1.8%0.5%

Page 70 of 94



Total Vehicle Summary

West Driveway & West Access

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start West Driveway West Driveway West Access West Access Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0
4:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0
4:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 7 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0
4:50 PM 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 8 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0
5:05 PM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0
5:25 PM 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 9 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 10 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

10 3 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 19 0 98 0 0 0 143 0 0 0 0

Tuesday, April 08, 2014

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

0

0

7

0

0

64

119

0 00

0

0

0 0

0

2071
InOut

00
OutIn

7In 

9Out

Out11

In64

0.
83

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

0.57PHF 
0.0%HV

0.58PHF 
0.0%HV

0.
00

P
H

F
 

0.
0%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:45 PM   to   5:45 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start West Driveway West Driveway West Access West Access Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 6 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 9 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 5 0 12 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 2 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 18 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 8 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 10 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 3 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 28 0 0 0 37 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 7 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

10 3 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 19 0 98 0 0 0 143 0 0 0 0

Peak Hour Summary
4:45 PM   to   5:45 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
West Driveway West Driveway West Access West Access Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 20 71 91 0 0 0 0 0 7 9 16 0 64 11 75 0 91 0 0 0 0

%HV 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
PHF 0.83 0.00 0.58 0.57 0.61

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
West Driveway West Driveway West Access West Access Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 9 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 7 64 0 0 91

%HV 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
PHF 0.75 0.00 0.92 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.58 0.57 0.00 0.00 0.61

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start West Driveway West Driveway West Access West Access Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 3 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 12 0 45 0 0 0 67 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 6 2 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 11 0 47 0 0 0 73 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 6 1 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 9 0 48 0 0 0 73 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 9 0 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 64 0 0 0 91 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 7 1 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 53 0 0 0 76 0 0 0 0

20

0.83 0.57

64

0.58

7

0.00

0
0.0%0.0%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

0.0%0.0%

Page 71 of 94



Total Vehicle Summary

East Driveway & East Access

4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

5-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start East Driveway East Driveway East Access East Access Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 0 0 0 0
4:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 0 0 0 0
4:10 PM 0 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 6 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0
4:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0
4:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 8 0 0 0 0
4:35 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
4:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 8 0 0 0 0
4:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 8 0 0 0 0
4:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 4 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 15 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 8 0 0 0 0
5:05 PM 0 0 0 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 8 0 0 0 0
5:10 PM 0 0 1 0 0 1 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 11 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 1 0 0 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0
5:20 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 5 0 0 0 0
5:25 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 6 0 0 0 0
5:35 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 0 0 0 0
5:40 PM 0 0 0 0 0 1 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 11 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 13 0 0 0 0
5:50 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
5:55 PM 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 8 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 7 1 0 0 23 79 0 4 2 0 0 0 39 0 0 155 0 0 0 0

Tuesday, April 08, 2014

Clay Carney
(503) 833-2740

2

1

0

0

28

0

10

16 050

0

0

0 0

2

316
InOut

466
OutIn

3In 

78Out

Out2

In28

0.
38

P
H

F
 

66
.7

%
H

V

0.70PHF 
0.0%HV

0.75PHF 
0.0%HV

0.
79

P
H

F
 

7.
6%

H
V

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

15-Minute Interval Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start East Driveway East Driveway East Access East Access Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 2 0 0 0 3 7 0 1 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 16 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 7 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 1 0 0 0 2 6 0 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 12 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 7 13 0 1 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 31 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 0 1 0 0 5 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 27 0 0 0 0
5:15 PM 0 1 0 0 0 3 7 0 0 1 0 0 0 3 0 0 15 0 0 0 0
5:30 PM 0 0 0 0 0 2 12 0 1 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 22 0 0 0 0
5:45 PM 0 1 0 0 0 1 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 25 0 0 0 0

Total 
Survey

0 7 1 0 0 23 79 0 4 2 0 0 0 39 0 0 155 0 0 0 0

Peak Hour Summary
4:50 PM   to   5:50 PM

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
East Driveway East Driveway East Access East Access Total Crosswalk

In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes In Out Total Bikes North South East West
Volume 3 16 19 0 66 4 70 0 3 78 81 0 28 2 30 0 100 0 0 0 0

%HV 66.7% 7.6% 0.0% 0.0% 7.0%
PHF 0.38 0.79 0.75 0.70 0.81

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound
East Driveway East Driveway East Access East Access Total

L T R L T R L T R L T R
Volume 0 2 1 0 16 50 2 1 0 0 28 0 100

%HV 0.0% ##### 0.0% 0.0% 31.3% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 7.0%
PHF 0.00 0.50 0.25 0.00 0.50 0.78 0.50 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.70 0.00 0.81

Rolling Hour Summary
4:00 PM   to   6:00 PM

Interval Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound Pedestrians
Start East Driveway East Driveway East Access East Access Interval Crosswalk
Time L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes L T R Bikes Total North South East West

4:00 PM 0 5 0 0 0 12 30 0 3 1 0 0 0 15 0 0 66 0 0 0 0
4:15 PM 0 3 1 0 0 14 37 0 2 1 0 0 0 19 0 0 77 0 0 0 0
4:30 PM 0 3 1 0 0 17 40 0 1 2 0 0 0 21 0 0 85 0 0 0 0
4:45 PM 0 2 1 0 0 17 46 0 2 1 0 0 0 26 0 0 95 0 0 0 0
5:00 PM 0 2 1 0 0 11 49 0 1 1 0 0 0 24 0 0 89 0 0 0 0

3

0.38 0.70

28

0.75

3

0.79

66
0.0%0.0%

By 
Movement

By 
Approach

Total TotalTotalTotal

7.6%66.7%

Page 72 of 94



Page 73 of 94



Section 4.155. General Regulations - Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking. 

CHAPTER 4 – PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT   PAGE C – 6 
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS  UPDATED JANUARY 2010 

Note:  In considering proposed waivers to the following standards, the City will consider the potential uses of the site and not just 
the uses that are currently proposed.  For waivers to exceed the maximum standards, applicants shall bear the burden of proving 
that Metro, State, and federal clean air standards will not be violated. 
 

TABLE 5:  PARKING STANDARDS 

USE PARKING MINIMUMS PARKING MAXIMUMS BICYCLE 
MINIMUMS 

a. Residential    

1. Single and attached units and any 
apartments (9 or fewer units) 

1 per D.U., except accessory 
dwelling units, which have no 

minimum. 
No Limit 0 

2. Apartments of ten (10) or more units 

1 per D.U. (less than 500 sq. ft.) 
1.25 per D.U. (1 bdrm) 
1.5 per D.U. (2 bdrm) 
1.75 per D.U. (3 bdrm) 

No Limit 1 per D.U. 

3. Manufactured or mobile home park 2 spaces/unit No Limit 1 per D.U. 

4. Manufactured or mobile home 
subdivision 

1 per D.U. No Limit 1 per D.U. 

b. Commercial Residential    

1. Hotel 1 per 1000 sq. ft. No Limit 
1 per 5 units 

Min. of 2 

2. Motel 1 per 1000 sq. ft. No Limit 
1 per 5 units 

Min. of 2 
 

Page 74 of 94



Section 4.155. General Regulations - Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking. 

CHAPTER 4 – PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT   PAGE C – 7 
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS  UPDATED JANUARY 2010 

TABLE 5:  PARKING STANDARDS 

USE PARKING MINIMUMS PARKING MAXIMUMS BICYCLE 
MINIMUMS 

3. Clubs, Lodges 

Spaces to meet the combined 
requirements of the uses being 

conducted such as hotel, 
restaurant, auditorium, etc. 

No Limit 
1 per 20 parking spaces 

Min. of 2 

c. Institutions    

1. Welfare or correctional institution 
1 space/3 beds for patients  

or inmates 
No Limit 

1 per 50 beds 
Min. of 2 

2. Convalescent hospital, nursing home, 
sanitarium, rest home, home for the 
aged 

1 space/2 beds for patients or 
residents 

No Limit 
1 per 6000 sq. ft.  

Min. of 2 

3. Hospital 2 spaces/bed No Limit 
1 per 20 parking spaces

Min. of 2 

d. Places of Public Assembly    

1. Church 
1 space/4 seats, or 8 ft of bench 
length in the main auditorium 

.8 per seat 
1 per 50 seats 

Min. of 2 

2. Library, reading room, museum,  
art gallery 

2.5 per 1000 sq. ft. No Limit 
1 per 1000 sq. ft. 

Min. of 6 

3. Preschool nursery, kindergarten .2 per student and staff .3 per student and staff 
1 per 3500 sq. ft. 

Min. of 2 
 

Page 75 of 94



Section 4.155. General Regulations - Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking. 

CHAPTER 4 – PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT   PAGE C – 8 
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS  UPDATED JANUARY 2010 

TABLE 5:  PARKING STANDARDS 

USE PARKING MINIMUMS PARKING MAXIMUMS BICYCLE 
MINIMUMS 

4. Elementary or Middle School .2 per student and staff .3 per student and staff 

8 per class (above 2nd 
grade) 

K – 2nd grade: 1 per 
3500 sq. ft. 

5. High School .2 per student and staff .3 per student and staff 4 per class 

6 College, commercial school for 
adults 

.2 per student and staff .3 per student and staff 
1 per class 
Min. of 4 

7 Other auditorium, meeting rooms .3 per seat .5 per seat 
1 per 50 seats 

Min. of 4 

8. Stadium, arena, theater .3 per seat .5 per seat 
1 per 40 seats 

Min. of 4 

9. Bowling alley 4 spaces/lane No Limit 
1 per 10 lanes 

Min. of 2 

10. Dance hall, skating rink, gym, swim 
or fitness center 

4.3 per 1000 sq. ft. 6.5 per 1000- sq. ft. 
1 per 4000 sq. ft. 

Min. of 2 

11. Tennis or racquetball facility 1 per 1000 sq. ft. 1.5 per 1000 sq. ft. 
1 per court 
Min. of 2 

 
 

Page 76 of 94



Section 4.155. General Regulations - Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking. 

CHAPTER 4 – PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT   PAGE C – 9 
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS  UPDATED JANUARY 2010 

TABLE 5:  PARKING STANDARDS 

USE PARKING MINIMUMS PARKING MAXIMUMS BICYCLE 
MINIMUMS 

e. Commercial    

1. Retail store except supermarkets and 
stores selling bulky merchandise and 
grocery stores 1500 sq. ft. gross floor 
area or less 

4.1 per 1000 sq. ft. 6.2 per 1000 sq. ft. 
1 per 4000 sq. ft. 

Min. of 2 

2. Commercial retail, 1501 sq. ft. or 
more 

4.1 per 1000 sq. ft. 6.2 per 1000 sq. ft. 
1 per 4000 sq. ft.  

Min. of 2 

3. Service or repair shops 4.1 per 1000 sq. ft. 6.2 per 1000 sq. ft. 1 per 4000 sq. ft. 

4. Retail stores and outlets selling 
furniture, automobiles or other bulky 
merchandise where the operator can 
show the bulky merchandise 
occupies the major areas of the 
building 

1.67 per 1000 sq. ft. 6.2 per 1000 sq. ft. 
1 per 8000 sq. ft. 

Min. of 2 

5. Office or flex space (except medical 
and dental) 

 
 Bank with drive-thru 

2.7 per 1000 sq. ft. 
 
 

4.3 per 1000 sq. ft 

4.1 per 1000 sq. ft. 
 
 

6.5 per 1000 sq. ft. 

1 per 5000 sq. ft 
Min. of 2 

6. Medical and dental office or 
 clinic area 

3.9 per 1000 sq. ft. 5.9 per 1000 sq. ft. 
1 per 5000 sq. ft. 

Min. of 2 

7. Eating or drinking establishments 15.3 per 1000 sq. ft. 23 per 1000 sq. ft. 1 per 4000 sq. ft. 

Page 77 of 94



Section 4.155. General Regulations - Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking. 

CHAPTER 4 – PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT   PAGE C – 10 
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS  UPDATED JANUARY 2010 

TABLE 5:  PARKING STANDARDS 

USE PARKING MINIMUMS PARKING MAXIMUMS BICYCLE 
MINIMUMS 

 
 Fast food (with drive-thru) 
 Other 

 
9.9 per 1000 sq. ft. 

 
14.9 per 1000 sq. ft. 

Min. of 4 

8. Mortuaries 
1 space/4 seats, or 8ft. of bench 

length in chapels 
No Limit Min. of 2 

f. Industrial    

1. Manufacturing establishment 1.6 per 1000 sq. ft. No Limit 
1 per 10,000 sq. ft. 

Min. of 6 
2. Storage warehouse, wholesale 

establishment, rail or trucking freight 
terminal 

.3 per 1000 sq. ft. .5 per 1000 sq. ft. 
1 per 20,000 sq. ft. 

Min. of 2 

g. Park & Ride or Transit Parking As needed No Limit 
10 per acre, with 50% in 

lockable enclosures 

 
[Table 5 amended by Ordinance No. 538, 2/21/02] 
[Table 5 amended by Ordinance No. 548, 10/9/02] 

 

Page 78 of 94



Page 79 of 94

swhite
Stamp



1

Pauly, Daniel

From: Pat Haugen <path@vlmk.com>
Sent: Friday, May 30, 2014 11:17 AM
To: Pauly, Daniel
Subject: FW: FW: I-5 Corporate Park Landscape Legend Question

SEE BELOW 
 
Patrick S. Haugen | Project Coordinator  
VLMK Consulting Engineers 
3933 SW Kelly Avenue, Portland, OR  97239-4393 
P 503.222.4453 x150 | F 503.248.9263  
path@vlmk.com | http://www.vlmk.com  |     

 

From: Erin Holsonback [mailto:erin@ottenla.com]  
Sent: Friday, May 30, 2014 11:16 AM 
To: Pat Haugen 
Subject: Re: FW: I-5 Corporate Park Landscape Legend Question 
 
Oops! Sorry about that...we intend to have Frans Fontaine Hornbeam planted, not vine maples. 
 
Thanks, 
Erin 

On 5/30/2014 7:10 AM, Pat Haugen wrote: 

Please Confirm Daniel’s question 
  
Patrick S. Haugen | Project Coordinator  
VLMK Consulting Engineers 
3933 SW Kelly Avenue, Portland, OR  97239-4393 
P 503.222.4453 x150 | F 503.248.9263  
path@vlmk.com | http://www.vlmk.com  |     
  

From: Pauly, Daniel [mailto:pauly@ci.wilsonville.or.us]  
Sent: Thursday, May 29, 2014 4:08 PM 
To: Pat Haugen 
Subject: I-5 Corporate Park Landscape Legend Question 
  
As seen below there seems to be an inconsistency identify Carpinus bet. “Franz Fountain” with the 
common name of Vine Maple. Please confirm you are planning on 12 Frans Fountain Columnar 
Hornbeam rather than vine maples. 
  

Page 80 of 94

swhite
Stamp



2

  
Thanks 
  

 

Daniel Pauly, AICP  | Associate Planner | City of Wilsonville | Planning Division 
29799 SW Town Center Loop East | Wilsonville OR 97070 |: 503.682.4960 | : pauly@ci.wilsonville.or.us

  
                   Disclosure: Messages to and from this E-mail address may be subject to Oregon Public Records Law. 
  

 

--  
Erin Holsonback 
Otten Landscape Architects 
Web: ottenla.com 
Email: erin@ottenla.com 
Phone: (503) 972-0311 
Fax: (503) 972-0314 

Page 81 of 94



EXHIBIT C1 
PLANNING DIVISION  

STAFF REPORT 
 

I-5 CORPORATE PARK 
JACK MARTIN BUILDING 3 

 
DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL ‘A’ 

QUASI JUDICIAL HEARING 
 
 

Public Hearing Date:   
Date of Report:   
Application Numbers:  
 

Request B: DB14-0042 
 

Property 
Owners/Applicants:  
 

 

 
PD = Planning Division conditions 
BD – Building Division Conditions 
PF = Engineering Conditions. 
NR = Natural Resources Conditions 
TR = SMART/Transit Conditions 
FD = Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue Conditions  
 
 

Page 82 of 94

swhite
Stamp



Standard Comments: 

PFB 1. Engineering PF conditions previously issued for the In Focus Corporate 
Complex project (00DB10) and the Jack Martin / In-Focus project (DB07-
0035, as modified by DB08-0032)) are still in effect with this application, 
except as modified as follows. 

PFB 2. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in 
conformance to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards. 

PFB 3. Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in 
the following amounts: 

Coverage (Aggregate, accept where noted)                            Limit 
Commercial General Liability 
            General Aggregate (per project)                             $ 2,000,000 
            Fire Damage (any one fire)                                     $      50,000 
            Medical Expense (any one person)                         $      10,000 
Business Automobile Liability Insurance 
            Each Occurrence                                                     $ 1,000,000 
            Aggregate                                                                $ 2,000,000 
Workers Compensation Insurance                                      $    500,000 

PFB 4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based 
upon a 22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of 
Wilsonville Public Work’s Standards. 

PFB 5. Plans submitted for review shall meet the following general criteria: 
 

a. Utility improvements that shall be maintained by the public and are not contained 
within a public right-of-way shall be provided a maintenance access acceptable to 
the City. The public utility improvements shall be centered in a minimum 15-ft. 
wide public easement for single utilities and a minimum 20-ft wide public 
easement for two parallel utilities and shall be conveyed to the City on its 
dedication forms. 

b. Design of any public utility improvements shall be approved at the time of the 
issuance of a Public Works Permit.  Private utility improvements are subject to 
review and approval by the City Building Department. 

c. In the plan set for the PW Permit, existing utilities and features, and proposed new 
private utilities shall be shown in a lighter, grey print.  Proposed public 
improvements shall be shown in bolder, black print. 

d. All elevations on design plans and record drawings shall be based on NAVD 88 
Datum.   

e. All proposed on and off-site public/private utility improvements shall comply 
with the State of Oregon and the City of Wilsonville requirements and any other 
applicable codes. 

f. Design plans shall identify locations for street lighting, gas service, power lines, 
telephone poles, cable television, mailboxes and any other public or private utility 
within the general construction area. 

g. As per City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 615, all new gas, telephone, cable, 

Page 83 of 94



fiber-optic and electric improvements etc. shall be installed underground.  
Existing overhead utilities shall be undergrounded wherever reasonably possible. 

h. Any final site landscaping and signing shall not impede any proposed or existing 
driveway or interior maneuvering sight distance. 

i. Erosion Control Plan that conforms to City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482. 
j. Existing/proposed right-of-way, easements and adjacent driveways shall be 

identified. 
k. All engineering plans shall be printed to PDF, combined to a single file, stamped 

and digitally signed by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon.  
l. All plans submitted for review shall be in sets of a digitally signed PDF and three 

printed sets.   

Page 84 of 94



PFB 6. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing 
any soil on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed 
applicant shall obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed 
a 1200-CN permit from the City of Wilsonville is required. 

PFB 7. The applicant shall be in conformance with all water quality requirements 
for the proposed development per the Public Works Standards.  If a 
mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the 
project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer 
stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as 
designed. 

PFB 8. Fire hydrants shall be located in compliance with TVF&R fire prevention 
ordinance and approval of TVF&R. 

PFB 9. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way 
shall be in compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

PFB 10. No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed. 

PFB 11. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and 
Access Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those 
portions of the storm system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or 
rainwater LID facilities may be located within the public right-of-way upon 
approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water 
components and private conventional storm water facilities; maintenance 
shall transfer to the respective homeowners association when it is formed.  

PFB 12. Mylar Record Drawings:  

At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, 
and before a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a 
record survey. Said survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record 
drawings' which will serve as the physical record of those changes made to 
the plans and/or specifications, originally approved by Staff, that occurred 
during construction. Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate 
changes will be made to the construction plans and/or specifications and a 
complete revised 'set' shall be submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings 
on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic copy in AutoCAD, current version, and a 
digitally signed PDF. 

Specific Comments:  

PFB 13. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a traffic Trip Generation 
Memo dated May 5, 2014.  The project is hereby limited to no more than the 
following impacts. 

 
Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 35 

Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 21 
Through Elligsen Road Interchange Area 
 

Page 85 of 94



Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 5 
Through Wilsonville Road Interchange Area 

 
PFB 14. In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) Parkway Avenue is 

identified as a Minor Arterial.  Sufficient right-of-way presently exists, and 
the street is fully constructed; no additional right-of-way or improvements to 
Parkway Avenue are identified. 

PFB 15. Access to the site shall be from the existing driveways located on Parkway 
Avenue. 

PFB 16. Existing storm facilities are sized for current impervious surfaces.  Should 
the addition of Building 3 have a net increase in impervious surface, the 
applicant shall be required to provide storm water detention and water 
quality facilities for the net increase in impervious surface.  A memo 
providing the total area of impervious surfaces to be removed and the total 
area of impervious surfaces being added with the project shall be prepared 
by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon shall be 
submitted for review and approval by the City. 

PFB 17. Should a net increase in impervious surface occur, a storm water analysis 
prepared by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon shall 
be submitted for review and approval by the City to address appropriate pipe 
and detention facility sizing and water quality treatment. 

 

Page 86 of 94



Development Review Template 
  
DATE: 5/28/14 
TO:  DAN PAULY AICP, ASSOCIATE PLANNER 
FROM: DON WALTERS 
SUBJECT: DEVELOPMENT REVIEW # DB14-0042 and DB14-0043 JACK MARTIN 

BUILDING W3 
 
WORK DESCRIPTION: CONSTRUCTION OF A 2-STORY 34500SF OFFICE / 
MANUFACTURING / WAREHOUSE BUILDING IN I-5 CORPORATE PARK.   
 
*************************************************************************** 
 

Building Division Conditions: 

BD 1. SITE CONDITIONS.  It is the responsibility of the applicant to insure that all existing 
underground utilities, piping, drain systems and easements of any kind are shown 
correctly on the site plan. 

BD 2. ACCESSIBLE PARKING cannot be fully reviewed at this time.  Accessible parking 
will be fully reviewed as part of the plan review of the building permit plans.  The 
additional information available at plan review may require changes to the number and 
location of accessible parking spaces shown on these preliminary plans.  (107.2.1) 

BD 3. FIRE CALCS.  Fire calcs shall be submitted with the building permit application.  
These calc sheets and instructions are available from the TVF&R web site.  (2010 OFC 
507.3)  The fire calcs will define how many hydrants are required, and if a building fire 
alarm or fire sprinkler system may be necessary.  Neither hydrant location, number of 
required hydrants, nor building plan review can proceed without the completed fire 
calcs. 

BD 4. FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION.  With respect to hydrants, driveways, buildings 
and landscaping, fire department connections shall be so located that fire apparatus and 
hose connected to supply the system will not obstruct access to the buildings for other 
fire apparatus.  The location of the fire department connections shall be approved by the 
fire chief.  Fire department connections shall be located on the street side of buildings, 
fully visible and recognizable from the street or nearest point of fire department vehicle 
access or as otherwise approved by the chief.  (OFC 912.2, 912.2.1) 

BD 5. FDC CLEAR SPACE.  A working space of not less than 36” in width, 36” in depth, and 
78” in height shall be provided and maintained in front of and to the sides of wall-
mounted fire department connections and around the circumference of free-standing fire 
department connections, except as otherwise required or approved by the fire chief.  
(912.3.2)  Please confirm that the proposed planting plan respects the required clear 
space. 

BD 6. HYDRANT – CLEAR SPACE.  A 3’ clear space shall be maintained around the 
circumference of fire hydrants except as otherwise required or approved.  [Low growing 

 

Page 87 of 94

swhite
Stamp



ground covers that do not create a trip hazard are acceptable when approved by the fire 
marshal.] (OFC 508.5.5)  Please confirm that the proposed planting plan respects the 
required 3’ clearance. 

BD 7. RED CURBS and No Parking signs shall be installed when so required by the fire 
marshal.  (OFC 503.3)  It is recommended that you supply 2 copies of the site plan to 
the Fire Marshal at or before submittal of the building permit package to the Building 
Division for review of any possible no parking areas. 

BD 8. ADVISORY.  VAULT.  It is recommended - not required - that backflow devices for 
fire lines be placed inside the buildings and not in underground vaults.  This eliminates 
the continuing maintenance problems with sump pumps and valve monitoring, and 
saves the project the cost of a vault installation, about $10000.  Where the backflow 
device is placed in a vault a public utility waterline easement will be required that 
extends to the upstream edge of the vault.  Without a vault the waterline easement will 
extend to the exterior wall of the building. 

 

Page 88 of 94



 
 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT MEMORANDUM 
 

 
To: Daniel Pauly, Associate Planner 
 
From: Kerry Rappold, Natural Resources Program Manager 
 
Date:   May 27, 2014 
 
RE: Industrial Development (DB14-0041 – I-5 Corporate Bldg. W-3) 
 
This memorandum includes staff conditions of approval. The conditions of approval are based on 
the submitted Stage II Final Plan and Site Design Review. The conditions of approval apply to 
the applicant’s submittal of construction documents (i.e. engineering drawings).  
 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 
The following conditions of approval are based on the material submitted by the applicant. Any 
subsequent revisions to the submitted plans may require conditions of approval to be modified by 
staff. 

 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone/Conservation Easement 

 
1. Provide documentation the proposed temporary impacts have been reviewed and 

approved by the Oregon Department of State Lands.  
 

2. All landscaping, including herbicides used to eradicate invasive plant species and existing 
vegetation, in the Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ)/Conservation Easement 
and the Impact Area shall be reviewed and approved by the Natural Resources Program 
Manager.  

 
3. Prior to any site grading or ground disturbance, the applicant is required to delineate the 

boundary of the SROZ/Conservation Easement.  Six-foot (6’) tall cyclone fences with 
metal posts pounded into the ground at 6’-8’ centers shall be used to protect the 
significant natural resource area where development encroaches into the Impact Area. 

 
4. Pursuant to Section 4.139.03 (.05) of the Wilsonville Code, the applicant is required to 

use habitat-friendly development practices (Table NR-2) to the extent practicable for any 
encroachment into the SROZ and the Impact Area.  

 
5. The applicant shall minimize the impact to the SROZ and the Impact Area during 

construction of the proposed building.  
 

 

Development Review (DB14-0041 – I-5 Corporate Bldg. W-3).doc May 27, 2014 

 
Page 89 of 94

swhite
Stamp



Other 
 
6. The applicant shall comply with all applicable state and federal requirements for the 

proposed construction activities (e.g. DEQ NPDES #1200–CN permit). 
 

Development Review (DB14-0041 – I-5 Corporate Bldg. W-3).doc May 27, 2014 

 
2 

Page 90 of 94



Pu
bl

ic
 W

or
ks

 P
la
n 

Re
vi
ew

 C
om

m
en

t 
Fo

rm
 

Pl
an

s 
fo

r 
Re

vi
ew

: 
 

W
-3

 B
ld
g 

of
 I

-5
 C

or
po

ra
te

 C
en

te
r 

Re
tu

rn
 A

ll 
Co

m
m
en

ts
 T

o:
 

H
of

fm
an

 
D
ue

 D
at

e:
 

 
 

M
ay

 2
7,

 2
01

4 
 N

am
e 

Pa
ge

 N
o.

 
Co

m
m
en

ts
 

En
gi
ne

er
in
g’
s 

Re
sp

on
se

 
Ra

nd
y 

W
at

so
n 

 
N

o 
Co

m
m

en
ts

 
 

M
at

t 
Ba

ke
r 

 
 

 
Sh

er
er

/S
M

/ 
Re

ed
er

 
 

N
o 

Co
m

m
en

ts
 

 

A
rn

ie
 G

ra
y 

 
N

o 
Co

m
m

en
ts

 
 

Ra
lp

h 
Th

or
p 

 
 

 
Ja

so
n 

La
br

ie
 

 
N

o 
Co

m
m

en
ts

 
 

H
ou

se
/G

er
in

g 
 

 
 

Fo
lz

/H
av

en
s 

 
 

 
 

Page 91 of 94

swhite
Stamp



1

Pauly, Daniel

From: Young, Andrew F. <Andrew.Young@nwnatural.com>
Sent: Monday, May 12, 2014 4:02 PM
To: Pauly, Daniel
Subject: FW: Development Review Team Mailing (DB14-0041 et al - W-3 Building)
Attachments: DB14-0041 et al - W-3 Building NWN.pdf

Hello Daniel: 
 
Please inform the applicant that we have a 4” & 6” main in Parkway Ave. as well as a 2” service 
onsite. 
 
Thank you. 
 
Respectfully, 
Andrew F. Young, P.E. 
Resource Center Engineer - Sherwood 
NW Natural | 20285 SW Cipole Rd. | Sherwood, Oregon 97140  
office: 503.226.4211 ext. 2980|cell: 360.281.6169  |email: Andrew.Young@nwnatural.com 
 
 
 
From: White, Shelley [mailto:swhite@ci.wilsonville.or.us]  
Sent: Tuesday, May 06, 2014 12:48 PM 
To: Amber Cross (Amber.Cross@tvfr.com); Andrew Schafer (Andrew.Schafer@pgn.com); Young, Andrew F.; Gray, Arnie; 
Jacobson, Barbara; Ben Baldwin (DevelopmentReview@trimet.org); Bill Rhoades (rhoadesw@wlwv.k12.or.us); Edmonds, 
Blaise; Bob Ebeling (Robert.W.EBELING@odot.state.or.us); Brian Harper (Brian.Harper@oregonmetro.gov); Kelley, Brian; 
Stevenson, Brian; Cosgrove, Bryan; Neamtzu, Chris; Stark, Dan; Pauly, Daniel; Kerber, Delora; Walters, Don; Parent, Gail; 
Heather Peck (heather.peck@aviation.state.or.us); Miller, Holly; James Rhodes (JRhodes@clackamas.us); Jason Arn 
(Jason.Arn@tvfr.com); Labrie, Jason; Massa Smith, Jen; Gail, Jon; Kenneth Parris (kenneth_parris@cable.comcast.com); 
Rappold, Kerry; Cheeley, Lance; Bushman, Luke; Ottenad, Mark; Brown, Martin; Baker, Matt; Ward, Mike; Wheeler, Mike; 
Kraushaar, Nancy; Duke, Pat; Region 1 Development Review Applications 
(Region1DEVREVApplications@odot.state.or.us); Keller, Robert; Simonton, Scott; Lashbrook, Stephan; Adams, Steve; 
Allen, Steve; Munsterman, Steve; Tiffany Ritchey (tiffany.ritchey@pgn.com); Tom Maier (Thomas.Maier@awin.com) 
Subject: Development Review Team Mailing (DB14-0041 et al - W-3 Building) 
 
Development Review Team Members, 
 
Please find the attached DRT mailing for your review: 
 
DB14‐0041 et seq:    W‐3 Buildng/I‐5 Corporate Park 
 
Please note that comments and/or conditions of approval are due to the Planning Division by 4:00 pm on May 27, 2014 
for a June 9, 2014 public hearing. 
 
Thank you, 
 
 

Shelley White 
Administrative Assistant 
City of Wilsonville  
Ph:  503 570-1575 

Page 92 of 94

swhite
Stamp



2

swhite@ci.wilsonville.or.us 
  
DISCLOSURE NOTICE:  Messages to and from this E-mail address may be subject to the Oregon Public Records Law. 
  

Page 93 of 94



Page 94 of 94



 503.222.4453 
 503.248.9263 
 vlmk@vlmk.com 

 3933 SW Kel ly Avenue ••••  Port land ••••  Oregon 97239-4393  www.vlmk.com 

 

 

 

 

  

 

S t r u c t u r a l  E n g i n e e r i n g • C i v i l  E n g i n e e r i n g • I n d u s t r i a l  E n g i n e e r i n g • P l a n n i n g • S t u d i e s / E v a l u a t i o n s • E n t i t l e m e n t  
 

 

File: G:\Acad2013\20130663\Permits\03 Design Review\LH.docx Page 1 of 1 

Printed: May 05, 2014 

P

F

E

W 

 

I-5 Corporate Park 
Building W-3 

SW Parkway Avenue 

Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 

 

 

PRELIMINARY REVIEW PACKAGE SUBMITTAL 

 

Stage 1 – Preliminary Plan Review 
Stage 2 – Final Plan Review 

Site Design Review 

 

                                                          

  
 

swhite
Stamp



 2

 

 

 

I-5 Corporate Park 

Building W-3 

SW Parkway Avenue 

Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 

 

 

Table of Contents 
 

Project Narrative     3 
 

Stage 1 – Preliminary Plan Review  4 
    (Modification of Previously Approved “Stage 1 Preliminary Plan) 

 

Stage 2 – Final Plan Review   5 
    (Industrial Development Standards) 

 

Site Design Review    12 

 

Variance - 01     26 
    (Front Yard Location of Waste Recycle) 

 

Variance - 02     27 
    (Side Yard Setback) 

 

 

Exhibit 1.0 – Color Rendering / Photo 

 

Exhibit 2.0 – Architectural Materials and Designs (Color Board) 

 

Exhibit 3.0 – Geotech Report 

 

Exhibit 4.0 – Traffic Study 
(To be Submitted at a Later Date) 

 

Exhibit 5.0 – Preliminary Title Report 

 

Exhibit 6.0 – Reduced (11” x 17”) Drawings 
 

Review Drawings (24” x 36” attached separately) 

 

 

 



 3

 

 
I-5 Corporate Park 

Building W-3 
SW Parkway Avenue 

Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 
 

PROJECT NARRATIVE 
 

Martin Real Estate Development is proposing to construct a fourth and final building (W-3) in the I-5 Corporate 

Park on SW Parkway Avenue south of Xerox Drive in Wilsonville, Oregon.  The proposed building is to be a 

two story 34,500 sq. ft structure forty feet in height constructed of stained concrete tilt-up walls which will 

incorporate large amounts of storefront windows along with glass canopy covered entrances. Enhanced 

Landscaping will surround the building and pedestrian ways. The proposed location for the new building will be 

in the northwest corner of the site in what is currently a paved parking lot. Parking will be replace for the new 

structure at a ratio of 3.2 spaces per 1,000 square feet.    

 

The above narrative and the following modifications are proposed to be made to the existing approved for the I-

5 Corporate Park. This development will be a submitted as a 'Modification' to a previously approved Stage I 

Preliminary Plan (DR Case #DB08-0032 phase 3 buildings W-1 and W-2), a Stage II Master Plan and Site 

Design Review 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 4

 

 

I-5 Corporate Park 

Building W-3 
SW Parkway Avenue 

Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 

 

STAGE I - 'PRELIMINARY PLAN REVIEW' 
(Modification of a Previously Approved Stage I Preliminary Plan) 

Case File #DB08-0032 

 

Site Design Overview and Modifications: 

 

In 2008 the City of Wilsonville approved a 'Modified' Stage I Preliminary Plan for Phase 2 and 3 of the I-5 

Corporate Park at 27200 and 27300 SW Parkway Avenue. This new 'Modification' requests further revision 

from that approval for the construction of Phase 4 as described below and in the documents and drawings 

attached. 

  

All work for Phases 2 and 3 are in place and completed at this time.  

 

The parking design and circulation systems will still be consistent with File #DB08-0032 as a Master Plan and 

at a minimum 815 parking spaces will be maintained for buildings W-1 and W-2. The remaining parking area to 

the northwest beyond these spaces will be reconfigured for building W-3 which will be provided with 133 

spaces. Total parking for all three building will be at 754 spaces or 3.8 per 1,000 sq. ft. The existing driveway is 

to be reused and a pedestrian pathway constructed from there to the new building. A truck dock and grade door 

loading area is provided at the north end of the building with a single grade door loading area in the southeast 

corner. 

 

The revised landscape plan will follow along with the prior master landscape concept and continue with the use 

of similar materials. The areas outside of the parking lot to be removed will remain as previously shown, Little 

if any alterations is expected to occur to native vegetation. 

 

Building Design Overview: 

 

The building design concept continues using similar features as exist on the previously approved buildings in 

the I-5 Corporate Park. The architectural vocabulary is of a contemporary punched window office building with 

significant vertical and horizontal modulation. The tall window proportions, window transoms, strong coping 

element, high ceilings, and facade rustication all add influence from a building from an earlier era. Overall the 

timeless materials and design elements provide a corporate image of quality and durability. The exterior 

material vocabulary is classic and simple: stained precast concrete walls, green tinted glass and medium 

metallic bronze for metal surfaces. Metal is used at coping, window/door framing, canopies, and metal wall 

panels introduced on the upper deck. The owner is pushing to use verdigris copper for the coping, but while 

enthused about it we are not committing to that pending the budget. 
 

 

 

 



 5

 

 

I-5 Corporate Park 

Building W-3 
SW Parkway Avenue 

Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 

 

STAGE 2 – “FINAL PLAN REVIEW” 
(Industrial Development Standards) 

 

Section 4.117. Standards Applying To Industrial Developments In Any Zone. 
 

(.01) All industrial developments, uses, or activities are subject to performance standards. 

If not otherwise specified in the Planning and Development Code, industrial developments, uses, 

and activities shall be subject to the performance standards specified in Section 4. 135 (.05) (PDI 

Zone). 
 
Response: Project meets the Performance standards as noted below 
 

Section 4.118. Standards applying to all Planned Development Zones: 
 
 

(.01) Height Guidelines: In “S” overlay zones, the solar access provisions of Section 4.137 shall be 

used to determine maximum building heights. In cases that are subject to review by the 

Development Review Board, the Board may further regulate heights as follows: 
 

(.02) Underground Utilities shall be governed by Sections 4.300 to 4.320. All utilities above 

ground shall be located so as to minimize adverse impacts on the site and neighboring 

properties. 

 
Response: Project Is not in an 'S' overlay Zone and utilities are to be installed underground. 
 

Section 4.135. PDI Planned Development Industrial Zone. 
 

(.05) Performance Standards. The following performance standards apply to all industrial properties 

and sites within the PDI Zone, and are intended to minimize the potential adverse impacts of 

industrial activities on the general public and on other land uses or activities. They are not 

intended to prevent conflicts between different uses or activities that may occur on the same 

property. 
 

A. All uses and operations except storage, off-street parking, loading and unloading shall be 

confined, contained, and conducted wholly within completely enclosed buildings, unless 

outdoor activities have been approved as part of Stage II, Site Design or Administrative 

Review. 

Response: All activities are indoor 
 

B. Vibration: Every use shall be so operated that the ground vibration inherently and recurrently 

generated from equipment other than vehicles is not perceptible without instruments at any 

boundary line of the property on which the use is located. 

Response: No vibrations are produced by the proposed/allowed uses. 

 
 

 



 6

C. Emission of odorous gases or other odorous matter in quantities as detectable at any point 

on any boundary line of the property on which the use is located shall be prohibited. 

Response: No detectible odors would be generated by the allowed uses 
 

D. Any open storage shall comply with the provisions of Section 4.176, and this Section. 

Response: No open storage would be required by the allowed uses 
 

E. No building customarily used for night operation, such as a baker or bottling and 

distribution station, shall have any opening, other than stationary windows or required fire 

exits, within one hundred (100) feet of any residential district and any space used for loading 

or unloading  commercial vehicles in connection with such an operation shall not be within 

one hundred (100) feet of any residential district. 

Response: project does not abut residential development 
 

F. Heat and Glare: 

1. Operations producing heat or glare shall be conducted entirely within an enclosed 

building. 

2. Exterior lighting on private property shall be screened, baffled, or directed away from 

adjacent residential properties. This is not intended to apply to street lighting. 

Response: Operations are within the building. No adjacent residential zones. 
 

G. Dangerous Substances: Any use which involves the presence, storage or handling of any 

explosive, nuclear waste product, or any other substance in a manner  which would cause a 

health or safety hazard for any adjacent land use or site shall be prohibited. 

Response: No dangerous substances allowed with uses 
 

H. Liquid and Solid Wastes: 

1. Any storage of wastes which would attract insects or rodents or otherwise create a 

health hazard shall be prohibited. 

2. Waste products which are stored outside shall be concealed from view from any property 

line by a sight-obscuring fence or planting as required in Section 4.176. 

3. No connection with any public sewer shall be made or maintained in violation of 

applicable City or State standards. 

4. No wastes conveyed shall be allowed to or permitted, caused to enter, or allowed to flow 

into any public sewer in violation of applicable City or State standards. 

5. All drainage permitted to discharge into a street gutter, caused to enter or allowed to flow 

into any pond, lake, stream, or other natural water course shall be limited to surface waters 

or waters having similar characteristics as determined by the City, County, and State 

Department of Environmental Quality. 

6. All operations shall be conducted in conformance with the City’s standards and 

ordinances applying to sanitary and storm sewer discharges 

Response: All waste to be handled as not to create a health hazard. Outdoor trash/recycle areas are 

 in screened enclosure. See plans. No discharge of industrial waste allowed and all 

 storm or sanitary discharge are shown on plans to conform with this requirement 
 

I. Noise: Noise generated by the use, with the exception of traffic noises from automobiles, 

trucks, and trains, shall not violate any applicable standards adopted by the Oregon 

Department of Environmental Quality and W.C. 6.204 governing noise control in the same or 

similar locations. [Amended by Ord. 631, 7/16/07] 

Response: No detectible noise would be generated by the allowed uses 

 



 7

 
J. Electrical Disturbances. Except for electrical facilities wherein the City is preempted by 

other governmental entities, electrical disturbances generated by uses within the PDI zone 

which interfere with the normal operation of equipment or instruments within the PDI Zone 

are prohibited. Electrical disturbances which routinely cause interference with normal 

activity in abutting residential use areas are also prohibited. 

Response: No electrical disturbances generated by the allowed uses 
 

K. Discharge Standards: There shall be no emission of smoke, fallout, fly ash, dust, vapor, 

gases, or other forms of air pollution that may cause a nuisance or injury to human, plant, or 

animal life, or to property. Plans of construction and operation shall be subject to the 

recommendations and regulations of the State Department of Environmental Quality. All 

measurements of air pollution shall be by the procedures and with equipment approved by the 

State Department of Environmental Quality or equivalent and acceptable methods of 

measurement approved by the City. Persons responsible for a suspected source of air 

pollution upon the request of the City shall provide quantitative and qualitative information 

regarding the discharge that will adequately and accurately describe operation conditions. 

Response: No operations will create or produce airborne pollutants 
 

L. Open burning is prohibited. 

Response: No open burning allowed 
 

M. Storage: 

1. Outdoor storage must be maintained in an orderly manner at all times. 

2. Outdoor storage area shall be gravel surface or better and shall be suitable for the 

materials being handled and stored. If a gravel surface is not sufficient to meet the 

performance standards for the use, the area shall be suitably paved. 

3. Any open storage that would otherwise be visible at the property line shall be concealed 

from view at the abutting property line by a sight obscuring fence or planting not less 

than six (6) feet in height. 

Response: No outdoor storage areas are allowed 
 

N. Landscaping: 

1. Unused property, or property designated for expansion or other future use, shall be 

landscaped and maintained as approved by the Development Review Board. 

Landscaping for unused property disturbed during construction shall include such things 

as plantings of ornamental shrubs, lawns, native plants, and mowed, seeded fieldgrass. 

2. Contiguous unused areas of undisturbed fieldgrass may be maintained in their existing 

state. Large stands of invasive weeds such as Himalayan  blackberries, English ivy, cherry 

Laurel, reed canary grass or other identified invasive plants shall be removed and/or 

mowed at least annually to reduce fire hazard. These unused areas, located within a 

phased development project or a future expansion cannot be included in the area calculated 

to meet the landscape requirements for the initial phase(s) of the development. 

3. Unused property shall not be left with disturbed soils that are subject to siltation and 

erosion. Any disturbed soil shall be seeded for complete erosion cover germination and 

shall be subject to applicable erosion control standards. 

Response: All areas as required are being landscaped with this development. see  Landscape Plans. 
 

  

 

 

 



 8

(.06) Other Standards: 
 

A. Minimum Individual Lot Size: No limit save and except as shall be consistent with the 

other provisions of this Code (e.g., landscaping, parking, etc.). 
 

B. Maximum Lot Coverage: No limit save and except as shall be consistent with the other 

provisions of this Code (e.g., landscaping, parking, etc.). 
 

C. Front Yard Setback: Thirty (30) feet. Structures on corner or through lots shall observe the 

minimum front yard setback on both streets. Setbacks shall also be 

  maintained from the planned rights-of-way shown on any adopted City street plan. 
 

D. Rear and Side Yard Setback: Thirty (30) feet. Structures on corner or through lots shall 

observe the minimum rear and side yard setbacks on both streets. Setbacks shall also be 

maintained from the planned rights-of-way shown on any adopted City street plan. 
 

E. No setback is required when side or rear yards abut on a railroad siding. 
 

F. Corner Vision: Corner lots shall have no sight obstruction to exceed the vision clearance 

standards of Section 4.177. 
 

G. Off-Street Parking and Loading: As provided in Section 4.155. 
 

H. Signs: As provided in Sections 4.156.01 through 4.156.11.  

Response: Project complies with lot size and coverage - No Limit 

 Project setback criteria WAIVER-02 Requested for (north) side yard setback from  

required  (30) feet down to (20) feet. See attached Waiver request. 

 Parking complies per later criterion of this submittal under section 4.155 

 No signs are proposed with this application 

Section 4.139. Significant Resources Overlay Zone (SROZ) Ordinance. 
 
Response: No work required within this zone. See Plans and zone map exhibit 

 Subject site contains the Significant Resource Overlay Zone. Work will take  place 

 within 100 feet outside the boundary, as shown. 
 
 
 
Section 4.140.     Planned Development Regulations 

 

Response: Plans are submitted for development on a legal lot under ownership as noted and being 

submitted by professional design firm for permit as required. 
 

 (.09) Final Approval (Stage Two): 
 

A. Unless an extension has been granted by the Development Review Board, within two (2) 

years after the approval or modified approval of a preliminary development plan (Stage I), 

the applicant shall file with the City Planning Department a final plan for the entire 

development or when submission in stages has been authorized pursuant to Section 4.035 for 

the first unit of the development, a public hearing shall be held on each such application as 

provided in Section 4.013. 

Response: Applicant is filing a 'Final Plan' for the remaining development as attached with this 

 proposal for review by the board. Plans contain all information as required for  

 obtaining permit approval.,  

 

 
 

 



 9

B. After such hearing, the Development Review Board shall determine whether the proposal 

conforms to the permit criteria set forth in this Code, and shall approve, conditionally 

approve, or disapprove the application. 

Response: No action item - Noted by applicant 
 

C. The final plan shall conform in all major respects with the approved preliminary 

development plan, and shall include all information included in the preliminary plan plus the 

following: 

1. The location of water, sewerage and drainage facilities; See Site Utilities Plan 

2. Preliminary building and landscaping plans and elevations, sufficient to indicate the 

general character of the development; See attached floor Plan, building elevations 

and Landscape plan 

3. The general type and location of signs; See signage plans and details 

4. Topographic information as set forth in Section 4.035; see Survey 

5. A map indicating the types and locations of all proposed uses; and See Site Data 

6. A grading plan. See grading Plans 

Response: Plans contain all information as required for obtaining permit approval. 
 

D. The final plan shall be sufficiently detailed to indicate fully the ultimate operation and 

appearance of the development or phase of development. However, Site Design Review is a 

separate and more detailed review of proposed design features, subject to the standards of 

Section 4.400. 

Response: Plans contain all information as required for obtaining permit approval 
 

E. Copies of legal documents required by the Development Review Board for dedication or 

reservation of public facilities, or for the creation of a non-profit homeowner’s association, 

shall also be submitted. 

Response: See Site Utility Plan and survey for all easements 
 

F. Within thirty (30) days after the filing of the final development plan, the Planning staff shall 

forward such development plan and the original application to the Tualatin Valley Fire and 

Rescue District, if applicable, and other agencies involved for review of public improvements, 

including streets, sewers and drainage. The Development Review Board shall not act on a 

final development plan until it has first received a report from the agencies or until more than 

thirty 

  (30) days have elapsed since the plan and application were sent to the agencies,  

 whichever is the shorter period. 

Response: No action item - Noted by applicant 
 

G. Upon receipt of the final development plan, the Development Review Board shall conduct a 

public hearing and examine such plan and determine: 

1. Whether it conforms to all applicable criteria and standards; and 

2. Whether it conforms in all substantial respects to the preliminary approval; or 

3. Require such changes in the proposed development or impose such conditions of approval 

as are in its judgment necessary to insure conformity to the applicable criteria and 

standards. 

Response: No action item - Noted by applicant 

 

 

 
 



 10

H. If the Development Review Board permits the applicant to revise the plan, it shall be 

resubmitted as a final development plan within sixty (60) days. If the Board approves, 

disapproves or grants such permission to resubmit, the decision of the Board shall become 

final at the end of the appeal period for the decision, unless appealed to the City Council, in 

accordance with Sections 4.022 of this Code. 

Response: No action item - Noted by applicant 
 

I. All Stage II Site Development plan approvals shall expire two years after their approval date, 

if substantial development has not occurred on the property prior to that time. Provided, 

however, that the Development Review Board may extend these expiration times for up to 

three (3) additional periods of not more than one 

  

Response: No action item - Noted by applicant 
 

J. A planned development permit may be granted by the Development Review Board only 

if it is found that the development conforms to all the following criteria, as well as to the 

Planned Development Regulations in Section 4.140: 

1. The location, design, size and uses, both separately and as a whole, are consistent with 

the Comprehensive Plan, and with any other applicable plan, development map or 

Ordinance adopted by the City Council. 

Response: Proposal as attached is in compliance and consistent with Sec 4.140 
 

2. That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the development 

at the most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without 

congestion in excess of Level of Service D, as defined in the Highway Capacity Manual 

published by the National Highway Research Board, on existing or immediately planned 

arterial or collector streets and  will, in the case of commercial or industrial developments, 

avoid traversing local streets. Immediately planned arterial and collector streets are those  

listed in the City’s adopted Capital Improvement Program, for which funding has been 

approved or committed, and that are scheduled for completion within two years of 

occupancy of the development or four year if they are an associated crossing, interchange, 

or approach street improvement to 

Interstate 5. 

Response: A Traffic Study is in the Process and will submitted at a later date as Exhibit 4.0. 

a. In determining levels of Service D, the City shall hire a traffic engineer at the 

applicant’s expense who shall prepare a written report containing the following 

minimum information for consideration by the Development Review Board: 

i. An estimate of the amount of traffic generated by the proposed development, 

the likely routes of travel of the estimated generated traffic, and the source(s) of 

information of the estimate of the traffic generated and the likely routes of 

travel; [Added by Ord. 561, adopted 12/15/03.] 

ii. What impact the estimate generated traffic will have on existing level of service 

including traffic generated by (1) the development itself, (2) all existing 

developments, (3) Stage II developments approved but not yet built, and (4) all 

developments that have vested traffic generation rights under section 4.140(.10), 

through the most probable used intersection(s), including state and county 

intersections, at the time of peak level of traffic. This analysis shall be conducted 

for each direction of travel if backup from other intersections will interfere with 

intersection operations. [Amended by Ord 561, adopted 12/15/03.] 

b. The following are exempt from meeting the Level of Service D criteria standard: 

i. A planned development or expansion thereof which generates three (3) new p.m. 



 11

peak hour traffic trips or less; 

ii. A planned development or expansion thereof which provides an essential 

governmental service. 

c. Traffic generated by development exempted under this subsection on or after 

Ordinance No. 463 was enacted shall not be counted in determining levels of service 

for any future applicant. [Added by Ord 561, adopted 12/15/03.] 

d. Exemptions under ‘b’ of this subsection shall not exempt the development or 

expansion from payment of system development charges or other applicable 

regulations. [Added by Ord 561, adopted 12/15/03.] 

e. In no case will development be permitted that creates an aggregate level of traffic at 

LOS “F”. ([Added by Ord 561, adopted 12/15/03.] 

3. That the location, design, size and uses are such that the residents or establishments 

to be accommodated will be adequately served by existing or immediately planned 

facilities and services. 

Response: Existing Facilities are sufficient as per the letter of Concurrency 

 

K. Mapping: Whenever a Planned Development permit has been granted, and so long as the 

permit is in effect, the boundary of the Planned Development shall be indicated on the 

Zoning Map of the City of Wilsonville as the appropriate "PD" Zone. 

Response: No action item - Noted by applicant 

 
 

L. Adherence to Approved Plan and Modification Thereof: The applicant shall  agree in 

writing to be bound, for her/himself and her/his successors in interest, by the conditions 

prescribed for approval of a development. The approved final plan and stage development 

schedule shall control the issuance of all building permits and shall restrict the nature, 

location and design of all uses. Minor changes in an approved preliminary or final 

development plan may be approved by the Director of Planning if such changes are 

consistent with the purposes and general character of the development plan.  All other 

modifications, including extension or revision of the stage development schedule, shall be 

processed in the same manner as the original application and shall be subject to the same 

procedural requirements. 

Response: Plans shall not be modified from that approved. Revisions shall be approved by the 

 Planning Department. 
 

M. In the event of a failure to comply with the approved plan or any prescribed condition of 

approval, including failure to comply with the stage development schedule, the 

Development Review Board may, after notice and hearing, revoke a Planned Development 

permit. General economic conditions that affect all in a similar manner may be considered 

as a basis for an extension of a development schedule. The determination of the Board 

shall become final thirty (30) days after the date of decision unless appealed to the City 

Council. 

Response: No action item - Noted by applicant 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 12

 

 

I-5 Corporate Park 

Building W-3 
SW Parkway Avenue 

Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 

 

“SITE DESIGN REVIEW” 
(Design Review Application) 

 

Section 4.400. 

(.02) The City Council declares that the purposes and objectives of site development requirements and the site 

design review procedure are to: 

A. Assure that Site Development Plans are designed in a manner that insures proper functioning of the site 

and maintains a high quality visual environment. 

Response: Site has been designed in accordance with the City of Wilsonville planning and land  development 

 ordinance (see Site Plan sheet G1.0).  Proposal complies with this criterion.  

B. Encourage originality, flexibility and innovation in site planning and development, including the 

architecture, landscaping and graphic design of said development; 

Response:  The building design combines the right amount and types of materials for a distinctive and attractive 

 look which when combined with the generous landscaping design provides for and meets this criterion 

 See attached plans and Exhibits 

C. Discourage monotonous, drab, unsightly, dreary and inharmonious developments; 

Response:  The proposed development as professionally designed, provides a clean design while providing for the 

function of the building in accordance with this criterion. 

B. Conserve the City's natural beauty and visual character and charm by assuring that structures, signs and 

other improvements are properly related to their sites, and to surrounding sites and structures, with due 

regard to the aesthetic qualities of the natural terrain and landscaping, and that proper attention is given to 

exterior appearances of structures, signs and other improvements; 

Response:  A great deal of time and effort has been put into the planning of the building in order to  achieve a 

balance and blending of the building and its site with the surrounding area to meet this criterion. 

E. Protect and enhance the City's appeal and thus support and stimulate business and industry and promote 

the desirability of investment and occupancy in business, commercial and industrial purposes; 

Response: Proposal brings employment opportunities which in turn stimulates other city economies.  

F. Stabilize and improve property values and prevent blighted areas and, thus, increase tax revenues; 

Response:  The proposed development improves upon the existing conditions of the existing vacant parking area. 

G. Insure that adequate public facilities are available to serve development as it occurs and that proper 

attention is given to site planning and development so as to not adversely impact the orderly, efficient and 

economic provision of public facilities and services. 

Response:  Existing public facilities are able to handle the current demand. Parkway Avenue  will provide an 

efficient traffic way to and from the site. 

H. Achieve the beneficial influence of pleasant environments for living and working on behavioral patterns 

and, thus, decrease the cost of governmental services and reduce opportunities for crime through careful 

consideration of physical design and site layout under defensible space guidelines that clearly define all 



 13

areas as either public, semi-private, or private, provide clear identity of structures and opportunities for 

easy surveillance of the site that maximize resident control of behavior -- particularly crime; 

Response:  The design as proposed allows for easy “drive by” visual inspection of the building and its goings on.  All 

 areas of parking and building entrance front onto the adjacent street frontage eliminating hidden areas 

where criminal activities could occur.  With lighting to accommodate for safe movement around the site the 

design lends itself to the safety of patrons and pedestrians while keeping with good vehicular functions. 

I. Foster civic pride and community spirit so as to improve the quality and quantity of citizen participation 

in local government and in community growth, change and improvements; 

Response:  This proposed design with its improvements to the site add to the surrounding the area,  which creates a 

 positive atmosphere of citizens pride and civic duty. 

J. Sustain the comfort, health, tranquility and contentment of residents and attract new residents by reason 

of the City's favorable environment and, thus, to promote and protect the peace, health and welfare of the 

City. 

Response: Proposal provides services and goods for the community. 

Section 4.421. Criteria and Application of Design Standards.   

(.01) The following standards shall be utilized by the Board in reviewing the plans, drawings, sketches and other 

documents required for Site Design Review.  These standards are intended to provide a frame of reference for 

the applicant in the development of site and building plans as well as a method of review for the Board.  

These standards shall not be regarded as inflexible requirements.  They are not intended to discourage 

creativity, invention and innovation.  The specifications of one or more particular architectural styles is not 

included in these standards.  (Even in the Boones Ferry Overlay Zone, a range of architectural styles will be 

encouraged.) 

A. Preservation of Landscape.  The landscape shall be preserved in its natural state, insofar as practicable, by 

minimizing tree and soils removal, and any grade changes shall be in keeping with the general appearance 

of neighboring developed areas. 

Response:  The area of disturbance for this project will be mostly limited to the removal of the existing parking area 

and the landscaping planted at the time of its construction. The existing areas surrounding the lot will remain 

with enhancement to the existing vegetation . See Site Plan, Grading Plan, and Landscape Plans, sheets , P1, 

C1.0, and L1.0. 

B. Relation of Proposed Buildings to Environment.  Proposed structures shall be located and designed to 

assure harmony with the natural environment, including protection of steep slopes, vegetation and other 

naturally sensitive areas for wildlife habitat and shall provide proper buffering from less intensive uses in 

accordance with Sections 4.171 and 4.139 and 4.139.5.  The achievement of such relationship may 

include the enclosure of space in conjunction with other existing buildings or other proposed buildings 

and the creation of focal points with respect to avenues of approach, street access or relationships to 

natural features such as vegetation or topography. 

Response:  The area of work is outside of the buffer area.. 

C. Drives, Parking and Circulation.  With respect to vehicular and pedestrian circulation, including 

walkways, interior drives and parking, special attention shall be given to location and number of access 

points, general interior circulation, separation of pedestrian and vehicular traffic, and arrangement of 

parking areas that are safe and convenient and, insofar as practicable, do not detract from the design of 

proposed buildings and structures and the neighboring properties. 

Response:  A single access into and out of the immediate parking area exists and is to remain. Pedestrian access is 

 provided to the public way and separated  as best allowed. the parking is connected to the parking areas 

 of the existing W-1 building which also provides access to SW Parkway Avenue. See sheet P1 Site Plan 

D. Surface Water Drainage.  Special attention shall be given to proper site surface drainage so that removal 

of surface waters will not adversely affect neighboring properties of the public storm drainage system. 



 14

Response:  Existing facilities are in place for storm water drainage and are to be reused with the  new 

 development which will occupy much the same area that is currently being served.  See Site Utility Plan 

 sheet G3.0 

E. Utility Service.  Any utility installations above ground shall be located so as to have an harmonious 

relation to neighboring properties and site.  The proposed method of sanitary and storm sewage disposal 

from all buildings shall be indicated. 

Response:  All utility locations are shown on the Site Utility Plan.  Sanitary is to be piped below ground from the  

 proposed building to the existing service in the street.  See Site Utility Plan.The buildings storm system is 

 to be provided from the roof to underground piping via  exterior downspouts.  See Site  UtilityPlan 

 sheet G3.0 

F. Advertising Features.  In addition to the requirements of the City's sign regulations, the following criteria 

should be included:  the size, location, design, color, texture, lighting and materials of all exterior signs 

and outdoor advertising structures or features shall not detract from the design of proposed buildings and 

structures and the surrounding properties. 

Response:  No signage is proposed with this development submittal. When signage is proposed a “Master Signage 

Plan” application and exhibits will be submitted at that time. 

G. Special Features.  Exposed storage areas, exposed machinery installations, surface areas, truck loading 

areas, utility buildings and structures and similar accessory areas and structures shall be subject to such 

setbacks, screen plantings or other screening methods as shall be required to prevent their being 

incongruous with the existing or contemplated environment and its surrounding properties.  Standards for 

screening and buffering are contained in Section 4.176. 

Response:  Proposed development includes a screened trash enclosure west of the building and  truck loading 

 dock north of the building. Both areas are buffered and designed as to comply with this requirement.  

 Setbacks are in accordance with and as shown previously in Sec. 4.135,06 (Other Standards). See 

 Site and Landscape Plans on sheets G1.0 and L1.0.   

Section 4.176. Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering. (See Sheet L1.0 “Landscape Plan) 

 

(.01) Purpose.  This Section consists of landscaping and screening standards and regulations for use throughout the 

City.  The regulations address materials, placement, layout, and timing of installation.  The City recognizes 

the ecological and economic value of landscaping and requires the use of landscaping and other screening or 

buffering to: 

A. Promote the re-establishment of vegetation for aesthetic, health, erosion control, flood control and 

wildlife habitat reasons;   

Response: Aesthetics provided by plant material with a variety of color and texture.  Some native plant materials 

have been used and all plants have been chosen for their drought tolerance once established. See Sheet 

L1.0. 

B. Restore native plant communities and conserve irrigation water through establishment, or re-

establishment, of native, drought-tolerant plants;   

Response: As indicate in “A” above. 

C. Mitigate for loss of native vegetation;  

Response: No loss of native vegetation no mitigation required. 

D. Establish and enhance a pleasant visual character which recognizes aesthetics and safety issues;   

Response: As indicate in “A” above. 

E. Promote compatibility between land uses by reducing the visual, noise, and lighting impacts of specific 

development on users of the site and abutting sites or uses;   



 15

Response: Proposed plantings will create an effective buffering of both vision and sound between sites as indicated 

on the Landscape Plan. See sheet L1.0. 

F. Unify development and enhance and define public and private spaces;   

Response: Proposed plantings as proposed comply with this criterion. 

G. Promote the retention and use of existing vegetation;   

Response: Existing vegetation is being retained and enhanced  to meet this criterion. 

H. Aid in energy conservation by providing shade from the sun and shelter from the wind; and   

Response: Once mature the proposed trees will add to the existing tree coverage to provide for and meet this 

criterion for protection. 

I. Screen from public view the storage of materials that would otherwise be considered unsightly.   

Response: Loading and trash/recycle areas have been screened as indicated in 4.421. 

J. Support crime prevention, create proper sight distance clearance, and establish other safety factors by 

effective landscaping and screening.   

Response: Sight distances are unchanged and as allowed with previous development  Parking is located to afford for 

the most effective views onto the site for crime prevention. 

K.  Provide landscaping materials that minimize the need for excessive use of fertilizers, herbicides and 

pesticides, irrigation, pruning, and mowing to conserve and protect natural resources, wildlife habitats, 

and watersheds.   

Response: All plant materials were chosen for their low maintenance (water, fertilizing, pruning, and weeding) and 

drought tolerance for use of minimal watering. 

 

(.02) Landscaping and Screening Standards. 

D. Low Screen Landscaping Standard. 

1. Intent.  The Low Screen Landscaping Standard is a landscape treatment that uses a combination of 

distance and low screening to separate uses or developments.  It is intended to be applied in situations 

where low screening is adequate to soften the impact of one use or development on another, or where 

visibility between areas is more important than a total visual screen.  The Low Screen Landscaping 

Standard is usually applied along street lot lines or in the area separating parking lots from street 

rights-of-way. 

Response: Provided along street frontage bordering new parking lot. 

2. Required materials.  The Low Screen Landscaping Standard requires sufficient low shrubs to form a 

continuous screen three (3) feet high and 95% opaque, year-round.  In addition, one tree is required 

for every 30 linear feet of landscaped area, or as otherwise required to provide a tree canopy over the 

landscaped area.  Ground cover plants must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area.  A three 

(3) foot high masonry wall or a berm may be substituted for the shrubs, but the trees and ground 

cover plants are still required.  When applied along street lot lines, the screen or wall is to be placed 

along the interior side of the landscaped area. (See Figure 22:  Low Screen Landscaping).  

Response: The existing hedge is being re-used to meet this requirement. See Landscape Plan Sheet L1.0 

E. High Screen Landscaping Standard. 

1. Intent.  The High Screen Landscaping Standard is a landscape treatment that relies primarily on 

screening to separate uses or developments.  It is intended to be applied in situations where visual 

separation is required.  

Response: Not required. 

3. Required materials.  The High Screen Landscaping Standard requires sufficient high shrubs to form a 

continuous screen at least six (6) feet high and 95% opaque, year-round.  In addition, one tree is 



 16

required for every 30 linear feet of landscaped area, or as otherwise required to provide a tree canopy 

over the landscaped area.  Ground cover plants must fully cover the remainder of the landscaped area.  

A six (6) foot high masonry wall or a berm may be substituted for the shrubs, but the trees and ground 

cover plants are still required.  When applied along street lot lines, the screen or wall is to be placed 

along the interior side of the landscaped area. (See Figure 23: High Screen Landscaping).   

Response: Not applicable 

F, G, H, I.  Sub-section letters shown for continuity.  

Sections are not applicable   

(.03) Landscape Area.  Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped with vegetative 

plant materials.  The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping required by section 4.155.03(B)(1) is 

included in the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement.  Landscaping shall be located in at 

least three separate and distinct areas of the lot, one of which must be in the contiguous frontage area.  

Planting areas shall be encouraged adjacent to structures.  Landscaping shall be used to define, soften or 

screen the appearance of buildings and off-street parking areas.  Materials to be installed shall achieve a 

balance between various plant forms, textures, and heights. The installation of native plant materials shall be 

used whenever practicable.   

Response:  Landscaping has been provided in the applicable percentages as required. See “Project  Summary” on 

Sheet .0. Plant material is provided in a variety of heights, textures, and  color to soften and define the 

building and to provide screening where appropriate. 

(.04) Buffering and Screening.  Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the Section 

4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be applied, where applicable.   

C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be screened from ground 

level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties.   

Response: No mechanical units proposed at this time. Building is designed so that mechanical units when installed 

are behind parapet walls that will screen them from adjacent streets or properties. 

D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has been approved for 

the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting on a development permit.   

Response: No outdoor storage area allowed or proposed.  

 (.06) Plant Materials. 

A. Shrubs and Ground Cover. All required ground cover plants and shrubs must be of sufficient size and 

number to meet these standards within three (3) years of planting.  Non-horticultural plastic sheeting or 

other impermeable surface shall not be placed under mulch.  Surface mulch or bark dust is to be fully 

raked into soil of appropriate depth, sufficient to control erosion and are confined to areas around 

plantings.  Areas exhibiting only surface mulch, compost or bark dust are not to be used as substitutes for 

plants areas.   

Response: See sheet L1.0 “Landscape Plan” for sizes which meet this standard.  No sheathing is to be used.  Bark 

mulch is as described in the plan specifications. 

1. Shrubs.  All shrubs shall be well branched and typical of their type as described in current AAN 

Standards and shall be equal to or better than 2-gallon containers  and 10” to 12” spread.   

Response: See specifications (sheet L1.0 “Landscape Plan”) which comply with this standard. 

2. Ground cover.  Shall be equal to or better than the following depending on the type of plant materials 

used:  Gallon containers  spaced at 4 feet on center minimum, 4" pot spaced 2 feet on center 

minimum, 2-1/4" pots spaced at 18 inch on center minimum.  No bare root planting shall be 

permitted.  Ground cover shall be sufficient to cover at least 80% of the bare soil in required 

landscape areas within three (3) years of planting.  Where wildflower seeds are designated for use as 

a ground cover, the City may require annual re-seeding as necessary.   



 17

Response: See plant list (sheet L1.0 “Landscape Plan”) which comply with this standard. 

3. Turf or lawn in non-residential developments.  Shall not be used to cover more than ten percent 

(10%) of the landscaped area, unless specifically approved based on a finding that, due to site 

conditions and availability of water, a larger percentage of turf or lawn area is appropriate. Use of 

lawn fertilizer shall be discouraged.  Irrigation drainage runoff from lawns shall be retained within 

lawn areas.   

Response: See Landscape plan (sheet L1.0) which meets this criterion.  

4. Plant materials under trees or large shrubs.  Appropriate plant materials shall be installed beneath the 

canopies of trees and large shrubs to avoid the appearance of bare ground in those locations.   

Response: All areas below trees have been landscaped as required to meet this standard.  See sheet L1.0 

“Landscape Plan”. 

 

B, C.  Sub-section letters shown for continuity.  

Response: Not applicable. 

D. Street Trees.  In order to provide a diversity of species, the Development Review Board may require a 

mix of street trees throughout a development.  Unless the Board waives the requirement for reasons supported 

by a finding in the record, different types of street trees shall be required for adjoining blocks in a 

development. 

Response: So Noted by Applicant 

1. All trees shall be standard base grafted, well branched and typical of their type as described in current 

AAN Standards and shall be balled and burlapped (b&b).  Street trees shall be planted at sizes in 

accordance with the following standards: 

a. Arterial streets - 3" minimum caliper 

Response: SW Parkway Avenue = Minor Arterial 

All Street Trees exist. N/A 

Section 4.155. General Regulations - Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking. 

(.01) Purpose: 

A, B, C 

Response: No action items – noted by applicant. 

(.02) General Provisions: 

A.  Sub-section letter shown for continuity 

Response:  No action item – noted by applicant. 

B. No area shall be considered a parking space unless it can be shown that the area is accessible and usable 

for that purpose, and has maneuvering area for the vehicles, as determined by the Planning Director. 

Response:  All proposed parking spaces shown are 9’ x 18’ (standard space) (8’ x 16’ compact space)  with  a 

 circulation isle of a minimum 24’ in width to meet this criterion. 

C. In cases of enlargement of a building or a change of use from that existing on the effective date of this 

Code, the number of parking spaces required shall be based on the additional floor area of the enlarged or 

additional building, or changed use, as set forth in this Section. Current development standards, including 

parking area landscaping and screening, shall apply only to the additional approved parking area.  

Response:  Not Applicable - New Building 

D. In the event several uses occupy a single structure or parcel of land, the total requirement for off-street 

parking shall be the sum of the requirements of the several uses computed separately, except as modified 

by subsection “E,” below. 



 18

Response: Parking is as noted under the Project Data. See Site Plan 

E. Owners of two (2) or more uses, structures, or parcels of land may utilize jointly the same parking area 

when the peak hours of operation do not overlap, provided satisfactory legal evidence is presented in the 

form of deeds, leases, or contracts securing full access to such parking areas for all the parties jointly 

using them. 

Response: Understood - Not required 

F. Off-street parking spaces existing prior to the effective date of this Code may be included in the amount 

necessary to meet the requirements in case of subsequent enlargement of the building or use to which 

such spaces are necessary. 

Response: Not required 

G. The nearest portion of a parking area may be separated from the use or containing structure it serves by a 

distance not exceeding one hundred (100) feet. 

Response:  Separation Not Applicable. 

H. The conducting of any business activity shall not be permitted on the required parking spaces, unless a 

temporary use permit is approved pursuant to Section 4.163. 

Response: No action item – noted by applicant. 

I. Where the boundary of a parking lot adjoins or is within a residential district, such parking lot shall be 

screened by a sight-obscuring fence or planting.  The screening shall be continuous along that boundary 

and shall be at least six (6) feet in height. 

Response: Not applicable – development does not adjoin a residential district. 

J. Parking spaces along the boundaries of a parking lot shall be provided with a sturdy bumper guard or curb 

at least six (6) inches high and located far enough within the boundary to prevent any portion of a car 

within the lot from extending over the property line or interfering with required screening or sidewalks. 

Response:  Extruded concrete curbs are provided at all boundaries of the parking area and are six  (6)inches in 

height.  See Site Plan, sheet   

K. All areas used for parking and maneuvering of cars shall be surfaced with asphalt, concrete, or other 

surface, such as "grasscrete" in lightly-used areas, that is found by the City Engineer to be suitable for the 

purpose.  In all cases, suitable drainage, meeting standards set by the City Engineer, shall be provided.  

Response:  All parking areas are to be paved and provided with positive drainage.  See Site Grading  and Utility 

Plans on , sheets  and  

L. Artificial lighting which may be provided shall be so limited or deflected as not to shine into adjoining 

structures or into the eyes of passers-by. 

Response:  Parking lot and security lighting comply with this standard.  See Lighting Plan Sheet SL1. 

M. Off-street parking requirements for types of uses and structures not specifically listed in this Code shall be 

determined by the Development Review Board if an application is pending before the Board.  Otherwise, 

the requirements shall be specified by the Planning Director, based upon consideration of comparable 

uses. 

Response: Not applicable – Uses are specifically listed and calculated for. 

N. Up to forty percent (40%) of the off-street spaces may be compact car spaces as identified in Section 

4.001 - “Definitions,” and shall be appropriately identified. 

Response:  Not applicable as less than 40 percent is to be compact.  See Site Plan Sheet . 

O. Where off-street parking areas are designed for motor vehicles to overhang beyond curbs, planting areas 

adjacent to said curbs shall be increased to a minimum of seven (7) feet in depth.  This standard shall 



 19

apply to a double row of parking, the net effect of which shall be to create a planted area that is a 

minimum of seven (7) feet in depth. 

Response: Provided see site plan. 

(.03) Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements: 

A. Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be designed with access and maneuvering area adequate to 

serve the functional needs of the site and shall: 

1. Separate loading and delivery areas and circulation from customer and/or employee parking and 

pedestrian areas.  Circulation patterns shall be clearly marked. 

Response: Employee parking lot is separated from on-site loading and circulation areas. See Site Plan, sheet . 

2. To the greatest extent possible, separate vehicle and pedestrian traffic. 

Response:  Vehicle and pedestrian traffic have been separated.as much  possible  See Site Plan, sheet   

B. Parking and loading or delivery areas shall be landscaped to minimize the visual dominance of the 

parking or loading area, as follows:  

1. Landscaping of at least ten percent (10%) of the parking area designed to be screened from view from 

the public right-of-way and adjacent properties.  This landscaping shall be considered to be part of the 

fifteen percent (15%) total landscaping required in Section 4.176.03 for the site development. 

Response:  Parking and loading areas abutting the street have been screened. See Landscape Plan  

2. Landscape tree planting areas shall be a minimum of eight (8) feet in width and length and spaced 

every eight (8) parking spaces or an equivalent aggregated amount.   

a. Trees shall be planted in a ratio of one (1) tree per eight (8) parking spaces or fraction thereof, 

except in parking areas of more than two hundred (200) spaces where a  ratio of one (1) tree per 

six (six) spaces shall be applied as noted in subsection (.03)(B.)(3.).  A landscape design that 

includes trees planted in areas based on an aggregated number of parking spaces must provide all 

area calculations.   

b.  Except for trees planted for screening, all deciduous interior parking lot trees must be suitably 

sized, located, and maintained to provide a branching minimum of seven (7) feet clearance at 

maturity. 

Response:  Trees in excess of the minimum required have been provided to meet criterion ”a” and are shown as such 

on the Landscape  plan. As specified parking lot trees meet criterion “b”.  See Landscape Plan,  

3. Due to their large amount of impervious surface, new development with parking areas of more than 

two hundred (200) spaces that are located in any zone, and that may be viewed from the public right 

of way, shall be landscaped to the following additional standards: 

Response:   (a, b, c, d, e, and f) Not applicable –the  parking area being constructed for this development 

 contains only 57 spacess. 

4. Be designed for safe and convenient access that meets ADA and ODOT standards.  All parking areas 

which contain ten (10) or more parking spaces, shall for every fifty (50) standard spaces., provide one 

ADA-accessible parking space that is constructed to building code standards, Wilsonville Code 9.000. 

Response:  ADA parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the International Building Code  as 

amended by the state of Oregon. see Site Plan   

5. Where possible, parking areas shall be designed to connect with parking areas on adjacent sites so as 

to eliminate the necessity of utilizing the public street for multiple accesses or cross movements.  In 

addition, on-site parking shall be designed for efficient on-site circulation and parking. 

Response: All parking areas are on site and do not require connection to adjacent sites. 

6. In all multi-family dwelling developments, there shall be sufficient areas established to provide for 

parking and storage of motorcycles, mopeds and bicycles.  Such areas shall be clearly defined and 

reserved for the exclusive use of these vehicles. 

Response: Not applicable – development is not Multi-family. 



 20

7. On-street parking spaces, directly adjoining and on the same side of the street as the subject property 

may be counted towards meeting the minimum off-street parking standards.  

Response: Not applicable – no “on-street” parking is proposed. 

8. Tables 5, shall be used to determine the minimum and maximum parking standards for various land 

uses.  The minimum number of required parking spaces shown on Tables 5 shall be determined by 

rounding to the nearest whole parking space.  For example, a use containing 500 square feet, in an 

area where the standard is one space for each 400 square feet of floor area, is required to provide one 

off-street parking space.  If the same use contained more than 600 square feet, a second parking space 

would be required.  [Amended by Ordinance No. 538, 2/21/02.] 

Response:   Minimums from “Table 5” have been used to determine the required amount of parking spaces and the 

 amounts have been rounded up as required per this section. 

 

(.04)  Bicycle Parking: 
 

A. Required Bicycle Parking - General Provisions. 

1. The required minimum number of bicycle parking spaces for each use category is shown 

in Table 5, Parking Standards. 

Response: Minimums provided at 1 space per 5,000 sq. ft. .see plan 

2. Bicycle parking spaces are not required for accessory buildings. If a primary use is listed in 

Table 5, bicycle parking is not required for the accessory use. 

Response: Provided 

3. When there are two or more primary uses on a site, the required bicycle parking for the site 

is the sum of the required bicycle parking for the individual primary uses. 

Response: Minimums provided are based on the speculative use  

4. Bicycle parking space requirements may be waived by the Development Review Board per 

Section 4.118(.03)(A.)(9.) and (10.). 

Response: Understood 
 

B. Standards for Required Bicycle Parking 

1. Each space must be at least 2 feet by 6 feet in area and be accessible without moving another 

bicycle. 

2. An aisle at least 5 feet wide shall be maintained behind all required bicycle parking to allow 

room for bicycle maneuvering. Where the bicycle parking is 

adjacent to a sidewalk, the maneuvering area may extend into the right-of- way. 

3. When bicycle parking is provided in racks, there must be enough space between the rack 

and any obstructions to use the space properly. 

4. Bicycle lockers or racks, when provided, shall be securely anchored. 

5. Bicycle parking shall be located within 30 feet of the main entrance to the building or inside a 

building, in a location that is easily accessible for bicycles. For multi-tenant developments, 

with multiple business entrances, bicycle parking may be distributed on-site among more than 

one main entrance. 

Response: Space requirements per items 1 thru 5 above have been met and are detailed in the plans 
 

C. Long-term Bicycle Parking 

1. Long-term bicycle parking provides employees, students, residents, commuters, and 

others who generally stay at a site for several hours a weather-protected place to park 

bicycles. 

2. For a proposed multi-family residential, retail, office, or institutional development, or for a 

park and ride or transit center, where six (6) or more bicycle parking spaces are required 



 21

pursuant to Table 5, 50% of the bicycle parking shall be developed as long-term, secure spaces. 

Required long-term bicycle parking shall meet the following standards: 

a. All required spaces shall meet the standards in subsection (B.) above, and must be covered in 

one of the following ways: inside buildings, under roof overhangs or permanent awnings, in 

bicycle lockers, or within or under other structures. 

b. All spaces must be located in areas that are secure or monitored (e.g., visible to 

employees, monitored by security guards, or in public view). 

c. Spaces are not subject to the locational criterion of (B.)(5.). 

Response:   All parking is under coverof the entrance canopy and at a ratio that complies with Table 5. See 

Site Plans 

 

Section 4.430. Location, Design and Access Standards for mixed Solid Waste and Recycling Areas 

(.02) Location Standards: 

A. To encourage its use, the storage area for source separated recyclables shall be co-located with the storage 

area for residual mixed solid waste. 

Response:  Proposed storage area is designed to contain all of the above in order to meet this criterion.    

B. Indoor and outdoor storage areas shall comply with International Building and Fire Code requirements. 

Response: All building areas are professionally designed to comply with applicable building codes. 

C. Storage area space requirements can be satisfied with a single location or multiple locations and can 

combine with both interior and exterior locations. 

Response:  A single exterior storage area has been provided which meets this criterion.  See Site Plan . 

D. Exterior storage areas can be located within interior side yard or rear yard areas.  Minimum setback shall 

be three (3) feet. Exterior storage areas shall not be located within a required front yard setback, including 

double frontage lots. 

Response: A 'WAIVER' is being requested for this criterion. Applicant is requesting storage area be located in 

the required front yard setback area. See Attached' Waiver - 01' 

E. Exterior storage areas shall be located in central and visible locations on a site to enhance security for 

users. 

Response: Storage area is located centrally and well lighted to meet this criterion. 

C. Exterior storage areas can be located in a parking area if the proposed use provides at least the minimum 

number of parking spaces required for the use after deducting the area used for storage.  Storage areas 

shall be appropriately screened according to the provisions of Section 4.430 (.03), below.  

Response:  Storage area is screened and parking is not affected. 

G. The storage area shall be accessible for collection vehicles and located so that the storage area will not 

obstruct pedestrian or vehicle traffic movement on the site or on public streets adjacent to the site. 

Response: Storage area has been located for ideal conditions regarding access by provider with no  interference to 

traffic in order to meet this criterion.  See Site Plan  

 

(.03) Design Standards. 

Response:  Items A, B, and D of this section are not applicable as they are not provided by nor  controlled by 

the applicant.  

C. Exterior storage areas shall be enclosed by a sight obscuring fence, wall or hedge at least six (6) feet in 

height.  Gate openings for haulers shall be a minimum of ten (10) feet wide and shall be capable of being 



 22

secured in a closed or open position.  In no case shall exterior storage areas be located in conflict with the 

vision clearance requirements of Section 4.177. 

Response:  Storage areas are constructed of concrete walls on three (3) sides and provided with sight 

 obscuring gates for hauler and employee access.  Enclosure is 12 feet deep x 16 feet  in  width to 

meet this criterion.  See Architectural Site Detail Sheet. 

 (.04) Access Standards. 

Response:  Criterions A, B, and C of this section have been meet as described in section (.02) above.   See 

also Site Plan. 

 

Section 4.430. On-site Pedestrian Access and circulation 
 

(.01) On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
 

A. The purpose of this section is to implement the pedestrian access and connectivity policies of the 

Transportation System Plan. It is intended to provide for safe, reasonably direct, and convenient 

pedestrian access and circulation. 
 

B. Standards. Development shall conform to all of the following standards: 

1. Continuous Pathway System. A pedestrian pathway system shall extend throughout the 

development site and connect to adjacent sidewalks, and to all future phases of the development, 

as applicable. 

Response: Pedestrian access way has been provided - See Site Plan 

2. Safe, Direct, and Convenient. Pathways within developments shall provide safe, reasonably 

direct, and convenient connections between primary building entrances and all adjacent parking 

areas, recreational areas/playgrounds, and public rights-of-way and crosswalks based on all of 

the following criteria: 

a. Pedestrian pathways are designed primarily for pedestrian safety and convenience, meaning 

they are free from hazards and provide a reasonably smooth and consistent surface 

Response: Paths as provided comply - See Site Plan 

b. The pathway is reasonably direct. A pathway is reasonably direct when it follows a route 

between destinations that does not involve a significant amount of unnecessary out-of-

direction travel. 

Response:  Path is direct - see Site Plan 

c. The pathway connects to all primary building entrances and is consistent with the 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements. 

Response: As part of the connection to the public way path must conform to ADA Standards 

d. All parking lots larger than three acres in size shall provide an internal bicycle and pedestrian 

pathway pursuant to Section 4.155(.03)(B.)(3.)(d.). 

Response: Not Applicable 

3. Vehicle/Pathway Separation.  Except as required for crosswalks, per subsection 4, below, where 

a pathway abuts a driveway or street it shall be vertically or horizontally separated from the 

vehicular lane. For example, a pathway may be vertically raised six inches above the abutting 

travel lane, or horizontally separated by a row of bollards. 

Response: Pathways except at crosswalks are raised a minimum of 6" above adjacent surface 

4. Crosswalks. Where a pathway crosses a parking area or driveway, it shall be clearly marked with 

contrasting paint or paving materials (e.g., pavers, light- color concrete inlay between asphalt, or 

similar contrast). 

Response: Crosswalk is marked - See Site Plan 



 23

5. Pathway Width and Surface. Primary pathways shall be constructed of concrete, asphalt, 

brick/masonry pavers, or other durable surface, and not less than five (5) feet wide. Secondary 

pathways and pedestrian trails may have an alternative surface except as otherwise required by the 

ADA. 

Response: Pathway is hard surfaced 

6. All pathways shall be clearly marked with appropriate standard signs. 

Response: No signage required due to easy recognition 

Section 4.199. Outdoor lighting 
 

 Section 4.199.30 

(.02) The Lighting Zones shall be: 
 
 

A. LZ 2.  Low-density suburban neighborhoods and suburban commercial districts, industrial parks and 

districts. This zone is intended to be the default condition for the majority 

of the City.  
 

 Section 4.199.40 
 

(.01) Non-Residential Uses and Common Residential Areas. 
 

A. All outdoor lighting shall comply with either the Prescriptive Option or the Performance 

Option below. 
 

B. Prescriptive Option. If the lighting is to comply with this Prescriptive Option, the installed lighting 

shall meet all of the following requirements according to the designated Lighting Zone. 

1. The maximum luminaire lamp wattage and shielding shall comply with Table 7. 

2. Except for those exemptions listed in Section 4.199.20(.02), the exterior lighting for the 

site shall comply with the Oregon Energy Efficiency Specialty Code, Exterior Lighting. 

3. The maximum pole or mounting height shall be consistent with Table 8. 

4. Each luminaire shall be set back from all property lines at least 3 times the mounting height of 

the luminaire: 

Response: N/A - Not Used  

 

C. Performance Option. If the lighting is to comply with the Performance Option, the proposed 

lighting design shall be submitted by the applicant for approval by the City meeting all of the 

following: 

1. The weighted average percentage of direct uplight lumens shall be less than the allowed 

amount per Table 9. 

2. The maximum light level at any property line shall be less than the values in Table 9, as evidenced 

by a complete photometric analysis including horizontal illuminance of the site and vertical 

illuminance on the plane facing the site up to the mounting height of the luminaire mounted 

highest above grade. The Building Official or designee may accept a photometric test report, 

demonstration or sample, or other satisfactory confirmation that the luminaire meets the shielding 

requirements of Table 7. Luminaires shall not be mounted so as to permit aiming or use in any 

way other than the manner maintaining the shielding classification required herein: 

a. Exception 1. If the property line abuts a public right-of-way, including a sidewalk or street, 

the analysis may be performed across the street at the adjacent property line to the right-of-

way. 

b. Exception 2.  If, in the opinion of the Building Official or designee, compliance is impractical 

due to unique site circumstances such as lot size or shape, topography, or size or shape of 

building, which are circumstances not typical of the general conditions of the surrounding 

 



 24

area. The Building Official may impose conditions of approval to avoid light trespass to the 

maximum extent possible and minimize any additional negative impacts resulting to abutting 

and adjacent parcels, as well as public rights-of-way, based on best lighting practices and 

available lighting technology. 

Response: Project Complies and will be using this method - see Site Lighting Plan Sheet SL1  

 

3. The maximum pole or mounting height shall comply with Table 8 

Response: See Sheet L1 - Sight Lighting Plan for heights as allowed by table. 

 
 

(.02) Special Permit for Specific Lighting Fixtures and Systems and When Exceeding Lighting 

Requirements. 

Response: Not applicable  

 
Section 4.199.50 Submittal Requirements 

 
 

(.01) Applicants shall submit the following information as part of DRB review or administrative review of 
new commercial, industrial, multi-family or public facility projects: 

 

A. A statement regarding which of the lighting methods will be utilized, prescriptive or performance, 

and a map depicting the lighting zone(s) for the property. 

Response: See above performance Optinc 
 

B. A site lighting plan that clearly indicates intended lighting by type and location. 

  For adjustable luminaires, the aiming angles or coordinates shall be shown. 

Response: See lighting plan 
 

C. For each luminaire type, drawings, cut sheets or other documents containing specifications for the 

intended lighting including but not limited to, luminaire description, mounting, mounting height, 

lamp type and manufacturer, lamp watts, ballast, optical system/distribution, and accessories such as 

shields. 

Response: See lighting plan 
 

D. Calculations demonstrating compliance with Oregon Energy Efficiency Specialty Code, 

Exterior Lighting, as modified by Section 4.199.40(.01)(B.)(2.) [Amended by Ord. 688, 

11/15/10] 
Response: See lighting plan 

E. Lighting plans shall be coordinated with landscaping plans so that pole lights and trees are not placed 

in conflict with one another. The location of lights shall be shown on the landscape plan. Generally, 

pole lights should not be placed within one pole length of landscape and parking lot trees. 

Response: See lighting plan 
 

F. Applicants shall identify the hours of lighting curfew. 

G. Response: See lighting plan 

 
 

(.02) In addition to the above submittal requirements, Applicants using the Prescriptive Method shall submit 

the following information as part of the permit set plan review: 
 

A.  A site lighting plan (items 1 A - F, above) which indicates for each luminaire the 3 mounting height line to 

demonstrate compliance with the setback requirements. For luminaires mounted within 3 mounting heights of the 

property line the compliance exception or special shielding requirements shall be clearly indicated. 

Response: N/A 

 
 



 25

(.03) In addition to the above submittal requirements, Applicants using the Performance Method shall submit 

the following information as part of the permit set plan review: 
 

A. Site plan showing horizontal isocandle lines, or the output of a point-by-point computer calculation 

of the horizontal illumination of the site, showing property lines and light levels immediately off of 

the subject property. 

Response: See lighting plan 
 

B. For each side of the property, the output of a point-by-point vertical footcandle calculation 

showing illumination in the vertical plane at the property line from grade to at least 10 feet higher 

than the height of the tallest pole. 

Response: See lighting plan 
 

C. Lighting plans shall be prepared by a qualified licensed engineer. 
 

Response: See lighting plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 26

 

 

 

I-5 Corporate Park 

Building W-3 
SW Parkway Avenue 

Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 

 

'WAIVER #01' 
(Section 4.430. (.02), D - 'Location of Waste Recycle in Front Yard Setback) 

 
 

Section 4.140. Planned Development Regulations. 
 

(.01) Purpose . 
 

A.  (NOT  APPLICABLE). 
 

B. It is the further purpose of the following Section: 

1. To take advantage of advances in technology, architectural design, and functional land use 

design:  

(N/A Not Applicable) 

2. To recognize the problems of population density, distribution and circulation and to allow a 
deviation from rigid established patterns of land uses, but controlled by defined policies and 

objectives detailed in the comprehensive plan; 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

3. To produce a comprehensive development equal to or better than that resulting from 

traditional lot land use development. 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

4. To permit flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open spaces, 

circulation facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently utilize potentials of 

sites characterized by special features of geography, topography, size or shape or characterized 

by problems of flood hazard, severe soil limitations, or other hazards; 

The proposed location provides for a more centralized location which is well lighted 

and viewable for security. Alternative would be towards the back of the building out of 

site and not easily located.l  

5. To permit flexibility in the height of buildings while maintaining a ratio of site area to dwelling 

units that is consistent with the densities established by the Comprehensive Plan and the intent of 

the Plan to provide open space, outdoor living area and buffering of low-density development. 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

6. To allow development only where necessary and adequate services and facilities are available or 

provisions have been made to provide these services and facilities. 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

7. To permit mixed uses where it can clearly be demonstrated to be of benefit to the users and can be 

shown to be consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan. 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

8. To allow flexibility and innovation in adapting to changes in the economic and technological 

climate. 



 27

 

 

I-5 Corporate Park 

Building W-3 
SW Parkway Avenue 

Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 

 

'WAIVER #02' 
(Section 4.135. (.06), D - 'Rear and Side Yard Setback) 

 

Section 4.140. Planned Development Regulations. 
 

(.01) Purpose . 
 

A.  (NOT  APPLICABLE). 
 

B. It is the further purpose of the following Section: 

1. To take advantage of advances in technology, architectural design, and functional land use 

design:  

(N/A Not Applicable) 

2. To recognize the problems of population density, distribution and circulation and to allow a 
deviation from rigid established patterns of land uses, but controlled by defined policies and 

objectives detailed in the comprehensive plan; 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

3. To produce a comprehensive development equal to or better than that resulting from 

traditional lot land use development. 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

4. To permit flexibility of design in the placement and uses of buildings and open spaces, 

circulation facilities and off-street parking areas, and to more efficiently utilize potentials of 

sites characterized by special features of geography, topography, size or shape or characterized 

by problems of flood hazard, severe soil limitations, or other hazards; 

The required Setback along the North property line (side yard) is 30 feet. This 

development proposes a 20 foot setback to allow the Loading Dock portion of the 

building to be located as far to the east as possible and better allows for  the separation 

of the truck loading area from pedestrians and auto parking.  

5. To permit flexibility in the height of buildings while maintaining a ratio of site area to dwelling 
units that is consistent with the densities established by the Comprehensive Plan and the intent of 

the Plan to provide open space, outdoor living area and buffering of low-density development. 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

6. To allow development only where necessary and adequate services and facilities are available or 

provisions have been made to provide these services and facilities. 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

7. To permit mixed uses where it can clearly be demonstrated to be of benefit to the users and can be 

shown to be consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan. 

(N/A Not Applicable) 

8. To allow flexibility and innovation in adapting to changes in the economic and technological 

climate. 

 



swhite
Stamp











FF = 227.80

CONSERVATION ZONE

BOUNDARY

EXISTING FENCELINE

SAWCUT LINE

227.78

AT MAN DOOR

(TYPICA)

225.76

AC (VERIFY)

227.79

AT ENTRY

226.95

CONC

225.88

AC

226.67

CONC

224.00

AC (VERIFY)

224.00

AC (VERIFY)

-
8
.
2
%

-

6

.

3

%

-
2

.
0

%

-2.0%

-2.0%

-

1

.

8

%

-3.7%

-

1

.

9

%

-

1

.

0

%

-

4

.

0

%

-

2

.

4

%

-

3

.

1

%

-2.2%

-

0

.
3

%

-
2
.
8
%

-
1
.
3
%

-
0
.
9
%

-
1
.
8
%

-

1

.

7

%

TYP.

H

P

HP

H

P

-
8
.
3
%

AREA OF WORK

-SEE "SITE GRADING

PLAN" THIS SHEET

2
0
1
3
0
6
6
3

M
A

R
C

H
 
2
0
1
4

1. PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION, LOCATIONS OF EXISTING UTILITIES SHALL BE

VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR.  WHEN ACTUAL CONDITIONS DIFFER FROM THOSE

SHOWN ON THE PLANS, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE ENGINEER PRIOR TO

PROCEEDING WITH CONSTRUCTION.

2. CONTRACTOR TO LEAVE ALL AREAS OF PROJECT FREE OF DEBRIS AND UNUSED

CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE ALL MATERIALS, EQUIPMENT, SURVEYING, TESTING,

PERSONNEL, TRAFFIC SAFETY CONTROL AND AS-BUILTS FOR ALL PHASES OF

CONSTRUCTION.

4. PROPERTY LINE BEARINGS AND DISTANCES AS WELL AS SITE AREA CALCULATIONS

ARE PROVIDED FOR ZONING AND PERMIT REVIEW ONLY.  REAL PROPERTY LEGAL

DESCRIPTIONS AND AREA CALCULATIONS ARE TO BE PROVIDED BY A REGISTERED

PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR.

5. CONTRACTOR SHALL INSPECTIONS WITH THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE.

6. PROPERTY CORNER SURVEY MONUMENTS, WHICH ARE IN DANGER OF BEING

DISTURBED OR DESTROYED BY THE WORK OF THIS PROJECT, SHALL BE TIED-OUT

BY A REGISTERED PROFESSIONAL SURVEYOR PRIOR TO THE BEGINNING OF ANY

CONSTRUCTION, AND SHALL BE RE-SET IN ACCORDANCE WITH STATE LAW,

IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE COMPLETION OF ALL CONSTRUCTION.

1. ALL NEW CONTOURS SHOWN ARE FINISH GRADES, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. ORGANIC AND UNDESIRABLE MATERIAL SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE CONSTRUCTION

AREA AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER.

3. ALL DISTURBED AREAS NOT LANDSCAPED ARE TO BE HYDROSEEDED OR BEDDED IN

STRAW TO PREVENT EROSION.  SEE EROSION CONTROL PLAN, SHEET C3.0

4. ALL FILL AREAS SHALL BE STRIPPED OF ORGANIC MATERIAL.  FILL WILL BE PLACED IN 6 TO

8-INCH LIFTS AND COMPACTED TO 95 PERCENT RELATIVE MAXIMUM  DENSITY ACCORDING

TO ASTM D-1557 STANDARDS.  BASE ROCK IN THE PAVED  AREAS WILL BE COMPACTED TO

95% ASTM D-1557.  LANDSCAPED AREAS WILL  BE COMPACTED TO 90 PERCENT.

ADDITIONAL COMPACTION TESTS MAY BE REQUIRED BY THE CITY OR THE ENGINEER OF

RECORD, IF POOR COMPACTION EFFORTS ARE OBSERVED DURING CONSTRUCTION.

COMPACTION REPORTS FROM A REPUTABLE TESTING LAB WILL BE SUPPLIED TO THE

ENGINEER.

GENERAL NOTES

GRADING NOTES

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION (FDC)

GATE VALVE

CHECK VALVE

UTILITY POLE

LIGHT POLE

TRANSFORMER

WALL MOUNTED LIGHT

VALVE BOX COVER

TRANSFORMER AND PAD

UTILITY VAULT

FIRE HYDRANT (FH)

MANHOLE (MH)

CATCH BASIN (CB) -OR- AREA DRAIN (AD)

METER

NEW.EXISTING

GENERAL SYMBOLS

POST INDICATOR VALVE

CLEAN OUT (CO)

C.O.C.O.

NEW ASPHALT PAVING AS NOTED

CB CATCH BASIN

MH MANHOLE

BC BOTTOM OF CURB

TC TOP OF CURB

B.M. BENCH MARK

EL ELEVATION

PROVIDE STAKE.

NEW CONTOUR LINE

EXISTING CONTOUR LINE

144

142.84

143.40

EXISTING SPOT ELEVATION

NEW SPOT ELEVATION

ASPHALT CONCRETEAC

AREA DRAINAD

HIGH POINTH.P.

T.O.W. TOP OF WALL

GB GRADE BREAK

EXTG EXISTING

1
4
0

GRADING SYMBOLS

SITE KEY PLAN

E

S

W

100 0 100 200 300

1" = 100'

SITE GRADING PLAN

E

S

W

20 0 20 40 60

1" = 20'

S
I
T

E
 
G

R
A

D
I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

C1.0

G:
\A

ca
d2

01
3\2

01
30

66
3\_

Dr
aw

ing
s\0

1-
C1

.0-
Si

te 
Gr

ad
ing

 P
lan

.dw
g, 

5/2
2/2

01
4 3

:01
:56

 P
M



FF = 227.80

CONSERVATION ZONE

BOUNDARY

EXISTING FENCELINE

CB 3

RIM 223.80

IE 222.71

CB 2

RIM 226.25

IE 224.25

STUB DOMESTIC &

FIRE WATER FOR

BUILDING SERVICE

CONNECTIONS

NEW DOMESTIC METER

AND DC ASSY.

NEW DCDA & FDC FOR

FIRE WATER SERVICE

CONNECT SANITARY LATERAL

AT EXISTING MANHOLE

RIM 225.29

10" FL IE 220.59 (VERIFY)

6"IE 221.09

STUB SAN FOR

BUILDING SERVICE

CONNECTION

6"IE 221.95

CONNECT TO EXISTING

STM SEWER

10" IE 221.57 (VERIFY)

10"STM

S=0.0050

6

"

S

A

N

S

=

0

.
0

1

0

8
"
S

T
M

S
=

0
.
0
0
5
0

8
"
S

T
M

S
=

0
.
0
0
5
0

1

 

1

/

2

"

 

D

W

6

"

 

F

W

8
"
S

T
M

S
=

0
.
0
0
5
0

8
"
S

T
M

S
=

0
.
0
0
5
0

CB 1

RIM 226.40

IE 224.40

EXISTING STM PIPE

AND CATCH BASINS

TO BE REMOVED

2
0
1
3
0
6
6
3

M
A

R
C

H
 
2
0
1
4

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION (FDC)

GATE VALVE

CHECK VALVE

UTILITY POLE

LIGHT POLE

TRANSFORMER

WALL MOUNTED LIGHT

VALVE BOX COVER

TRANSFORMER AND PAD

UTILITY VAULT

FIRE HYDRANT (FH)

MANHOLE (MH)

CATCH BASIN (CB) -OR- AREA DRAIN (AD)

METER

NEW.EXISTING

GENERAL SYMBOLS

POST INDICATOR VALVE

CLEAN OUT (CO)

C.O.C.O.

SITE UTILITY PLAN

E

S

W

20 0 20 40 60

1" = 20'

S
I
T

E
 
U

T
I
L

I
T

Y
 
P

L
A

N

C2.0

1. INSTALLATION OF THE UNDERGROUND FIRE LINE TO BE INSTALLED AS PER 2007 EDITION OF NFPA 24 OR "PER

LATEST EDITION ADOPTED BY JURISDICTION".

2. ALL BEDDING AND BACKFILLING MATERIAL AND INSTALLATION SHALL MEET THE PIPING MANUFACTURER'S

SPECIFICAION REQUIREMENTS, ALONG WITH A MINIMUM DEPTH OF BURIAL.

3. WHEN FIRE PROTECTION, INCLUDING FIRE APPARATUS ACCESS ROADS AND WATER SUPPLIES FOR FIRE

PROTECTION, IS REQUIRED TO BE INSTALLED, SUCH PROTECTION SHALL BE INSTALLED AND MADE

SERVICEABLE PRIOR TO AND MAINTAINED THROUGHOUT THE TIME OF CONSTRUCTION.  THIS INCLUDES FIELD

INSPECTIONS, FLUSHING AND TESTING, AND FULL APPROVAL OF ALL FIRE LINES AND FIRE HYDRANTS.  UFC

901.3

4. A FIRE FLOW TEST SHALL BE MADE AT A NEW FIRE HYDRANT TO VERIFY WATER SUPPLY OF 1500 GPM AT 20 PSI

AS A MINIMUM AND MINIMUM AS PER FLOW WORKSHEETS.  THIS SHOULD BE DONE IN THE LATE SUMMER AT

THE PEAK DAILY DEMAND PERIOD.

5. A "CONTRACTOR'S MATERIALS AND TESTING" - "CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE" WILL BE REQUIRED FOR BOTH

THE ABOVE GROUND AND UNDERGROUND PIPING OF THE FIRE SPRINKLER PROTECTION SYSTEMS.    SAMPLES

OF THE FORMS MAY BE OBTAINED IN FIGURE 8-1 (a) AND (b),  1997 UBC STANDARDS 9-1, VOLUME 3, PAGES 181

AND 183.

UTILITY SYMBOLS

GAS - EXISTING

TELEPHONE - NEW

TELEPHONE - EXISTING

CATCH BASIN

INVERT ELEVATION

DOMESTIC WATER - NEW

SANITARY - EXISTING

SANITARY - NEW

STORM - EXIST

STORM - NEW

WATER - NEW

ELECTRICAL - EXISTING

ELECTRICAL - NEW

E

GAS - NEW

MANHOLE

CLEAN OUT

WATER - EXISTING

AREA DRAIN

FIRE WATER - NEW

G

G

T

T

C.O.

W

W

E

SA

ST

ST

AD

CB

MH

IE

FW

DW

SA

FDC SERVICE LINE - NEWFDC

EXISTINGEXTG

1. BEDDING AND PIPE ZONE BACKFILL SHALL BE PER "PIPE TRENCH EMBEDMENT" DETAIL, SHEET C2.1.

2. ATTENTION EXCAVATORS :  OREGON LAW REQUIRES YOU TO FOLLOW RULES ADOPTED BY THE OREGON UTILITY

NOTIFICATION CENTER.  THOSE RULES ARE SET FORTH IN OAR952-001-0010 THROUGH OAR 952-001-0090. YOU MAY

OBTAIN COPIES OF THESE RULES FROM THE CENTER BY CALLING 811 OR 1-800-332-2344. IF YOU HAVE ANY

QUESTIONS ABOUT THE RULES, YOU MAY CONTACT THE CALL CENTER.  YOU MUST NOTIFY THE CENTER AT LEAST

2 BUSINESS DAYS, BUT NOT MORE THAN 10 BUSINESS DAYS, BEFORE COMMENCING AN EXCAVATION.  CALL 811 OR

1-800-332-2344.

3. ALL SANITARY DRAINAGE, RAIN DRAIN AND STORM SEWER PIPING INSTALLED WITHIN 5-FT OF THE OUTSIDE OF THE

BUILDING SHALL BE CAST IRON, SCHEDULE 40 ABS-D.W.V., SCHEDULE 40 PVC-D.W.V. OR OTHER MATERIAL AS

APPROVED BY THE OREGON AMENDMENTS TO THE UNIFORM PLUMBING CODE.

4. PRIVATE SANITARY SEWER, DENOTED "SAN" OR "SA", SHALL BE PVC 3034 OR APPROVED EQUAL IN ACCORDANCE

WITH PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS.   USE PVC C900 OR CL52 DIP WHERE COVER IS LESS THAN 15-INCHES FROM PIPE

CROWN TO PAVED SURFACE.

5. PRIVATE STORM SEWER LINES, DENOTED "STM" OR "ST", SHALL BE PVC 3034, PVC C900, PVC C905, HDPE, CL52 DIP

OR APPROVED EQUIVALENT, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS.

6. ALL DOMESTIC AND FIRE WATER SERVICE LINES OUTSIDE OF THE BUILDING DENOTED "DW", "FW", "FDC" SHALL BE

SCHEDULE 40 PVC OR PVC C900 CL150 UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH PROJECT

SPECIFICATIONS..

7. CONCRETE THRUST BLOCKING AND/OR "MEGA-LUG" RESTRAINTS SHALL BE PROVIDED AT ALL WATERLINE

FITTINGS AS REQUIRED BY THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE.  BLOCKING SHALL BE POURED AGAINST UNDISTURBED

EARTH AND CLEAR OF JOINT ACCESSORIES.  BEARING AREA OF THRUST BLOCK SHALL BE  COMPUTED ON THE

BASIS OF ALLOWABLE SOIL BEARING PRESSURE. SEE DETAIL SHEET C2.1.

8. CONTRACTORS SHALL CONTACT CITY OF WILSONVILLE PUBLIC WORKS AT LEAST 2 BUSINESS DAYS, BUT NOT

MORE THAN 10 BUSINESS DAYS, BEFORE COMMENCING AN EXCAVATION.  CALL (___) ___-____.

9. MINIMUM COVER OVER WATERLINES IS TO BE 36 INCHES AS MEASURED FROM FINISH GRADE TO TOP OF PIPE.

MINIMUM VERTICAL SEPARATION BETWEEN WATERLINE AND SANITARY SEWER AT A CROSSING IS 18 INCHES.

SANITARY SEWER AT WATERLINE CROSSINGS WITH LESS THAN THE MINIMUM VERTICAL SEPARATION SHALL BE

CONSTRUCTED OF DUCTILE IRON PIPE WITH WATERTIGHT JOINTS.  IN SUCH CASES THE 18-FOOT LENGTH OF

SANITARY SEWER SHALL BE CENTERED AT THE CROSSING.

10. PRIOR TO BEING PLACED IN SERVICE, THE WATERLINE AND SERVICES SHALL BE FLUSHED, STERILIZED, AND

RE-FLUSHED, ALL IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE "PUBLIC WORKS CONSTRUCTION CODE." CITY

CREWS WILL TAKE BACTERIOLOGICAL TESTS WHEN SO REQUESTED BY THE CONTRACTOR INSTALLING WATER

MAINS. THE REQUEST FOR THESE TESTS SHALL BE MADE THROUGH THE CITY INSPECTOR.

11. HORIZONTAL STORM AND SANITARY DRAINAGE PIPE SHALL BE PROVIDED WITH A CLEANOUT AT ITS UPPER

TERMINAL AND EACH RUN OF PIPING, WHICH IS MORE THAN 100' IN TOTAL DEVELOPED LENGTH, SHALL BE

PROVIDED WITH A CLEANOUT FOR EACH 100', OR FRACTION THEREOF, IN LENGTH OF SUCH PIPING. AN ADDITIONAL

CLEANOUT SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR EACH AGGREGATE HORIZONTAL CHANGE OF DIRECTION EXCEEDING 135

DEGREES. THE MAXIMUM DISTANCE ALLOWED BETWEEN MANHOLES IS 300'. ALL REQUIRED CLEANOUTS MAY NOT

BE LOCATED ON PLAN.

12. THE MINIMUM HORIZONTAL SEPARATION BETWEEN SEWER LINES & PUBLIC WATER LINES SHALL BE 10-FT.

13. PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION, ALL ON-SITE FIRE WATER SYSTEM LINE SIZES, METER SIZES, DOUBLE CHECK

DETECTOR ASSEMBLY (DCDA) SIZES, AND OTHER APPURTENANCES SHOWN ON THE UTILITY PLAN SHALL BE

VERIFIED BY THE FIRE PROTECTION ENGINEER FOR THE PROJECT.  ANALYSIS OF THE SYSTEM SHALL BE FROM

THE NEW FACILITY SERVICE TO THE POINT OF CONNECTION WITH THE PUBLIC WATER SYSTEM.  THE MAKES AND

MODELS OF ALL SYSTEM COMPONENTS SHALL BE ACCEPTABLE PER WATER DISTRICT LIST OF APPROVED

COMPONENTS.

UTILITY NOTES

FIRE PROTECTION NOTES

G:
\A

ca
d2

01
3\2

01
30

66
3\_

Dr
aw

ing
s\0

1-
C2

.0-
Si

te 
Ut

ilit
y P

lan
.dw

g, 
5/2

2/2
01

4 3
:04

:06
 P

M



FF = 227.80

7'x7'x1' DEEP CONCRETE WASH-OUT

PIT PER D.E.Q. STANDARDS.

DO NOT OVERFILL PIT.

PIT SHALL BE BURIED WHEN

CONSTRUCTION IS COMPLETE.

SEE DETAIL SHEET C3.1

DISTURBED AREA : 66,069 SQ FT (1.517  AC)

CATCH BASIN INSERT BAG

-PER DETAIL SHEET C3.1

(TYPICAL)

SEDIMENT FENCE

-PER DETAIL SHEET C3.1

(TYPICAL)

CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

-PER DETAIL SHEET C3.1

(TYPICAL)

2
0
1
3
0
6
6
3

M
A

R
C

H
 
2
0
1
4

E
R

O
S

I
O

N
 
&

 
S

E
D

I
M

E
N

T
 
C

O
N

T
R

O
L

 
P

L
A

N

C3.0

EROSION & SEDIMENT CONTROL PLAN

E

S

W

20 0 20 40 60

1" = 20'

SEDIMENT FENCE

BIOFILTER BAG INLET BARRIER

AREA DRAIN WITH INSERT BAG

ENTRANCE

GRAVEL CONSTRUCTION

PRE-DEV. DRAINAGE FLOW ARROW

ESC PLAN LEGEND

POST-DEV. DRAINAGE FLOW ARROW

CONCRETE TRUCK WASH OUT PIT

GROUND COVER SEED MIX AREAS

VEGETATED BUFFER ZONE AREAS

LIMITS OF DISTURBED AREA

City of Wilsonville Erosion and Sediment Control Notes

1. Responsible party. The property  owner or designee shall be responsible for proper installation, maintenance and removal of all erosion and sediment control (ESC) measures, in

accordance with the City of Wilsonville, state, and federal regulations.

2. Installation of ESC measures prior to clearing & grading. The ESC measures shown in these plans shall be constructed and approved by the City's authorized representative prior to

clearing and grading activities, and in such a manner as to ensure that sediment and sediment laden water does not enter the drainage system, roadways, or violate applicable stormwater

discharge standards.

3. Inspections. Initial and final ESC inspections are required.  The City's 24 hour Building/ESC inspection number is (503) 682-4159.  All calls requesting inspections that are received by

7:00 A.M. shall be inspected by the end of the day the call was received (no inspections Saturday, Sunday, or Holidays).  Tree protection shall be installed, inspected and approved by a

Planning Department representative before any ESC measures are placed. The initial ESC inspection shall not occur until tree protection measured are inspected and approved.

The Property owner or designee shall remove ESC measures, establish permanent groundcover on all exposed soils; clean and remove trash, construction waste and sediment deposits

before receiving a final ESC inspection approval.  (Solely straw or plastic sheeting is not permanent ground cover.)

4. Daily inspection. The ESC measures shall be inspected daily by the property owner or designee and maintained as necessary to ensure proper functioning.  All ESC measures

requiring maintenance or repair shall be completed immediately.

5. State 1200-C (DEQ) and 1200-CN (City) permits. If a site requires an Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) 1200-C permit for disturbing five acres or more, an approved

copy of the 1200-C shall be submitted to the City's authorized representative before any clearing or grading shall be allowed to proceed.  Construction activities including clearing, grading,

excavation, and stockpiling that will disturb five (5) or more acres and that may discharge to surface waters or conveyance systems leading to surface waters of the state, require a DEQ

1200-C permit.

A DEQ 1200-C permit is also required for construction activities with a cumulative impact that will ultimately disturb five acres or more and which may discharge to surface waters or

conveyance systems leading to surface waters of the state. For construction activities that disturb five (5) or more acres, a public review process is required.

The property owner or designee is required to follow all 1200-C requirements and make the 1200-C permit available for review if requested by the City's authorized representative. The

DEQ 1200-C permits are obtained directly from DEQ.

A 1200-CN permit, for disturbing one to less than five acres, for automatically covered construction activities is issued by the City of Wilsonville for sites meeting applicable ordinance and

code requirements.

6. Code conformance .  The property owner or designee shall install, operate, and maintain adequate ESC measures in conformance with the standards adopted by the City of Wilsonville

Erosion Control Ordinance during the construction of any public utilities and private improvements , until such time as approved permanent vegetative materials have been installed.

The contractor shall read and be familiar with the City's Erosion Control standards and ODOT construction Erosion Control standards.  The contractor shall adhere to the more restrictive of the
two standard requirements when performing Public Works Projects, available at http://.ci.wilsonville.or.us/Index.aspx?page=61 or WWW.ci.wilsonville.or.us then … I want to tab> Download
Documents> Community Development Folder> Natural Resources Folder> Ordinance 482.

7. Scope of responsibility. The implementation of the approved ESC plan, including the installation, construction, maintenance, replacement, upgrading and removal of the ESC

measures are the responsibility of the property owner or designee until all construction is completed and approved, and all vegetation/landscaping is established.  The property owner or

designee shall be responsible for maintenance of the ESC measures until they relinquish ownership of the property.

8.  Erosion control.  No person shall create physical erosion by dragging, dropping, tracking, or otherwise placing or depositing, or permitting to be deposited, mud, dirt, rock, or other such

debris on a public street, or into any part of the public stormwater and surface water system, or into any part of a private stormwater and surface water system that drains or connects to the

public stormwater and surface water system.  Any such deposited material shall be immediately removed by hand labor or mechanical means.  No material shall be washed or flushed into

any part of the stormwater and surface water system until all mechanical means to remove the debris are exhausted and preventive sediment filtration is in place.   No discharge containing

visible solids is allowed.  All above ground treatment facilities (swales, ponds, etc.) shall be completed, inspected, and approved prior to any stormwater being allowed to enter facility .

9. Minimum requirements - upgrades & retrofits expected. The ESC measures depicted in these plans are considered minimum requirements for anticipated site conditions.  During the

construction period, these ESC measures shall be upgraded as needed for unexpected storm events and changes in construction activities.  At all times, ESC measures shall ensure that

sediment and sediment-laden water does not leave the construction site.

10. Clearing limits. The boundaries of the clearing limits depicted on the ESC plan shall be clearly marked in the field prior to clearing.  During the construction period, no disturbance

beyond the clearing limits shall be permitted.  The clearing limit markings shall be maintained by the property owner or designee for the duration of construction.

11. Toxic & hazardous materials. Any use of toxic or hazardous materials shall include proper storage, application, and disposal.  The property  owner or designee shall properly manage

hazardous wastes, used oils, contaminated soils, concrete waste, sanitary waste, liquid waste, or other toxic substances discovered or generated during construction.

12. On-site concrete truck wash area. The ESC plan shall designate specific areas for on-site washing of concrete trucks and the disposal of accumulated concrete waste.

13.  Securing of portable toilets. If required, the property owner or designee shall secure portable toilets, by cable or chain, to posts or stable anchor to prevent them from over-turning

and spilling.

14. Resources for ESC facility design & development.  The property owner or designee shall refer to the Clackamas County Water Environment Services most current version of the

“Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Planning and Design Manual,” available on line at http://www.clackamas.us/wes/designmanual.jsp  and the City of Wilsonville's “Erosion Control

Ordinance”.

15. Construction entrances. Stabilized gravel entrances, with subgrade reinforcement geotextile fabric, shall be installed and maintained for the duration of the project in conformance

with Detail S-2240.  Additional measures such as a wheel wash , in conformance with Detail S-2235, may be required to ensure that all paved areas are kept clean for the duration of the

project.  The construction entrance shall not block existing public accessible routes unless proper closures are approved by the City of Wilsonville Engineering authorized representative.

16. Protection of stormwater facilities, drains & inlets. Storm drain inlets, basins, and area drains shall be protected until completion of project.  Although there are a number of

approved measures for inlet protection, low flow siltsack inserts (no overflow) , in conformance with Detail S-2127, with biobags, in conformance with Detail S-2126, around curb inlets are

the preferred measures for inlet protection, where applicable.  Per DEQ requirements overflow silt sack inserts are not allowed.   Low flow siltsack inserts (no overflow) shall be used for

street inlets (unless inlet in curb).  All storm drain inlet protection measures located in public streets shall not create a hazard to vehicular traffic, bike or pedestrian traffic.  If required by the

City's authorized representative, a minimum of six (6) extra biobags shall be kept on site at all times for upgrading and repairs.

17. Cleaning sediment barriers. At no time shall sediment be allowed to accumulate more than 1/3 of barrier height.  Cleaning operations shall not allow sediment-laden water to be

intentionally washed into storm sewers, drainage ways or waterbodies.  Dry sweeping shall be used to clean up released sediments using appropriate dust control measures.

18. Permanent ground cover. Pavement surfaces and permanent vegetation are to be installed as soon as possible.  Impervious surfaces shall not be installed until stormwater detention

and water quality facilities have been constructed and approved by the City's authorized representative.

19. Seeding. Seeding shall be established only between March 1 through May 15 and September 1 through October 15 for each phase of construction. If an irrigation system is installed,

seeding may be established from March 1 through November 15.

20. Wet weather requirements. Exposed soils and un-vegetated surfaces not fully established by October 15, shall be subject to wet weather erosion prevention measures in effect

through April 30. For requirements, see Clackamas County Water Environment Services' most current version of “Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Planning and Design Manual,”

and the City of Wilsonville Erosion Control Ordinance. Any open ground (regardless of slope) is to be covered during the wet weather season if not under active construction (active

construction to be determined by the City's authorized representative).

21. Dust control.  During all phases of work the contractor shall take precautions to abate any dust nuisance.  Dust shall be minimized to the extent practicable and prevention measures

shall be continuous until final inspection by the City's authorized representative.   Additional measures for dust control, if required by the City's authorized representative, shall include at

least one (1) water truck on site at all times from June 1 to October 31.  In areas subject to wind erosion, appropriate BMP's must be used which may include the application of fine water

spraying, plastic sheeting, mulching, or other approved measures.

22. Use of straw. Solid straw bales are not to be used for any ESC measures.  Straw should only be used loose, to spread as temporary ground cover.  A minimum of two inches is to be

applied, covering all exposed soils (no visible soils).

23. Plans. All ESC plans shall include these City of Wilsonville Erosion and Sediment Control Notes , an appropriate erosion control legend and erosion control details, which are consistent

with the City of Wilsonville's Erosion and Sediment Control Notes (including Sediment Fence Notes).  Legend symbols are found in the Clackamas County Water Environment Services

“Erosion Prevention and Sediment Control Planning and Design Manual,” in Appendix A.  Erosion control details are also found at

http://www.ci.wilsonville.or.us/Index.aspx?page=404  or WWW.ci.wilsonville.or.us  then … City Hall> Community Development> Engineering> Public Works Standards and the “Erosion

Prevention and Sediment Control Planning and Design Manual”.

City of Wilsonville Sediment Fence Notes

1. Sediment Fence.  Filter fabric sediment fences shall be installed in conformance with Detail S-2245.

2. Stitched post loops. Standard or heavy duty filter fence shall have manufactured stitched post loops with stapled 2”x 2” x 4' posts for installation.  Stitched post loops shall be installed

on the uphill side of the sloped area.

3. Continuous run / construction of joints. The filter fabric shall be purchased in a continuous roll, and cut to length in the field to avoid the use of joints.  When joints are necessary,

connect silt fence ends by spinning 2”x 2” x 4' posts together two to three times and bury as one post.

4. Installation on contour / finish at termination points. The filter fence shall be installed to follow the contours where feasible.  The posts shall be spaced a maximum of six feet apart

and driven securely into the ground.  When sediment fence approaches its termination point, turn fence uphill and extend one (1) full panel (6 feet).

5. Burial of fabric. The filter fabric shall have a minimum vertical burial of six inches.  All excavated material from filter fabric fence installation shall be backfilled and compacted on both

sides of fence along the entire disturbed area.

6. Inspection. Filter fabric fences shall be inspected by property owner or designee immediately after each rainfall and at least daily during prolonged rainfall.  Any required repairs,

maintenance or needed upgrades shall be made immediately. If required by the City's authorized representative, a minimum of one (1) full roll of extra filter fabric fencing shall be on site at

all times for upgrading and repairs.

7. Removal. Filter fabric fences shall be removed when they have served their useful purpose, but not before the upslope area has been permanently protected and stabilized.

8. ESC protection behind curbs.  Installation of a ¾” - 0 crushed aggregate is the preferred ESC application where ground is exposed along existing curbing.

G:
\A

ca
d2

01
3\2

01
30

66
3\_

Dr
aw

ing
s\0

1-
C3

.0-
Er

os
ion

 C
on

tro
l P

lan
.dw

g, 
5/2

2/2
01

4 3
:05

:23
 P

M



2
0
1
3
0
5
1
0

M
A

R
C

H
 
2
0
1
4

  

 

: 

 

 

 

J
L
O

E
H



jenniferk
Typewritten Text

jenniferk
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 1.0

swhite
Stamp



jenniferk
Typewritten Text
Exhibit 2.0

swhite
Stamp



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Westmar Investments Development 
Wilsonville, Oregon 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

June 6, 2007 
 

GSI Project:  westmar-07-01-gi 

jenniferk
Typewritten Text
      

jenniferk
Typewritten Text

jenniferk
Typewritten Text
Exhbit 3.0

swhite
Stamp



 

1/8 
1112 7th Street, Oregon City, OR  97045  p 503.657.3487   f 503.722.9946 

June 6, 2007 westmar-07-01-gi 
 
 
Westmar Investments 
2731 77th Avenue SE, Suite 206 
Mercer Island, Washington 98040 
 jackmartinis@earthlink.net 
 
Attention: Jack Martin 
 

 
GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING REPORT 

New Facility - Wilsonville 
 
INTRODUCTION 
We are pleased to present this Geotechnical Engineering Report for the proposed new facilty in 
Wilsonville, Oregon.  The site occupies undeveloped areas north and east of the InFocus facility, with 
relatively flat terrain of primarily grass field with some forest along the northern and eastern margins.  
Two structures are planned, with a 3-story steel frame office building in the west and a 120,000 square 
foot one- to two-story flex-office on the east, and associated pavements and utilities.  Building loads are 
expected to be less than 300 kips for columns, 6 kips per foot for walls, and 500 psf for floors.  Cuts and 
fills are expected to be less than 4 feet for mass grading with utilities less than 15 feet. 
 
PURPOSE AND SCOPE 
The purpose of our work was to evaluate subsurface conditions at the site and provide geotechnical 
recommendations for design and construction of the proposed development. Our specific scope of 
services included the following:  
 

 Provide principal level project management including attending one meeting to review preliminary 
plans and overall project scope, and management of field and subcontracted services, report writing, 
analyses, and invoicing. 

 Review geologic maps and vicinity geotechnical information in our files as indicators of subsurface 
conditions. 

 Explore subsurface conditions by advancing 3 borings to depths of up to 36.5 feet, and 12 test pits 
to depths of up to 15 feet.   

 Classify the materials encountered in the explorations, and maintain detailed logs.  Complete SPT 
testing and sampling at 5 foot intervals in the borings. 

 Complete one falling head infiltration test in one test pit to evaluate shallow infiltration rates for 
storm systems. 

 Complete laboratory testing on select samples as necessary, including moisture and fines content as 
well as consolidation testing of a compressible sample.   

 Provide recommendations for earthwork including seasonal material usage, compaction criteria, 
utility trench backfill, and the need for subsurface drainage. 

 Provide recommendations for footing foundations, including embedment, bearing pressure, 
resistance to lateral loads, a seismic coefficient and the need for subsurface drainage. 

 Provide recommendations and for floor slab support. 
 Provide recommendations for cantilevered concrete retaining walls and/or embedded building walls, 

including lateral earth pressures, sliding coefficient, drainage, and backfill materials and compaction. 



June 6, 2007 westmar-07-01-gi 
 

2/8 
1112 7th Street, Oregon City, OR  97045  p 503.657.3487   f 503.722.9946 

 Provide recommended thicknesses for asphalt concrete pavements. 
 Provide a written report summarizing the results of our geotechnical evaluation. 

 
SITE OBSERVATIONS AND CONDITIONS 
Surface Conditions 
The site is bordered on the north by a grove of trees, on the west by SW Parkway, on the south by the 
InFocus facility, and on the east by a roadway and Xerox facility grounds.  The site surface is primarily 
vegetated with long grass and weeds, with a mixed forest to the east and southeast.  Topography is 
relatively flat, with a man-made drainage swale crossing the western portion of the site from north to 
south.  Thin gravel fill is present locally on the surface in the southern part of the site, and several 
monitoring wells with above ground monuments are present. 
 
Subsurface Conditions 
General – The site was explored on May 14, 2007 by completing 12 test pits (TP-1 through TP-12) to 
depths up to 15 feet, and on May 22 by completing 3 borings to depths of up to 36.5 feet.  Approximate 
exploration locations are shown on the attached Site Plan.  In general, subsurface conditions at the site 
consist of silt fill (where present) and topsoil, underlain by native sedimentary silt and residual silt with 
basalt at depth.  Descriptions of the soil encountered are presented below, with detailed subsurface 
conditions documented in the attached Test Pit Logs and Boring Logs. 
 
Topsoil – Topsoil was encountered in each of our explorations at the surface, and buried beneath fill.  
Topsoil thickness ranged from 0.3 to 0.9 feet, with a mean of 0.8 feet. 
 
Silt Fill - Silt fill was encountered in TP-2 and TP-3 to depths of up to 2 feet.  The fill was generally soft 
and contained organics. The moisture content of the silt fill from one test was 36%, and the organic 
content from one test was 7%.  
 
Brown Silt – This unit is present beneath fill and topsoil and is sedimentary, generally stiff, mottled and 
brown with trace to some sand.  Moisture contents ranged from 22% to 40% and plasticity was low.  
One consolidation test in boring B-2 at a depth of 8 feet indicated overconsolidation and a moderate 
compressibility.  
 
Gray Silt - Gray sedimentary silt was encountered below the brown silt unit at depths of 8 to 14 feet, 
extending to depths of 17 to 27 feet.  This unit was generally medium stiff, wet, and layered.  Sand 
content ranged from some sand to sandy, and the unit is generally non-plastic.  Moderate caving was 
generally observed below seepage, with flowing conditions and severe caving associated with higher sand 
content in test pits TP-3 and TP-4.  Moisture contents in this unit ranged from 30 to 47%.  Higher 
moistures were indicative of lower sand content and occasional fragments of fine organic sediment.  
Testing indicated a sand content of 27% to 34% at depths of 13 feet and 15 feet in test pits TP-4 and TP-
9, respectively.   
 
Orangish-brown Silt -  Residual (with possible overlying colluvium) stiff to very stiff, orangish-brown silt 
was encountered beneath the gray silt in the borings.  Trace coarse sand to gravel size fragments with 
basalt texture were observed.  Moisture contents ranged from 34% to 43% and plasticity was moderate. 
 



June 6, 2007 westmar-07-01-gi 
 

3/8 
1112 7th Street, Oregon City, OR  97045  p 503.657.3487   f 503.722.9946 

Groundwater - Slow to moderate groundwater seepage was observed in all our explorations except 
shallow test pits in the forest (TP-8 and TP-12).  Depths to seepage ranged from 3.6 to 11.5 feet, with 
the shallower depths near the western drainage.  Monitoring well logs from the site and vicinity 
(attached) indicate ground water levels fluctuate seasonally and generally range from depths of 5 to 15 
feet.  Perched groundwater may rise to near the ground surface during wet conditions.  
 
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
General 
Based on the results of our explorations, laboratory testing, and engineering analyses, the proposed site 
development is feasible following the recommendations contained herein.  The near surface soils at the 
site generally consist of silt which is easily disturbed when wet.  If construction is planned for wet 
conditions, measures should be taken to minimize disturbance and the project budget and schedule 
should include contingencies.   
 
Fill was encountered to depths of up to two feet in the western portion of the project, and will require 
removal from building and pavement areas.  Due to the presence of shallow ground water, foundation 
drains are required.  Under slab drains are required only if floor elevations are below present surface 
grades.  Shallow foundations with the preceding loads can bear on undisturbed medium stiff or better 
native silt.  There is some potential for liquefaction of the sandy zones and ground softening in the non-
plastic gray silt zone during an earthquake, although our analysis indicates that this settlement will be 
less than one inch. 
 
Site Preparation  
General - Prior to earthwork construction, the site should be prepared by removing any existing 
structures, utilities, and undocumented fill.  Any excavation resulting from the aforementioned 
preparation should be brought back to grade with structural fill.  Site preparation for earthwork will also 
require the removal of the thick root zone from all pavement, building, and fill areas, and a  
5-foot perimeter around those areas.  Deeper stripping depths may be required in areas of loose 
organic soil typically associated with blackberry vines and treed areas.     
 
Root balls from trees and large vegetation may extend several feet and grubbing operations can cause 
considerable subgrade disturbance.  All disturbed material should be removed to undisturbed subgrade 
and backfilled with structural fill.  In general, roots greater than one-inch in diameter and densely spaced 
fine roots should be removed.   
 
The test pit excavations were backfilled using relatively minimal compactive effort.  Therefore, soft spots can 
be expected at these locations.  We recommend that these relatively uncompacted soils be removed from the 
test pits located within the proposed building and paved areas to a depth of 3.0 feet below finished subgrade.  
The resulting excavation should be brought back to grade with structural fill.  If located beneath a footing, the 
uncompacted soils should be completely removed and replaced with structural fill.    
 
Stabilization and Soft Areas - After stripping, we should be contacted to evaluate the exposed 
subgrade.  This evaluation can be done by proof rolling in dry conditions or probing during wet 
conditions.  Soft areas will require overexcavation and backfilling with well graded, angular crushed rock 
compacted as structural fill.  A geosynthetic may also be required.  We recommend that a geosynthetic 



June 6, 2007 westmar-07-01-gi 
 

4/8 
1112 7th Street, Oregon City, OR  97045  p 503.657.3487   f 503.722.9946 

used for stabilization consist of a woven geosynthetic with an AOS of #70 to #100 sieve, and a minimum 
puncture resistance of 120 pounds (such as an AMOCO 2019 or equivalent). 
 
Working Blankets and Haul Roads - Construction equipment should not operate directly on the 
subgrade when wet, as it is susceptible to disturbance and softening.  Rock working blankets and haul 
roads placed over a geosynthetic in a thickened advancing pad can be used to protect subgrades.  We 
recommend that sound, angular, pit run or crushed basalt with no more than 6 percent passing a #200 
sieve be used to construct haul roads and working blankets.  Working blankets should be at least 12 
inches thick, and haul roads at least 24 inches thick.  Alternatively, the soils could be amended to a 
depth of 12 inches and covered with 4 inches of crushed rock.  Some repair of working blankets and 
haul roads should be expected.     
 
The above rock thicknesses are the minimum recommended.  Subgrade protection is the responsibility 
of the contractor and thicker sections may be required based on subgrade conditions and type and 
frequency of construction equipment.   
 
Earthwork 
Fill – The non-organic on-site soil can be used for structural fill if properly moisture conditioned.  This 
will not be feasible during wet conditions.  Even during dry summer conditions the on-site soils will 
require drying by scarification and frequent mixing in thin lifts.  Once moisture contents are within 3% of 
optimum, the material should be compacted to at least 92% relative to ASTM D1557 (modified proctor) 
using a tamping foot type compactor.  Fill should be placed in lifts no greater than 10 inches in loose 
thickness.  In addition to meeting density specifications, fill will also need to pass a proof roll using a 
loaded dump truck, water truck, or similar size equipment.   
 
In wet conditions, fill should be imported granular soil with less than 6 percent fines, such as clean 
crushed or pit run rock.  This material should also be compacted to 95 percent relative to  
ASTM D1557.  Alternatively, fills can be amended.  We should be consulted to evaluate amendment of 
fills, as the amendment materials, quantities, and processes need to be adapted to actual site conditions 
at the time of amendment.  Amending fill soils is more difficult than amending soils in-situ due to 
equipment access on very soft material.  Typically, all-wheel-drive spreading equipment with off road 
tires, a high powered mixer, 6 percent cement (or a combination of hydrated lime and cement), a mixing 
depth 2 inches greater than the lift thickness, and two or more mixer passes would be a starting point.  
Building fills with amended soil would allow for all lifts except the final to be placed consecutively 
without significant cure time.  Amended building pads must be sloped to drain. 
 
Slopes - Permanent slopes should be inclined no steeper than 2H:1V for slopes up to 10 feet high.  The 
face of fill slopes should be cut back into compacted materials with a smooth bucket excavator.  If 
steeper fill slopes are desired, we should be consulted to evaluate use of amended soils or grid 
reinforcement. Erosion control is critical to maintaining fill slopes, and should be as described for cut 
slopes.  Drainage should be routed away from slope faces. 
 
Trenches – Utility trenches may encounter ground water seepage and caving should be expected where 
seepage is present.  Shoring of utility trenches will be required for depths greater than 4 feet and where 
groundwater seepage is present.  We recommend that the type and design of the shoring system be the 



June 6, 2007 westmar-07-01-gi 
 

5/8 
1112 7th Street, Oregon City, OR  97045  p 503.657.3487   f 503.722.9946 

responsibility of the contractor, who is in the best position to choose a system that fits the overall plan of 
operation. 
 
Depending on the excavation depth and amount of groundwater seepage, dewatering and shoring may 
be necessary for construction of underground utilities.  Flow rates for dewatering are likely to vary 
depending on location, soil type, and the season during which the excavation occurs.  The dewatering systems, 
if necessary, should be capable of adapting to variable flows.  Shallow ground water should be expected, as 
should flowing conditions in the gray silt unit.  We recommend the project budget and schedule allow for this 
as well as increased backfill volumes.  Caving and deformation must be prevented near existing buildings and 
utilities. 
 
Pipe bedding should be installed in accordance with the pipe manufacturers’ recommendations. If 
groundwater is present in the base of the utility trench excavation, we recommend overexcavating the trench 
by 12 to 18 inches and placing trench stabilization material in the base.  Trench stabilization material should 
consist of well-graded, crushed rock or crushed gravel with a maximum particle size of 4 inches and be free of 
deleterious materials.  The percent passing a #200 Sieve shall be less than 5 percent by weight when tested in 
accordance with ASTM C 117. 
 
Trench backfill above the pipe zone should consist of well graded, angular crushed rock or sand fill with 
no more than 7 percent passing a #200 sieve.  Trench backfill should be compacted to 92 percent 
relative to ASTM D 1557, and construction of hard surfaces, such as sidewalks or pavement, should not 
occur within one week of backfilling.   
 
Shallow Foundations 
Perimeter footings should be embedded at least 18 inches below the lowest adjacent exterior grade, 
with interior footings at least 12 inches below the lowest adjacent grade.  Footings that bear on 
undisturbed medium stiff or better native silt or approved structural fill can be designed for an allowable 
bearing pressure of 3,000 psf for the loads herein.  The preceding bearing pressure can be increased to 
7,000 psf for temporary wind and seismic loads.   
 
Continuous footings should be no less than 18 inches wide, and pad footings should be no less than 24 
inches wide.  Resistance to lateral loads can be obtained by a passive equivalent fluid pressure of 350 pcf 
against suitable footings, ignoring the top 12 inches of embedment, and by a footing base friction 
coefficient of 0.35.  Properly founded footings are expected to settle less than a total of 1 inch, with less 
than ½ inch differentially.   
 
If footing construction is to occur in wet conditions, a few inches of crushed rock should be placed at 
the base of footings to reduce subgrade disturbance and softening during construction. 
 
Slabs 
Floor slab loads up to 500 psf are expected to induce less than one inch of settlement.  A minimum of 
six inches of clean, angular crushed rock with no more than 5 percent passing a #200 sieve is 
recommended for underslab rock.  Prior to slab rock placement the subgrade will need to be evaluated 
by us by probing or observing a proof roll using a fully loaded truck.  Underslab rock should be 
compacted to 92 percent compaction relative to ASTM D1557, and should be proof rolled as well.  In 



June 6, 2007 westmar-07-01-gi 
 

6/8 
1112 7th Street, Oregon City, OR  97045  p 503.657.3487   f 503.722.9946 

addition, any areas contaminated with fines must be removed and replaced with clean rock.  If the base 
rock is saturated or trapping water, this water must be removed prior to slab placement.   
 
Some flooring manufacturers require specific slab moisture levels and/or vapor barriers to validate the 
warranties on their products.  A properly installed and protected vapor flow retardant can reduce slab 
moistures.  If a vapor flow retardant is used, care should be taken not to trap moisture within the 
overlying granular fill and floor slab concrete.   
 
Retaining Walls 
General - The following recommendations are based on the assumptions that: (1) Wall backfill consists 
of level, drained, angular, granular material, (2) Walls are less than 15 feet in height, and (3) No 
surcharges such as stockpiled soil, equipment, or footings are located within 15 feet of the wall.   
 
Walls restrained against rotation should be designed using an equivalent fluid pressure of 55 pcf.  Walls 
not restrained against rotation should be design using an equivalent fluid pressure of 33 pcf.  These 
forces can be resisted by passive pressure at the toe of the wall using an equivalent fluid pressure of 350 
pcf (this should exclude the top 12 inches of embedment) and friction along the base using a friction 
coefficient of 0.35.  Footings for retaining walls should be designed as recommended in the Shallow 
Foundations section of this report.   
 
Backfill - Retaining walls should be backfilled with clean, imported, granular soil with less than 6 percent 
fines, such as clean sand or rock.  This material should also be compacted to a minimum of 92 percent 
relative to ASTM D1557 (modified proctor).  Within 3 feet of the wall, backfill should be compacted to 
not more than 90 percent relative to ASTM D1557 using hand-operated equipment. 
 
Retaining structures typically rotate and displace roughly 1 percent of the wall height during 
development of active pressures behind the wall.  We therefore recommend that construction of 
improvements adjacent to the top of the walls greater than 5 feet high be delayed until approximately 
two weeks after wall construction and backfilling is complete. 
 
Drainage 
General - Perimeter foundation drains are required around all exterior foundations.  The surface 
around building perimeters must be sloped to drain away from the buildings.  Under slab drains are 
required only if floor elevations are below present surface grades.  As stated previously, our retaining 
wall recommendations are based on drained conditions.  All retaining walls must include a drain 
constructed as described in the following section. 
 
Foundation and Wall Drains - Foundation and retaining wall drains should consist of a two-foot wide 
zone of drain rock encompassing a 4-inch diameter perforated pipe, all enclosed with a non-woven filter 
fabric. The drain rock should have no more than 2 percent passing a #200 sieve and should extend to 
within one foot of the ground surface.  The geosynthetic should have an AOS of a #70 sieve, a minimum 
permittivity of 1.0 sec-1, and a minimum puncture resistance of 80 pounds (such as an AMOCO 4551 or 
equivalent).  One foot of low permeability soil (such as the on-site silt) should be placed over the fabric 
at the top of the drain to isolate the drain from surface runoff.   



June 6, 2007 westmar-07-01-gi 
 

7/8 
1112 7th Street, Oregon City, OR  97045  p 503.657.3487   f 503.722.9946 

Pavement 
General - We have developed asphalt concrete (AC) pavement sections at the site based on 5, 10, and 
25 trucks per day using a truck factor of 0.6.  These volumes can be revised if specific traffic data is 
available.   
 
Our analyses are based on AASHTO design methods and subgrade of undisturbed native silt or 
structural fill having a resilient modulus of 6,000 psi and prepared as recommended herein.  We have 
also assumed that construction of pavement areas will be completed during extended dry conditions.  
Construction during wet conditions will likely require protection and stabilization of subgrades as 
recommended in the Stabilization and Soft Areas and Working Blankets and Haul Roads sections 
of this report.  The results of our analyses based on these parameters are provided in the following 
table. 
 
The thicknesses listed in the following table are intended to be the minimum acceptable.  Crushed rock 
should conform to ODOT base rock standards and have less than 6 percent passing the #200 sieve.  
Asphalt concrete should be compacted to a minimum of 91 percent of a Rice Density. 
 
Asphalt Concrete - The results of our analyses for AC pavement based on the above parameters are 
provided in the following table. 

 
Trucks per day ESAL’s AC (inches) CR (inches) 

Passenger cars only - 2.5 8 
5 32,542 3.0 8 
10 65,084 3.0 9 
25 162,711 3.5 10 

 
Portland Cement Concrete - Dock aprons of portland cement concrete should be a minimum of 7 
inches thick for up to 25 trucks per day, and should be underlain by at least 6 inches of crushed rock 
base over approved subgrade.  We recommend load transfer devices/dowels at the joints. 
 
Subgrade Preparation - The pavement subgrade should be prepared in accordance with the 
Earthwork recommendations presented in this report.  All pavement subgrades need to pass a proofroll 
prior to paving.  Soft areas should be repaired by overexcavating the areas and installing a stabilization 
geosynthetic.  Well graded, angular crushed rock backfill compacted as structural fill should be used to 
bring the aforementioned areas to-grade.  For a stabilization geosynthetic we recommend a woven 
geosynthetic with an AOS of #70 to #100 sieve, and a minimum puncture resistance of 120 pounds 
(such as an AMOCO 2019 or equivalent).   
 
Seismic Design 
General - In accordance with the International Building Code (IBC) 2003 as adopted by the State of 
Oregon Structural Specialty Code (SOSSC), the subject project should be evaluated using the 
parameters associated with Site Class D. 
 
Liquefaction - Liquefaction occurs in loose, saturated, nonplastic sandy or clean gravelly soils.  Strong 
shaking, such as that experienced during earthquakes, causes the densification and the subsequent 
settlement of these soils.  Wet, sandy layers of the gray silt unit are borderline liquefiable at code level 



June 6, 2007 westmar-07-01-gi 
 

8/8 
1112 7th Street, Oregon City, OR  97045  p 503.657.3487   f 503.722.9946 

earthquake motions.  These layers and the gray silt unit in general are susceptible to softening and 
subsequent settlement in a design level earthquake.  However, our analyses indicates that such 
settlement is expected to be less than one inch.   
 
LIMITATIONS AND OBSERVATION DURING CONSTRUCTION 
We have prepared this report for use by Westmar Investments and their design and construction teams 
for this project only.  The information herein could be used for bidding or estimating purposes but 
should not be construed as a warranty of subsurface conditions.  We have made observations only at 
the aforementioned locations and only to the stated depths.  These observations do not reflect soil 
types, strata thicknesses, water levels or seepage that may exist between observations. We should be 
consulted to observe all foundation bearing surfaces, subgrade stabilization, proof rolling of slab and 
pavement subgrades, installation of structural fill, subsurface drainage, and cut and fill slopes.  We should 
be consulted to review final design and specifications in order to see that our recommendations are 
suitably followed.  If any changes are made to the anticipated locations, loads, configurations, or 
construction timing, our recommendations may not be applicable, and we should be consulted.  The 
preceding recommendations should be considered preliminary, as actual soil conditions may vary.  In 
order for our recommendations to be final, we must be retained to observe actual subsurface 
conditions encountered.  Our observations will allow us to interpret actual conditions and adapt our 
recommendations if needed.   
 
Within the limitations of scope, schedule and budget, our services have been executed in accordance 
with the generally accepted practices in this area at the time this report was prepared.  No warranty, 
expressed or implied, is given. 

  

 
We appreciate the opportunity to work with you on this project and look forward to our continued 
involvement.   Please call if you have any questions. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
 
Don Rondema, MS, PE, GE 
Principal 
 
Attachments: 
Site Plan, Test Pit Logs, Boring Logs, Moisture Contents, Fines Content, Organic Content, Water Well 
Logs 
 
cc:   Karl Koroch, TM Rippey Consulting Engineers, kkoroch@tmrippey.com 
  





Test Pit # Depth (ft) Soil Description 

 

TEST PIT LOGS 

westmar-07-01-gi  

 Explorations completed on May 14, 2007 with an extendable boom rubber-tired backhoe 
 
 TP-1  Location: NW parking area. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass. 
  0 – 0.9 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  0.9 – 7.0 Medium stiff to stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine 

sand; moist. 
   - trace fine roots to 1.8 feet 
   -  3.9 feet becomes wet 
 
   Slow seepage at 3.9 feet. 
   No caving observed. 
 
 TP-2  Location: NW parking area. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass. 
  0 – 0.3 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT FILL; moist (redeveloped topsoil). 
  0.3 – 0.7 Soft, light brown SILT FILL with trace fine sand and fine roots; moist. 
  0.7 – 1.1 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  1.1 – 6.4 Medium stiff to stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine 

sand; moist. 
   -  3.7 feet becomes wet 
 
   Slow seepage at 3.7 feet. 
   No caving observed. 
 
 TP-3  Location: NW building corner. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass. 
  0 – 0.5 Soft, dark gray-brown, rooty organic SILT FILL; moist (redeveloped topsoil). 
  0.5 – 2.0 Medium stiff, gray-brown, SILT FILL with some clay and trace fine roots; moist. 
  2.0 – 2.7 Medium stiff, gray-brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  2.7 – 8.5 Stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine sand; moist. 
   -  3.6 feet becomes wet 
   -  4.0 feet becomes very stiff and lightly cemented with some sand 
  8.5 – 13 Medium stiff, dark gray SILT with some fine sand; wet. 
 
   Slow seepage at 3.6 feet and moderate seepage below 8.5 feet. 
   Severe caving below 8.5 feet resulting in refusal (flowing condition). 
 
 TP-4  Location: near NE building corner. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass. 
  0 – 0.8 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  0.8 – 12 Stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine sand; moist. 
   -  3.6 feet becomes moist to wet 
   -  6 feet becomes medium stiff with trace to some fine sand; moist to wet. 
   -  7-9 feet becomes very stiff, lightly cemented and heavily mottled 
  12 – 15 Medium stiff, dark gray SILT with some fine sand; wet. 
   Moderate seepage below 7.5 feet 
   Severe caving below 12 feet resulting in refusal (flowing condition) 



Test Pit # Depth (ft) Soil Description 

 

TEST PIT LOGS 

westmar-07-01-gi  

 
 TP-5  Location: north of existing parking. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass and weeds. 
  0 – 0.8 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  0.8 – 12.0 Stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine sand; moist. 
   -  7 feet becomes medium stiff with trace to some fine sand; moist to wet 
   -  11-12 feet layer of silty fine sand with some small gravels 
 
   Moderate seepage below 7 feet. 
   Moderate caving below 7 feet. 
 
 TP-6  Location: west side of building 2. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass and weeds. 
  0 – 0.6 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  0.6 – 12 Stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine sand; moist. 
   -  3.5-4.5 feet very stiff, lightly cemented and heavily mottled 
   - 6 feet becomes medium stiff with trace to some fine sand; moist to wet 
   -  8-9 feet very stiff and heavily mottled dark brown, lightly cemented 
 
   Moderate seepage below 7 feet. 
   Minor caving below 7 feet. 
 
 TP-7  Location: north of building 2. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass. 
  0 – 0.7 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  0.7 – 12.5 Stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine sand; moist. 
   - trace fine roots to 1.5 feet 
   -  4.5-5.5 feet very stiff, lightly cemented and heavily mottled 
   - 6 feet becomes medium stiff, trace to some fine sand; moist to wet 
   -  8.5-12.5 feet heavily mottled dark brown 
 
   Slow seepage below 7 feet. 
   Minor caving below 7 feet. 
 
 TP-8  Location: parking E of building 2. 
   Surface conditions: forest. 
  0 – 1.2 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  1.2 – 4.0 Medium stiff to stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine 

sand; moist. 
   - trace fine to small roots to 2.0 feet 
 
   No seepage. 
   Minor caving to 1.5 feet. 
 
 



Test Pit # Depth (ft) Soil Description 

 

TEST PIT LOGS 

westmar-07-01-gi  

  
 TP-9  Location: near center of building 2. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass. 
  0 – 0.8 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  0.8 – 11 Stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine sand; moist. 
   -  6.5 feeet becomes medium stiff with trace to some fine sand 
   -  8.5-9.5 feet heavily mottled dark brown and orange 
   -  10 feet becomes sandy 
  11 – 15 Medium stiff, gray SILT with some fine sand to sandy SILT; wet. 
 
   Moderate seepage below 11 feet. 
   Moderate caving below 11 feet. 
 
 TP-10  Location: SW corner of building 2. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass and scattered gravel fill. 
  0 – 0.1 Loose, gray, angular GRAVEL FILL; dry. 
  0.1 – 0.8 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  0.8 – 11.5 Stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine sand; moist. 
   - 8.5 feet becomes medium stiff, some fine sand to sandy; moist to wet 
 
   No seepage. 
   No caving. 
 
 TP-11  Location: SE corner of building 2. 
   Surface conditions: Long grass and weeds. 
  0 – 0.8 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  0.8 – 11.5 Stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine sand; moist. 
   -  0.8-2.5 feet occasional fine roots. 
   -  9 feet becomes medium stiff with some fine sand; moist to wet 
   -  10-11 feet heavily mottled dark brown and lightly cemented. 
  11.5 – 13 Medium stiff, gray SILT with some fine sand to sandy SILT; wet. 
 
   Moderate seepage below 11.5 feet. 
   Moderate caving below 11.5 feet. 
 
 TP-12  Location: parking SE of building 2. 
   Surface conditions: forest. 
  0 – 0.9 Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil). 
  0.9 – 4.0 Medium stiff to stiff, mottled orange and gray, brown SILT with trace clay and fine 

sand; moist. 
   - trace fine to small roots to 2.0 feet 
 
   No seepage. 
   Minor caving to 1.0 feet. 
 



   

 

Soil and Rock Description Samples and Data 

Westmar-07-01-gi 

w = moisture content 
γd = dry unit weight 
N60 = SPT blowcount 
* = No recovery 
Sh= Shelby tube 

Indicates unobserved 
layer transition. 

40 

BORING B-1 

w = 35% 

  0 ft 

10 

20 

30 

w = 30% 

w = 37% 

w = 31% 

4 

Very stiff, dark gray-brown SILT with trace clay and trace small 
subrounded basaltic gravels to coarse sand; moist. 

w = 31% 

12 w = 35% 

5 

Becomes gray. 

Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil).  

Medium stiff, mottled dark brown and gray, brown SILT with trace 
to some fine sand and layers of silty fine sand; wet. 

Stiff, slightly mottled gray and orange, brown SILT with trace clay and fine 
sand; moist. Sh 

19 

31 

22 

Becomes orangish-brown 

Becomes orangish-brown with occasional light gray. 
 



   

 

Soil and Rock Description Samples and Data 

Westmar-07-01-gi 

w = moisture content 
γd = dry unit weight 
N60 = SPT blowcount 
* = No recovery 
Sh= Shelby tube 

Indicates unobserved 
layer transition. 

40 

BORING B-2 

w = 38% 

  0 ft 

10 

20 

30 

w = 30% 

w = 40% 

w = 32% 

20 

Stiff to very stiff, mottled gray, dark gray-brown SILT with trace 
clay and trace small subrounded basaltic gravels to coarse sand; 
moist. 

w = 37% 

12 w = 37% 

7 

Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil).  

Medium stiff to stiff, gray sandy SILT with trace to some fine sand 
and layers of silty fine sand; wet. 

Medium stiff to stiff, slightly mottled gray and orange, brown SILT with trace 
fine sand; moist. 

Sh 

18 

7 

11 

Becomes reddish-brown 

20 w = 33% 



   

 

Soil and Rock Description Samples and Data 

Westmar-07-01-gi 

w = moisture content 
γd = dry unit weight 
N60 = SPT blowcount 
* = No recovery 
Sh= Shelby tube 

Indicates unobserved 
layer transition. 

40 

BORING B-3 

w = 35% 

  0 ft 

10 

20 

30 

w = 39% 

w = 39% 

w = 34% 

3 

Stiff to hard, dark gray-brown SILT with trace clay and trace small 
subrounded basaltic gravels to coarse sand; moist. 

w = 34% 

15 w = 35% 

5 

Becomes gray. 

Soft, dark brown, rooty organic SILT; moist (topsoil).  

Soft to medium stiff, gray SILT with trace to some fine sand and 
layers of silty fine sand; wet. 

Stiff, slightly mottled gray and orange, brown SILT with trace clay and fine 
sand; moist. 

31 

13 

25 

Becomes stiff and orangish-brown 



Test Pit Depth, ft Moisture Content
tp-1 2.0 36%
tp-1 7.0 40%
tp-2 1.0 28%
tp-2 4.0 35%
tp-2 6.0 36%
tp-3 1.5 30%
tp-3 3.5 34%
tp-3 5.0 32%
tp-3 9.0 40%
tp-4 2.0 22%
tp-4 4.0 33%
tp-4 13.0 33%
tp-5 2.0 30%
tp-5 7.0 32%
tp-5 11.0 47%
tp-7 2.0 32%
tp-7 4.0 34%
tp-8 2.0 28%
tp-9 2.0 32%
tp-9 4.0 36%
tp-9 15.0 37%
tp-11 2.0 29%
tp-11 6.0 35%
tp-12 2.0 29%
b-1 5.0 35%
b-1 10.0 35%
b-1 15.0 37%
b-1 20.0 31%
b-1 25.0 30%
b-1 30.0 31%
b-2 5.0 37%
b-2 10.0 38%
b-2 15.0 40%
b-2 20.0 32%
b-2 25.0 30%
b-2 30.0 37%
b-2 35.0 33%
b-3 5.0 35%
b-3 10.0 35%
b-3 15.0 39%
b-3 20.0 34%
b-3 25.0 39%
b-3 30.0 43%

MOISTURE CONTENTS    
westmar-07-01-gi



Exploration Depth, ft Fines Content
tp-4 13.0 73%
tp-9 15.0 66%

FINES CONTENTS              
westmar-07-01-gi



Exploration Depth, ft Organic Content
tp-2 1.0 7.1%

ORGANIC CONTENTS   
 westmar-07-01-gi



Well Log Query Results 

Well Tag Nbr: 37925 

 
Download Data 
Return to Well Log Query       

CLAC_55295 3.00S-1.00W-11 
SW-SW 203 27700 B SW PARKWAY AVE  

MENTOR GRAPHICS CORP.
8005 SW BOECKMAN RD 
WILSONVILLE OR 97070 

M 15.00 19.00 15.0  11/04/1999 12/16/1999 MCINNIS, GREG 
GEO TECH EXPLORATIONS INC. 124892 37925 √ 

Page 1 of 1Well Query Report

5/15/2007http://apps2.wrd.state.or.us/apps/gw/well_log/Default.aspx



Well Log Query Results 

Township: 3 S, Range: 1 W, Sections: 11 

 
Download Data 
Return to Well Log Query       

CLAC_18289 3.00S-1.00W-11 
- 100

ELLINGSON, RALPH 
26120 SW PARKWAY AVE
WILSONVILLE OR 97070 

 W 0.00 0.00 0.0   12/23/1992 DELANO, 
DOUGLAS H 44140 √ 

CLAC_18334 3.00S-1.00W-11 
SE-SE 203  

MENTOR GRAPHICS  
27700 SW PARKWAY 

WILSONVILLE OR 97070 
M 10.00 15.00 5.0  01/15/1993 01/22/1993 MCINNIS, 

GREG 51307 √ 

CLAC_18335 3.00S-1.00W-11 
SE-SE 203  

MENTOR GRAPHICS  
27700 SW PARKWAY 

WILSONVILLE OR 97070 
M 8.00 15.00 8.0  01/17/1993 01/22/1993 MCINNIS, 

GREG 51308 √ 

CLAC_18336 3.00S-1.00W-11 
SE-SE 203  

MENTOR GRAPHICS  
27700 SW PARKWAY 

WILSONVILLE OR 97070 
M 8.00 15.00 8.0  01/17/1993 01/22/1993 MCINNIS, 

GREG 51039 √ 

CLAC_18468 3.00S-1.00W-11 
SE-SE 203 27770 SW 

PARKWAY AVE  
MENTOR GRAPHICS  

8005 SW BOECKMAN RD 
WILSONVILLE OR 970707777 

M 9.00 16.00 5.1  04/17/1993 04/28/1993 MCINNIS, 
GREG M 52994 √ 

CLAC_18590 3.00S-1.00W-11 
SE-SE 203 8105 SW 

BOECKMAN RD  
MENTOR GRAPHICS CORP.  

8005 SW BOECKMAN RD 
WILSONVILLE OR 97070 

M 12.00 18.00 6.0  06/11/1993 06/21/1993 MCINNIS, 
GREG 52033 √ 

CLAC_19744 3.00S-1.00W-11 
SW-NE   

JOHN L JERSEY AND SON  
7015 NE 42ND AVE 

PORTLAND OR 97218 
W 0.00 0.00 0.0   12/16/1994 JANNSEN, ROY 

N 73664 √ √ 

CLAC_20295 3.00S-1.00W-11 
SW-NW   

WILSONVILLE LAND ASSOC.; LIMITED PARTNER
220 NW 2ND AVE SUITE 1050 

PORTLAND OR 97209 
M  35.00 32.0  05/04/1995 05/30/1995 MCINNIS, 

GREG 78786 √ 

CLAC_8031 3.00S-1.00W-11 
SW-SE   

NIKE INC.  
9000 SW NIMBUS DR 

BEAVERTON OR 97223 
W 0.00 0.00 0.0   12/24/1986 WYLAND, 

DANIEL V  √ 

CLAC_8032 3.00S-1.00W-11 
NE-SW   

NIKE INC.  
9000 SW NIMBUS DR 

BEAVERTON OR 97223 
W 0.00 0.00 0.0   12/24/1986 WYLAND, 

DANIEL V  √ 

1 2 3 4 5 6

Page 1 of 1Well Query Report

5/15/2007http://apps2.wrd.state.or.us/apps/gw/well_log/Default.aspx



FDOR0212.rdw

Chicago Title Insurance Company of Oregon
1211 SW 5th Avenue, Suite 2130, Portland, OR  97204

(503)973-7400  FAX (503)248-0324

PRELIMINARY REPORT
ESCROW OFFICER: ORDER NO.:  472512503429TO-CT50

FIRST SUPPLEMENTALTITLE OFFICER: Tony Schadle

TO: Chicago Title Company of Oregon
Attn:  Malcolm Newkirk
1211 SW 5th Avenue, Suite 2130
Portland, OR  97204

OWNER/SELLER: Wilsonville 2006 NW LLC

BUYER/BORROWER:

PROPERTY ADDRESS: 27200 SW Parkway Avenue
Wilsonville, Oregon  97070

EFFECTIVE DATE:  October 22, 2012, 08:00 AM

1. THE POLICY AND ENDORSEMENTS TO BE ISSUED AND THE RELATED CHARGES ARE:
AMOUNT PREMIUM

Owner's Standard

Governmental Service Fee $ 50.00

2. THE ESTATE OR INTEREST IN THE LAND HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED OR REFERRED TO 
COVERED BY THIS REPORT IS:
A Fee

3. TITLE TO SAID ESTATE OR INTEREST AT THE DATE HEREOF IS VESTED IN:
Wilsonville 2006 NW LLC, a Washington limited liability company

4. THE LAND REFERRED TO IN THIS REPORT IS SITUATED IN THE CITY OF WILSONVILLE IN THE 
COUNTY OF CLACKAMAS, STATE OF OREGON, AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
SEE EXHIBIT "ONE" ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART HEREOF

jenniferk
Typewritten Text
Exhibit #5

swhite
Stamp



PRELIMINARY REPORT
(Continued)

Order No.:  472512503429TO-CT50

FDOR0212.rdw

EXHIBIT "ONE"

Parcel 3, PARTITION PLAT NO. 2002-047, in the City of Wilsonville, Clackamas County, Oregon.

Together with the following appurtenant easements:

An easement for drainage purposes as set forth in documents recorded October 2, 1989, Recorder's No. 
89-043798 and 89-043799, and in document recorded August 14, 1990, Recorder's No. 90-039696; and

Easements for ingress, egress, utilities and signage as set forth in instruments recorded September 25, 2000, 
Recorder's No. 2000-062730 and May 30, 2002, Recorder's No. 2002-050949, and amended June 5, 2006, 
Recorder's No. 2006-051022.



FDOR0390.rdw

Order No.:  472512503429TO-CT50

AS OF THE DATE OF THIS REPORT, ITEMS TO BE CONSIDERED AND EXCEPTIONS TO COVERAGE IN 
ADDITION TO THE PRINTED EXCEPTIONS AND EXCLUSIONS IN THE POLICY FORM WOULD BE AS 
FOLLOWS:

GENERAL EXCEPTIONS:

1. Taxes or assessments which are not shown as existing liens by the records of any taxing authority that 
levies taxes or assessments on real property or by the Public Records; proceedings by a public agency 
which may result in taxes or assessments, or notices of such proceedings, whether or not shown by the 
records of such agency or by the Public Records.

2. Facts, rights, interests or claims which are not shown by the Public Records but which could be 
ascertained by an inspection of the Land or by making inquiry of persons in possession thereof.

3. Easements, or claims of easement, not shown by the Public Records; reservations or exceptions in patents
or in Acts authorizing the issuance thereof; water rights, claims or title to water.

4. Any encroachment, encumbrance, violation, variation, or adverse circumstance affecting the Title that 
would be disclosed by an accurate and complete land survey of the Land.  The term "encroachment" 
includes encroachments of existing improvements located on the Land onto adjoining land, and 
encroachments onto the Land of existing improvements located on adjoining land.

5. Any lien for services, labor or material heretofore or hereafter furnished, or for contributions due to the 
State of Oregon for unemployment compensation or worker's compensation, imposed by law and not 
shown by the Public Records.

SPECIFIC ITEMS AND EXCEPTIONS:

6. **AMENDED**
Unpaid Property Taxes for the fiscal year 2012-2013, as follows

Levied Amount:  $155,480.95
Levy Code: 003-027
Property ID No.: 01375167
Map No.: 31W11D
Tax Lot No.: 01200

Prior to close of escrow, please contact the Tax Collector's Office to confirm all amounts owing, including 
current fiscal year taxes, supplemental taxes, escaped assessments and any delinquencies.

7. City Liens, if any, in favor of the City of Wilsonville.    None found as of September 28, 2012.

8. Limited access as set forth in deed from State of Oregon, by and through its State Highway Commission 
to, recorded October 14, 1951, Book 449, Page 333. which provides that no right of easement or right of 
access to, from or across the State Highway, other than expressly provided for, shall attach to the abutting 
property.

9. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as granted in a document;

Granted to:City of Wilsonville, Oregon
Purpose:Sewer
Recorded:February 13, 1973
Recorders No.: 73-004320



Order No.:  472512503429TO-CT50

FDOR0390.rdw

Said document has been amended by instrument

Recorded:April 20, 1973
Recorders No.: 73-011953

10. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as granted in a document;

Granted to:City of Wilsonville
Purpose:Sewer
Recorded:April 20, 1973
Recorders No. 73-011955

Said easement is also described in Grant of Easement recorded September 15, 2000, Recorder's No. 
2000-060560.

11. Buffer Zone Agreement, including the terms and provisions thereof,

Between:       Owners of the subject property and adjoining property
Recorded:     December 16, 1988, Recorder's No. 88-052582

12. Covenants, conditions and restrictions, as shown on the plat of Partition Plat No. 2000-089.

13. Covenants, conditions and restrictions, as shown on the plat of Partition Plat No. 2002-047.

14. Easement(s) for the purposes(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as delineated or as offered for 
dedication, on Partition Plat No. 2000-089, and on Partition Plat No. 2002-047

Purpose:Significant resource overlay zone

15. Covenants, conditions, restrictions, but omitting any covenants or restrictions, if any, based upon race, 
color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, familial status, marital status, disability, handicap, national origin, 
ancestry, or source of income, as set forth in applicable state or federal laws, except to the extent that said
covenant or restriction is permitted by applicable law, as set forth in document.

Recorded:February 29, 2000
Recorders No.: 2000-012631

16. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as granted in a document;

Granted to:City of Wilsonville
Purpose:Conservation easement
Recorded:December 15, 2000
Recorders No.: 2000-060560

17. Roadway and Landscaping Easement and Maintenance Agreement, including the terms and provisions 
thereof.

Between: Owners of the subject property and adjoining property
Recorded:  September 25, 2000
Recorder's No.: 2000-062730



Order No.:  472512503429TO-CT50

FDOR0390.rdw

18. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as granted in a document;

Granted to:City of Wilsonville
Purpose:Pipeline
Recorded:March 5, 2001
Recorders No.: 2001-014743

19. Restrictive Covenant to Waive Remonstrance, including the terms and provisions thereof,

For:Formation of local improvement district
Recorded:March 7, 2002
Recorders No.: 2002-022167

20. Stormwater Maintenance Covenant and Access Easement, including the terms and provisions thereof,

Between:       Owners of the subject property and adjoining property
Recorded:     March 7, 2002
Recorder's No.: 2002-022168

21. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as granted in a document;

Granted to:City of Wilsonville
Purpose:Public utility
Recorded:March 7, 2002
Recorders No.: 2002-022170

22. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as granted in a document;

Granted to:City of Wilsonville
Purpose:Sidewalk
Recorded:March 7, 2002
Recorders No.: 2002-022171

23. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as granted in a document;

Granted to:City of Wilsonville
Purpose:Pipeline
Recorded:March 7, 2002
Recorders No.: 2002-022172

24. Covenants, conditions, restrictions, but omitting any covenants or restrictions, if any, based upon race, 
color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, familial status, marital status, disability, handicap, national origin, 
ancestry, or source of income, as set forth in applicable state or federal laws, except to the extent that said
covenant or restriction is permitted by applicable law, as set forth in document.

Recorded:May 30, 2002
Recorders No.: 2002-050949

Said document has been amended by instrument

Recorded:June 5, 2006
Recorders No.: 2006-051022



Order No.:  472512503429TO-CT50

FDOR0390.rdw

25. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as granted in a document;

Granted to:City of Wilsonville
Purpose:Conservation easement
Recorded:May 30, 2002
Recorders No.: 2002-050950

26. Easement(s) for the purpose(s) shown below and rights incidental thereto as granted in a document;

Granted to:City of Wilsonville, Oregon
Purpose:Sidewalk
Recorded:May 30, 2002
Recorders No.: 2002-050951

27. Easement Agreement, including the terms and provisions thereof,

In favor of Wilsoville 2006 SE LLC
Recording Date:  October 2, 2008
Recording No.:  2008-068553

28. If requested to issue an extended coverage ALTA loan policy, the following matters must be addressed:

a)   The rights of tenants holding under unrecorded leases or tenancies
b)  Any facts which would be disclosed by an accurate survey of the Land
c)  Matters disclosed by a statement as to parties in possession and as to any construction, alterations or 
repairs to the Land within the last 75 days.  The Company must be notified in the event that any funds are 
to be used for construction, alterations or repairs.

29. Please be advised that our search did not disclose any open Deeds of Trust of record.  If you should have 
knowledge of any outstanding obligation, please contact the Title Department immediately for further 
review prior to closing.

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
.                                           ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS / NOTES:
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

A. In addition to the standard policy exceptions, the exceptions enumerated above shall appear on the 
final 2006 ALTA policy unless removed prior to issuance.

B. A copy of the terms and provisions of the operating agreement for the limited liability company set 
forth below should be furnished for our examination prior to closing.  Any conveyance or 
encumbrance of said company's property must be executed by all of the members unless otherwise 
provided for in the operating agreement.  In addition, if there have been any changes in 
membership from the date of original creation of the limited liability company to the present date, 
copies of approval of withdrawal and/or acceptance of such member should be furnished for our 
examination.

Limited Liability Company: Wilsonville 2006 NW LLC, a Washington limited liability company

C. The Land lies within the Wilsonville East Side Urban Renewal Area and is subject to the terms and 
provisions thereof.

D. Note: There are NO conveyances affecting said Land recorded within 24 months of the date of this
report.



Order No.:  472512503429TO-CT50

FDOR0390.rdw

E. NOTE:  This report is subject to any amendments which might occur when the names of prospective
purchasers are submitted to us for examination.

F. IMPORTANT NOTICE TO TRANSFEROR(S) REGARDING WITHHOLDING TAX:

Effective January 1, 2008, Oregon law (ORS 314.258) requires closing agents closing a transaction 
for the transfer of certain Oregon real property interests to: (a) withhold from the transferor’s 
proceeds an amount specified by law; and (b) remit the amount withheld to the Oregon Department 
of Revenue.

State mandated forms must be completed by all transferors in order to either: (a) claim or certify an 
exemption from the requirements of ORS 314.258; or (b) certify the withholding amount due 
pursuant to ORS 314.258.

You should consult with your tax or legal advisor in order to complete these forms prior to the 
closing of your transaction. Failure to timely deliver the appropriate form(s) to your closing agent 
may delay your closing or increase your withholding amount.

We are not legal or tax advisors. Although we may provide you with these forms and provide some 
assistance in filling out the forms, by law we are unable to advise you on the selection of which 
form(s) you must complete or the content in the forms.

G. THE FOLLOWING NOTICE IS REQUIRED BY STATE LAW: YOU WILL BE REVIEWING, 
APPROVING AND SIGNING IMPORTANT DOCUMENTS AT CLOSING. LEGAL 
CONSEQUENCES FOLLOW FROM THE SELECTION AND USE OF THESE DOCUMENTS. YOU 
MAY CONSULT AN ATTORNEY ABOUT THESE DOCUMENTS. YOU SHOULD CONSULT AN 
ATTORNEY IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS OR CONCERNS ABOUT THE TRANSACTION OR 
ABOUT THE DOCUMENTS. IF YOU WISH TO REVIEW TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS THAT 
YOU HAVE NOT SEEN, PLEASE CONTACT THE ESCROW AGENT.



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, JUNE 9, 2014 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VIII. Board Member Communications:    
A.  Agenda Results from the May 29, 2014 DRB Panel 

B meeting 
 

 



City of Wilsonville 

Development Review Board Panel B Meeting 
Meeting Results 

DATE:    MAY 29, 2014 
LOCATION:  29799 SW TOWN CENTER LOOP EAST, WILSONVILLE, OR 
TIME START:      6:31 P.M. TIME END: 7:22 P.M.  

ATTENDANCE LOG 

BOARD MEMBERS STAFF 
Andrew Karr, Chair Blaise Edmonds 
Aaron Woods, Vice Chair Barbara Jacobson 
Cheryl Dorman Daniel Pauly 
Jhuma Chaudhuri Keith Liden, Consultant for the City 
Dianne Knight   

 
AGENDA RESULTS 

AGENDA ACTIONS 
CITIZENS’ INPUT None 
  
CONSENT AGENDA  

A. Approval of March 24, 2014 Minutes 
 
 
B.   Approval of April 28, 2014 Minutes 
 

A.   Approved 3-0-2 as presented with 
Dianne Knight and Jhuma 
Chaudhuri abstaining 

B.   Approved 4-0-1 as presented with 
Cheryl Dorman abstaining 

  
PUBLIC HEARING  

A. Resolution 278. Republic Services Expansion Stage I Master Plan 
Revision and Phase 1 Improvements: SFA Design Group – 
representative for Republic Services –owner. The applicant is requesting 
a Stage I Master Plan Revision to update the Master Plan for Republic 
Services, and Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review and Type C Tree Plan 
for phase 1 improvements consisting of a new maintenance building and 
new container storage area, along with associated improvements 
including storm detention and landscape screening.  The site is located 
on Tax Lots 1400 and 1500, Section 02C; T3S-R1W; Washington County; 
Wilsonville, Oregon.    Staff:  Keith Liden and Dan Pauly 
 

Case Files: DB14-0032 – Stage I Master Plan Revision 
   DB14-0033 – Stage II Final Plan 
   DB14-0034 – Site Design Review 
   DB14-0035 – Type C Tree Plan  

 
B. Resolution 279. Republic Services Expansion Phase 2 Improvements: 

SFA Design Group – representative for Republic Services –owner.  The 
applicant is requesting a Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review and Type 
C Tree Plan for phase 2 improvements consisting of new office 

A.   Unanimously approved with an 
amended Staff report and 
additional Exhibits A4, A5 and A6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
B.   Unanimously continued to June 

23, 2014 date certain 



expansion, parking area, container storage area, and driveway from 
Ridder Road along with associated improvements. The site is located on 
Tax Lots 1400 and 1500, Section 02C; T3S-R1W; Washington County; 
Wilsonville, Oregon.    Staff:  Keith Liden and Dan Pauly 

 
Case Files: DB14-0033 – Stage II Final Plan 
   DB14-0034 – Site Design Review 
   DB14-0035 – Type C Tree Plan  

 
BOARD MEMBER COMUNICATIONS  

A. Results of the May 12, 2014 DRB Panel A meeting None 
  
STAFF COMMUNICATIONS None 
  

 


	Wilsonville City Hall
	29799 SW Town Center Loop East
	Wilsonville, Oregon
	I. Call to Order
	III. Roll Call
	V. City Council Liaison Report No liaison report was given due to Councilor Fitzgerald�s absence.
	Exhibit A1
	STAFF REPORT
	WILSONVILLE PLANNING DIVISION
	Development Review Board Panel A
	Comprehensive Plan Designation: Commercial

	a. Assure that the affected units shall not be sold or conveyed until such time as the final condominium re-plat is recorded with Clackamas County.
	b. Submit an application for Final Condominium Plat review and approval on the Planning Division Site Development Application and Permit form.  The Applicant/Owner shall also provide materials for review by the City�s Planning Division in accordance with S�
	c. Illustrate existing and proposed easements, on the Final Condominium Re-plat.
	FINDINGS OF FACT:
	Section 4.140  Planned Development Regulations

	Response to Incomplete Application
	Application
	Compliance Narrative
	Proposed Prelim. Plat Amendments
	Memorandum of Understanding
	Zone Change 72PC10 & 72RZ01
	90AR06 Village Center Plat
	Recorded Plat
	94AR14 BITAR Plat (Unit 9)
	Unit 10 A-F Stage 3 Plat
	Recorded Declaration & By-Laws
	90PC28 Parking Variance
	Tax Maps
	Title Report
	Incomplete Application Response
	Application
	Compliance Report
	Materials & Color Board
	Tax Map
	Prior Approval
	Reduced Plans
	PROPOSED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL FOR REQUESTS �A - E�:
	Natural Resources Conditions: No conditions of approval were proposed.
	MASTER EXHIBITS LIST
	Subsection 4.140 (.07)B.: The application shall include conceptual and quantitatively accurate representations of the entire development sufficient to judge the scope, size, and impact of the development on the community; and, in addition to the requi...
	Section 4.118. Standards applying to all Planned Development Zones:
	Section 4.167. General Regulations - Access, Ingress and Egress.
	Section 4.171. General Regulations � Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources.

	Engineering Division Conditions of Approval:
	Standard Comments:
	PFA 1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards.
	PFA 2. For issuance of the Public Works Permit the Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the following amounts:
	PFA 3. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, all fees have been paid, all necessary permits, right-of-way and easements have been obtained and Staff is notified a minimum of 24 hours in advance.
	PFA 4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville Public Work’s Standards.
	PFA 5. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control measures in conformance with the standards adopted by the City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482 during the construction of any public/private utility and building improvements until such time as approved permanent vegetative materials have been installed.
	PFA 6. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing any soil on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant shall obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed a 1200-CN permit from the City of Wilsonville is required.
	PFA 7. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to disturbance within the construction area, or the construction of any off-site improvements shall be adequately referenced and protected prior to commencement of any construction activity.  If the survey monuments are disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a result of any construction, the project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a registered professional land surveyor in the State of Oregon to restore the monument to its original condition and file the necessary surveys as required by Oregon State law.  A copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted to Staff.
	PFA 8. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board.
	PFA 9. All required pavement markings, in conformance with the Transportation Systems Plan and the Bike and Pedestrian Master Plan, shall be completed in conjunction with any conditioned street improvements.
	PFA 10. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways by driveway placement or vegetation control. Specific designs shall be submitted and approved by the City Engineer. 
	PFA 11. Access requirements, including sight distance, shall conform to the City's Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) or as approved by the City Engineer. Landscaping plantings shall be low enough to provide adequate sight distance at all street intersections and alley/street intersections.
	PFA 12. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the storm system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or rainwater LID facilities may be located within the public right-of-way upon approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water components and private conventional storm water facilities; maintenance shall transfer to the respective homeowners association when it is formed. 
	PFA 13. Mylar Record Drawings: 
	At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, and before a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a record survey. Said survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record drawings' which will serve as the physical record of those changes made to the plans and/or specifications, originally approved by Staff, that occurred during construction. Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate changes will be made to the construction plans and/or specifications and a complete revised 'set' shall be submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic copy in AutoCAD, current version, and a digitally signed PDF.
	Specific Comments: 
	PFA 14. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a Trip Generation memo dated April 18, 2014.  The current proposed use was determined to generate fewer traffic trips and less impact to City streets than historical uses of the site generated.  The project is hereby limited to no more than the following impacts.
	PFA 15. Driveway access spacing along Parkway Center Drive is not in compliance with the TSP, which specifies a minimum spacing of 1,000 feet and a desired spacing of 1,320 feet for a Major Arterial.  However, roadway improvements to Parkway Center Drive were completed with the Argyle Square project and the length of property frontage does not allow the applicant to meet spacing requirements.  The southern existing driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway and be widened to allow an additional exit lane as shown in plans dated 04/25/14.
	For safety issues the northern driveway shall be limited to a right-in/right-out driveway by placement of signage and markings at the driveway exit.  In addition the applicant shall construct a Concrete Traffic Separator on Parkway Center Drive (minimum 100 feet long centered on the driveway) to prevent left turn movement when entering or exiting the site at this driveway.
	PFA 16. Driveway access spacing along Elligsen Road is not in compliance with the TSP, with a minimum spacing of 600 feet and a desired spacing of 1,000 feet for a Minor Arterial.  However, due to steep topography east of the existing driveway this non-conforming driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway, at this time, and be widened as shown in plans dated 04/25/14.  Improvements to Elligsen Road are listed in the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan as an Additional Planned Project, however the project is not listed as a Higher Priority project due to estimated costs and funding limitations and it is not known when  improvements would occur.
	PFA 17. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, storm water detention shall be required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment.
	PFA 18. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, water quality facilities shall be required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment.
	If a mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as designed.
	REQUEST A
	REVISED STAGE 1 PRELIMINARY PLAN 
	PFA 19. Driveway access spacing along Parkway Center Drive is not in compliance with the TSP, which specifies a minimum spacing of 1,000 feet and a desired spacing of 1,320 feet for a Major Arterial.  However, roadway improvements to Parkway Center Drive were completed with the Argyle Square project and the length of property frontage does not allow the applicant to meet spacing requirements.  The southern existing driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway and be widened to allow an additional exit lane as shown in plans dated 04/25/14.
	For safety issues the northern driveway shall be limited to a right-in/right-out driveway by placement of signage and markings at the driveway exit.  In addition the applicant shall construct a Concrete Traffic Separator on Parkway Center Drive (minimum 100 feet long centered on the driveway) to prevent left turn movement when entering or exiting the site at this driveway.
	PFA 20. Driveway access spacing along Elligsen Road is not in compliance with the TSP, with a minimum spacing of 600 feet and a desired spacing of 1,000 feet for a Minor Arterial.  However, due to steep topography east of the existing driveway this non-conforming driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway, at this time, and be widened as shown in plans dated 04/25/14.  Improvements to Elligsen Road are listed in the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan as an Additional Planned Project, however the project is not listed as a Higher Priority project due to estimated costs and funding limitations and it is not known when  improvements would occur.
	REQUEST B
	STAGE II FINAL PLAN 
	B8. See Finding A3. Per subsections 4.135(.03)(A and D), �warehouses� and �manufacturing� are identified as typical permitted uses in the PDI Zone. Per subsections 4.135(.01)O(1, 2 and 3) the proposed Office Complex and commercial uses are also permit...
	Subsection 4.155 (.06) Carpool and Vanpool Parking Requirements
	Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 2. Safe, Direct, and Convenient Pathways
	B26.
	 All proposed pathways are of smooth and consistent concrete and no hazards are evident on the site plan.
	 The proposed ADA path at the southwest corner of the proposed Tenant A space is a considerable distance from the main building entrance to Parkway Center Drive.
	 The north side of the subject Tenant A space does not have sidewalk connection to the sidewalk at SW Elligsen Road.
	 Where required, pathways meet ADA requirements or will be required to by the building code.
	 The parking lot improvement area is not larger than 3 acres in size.
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) H. Electric Vehicle Charging:

	PFA 21. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, storm water detention shall be required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment.
	PFA 22. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, water quality facilities shall be required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment.
	If a mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as designed.
	REQUEST C
	SITE DESIGN REVIEW
	Landscaping
	Section 4.421. Criteria and Application of Design Standards.
	Section 4.430. Location, Design and Access Standards for mixed Solid Waste and Recycling Areas
	Section 4.430 Design of Trash and Recycling Enclosures: The following locations, design and access standards for mixed solid waste and recycling storage areas shall be applicable to the requirements of Section 4.179 of the Wilsonville City Code. Liste...

	Subsections 4.179(.03): Pursuant to Section 4.179(.03) the storage area requirement shall be based on the predominant use(s) of the building.  If a building has more than one of the uses listed herein and that use occupies more than 20 percent of the ...
	Subsections 4.179(.06-.07) and 4.430(.01-.04): Location, Design and Access Standards for mixed Solid Waste and Recycling Areas.
	C32. The applicant is providing a covered waste and recycling enclosure meeting code. See Plan Sheets Az1.02 and Az1.03. The applicant estimates the following which meets code:

	REQUEST D
	REVISED MASTER SIGN PLAN
	BACKGROUND:
	Subsection 4.031 (.01) M. and Subsection 4.156.02 (.03) Review Process
	Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) Master Sign Plans Generally
	Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) A. Master Sign Plan Submission Requirements
	Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) B. Master Sign Plan Review Criteria
	Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) E. Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria: Generally and Site Design Review �Class II Sign Permits shall satisfy the sign regulations for the applicable zoning district and the Site Design Review Criteria in Sections 4.400 thro...
	Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) E. 1. Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria: Compatibility with Zone �The proposed signage is compatible with developments or uses permitted in the zone in terms of design, materials used, color schemes, proportionality, and l...
	Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) E. 2. Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria: Nuisance and Impact on Surrounding Properties. �The proposed signage will not create a nuisance or result in a significant reduction in the value or usefulness of surrounding develo...
	Subsection 4.156.02 (.05) E. 3. Class II Sign Permit Review Criteria: Items for Special Attention. �Special attention is paid to the interface between signs and other site elements including building architecture and landscaping, including trees.�
	Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) B. 1. Consistent and Compatible Design.  �The Master Sign Plan provides for consistent and compatible design of signs throughout the development;�
	Subsection 4.156.02 (.07) B. 2. Future Needs. �The Master Sign Plan considers future needs, including potential different configurations of tenant spaces and different sign designs, if allowed.�

	Section 4.156.03 Sign Measurement
	Subsection 4.156.03 (.01) C. Measurement of Round and Three Dimensional Signs. � The area of a round or three-dimensional sign shall be the maximum surface area visible from any one location on the ground measured the same as A. above except if the ma...
	Subsection 4.156.03 (.02) A. Measurement of Sign Height Above Ground. �The height above ground of a freestanding or ground-mounted sign is measured from the average grade directly below the sign to the highest point of the sign or sign structure excep...
	Subsection 4.156.03 (.03) A.-B. Measurement of Sign Height and Length. �Height of a sign is the vertical distance between the lowest and highest points of the sign.  Length of a sign is the horizontal distance between the furthest left and right point...

	Subsection 4.156.08 Sign Allowances in the PDC, PDI, and PF Zones
	Subsection 4.156.08 (.01) A. Freestanding and Ground Mounted Signs in the PDC, PDI, and PF Zone. This subsection establishes the standards for freestanding and ground mounted signs in various zones, including the PDI Zone.
	Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) A. Building Sign Eligible Facades
	Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) B. Building Sign Area Allowed
	Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) B. 6. Calculating Linear Length to Determine Sign Area Allowed. �For facades of a single tenant building the length the facade measured at the building line, except as noted in a. and b. below. For multi-tenant buildings the ...
	Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) C. Building Sign Length Allowed. �The length of individual tenant signs shall not exceed seventy-five (75) percent of the length of the facade of the tenant space.�
	Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) D. Building Sign Height Allowed. �The height of building signs shall be within a definable sign band, fascia, or architectural feature and allow a definable space between the sign and the top and bottom of the sign band, fasc...
	Subsection 4.156.08 (.02) E. Building Sign Types Allowed. �Types of signs permitted on buildings include wall flat, fascia, projecting, blade, marquee and awning signs.  Roof-top signs are prohibited.�
	Subsection 4.156.08 (.03) A. Additional Signs: Directional Signs. �Notwithstanding the signs allowed based on the site in (.01) and (.02) above, the following signs may be permitted, subject to standards and conditions in this Code:� �In addition to e...

	Site Design Review
	Subsections 4.400 (.01) and 4.421 (.03) Excessive Uniformity, Inappropriateness of Design, Etc.
	Subsections 4.400 (.02) and 4.421 (.03) Purposes of Objectives of Site Design Review
	Subsection 4.421 (.01) Site Design Review-Design Standards. This subsection lists the design standards for Site Design Review. Listed A through G. Only F. is applicable to this application, which reads, �Advertising Features.  In addition to the requi...
	Subsection 4.421 (.02) Applicability of Design Standards to Signs. �The standards of review outlined in Sections (a) through (g) above shall also apply to all accessory buildings, structures, exterior signs and other site features, however related to ...
	Subsection 4.421 (.05) Site Design Review-Conditions of Approval. �The Board may attach certain development or use conditions in granting an approval that are determined necessary to insure the proper and efficient functioning of the development, cons...
	Section 4.440 Site Design Review-Procedures. �A prospective applicant for a building or other permit who is subject to site design review shall submit to the Planning Department, in addition to the requirements of Section 4.035, the following:� Listed...


	REQUEST E
	TYPE ‘C’ TREE PLAN
	Exhibit C1 Eng. Conditions.pdf
	Standard Comments:
	PFA 1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards.
	PFA 2. For issuance of the Public Works Permit the Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the following amounts:
	PFA 3. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, all fees have been paid, all necessary permits, right-of-way and easements have been obtained and Staff is notified a minimum of 24 hours in advance.
	PFA 4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville Public Work’s Standards.
	PFA 5. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control measures in conformance with the standards adopted by the City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482 during the construction of any public/private utility and building improvements until such time as approved permanent vegetative materials have been installed.
	PFA 6. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing any soil on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant shall obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed a 1200-CN permit from the City of Wilsonville is required.
	PFA 7. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to disturbance within the construction area, or the construction of any off-site improvements shall be adequately referenced and protected prior to commencement of any construction activity.  If the survey monuments are disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a result of any construction, the project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a registered professional land surveyor in the State of Oregon to restore the monument to its original condition and file the necessary surveys as required by Oregon State law.  A copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted to Staff.
	PFA 8. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board.
	PFA 9. All required pavement markings, in conformance with the Transportation Systems Plan and the Bike and Pedestrian Master Plan, shall be completed in conjunction with any conditioned street improvements.
	PFA 10. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways by driveway placement or vegetation control. Specific designs shall be submitted and approved by the City Engineer. 
	PFA 11. Access requirements, including sight distance, shall conform to the City's Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) or as approved by the City Engineer. Landscaping plantings shall be low enough to provide adequate sight distance at all street intersections and alley/street intersections.
	PFA 12. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the storm system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or rainwater LID facilities may be located within the public right-of-way upon approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water components and private conventional storm water facilities; maintenance shall transfer to the respective homeowners association when it is formed. 
	PFA 13. Mylar Record Drawings: 
	At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, and before a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a record survey. Said survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record drawings' which will serve as the physical record of those changes made to the plans and/or specifications, originally approved by Staff, that occurred during construction. Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate changes will be made to the construction plans and/or specifications and a complete revised 'set' shall be submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic copy in AutoCAD, current version, and a digitally signed PDF.
	Specific Comments: 
	PFA 14. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a Trip Generation memo dated April 18, 2014.  The current proposed use was determined to generate fewer traffic trips and less impact to City streets than historical uses of the site generated.  The project is hereby limited to no more than the following impacts.
	PFA 15. Driveway access spacing along Parkway Center Drive is not in compliance with the TSP, which specifies a minimum spacing of 1,000 feet and a desired spacing of 1,320 feet for a Major Arterial.  However, roadway improvements to Parkway Center Drive were completed with the Argyle Square project and the length of property frontage does not allow the applicant to meet spacing requirements.  The southern existing driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway and be widened to allow an additional exit lane as shown in plans dated 04/25/14.
	For safety issues the northern driveway shall be limited to a right-in/right-out driveway by placement of signage and markings at the driveway exit.  In addition the applicant shall construct a Concrete Traffic Separator on Parkway Center Drive (minimum 100 feet long centered on the driveway) to prevent left turn movement when entering or exiting the site at this driveway.
	PFA 16. Driveway access spacing along Elligsen Road is not in compliance with the TSP, with a minimum spacing of 600 feet and a desired spacing of 1,000 feet for a Minor Arterial.  However, due to steep topography east of the existing driveway this non-conforming driveway is allowed to remain as a full access driveway, at this time, and be widened as shown in plans dated 04/25/14.  Improvements to Elligsen Road are listed in the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan as an Additional Planned Project, however the project is not listed as a Higher Priority project due to estimated costs and funding limitations and it is not known when  improvements would occur.
	PFA 17. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, storm water detention shall be required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment.
	PFA 18. Should the proposed development establish or increase the impervious surface area by more than 5,000 square feet, water quality facilities shall be required and shall be in conformance with the Public Works Standards.  Development includes new development, redevelopment, and/or partial redevelopment.
	If a mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as designed.

	Stormwater Memo
	Traffic Memo
	Arborist Report (Tree ID Worksheet)
	Plant Material Sheets
	Light cut sheet Type S1
	Light cut sheet Type S2
	Life Safety Areas & Occupancies
	Transmittal for Revisions
	Development Application
	Site Development Permit Pre-App Checklist
	General Submittal Requirements Stage I & Stage II
	Proposal and Burden of Proof Narrative
	DB14 0036-40 Coversheet Planning 042514
	Survey
	Architectural
	Civil
	C00 Existing Condition and Demo Plan
	C10 Grading Plan
	C20 Utility Plan
	C30 Site Details

	Landscape
	L101 Planting Plan
	L201 Tree Plan

	Lighting
	E100 Site Light Plan
	E100 PH Site Photometric Plan

	C1 Engineering Conditions.pdf
	Standard Comments:
	PFB 1. Engineering PF conditions previously issued for the In Focus Corporate Complex project (00DB10) and the Jack Martin / In-Focus project (DB07-0035, as modified by DB08-0032)) are still in effect with this application, except as modified as follows.
	PFB 2. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards.
	PFB 3. Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the following amounts:
	PFB 4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville Public Work’s Standards.
	PFB 5. Plans submitted for review shall meet the following general criteria:
	PFB 6. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing any soil on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant shall obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed a 1200-CN permit from the City of Wilsonville is required.
	PFB 7. The applicant shall be in conformance with all water quality requirements for the proposed development per the Public Works Standards.  If a mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as designed.
	PFB 8. Fire hydrants shall be located in compliance with TVF&R fire prevention ordinance and approval of TVF&R.
	PFB 9. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board.
	PFB 10. No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed.
	PFB 11. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the storm system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or rainwater LID facilities may be located within the public right-of-way upon approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water components and private conventional storm water facilities; maintenance shall transfer to the respective homeowners association when it is formed. 
	PFB 12. Mylar Record Drawings: 
	At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, and before a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a record survey. Said survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record drawings' which will serve as the physical record of those changes made to the plans and/or specifications, originally approved by Staff, that occurred during construction. Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate changes will be made to the construction plans and/or specifications and a complete revised 'set' shall be submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic copy in AutoCAD, current version, and a digitally signed PDF.
	Specific Comments: 
	PFB 13. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a traffic Trip Generation Memo dated May 5, 2014.  The project is hereby limited to no more than the following impacts.
	PFB 14. In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) Parkway Avenue is identified as a Minor Arterial.  Sufficient right-of-way presently exists, and the street is fully constructed; no additional right-of-way or improvements to Parkway Avenue are identified.
	PFB 15. Access to the site shall be from the existing driveways located on Parkway Avenue.
	PFB 16. Existing storm facilities are sized for current impervious surfaces.  Should the addition of Building 3 have a net increase in impervious surface, the applicant shall be required to provide storm water detention and water quality facilities for the net increase in impervious surface.  A memo providing the total area of impervious surfaces to be removed and the total area of impervious surfaces being added with the project shall be prepared by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon shall be submitted for review and approval by the City.
	PFB 17. Should a net increase in impervious surface occur, a storm water analysis prepared by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of Oregon shall be submitted for review and approval by the City to address appropriate pipe and detention facility sizing and water quality treatment.

	C3 Natural Resources Comments and Conditions.pdf
	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT MEMORANDUM
	To: Daniel Pauly, Associate Planner


	C5 NW Natural.pdf
	C5 NW Natural 1
	C5 NW Natural 2

	ADP266.tmp
	STAFF REPORT
	WILSONVILLE PLANNING DIVISION

	COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP DESIGNATION: Industrial
	ZONE MAP CLASSIFICATION:  PDI (Planned Development Industrial)
	STAFF REVIEWERS: Daniel Pauly AICP, Associate Planner
	Steve Adams PE, Civil Engineer
	Kerry Rappold, Natural Resource Program Manager
	Don Walters, Building Plans Examiner
	request C: DB14-0044 Setback Waiver
	REQUEST D: DB14-0043 Site Design Review
	UPlanned Development Regulations
	Subsection 4.140 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Regulations
	Subsection 4.140 (.02) Lot Qualifications for Planned Developments
	UDetails of FindingU: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned devel...
	Subsection 4.140 (.03) Ownership Requirements for Submitting Planned Development Application
	UDetails of FindingU: All the land subject to change under the proposal is under one ownership.
	Subsection 4.140 (.04) Professional Design Team Required for Planned Developments
	UDetails of FindingU: As can be found in the applicant�s submitted materials, appropriate professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process. Jennifer Kimura of VLMK Consulting Engineers has been designated the coordinator for the...
	Subsection 4.140 (.05) Planned Development Permit Process
	UDetails of FindingU: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned devel...
	Subsection 4.140 (.06) Stage I Master Plan Consistent with Comprehensive Plan
	UDetails of FindingU: The proposed project, as found elsewhere in this report, complies with the Planned Development Industrial zoning designation, which implements the Comprehensive Plan designation of �Industrial� for this property. All other applic...
	Subsection 4.140 (.07) Stage I Master Plan Application Requirements and Hearing Process
	UDetails of FindingU: Review of the proposed revised Stage I Master Plan has been scheduled for a public hearing before the Development Review Board in accordance with this subsection and the applicant has met all the applicable submission requirement...
	UDetails of FindingU: The proposed flex-space building will allow industrial uses consistent with the purpose of the PDI zone. No commercial uses are proposed.
	Subsection 4.135 (.02) PDI Zone Governed by Planned Development Regulations
	UDetails of FindingU: As seen in the findings for this request and the associated Stage II and Site Design Review requests, the proposal is being reviewed in accordance with Section 4.140.
	Subsection 4.135 (.03) Allowed Uses in PDI Zone
	UDetails of FindingU: The proposed flex-space building will allow industrial uses listed as permitted in the PDI zone. No commercial uses are proposed.
	Subsection 4.135 (.04) Block and Access Standards in PDI Zone
	UPlanned Development Regulations
	Subsection 4.140 (.01) Purpose of Planned Development Regulations
	Subsection 4.140 (.02) Lot Qualifications for Planned Developments
	UDetails of FindingU: The development site is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. The property will be developed as a component of a planned development...
	Subsection 4.140 (.03) Ownership Requirements for Submitting Planned Development Application
	UDetails of FindingU: The land included in the proposed Stage II Final Plan is under the single ownership of Wilsonville 2006 NW LLC and an authorized representative, Jack Martin, has signed the application.
	Subsection 4.140 (.04) Professional Design Team Required for Planned Developments
	UDetails of FindingU: As can be found in the applicant�s submitted materials, appropriate professionals have been involved in the planning and permitting process. Jennifer Kimura of VLMK Consulting Engineers has been designated the coordinator for the...
	Subsection 4.140 (.05) Planned Development Permit Process
	UDetails of FindingU: The subject property is greater than 2 acres, is designated for industrial development in the Comprehensive Plan, and is zoned Planned Development Industrial. The property has been and continues to be developed as a planned devel...
	Subsection 4.118 (.01) Additional Height Guidelines
	Subsection 4.118 (.02) Underground Utilities
	Subsection 4.118 (.03) Waivers
	Subsection 4.118 (.03) E. Other Requirements or Restrictions
	Subsection 4.118 (.04) Effect of Determination of Compliance and Conditions of Approval on Development Cost
	Subsection 4.118 (.05) Requirements to Set Aside Tracts for Certain Purposes
	Subsection 4.118 (.09) Habitat Friendly Development Practices
	Details of Finding: The proposed flex-space building will allow industrial uses consistent with the purpose of the PDI zone. No commercial uses are proposed.
	Subsection 4.135 (.02) PDI Zone Governed by Planned Development Regulations
	Details of Finding: As seen in the findings for this request and associated Stage I and Site Design Review requests, the proposal is being reviewed in accordance with Section 4.140.
	Subsection 4.135 (.03) Allowed Uses in PDI Zone
	Details of Finding: The proposed flex-space building will allow industrial uses listed as permitted in the PDI zone. No commercial uses are proposed.
	Subsection 4.135 (.04) Block and Access Standards in PDI Zone
	Subsection 4.135 (.05) Industrial Performance Standards
	Subsection 4.135 (.06) Other PDI Standards

	On-site Pedestrian Access and Circulation
	Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 1. Continuous Pathway System
	Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 2. Safe, Direct, and Convenient Pathways
	Explanation of Finding:
	 All proposed pathways are of smooth and consistent concrete and no hazards are evident on the site plan.
	 All proposed pathways are reasonably direct. The path from the main entrance to Parkway Avenue is nearly a straight line as is the path from the main entrance to the parking area to the south.
	 The pathways around the building connects to all primary building entrances.
	 Where required, pathways meet ADA requirements or will be required to by the building code.
	 The parking lot is not larger than 3 acres in size.
	Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 3. Vehicle/Pathway Separation
	Explanation of Finding: All pathways affected by this review are separated consistent with this subsection.
	Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 4. Crosswalks
	Explanation of Finding: The method of marking the crosswalks is not clear from the plans. The condition of approval requires the crosswalks to be clearly marked with contrasting paint or paving materials (e.g., pavers, light-color concrete inlay betwe...
	Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 5. Pathway Width and Surface
	Explanation of Finding: Primary pathways are the required width and will be constructed of concrete or asphalt.
	Subsection 4.154 (.01) B. 6. Signs for Pathways
	Explanation of Finding: No pathways requiring signs are proposed.
	Subsection 4.155 (.02) General Parking Provisions
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) A. Functional Design of Parking, Loading, and Delivery Areas
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 1.-3. Parking Area Landscaping
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) C. Parking and Loading Areas-Safe and Convenient Access
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) D. Parking Connectivity and Efficient On-site Circulation
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) F. On-Street Parking
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) G. Parking Minimum and Maximum
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) H. Electric Vehicle Charging
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) I. Motorcycle Parking
	Subsection 4.155 (.04) Bicycle Parking
	Subsection 4.155 (.04) A. Bicycle Parking-General Provisions
	Subsection 4.155 (.04) B. Bicycle Parking-Standards
	Subsection 4.155 (.04) C. 2. Long-term Bicycle Parking Requirements and Standards
	Subsection 4.155 (.05) Required Number of Loading Berths
	Subsection 4.155 (.06) Carpool and Vanpool Parking Requirements
	Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress
	Section 4.169 Double-Frontage Lots

	Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 1. General Landscape Standards-Intent
	Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 2. General Landscape Standards-Required Materials
	Subsection 4.176 (.02) D. 1. Low Screen Landscape Standard-Intent
	Subsection 4.176 (.02) D. 2. Low Screen Landscape Standard-Required Materials
	Subsection 4.176 (.03) Landscape Area and Locations
	Subsection 4.176 (.04) Buffering and Screening
	Subsection 4.176 (.09) Landscape Plans
	Site Design Review
	Subsection 4.400 (.01) and Subsection 4.421 (.03) Excessive Uniformity, Inappropriateness of Design, Etc.
	Subsection 4.400 (.02) and Subsection 4.421 (.03) Purposes of Objectives of Site Design Review
	Section 4.420 Site Design Review-Jurisdiction and Power of the Board
	Subsection 4.421 (.01) Site Design Review-Design Standards
	Subsection 4.421 (.02) Applicability of Design Standards to Various Site Features
	Subsection 4.421 (.03) Objectives of Section 4.400 Serve as Additional Criteria and Standards
	Subsection 4.421 (.05) Site Design Review-Conditions of Approval
	Subsection 4.421 (.06) Color or Materials Requirements
	Section 4.430 Design of Trash and Recycling Enclosures
	Section 4.440 Site Design Review-Procedures
	Section 4.442 Time Limit on Approval
	Subsection 4.450 (.01) Landscape Installation or Bonding
	Subsection 4.450 (.02) Approved Landscape Plan Binding
	Subsection 4.450 (.03) Landscape Maintenance and Watering
	Subsection 4.450 (.04) Addition and Modifications of Landscaping
	Parking
	Subsection 4.155 (.02) Provision and Maintenance of Off-Street Parking
	Subsection 4.155 (.03) B. 1.-3. Landscaping of Parking Areas

	Subsection 4.176 (.02) C. 2. General Landscape Standards-Required Materials
	Subsection 4.176 (.02) D. 1. Low Screen Standard-Intent
	Subsection 4.176 (.02) D. 2. Low Screen Standard-Required Materials
	Subsection 4.176 (.03) Landscape Area and Locations
	Subsection 4.176 (.04) Buffering and Screening
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) A. Plant Materials-Shrubs and Groundcover
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) B. Plant Materials-Trees
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) C. Plant Materials-Large Buildings
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) D. Plant Materials-Street Trees
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) E. Types of Plant Species
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) F. Tree Credit
	Subsection 4.176 (.06) G. Exceeding Plant Material Standards

	Subsection 4.176 (.07) Installation and Maintenance of Landscaping



	Text1: TYPE S1WILSONVILLE CHYSLER⤾㸼㰯䉡獥䙯湴⽅䙋啚匫䝅䥮獰楲愭䉯汤⽅湣潤楮朠㜶㌠〠刯䙩牳瑃桡爠㌱⽆潮瑄敳捲楰瑯爠㜶ㄠ〠刯䱡獴䍨慲‱㔳⽓畢瑹灥⽔祰攱⽔潕湩捯摥″㐲‰⁒⽔祰支䙯湴⽗楤瑨獛㔶㘠㈳㈠〠〠〠〠〠㘲㈠〠㈴㘠㈴㘠㐳㈠〠㈴〠㌶㘠㈴ㄠ〠㔳〠㔳〠㔳〠㔳〠㔳〠㔳〠㔳〠㔳〠㔳〠㔳〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠㘰㌠㔸ㄠ㘰㈠㘷㔠㔲㔠㔰〠㘶ㄠ㘶㔠㈷㘠㐶㤠㔷㘠㐸㤠㜸㜠㘸㜠㘹㜠㔴ㄠ㘹㜠㔸〠㔰㔠㔲〠㘵ㄠ㔶㐠㤲〠㔴㈠㔱㐠㔲㤠〠〠〠〠㔰〠〠㔵㘠㔵㘠㐸㈠㔵㘠㔱㜠㌱㘠㔵㘠㔶㐠㈵〠〠㐹ㄠ㈵〠㠴㠠㔶㐠㔴㜠㔵㘠㔵㘠㌸㤠㐵㜠㌶ㄠ㔶㔠㔰〠㜴㌠〠㔶㐠㐲㜠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠〠㐰㌠㐰㌠〠〠〠〠㠱㉝㸾㰼⽂慳敆潮琯䕆䭕婓⭇䕉湳灩牡⽃䥄卹獴敭䥮景‷㜱‰⁒⽄圠〰⽆潮瑄敳捲楰瑯爠㜶㤠〠刯卵扴祰支䍉䑆潮瑔祰攰⽔祰支䙯湴⽗嬱嬲㌲崱〠ㄱ‵〷′せ㠴〠㘲ㅝ㈳′㐠㈱㈠㈵嬴㌲崲㝛ㄹ㠠㌶〠ㄹ㠠㌵㉝㌱‴〠㔳〠㐱嬱㤸崴㌠㐵‵㌰‴㡛㔷㈠㔷〠㔸ㄠ㘴〠㔰㐠㐹〠㘴㐠㘵㤠㈴㍝㔸嬵㘵‴㘶‷㘴‶㘴‶㘲‵㈹崶㕛㔵㘠㔰㤠㐷㔠㘴㐠㔵㘠㠸㔠㔳㥝㠰‸ㄠ㔴㔠㠲嬴㠲‵㐱‵〹′㤷‵㐵‵㐴崸㠠㠹′‹せ㐶㐠㈱〠㠳㘠㔴㐠㔳㝝㤵‹㘠㔴㔠㤷嬳㐱‴㌷″ㄷ‵㐴‴㜴‷㌶‴㜱‵㐴‴㈷崱ㄵ嬴㘸崱㈴嬳㌱″㌰‴㜱‴㠸崱㔱嬳㔲嵝㸾㰼⽂慳敆潮琯䕆䭕婓⭇䕉湳灩牡⽄敳捥湤慮瑆潮瑳‷㜰‰⁒⽅湣潤楮术䥤敮瑩瑹ⵈ⽓畢瑹灥⽔祰攰⽔潕湩捯摥″㐴‰⁒⽔祰支䙯湴㸾㰼⽂慳敆潮琯䕆䭕婓⭇䕉湳灩牡ⵉ瑡汩振䕮捯摩湧‷㘳‰⁒⽆楲獴䍨慲″ㄯ䙯湴䑥獣物灴潲‶ㄱ‰⁒⽌慳瑃桡爠ㄲㄯ卵扴祰支呹灥ㄯ呯啮楣潤攠㈱㜠〠刯呹灥⽆潮琯坩摴桳嬵〳′㌲‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‴㌲‰‰‰‱㤸‰‵㌰‵㌰‵㌰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‶㌶‰‰‰‶㔵‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‵〵‴㜵‰‵㌸‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‰‵㌴‰‴㔳‵㌴‴㠵′㠱‰‰′ㄶ‰‰′ㄶ‸㈲‵㌵‵㈶‵㐱‰″㐱‴㈷″〶‵㌷‰‷㘰‴㜶‵㌴崾㸼㰯䅳捥湴‹㈰⽃䥄卥琠㌴㔠〠刯䍡灈敩杨琠㘸㌯䑥獣敮琠ⴲ㌲⽆污杳‴⽆潮瑂䉯硛ⴱ㠲㈳㈠ㄱ㐱‹㈰崯䙯湴䙡浩汹⡇䔠䥮獰楲�
	Text2: 
	Fixture: TN12
	SaveColor: 
	SaveFixture: TN12
	Color: 
	Lamp: T8-32
	SaveLamp: T8-32
	Lampa: 4X
	SaveLampa: 4X
	Options1: 
	SaveOptions2: 
	SaveOptions1: 
	Options2: 
	RAL: 
	Fixture_Field: TN12
	Lamp_Field: T8-32
	Lampa_Field: 4X
	Color_Field: Off
	Options1_Field: Off
	Options2_Field: Off
	Reset: 
	Clear: 
	Note: 
	Job Name: 
	Type: S2
	Type_37ac6ac5f8ce: S2


